
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning and Transportation Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2023 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Deputy Shravan Joshi (Chairman) 

Graham Packham (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Brendan Barns 
Emily Benn 
Ian Bishop-Laggett 
Deputy Michael Cassidy 
Deputy Simon Duckworth 
Mary Durcan 
John Edwards 
Anthony David Fitzpatrick 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Dawn Frampton 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Jaspreet Hodgson 
Amy Horscroft 

Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Deputy Natasha Maria Cabrera Lloyd-
Owen 
Antony Manchester 
Deputy Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Alderwoman Jennette Newman 
Deborah Oliver 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Judith Pleasance 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Ian Seaton 
Hugh Selka 
Luis Felipe Tilleria 
Shailendra Kumar Kantilal Umradia 
William Upton KC 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Zoe Lewis 

zoe.lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London Corporation by following 

the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the public meeting 
for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not constitute the formal minutes of the 
meeting; minutes are written and are available on the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may 
be edited, at the discretion of the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible due to technical 
difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

 



3 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 2023. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 20) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS* 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 21 - 22) 

 
5. CITY PLAN 2040 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Environment. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 23 - 606) 

 
6. BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS (ALL CHANGE AT BANK): TRAFFIC MIX 

AND TIMING REVIEW UPDATE 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director Environment. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 607 - 656) 

 
7. FLEET STREET AREA HEALTHY STREETS PLAN 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Environment. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 657 - 844) 

 
8. VISION ZERO PLAN 2023-2028 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Environment. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 845 - 904) 

 



4 
 

9. PUBLIC LIFT AND ESCALATOR REPORT* 
 

 Report of the City Surveyor. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
10. TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB-COMMITTEE - 

21 JULY 2023* 
For Information 

 
 

11. TO NOTE THE DRAFT MINUTES OF THE LOCAL PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE - 18 
OCTOBER 2023* 

For Information 
 
 

12. TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB-COMMITTEE 
- 26 SEPTEMBER 2023* 

For Information 
 
 

13. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
 

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

15. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

 For Decision 
  

 
Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 

 
16. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 3 October 2023  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Transportation Committee held at 
the Guildhall EC2 at 10.30 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Graham Packham (Deputy Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Brendan Barns 
Ian Bishop-Laggett 
Mary Durcan 
John Edwards 
Anthony David Fitzpatrick 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Brian Mooney 
 

Deputy Alastair Moss 
Alderwoman Jennette Newman 
Deborah Oliver 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Ian Seaton 
Hugh Selka 
Shailendra Kumar Kantilal Umradia 
Alderman Sir David Wootton 
 

 
Officers: 
Zoe Lewis    -  Town Clerk’s Department  
Raquel Pinto   -  Town Clerk’s Department 
Fleur Francis  - Comptroller and City Solicitor’s Department 
Ian Hughes   -  Environment Department 
Stuart McGregor  - Environment Department 
Rob McNicol   -  Environment Department  
Bruce McVean   -  Environment Department  
Gwyn Richards   -  Environment Department  
Bob Roberts   -  Environment Department 
Samantha Tharme  - Environment Department 
Isobel Tucker  - Environment Department 
Peter Wilson  -  Environment Department 
 
  

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Deputy Michael Cassidy, Dawn 
Frampton, Alderwoman Martha Grekos, Jaspreet Hodgson, Deputy Shravan 
Joshi, Deputy Natasha Lloyd-Owen, Judith Pleasance and William Upton. 
 
The Chairman welcomed Alderwoman Grekos to the Committee although 
apologies had been received.  
 
The Chairman paid tribute to Mark Bostock who had been a Member of the 
Planning and Transportation Committee from 2017 to 2022. He was described 
as a gentle and erudite person, who was very knowledgeable and wise. He had 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



contributed greatly to the Committee, and he would be greatly missed. The 
Chairman, on behalf of the Committee sent his best wishes to Mr Bostock’s 
friends and family and proposed a 30 second silence in memory of Mr Bostock.  
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations.   
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 July, 
be approved as an accurate record, subject to the correct spelling of Anthony 
Fitzpatrick. 

 
MATTERS ARISING: 
The Chairman requested an update regarding the letter to TfL regarding Bank 
Station entrance closures. An Officer stated that a response from TFL was sent 
to Members in August. The letter acknowledged the issue, and stated steps 
that were being taken to address it, such as, having more travel ambassadors. 
Arrangements were in place for people to request for the Walbrook entrance to 
be opened if they required access to the lift. It was recognised that although 
this was not an ideal solution, it was ultimately due to staffing resources, which 
TfL were working to address in the longer term.  

 
The Member who had initially raised the issue, expressed his thanks to Officers 
and the Chairman of the Planning and Transportation Committee for their work 
on this matter. 
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS*  
The Committee received a report of the Town Clerk setting out the list of 
Outstanding Actions. 
 
A Member requested an update on Heritage training. An Officer explained that 
the training was being arranged for the coming months and would be delivered 
by an external expert.   
 
The Chairman asked for an update on Members’ Training. An Officer stated 
that Fire Safety training would be scheduled. 
 
A Member asked when the Committee would see the results of the dashboard 
as listed on item three, as it was important to see performance. An Officer 
explained that work was underway, and although there were some technical 
issues, the expected timeline was approximately four weeks. The Officer 
explained that this would be published with Members being notified.  
 

5. CITY FUND HIGHWAY DECLARATION: WATLING HOUSE, 33 CANNON 
ST, LONDON, EC4M 5SB  
The Committee considered a report of the City Surveyor which sought approval 

to declare a volume of City Fund owned airspace measuring 118.83 square 

feet, situated at Watling House, 33 Cannon St, London, EC4M 5SB, to be 

Page 6



surplus to highway requirements to allow its disposal in conjunction with the 

permitted development. 

An Officer introduced the report stating that planning consent was obtained on 

17 December 2020, and this had been approved in principle by the City 

Engineering Team. The canopy, measuring a total of 133.58 square feet, would 

encroach on City Corporation airspace. A canopy already existed at the 

entrance door at Watling House. The proposed replacement canopy did not 

change the massing of the building, and although the proposed canopy was 

larger than the previous, it would be situated higher on the building which made 

it less obstructive to the public highway. The proposed canopy would clear the 

highway by 5.7 metres in Cannon Street and 5.5 metres on Bread Street, but 

this was due to the existing slope on the street. The proposed surplus 

declaration did not extend to the highway stratum, which would remain as 

public highway and vested in the City Corporation as the highway authority. The 

airspace in question was not considered necessary for the use of highway and 

the exercise of the highway and was therefore proposed that subject to the 

Committee’s agreement, to declare the area of City Fund airspace around at 

Watling House, 33 Cannon Street, to be surplus to highway requirements. This 

would enable the City Corporation to dispose of a suitable interest in the 

airspace, upon terms to be approved by the delegated authority of the City 

Surveyor. 

A Member commented that there was a bollard which would stop a collision but 

asked for confirmation that highways tracking had taken place to ensure that, if 

for example, a crane was being moved, it would not hit the canopy. An Officer 

explained that the two crash prevention bollards would remain in situ after the 

installation of the new canopy. Members were informed that the new canopy 

would be higher up than the current one, and that in terms of safety and impact 

on the public highway this had been approved in principle by the engineering 

team and also had planning consent. 

A Member asked for clarification on the units used by the Corporation to 

ascertain if they used metric units, as the report referred to feet. An Officer 

explained that square feet had been used as the premium value was calculated 

in square feet. However, this could be changed into metres in future reports. 

RESOLVED – That Members resolve to declare a volume of City Fund owned 

airspace totalling 118.83 sq ft (held for highway purposes), situated around 

Watling House, 33 Cannon St, London, EC4M 5SB, to be surplus to highway 

requirements to enable its disposal upon terms to be approved under the 

delegated authority of the City Surveyor subject to the City Surveyor and 

Deputy Director of Transportation and Public Realm first determining the 

relevant ordnance datum levels to suitably restrict the vertical extent of the 

leasehold airspace demise. 

 
6. TRANSPORT STRATEGY REVIEW  

The Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director 
Environment on the Transport Strategy Review.  

Page 7



 
An Officer stated that The Tranpsort Strategy was adopted in May 2019 with a 
three-year review scheduled at the point of adoption. The review commenced 
three years later, but due to the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, the review 
period was extended. This allowed for more engagement, for patterns of work 
to become more stable, and to collect data accordingly. The strategy was a 25-
year plan up to 2040 and was a framework for decisions going forward as well 
as providing the overall direction which tied into other objectives such as 
Destination City and the City Climate Action Strategy. The significant changes 
had been considered by the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee and public 
engagement on the proposed changes had taken place.  
 
The Officer outlined the main changes as follows: 

- The vision to be more inclusive, with inclusion embedded in all 

proposals.  

- The use of the terms ‘wheel’ and ‘wheeling’ to specifically 

acknowledge the use of pavements and other pedestrian spaces by 

people who used wheelchairs, mobility scooters and other wheeled 

mobility aids. These terms had been adopted by other bodies such as 

Active Travel England and the suggestion had come from mobility aid 

users. 

- Regarding charging of road users, TfL was working to bring together 

the congestion and ULEZ changing. This would allow more flexible 

and area specific approach which could give the City the framework 

to reduce traffic more effectively in certain areas. 

- To make streets fully accessible, an accessibility tool was used to 

help with design. This was being updated to make space and streets 

more accessible and would be applied to all projects. 

- It was anticipated that the legislation around the use of e-scooters 

could change and it was expected that e-scooters and e-bikes would 

be included in the infrastructure set up for cyclists. If this was the 

case, they would be included on the highway under the same rules 

i.e., not permitted on pavements. 

- In relation to air quality management, two zero emission zones were 

previously introduced in the City. These zones alongside ULEZ, have 

been effective in bringing down nitrogen oxides. Officers now 

considered it no longer necessary to introduce distinct zero emission 

zones, and the air quality team supported this. Hotspots would still be 

monitored and dealt with accordingly. It was also stressed that there 

was a new duty to look at smaller particles PM 2.5 and those were 

better addressed by overall traffic reduction and were still affected by 

electric vehicles.  

- On the issue of freight, it was noted that there had previously been a 

strong commitment to introduce a consolidation centre with the 

Corporation’s support. Having conducted extensive research and a 

detailed study with the City Surveyor’s team this was now no longer 

recommended, but there needed to be a focus on how to enable 

effective last mile delivery. The consolidation upstream was dealt with 

Page 8



by the market but the last mile delivery required work with the 

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), neighbouring local authorities 

and with Transport for London to provide the right locations and 

infrastructure. 

The Officer stated that many elements of the Strategy would not change and 
the approach outlined would provide the framework to deliver against the City’s 
objectives over the next 20 years. It was proposed that a five-year review cycle 
would be introduced. The Officer stated that Appendix 7 of the Officer report set 
out the framework for how decisions would be made and highlighted the 
hierarchy of need for space and access. This would provide those people who 
were walking and wheeling priority in terms of space considerations, and it 
would make it explicit that pedestrians and those wheeling would take priority 
over others.  

 
The Chairman assured the Committee that the document would go out to public 
consultation and was not the final version, therefore Members had the 
opportunity to raise any issues. The Chairman added that it was important to be 
as consistent as possible with the rest of London. He stated that although the 
15 mile per hour speed limit was no longer included, there was still a 
commitment to vision zero, and although it was recognised it was a stretch 
target, it could be used to reduce the figured of those killed or seriously injured 
(KSI's). The Chairman reinforced the point made by Officers on the hierarchy of 
need for space, as the largest number of people who use the streets were 
pedestrians and people who were wheeling, and this needed to be prioritised.  

 
A Member welcomed the options for mobility and agreed that all the 
improvements were important. It was noted that the City of London was starting 
from a good base as other places did not have the infrastructure, however, 
there were still improvements to be made.  The Member commented that a 
black spot in terms of lack of accessibility, was Leadenhall Market. 
 
A Member expressed disappointment regarding the pushback on the 15 miles 
per hour but understood the move. A Member raised the point that there was 
good statistical evidence that suggested reducing speeds from 30 to 20 miles 
per hour saved lives and prevented serious injuries and asked if there was 
further evidence to suggest that reducing this from 20 to 15 miles per hour had 
commensurate impact. Officers explained that if a collision occurred, the lower 
the speed in which it occurred, the less severe the consequences of the 
collision. Officers had collated evidence and stated this could be shared but 
there were few places in Europe with speed limits of 15mph so evidence of the 
difference in severity of collisions between 20mph and 15mph was limited. An 
Officer stated the thinking around the 15 miles per hour speed limit at the City 
was to reinforce the point around the City being a place people where people 
should drive and ride at slow speed. However, the Department for Transport 
were not supportive of introducing 15mph limits which meant that this was not 
an option. Consideration had been given to implementing 15mph advisory signs 
in particular streets, however, this had been discounted and the focus now was 
on how the City could reduce speeds using other measures such as behaviour 
change 

Page 9



 
A Member raised concerns that Destination City was only referenced 
superficially in the report. He stated that the report referenced London 
Underground trends from Monday to Friday but did not address weekend 
footfall, and if the aim was to make the City a weekend destination, this should 
be included, along with predicted future footfall and plans for this. The Member 
also stated that there were timed traffic restrictions which were relaxed over the 
weekend in favour of vehicles and there was nothing in the report to suggest 
this might need to be re-addressed in the future with increasing weekend 
footfall. The Member stated that workers from offices were able to dispose of 
their rubbish in offices and use the toilet facilities there, but other visitors did not 
have that option and as part of Destination City this should be addressed. The 
Member reported that Kings Cross was also a business destination where 
weekend footfall was the same as their weekday footfall. The Member 
expressed concerns over how the document was disjointed in relation to 
Destination City. 
 
The Chairman stated that there were many strands and cross-cutting activities 
involved in Destination City. He stated that the visitor numbers to viewing 
galleries were impressive. However, regarding the Transport Strategy 
specifically, more needed to be done as visitors needed to travel to the City. 
The Chairman asked if more could be done in this document to support and 
elevate the role of transport in Destination City. Officers explained that the 
Environment Department was committed to Destination City which was a 
corporate priority. It was about brand, awareness and events. There would be a 
one-year review on the policy. The Officer stated that in relation to street 
cleansing, this would be a matter for the Port Health and Environment Services 
Committee. Officers also added that the Strategy enabled growth of the City, 
both as a visitor destination, a place to work and a place to live. It was 
explained that the proposals delivered against multiple objectives and 
outcomes and therefore each objective and outcome was not referenced each 
time. An Officer stated that the Transport Strategy sought to make the streets 
and public spaces more attractive places to walk, cycle and spend time, which 
was fundamental to the success of the City as a business destination and as a 
visitor destination. On the point raised regarding weekend data, the Officer 
stated that the document was a snapshot of the data and data suggested that 
tube entry and exit data was a reasonable proxy for footfall. The data 
suggested numbers were slightly above where they were previously at 
weekends with 300,000 on Saturdays and 250,000 on Sundays. Footfall was 
higher in the week with midweek peak at 700,000. Transport was always 
planned around the busiest times and could be adopted as necessary on a 
project-by-project basis. On the time restrictions, most of these applied on 
weekdays with Bank being from 7am-7pm and others such as Cheapside being 
24 hours a day.  These would be monitored and adjusted accordingly taking 
into account footfall and traffic levels, and whether they were proportionate to 
traffic levels.  Evenings would also need to be taken into account if they 
became busier, and timings would be adjusted accordingly to reflect that. The 
Strategy provided the framework for what would be delivered, and how it would 
be implemented on a project-by-project basis, which might vary over time. The 
Member asked for the document to reflect the Officer’s explanation in more 

Page 10



detail and explain for instance, that street timing closures would be adjusted in 
response to changes, particularly if numbers of visitors were to change 
because of Destination City.  
 
A Member stated that the anticipated demographics of visitors should be 
included in the Strategy e.g., it was anticipated that more families with children 
could be visiting in the future.  
 
The Chairman suggested that Officers could refer to the Transport Strategy 
supporting numerous corporate objectives at the start of the document. The 
Officer agreed and stated this could also be made clearer on the consultation 
materials. He added that Members were seeing a partial version of the strategy 
which set out the changes, however the version that would be submitted for 
adoption would be fuller and with more context. Officers also agreed to look at 
the wording surrounding Destination City. The Officer stated that the proposals 
in the Strategy around monitoring data collection would be used to inform 
decision making and it was important to reinforce that a data and evidence led 
approach was taken, which could mean changes over time.  
 
On the issue of ensuring street cleansing, a Member commented that she 
recognised that work was being done to achieve this, particularly on obtaining 
more funds to support more street cleaners. The Member however, disagreed 
with the rating of this issue as green, as this meant no change. She requested 
this be amended as there was room for substantial change. The Officer stated 
the proposal referenced the aspiration to have a high standard of cleansing, 
which is why the statement had not been changed. 
 
A Member stated that the City was different from the rest of London, it had 
narrower roads and pavements and was busier, and therefore she requested 
that the 15mph speed limit be kept on the agenda, so it could be pursued in the 
future if changes made it appropriate. An Officer stated that this was being 
looked at in more detail in the action plan. She further stated that collectively, 
there was an opportunity to look at more appropriate speeds for streets that 
need street management for cycling as well as driving. This could be through 
street design or advisory speed limits. The Chairman stated that the main focus 
would be on behavioural change. 
 
A Member stated that constituents continued to raise the issue of black taxis 
accessing Bank Junction and this was not only just about accessibility, but 
would also impact on Destination City. An Officer explained that a case-by-case 
approach was used to assess schemes and the Bank Junction review was a 
separate exercise which was underway. The review was ongoing and there 
would be an update report on that to the Planning and Transportation 
Committee in November. A Member commented that taxis were not as 
accessible as the bus network and there was a need for a good bus network 
especially early in the morning and at night to ensure the City was accessible 
for visitors. Another Member commented that taxis were important for 
individuals with restricted mobility, the evening economy and in addressing 
safety concerns. 
 

Page 11



In reference to cycling numbers increasing, a Member commented that many 
offices provided cycle racks. He asked for more consultation on the location of 
on street cycle parking. Officers explained that on street cycle parking, work 
was being done to identify locations to accommodate regular cycles and e-
scooters and e-bikes. Planning colleagues were also assisting with securing 
cycle hub locations through the development process. 
  
A Member commented on the pier at Swan Lane and asked if installing piers at 
other locations along the River Thames was being considered and whether this 
part of the consultation could be expanded as the river was important in terms 
of last mile deliveries. An Officer stated that work was taking place with the Port 
of London and neighbouring boroughs to find locations for river freight.  
 
A Member welcomed the chapter on river use. She stated that there could be 
difficulties in aligning fares for passenger services as she understood they were 
not subsidised by TfL. The Member queried how operators would be 
encouraged to reduce fares thereby encouraging more people to use the river 
and how accessibility would be improved, as she had concerns regarding 
congestion with lots of people trying to get on and off boats. 
  
A Member commented that she would welcome the long-term redevelopment of 
Tower Hill station as this was always at capacity and the station needed 
expansion especially considering the alignment with Destination City and with 
the station being a key gateway into the City. Officers would consult TfL to see 
where this was on their list of priorities.  The Member stated that the list of 
priorities should also reflect the number of hotels in Tower Ward and consider 
visitor numbers as most hotel users arrived by public transport. 
 
A Member raised concern around accessibility in relation to pavement licences 
narrowing pavements. She also stated that it was easier and quicker to walk 
around the City rather than drive and she suggested that promoting more 
passageways could make walking around the City easier. She stated that there 
was an opportunity to signpost these passageways with the history of the City 
which would enhance navigation as part of Destination City. She also 
commented on the importance of sites where activities could take place. 
Officers stated the importance of pedestrian permeability and reminded 
Members of all the schemes that had been granted in line with the local plan 
policy to deliver new routes. The examples given were 55 Bishopsgate, 85 
Gracechurch, 55 and 70 Gracechurch 2-3 Finsbury Avenue and 120 Fleet 
Street. These schemes would all introduce new capillaries and alleyways. 
 
An Officer stated that many of the comments raised by Members were covered 
in the strategy. Officers would ensure that the detail of the strategy was 
delivered and stated that Officers were working hard to deliver the accessibility 
of projects. 
 
The Chairman asked about whether input had been sought from other 
departments. Officers explained that work had been undertaken with other 
teams across other teams on the detail of the Strategy.  Data was being 

Page 12



collected on numbers of visitors, target numbers and demographics and more 
data would be collected to feedback on the work being undertaken. 
 
A Member asked for more information on the installation of new electric vehicle 
charging points, which was to be updated every five years, including the use of 
electric vehicles split across freight, vans and cars as well as use of charging 
infrastructure and whether it would be possible to accelerate the installation of 
charging in 2025 considering the latest figures. Officers explained that they 
wanted to try to future proof this proposal as well as being cautious given that it 
was a fast-moving area. They had installed seven rapid chargers, with one on 
street and six in car parks. These were being well used but it was noted that 
these were not easy to implement en masse due to the electricity network 
constraints. Members were informed that the 50 chargers in car parks had been 
upgraded. Members were informed that there were visibility issues and the 
location of chargers needed to be promoted. In terms of the Corporation fleet 
make up, work was taking place in relation to zero emission vehicles and 
predictions for future demand. There was also a residential need as there was 
no residential on street parking. The Officer stated that electric taxis, private 
hire and freight vehicles usually did not need charging when they were 
operating their businesses as they mainly charged at their depots. However, 
there was a need to have provision for them to top up their charge though. 
 
The Chairman stated that he had received complaints from residents regarding 
the usage of electric charges in the car parks as those parking had to pay 
parking charges as well as electricity charges. The Chairman asked if this was 
discouraging their use. Officers confirmed that residents paid to park in the car 
park in which they were charging and had to be a member of the scheme that 
facilitated the recharging process. Officers also added that they had switched 
contractors. They had undertaken a large-scale notification about the change 
and as only two people raised this as an issue, they did not believe this was 
discouraging use. It was also a standard approach in many car parks 
elsewhere. The Officer advised that the City previously absorbed the electricity 
costs but they were now being offset. 
 
A Member commented on the importance of up-to-date street signage. An 
Officer explained there were strict guidelines on street signage to ensure 
consistency across the country. Officers recognised that changes required 
effective signalling, and where there was a mix of users, signage should 
indicate those with priority. Temporary signage could also be used where 
appropriate. Officers were also working with Destination City on a wayfinding 
exercise to complement the legible London signs, which were implemented 
across the City n 2021 and were designed to be consistent across London. 
 
A Member suggested the importance of wayfinding and a joined-up approach to 
enable people to find the many hidden treasures in the City. Officers stated that 
discussions were taking place with the Destination City team. This involved 
looking at legible London signs and map wayfinding system as well as phone 
maps. The Chairman stated the priority was around helping people on foot find 
interesting locations in the City. He asked for clarification regarding the use of 
smart phone map providers and how the City engaged to ensure that the City’s 

Page 13



key locations were shown on their platforms. An Officer stated that he would 
need to seek a response from Destination City. He stated that there was 
flexibility in relation to wayfinding signs. Legible London was a tool, but other 
ways of encouraging people to explore and find hidden parts of the city without 
requiring lots of extra signage was also important to avoid extra infrastructure 
which would reduce the space available for those walking and wheeling. 
 
A Member commented on St Paul’s gyratory in terms of making sure a 
children's playground and facilities were there for children to use which would 
help encourage families into the City. Officers recognised that the St Pauls 
gyratory provided a good opportunity for this and they were looking into the 
design for that space. There had been discussions with City Gardens 
colleagues and with the Parent/Carer Forum about play facilities and overall 
inclusive facilities too. This would be considered by the Streets and Walkways 
Sub-Committee in more detail in due course.  
 
The Chairman commented that Tower Hill Gardens had a closed children's play 
area which was run down and needed work, that money was being allocated to 
this and the work should be a priority. A Member stated that play equipment 
would be used by resident families and would also encourage visitors to use 
these facilities too. The Member stated that policies should be employed, and 
funding prioritised, to encourage visitors from the Tower of London into the City 
by improving accessibility, linking up open space and telling the City’s history.  
 
A Member stated that there should be a note in the consultation to clearly 
explain the use of the term ‘wheeling’ as otherwise, there could be comments to 
the consultation which were based on a misapprehension of what the term 
meant. Officers agreed to include an explanatory note and provide examples. 
 
A Member raised concern regarding two-dimensional signage of elevated 
places as without sufficient signage, elevated spaces would not receive the 
number of visitors they should and would not be fully utilised. Officers explained 
that they had been in discussions with their planning colleagues recently about 
this and there was an aim to find a standard that was clearly recognised. 
 
A Member commented on e-scooters and e-bikes being abandoned and 
covering concrete seating areas. An Officer stated that work was taking place 
with providers of scooters and e-bikes to ensure that customers abandoning 
cycles were fined. The City was also providing spaces for e-scooters and e-
bikes to park, so there was a legitimate place for them which was clearly 
marked. Furthermore, work was taking place with the police on anti-social 
behaviour issues and a report would be submitted to the Police Authority 
Board. 
 
RESOLVED – That Members  
Approve the draft changes to the Transport Strategy for public consultation 
(Appendix 5 of the Officer report); 

• Note that the following documents would be published alongside the 

consultation:  

Page 14



o Summary of progress on delivery of the Transport Strategy 

(Appendix 3 of the Officer report)  

o Transport in the City - data summary (Appendix 4 of the 

Officer report)  

o Transport Strategy Map Pack - recommended revisions to 

figures and maps - September 2023 (Appendix 6 of the 

Officer report)  

o Transport Strategy review Equalities Impact Assessment 

(EqIA) (Appendix 8 of the Officer report); 

• Approve the Proposed approach to managing traffic movement and 

access for consultation (Appendix 7 of the Officer report); and 

• Note the approach to stakeholder engagement to inform the review of 

the Transport Strategy (Appendix 2 of the Officer report). 

 
7. LONDON COUNCILS LONDON PARKING AND TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT 

PENALTY CHARGES CONSULTATION  
The Committee considered a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment regarding the London Councils’ London Parking and Traffic 
Enforcement Penalty Charges Consultation. 

 
An Officer explained that London Councils were consulting on whether it was 
appropriate to increase the penalty charge notice on the City of London’s 
streets in line with the TfL controlled streets so that there was a consistent 
approach to fining. Officers recommended that the Committee agree this and 
support that alignment and respond to London Councils accordingly. 
 
The Chair asked if this still required Central Government’s agreement even if 
there was unanimity across London. An Officer explained that this still required 
approval by the Department for Transport.  
 
RESOLVED – That Members approve the proposed response to the 
consultation on proposed changes to the London Parking and Traffic 
Enforcement Penalty Charges, set out in paragraph 29 a – h of the Officer 
report. 
 

8. UPDATE ON ACTIVITY RELATING TO WARDMOTE RESOLUTIONS FROM 
THE WARDS OF ALDERSGATE AND CANDLEWICK*  
The Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment regarding an update on activity relating to Wardmote resolutions 
from the Wards of Aldersgate and Candlewick. 
 
A Member stated that she had found it helpful to receive the update on the 
Aldersgate Wardmote issue and she had been advised by Officers that they 
would discuss having greater engagement and communication, with the 
communications team. The Member added this was relevant not just to his 
item, but any issues raised by residents which were discussed at Committee 
and that more should be done to communicate successes. An Officer agreed 
that there should be greater communication and stated that he would raise this 
with the Director of Communications. 

Page 15



 
RESOLVED – To note the report.   
 

9. BUSINESS PLANS 2023/24 PROGRESS REPORT (PERIOD 1, APRIL-JULY 
2023)*  
The Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment which provided an update on progress made during Period One 
(April-July) 2023/24 against the High-Level Business Plan 2023/24 (Appendix 1 
of the Officer report) for the service areas of the Environment Department 
which fell within the remit of the Committee.  

 
RESOLVED – To note the report.   
 

10. PUBLIC LIFT & ESCALATOR REPORT*  
The Committee received a report of the City Surveyor on the availability and 
performance of publicly accessible lifts and escalators monitored and 
maintained by City Surveyors, in the reporting period 31 July 2023 to 18 
September 2023. 
 
RESOLVED – To note the report.  
 

11. GOVERNMENT CONSULTATIONS ON PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT AND 
PLANNING REFORMS*  
The Committee received a report of the of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment regarding a summary of government consultations on proposed 
new permitted development rights and planning reforms and set out the 
responses being made. 
 
A Member enquired about the process of submitting responses on government 
consultations. An Officer explained that the proposed submission was sent to 
Members a week before it was published for comments. This was an 
established process which had been carried out previously in other government 
consultations. Given the timings of the consultations and their deadlines, 
Officers were unable to submit this to Committee for a discussion, however this 
had been agreed and covered under delegated powers and Members had been 
provided with an opportunity for comment. 

 
RESOLVED – That Members note the proposed changes to the planning 
system, the new permitted development rights; and the consultation responses 
being made to the Government, as outlined in Appendix 1 of the Officer report. 
 

12. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN*  
The Committee received a report of the Town Clerk which advised Members of 
action taken by the Town Clerk since the last meeting of the Committee, in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, in accordance with 
Standing Order Nos. 41(a) and (b).  
 
RESOLVED – To note the report.  
 

Page 16



13. TO NOTE THE DRAFT MINUTES OF THE PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB-
COMMITTEE - 21 JULY 2023*  
The Committee received the draft public minutes of the meeting held on 21July 
2023.  
 
RECEIVED. 
 

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
A Member asked for a written explanation as to what caused the five-month 
delay in completing the works on Riverside Bridge, as this had inconvenienced 
residents and workers there. It was also requested that a written update on the 
replacement of the inclinator at Millennium Bridge House be provided and sent 
to all Members.   

 
A Member asked, as the Red Badge consultation had concluded, when the 
results of this would be published. An Officer explained that the results were 
being analysed and would be reported to the Director by the end of October 
2023. The Officer added, that if there were changes to be submitted to the 
Committee, this would be in the early 2024. 

 
A Member raised an issue following an urgent decision from the Streets and 
Walkways Committee to release £650,000 from the on-street parking reserve 
for the Bank Junction to look at the traffic and timing review. The Member 
enquired whether a report should be submitted to the Planning and 
Transportation Committee before being submitted to the Streets and Walkways 
Sub-Committee. She stated that this would enable the full cost of the motion 
approved at the Court of Common Council, to be considered as well as how it 
impacted officer resources, and the knock-on impact this had on other projects. 
The Member also suggested that the weekday Bank Junction restrictions 
should be in force at weekends, so visitors had the opportunity to explore the 
City safely. An Officer explained that the financial breakdown would be part of a 
report to the Planning and Transportation Committee. Officers were responding 
to the decisions from the Court of Common Council in the context of priorities 
and the costs in terms of officer time, and the work done to deliver these pieces 
of work would be quantified. The responses to the questions raised would be a 
part of the report, and Officers had been tasked to report back to the Court 
before the end of the year. The report would be submitted to the Planning and 
Transportation Committee before being submitted to Court and, regarding the 
prioritisation in releasing the funding, these budgets needed to be signed off by 
the Resource Allocation Sub-Committee.  
 
The Chairman asked for the traffic order component to be separated as a cost, 
and for officers to articulate benefits that resulted from that. An Officer 
explained that this was included in the final report for the traffic order review, 
which went to Court of Common Council. The review of all traffic orders which 
had been completed and reported to Court of Common Council, and it set out 
the costs associated there. It was noted that not all of the budget that was 
allocated to it was spent as part of the review, some of it was spent on 

Page 17



implementing changes too. Officers stated that they would include the costs for 
the Bank Junction traffic and timing review as part of the report.  
 
The Chairman noted that the report identified a number of traffic orders for 
further investigation, of which details of their outcome had not been shared. 
Officers explained that this was undergoing work and that if updates were 
required they would be submitted to the Street and Walkways Sub-Committee. 
It was also noted that not all the traffic order changes were required to come to 
be submitted to the Sub-Committee. The Chairman asked for an update on this 
to the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee.  
 
A Member raised concern that Members had taken a decision at the Court of 
Common Council without a budget. He started that a report should go back to 
the Court and explain the expense that had been incurred. Another Member 
raised concerns of the implication of decisions taken at the Court of Common 
Council without debate. 
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
The Chairman provided the Committee with updated numbers from the two new 
viewing galleries that had opened recently. At 22 Horizon (22 Bishopsgate) the 
statistics from the first five days of opening were over 86,000 bookings. There 
were 5,000 booking slots, in the first three minutes, and the weekend was fully 
booked in two minutes. There were 1,200 walk-ins and no-one was turned 
away. There were international bookings too from the US, Japan, New Zealand, 
South Africa and Europe.  
 
With regards to 18 Bishopsgate, that had over 17,000 visitors since opening 
from Mid-August. Over 5,000 walk-in visitors were admitted no pre-booking. 
Although 22 Horizon was higher, this space was spectacular and being lower, 
gave it a different perspective.  
 
The Chairman enquired if enough of these spaces had now been provided and 
whether there were other public benefits from these buildings. An Officer 
explained that they were seeing ground level benefits from other schemes, but 
there was evidence to suggest high public appetite for these, and there was an 
under-supply of this type of space at the moment. The last two galleries were 
internal viewing galleries, which happened to come online at the same time. 
Future projects which were under construction included rooftop gardens and 
terraces and provided a different offer. The focus for these was making each of 
these unique so there was not a mass supply of the same facilities, as well as 
these being equally spaced throughout the City. 
 
A Member thanked the Officers and Developers for making these viewing 
galleries accessible to residents first before the public, and asked if building 
owners could hold slots for residents so they had priority going forward.  An 
Officer explained that this experience had been a learning curve as to how they 
operate, and it relied on public feedback, therefore this would be shared.  
 
An Officer provided an update regarding senior changes in Planning and 
Development regarding assistant directors. The Assistant Director of 

Page 18



Partnership and Engagement had retired from post, following 36 years at the 
City. A new appointment had since been made who had already started in post. 
The Assistant Director for Design was undergoing a career break and this 
position was offered as an acting up opportunity up to April 2024.  
 
The Chairman passed on his congratulations to those who had filled the posts 
and asked for the Committee’s thanks to be passed on the Simon McGinn, for 
all his excellent work, and wished him a happy retirement. 
 
 

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.   
 

17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED- that the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2023 
be approved as an accurate record.  
 

18. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no additional urgent items of business for consideration in the non-
public session.  
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.23pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Zoe Lewis 
zoe.lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 

 

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE – OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 

Item Date Action/ Responsible Officer Progress Update and Date to be 
progressed/completed 

 

1 17 Nov 2020 

15 Dec 2020 

5 Jan 2021 
26 Jan 2021 
16 Feb 2021 
24 Feb 2021 
9 March 2021 
30 March 2021 
22 April 2021 
12 May 2021 
8 June 2021 
29 June 2021 
20 July 2021 
7 Sept 2021 
21 Sept 2021 
26 Oct 2021 
16 Nov 2021 

14 Dec 2021 

11 Jan 2022 

1 Feb 2022 
22 Feb 2022 
26 April 2022 
17 May 2022 
7June 2022 
1 July 2022 
19 July 2022 
20 Sept 2022 
11 Oct 2022 
1 Nov 2022 
10 Jan 2023 
7 March 2023 
11 May 2023 

18 July 2023 

Member Training 
 

Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director / Director of the Built Environment 

 

A Member questioned whether there would be 
further training provided on Daylight/Sunlight 
and other relevant 
planning matters going forward. She stated 
that she was aware that other local authorities 
offered more extensive training and induction 
for Planning Committee members and also 
requested that those sitting on the Planning 
Committee signed dispensations stating that 
they had received adequate training. 
 
The Chair asked that the relevant Chief Officers 
consider how best to take this forward. He also 
highlighted that the request from the Town Clerk 
to all Ward Deputies seeking their nominations 
on to Ward Committees states that Members of 
the Planning & Transportation Committee are 
expected to undertake regular training. 

UPDATE: (21 November 2023): 
New Committee Members are provided with training on 
key aspects. A programme of wider Member training is 
being implemented in 2023. The first of the recordings 
(regarding Material Planning Considerations) were sent 
to members with a Q&A on this topic prior to the 11 
May 2023 Planning and Transportation Committee 
meeting. The next member training material on fire 
safety is in the process of being organised. 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 4



 

 

    

2. 11 Jan 2022 
1 Feb 2022 
22 Feb 2022 
26 April 2022 
17 May 2022 
7June 2022 
1 July 2022 
19 July 2022 
20 Sept 2022 
11 Oct 2022 
1 Nov 2022 
10 Jan 2023 
7 March 2023 
11 May 2023 
18 July 2023 
3 October 2023 

Sustainability SPD 
 

Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director 

 

A Member questioned whether the production of a 
Sustainability SPD could feature on the list of 
outstanding actions. 

 

The Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director stated that he would be liaising with his 
sustainability officers to provide a more targeted 
timeline around the production of the Sustainability 
SPD and 
agreed to include this information in the list of 
outstanding actions. 
 

UPDATE (3 OCTOBER 2023): 
 

The Sustainability SPD is being developed and will 
be brought to the Committee in December 2023, 
before public consultation. 

3. 18 July 2023 
3 October 2023 

Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Emission Data 
Monitoring In Major Planning Applications 

 
Planning and Development Director 

 
A Member asked if consideration was being given 
to the scope for schemes the City had permitted 
and whether this could feature on the list of 
outstanding actions.  

UPDATE (21 November 2023): 
 
 
Data relating to operational carbon intensity, 
embodied carbon intensity and whole life-cycle 
carbon emissions from major applications approved 
in 2021 and 2022 have been published on the CAS 
dashboard. 

 

P
age 22



 

Committee(s) Dated: 

Planning and Transportation Committee 
Policy and Resources Committee 
Court of Common Council 

21/11/2023 
14/12/2023 
11/01/2024 

Subject: 
City Plan 2040 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1,2,3,5,6,7,8,9,11,12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Yes 

If so, how much? Between £251,000 and 
£446,000 for FY 2024/25 

What is the source of Funding? Additional funding may be 
required depending on 
budget allocations for FY 
2024/25 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Budget setting for FY 
2024/25 is ongoing 

Report of:  
Bob Roberts, Interim Executive Director of Environment  

For Discussion 

Report author: Rob McNicol, Assistant Director – 
Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

 
Summary 

 
The City Plan 2040 is a new local plan for the City of London, setting the policies and 
strategic priorities that will guide the growth of the Square Mile up to 2040. The City 
Plan has been in production for a number of years, with initial ‘issues and options’ 
explored and consulted on in 2016, a draft plan consulted on in 2018/19, and a 
proposed submission version of the Plan produced and consulted on in 2021.  
 
Over the last 18 months, new evidence has been produced and further informal 
engagement has taken place to inform the Plan. The City Plan has been amended to 
reflect the findings of evidence, to take into account the engagement responses 
received, and to align the Plan with other updated corporate strategies – work that 
has been informed by the advice of the Local Plan Sub-Committee. 
 
This paper sets out the outcomes of engagement, the direction of the redrafted Plan 
and summarises the main changes to policies. It is proposed that this latest version 
of the City Plan is progressed through pre-submission consultation before being 
submitted to the Secretary of State for public examination. 
 
 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to: 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



• Agree the proposed changes to the City Plan set out in Appendix 2 and that 
the City Plan 2040 (Appendix 3) be published for pre-submission 
consultation, subject to the approval of the Policy and Resources Committee 
and Court of Common Council;  

 

• Agree that, following consultation, the City Plan, the public representations 
and other supporting documentation be submitted to the Secretary of State, 
for examination; 

 

• Authorise the Director of the Built Environment, in liaison with the Chair and 
Deputy Chair of the Planning & Transportation Committee, to compile a list 
of further changes to the City Plan in response to public representations and 
submit this to the Secretary of State; and 

 

• Authorise the Planning and Development Director to make further non-
material amendments and editorial changes prior to public consultation and 
submission to the Secretary of State. 

 
Main Report 

 
 
Background 
 
1. The City Plan 2040 has been in development for a number of years and has 

undergone extensive public engagement over this time: 
 

• 2016 – an issues and options consultation took place (the ‘regulation 18’ 
consultation) 

• 2018 – consultation on a draft local plan 

• 2021 – the first proposed submission version of the City Plan 2036 was 
published and consulted on (regulation 19 stage) 

 
2. On 14 December 2021, this committee decided not to submit the City Plan 2036 

to the Secretary of State immediately for examination but instead to undertake 
further evidence work and revise the City Plan in light of the issues raised during 
the pre-submission consultation. These issues are set out in the report to that 
committee and primarily related to: 

 

• Tall buildings and their impacts on heritage, including an issue of ‘non-
conformity’ with the London Plan 

• Sustainability, in particular the approaches to embodied carbon and 
demolition 

• The need for more recent evidence on office and retail demand, given shifting 
working patterns and changes to shopping behaviours following covid-19 

• How inclusive approaches can be woven into more aspects of the City Plan, 
especially as the City aims to widen its appeal to visitors. 

 
3. The work required to address these issues has been carried out over the last 18 

months, and relevant changes have been made to the City Plan, as set out in 

Page 24



this report and in appendix 1. That committee also decided to extend the end 
date of the City Plan to 2040, in order to align with the net zero carbon target for 
the Square Mile in the Climate Action Strategy and to allow for the Plan to cover 
a 15 year timeframe, as required by national policy. 
 

4. In recent years, there have been a number of changes to the planning system 
and updated local strategies that have warranted and informed updates to the 
City Plan. These are discussed in relation to the relevant policies below, and 
include: 

 

• The introduction of requirements for development to deliver biodiversity net 
gain, set out in national legislation; 

• Changes to the use class order, bringing together retail and services, cafes 
and restaurants, some community uses and workspaces into a single use 
class, allowing change of use between them without the need for planning 
permission; 

• The introduction of the City Corporation’s flagship Destination City vision, to 
transform the Square Mile into a leading destination for leisure, culture and 
recreation; 

• Updates to the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy; 

• A new Sports Strategy for the City Corporation. 
 
 
Informal Public Engagement 
 
5. During the summer of 2023, informal public engagement was undertaken to 

inform changes to the City Plan 2040. Ten public events were held, split between 
those covering specific themes and those related to the City’s seven Key Areas 
of Change. Online engagement through the Planning Division’s Commonplace 
platform was also carried out. The main issues raised during the consultation are 
summarised below. 
 

Healthy Streets and Spaces 
 
6. This session explored the potential and challenges for the City’s streets and 

open spaces. Participants identified the following priorities for the revised City 
Plan: 

 

• Greater provision and quality of publicly accessible open space at ground 
level; places to relax, rest and spend time – especially near the Thames; 

• More roof gardens, ensuring they are inclusive and welcoming for all; 

• More childcare, school and health facilities; 

• Better quality and greater access to play space, particularly near residential 
areas and near attractions for families; 

• To ensure suicide prevention measures are incorporated into the design of 
high level spaces; 

• To address overcrowded streets and spaces; 

• To encourage temporary events, exhibitions, pop-up activities and street 
markets; 

Page 25



• To create a greener public realm; 

• To improve cycle parking, particularly near busy areas. 
 
Future Office Needs 
 
7. This session explored how the qualitative and quantitative demand for office 

floorspace has changed and is likely to influence office supply over coming 
years. Participants identified the following priorities for the revised City Plan: 

 

• The need to address challenges faced by grade B office stock, potentially 
allowing greater flexibility to change use; 

• Finding the right balance in meeting demand, seeking to meet future office 
demand in sustainable ways; 

• Opening up office lobbies and making them more welcoming spaces that 
contribute to the life of the City; 

• Make better use of empty shops, particularly when affected by office 
developments; 

• Ensure the City has high quality public realm and leisure and cultural facilities, 
reflecting the standing of the Square Mile as a world-class office location.  

 
Tall buildings and heritage 
 
8. This session explored how the City Plan’s tall buildings approach can reflect the 

requirements of the London Plan; how to strike a balance between the 
development of tall buildings and the impacts on historic buildings and areas; 
and how tall buildings can positively contribute to the Square Mile. Participants 
identified the following priorities for the revised City Plan: 

 

• The need to minimise harm to heritage assets; 

• The need to celebrate our heritage and the City’s hidden gems; 

• Need for tall buildings to have good quality public realm around them; 

• The juxtaposition of old and new and different styles remaining a key part of 
the Square Mile’s character; 

• A greater variety of public experiences in tall buildings; 

• Using tall building clusters to deliver greater sustainability benefits; 

• The need to ensure appropriate flexibility over the precise height of tall 
buildings while giving clarity over suitable heights. 

 
Culture and Destination City 
 
This session explored the role of cultural attractions in the City, and the way that 
development can help to create a ‘Destination City’ for the Square Mile. Participants 
identified the following priorities for the revised City Plan: 
 

• The need to celebrate the City’s hidden gems; 

• Encouraging an active street culture, with public spaces that have markets, 
spill-out space, events and activities; 

• Make more of the north bank of the Thames; 

Page 26



• Ensure we have the right facilities and complementary uses – public toilets, 
open spaces, food and drink – to complement cultural and leisure offers; 

• Clear signs and wayfinding, and inclusive approaches to public welcome, 
particularly for spaces accessed through buildings such as roof terraces. 

 
Sustainable Development 
 
This session explored how development in the City can assist in meeting our net 
zero targets and enable the City to adapt to the changing climate. Participants 
identified the following priorities for the revised City Plan: 
 

• The need to shift the culture away from ‘demolition first’ to ‘retrofit first’; 

• Promoting retrofit while recognising that this may not be feasible for all 
buildings; 

• Explore change of use to incentivise retrofit, while ensuring this doesn’t result 
in low quality conversions; 

• Prioritise long-term planning for sustainable power and energy infrastructure; 

• Ensure new buildings can be adapted and updated in the long term, reducing 
the need for future demolition. 

 
Key Areas of Change 
Engagement sessions were held for the Key Areas of Change, exploring what 
people value about each area and how development can support positive change in 
each area. These are summarised in the table below: 
 

Key Area of Change Engagement feedback 

City Cluster People value: 

• Leadenhall Market 

• City Skyline and views of and from tall buildings 

• Iconic architecture 
 
Priorities for change: 

• Reinvigorating Leadenhall Market 

• Capitalising on existing and emerging 
attractions and the area’s connectivity 

• Creating improved public realm and walking 
and cycling routes 

• More active frontages 
 

Liverpool Street People value: 

• Liverpool Street station 

• Connectivity to other places 
 
Priorities for change: 

• Improvements to the public realm along 
Bishopsgate, particularly near the station 
entrance 

• Improvements to the arrival experience at 
Liverpool Street station 

Page 27



• Safer streets, enhanced public realm and 
improved walking and cycling across the area 
 

Aldgate, Tower and 
Portsoken 

People value: 

• Green open spaces 

• Local shops 

• Housing 
 
Priorities for change: 

• Enhancements to the public realm 

• More places to sit, relax and socialise 

• Better cycling routes 

• More and improved play and open spaces 

• Ensuring new development doesn’t unduly 
affect residential areas 

• Need for social infrastructure, particularly GP 
surgeries 

• Local shops to serve resident population 
 

Barbican and Smithfield People value: 

• Cultural uses and heritage 

• Green open spaces and biodiversity 

• Housing and the residential feel of parts of the 
area 

 
Priorities for change: 

• Better walking and cycling routes, including 
improvements to Beech Street 

• More places to relax, enjoy and spend time 

• Enhancing the area’s culture offer, including its 
existing ‘hidden gems’ like St Bartholomew the 
Great 

 

Fleet Street and Ludgate People value: 

• The area’s historic courts and alleys 

• The Fleet Street thoroughfare 

• The area’s historic and cultural attractions 
 
Priorities for change: 

• Enhancing Fleet Street, creating more activity 
and reinvigorating the retail offer 

• Places to socialise and spend time 

• Better walking and cycling routes 

• Opportunities for meanwhile use 
 

Blackfriars People value: 

• Public space along the riverfront 
 

Page 28



Priorities for change: 

• Generous public open spaces 

• Enhancements to the riverside walk 

• Improved connectivity to the riverside 

• Tackling the impermeability of the area and the 
unattractive character of many buildings 

• Exploring opportunities for the undercroft to the 
west of Blackfriars Bridge 

 

Pool of London People value: 

• The Thames riverside walk 
 
Priorities for change: 

• Enhancing the riverside walk 

• Creating inclusive public open spaces by the 
river 

• Improvements to walking and cycling in the 
area, especially the accessibility of the riverfront 
walk which is overly narrow in places 

• Need for improved retail, leisure and cultural 
offer 

 

 
9. The priorities identified have informed the latest version of the City Plan 2040. 

Appendix 1 to this paper sets out the changes made to the plan and how the 
informal engagement informed those changes.  

 
 
The Revised City Plan 2040 
 
10. This latest version of the City Plan takes the City Plan 2036 (consulted on in 

2021) as its starting point. While changes have been made, it remains consistent 
in many ways with the previous version of the Plan. The subject and approach of 
many policies remains as before, and the strategic priorities (which have been 
added in this version) are based on the spatial strategy from the previous 
version. The overall approach in the Plan is similar to earlier versions; recent 
evidence and the public engagement have informed changes but have on the 
whole broadly confirmed that the direction of travel of the 2021 version remains a 
sound approach to planning for the future of the Square Mile. 
 

11. Two versions of the City Plan 2040 have been appended to this paper. Appendix 
2 sets out the City Plan as a ‘tracked change’ version, showing the amendments 
compared to the City Plan 2036. Appendix 3 sets out a ‘clean’ version of the City 
Plan 2040. Many of the changes that have been made to the Plan are to 
eradicate duplication and make it a more usable document. More substantive 
changes are highlighted in this report. 

 
 
 

Page 29



Chapter 1 – Strategic Priorities 
 
12. The City Plan 2040 covers a wide range of issues, and it is important that the 

Plan has clear priorities for its delivery. Identifying ‘strategic priorities’ is also a 
requirement of legislation. Chapter 1 of the Plan sets these priorities out, and 
these underpin the strategic policies that form the backbone of the Plan. These 
priorities build on earlier versions of the City Plan, and have been informed by 
engagement work, evidence and relevant strategies.  
 

Chapter 2 – Spatial Strategy 
 
13. The ‘key diagram’ in this chapter sets out the overall spatial vision for the growth 

of the Square Mile. It identifies the Key Areas of Change, where we envisage 
transformational growth over the lifetime of the Plan. It identifies residential 
areas, where the Plan seeks to focus residential growth; existing and 
forthcoming major visitor destinations; key heritage assets; major improvements 
to the street network; green areas; the City’s principal shopping centres; the 
legal cluster in the west of the City, including the Temples; and riverside features 
such as the riverside walk, Walbrook Wharf and planned open spaces along the 
river. 
 

14. The spatial strategy for the Plan sets out at a high level how those policies with a 
spatial element will affect different parts of the Square Mile, for example covering 
where the City will see the most substantial office growth. 

 
Chapter 3 – Health, Inclusion and Safety 
 
15. This chapter helps to realise a range of strategic priorities, particularly creating a 

more inclusive, healthier and safer City for everyone.  
 

16. The built environment can be a significant determinant of health outcomes, and 
this chapter seeks to create a healthier City by promoting buildings designed 
with health in mind; improving air quality; creating and protecting quieter spaces 
in the City; protecting health facilities and promoting new ones in suitable 
locations; tackling noise; managing construction; requiring the provision of public 
toilets in appropriate development; and requiring health impact assessments. 
Heath is addressed in many other areas of the City Plan, including through the 
promotion of the Healthy Streets Approach in Chapter 10 and the creation of 
new and improved open spaces in Chapter 12. 

 
17. This chapter also seeks to promote sports, recreation and play in the City, 

protecting existing facilities and encouraging new ones in appropriate locations, 
reflecting the aims of the City Corporation’s Sports Strategy. 

 
18. Inclusion is threaded through many aspects of the City Plan. This chapter 

includes an overarching policy on inclusive buildings and spaces, requiring high 
standards of accessibility and inclusive design, including through the use of 
equality impact assessments and by requiring the provision of spaces that are 
free to access. Many other parts of the City Plan also highlight the need for 
inclusive approaches, including policies on play areas (see policy HL9); the need 

Page 30



for affordable housing and the design of new housing (see Chapter 4); promoting 
inclusive working environments (see policy OF1); securing inclusive public realm 
(see policy DE3) and ensuring elevated public spaces and cultural, leisure and 
recreation offers are welcoming and inclusive for everyone (see policy DE5). 
Inclusion is also addressed in a number of the Key Areas of Change, particularly 
to ensure that areas such as the Pool of London provide inclusive, free to access 
public areas.  

 
19. Strategic Policy S2 addresses safety and security, seeking to ensure 

development contributes to wider security and treats safety and security as 
inherent parts of site design. Elsewhere in the Plan, policy DE5 (Terraces and 
Elevated Public Areas) highlights the need for these spaces to address safety 
and security risks at design stage, including to reduce the potential for suicide or 
falling. The transport policies in Chapter 10 also seek to create a safer 
environment for everyone on and around the City’s streets. Policy DE9 on 
lighting seeks to ensure that the lighting of new development, and in particular 
the public spaces around buildings, takes into consideration public safety. 

 
Chapter 4 – Housing 
 
20. This chapter sets out how the City Plan will meet the requirements of the London 

Plan and national policy in delivering housing in the City. Policy S3 (Housing) 
identifies the housing provision required for the City Plan, and this has been 
informed by an update to the City Corporation’s Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment.  
 

21. Since the Regulation 19 consultation, work has been undertaken to establish the 
best approach to meeting the City’s housing requirement. The option of 
identifying specific sites was explored; however, a ‘call for sites’ exercise yielded 
limited developer interest for housing development in the Square Mile. Given the 
strong track record of delivery through ‘windfall’, ie unidentified sites, over the 
longer term, the City Plan 2040 continues this approach while providing greater 
certainty over the areas that would be suitable for new housing by identifying 
them clearly on a map (see Policy HS1 – Location of New Housing).  

 
Chapter 5 – Offices 
 
22. This chapter continues the City Corporation’s long-standing approach of 

supporting economic and employment growth in the City through the delivery of 
additional office floorspace; resisting the loss of existing offices in many 
instances; and seeking to encourage investment in existing office stock. This 
approach also reflects the requirements of the London Plan, which promotes 
employment growth in the City in particular.  

 
23. The chapter has been informed by a report by Arup/Knight Frank for the City 

Corporation, which identified strong positive demand for office floorspace over 
the lifetime of the City Plan.  

 
24. Policy OF1 (Office Development) seeks to prioritise retrofitting of existing 

buildings, in line with the ‘retrofit first’ approach set out in Chapter 9 of the City 

Page 31



Plan. It also requires office design to be of a high standard, with supporting text 
recognising the role office lobbies could play in supporting the wider life of the 
Square Mile. 

 
25. The ‘retrofit fast track’ has been introduced in policy OF2 (Protection of Existing 

Office Floorspace). This allows a route to convert existing office buildings to a 
hotel, education or cultural use provided that the office is not strategically 
important and that it has been marketed as an office. This strikes a careful 
balance between seeking to promote investment in existing offices, incentivising 
retention of buildings where a change of use is being pursued, and recognising 
the challenges some grade B offices face in meeting market demand.  

 
Chapter 6 – Retail  
 
26. This chapter has been informed by recently completed retail evidence, which 

shows that over the long term there remains strong demand for retail uses in the 
Square Mile, supported by a growing workforce and increased visitor footfall. 
The evidence recognises that there is a current over-supply of retail premises in 
the Square Mile and relatively higher vacancy rates; however these are expected 
to reverse over coming years and it’s important that the planning system takes a 
long-term stance.  
 

27. The policy takes a more flexible approach to retail and related uses, seeking to 
promote more diversity of active frontages across the City and in the Principal 
Shopping Centres. This will enable businesses greater opportunity to start and 
scale up, and reflects the introduction of Class E use class by the government, 
which widens the range of uses between which premises can change without the 
need for planning permission. 

 
Chapter 7 – Culture and Visitors 
 
28. The City Corporation’s Destination City vision has had a significant impact on 

this chapter, which recognises the crucial role that culture and visitors will have 
to play in creating a more vibrant Square Mile that is a welcoming destination for 
everyone.  
 

29. Policy S6 (Culture and Visitors) seeks the development of a wide range of 
cultural, leisure and recreational facilities across the City. It provides links to the 
Culture Planning Framework, which is currently under development, and which 
will set out a framework for how new development can support the cultural life of 
different parts of the Square Mile, informed by extensive research. 

 
30. Policy CV2 (Provision of Arts, Culture and Leisure Facilities) requires the 

provision of arts, culture or leisure facilities in major developments, 
commensurate with their size. This builds on recent successes secured through 
the planning system such as the Migration Museum, and complements the 
delivery of elevated public spaces in tall buildings (as required in Policy DE5 
(Terraces and Elevated Public Spaces).  

 

Page 32



31. Policy CV4 (Hotels) sets out a positive approach to the provision of visitor 
accommodation, reflecting recent evidence from Avison Young for the City 
Corporation.  
 

Chapter 8 – Infrastructure 
 
32. This policy seeks to deliver infrastructure and utilities provision for the City that 

supports its functions and seeks to deliver a net zero and climate resilient 
Square Mile. It requires developers to engage with infrastructure providers and 
take steps to minimise demand for power, water and utility services. The 
approach in the chapter has been informed by the City Corporation’s Utilities 
Infrastructure Strategy and the Local Area Energy Plan. 

 
Chapter 9 – Design 
 
33. The design of buildings and spaces plays a vital role in ensuring development is 

sustainable, makes a positive contribution to the City’s aesthetic qualities, and 
meets the requirements of all users. Policy S8 (Design) sets out a range of 
requirements covering issues ranging from sustainable design, form and layout, 
experience of spaces, and the quality and character of buildings.  
 

34. Policy DE1 (Sustainable Design) sets out a ‘retrofit first’ approach, requiring all 
major development to undertake options appraisal to identify the most 
sustainable and suitable approach for the site. The policy also sets high 
standards for environmental performance of new buildings, approaches that 
mitigate climate impacts, and design that is informed by circular economy 
approaches. 

 
35. The remainder of the chapter addresses a range of issues, seeking to ensure 

development is of an exemplar standard of design, aesthetics and architectural 
detail; that development helps to enhance the City’s public realm, including 
through making it more inclusive and accessible; encourages roof terraces 
where suitable, and requires a broad range of elevated public spaces in tall 
buildings and major developments. 

 
36. This chapter also addresses shopfronts, advertising, daylight and sunlight, and 

lighting, with the latter reflecting the innovative approach set out in the recently-
adopted Lighting Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Chapter 10 – Transport 
 
37. This chapter has been informed by the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy. It 

sets out how development should seek to enable the vision of the Transport 
Strategy, prioritising people walking and wheeling while facilitating the servicing 
of the Square Mile in sustainable ways, for example through consolidation.  
Policies seek to ensure development reinforces the Healthy Streets Approach, 
address freight and servicing and vehicle parking; promote the use of the river 
Thames for transport; enhance permeability and wayfinding; and facilitate 
pedestrian movement, active travel and cycling. 

 

Page 33



Chapter 11 – Heritage and Tall Buildings 
 
38. Policy S11 (Historic Environment) seeks to ensure the City’s historic 

environment will be protected, celebrated and positively managed. It recognises 
the importance of the City’s many heritage assets and their role both for the City 
and more broadly, as well as the importance of the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site. Policy HE1 (Managing Change to the Historic Environment), which 
seeks to ensure development proposals preserve and enhance heritage assets 
and their setting. This policy also identifies the importance of the immediate 
setting of The Monument and Bevis Marks Synagogue.  
 

39. Policy S12 (Tall Buildings) sets out a comprehensive approach to managing tall 
building proposals in the Square Mile, responding to responses received during 
the earlier Regulation 19 public consultation and the issues of non-conformity 
raised by the Mayor of London. The policy sets out how tall buildings should be 
clustered and the appropriate heights within these areas. It also sets out the 
importance of considering both local heritage assets and other factors, and the 
need for exemplar architectural quality and sustainable and accessible building 
design. 

 
40. This approach has been informed by extensive evidence including 

characterisation work, exploring the suitability of areas for tall buildings; three 
dimensional computer modelling of potential tall building heights; and 
assessments of views and the impact on key heritage assets.  

 
41. Policy S13 (Protected Views) sets out requirements for protecting and enhancing 

views and the skyline, recognising the importance and continuing the long-
standing approach to St Paul’s Cathedral, the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site and the Monument. 

 
Chapter 12 – Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 
 
42. Policy S14 (Open spaces and green infrastructure) seeks to protect existing 

open and green spaces and provide new ones through development and other 
measures.  
 

43. The chapter also seeks to enhance the City’s biodiversity through new 
development, instigating a new approach to biodiversity that builds on the 
recently introduced national approach while tailoring it to the City’s 
circumstances. 

 
44. This chapter also supports urban greening and the provision of trees. 

 
Chapter 13 – Climate Resilience 
 
45. This chapter seeks a range of measures to help make the City more resilient as 

development comes forward, helping to minimise the urban heat island effect 
and the risk of flooding, implement sustainable drainage systems, reduce and 
manage the City’s waste in sustainable ways. 

 

Page 34



 
Chapter 14 – The Temples, the Thames Policy Area and the Key Areas of Change 

 
46. This chapter begins with a revised policy on the Temples (policy TP1), setting 

out that the Plan will support its broad range of education, training and other 
facilities as well as the balance between professional and residential 
accommodation. 
 

47. The Thames Policy Area sets out how the City will seek to enhance this 
important part of the City, the enjoyment of the Thames and its use for transport 
including waste and freight. 

 
48. The Blackfriars Key Area of Change (policy S18) sets out a range of measures 

and spatial requirements to make the area more welcoming and vibrant, 
including through the provision of new and enhanced public realm, transforming 
the built environment, and enhancing its heritage and cultural assets. 

 
49. The Pool of London Key Area of Change (policy S19) seeks measures that will 

make the area more inclusive, welcoming and accessible, maximising the 
opportunities for increasing public realm and optimising the use of heritage. 

 
50. The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change (Policy S20) promotes 

the area as a mixed use area with a mix of residential, commercial and other 
uses. It also seeks to meet the needs of residents through the use of funding 
sources to help deliver social infrastructure and other facilities, and seeks to 
facilitate the regeneration of the Mansell Street estate. Public realm and open 
space enhancements will also be sought. 

 
51. The City Cluster Key Area of Change (Policy S21) sets out the need to 

accommodate significant office growth in this area including through the 
construction of tall buildings. It seeks complementary leisure, culture and retail 
uses to support the primary office function, and improvements to and new open 
space. The policy also requires development to have regard to the immediate 
setting of Bevis Marks Synagogue.  

 
52. The Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change (Policy S22) seeks to 

promote the area through encouraging greater diversity of retail, leisure and 
culture activity, encouraging office-led redevelopment, improving key streets and 
junctions, and enhancing the processional route along Fleet Street and views of 
St Paul’s Cathedral. 

 
53. The Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change (Policy S23) seeks 

improvements to the area though culture-led development on major sites, 
enhancements to the public realm such as Beech Street, and seeking to 
preserve privacy, security and noise abatement for residents and businesses in 
the area. 

 
54. The Smithfield policy (S24) recognises the potential for the future re-use of the 

Smithfield Market buildings and the need for development in the area to 
celebrate and promote the heritage of this site and other historic buildings.  

Page 35



 
55. The Liverpool Street Key Area of Change (policy S25) seeks to enhance this 

area, capitalising on its connectivity, promoting a welcoming visitor experience 
and providing a mix of retail and other active frontages at ground floor. The 
policy supports improvements to and accessibility of the station and adjacent 
areas. 

 
Chapter 15 – Implementation 
 
56. This chapter sets out the types of contributions that will be expected to be 

provided by relevant development, including through Section 106 and the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (Policy S27: Planning Contributions). It also sets 
out how the City Corporation will expect developers to approach viability, and 
sets out how the City Plan will be monitored. 

 
 
Diagrams and Policies Map 
 
57. Diagrams in the City Plan have been updated to reflect the policies set out in this 

paper. The City Plan is accompanied by a Policies Map suite, which sets out in 
detail the specific areas to which relevant policies apply. Appendix 4 of this 
paper includes the four policies maps, and sets out the changes (if any) made to 
the policies map compared to the adopted 2015 version of the Local Plan, as 
required by legislation. 

 
 
Next Steps 
 
58. Further proofing and minor modifications that do not materially affect policies 

may be required to the City Plan 2040, as well as reformatting to make the 
document as user-friendly and accessible as possible. Delegated authority is 
sought for the Planning and Development Director to make these amendments 
prior to the Regulation 19 consultation starting in February 2024.  
 

59. Subject to approval by this Committee, the City Plan 2040 will be considered by 
the Policy and Resources Committee in December and the Court of Common 
Council in January 2024.  
 

60. In February 2024 there will be a ‘regulation 19’ public consultation, running for a 
minimum of six weeks (in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement). The scope of this consultation is to establish whether respondents 
consider that amendments should be made to the Plan; these responses are 
submitted together with the Plan to the Secretary of State for public examination 
by the Planning Inspectorate. The Planning and Development Director, in liaison 
with the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Planning & Transportation Committee, 
will, if necessary, compile a list of further changes to the Local Plan in response 
to public representations and submit this to the Secretary of State. 

 
61. Formal Examination hearings are then likely to take place later in 2024, with 

adoption of the new Local Plan scheduled for 2025.   

Page 36



 
Corporate & Strategic implications 
62. The preparation of the City Plan is informed by and will contribute to the 

implementation of the Corporate Plan (2018-23). The City Plan will support the 
delivery of key Corporate priorities, along with proposals to ensure a sufficient 
supply of business space and complementary uses to meet future needs. The 
City Plan has been discussed with colleagues developing the new Corporate 
Plan to ensure consistency wherever possible. Preparation of the revised City 
Plan is being undertaken alongside the review of the Transport Strategy and the 
revised end date of the City Plan (2040) will align with the key net zero target in 
the Climate Action Strategy.  
 

Financial implications 
63. The City Plan is a statutory function that the Corporation are required to deliver. 

While the costs of drafting and consulting on the City Plan up to Regulation 19 
stage can be met from existing budgets for FY 2023/24, the cost of public 
examination are substantial, particularly related to the fees for Planning 
Inspectors, the costs of a programme officer to facilitate the examination, advice 
from Counsel on key issues, and potential need to undertake further evidence 
depending on the outcome of the regulation 19 consultation. These costs can 
vary substantially depending on the length of the public examination hearings 
and the complexity of issues raised during regulation 19 consultation.  

 
64. The City Corporation holds a reserve of funds for the local plan; however, this 

will not cover the full costs and would not be replenished. Discussions with the 
Chamberlains’ Department regarding the departmental budget for financial year 
2024/25 are ongoing and there are no immediate unfunded financial barriers to 
continuing to regulation 19 consultation.  

 
Staff Resource implications 
65. Preparation of the revised pre-submission Regulation 19 City Plan is being 

carried out in-house by the Development Plans Team, working alongside and 
supported by Development and Design colleagues in the planning service and 
by other services as appropriate.  
 

Legal implications 
66. There are no specific legal requirements, other than the ongoing requirement to 

ensure that all relevant statutory processes are complied with during production 
of the City Plan. 
 

Equalities implications 
67. Preparation of the City Plan has been informed by an Integrated Impact 

Assessment. A separate Equality Impact Assessment and Health Impact 
Assessment of the latest amendments is also being undertaken and it is 
anticipated that the effects of the plan will be broadly positive across both health 
and equality, and major negative impacts are not anticipated. Any material 
changes to the Plan following Regulation 19 consultation will be subject to 
further Equality Assessment. The Public Sector Equality Duty has informed the 
development of the Plan throughout its production. 
 

Page 37



Risk implications 
68. The December 2021 report to the Grand Committee identified the risks 

associating with preparing a revised pre-submission Regulation 19 City Plan as 
compared to submitting the current version for examination. The Grand 
Committee agreed to revise the City Plan and officers will continue to monitor 
and report back on any changes to the risk assessment as the project 
progresses. 

 
Climate implications 
69. The City Plan is one of the key mechanisms for achieving the targets in the 

Climate Action Strategy that relate to the Square Mile rather than the City 
Corporation’s own operations, in particular the net zero target for the Square 
Mile by 2040, and tackling climate resilience. Many policies in the Plan seek to 
address climate issues, particularly policies on sustainable development and the 
the retention of existing buildings, including for offices. 
  

Security implications 
70. Policies in the City Plan seek to ensure the Square Mile remains resilient to 

security requirements, especially as new developments come forward in the City. 
 
Conclusion 
71. The report sets out the main issues addressed in the City Plan 2040 and the 

matters that have informed proposed amendments to the policies and structure 
of the City Plan, including public engagement, recent evidence and corporate 
strategies. The revised Plan sets out a sustainable approach to development in 
the City, with changes addressing the key issues raised during previous 
consultations and arising from recent evidence. 

 
Background Papers 

• None 
 
Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Changes to the City Plan policies 

• Appendix 2 – City Plan 2040 – policy text changes 

• Appendix 3 – City Plan 2040 – revised proposed submission version (Feb 
2024) 

• Appendix 4 – City Plan 2040 Policies Maps 
 
 
Report author 
 
Rob McNicol 
Assistant Director – Planning Policy and Strategy 
 
T: 07784 239316 
E: rob.mcnicol@cityoflondon.gov.uk  
 

Page 38

mailto:rob.mcnicol@cityoflondon.gov.uk


          APPENDIX 1 
City Plan 2040 
 
Changes made from the City Plan 2036 (produced March 2021) to the City Plan 
2040 
 
This document summarises the main changes made to each chapter and policy of 
the City Plan, comparing the version published in March 2021 for the first Regulation 
19 consultation to the revised submission version, known as City Plan 2040. 
 
 
Chapter 1 – Introduction  

 
1. This chapter has been deleted from the plan. It contained background 

information on why a local plan is being produced, the stages the plan has been 
taken through, the broad policy context, and summarises the structure of the 
plan. Some of these are important pieces of information to retain but they do not 
need to be at the start of the document; they are rarely looked at in the day-to-
day use of a local plan. They will be revised, summarised and contained in an 
appendix. 
 
 

Chapter 2 – The City Today  
 

2. This chapter has been deleted from the plan. It contained a series of 
infographics setting out the key stats about the Square Mile, such as the amount 
of jobs, residents, size of open spaces, etc. Providing a static snapshot of this 
information, which will date rapidly, is potentially misleading. Instead, the 
planning department are producing new, digital approaches to monitoring that 
will provide better and more meaningful data about the City, updated regularly 
and providing historic time series wherever possible. 

 
 
Chapter 3 – Vision, Strategy and Spatial Objectives 
 
3. This chapter has been reformatted and revised extensively. The previous version 

used the framing of the City Corporation’s corporate plan 2018-2023, which is in 
the process of being replaced. For each of the three corporate plan aims, there 
was a vision for the Square Mile and a strategic objective. A vision was also set 
out for each Key Area of Change. A spatial strategy set out a series of 11 further 
objectives for the Plan. 
 

4. In the refreshed version, this approach has been simplified and revised, and 
updated to comply with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended by the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017), which requires local 
planning authorities to identify the strategic priorities for the development and 
use of land in the authority's area. A series of strategic priorities have been set 
out, grouped together under the three sustainable development objectives set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). These strategic priorities 
have been informed by the objectives set out in the spatial strategy of the first 

Page 39



proposed submission version of the plan, as well as other corporate strategies 
such as the Transport Strategy, and (like everything in the revised Plan) have 
been informed by evidence and stakeholder engagement. 

 
5. A new spatial strategy has been added. This focuses on those aspects of the 

plan that have a spatial dimension, such as where tall buildings should be 
located and where new housing will be focussed. 

 
Policy Changes 
 
6. Almost all policies have been amended, however many amendments are 

relatively minor in scope. The amendments are summarised for each policy 
below.  

 
 
Health, Inclusion and Safety 
 
Strategic Policy S1: Healthy and Inclusive City 
 
7. This is a strategic policy setting out how the City and development in the Square 

Mile should contribute to improving health and inclusion. References have been 
added to enabling communities to access opportunities for employment as well 
as sports provision (alongside other opportunities). A requirement has been 
added for development to take inclusive approaches to design. These changes 
reflect responses received during the previous Regulation 19 consultation in 
2021 and informal engagement in 2023.   

 
 
Policy HL1: Inclusive buildings and spaces 
 
8. The main changes are amendments to fully reflect all of the protected 

characteristics, in line with the Equality Act; a requirement for major development 
to submit an equality impact assessment; and a requirement for development to 
promote the achievement of equity, diversity and social inclusion. 

 
9. Supporting text has been updated to reflect these changes and to highlight how 

inclusive design can take neurodiversity into consideration. 
 
 
Policy HL2: Air quality 
 
10. A change had been made prior to the Local Plan sub committee regarding the 

use of diesel generators. This has been subsequently reverted to the original 
approach, with supporting text amended. 

 
 
Policy HL3: Noise 
 
11. This policy previously covered both noise and light pollution. A separate design 

policy (DE9) covered lighting. In order to simplify the plan, and to reflect the 

Page 40



increased emphasis on lighting as a result of the City Corporation’s lighting 
charter and Lighting SPD, the lighting aspects of HL3 have been merged into 
policy DE9. 
 

12. The policy wording regarding noise has been clarified to distinguish between 
new noise-generating uses and the potential impacts of existing noise-
generating uses on proposed development, with reference to the ‘agent of 
change’ principle added in relation to the latter. A requirement has been added 
for developers to explore opportunities to enhance the acoustic environment.  

 
 
Policy HL4: Contaminated land and water quality 
 
13. No changes have been made to the policy.  
 
 
Policy HL5: Location and protection of social and community facilities 
 
14. The policy has been amended to ensure that any replacement facilities are 

equivalent to those being replaced. The requirement for new facilities to not 
prejudice the business city has been removed from this policy, as it is adequately 
addressed under policy OF2.  

 
 
Policy HL6: Public toilets 
 
15. The policy has been amended to ensure facilities are provided for different types 

of users, including the provision of ‘changing places’ facilities. 
 
 
Policy HL7: Sport and recreation 
 
16. The policy has been amended to reflect the City Corporation’s aims to support a 

greater sport and recreation offer, and the creation of a network of facilities 
across the Square Mile.  
 
 

Policy HL8: Play areas and facilities 
 
17. The policy has been amended to seek additional play facilities in appropriate 

locations, and to ensure play facilities are designed inclusively. This issue arose 
during public engagement, particularly in relation to the need in and around 
residential areas. 

 
 
Policy HL9: Health impact assessments (HIA) 

 
18. The requirements of the policy have been tightened to ensure that all major 

development undertakes an HIA. Previously, this only applied to some, with 

Page 41



other forms able to carry out a checklist; in practice, developers are already 
complying with the requirement for rapid or full HIAs. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S2: Safe and Secure City 
 
19. The policy has been amended to highlight safety, fear of crime, and anti-social 

behaviour, and the need for development to address the requirements of people 
who are more likely to experience lack of safety in the City. 

 
 
Policy SA1: Publicly accessible locations 
 
20. The name of the policy has been amended from ‘crowded places’, to reflect 

more up to date terminology.  
 

21.  to highlight safety, fear of crime, and anti-social behaviour, and the need for 
development to address the requirements of people who are more likely to 
experience lack of safety in the City. 

 
 
 Policy SA2: Dispersal routes 
 
22. No substantial changes to the policy. 
 
 
Policy SA3: Designing in security 
 
23. The policy has been amended to mention ‘secured by design’ principles and to 

give further advice on how hostile vehicle mitigation should be designed.   
 
 
Housing 
 
Strategic Policy S3: Housing 
 
24. The housing requirement for the Plan has been updated to reflect both the 

London Plan (up to 2029) and the requirement for housing beyond this period set 
out in national policy. 
 

25. An additional clause has been added that seeks to prioritise specific forms of 
housing in residential areas, as these reflect the majority of the City’s housing 
need, as identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment. This also 
responds to issues raised during consultation, where respondents living in 
residential parts of the City were keen to ensure residential areas and the 
services, amenities and character of those areas were strengthened. 

 
 
Policy HS1: Location of new housing 

 

Page 42



26. The relationship between this policy and the loss of offices policy has been 
clarified. The policy has been amended to support a mix of cultural and 
community uses in residential areas (amongst other uses), reflecting responses 
received during informal engagement. 

  
 
Policy HS2: Loss of housing 

 
27. The supporting text has been amended to provide guidance on those situations 

where amalgamation of housing units might be acceptable. 
 

 
Policy HS3: Residential environment 

 
28. Reference to the lighting policy (DE9) has been added. 

 
29. Reference to the agent of change principle has been removed from this policy, 

as it isn’t directly applicable and is covered more clearly elsewhere in the plan. 
 
  
Policy HS4: Housing quality standards 

 
30. The relationship of the policy to London Plan residential standards has been 

clarified.  
 
 
Policy HS5: Short term residential letting 

 
31. No substantive changes to the policy. 
 
 
Policy HS6: Student accommodation and hostels 
 
32. The policy has been amended to require high design and amenity standards and 

good connections to educational institutions. Supporting text has been amended 
to refer to GLA guidance on accessible accommodation, and to advise 
developers to liaise with local residents and businesses. 

 
 
Policy HS7: The Temples 
 
33. The policy has been moved to chapter XX (see below). 
 
 
Policy HS7: Older persons housing 
 
34. The housing target for older persons housing has been amended, in line with the 

requirements of the SHMA. 
 
 

Page 43



 
 
Policy HS8: Self and custom build housing 
 
35. No changes to the policy. 
 
 
Offices 
 
Strategic Policy S4: Offices 
 
36. The target for office floorspace has been amended to reflect the recent evidence 

in the City Corporation’s future of offices study, with an aim to provide a 
minimum of 1.2m square metres of additional office floorspace over the lifetime 
of the City Plan. 
 

37. The policy has been amended to promote the retrofitting and upgrading of 
existing office buildings, reflecting responses received during recent informal 
public engagement. 

 
 
Policy OF1: Office development 
 
38. The policy has been amended to promote retrofitting, wellbeing and circular 

economy design approaches, reflecting consultation responses received during 
public engagement. Supporting text has been updated to provide guidance on 
the functioning and design of office lobbies as places that can contribute to the 
life of the City.  
 
 

Policy OF2: Protection of existing office floorspace 
 
39. The policy has been substantially amended, to provide clarity on the situations in 

which the loss of office floorspace would be acceptable. The first part of the 
policy sets conditions that all such applications would need to meet. The second 
part sets out four routes for development, provided they meet the first part of the 
policy. These routes include the ‘retrofit fast track’, which was explored during 
public engagement. The other three routes were already set out in the previous 
version of the policy but have been reworded for clarity. 

 
 
Policy OF3: Temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses 
 
40. The policy has been amended to encourage meanwhile uses, and to require 

major development that would affect existing retail units to set out how they 
would maintain active uses in these units prior to redevelopment. This was an 
issue raised during public engagement. 

 
 
 

Page 44



 
 
Retail 
 
Policy S5: Retail and active frontages 
 
41. A clearer strategic direction to diversity and making retail areas more vibrant, 

including through partnership working, has been added to the policy. This 
reflects issues raised during public engagement, particularly in relation to areas 
such as the Fleet Street Principal Shopping Centre. It also responds to 
Destination City. 
 

42. The ‘retail links’ have been removed from the plan, with greater support for the 
retention and encouragement of a broader range of ‘active frontage’ uses across 
the Square Mile. 

 
43. The policy now encourages the opening of retail and other uses in the evenings 

and weekends, reflecting the City Corporation’s Destination City vision. 
 

 
Policy RE1: Principal Shopping Centres 
 
44. No substantive changes to the policy. The wording of policy has been clarified.  

 
45. The sections setting out the strategic approach for each of the four PSCs has 

been amended in response to recent evidence and public engagement. 
 

 
Policy RE2: Retail links 
 
46. This policy has been deleted, with a more consistent and clear approach to 

active frontage uses set out in policy RE3. 
 
 
Policy RE2: Active frontages 
 
47. This policy was previously titled ‘Ground floor retail provision elsewhere in the 

City’. The policy has been amended to encourage a broader range of retail and 
related uses across the City, and to resist the loss of active frontages. This 
responds to the City Corporation’s Destination City vision and recent evidence of 
retail demand. 

 
 
Policy RE3: Specialist retail uses and clusters 
 
48. This policy has been expanded in response to recent evidence of retail demand, 

seeking to ensure that retail provision in different parts of the City responds to its 
context and character.  

 
 

Page 45



 
 
Policy RE4: Markets 
 
49. This policy has been amended to more positively support markets, recognising 

that they have the capacity to enhance existing retail areas, not simply have an 
adverse impact on them. This responds to an issue raised during recent informal 
public engagement. 

 
 
Culture and visitors 
 
Strategic Policy S6: Culture and Visitors 
 
50. This policy has been substantially amended, in response to the City 

Corporations Destination City vision and the strategic priority to transform the 
Square Mile as a leading leisure and cultural destination.  

 
 
Policy CV1: Protection of existing visitor, arts and cultural facilities 
 
51. No substantive changes to the policy. 
 
 
Policy CV2: Provision of Arts, Culture and Leisure Facilities 
 
52. This is a new policy, reflecting the City’s vision for culture and leisure in the 

Square Mile. It seeks to encourage new provision of arts, culture and leisure 
facilities by requiring on-site facilities from very large scale development and 
provision (either on site, off site, or through contributions) from all major 
development. 
 

53. This approach will be informed by the new cultural planning framework, which 
will set out focal areas for cultural provision across the Square Mile. 

 
54. This issue was discussed during the recent informal public consultation, with 

respondents seeking to ensure that culture and leisure facilities were inclusive 
and accessible for all. 

 
 
Policy CV3: Provision of visitor facilities 
 
55. No substantive changes to the policy. 
 
 
Policy CV4: Hotels 
 
56. The policy relationship between this policy and the loss of offices policy has 

been clarified. The policy has been amended to require provision of active uses 
at ground floor level in new hotel development, and to ensure hotels come 

Page 46



forward in suitable locations. Supporting text has been updated to reflect the 
hotel demand identified in recent evidence. 

 
 
Policy CV5: Evening and night time economy 
 
57. The policy has been amended to refer to the agent of change principle. 
 
 
Policy CV6: Public art 
 
58. No substantive changes to the policy. Wording has been amended to ensure 

inclusive terms are used in reference to disabled people. 
 
 
Infrastructure 
 
Policy S7: Infrastructure and utilities 
 
59. This policy has been amended to refer to the importance of infrastructure in 

planning for a net zero City. The City Corporation’s Utility Infrastructure Strategy 
has been referenced in supporting text. 

 
 
Policy IN1: Infrastructure provision and connection 
 
60. Minor changes have been made to policy to allow more flexible approaches to 

applications and to encourage innovative solutions to facilitate network 
connections. 

 
 
Policy IN2: Infrastructure Capacity  
 
61. No substantive changed have been made. 
 
 
Policy IN3: Pipe subways  
 
62. No substantive changed have been made. 
 
 
Design 
 
Strategic Policy S8: Design 
 
63. This policy has been extensively revised, clarifying approaches to sustainable 

design, site capacity and vibrancy. Biodiversity has been added to the policy, as 
has consideration of health for design approaches. The need for stakeholder 
engagement has been highlighted. 
 

Page 47



 
 
Policy DE1: Sustainable design 
 
64. This policy has been extensively revised, setting out the new ‘retrofit first’ 

approach and the need to follow the City Corporation’s Carbon Options 
Guidance, an issue that was explored during the recent informal public 
engagement and raised during the previous Regulation 19 consultation. 
 

65. Parts of policy CE1 (Zero waste design) that relate to circular economy design 
approaches have been moved into this policy, as they are more relevant in this 
location.  

 
 

Policy DE2: Design quality 
 

66. The policy has been amended to ensure new development provides inclusive 
spaces, active frontages, and greening, and the need for community 
engagement. Supporting text has been updated. 

 
 
Policy DE3: Public realm 
 
67. The policy has been extensively amended to reflect numerous aspects of how 

public realm can contribute to the built and natural environment, including green 
infrastructure, public art, seating, and other features. The need for inclusive and 
accessible public realm has been emphasised in the policy and expanded. The 
need for high quality public realm was identified during public consultation, 
particularly in relation to Key Areas of Change. 
 

68. Supporting text has been updated in line with the refreshed policy approach. 
 

 
Policy DE4: Pedestrian permeability 
 
69. The policy has been merged with policy AT1, to avoid repetition and improve 

clarity. The policy has been deleted from this location. 
 
 
Policy DE5: Terraces and viewing galleries 

 
70. The functioning of policy requirements for roof terraces and viewing galleries has 

been strengthened, with additional reference to complementary cultural and 
leisure facilities to create a mixture of destinations. 
 

 
Policy DE6: Shopfronts 

 
71. Minor amendments to the policy have been made to emphasise the need to 

create active frontages and consider the use of awnings. 

Page 48



 
 
Policy DE7: Advertisements 

 
72. Minor changes to the policy have been made to support flags and banners 

where appropriate for cultural institutions, and the use of advertisements 
associated with one-off events in the City. 

 
 
Policy DE8: Daylight and sunlight 
 
73. The policy has been amended to refer to a broader range of sensitive receptors 

that could be impacted by loss of daylight or sunlight, and to refer to daylight and 
sunlight levels in historic interiors. 

 
 
Policy DE9: Lighting 
 
74. The broad thrust of the policy remains, however it has been amended in line with 

the approach set out in the City Corporation’s Lighting SPD and best practice. 
 
 
Transport 
 
Strategic Policy S9: Transport and servicing 
 
75. Minor changes have been made to the policy to reflect current approaches on 

the restriction of on-street parking. 
 
 
Policy VT1: The impacts of development on transport 
 
76. This policy has been revised to ensure that where development would have an 

impact it will mitigate this through works to the public highway (secured through 
s106 and/or s278 agreements, as appropriate), reflecting established practices. 

 
 
Policy VT2: Freight and Servicing  
 
77. Minor changes have been made to the policy, including reference to the use of 

servicing lifts in appropriate locations. 
 

78.  Wording in the policy has been clarified around servicing hours and sustainable 
deliveries. 
 

79. revised to ensure that where development would have an impact it will mitigate 
this through works to the public highway (secured through s106 and/or s278 
agreements, as appropriate), reflecting established practices. 

 
 

Page 49



 
 
Policy VT3: Vehicle servicing and parking 
 
80. Reference to the use of under utilised car parks as last mile delivery hubs has 

been removed, however support for their alternative transport uses has been 
retained. 

 
 
Policy VT4: River transport 
 
81. This policy has been amended to give greater emphasis to river-based transport 

of people and freight, and to resist permanent moorings of vessels, in line with 
the aim to create a more inclusive, welcoming and vibrant riverfront. 

 
 
Policy VT5: Aviation Landing Facilities 
 
82. No changes have been made to this policy.  
 
 
Strategic Policy S10: Active Travel and Healthy Streets 
 
83. The policy has been amended to reflect the recently updated Transport Strategy, 

including placing increased emphasis on inclusion and prioritising the needs of 
people walking and wheeling. Explicit reference to the healthy streets approach 
has also been added to the policy. 

 
 
Policy AT1: Pedestrian Movement, Permeability and Wayfinding 
 
84. This policy has been amended to reflect the requirements of policy DE4, which 

set out closely related policy requirements.  
 
85. An addition to the policy has been made in relation to the need to improve 

wayfinding through a variety of means.  
 

 
Policy AT2: Active Travel including Cycling 
 
86. A reference has been added to the London cycling design standards. Supporting 

text advises that accessible shower and changing facilities should be provided in 
appropriate new development. 
 

 
Policy AT3: Cycle Parking 
 
87. This policy has been amended to require cycle parking to be conveniently 

located, easily accessible, safe and secure. Supporting text has been amended 

Page 50



to advise that a proportion of cycle parking spaces should flexibly provide 
storage and charging for e-bicycles and mobility scooters. 

 
 
Heritage and Tall Buildings 
 
Policy S11: Historic Environment 
 
88. This policy has been extensively altered. Additional emphasis has been placed 

on the need to celebrate the City’s heritage and promote public enjoyment of 
historic spaces and buildings in ways that are inclusive and accessible. The 
policy encourages heritage-led placemaking, the retrofit of historic buildings and 
collaboration between heritage sites and other adjacent developments. The need 
to adequately protect the City’s heritage was raised during both the Regulation 
19 and informal public engagement, and these responses have informed the 
policy direction. 

 
 
Policy HE1: Managing Change to the Historic Environment 
 
89. The policy has been amended to require submission of statements of 

significance and heritage impact assessments. Specific wording has been added 
to reflect the wording of national policy in relation to heritage harm. 
 

90. An additional requirement has been set out in policy for developments to 
conserve and enhance the immediate setting of Bevis Marks Synagogue and 
The Monument; issues relating to the former were raised extensively during the 
Regulation 19 consultation and flagged during the recent informal public 
engagement. 

 
91. Supporting text has been extensively revised to reflect these changes and best 

practice in conservation.  
 

 
Policy HE2: Ancient Monuments and Archaeology 
 
92. The policy has been amended to require artefacts or deposits to be preserved in-

situ.  
 
 
Policy HE3: Setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site 
 
93. The policy has been amended to reflect requirements for heritage impact 

assessments, and for development in the area to contribute to pedestrian and 
cycle routes, including through wayfinding improvements. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S12: Tall Buildings 
 

Page 51



94. The policy has been extensively amended, reflecting the approach required to 
comply with the London Plan and recent evidence in relation to character areas 
and tall building areas. 
 

95. The first part of the policy gives a definition for tall buildings in the City. The next 
few sections give design guidance. The latter part of the policy sets out where 
tall buildings would be appropriate, and how developments should identify 
appropriate heights for tall buildings. Supporting text has been updated 
accordingly. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S13: Protected Views 
 
96. A minor amendment to the policy has been made to require development to 

have regard to views of the City that have been designated by other local 
planning authorities.  
 

97. Extensive additions have been made to the supporting text to reflect the 
operation of St Paul’s Heights as set out in the Protected Views SPD.  

 
 

Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 
 

Strategic Policy S14:  Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 
 
98. A minor amendment has been made to the policy to reference the green 

corridors that have been identified to link up the City’s Sites of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINC). 
 

99. Supporting text has been revised to more clearly set out the importance of open 
spaces and green infrastructure in the Square Mile. 

 
 
Policy OS1: Protection and provision of open spaces  
 
100. The broad approach in the policy remains as previously but wording has been 

revised to provide additional clarity and to emphasise the need for inclusive, 
accessible public open spaces. Supporting text has been revised to more clearly 
set out the importance of inclusive and welcoming open space. 

 
 
Policy OS2: Urban greening  
 
101. Minor changes have been made to the policy to emphasise the need for 

maintenance of green features. Supporting text has been shortened and 
clarified, with reference to new London Plan guidance on urban greening added. 

 
 
Policy OS3: Biodiversity 
 

Page 52



102. Minor changes have been made to the policy to recognise that green walls 
may not be appropriate ways to increase biodiversity in all cases. Supporting text 
has been revised to reference the City Corporation’s Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 
 
Policy OS4: Biodiversity Net Gain  
 
103. This is a new policy, reflecting the imminent requirement set out in legislation 

for development to provide net gains in biodiversity. Because of the existing low 
levels of biodiversity in the City, a more relevant approach seeking absolute 
increases (rather than a percentage uplift) has been set out in policy, supported 
by recent evidence. 

 
 
Policy OS5: Trees 
 
104. A minor amendment has been made to refer to the green routes that have 

been identified to link up the City’s SINCs. 
 
 
Climate Resilience 
 
Strategic Policy S15: Climate resilience and flood risk 
 
105. A requirement has been added for development to contribute to wider climate 

resilience measures. The timeline for raising flood defences has been brought 
forward, in line with recent evidence. 

 
 
Policy CR1: Overheating and Urban Heat Island Effect 
 
106. No amendments have been made to the policy. 
 
 
Policy CR2: Flood risk 
 
107. No amendments have been made to the policy (other than typographical 

changes). 
 
 
Policy CR3: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
 
108. No amendments have been made to the policy (other than typographical 

changes). 
 
 
Policy CR4: Flood protection and flood defences 
 
109. No amendments have been made to the policy. In supporting text, the timeline 

for raising flood defences has been brought forward, in line with recent evidence. 

Page 53



 
 
 
 
Circular Economy and Waste 
 
Strategic Policy S16: Circular Economy and Waste 
 
110. No amendments have been made to the policy (other than typographical 

changes). The London Plan apportionments have been updated in supporting 
text to most recent London Plan. 

 
 
Policy CE1: Zero Waste City 
 
111. The policy has been split and merged into policy DE1 (Sustainable Design) 

and policy CE2 (renumbered CE1 - Sustainable Waste Facilities and Transport).  
 
 
Policy CE1: Sustainable Waste Facilities and Transport 

 
112.  No amendments have been made to the policy. Part of previous policy CE1 

(Zero Waste City) and relevant supporting text have been incorporated into this 
policy. 

 
 
Policy CE3: New waste management sites 
 
113. A minor clarification has been made to the policy to be clear that the relevant 

part applies to waste facilities that generate energy from waste. 
 
 
The Temples, the Thames Policy Area, and the Key Areas of Change 
 
Policy TP1: The Temples 

 
114. This is a new policy, replacing the previous Temples policy (HS7). It better 

reflects and seeks to support the functioning of the Temples as places of 
learning, training and collegiate facilities alongside housing and workspaces for 
barristers and students. The previous policy sought to retain a balance between 
housing and workspaces in the area; this approach no longer reflects the optimal 
functioning of the area as a place to support the legal profession. 
 

115. The policy also recognises the important historic character of the Temples, 
encourages sensitive adaptation and accessibility improvements, and seeks 
opportunities to encourage improvements to the public realm and open spaces. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S17: Thames Policy Area 
 

Page 54



116. The policy has been amended to emphasise the need for additional inclusive 
public space along the riverfront. Clarification has been given in respect of 
moored vessels. Supporting text has been shortened and repetition removed. 
 

 
Strategic Policy S18: Blackfriars 
 
117. The policy has been amended to support the provision of an eastern entrance 

to Blackfriars Station, providing access to the riverfront. Encouragement has also 
been given to provision of sport, leisure or recreation facilities for the area below 
the Blackfriars undercroft. The area was discussed during the recent informal 
public engagement and outcomes from that session and online feedback have 
informed the revised policy. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S19: Pool of London 
 
118. The updated policy aims to make the most of opportunities to provide  ample 

public open spaces along the Thames riverfront, enhance pedestrian access, 
and optimize the use of heritage assets, with the aim of transforming riverfront 
into a lively and attractive destination. The area was discussed during the recent 
informal public engagement and outcomes from that session and online 
feedback have informed the revised policy. 
 

 
Strategic Policy S20: Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 
 
119. The updated policy emphasises the need to deliver a more diverse mix of 

developments in the area and support the revitalisation of the Mansell Street 
Estate. The area was discussed during the recent informal public engagement 
and outcomes from that session and online feedback have informed the revised 
policy. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S21: City Cluster 
 
120. This policy has been extensively amended. City Cluster has been identified as 

one of the areas appropriate for tall building development. The revised policy 
emphasises the need to transform Leadenhall Market into a vibrant destination 
and encourages to enhance its leisure and retail offer. The policy strengthens 
the requirement for providing free to enter and publicly accessible elevates 
spaces. Policy further emphasises the need to respect the immediate setting of 
Bevis Marks Synagogue. The area was discussed during the recent informal 
public engagement and outcomes from that session and online feedback have 
informed the revised policy. 

 
 

Strategic Policy S22: Fleet Street and Ludgate 
 

Page 55



121. The policy has been amended to identify Fleet Street as an area appropriate 
for tall buildings and emphasis the need to strengthen the retail provision along 
the principle shopping centre. It also highlights the need to diversify the offer by 
providing cultural and leisure facilities. The area was discussed during the recent 
informal public engagement and outcomes from that session and online 
feedback have informed the revised policy. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S23: Smithfield and Barbican 

 
122. The policy has been updated to provide greater support to the provision of 

hotels in appropriate locations along with leisure and retail uses. In addition, it 
encourages the provision of spaces suitable for other complementary uses such 
as start-ups, creative industries and meanwhile uses. The area was discussed 
during the recent informal public engagement and outcomes from that session 
and online feedback have informed the revised policy. 

 
 
Strategic Policy S24: Culture Mile Implementation 

 
123. The policy has been removed, following the wrapping up of the Culture Mile 

initiative. 
 
 
Policy SB1: Culture Mile Impacts 

 
124. The policy has been removed, following the wrapping up of the Culture Mile 

initiative. Other policies address the need to mitigate impacts of cultural, night 
time economy and other uses. 
 
 

Strategic Policy S24: Smithfield 
 

125. This policy has been revised to encourage the growth of the area’s retail and 
leisure economy with a particular focus on establishing Smithfield as a leisure 
destination. The area was discussed during the recent informal public 
engagement and outcomes from that session and online feedback have 
informed the revised policy. 

 
 

Strategic Policy S26: Liverpool Street Key Area of Change 
 
126. This policy has been revised to set out area based priorities for placemaking, 

aiming to enhance the overall visitor experience by public realm enhancements 
and improving wayfinding; and connectivity to nearby local destinations. The 
area was discussed during the recent informal public engagement and outcomes 
from that session and online feedback have informed the revised policy. 

 
 
Implementing the City Plan 

Page 56



 
Strategic Policy S27: Planning Contributions 

 
127. This policy has been updated to include the requirement for securing 

contributions for cultural provision, highway and public realm enhancements.  
 
 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

1.1.20.  

 APPENDIX 2 

City Plan 2040 – Local Plan sub-committee October 2023 

This version of the City Plan 2040 has been prepared for consideration by the Local 
Plan sub-committee in October 2023. 

It is a ‘tracked changes’ version, comparing the version produced for the previous 
Regulation 19 consultation (the first proposed submission draft, dated March 2021) 
with what is now proposed to be the text of the (second) proposed submission 
version.  

Tracked change formatting is as follows: 

Red underlined bold text: Substantive additions to wording of the plan 

Red strikethrough text: Substantive deletions of wording in the plan 

Blue underlined bold text: Additions to wording of the plan that are not 
substantive 

Blue strikethrough text: Deletions to wording of the plan that are not 
substantive 

Whether or not a change is substantive is a matter of judgement; the changes have 
been made this way simply to assist Members and others in navigating the most 
significant changes to the plan.  

The document only shows the text of the City Plan. Images and diagrams will be 
added. 

This document may be amended further prior to consideration by the Planning and 
Transportation Committee in November 2023. 

 

  

Page 59



 

2 

 

 

 

 

City Plan 2036 2040 
City of London Local Plan 

Revised Proposed Submission Draft 

March 2021 

February 2024 

  

Page 60



 

3 

 

Foreword 
 

(To be completed) 

 

Shravan Joshi 

Chair of the Planning & Transportation Committee 

 

 

  

Page 61



 

4 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES ................................................................................... 6 

1.2. ECONOMIC OBJECTIVE ................................................................................................................................ 6 
1.3. SOCIAL OBJECTIVE ..................................................................................................................................... 7 
1.4. ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVE ....................................................................................................................... 7 

 SPATIAL STRATEGY ......................................................................................... 7 

 HEALTH, INCLUSION AND SAFETY ............................................................... 22 

6.1. HEALTHY AND INCLUSIVE CITY ................................................................................................................... 22 
6.2. SAFE AND SECURE CITY ............................................................................................................................ 42 

 HOUSING .......................................................................................................... 50 

4.1 HOUSING .............................................................................................................................................. 50 

 OFFICES ........................................................................................................... 68 

8.1. OFFICES ................................................................................................................................................ 68 

 RETAILING........................................................................................................ 79 

9.1. RETAIL AND ACTIVE FRONTAGES ................................................................................................................. 79 

 CULTURE AND VISITORS ............................................................................... 91 

10.1. CULTURE AND VISITORS ............................................................................................................................ 91 

 INFRASTRUCTURE ........................................................................................ 106 

11.1. INFRASTRUCTURE AND UTILITIES .............................................................................................................. 106 

 DESIGN ........................................................................................................... 112 

12.1. DESIGN ............................................................................................................................................... 112 

 TRANSPORT ................................................................................................... 140 

13.1. VEHICULAR TRANSPORT AND SERVICING .................................................................................................... 140 
13.2. ACTIVE TRAVEL AND HEALTHY STREETS ..................................................................................................... 153 

 HERITAGE AND TALL BUILDINGS ............................................................... 162 

14.1. HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT ........................................................................................................................ 162 
14.2. TALL BUILDINGS .................................................................................................................................... 174 
14.3. PROTECTED VIEWS ................................................................................................................................ 181 

 OPEN SPACES AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ....................................... 185 

15.1. OPEN SPACES AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE .............................................................................................. 185 

 CLIMATE RESILIENCE .................................................................................. 199 

16.1. CLIMATE RESILIENCE AND FLOOD RISK ...................................................................................................... 199 
16.2. CIRCULAR ECONOMY AND WASTE ............................................................................................................ 209 

 THE TEMPLES, THE THAMES POLICY AREA AND THE KEY AREAS OF 
CHANGE ................................................................................................................ 218 

17.2. THE TEMPLES ....................................................................................................................................... 219 
17.3. THAMES POLICY AREA ........................................................................................................................... 220 
17.4. BLACKFRIARS KEY AREA OF CHANGE ......................................................................................................... 225 
17.5. POOL OF LONDON KEY AREA OF CHANGE .................................................................................................. 228 
17.6. ALDGATE, TOWER AND PORTSOKEN KEY AREA OF CHANGE ........................................................................... 232 

Page 62



 

5 

 

17.7. CITY CLUSTER KEY AREA OF CHANGE ........................................................................................................ 236 
17.8. FLEET STREET AND LUDGATE KEY AREA OF CHANGE ..................................................................................... 241 
17.9. SMITHFIELD AND BARBICAN KEY AREA OF CHANGE ...................................................................................... 246 
17.10. LIVERPOOL STREET KEY AREA OF CHANGE .................................................................................................. 255 

 IMPLEMENTATION ......................................................................................... 258 

18.1. PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS .................................................................................................................... 258 
18.2. MONITORING ....................................................................................................................................... 263 

APPENDICES AND GLOSSARY ........................................................................... 264 

GLOSSARY ............................................................................................................ 267 

 
  

Page 63



 

6 

 

 
 

 Strategic Priorities 
The City Plan 2040 is the local plan for the City of London. It is a plan for 
the development of the Square Mile, setting out what type of development 
the City Corporation expects to take place and where. The Local City Plan 
sets out the City Corporation’s strategic priorities for planning the Square 
Mile, together with policies that guide decisions on planning applications.  

1.1.1. To help realise our vision for the Square Mile, the City Plan 2040 sets out 
strategic priorities that underpin the policies in the Plan. These priorities 
have been informed by stakeholders, national and London-wide policy, 
and the strategies of the City Corporation and other partners.  

1.1.2. As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), achieving 
sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives – an economic, a social and an environmental 
objective. The strategic priorities have been grouped accordingly, though 
many priorities will have benefits for more than one of the three 
sustainable development objectives. 

1.2. Economic objective 

• Delivering sustainable economic growth, including a minimum of 1.2 million 

sqm net additional office floorspace by 2040 

• Ensuring new and refurbished office space meets the environmental, 

social and governance (ESG) priorities of occupiers and their workforces 

• Providing flexible and adaptable workspace that meets the needs of 

different sectors and business sizes, supporting specialist business 

clusters and promoting a range of complementary uses including 

education 

• Creating a more vibrant and diverse retail economy 

• Enhancing the City’s evening and weekend economies 

• Creating new and enhanced culture, leisure and visitor attractions 

• Delivering the accommodation, facilities, attractions and infrastructure 

required for a leading destination 

• Ensuring development plays a significant role in enhancing the life of the 

Square Mile and the capital as a whole, both through the uses and 

design of development and through appropriate planning contributions 

• Helping to facilitate the infrastructure requirements of the Square Mile 

Page 64



 

7 

 

1.3. Social objective 

• Delivering new, inclusive open spaces and enhancing the City’s public 

realm for everyone 

• Enhancing the City’s riverside for everyone through the delivery of new 

and improved public realm and greater vibrancy 

• Enhancing and transforming seven Key Areas of Change where significant 

change is expected and providing a policy framework to guide sustainable 

change in those areas 

• Engaging with the City’s communities including workers and residents 

and other stakeholders 

• Creating a more inclusive, healthier, and safer City for everyone 

• Delivering additional homes within the Square Mile and on City 

Corporation estates and other appropriate sites outside the City 

• Enhancing the City’s social infrastructure and creating new sports and 

recreation opportunities across the Square Mile. 

1.4. Environmental objective 

• Ensuring that the City is environmentally sustainable and transitions to a net 

zero carbon City by 2040, taking a ‘retrofit first’ approach to development  

• Delivering urban greening and greater biodiversity 

• Celebrating, protecting and enhancing the City’s unique heritage assets 

• Enhancing the City’s distinctive and iconic skyline while preserving strategic 

views of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London World Heritage Site 

• Ensuring exemplary design of development 

• Promoting greater use of the river Thames for passenger and freight 

transport, increased enjoyment of the City’s riverside and reductions in the 

risk of flooding 

• Ensuring development and infrastructure help transform the City’s streets, 

creating attractive and accessible places to walk, wheel, cycle and spend 

time, and enabling sustainable transport and active travel 

 Spatial Strategy 
 
2.1.0. Many aspects of the City Plan have a spatial element. Different 

approaches to development and growth need to be taken in different parts 
of the City to ensure a sustainable pattern of development is delivered, 

Page 65



 

8 

 

and to bring forward development in a way that enhances the unique 
character of the Square Mile. This spatial strategy sets out an overview for 
how that will be achieved. 

1. All parts of the Square Mile will continue to see growth and development 
over the lifetime of the City Plan 2040. However, some areas – identified 
in this plan as Key Areas of Change (KAOC) – will see either a greater 
proportion of net additional floorspace than other parts of the City, or 
will undergo more significant change to their built form. Priorities for 
each KAOC are set out in section 14. 

2. Net additional office floorspace will primarily be delivered in the City 
Cluster KAOC, supplemented by floorspace in the Fleet Street and 
Ludgate KAOC and Liverpool Street KAOC. Office growth will be 
encouraged in all parts of the Square Mile.  

3. Additional housing will be focussed in and around the identified 
residential areas, with consideration given to student housing in other 
suitable areas. 

4. Demand for retail growth is likely to be focussed in the four principal 
shopping centres (PSC) of Moorgate and Liverpool Street; Leadenhall 
Market; Cheapside; and Fleet Street. Priorities for each area are set out 
in section 6. Active frontages, with uses that are suitable for their 
context, will be delivered in all parts of the Square Mile, bringing 
vibrancy to the City and meeting the needs of people who live and work 
here and those who visit the area.  

5. Focal areas for culture have been identified in the cultural planning 
framework, informed by the existing cultural character of different parts 
of the City and the potential for each area to contribute to the ongoing 
transformation of the City into a vibrant destination. 

6. New hotels will be encouraged in suitable locations across the City, 
particularly in places near to transport hubs and where there is good 
access to visitor destinations in and outside the City. 

7. Streets will be planned to facilitate world-class connections and 
reinforce a Square Mile that is inclusive and accessible to all, as 
envisaged in the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy. 

8. Green corridors will link up the City’s Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs), with development complementing and (where 
appropriate) contributing to wider environmental enhancements along 
the routes. 

9. The Thames riverfront will play an enhanced role for the City, providing 
more opportunities for leisure, culture and recreation, with improved 
greening, biodiversity and connectivity. 

Page 66



 

9 

 

10. Designated strategic and local views will inform development, with tall 
buildings focused in the City cluster and the Fleet valley, which are 
identified as areas suitable for tall buildings.  

11. The unique character of different parts of the City, including the area’s 
rich heritage (which includes nearly 600 listed buildings, 27 conservation 
areas, 48 scheduled ancient monuments and four historic parks and 
gardens) will be celebrated, protected and enhanced, and help to shape 
new development in the Square Mile. 

 

 Introduction 

3.1. What is the Local Plan? 

3.1.1. The Local Plan is a plan for the future development of the City, setting out what 
type of development the City Corporation expects to take place and where. The 
Local Plan sets out the City Corporation’s vision, strategy and objectives for 
planning the Square Mile, together with policies that guide decisions on planning 
applications. The Local Plan includes two Policies Maps showing which policies 
apply to specific locations. 

3.2. Why is the City preparing a new Local Plan? 

3.2.1. The current City of London Local Plan was adopted in January 2015 and plans 
for development requirements up to 2026. It is important that the City’s planning 
framework remains responsive and flexible to address changing circumstances, 
whilst providing a clear vision for how a future City should look.  

3.2.2. Local Plans are required to look ahead over a minimum 15-year period to 
anticipate and respond to long-term requirements and opportunities, such as 
those arising from major improvements in infrastructure. However, they must 
also be reviewed at least every five years to take account of changing 
circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national policy. 

3.2.3. Since the City’s current Local Plan was adopted, the Government has made a 
number of changes to the planning system through its planning reform agenda, 
with notable changes being made to permitted development rights and the Use 
Classes Order during 2020. As a result a number of policies the Plan needs 
updating to ensure they remain up-to-date and responsive to national policy. In 
addition, the Mayor of London is reviewing the London Plan which provides a 
strategic planning framework for London for the period up to 2041. 

3.2.4. By preparing a new Local Plan covering the period to 2036, the City 
Corporation will be able to address revised national and London Plan policy, 
whilst maintaining a positive planning framework to meet the City’s long-term 
needs.  

Page 67



 

10 

 

3.3. The stages of preparing the City Plan 

3.3.1. The Proposed Submission Local Plan, titled City Plan 2036 (the ‘Plan’), is the 
third stage of preparing a new local plan. The first stage of the process was the 
Issues and Options stage in 2016, during which consultation took place on the 
key planning issues facing the City and on the potential options that should be 
considered to address them. The second stage, the draft Local Plan, was a 
consultation on a full draft Plan during later 2018 and early 2019. 

3.3.2. Since then, the City Corporation has analysed the consultation findings and 
undertaken further evidence gathering to prepare the final stage, the Proposed 
Submission Plan. 

3.3.3. Following consultation on the Proposed Submission Plan, it will be submitted to 
the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government. The 
Secretary of State will then appoint an independent planning Inspector to 
examine the submitted Plan, which is expected to be adopted in 2022. 

3.3.4. Figure 1 illustrates the stages in the preparation of City Plan 2036, together 
with an indicative timescale.  

3.4. Policy context 

3.4.1. This Plan is being prepared in an era of significant and rapid change and has 
been deliberately drafted to provide a flexible policy framework which 
encourages appropriate development and is responsive and adaptable to 
change. 

3.4.2. In particular, the Plan seeks to provide a flexible, resilient policy framework 
which responds to three fundamental health and wellbeing, environmental and 
economic influences: Covid-19, climate change, and the UK’s departure from the 
European Union. 

 

Climate change 

3.4.3. The threat from climate change is one of the most serious threats we face 
today. It extends beyond environmental challenges and has the potential to 
affect economic prosperity, social justice and global stability. Wide ranging 
responses are essential, encompassing individual local actions, local, strategic 
and national government programmes, business and community scale initiatives 
and global agreements. Scientific evidence indicates that the climate is already 
changing, and that action is needed to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees. 

3.4.4. The City Corporation has long been a champion of clean air, open space 
provision, sustainability and, more recently, green finance, recognising that a 
healthy environment is critical to business and personal wellbeing. It has in In 
2020 adopted a Climate Action Strategy which sets out a pathway to achieving 

Page 68



 

11 

 

net zero emissions for both the City Corporation’s activities and the wider 
activities of businesses and residents in the City of London. The Strategy and, 
more importantly, the actions outlined will ensure the Square Mile and City 
Corporation achieve net zero carbon by 2040 and make a positive contribution 
to tackling climate change, are resilient to the risks of climate change and seize 
the opportunities presented by the transition to a low-carbon economy. 

Covid-19 pandemic 

3.4.5. Much of this Plan was drafted prior to the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which has had significant health, wellbeing, environmental and economic 
impacts locally and globally. As medical treatments are discovered and rolled 
out, including potential vaccines, the severity of these health impacts is expected 
to reduce and communities will recover in the medium term. However, the 
pandemic is also leading to behavioural changes; some are temporary, but 
some are likely to become established as part of the ‘new normal’. The 
acceleration of existing trends and the creation of new trends both need to be 
taken into account when planning for the medium and longer term. Therefore, 
the Plan is looking beyond the current pandemic to a period when a probable 
vaccine has enabled the City to once more provide a vibrant centre of business 
creativity and innovation which harnesses the potential of existing and new 
trends. 

3.4.6. Throughout its long history the City of London has been a centre for creative 
innovation and collaboration, bringing business and people together. the Covid-
19 pandemic has in the short term shifted much of the City’s business online 
with many City workers using modern technology to work from home, and 
consequently significant reductions in journeys into the City and footfall within it. 
Whilst the use of digital technology and remote working will remain important to 
the success of many City businesses in the future, reliance solely on remote 
working can have longer term drawbacks as it can limit the scope of the creative 
innovation, collaboration and informal business relationships that the City thrives 
upon. Therefore, it is expected that the City will remain an attractive base for a 
wide range of existing and new businesses, operating more flexibly with a 
blended approach of in-office and remote working, to meet the changing 
business environment, space needs and work and lifestyle expectations of their 
workforce. There is an opportunity to transform City workplaces to offer a rich 
and fulfilling experience for City workers, with the office becoming a place for 
socialising, meeting, sharing and collaboration. The return of City workers will 
bring vitality to provide a boost to businesses that rely on high footfall, including 
retail, food and beverage and support services to the City’s offices, that have 
been particularly affected by Covid-19. 

3.4.7. Although the pace and scale of future growth in the City of London is uncertain 
in the short term, the longer term geographical, economic and social 
fundamentals underpinning the success of the City as a vibrant centre of 
business creativity and innovation remain in place. Strong interest in pre-
application planning advice and investment suggest continued confidence in the 
City as a place in which to do business. The ways that people live, work, travel 
and use city centres will in the future be different, but the City will continue to be 

Page 69



 

12 

 

an attractive and sustainable meeting place where people and businesses come 
together for creative innovation. 

3.4.8. The City Corporation will work closely with national, regional and local 
government, landowners and investors, businesses and residents to ensure that 
the City of London remains successful. It is acknowledged that the pandemic will 
have short and perhaps medium-term financial implications for the City 
Corporation and for Transport for London, which may impact on, or delay, 
implementation of some policy aspirations and will need to be closely monitored. 
Nonetheless, This Plan will provide a framework to give confidence to those who 
wish to be involved in and to invest in the City and it has been written to be 
adaptable to new changes and challenges as they present themselves. 

UK trading relationships 

3.4.9. As a world leading financial and professional services centre, the future 
prosperity of the City will depend to a large extent on the international and 
national economic context including future trading relationships. The UK’s 
departure from the European Union is leading to new trading relationships and 
patterns. The City’s reputation for expertise and innovation will be particularly 
important as it adapts its existing strengths in financial and professional 
services, and develops new strengths, to suit changing global circumstances. 

3.4.10. The Local Plan is influenced by national and London-wide planning policies 
and guidance, as well as plans and strategies produced by neighbouring 
boroughs and a range of statutory bodies.  

National planning policy and guidance 

3.4.11. Local Plans are required to be consistent with national planning policy 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets 
out the broad policy approach to be taken across a range of planning issues and 
establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Further detail is 
provided in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), an online resource which is 

regularly updated to ensure guidance remains current. 

3.4.12. The Government’s planning reform agenda has resulted in a number of 
changes to national legislation and guidance. These changes, including those 
brought forward during 2020 to permitted development rights and the Use 
Classes Order, have been incorporated into this Plan. The Government has 
published a Planning White Paper outlining further fundamental changes to the 
planning system in England which would impact upon the preparation and 
content of local plans and the operation of development management. These 
reforms, if enacted, will be considered through a subsequent review of the City 
of London’s Local Plan. 

The London Plan and other Mayoral strategies 

3.4.13. The Mayor of London has a duty to prepare a spatial development strategy, 
the London Plan, and to keep it under review. The City’s Local Plan, like those 

Page 70



 

13 

 

produced by the London boroughs, must be in general conformity with the 
London Plan. The London Plan forms part of the statutory development plan for 
the City of London, along with the City’s Local Plan. The Local Plan has been 
prepared in alignment with the Mayor’s Publication London Plan (December 
2020). 

3.4.14. The Mayor produces supplementary planning guidance to provide further 
detail on particular policies in the London Plan. In addition, the Mayor publishes 
a range of other strategies, including those relating to transport, the 
environment, economic development, housing and culture. These documents 
have been taken into account in the preparation of the City’s Local Plan. 

Neighbourhood Plans 

3.4.15. Neighbourhood plans should support the delivery of strategic policies set out 
in a local plan. Once approved, a neighbourhood plan becomes part of the 
development plan for the neighbourhood area and is given the same legal status 
as a local plan. The local planning authority must co-operate with a 
neighbourhood forum in the preparation of neighbourhood plans, providing 
assistance as required. 

3.4.16. At the time of preparation of City Plan 2036, no neighbourhood forum has 
been established in the City of London and no neighbourhood plans are in 
preparation or have been adopted. The City Corporation will co-operate with any 
neighbourhood forum in the preparation and adoption of a neighbourhood plan 
within the City of London administrative area in accordance with statutory 
requirements. 

Duty to co-operate 

3.4.17. Local planning authorities are required by legislation to co-operate on 
planning issues that cross administrative boundaries. The duty requires local 
planning authorities to engage “constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis” 
on strategic matters in plan-making, including sustainable development, land 
use and strategic infrastructure. 

3.4.18. The City Corporation already works closely and co-operates with its 
neighbouring boroughs, the Mayor of London and other partners on strategic 
and cross boundary planning issues. National planning policy requires strategic 
policy-making authorities to prepare and maintain statements of common ground 
to demonstrate effective and ongoing joint working. The City Corporation liaising 
with the Mayor of London, neighbouring boroughs and other duty to co-operate 
partners to agree statements of common ground to support the development of 
City Plan 2036 and the development plans and strategies of partners. 

City Corporation strategies  

3.4.19. The Local Plan can help to facilitate the delivery of other City Corporation 
strategies where their objectives involve the use or development of land and 
provides a mechanism to assist with co-ordinating and balancing the 
requirements of different strategies. 

Page 71



 

14 

 

3.4.20. In particular, the Local Plan is one of the mechanisms through which the City 
Corporation’s Corporate Plan and Climate Action Strategy will be implemented. 
The Corporate Plan sets out the City Corporation’s overarching strategic 
direction and is structured around the three pillars of society, economy and 
environment. Although the Corporate Plan has a shorter time horizon than the 
Local Plan (2018-23), it is a visionary and forward-looking document and City 
Plan 2036 complements and helps deliver many of its objectives. The Climate 
Action Strategy sets out the City Corporation’s pathway to achieve a zero carbon 
City by 2040. 

3.4.21. This Plan has been prepared alongside the City Corporation’s first Transport 
Strategy. Transport plays a key role in enabling and accommodating 
development, and the way the City grows affects demand for travel and public 
space. Reflecting this interrelationship, relevant policies and proposals in City 
Plan 2036 and the Transport Strategy are aligned. 

Evidence base 

3.4.22. The policies in City Plan 2036 have been informed by a range of evidence 
published by the City Corporation and by other organisations, including the 
Mayor of London in support of the London Plan. In some cases, additional 
studies have been undertaken to provide relevant and up-to-date evidence to 
support and justify the proposed policies. The evidence that underpins the draft 
Plan has been published on the City Corporation’s website. This includes an 
assessment, undertaken in March 2020, of the combined effects of the policies 
in City Plan 2036 on the overall viability of development in the Square Mile and 
the viability of delivering the Plan’s affordable housing targets. 

Integrated Impact Assessment 

3.4.23. City Plan 2036 has been informed by an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA), 
which combines the following assessment processes into a single document: 

• Sustainability Appraisal, including a Strategic Environmental Assessment; 

• Equality Analysis; 

• Health Impact Assessment. 

3.4.24. The IIA is an integral part of the plan making process and has assessed draft 
policy options in terms of their compatibility with a range of sustainable 
development objectives; their implications for the promotion of equalities; and 
their implications for health and wellbeing. IIA is an iterative process and further 
assessment will be undertaken on changes to the Plan as a result of pre-
submission consultation or modifications proposed through the Examination 
process. 

3.4.25. A Habitats Regulations Assessment has also been undertaken to assess 
whether the new Plan would have any significant effects on sites designated as 
being of European importance for their biodiversity. 

Page 72



 

15 

 

Other planning documents 

3.4.26. The Local Plan is supported by a number of other planning and City 
Corporation documents, including: 

• Local Development Scheme – this lists and describes all planning policy 
documents and the timetable for preparing them; 

• Statement of Community Involvement – this sets out the procedures and 
methods that will be used to consult and engage with the public in the 
preparation of planning policies, and the determination of planning 
applications. 

• Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) – these provide further 
explanation of Local Plan policies where this is needed. 

• The City of London Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – CIL is a statutory 
charge on new development that is used to help fund the provision of 
infrastructure. A charging schedule specifies the rates that apply according 
to the land uses proposed.   

• The City of London Transport Strategy – this sets out a 25 year framework 

for future investment in and management of the City’s streets, as well as 

measures to reduce the social, economic and environmental impacts of 

motor traffic and congestion. 

Implementation and delivery 

3.4.27. Implementation of the Local Plan will require partnership working and co-
operation with a range of organisations, including developers, businesses, 
residents, community and amenity groups, transport and service providers, the 
Mayor of London and other London boroughs.  

3.4.28. A key mechanism for implementing the Local Plan is the consideration of 
planning applications through the development management process. Policies in 
this Plan apply to all development, including major new development, extensions 
to existing buildings, other major refurbishments and minor development, unless 
otherwise specified in individual policies. The Local Plan should be read as a 
whole and applications for planning permission will be considered against all 
relevant policies in the Local Plan, the London Plan, the NPPF and any future 
neighbourhood plans.  

3.4.29. The City Corporation will work closely with developers, occupiers and 
residents to ensure that City Plan 2036 is implemented and delivers positive 
improvements across the City. Where necessary, the City Corporation will use 
its powers of enforcement to ensure compliance with, and effective 
implementation of, Local Plan objectives and policies. The City Corporation’s 
Enforcement Plan has been adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document 
and sets out the principles and procedures that will be followed to ensure 
development is effectively regulated. Where necessary, enforcement action will 
be taken. The Enforcement Plan will be kept under review and amended to 

Page 73



 

16 

 

reflect new provisions arising out of changes to national, London-wide or local 
policy and/or practice and experience in implementation.   

3.4.30. The City Corporation will also use its powers in relation to issues such as 
management of the highways and public realm to help deliver the vision and 
policies in City Plan 2036. It will, where necessary, use its land and property 
ownership to assist with site assembly and use its compulsory purchase powers 
to enable the high-quality development the City needs. An Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan has been prepared identifying the infrastructure required to deliver the Plan 
and demonstrating the deliverability of infrastructure during the plan period. It 
considers the investment plans of a range of infrastructure providers to identify 
potential gaps in funding, or trigger points which require a step change in levels 
of infrastructure. If gaps in the funding of infrastructure necessary to implement 
the Local Plan are identified, the City Corporation will seek alternative funding 
streams, including the use of CIL and other contributions from development, and 
will prioritise available funds. 

3.5. Structure of City Plan 2036  

3.5.1. The structure of City Plan 2036 is based on the three strategic aims of the City 
Corporation’s Corporate Plan, which are to: 

• Contribute to a flourishing society; 

• Support a thriving economy; and  

• Shape outstanding environments. 

3.5.2. Individual policy topics are grouped within these broad themes. The first policy 
under each topic is a Strategic Policy, which addresses the strategic context, the 
relationship with other plans and strategies, and key planning issues. These 
policies are followed by Development Management Policies that will be used 
alongside the Strategic Policies in the consideration of applications for planning 
permission and related consents. 

3.5.3. A fourth theme of Key Areas of Change has been added to provide a 
framework for the area-specific policies within the Local Plan, and a fifth theme 
of Implementation has been added to focus on how the Plan will be delivered. 

3.5.4. The structure of the Plan is shown diagrammatically in Figure 3 and is not 
intended to represent any form of hierarchy.  

Page 74



 

17 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Structure of City Plan 2036   

Page 75



 

18 

 

 The City Today  
  Vision, Strategic Objectives and 
Spatial Strategy 

5.1. Contribute to a Flourishing Society 

The Vision….  

5.1.1. The needs of the City’s diverse communities will be met in a sustainable and 
inclusive way, addressing the health, employment, education, leisure and 
housing needs of the variety of people who work, live and visit the City and 
incorporating the principles of Good Growth set out in the London Plan. 

5.1.2. The City’s population will enjoy good health and wellbeing. The health and 
wellbeing of the City’s communities will be integral to the design and delivery of 
new buildings, open spaces and the wider public realm, helping the City recover 
from the Covid-19 pandemic, provide inclusive and diverse spaces and address 
the implications of climate change. Health inequality across the City will be 
reduced.  Workers and residents will have access to a range of health services 
within the Square Mile and beyond.  Partnership working with businesses and 
organisations both inside and outside the City will effectively tackle the wider 
causes of poor health by substantially improving the City’s air quality, promoting 
the recreational benefits of a healthy lifestyle, and ensuring inclusive access to 
good quality open spaces and recreational opportunities.   

5.1.3. The City will have a network of high quality social and community facilities in 
accessible locations to foster cohesive and healthy communities.  Links with 
neighbouring boroughs will be strengthened and closer co-operation will provide 
a stronger sense of community and more efficient services.  

5.1.4. There will be a mix of housing, located in or near identified residential clusters, 
providing a high-quality living environment consistent with a city centre location.  
Housing will not be appropriate where it would conflict with the City’s global 
business role or result in poor residential amenity.  Affordable housing will be 
required on-site within the City. Where off-site contributions are exceptionally 
allowed, they will be used to deliver new affordable housing within and outside of 
the City, principally on the City’s managed housing estates, contributing to 
meeting London’s wider housing needs. 

5.1.5. The City will remain a safe place to work, live and visit.  Security measures will 
be designed into new buildings and public spaces, whilst ensuring that the City’s 
streets, walkways and open spaces are welcoming and inclusive. Where 
necessary, an area-wide approach to delivering collective security will be sought 
working with the City of London Police as a key partner. 

Page 76



 

19 

 

5.1.6. Good building design and effective management of night-time entertainment, 
combined with a broad mix of uses, will reduce the potential for anti-social 
behaviour and adverse impacts on residents and will help to maintain residential 
amenity. 

5.1.7. The City Corporation will work with partners to ensure that high quality training 
and learning facilities are accessible to all and that the City’s higher education 
institutions continue to enjoy an international reputation for excellence. City 
residents and those in neighbouring boroughs will develop the skills needed to 
enter careers in the City and benefit from the City’s prosperity. The City will offer 
equality of opportunity, accessibility and involvement so that people from across 
London’s diverse communities will have the chance to benefit from the many 
opportunities and facilities it offers.   

Strategic Objective: 

5.1.8. To contribute to the development of a flourishing society where people are safe 
and feel safe, enjoy good health and wellbeing, have access to suitable 
employment opportunities and housing in cohesive communities and live 
enriched lives, achieving their full potential. 

5.2. Support a Thriving Economy 

The Vision….  

5.2.1. The City will remain the world’s leading international financial and professional 
services centre and a driver of the national economy, continually innovating and 
developing new business areas and flexible ways of working, particularly in the 
technology and creative sectors, and delivering inclusive and sustainable growth 
and prosperity for its communities, London and the UK.   

5.2.2. The quantity and quality of new development, particularly office-led 
development, will meet growing business needs, supporting and strengthening 
opportunities for the continued collaboration and clustering of businesses that is 
vital to the City’s operation.   

The City will be open to new business, new ideas and innovations and new ways 
of working and collaborating, building upon the experience and lessons learned 
through the Covid-19 pandemic. New business floorspace will be flexible and 
adaptable, creating spaces for collaboration and innovation and meeting the 
demands of different types of business occupiers and their workforces, including 
incubators, start-ups and other small and medium sized companies. There is an 
opportunity for The City’s cultural offer to be central to its recovery and future 
resilience. Office space will be complemented by other accessible commercial, 
cultural and leisure uses adding vibrancy and animation to the City’s streets and 
benefitting the City’s diverse communities.  

5.2.3. The number of business and tourist visits to the City will significantly increase 
as the City is recognised for its world-class cultural, and creative, sports and 
leisure facilities. Culture Mile will transform the north west of the City into a 

Page 77



 

20 

 

vibrant and inclusive strategic cultural area of national and international 
stature.The City’s retail offer will adapt to changing demands, offering a range of 
meanwhile and complementary services to the City’s wider business and cultural 
offer and contributing to the City’s development as an evening and 7-day a week 
retail, leisure and cultural destination.  Retail growth will be focused on the 
Principal Shopping Centres of Cheapside, Liverpool Street/Moorgate, 
Leadenhall Market and Fleet Street. Smaller retail, collaboration and cultural 
uses will be provided across the City, animating ground floor spaces and 
meeting local worker and resident needs.  

5.2.4. The City’s continued economic success will be underpinned by world-leading 
digital connectivity and data services both within buildings and in the public 
realm. The provision of utilities and infrastructure will anticipate the demands set 
by the City’s growth, funded in part through the Community Infrastructure Levy 
and planning obligations.  

Strategic Objective: 

5.2.5. To support a thriving economy, maintaining the City’s position as a global hub 
for innovation in financial and professional services, commerce and culture. 

5.3. Shape Outstanding Environments 

The Vision….  

5.3.1. The City will be physically well connected and responsive.  Sustainable travel 
patterns and modes of transport will be promoted and public transport capacity 
increased, principally through the opening of the Elizabeth Line, and the 
Northern Line/Bank Station Upgrade. 

5.3.2. The City’s streets will provide an attractive and safe environment for walking 
and cycling. Pavement widening and reallocation of road space for pedestrian or 
cycle use, allied with increased planting and greenery, will provide more space 
for moving around, building on the initiatives put in place during the Covid-19 
pandemic. Traffic reduction and improvements to the City’s streets and junctions 
will transform the safety, look and feel of the City’s street network.  

5.3.3. Partnership working with City businesses and developers will minimise the 
number of delivery and servicing trips into the City and will reduce congestion 
through consolidation and by re-timing trips to take place outside of peak hours. 
The majority of last mile deliveries will be undertaken by zero emission vehicles, 
and the City’s air quality will significantly improve as a greater share of 
motorised traffic switches to electric or other zero emission modes. 

5.3.4. Use of the River Thames by commuters and for freight and servicing will 
significantly increase as the Thames becomes a major corridor for the 
movement of people and the transport of materials including construction and 
deconstruction materials, waste, freight and general goods.   

Page 78



 

21 

 

5.3.5. The City will remain a centre of world class architecture with flexible, adaptable 
and healthy buildings and a high quality of public realm for people to admire and 
enjoy. Further tall buildings will be encouraged where they can make a positive 
contribution to their surroundings and the skyline and provide for the health and 
wellbeing of workers, adding to the tall building cluster in the east of the City.  

5.3.6. The City’s rich architectural and archaeological heritage will continue to be 
conserved and enhanced.  Historic buildings will be sympathetically adapted to 
new uses where this is appropriate, enabling them to play their part in meeting 
the needs of the future City.  New development will enhance the City’s character 
and add value to the wider character and quality of London, whilst respecting the 
setting, backdrop and views of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London.  

5.3.7. Buildings, streets and spaces will be inclusive, interesting, legible and fit for 
purpose. Computer modelling, simulation and smart technology will be used to 
ensure that new buildings, and the spaces between buildings, create an 
environment which attracts businesses and people from across the world.  

5.3.8. The City’s buildings, public realm and transport will be highly sustainable, 
designed to make efficient use of natural resources, minimise emissions and be 
resilient to natural and man-made threats. In partnership with public and private 
sector organisations the City will adopt new technologies to transition to a zero 
emission City by 2040, in line with the ambitions set out in the City Corporation’s 
Climate Action Strategy. 

 

Page 79



 

22 

 

 Health, Inclusion and Safety 
Contribute to a Flourishing Society 

6.1. Healthy and Inclusive City 

Context 

6.1.1. The City of London is a very densely built up area with a large daytime population 
and limited open space. The City’s economic success means there is a high level 
of construction activity, while the density of development and employment, delivery 
and servicing requirements and the narrowness of many of the City’s streets all 
contribute to traffic congestion. This can result in poor air quality, noise and light 
pollution and a shortage of adequate open spaces, play and recreational spaces, 
impacting on the health of residents, workers and visitors. 

6.1.2. The NPPF and the London Plan stress the importance of health and wellbeing 
and the role that the planning system can play in improving this. Planning can 
support strategies to improve health and cultural wellbeing and promote healthy 
communities. Planning decisions can have an influence on people’s health, 
particularly through the design and management of new development.  

The City Corporation is committed to enabling a socially and economically inclusive 
environment in which nobody is disadvantaged. Everyone should have equal 
opportunities to access buildings, spaces, job and training opportunities and health, 
leisure and educational services. An inclusive environment is one that recognises 
that everyone benefits from improved accessibility including disabled people, older 
people, families with children, carers, people with temporary medical conditions or 
impaired mobility and people. An inclusive City allows all communities, irrespective 
of their social and economic position, to equally access the opportunities the City 
offers. This includes communities in neighbouring boroughs that should feel 
welcome to share in and contribute towards the City’s success. 

6.1.3. An important element of this commitment is breaking down unnecessary physical 
barriers and exclusions arising from the poor design of buildings and spaces. The 
needs of disabled people should be considered at an early stage of the planning 
process and not considered separately from the needs of others. 

6.1.4. A wide range of elements contribute to a healthy and inclusive environment. The 
transport and design policies in this Plan address relevant issues such as: Healthy 
Streets, active travel and permeability; inclusive transport; mitigating the impacts of 
pollution through the design of streets and public spaces; and providing adequate 
shade and shelter. Green infrastructure policies highlight the benefits to health and 
wellbeing of open spaces and greenery within the urban environment.  

  

Page 80



 

23 

 

Strategic Policy S1: Healthy and Inclusive City 
 

The City Corporation will work with a range of partners to create a healthy and inclusive 
environment, promote social and economic inclusivity and enable all communities to 
access a wide range of health, employment, education, recreation, sport and leisure 
opportunities, by: 

1. Implementing the principles of the City of London Corporation Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy; 

2. Ensuring that the construction, design, use and management of buildings, streets 
and the public realm helps to protect and improve the health of all the City’s 
communities; 

3. Requiring Health Impact Assessments of different levels depending on the scale and 
impact of the proposed development; 

4. Requiring the design and management of buildings, streets and spaces to provide for 
the access needs requirements of all the City’s communities, including the particular 
needs of disabled people, older people and people with young children; 

5. Requiring inclusive design and management of buildings, streets and public 
spaces to provide for the requirements of all the City’s communities; 

6. Expecting developers and development to:  

• engage with neighbours before and during construction to minimise adverse 
impacts;  

• promote healthy buildings and the use of relevant standards that measure 
health and wellbeing in buildings; 

• improve local air quality, particularly nitrogen dioxide and particulates PM10 
and PM2.5;  

• respect the City’s quieter places and spaces; 

• limit unnecessary light spillage and ‘sky glow’;  

• address land contamination, ensuring development does not result in 
contaminated land or pollution of the water environment;  

7. Protecting and enhancing existing public health and educational facilities, including 
St Bartholomew’s Hospital and existing City schools and higher education 
providers, working in partnership with neighbouring boroughs to deliver accessible 
additional educational and health facilities in appropriate locations; 

8. Encouraging the further provision of both public and private health facilities. 
Conditions may be attached to permissions for public healthcare facilities to ensure 
their future retention; 

9. Promoting opportunities for training and skills development to improve access to 
employment, particularly for City residents and those in neighbouring boroughs; 

Page 81



 

24 

 

10. Supporting facilities for the provision and improvement of social and educational 
services through the City’s libraries; 

11. Supporting nursery provision and additional childcare facilities; 

12. Protecting and enhancing existing community facilities, allowing for relocation 
where justified, and providing new facilities where required; and 

13. Protecting and enhancing existing sport, play space and recreation facilities and 
encouraging the provision of further publicly accessible facilities, within major 
developments and public realm improvements, in line with the aims of the City 
Corporation’s Sports Strategy.   

Reason for the policy 

6.1.5. The City Corporation’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy considers three 
distinct populations with different needs and health issues: residents, workers and 
rough sleepers.  Using data from the City and Hackney Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, it identifies five priorities for health and wellbeing in the City: 

▪ Good mental health for all; 

▪ A healthy urban environment; 

▪ Effective health and social care integration; 

▪ All children have the best start in life; and 

▪ Promoting healthy behaviours. 

6.1.6. The Local Plan has a particular role in delivering a healthy urban environment, as 
it can address issues such as poor air quality; relatively high levels of noise; a lack 
of green space, community space and space to exercise; some overcrowding of 
the housing stock; and road safety. The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy notes 
there is strong evidence that the environment shapes wider health outcomes and it 
seeks to “ensure health and wellbeing issues are embedded into the Local Plan 
and major planning applications.”   

6.1.7. The City’s population differs from other areas in that the daytime population is 
dominated by workers, with residents forming a small but important community. 
The number of City employees and residents is forecast to increase during the 
Plan period, placing additional demands on the provision of health, education and 
social services to the working and resident populations. City workers may find it 
difficult to access health services where they live due to their working hours and 
the provision of additional clinics and pharmacy services in the Square Mile could 
play an important role in addressing their health needs. 

6.1.8. The small permanent residential population in the City means that it is often not 
economic to deliver effective services for City residents from locations within the 
City. The City Corporation therefore works jointly with neighbouring boroughs and 
service providers to ensure that cost effective services can be provided. For 
example, the City Corporation is working jointly with Islington to deliver the City of 
London Primary Academy Islington on a site which crosses the City/Islington 

Page 82



 

25 

 

boundary. The City Corporation will work with the City and Hackney Clinical 
Commissioning Group Integrated Care Board and other NHS and community 
organisations to regularly assess the need for health and social care facilities 
locally and sub-regionally. 

6.1.9. The City is intensively occupied with large numbers of people working in office 
buildings in close proximity. Many City employees work long hours and access 
leisure, medical and entertainment opportunities within or close to their place of 
employment. Research suggests that a poor working environment can have a 
negative impact on the health of workers, and consequently their productivity. It is 
therefore important that buildings are designed to promote the health and wellbeing 
of everyone.  

6.1.10. Advances in technology and an awareness of how office environments can 
impact people’s mental and physical health has highlighted the importance of 
striving to create a healthy City environment. A sense of community inclusion and 
belonging is important for both physical and mental health. People who live in 
cohesive communities with a wide range of employment opportunities, services, 
infrastructure and low crime are less likely to suffer poor health. The City 
Corporation established the Business Healthy programme in 2017 to support 
businesses to promote the health and wellbeing of their employees.  

6.1.11. Outdoor spaces and the public realm are under increasing pressure to provide 
places for relaxation, amenity and flexible working leisure. The location and nature 
of the City means that perceptions of tranquillity and quieter areas are often based 
on the relative noise levels of an area compared to its surroundings, rather than 
absolute noise levels. The City Corporation’s Noise Strategy 2016-2026 supports 
the creation of tranquil areas in the City and promotes awareness of the 
importance of protecting and enhancing these locations where possible. Examples 
of quieter areas in the City are open spaces, parts of the Riverside Walk, 
churchyards and housing estates.  Research on traffic noise has found that long-
term exposure to noise above a certain level can have negative impacts on 
physical and mental health. It is therefore important to protect the relative 
tranquillity of some of the City’s open spaces to confer benefits to health and 
wellbeing by providing places of respite from the City’s generally high ambient 
noise levels, and assisting in the restoration and recovery from sensory 
overload.  

6.1.12. The City is a relatively affluent area and is the third least deprived local authority 
area in London. However, disparities exist. While the Barbican is amongst the 20% 
least deprived residential areas in England, Mansell Street and Petticoat Lane 
areas are amongst the 40% most deprived.  The Local Plan can play a part in 
tackling such disparities, for instance by securing training and skills programmes 
through planning obligations associated with major development schemes.  

 

  

Page 83



 

26 

 

How the policy works 

6.1.13. To protect and enhance people’s physical and mental health, new development 
should be designed to promote physical activity and wellbeing, through appropriate 
arrangements of buildings and uses, access, increased green infrastructure, and 
the provision of facilities to support walking and cycling. This could include the 
provision of land or spaces for food growing, which can help promote a more active 
lifestyle, improve social cohesion and mental and physical health and wellbeing.  

6.1.14. To facilitate the delivery of a healthy city, developers should engage with 
neighbours before and during construction to ensure impacts on the amenity of 
neighbours can be minimised.  

6.1.15. Developers are encouraged to use established assessment methodologies to 
ensure that development contributes towards a healthy city. There are several 
accreditation systems that attempt to measure the health and wellbeing elements 
of building design, construction and operation and how these features impact on 
health and wellbeing.  

6.1.16. Major commercial developments should seek to reach outwards into the 
community by providing services and facilities which can benefit wider health and 
contribute to ambitions to reduce single use plastics and other waste through the 
use of public drinking fountains, as well as providing defibrillators and publicly 
accessible toilets, for example through membership of the Community Toilet 
Scheme. Signage at the front of buildings should be displayed to make the public 
aware of the availability of these facilities.  

6.1.17. Major commercial developments are also encouraged to provide space which 
can be used for community needs such as public health facilities, community, 
cultural or sporting activities. The adequate provision of floorspace for these 
activities is vital for the health and wellbeing of the City’s communities. Such space 
could be made available at an affordable rent and be accessible from street level 
independently from commercial operations. 

6.1.18. Changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020 have included 
certain health and medical services such as clinics, health centres, creches, day 
nurseries and day centres within the new Use Class E. This means that such uses 
could be converted to a range of other Class E commercial, business and service 
uses without planning permission. Given the limited opportunities to replace such 
facilities in the City, conditions may be attached to permissions for new public 
health facilities to ensure that the impacts of any proposed later conversion to 
another use can be considered through the planning application process. 
Conditions will not be applied to private healthcare facilities. 

 

 

 

Page 84



 

27 

 

Policy HL1: Inclusive buildings and spaces 

Buildings, open spaces and streets must meet the highest standards of accessibility and 
inclusive design, ensuring that the City of London is: 

 Inclusive, welcoming and safe for all, regardless of disability, age, gender, 
disability, ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. Major applications should develop and submit equality impact 
assessments, demonstrating how this will be achieved; 

 convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring that everyone can 
experience independence without undue effort, separation or special treatment; 

 responsive to the needs requirements of all users who visit, work or live in the City, 
including ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance, whilst recognising that one 
solution might not work for all; 

 a place that promotes equity, diversity and social inclusion in the design and 
use of buildings and public spaces, including through the provision of spaces 
that are free to access. 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.19. An inclusive environment is one that recognises that everyone benefits 
from improved accessibility including disabled people, older people, families 
with children, carers, people with temporary medical conditions or impaired 
mobility and non-disabled people. The built environment needs to be safe, 
accessible and convenient to improve the quality of life for all City users and 
particularly for disabled and elderly people and those with other mobility difficulties. 
Despite progress in building a more accessible City, some people still experience 
considerable barriers to living independent and dignified lives as a result of the way 
the built environment is designed, built and managed. The outcome of embracing 
inclusive design should be a City where people want to live, work and visit and 
which feels open and welcoming to people from different backgrounds.  

6.1.20. Under the public sector equality duty, local authorities are required to 
have regard to the objectives of eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not; and foster good 
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not.  

How the policy works 

6.1.21. Developers will be required to submit Design and Access Statements which 
demonstrate a commitment to inclusive design and the promotion of equity, 
diversity and social inclusion. Applicants should and  engagement with 
relevant user groups, including health and social care providers, at early stages to 
inform their approach. Such engagement should take place before at the 

Page 85



 

28 

 

detailed design stage prior to submission of an application to ensure maximum 
effectiveness and inclusive design within the building and in the surrounding public 
realm. Design and Access Statements must include details both on how best 
practice standards have been complied with and how inclusion will be maintained 
and managed throughout the lifetime of the building.   

6.1.22. Applicants should submit Equality Impact Assessments for major 
developments to ensure the needs of people belonging to groups with 
protected characteristics are met, and demonstrating how the development 
would promote equality, diversity and inclusion.  

Policy HL2: Air quality 

1. Developers will be required to effectively manage the impact of their proposals on air 
quality. Major developments must comply with the requirements of the provide an 
Air Quality SPD for Air Quality Impact Assessments; 

2. Development that would result in a worsening of the City’s nitrogen dioxide or PM10 
and PM2.5 pollution levels will be strongly resisted;  

3. All developments must be at least Air Quality Neutral. Developments subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment should adopt an air quality positive approach 
wherever possible.  Major developments must maximise credits for the pollution 
section of the BREEAM assessment relating to on-site emissions of oxides of 
nitrogen (NOx); 

4. Developers will be expected to install non-combustion energy technology where 
available;  

5. A detailed Air Quality Impact Assessment will be required for combustion based low 
carbon technologies (e.g. biomass, combined heat and power), and any necessary 
mitigation must be approved by the City Corporation; 

6. Developments that include uses that are more vulnerable to air pollution, such as 
schools, nurseries, medical facilities and residential development, will be refused if 
the occupants would be exposed to poor air quality. Developments will need to 
ensure acceptable air quality through appropriate design, layout, landscaping and 
technological solutions; 

7. Construction and deconstruction and the transport of construction materials and 
waste must be carried out in such a way as to minimise air quality impacts to the 
fullest extent possible. Impacts from these activities must be addressed within 
submitted Air Quality Impact Assessments. All developments should comply with 
the requirements of the London Low Emission Zone for Non Road Mobile 
Machinery; 

8. Air intake points should be located away from existing and potential pollution sources 
(e.g. busy roads and combustion flues). All combustion flues should terminate above 
the roof height of the tallest part of the development to ensure maximum dispersion 

Page 86



 

29 

 

of pollutants and be at least 3 metres away from any publicly accessible roof 
spaces. 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.23. Due to its location at the heart of London and the density of development, the 
City of London has high levels of air pollution. Poor air quality can harm human 
health, particularly for young people while their lungs are developing, and increase 
the incidence of cardiovascular and lung disease. The City, in common with all 
central London, has been declared an Air Quality Management Area, due to 
national health-based objectives for the pollutants nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and small 
particles (PM10) not being met. National targets for PM2.5 are also not met. 

6.1.24. The City Corporation is working with a wide range of organisations to address 
this problem and levels of NO2 are falling, although the health-based limits are still 
not met everywhere in the Square Mile. The City Corporation’s Air Quality Strategy 
aims to ensure that air quality in over 90% of the Square Mile meets the health-
based Limit Values and World Health Organisation (WHO) Guidelines for NO2 by 
the beginning of 2025. Limits set in European Directives for particulate matter 
(PM10 and PM2.5) are generally met although the national target for PM2.5 is not 
met anywhere in the City, except adjacent to the busiest roadsides in 
unfavourable weather conditions. However, the WHO has identified health impacts 
even at very low concentrations. The Air Quality Strategy aims to support the 
Mayor of London to meet the tighter WHO Guidelines for PM10 and PM2.5 by 2030. 

6.1.25. The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy contains proposals to reduce air 
pollution associated with road traffic in the Square Mile. , including the introduction 
of local Zero Emission Zones covering Barbican and Golden Lane and the City 
Cluster by 2022. An interim two-way Zero Emission Street at Beech Street will be 
implemented in 2020. While the main source of pollutants in the City has 
historically been road transport, following implementation of the Mayor’s Ultra Low 
Emission Zone in 2019 it is forecast that a greater share of remaining air pollutants 
will be generated by buildings. It is predicted that by 2020 buildings now will 
account for over half of NOx2 emissions arising in the City. Tackling poor air quality 
requires a broad range of actions, including reducing traffic congestion and 
supporting low emissions vehicles, reducing emissions associated with 
combustion-based heating and cooling systems, and limiting emissions linked with 
demolition and construction. The addition of green space and planting on and 
around buildings and within the public realm can help to trap particulate pollution.   

How the policy works 

6.1.26. The City Corporation’s Air Quality Strategy provides detailed information on the 
air quality issues facing the City and actions being pursued by the City Corporation 
and a range of partners to improve air quality. The Air Quality SPD sets out specific 
guidance for developers on the City Corporation’s requirements for reducing air 
pollution from developments within the Square Mile. The City Corporation’s Code 
of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and the Mayor’s Control of 
Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG provide guidance on 

Page 87



 

30 

 

procedures to be adopted to minimise the impacts of demolition and construction 
activities on air quality. 

6.1.27. Developers will be required to manage the impact of their proposals on air 
quality, which should as a minimum be air quality neutral. Large-scale 
developments that are subject to Environmental Impact Assessment procedures 
should, in particular, propose methods of delivering an air quality positive approach 
which results in improvements to the City’s air quality. The Mayor of London 
intends to produce guidance to inform the preparation of statements for 
developments taking an air quality positive approach.  

6.1.28. Developers are expected to fully explore the use of non-combustion 
generators, though it is recognised that there are currently limited options 
for non-combustion generators. In the short term, alternatives to using diesel 
as a fuel for generators may be acceptable where non-combustion options 
are not available. Technological advances during the life of the Plan will 
create more opportunities to install non-combustion generators. 

Policy HL3: Noise Noise and Light pollution 

1. Developers must consider the noise and lighting impacts of their development. 

1. Internal and external lighting should be designed to reduce energy consumption, 
avoid spillage of light beyond where it is needed and protect the amenity of light-
sensitive uses such as housing, hospitals and areas of importance for nature 
conservation. 

3. Any potential noise or light pollution conflicts between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised. New development must include suitable 
mitigation measures such as attenuation of noise or light spillage or restrictions 
on operating hours.  

1. A noise assessment will be required where there may be an impact on noise-
sensitive uses. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings should 
ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect nearby land uses, 
particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, hospitals, schools, 
nurseries and quiet open spaces. New noise-generating development 
should include suitable mitigation measures such as noise attenuation or 
restrictions on operating hours. 

2. Any potential noise pollution conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised, in line with the ‘agent of change’ 
principle. New development must include suitable mitigation measures such 
as attenuation of noise or restrictions on operating hours. 

3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction activities must be 
minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit noise disturbance near 
the development. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be 
no increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment. 

Page 88



 

31 

 

4. Opportunities will be sought to incorporate improvements to the acoustic and 
existing lighting schemes environment within major development.  

5. When bringing forward major development proposals, developers should 
explore opportunities to enhance the existing acoustic environment. 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.29. The City has a complex, densely developed and intensively used built 
environment in which space is at a premium and where multiple activities occur in 
very close proximity. Therefore, the effective management of noise and light 
pollution impacts applies to both development that introduces new sources of noise 
and light pollution and development that is sensitive to noise and light pollution.  

6.1.30. Careful planning and design are required to ensure proper consideration of key 
issues where lighting has an impact such as movement, safety, security as well as 
the reduction of energy use and light pollution. Light pollution is a particular 
problem where large commercial buildings have lights on during the night, which 
can impact residential amenity. 

6.1.31. The main noise and vibration sources related to new developments in the City 
are:  

• Construction and demolition work and associated activities, such as piling, 
heavy goods vehicle movements and street works; 

• Building services plant and equipment, such as ventilation fans, air-
conditioning and emergency generators; 

• Leisure facilities and licensed premises, involving noise from people and 
amplified music; and 

• Servicing activities such as deliveries, window cleaning and building 
maintenance. 

6.1.32. Noise and light sensitive uses and developments in the City include residential 
developments, (including hotels and serviced apartments), health facilities, schools 
and childcare provision and certain open spaces. 

6.1.33. Planning and licensing regimes operate under separate legislative and 
regulatory frameworks. The City Corporation will ensure that, as far as is possible, 
a complementary approach is taken between planning and licensing to enable 
consistency of advice and decision making. Policy CV4: Evening and Night-Time 
Economy sets out the planning policy approach to evening and night-time 
entertainment uses in the Square Mile. 

How the policy works 

6.1.34. The City of London Noise Strategy 2016-2026 sets out the strategic approach 
to noise in the City and the City Corporation’s Code of Practice for Deconstruction 
and Construction Sites provides guidance on procedures to be adopted to 
minimise the noise and vibration impacts of development. The use of planning 

Page 89



 

32 

 

conditions or obligations will be considered where this could successfully 
moderate adverse effects, for example, by limiting hours of operation. 

6.1.33. Some major developments may have the potential to enhance the City’s 
acoustic environment, When bringing forward major development proposals, 
developers are encouraged to consider whether there may be opportunities to 
enhance the existing acoustic environment, for instance by incorporating water 
features that can aid relaxation, help to mitigate sensory overload and help to 
mask traffic noise. More information about this can be found in the City Corporation’s 
Noise Strategy. 

6.1.34. For noise sensitive developments, confirmation will be sought of appropriate 
acoustic standards at the design stage. The City Corporation will apply the ‘agent 
of change’ principle, meaning that the responsibility for mitigating the impact of 
noise will fall on the new development. 

6.1.35. The City Corporation has adopted a Lighting Strategy, which includes a range of 
proposals to improve the quality of lighting across the City with specific 
recommendations for different character areas. The Lighting Strategy includes 
guidelines to help reduce light spillage and glare from retail and office premises, 
and from signage. The redevelopment or refurbishment of buildings may present 
opportunities to reduce the impacts of existing insensitive lighting schemes. 
Lighting proposals should take account of impacts on biodiversity and should be 
designed to ensure an appropriate habitat to improve biodiversity in the City. 
Particular attention should be paid to the impact of lighting on the City’s bat 
population.  

Policy HL4 HL5: Contaminated land and water quality 

Where development involves ground works or the creation of open spaces, 
developers will be expected to carry out a detailed site investigation to establish 
whether the site is contaminated and to determine the potential for pollution of the 
water environment or harm to human health and non-human receptors. Suitable 
mitigation must be identified to remediate any contaminated land and prevent 
potential adverse impacts of the development on human and non-human receptors, 
land or water quality. 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.36. When a site is developed, and ground conditions change there is potential 
for contaminants to be mobilised, increasing the risk of harm.  Site 
investigation should establish whether the proposed use is compatible with the 
land condition. The term “non-human receptors” encompasses buildings and 
other property, or ecological systems and habitats, which may be harmed as a 
result of contaminated land or water. 

How the policy works 

Page 90



 

33 

 

6.1.37. Pre-application discussions will be used to identify the particular issues 
related to environmental protection that are relevant to each development site. 
The City Corporation has published a Contaminated Land Strategy and a 
Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy, which provide details of the issues 
likely to be encountered in different parts of the City and should be used for 
reference by developers.  

Policy HL5 HL6: Location and protection of social and community facilities 

1. Existing social and community facilities will be protected in situ unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality, quantity and 
accessibility are provided on-site or within the vicinity which meet existing 
and predicted future the needs for this type of the users of the existing 
facility; or  

• necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without leading to, 
or increasing, any shortfall in provision, and with equivalent or improved 
accessibility for relevant user groups; or  

• it has been demonstrated through active marketing, at reasonable terms for 
public, social and community floorspace, that there is no demand for the 
existing facility or another social or community use on the site. 

2. The development of new social and community facilities should provide flexible, 
multi-use spaces suitable for a range of different uses and will be permitted:  

• Where they would not be predjudicial to the business City and where 
there is no strong economic reason for retaining office use 

• in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve; 

• in or near identified residential areas, providing their amenity is 
safeguarded; and 

• as part of major mixed-use developments, subject to an assessment of 
the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing 
facilities and neighbouring uses.  

3. Developments that result in additional need for social and community facilities 
will be required to provide the necessary facilities or contribute towards 
enhancing existing facilities to enable them to meet identified need. 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.38. Social and community facilities contribute to successful communities by 
providing venues for a wide range of activities and services that are 
accessible to those communities. As such they make a significant 
contribution to people’s mental, spiritual and physical wellbeing, sense of 
community, learning and education. Library and educational facilities and those 
that support the City’s business and cultural roles are particularly important. A 
definition of social and community facilities, with reference to the Use Classes 
Order, is provided in the glossary. 

Page 91



 

34 

 

How the policy works 

6.1.39. Existing social and community facilities will be protected in situ, unless it can be 
demonstrated to the City Corporation’s satisfaction that there is no demand from 
social and community users for the facilities or that their loss is part of a published 
asset management plan, in the case of non-commercial enterprises, or that 
necessary services can be delivered from alternative premises without a reduction 
in service provision. The presumption is that current facilities and uses should be 
retained where a continuing need exists. If this is not feasible, preference will be 
given to another social and community use in the first instance. 

6.1.40. Where existing social and community facilities are to be relocated, the 
replacement facilities should be within the City. However, for services that serve a 
wider catchment area, relocation outside the City, but within a reasonable distance, 
may be acceptable. There may be advantages in locating organisations together 
within multi-functional community buildings to maximise the efficient use of 
resources. For example, the Artizan Street Library hosts community meeting 
rooms, play groups and exercise classes as well as traditional library facilities. 
Places of worship have the potential to accommodate a range of activities on their 
premises which can help improve community cohesion. Relocated facilities must 
be available to communities at a cost/rent equivalent to that charged prior to 
redevelopment. New facilities provided should similarly provide space at a cost/rent 
that is affordable to the communities being served. 

6.1.41. Where rationalisation of services would result in either the reduction or 
relocation of social and community floorspace, the replacement floorspace must be 
of a comparable size or provide a better quality of service to target communities. 

6.1.42. Given the limited opportunities to replace such facilities in the City, 
conditions may be attached to permissions for new public health facilities to 
ensure that the impacts of any proposed later conversion to another use can 
be considered through the planning application process. Conditions will not 
be applied to private healthcare facilities. 

Policy HL6 HL7: Public toilets 

The City Corporation will promote a widespread distribution of publicly accessible 
toilets which meet public demand by:  

1. requiring the provision of a range of directly accessible public toilet facilities 
suitable for a range of users including disabled people, families with 
young children and people of all gender identities in major retail, leisure 
and transport developments, particularly near visitor attractions, public open 
spaces and existing major transport interchanges. Provision should be made 
for free ‘Changing Places’ for disabled people and their carers (changing 
places toilets) and facilities for feeding infants; 

2. Publicly accessible toilets should be available during normal opening 
hours, or 24 hours a day, particularly in suitable areas with 
concentrations of night-time activity;  

Page 92



 

35 

 

3. supporting an increase in the membership of the Community Toilet Scheme; 

4. resisting the loss of existing publicly accessible toilets as a result of 
redevelopment, and requiring the provision of replacement facilities, unless 
adequate provision is available nearby; and 

5. requiring the renewal of existing toilets which are within areas subject to 
major redevelopment schemes and seeking the incorporation of additional 
toilets in proposed developments, such as hotels and office schemes, 
where they are needed to meet increased demand, especially in locations 
likely to see significant footfall and visitors. 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.43. Inclusive and accessible toilet provision is essential to meet the needs of all 
communities. Publicly accessible toilets are a particularly important facility for 
a number of certain groups, such as the elderly, those with disabilities 
disabled people, older people, families with babies and young children and 
pregnant women and others with chronic illnesses. They are also important to 
meet the needs of tourists and visitors to the City. It is important when 
designing toilet provision to include cubicles for people with ambulant mobility 
impairments which can also be suitable for some older people and people who 
require additional space. 

6.1.44. Areas of the City with concentrations of night-time entertainment require 
adequate publicly accessible toilet provision to prevent fouling on the streets. 

How the policy works 

6.1.45. The City Corporation will require the provision of publicly accessible toilets 
in major retail, leisure, transport and commercial developments, secured 
through legal agreements, or through encouraging membership of the 
Community Toilet Scheme, and will seek their provision where appropriate 
in other major developments such as office and hotel schemes. The 
Community Toilet Scheme allows the public to use toilet facilities in 
participating businesses, albeit that hours are often restricted.  

6.1.46. Publicly accessible toilets should be clearly signposted to ensure they are 
easily found and should be available 24 hours a day other than in 
exceptional circumstances. The City Corporation has produced a free toilet 
finder app suitable for use on mobile phones. Facilities should be maintained 
by the owner as part of the overall maintenance of any development.  

6.1.47. ‘Changing places’ toilets are not designed for independent use and should 
be provided in addition to standard unisex disabled persons’ toilets, baby 
change and family facilities, rather than as a replacement. Changing places 
toilets are particularly encouraged in proximity to cultural attractions 
and should be available for use on a 24 hour basis. Management and 
maintenance is important to safe use and should be secured through the 
planning process. Where publicly accessible toilets are provided, 

Page 93



 

36 

 

consideration should be given to the provision of self-contained gender-neutral 
toilets. 

Policy HL7 HL8: Sport and recreation 

 The City Corporation will promote the expansion of the City’s sport and 
recreation offer, by encouraging sport and recreation provision as part of 
appropriate new developments and helping to deliver a network of free 
outdoor sporting facilities in the City. 

 Existing public sport and recreational facilities will be protected in situ, unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality, quantity and 
accessibility are provided on-site or within the vicinity that meets existing 
and predicted future the needs of the users of that for this type of facility; 
or 

• necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without leading to, or 
increasing, any shortfall in provision; or 

• it has been demonstrated through active marketing, at reasonable terms for 
sport and recreational use, that there is no demand for the existing facility or 
alternative sport and recreation facilities which could be met on the site. 

2. The provision of new sport and recreation facilities, particularly publicly accessible 
facilities, will be encouraged in locations which are convenient to the 
communities they serve. New facilities should provide flexible space to 
accommodate a range of different uses and users, must be accessible to all, 
and should not cause undue disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. 

• where they provide flexible space to accommodate a range of different 
uses/users and are accessible to all; 

• in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve, including 
open spaces;  

• near existing residential areas; 

• as part of major developments subject to an assessment of the scale, 
character, location and impact of the proposal on existing facilities and 
neighbouring uses; and 

• where they will not cause undue disturbance to neighbouring occupiers.  

3. The use of vacant development sites for a temporary sport or recreational use will be 
encouraged where appropriate and where this does not preclude return to the 
original use or other suitable use on redevelopment.  

Reason for the policy 

6.1.48. There has been an increase in sport and recreational facilities in the City in 
recent years, with much of the increase resulting from additional private gym 
facilities, including those within office developments and some hotels. While 

Page 94



 

37 

 

this is welcome, many facilities charge substantial fees and are not available 
to those seeking more informal, occasional and cheaper sport and leisure 
opportunities. By supporting new facilities, and creating a network of 
facilities across the Square Mile, the City can encourage healthier and more 
active lifestyles for all. Demand for such facilities is likely to increase due to 
the rapid growth in the working population and as the City becomes more of 
a destination for visitors as well as the increasing recognition of the importance 
of healthy lifestyles, means there is a continued demand for these facilities. 

How the policy works 

6.1.49. The City Corporation will protect existing public sports and recreation facilities in 
situ, where there is a need, and encourage the provision of new public and private 
facilities that meet Sport England’s Active Design principles. Where in situ 
provision is not feasible, services should be delivered from other facilities without 
reducing the level of provision. However, any proposals involving the loss of public 
sport and recreational facilities must be accompanied by evidence of a lack of need 
for those facilities. Current public facilities and uses should be retained where a 
continuing need exists. If this is not feasible, preference will be given to a similar 
type of sport and recreational use in the first instance. Where new outdoor 
facilities are created, priority will be given to those that provide opportunities 
for recreation that are free or available at low cost. Consideration should be 
given to locating outdoor exercise facilities for adults and children’s play 
equipment near each other, where appropriate.  

The loss of private facilities such as gyms through redevelopment or change of use 
will be permitted where the replacement uses meet other objectives in this Plan. 
Following changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020, 
existing gyms and other indoor recreational uses could be converted to a range of 
alternative Class E commercial, business and service uses without planning 
permission, unless there are specific planning conditions attached to a site which 
prevent this. 

Open spaces and publicly accessible rooftops can provide valuable formal or 
informal sports and recreational facilities in the densely built City environment. An 
imaginative approach to multi-purpose structures in outdoor spaces can allow 
seating and other street furniture to be designed to also facilitate physical activities 
that promote health and fitness, such as stretching, sit ups and markers for walking 
and running distances. Outdoor exercise is beneficial but those exercising need to 
mindful of the safety of others and the busy city centre context. 

Policy HL8 HL9: Play areas and facilities 

 The City Corporation will promote opportunities for inclusive play and the 
provision of high quality play equipment and spaces in the City, by: 

 protect existing play provision and seek additional or enhanced play facilities or 
space, particularly in areas where a need has been identified, by:  

Page 95



 

38 

 

• protecting existing play areas and facilities and, on redevelopment, requiring 
the replacement of facilities either on-site or nearby to an equivalent or better 
standard; 

• seeking additional or enhanced play equipment and spaces, particularly 
in areas near to existing or planned attractions, and in places within and 
well connected to residential areas and other places likely to be used by 
children and young people; 

• requiring external play space and facilities as part of major new residential 
developments;  

• Where the creation of new play facilities is not possible, requiring developers 
to work with the City Corporation to deliver enhanced provision nearby, or 
provide financial contributions to enable the provision of facilities elsewhere;  

• promoting opportunities for informal play within open spaces where it is not 
possible to secure formal play areas; and 

• ensuring play facilities are designed inclusively, considering in 
particular differences in age, gender, neurodiversity and disability. 
Developers should seek to engage children and young people in the 
design of play spaces. 

2. Play areas and facilities must be inclusive and not be located in areas of poor air 
quality due to the negative health impacts on young children. 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.50. Play is essential for the healthy development of children and takes place in both 
formal and informal spaces. Formal play spaces include areas specifically 
designed and designated for play. As the City increasingly becomes a 
destination for a wider range of visitors, including families, children and 
young people, there will be increased demand for play spaces that are free of 
charge, well-designed, inclusive and accessible. These are likely to be 
focussed in areas near to leisure destinations such as the new Museum of 
London in Smithfield and along the Thames riverfront. Play near and within 
residential areas is also an important component of ensuring communities 
can be active and healthy and have fun near where they live. 

How the policy works 

6.1.51. The high rate of development in the City and the creation of new, and 
improvement of existing, public realm creates opportunities for informal play 
spaces in the City, which are not designated solely for that purpose but contain 
features that can be used for imaginative play. These spaces would also benefit 
the increasing numbers of children who visit the City.  

6.1.52. Public realm improvements and the creation of new open spaces should be 
designed imaginatively to serve the needs of all the City’s communities workers 
but also offer informal play opportunities. Children and young people are diverse 
in their experiences of the world and have different ways that they want to 

Page 96



 

39 

 

play and hang out in social spaces. The design of play space should be 
informed by these differences and children and young people should be 
involved in helping to design them. Where the opportunity arises, the City 
Corporation will enable appropriate sensory play areas in the City for disabled 
children, young people and adults and those with special educational needs 
and disabilities. 

Policy HL9 HL10: Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 

The City Corporation will require development to deliver health benefits to the  
City’s communities and mitigate any negative impacts.  
 
Major development should submit a rapid HIA. A full HIA will be required on 
those developments that are subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment. An HIA may also be required for developments considered to 
have particular health impacts, including those involving sensitive uses such 
as education, health, leisure or community facilities, publicly accessible 
open space, hot food take away shops, betting shops and in areas where air 
pollution and noise issues are particularly prevalent. 
 

The scope of any HIA should be agreed with the City Corporation and be 
informed by City Corporation guidance on HIA. The assessment should be 
undertaken as early as possible in the development process so that potential 
health gains can be maximised, and any negative impacts can be mitigated. 
 
 
1. requiring all major development, and developments where potential health issues 

are likely to arise, to submit a Healthy City Planning Checklist; and 
 
2. requiring a Rapid or Full HIA to be submitted for larger-scale development 

proposals. 
 

 
 

Reason for the policy 

6.1.53. The City of London is a densely built up central urban location. The scale of 
development, the busy and congested streets and pavements, limited open space 
and large numbers of workers can impact on people’s physical and mental health. 

6.1.54. Major development can impact on health in a variety of ways including through 
noise and pollution during the construction phrase, increased traffic movements 
and greater competition for limited open space. Equally, development can deliver 
improvements such as improved access by walking, wheeling, cycling and public 
transport and the provision of opportunities to access open and green spaces, 
exercise facilities, cultural and community facilities and healthy food outlets. 

6.1.55. HIAs provide a systematic framework to identify the potential impacts of a 
development proposal on the health and wellbeing of the population and highlight 

Page 97



 

40 

 

any health inequalities that may arise. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the 
important role that health impact assessments can play in enabling developers to 
understand and plan for potential risks to health and wellbeing. 

6.1.56. HIAs can highlight mitigation measures that may be appropriate to enable 
developments to maximise the health of communities. 

How the policy works 
 

6.1.57. Developers will be expected to identify potential impacts on health resulting from 
all major developments in the City, following the approach set out in the City 
Corporation’s Health Impact Assessment guidance note. To assist this 
process, the City Corporation will publish guidance based on the NHS London 
Healthy Urban Development Unit’s (HUDUs) HIA methodology but adapted to 
address City specific issues. 

6.1.58. In line with the Mayor of London’s Social Infrastructure SPG, the level of HIA 
required will depend upon the scale and impact of the development. 

 
Desktop assessment 
 
6.1.59. This draws on existing knowledge and evidence, often using published 

checklists which provide a broad overview of potential health impacts. The City 
Corporation will prepare a Healthy City Planning checklist for this purpose, which 
will incorporate relevant elements of TfL’s Healthy Streets Check to ensure that 
land-use and transport impacts on health are considered in a coordinated way. 

6.1.60. The Healthy City Planning checklist should be submitted with planning 
applications for developments of between 10 and 99 dwellings or between 1,000m2 
– 9,999m2 of commercial floorspace. It will also be required for developments 
considered to have particular health impacts, including those involving sensitive 
uses such as education, health, leisure or community facilities, publicly accessible 
open space, hot food take away shops, betting shops and in areas where air 
pollution and noise issues are particularly prevalent. 
 

Rapid HIA 
 

6.1.61. This involves would require a more focused investigation of health impacts and 
which would normally recommend mitigation and/or enhancement measures. The 
City Corporation will adapt the London HUDU Rapid HIA Tool to reflect the City’s 
circumstances and will expect this to be used for major developments of 10,000m2 
or greater commercial floorspace or 100 or more residential units. 

 
Full HIA 
 
6.1.62. This involves comprehensive analysis of all potential health and wellbeing 

impacts, which may include quantitative and qualitative information, data from 
health needs assessments, reviews of the evidence base and community 
engagement. A full HIA will be required on those developments that are subject to 

Page 98



 

41 

 

an Environmental Impact Assessment and could be included within the 
Environmental Statement to avoid duplication. 

 
6.1.63. HIAs must look at the issue of health comprehensively, and not focus solely on 

access to health services. Where significant impacts are identified, measures to 
mitigate the adverse impact of the development should be provided as part of the 
proposals or secured through conditions or a Section 106 Agreement. 

 

  

Page 99



 

42 

 

6.2. Safe and Secure City   

Context 

The City is a safe place to live, work and visit, with low rates of crime. The continuing 
security and safety of the City is key to its success, whether as a base for a company, a 
place to live or somewhere to spend leisure time. As a world leading financial and 
professional services centre, addressing potential risks from fraud, terrorism and cyber 
crime is of critical importance. 

The City of London has its own police force, which enables it to focus on the City’s 
specific circumstances while playing a leading national role in combatting economic and 
cyber crime. The City of London Police publishes a three-year Policing Plan, updated 
annually, which sets out priorities that address both its national and local obligations. 
Current priorities are: 

• Counter terrorism; 

• Cyber crime; 

• Fraud; 

• Vulnerable people; 

• Roads policing; 

• Public order; 

• Violent and acquisitive crime; 

• Antisocial behaviour. 

 

The Safer City Partnership brings together representatives from both statutory and 
non-statutory agencies that contribute to the work of keeping the City safe. The 
Partnership’s vision is for the City of London to be a safe place to live, learn, work, 
and visit. The Partnership meets regularly and publishes a Strategic Plan, which 
identifies the following outcomes for 2019-2022:  

• Vulnerable people and communities are protected and safeguarded; 

• People are safe from violent crime and violence against the person; 

• People and businesses are protected from theft and fraud/acquisitive crime; 

• Anti-Social Behaviour is tackled and responded to effectively; 

• People are safe and feel safe in the Night-Time Economy. 

 

The Secure City programme is a joint initiative between the City Corporation and 
City of London Police, intended to deliver significant improvements to the safety of 
residents, workers and visitors. Drawing on the success of historic approaches to 
security and the latest examples of best practice from cities across the world, the 
programme will future-proof security arrangements to meet emerging challenges 
such as protecting new crowded spaces. The programme will integrate with other 

Page 100



 

43 

 

initiatives including Smart City technology and Culture Mile and will align with this 
Plan and the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy.  

4.2.5 The City is home to the Central Criminal Court at the Old Bailey, the Rolls Building 
Court complex, the Mayor’s and the City of London Court, the City of London 
Magistrate’s Court and the Inner and Middle Temples Inns of Court, together with 
a number of legal firms.  

 
Strategic Policy S2: Safe and Secure City 

 
The City Corporation will work with the City of London Police and the London Fire 
Brigade to ensure that the City is safe and secure from crime, the fear of crime, anti-
social behaviour disorder and terrorism, and is able to accommodate large numbers of 
people safely and efficiently by: 

1. Minimising the potential for crime and anti-social behaviour by Ensuring that 
development proposals design-out crime and encouraging encourage a mix of uses 
and natural surveillance of streets and spaces; 

2. Implementing measures to enhance the collective security of the City against terrorist 
threats, applying security measures to broad areas such as the Traffic and 
Environmental Zone, major development schemes, or to the City as a whole;  

3. Developing area-based approaches to implementing security measures where major 
developments are planned or are under construction simultaneously, and in locations 
where occupiers have requested collective security measures; 

4. Ensuring that development proposals take account of the need for resilience so that 
residential and business communities are better prepared for, and better able to 
recover from, emergencies including promotion of business continuity measures 
fire, flood, weather, and other related hazards as set out in the London Risk 
Register.  

5. Requiring development proposals to meet the highest standards of fire safety. Major 
development proposals must prepare and submit a Fire Statement setting out how 
the development will address fire safety in the design, construction and operation of 
the building for all building users, including safe and dignified emergency 
evacuation. 

6. Ensuring that development proposals cater to community safety and security 
requirements particularly those of people more likely to experience crime and 
fear of safety, including women, girls, children, younger, older and disabled 
people. 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

44 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.2.1. The City is a safe place to live, work and visit, with low rates of crime. Safety 
and security are important to the continuing role of the City of London as a world 
leading financial and professional services centre, and as an attractive place to live 
and visit. Ensuring a safe and secure City requires close co-operation between the 
City Corporation, neighbouring boroughs, the City of London Police and the 
London Fire Brigade, and between these agencies, the Metropolitan Police, the 
British Transport Police, the Government and Judiciary and the Mayor of London 
taking into account the Mayor’s Zero Action Plan to eliminate deaths and 
injuries on city streets. The Safer City Partnership brings together 
representatives from both statutory and non-statutory agencies that 
contribute to the work of keeping the City safe. The Partnership publishes a 
Strategic Plan and its vision is for the City of London to be a safe place to 
live, learn, work, and visit. Close working with developers and occupiers is also 
essential. 

How the policy works 

6.2.2. Security and fire safety features should be considered at the outset of the design 
process to be most effective and avoid the need for retrofitting later during the 
development process or following completion. Early engagement with the City 
Corporation, the City of London Police and the London Fire Brigade is particularly 
important, including through the pre-application process.  

6.2.3. The design of a scheme should create safe, inclusive and accessible 
environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime do not undermine 
quality of life or social cohesion. Designs should take into account the most up-to-
date information and advice regarding security needs in the area, working with 
local advisors to reduce vulnerability and increase resilience. Where appropriate, 
developers will be required to contribute towards the funding of measures designed 
to enhance security. 

6.2.4. All development proposals must achieve the highest standards of fire safety and 
developers must liaise at an early stage in the design process with the City 
Corporation’s District Surveyor and the London Fire Brigade on fire safety 
considerations, incorporating London Plan fire safety requirements. Major 
development proposals must be accompanied by a Fire Statement which sets out 
how the development will address fire safety in the design, construction and 
operation of the building. 

Policy SA1: Crowded Places Publicly accessible locations   

All major developments are required to address the issue of crowded places publicly 
accessible locations and counter-terrorism by: 

1. Conducting a full risk assessment and identifying and designing appropriate 
mitigation measures into the building as integral features from the outset to avoid 
the need for retrofitting; 

Page 102



 

45 

 

2. Undertaking early consultation with the City of London Police on risk mitigation 
measures; and 

3. Restricting or rationalising motor vehicle access where required.; and  

4. Ensuring that public realm and pedestrian permeability is not adversely impacted, 
and that the design of the development considers the application of Hostile 
Vehicle Mitigation measures at an early stage.  

Reason for the policy 

6.2.5. Places that are attractive, open and easily accessible can often become crowded. 
Such places are a potential target for crime and terrorism and offer the prospect of 
serious disruption or worse.  

6.2.6. Crowded places include mainline and underground stations, shopping centres, 
bars and clubs which are all easily accessible. The high density of development, 
the substantial daytime population and the high-profile of many City buildings and 
businesses make the area a potential target for terrorism. Measures such as 
traffic calming may be employed to limit the opportunity for hostile vehicle 
approach. 

6.2.7. Measures such as traffic calming may be employed to limit the opportunity for 
hostile vehicle approach. Other measures that have been taken in the City include 
the City of London Traffic and Environmental Zone, which is the security and 
surveillance cordon that surrounds the Square Mile. It consists of road barriers, 
checkpoints and closed-circuit television cameras with the aim of slowing, 
managing and monitoring vehicular movements entering the City. In 2016, the City 
Corporation also approved an Anti-Terrorism Traffic Regulation Order (ATTRO), a 
counter-terrorism measure that allows the City of London Police to close routes at 
certain times, specified in the order, and divert vehicles away from the area to deal 
with identified threats. Its purpose is to avoid or reduce the likelihood of danger 
connected with terrorism or preventing or reducing damage connected with 
terrorism.  

How the policy works 

6.2.8. A risk assessment should be submitted for approval by the City Corporation as 
part of a planning application for major development or transport proposals. The 
risk assessment should be proportionate to the nature of the risk identified through 
consultation with the City of London Police and will typically include: 

• Assessment of the risk of structural damage from an attack; 

• Identification of measures to minimise any risk; 

• Detail on how the perimeter is treated, including glazing; 

• Consideration of adjacent land-uses and commuter routes.  

 

Page 103



 

46 

 

6.2.9. The City Corporation will liaise with the City of London Police in considering and 
approving risk assessments submitted as part of a planning application. 

Policy SA2: Dispersal Routes 

Applications for major commercial development and developments which propose night-
time uses must include a Management Statement setting out detailed proposals for the 
dispersal of patrons and workers from premises to ensure the safe egress of all people, 
minimise the potential for over-crowding and reduce the instances of noise nuisance 
and anti-social behaviour, particularly in residential areas. 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.2.10. The City increasingly operates on a 7 day a week basis, with an increase in 
evening and night-time uses. This will result in an increase in pedestrian 
movements within the City as patrons enter and exit public houses, bars, night-
clubs and restaurants. Anti-social behaviour, including noise, disturbance and 
odours arising from the operation of the premises can be disruptive to City 
residents and occupiers and proposals should seek to mitigate any negative 
impacts that may arise, incorporating the Agent of Change principle. 

6.2.11. The City’s daytime population places pressure on the City’s public realm at peak 
times. It is therefore necessary to provide details of dispersal routes as part of 
planning applications for major commercial developments to understand their 
implications for movement and amenity. 

6.2.12. The planning and design of dispersal routes should be inclusive and take into 
account the needs of disabled people, older people, people with impaired 
mobility and people with children with physical or mental disabilities and people 
with restricted mobility. 

How the policy works  

6.2.13. The dispersal of patrons from premises, particularly late at night should not have 
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of residents and other noise-sensitive 
uses. Adverse impacts will require mitigation in line with Policy CV4: Evening and 
Night-time Economy.  

6.2.14. Major commercial developments should incorporate measures to reduce 
pedestrian flow at peak times or provide alternative routes to avoid over-crowding 
on existing streets to ensure the safety and security of the City and to avoid further 
stress on the City’s public realm.  

6.2.15. A management statement will be required, setting out the measures 
incorporated into the scheme to mitigate the adverse impacts of night-time 
economy uses. Early engagement with nearby residents and occupiers, as well as 
the City of London Police and the City Corporation as Licensing Authority, can help 
ensure that the measures contained in the management statement are appropriate 

Page 104



 

47 

 

to local circumstances. Assessment of the management statement will have regard 
to the City of London Noise Strategy, the provisions of the City of London 
Statement of Licensing Policy and any submitted licence application operating 
schedule. 

Policy SA3: Designing in Security 

1. Security measures must be incorporated into the design of development at an early 
stage, taking account ‘secured by design’ principles, to avoiding the need to for 
later retrofitting and measures that would adversely impact on the public realm or 
the quality of design. Applicants must liaise with the City Corporation and the City of 
London Police and incorporate their advice into the scheme design as required.  

2. Security measures should be designed within the development’s boundaries and 
integrated with those of adjacent buildings and surrounding public realm. Area-wide 
approaches should be considered. 

3. All development should be designed to minimise the need for Where it is 
required, Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) should be integrated into the design of 
the building. Development proposals should avoid the need for HVM on the 
public highway and public realm. In exceptional circumstances, where non-
integrated HVM is shown to be necessary, consideration should be given to the 
use of trees, planters and benches to reduce its visual impact. Design and 
location of any HVM should ensure that public realm and pedestrian 
permeability is not adversely impacted, and should be designed to ensure an 
inclusive and accessible public realm.  

4. Developers will be expected to contribute towards the cost of necessary and 
proportionate on-street mitigation of the risk of vehicle attacks in the vicinity of their 
developments, or within a wider area where area-based security measures are 
proposed. 

5. Where mixed use schemes are proposed, developments must provide independent 
primary and secondary access points, ensuring that the proposed uses are separate 
and self-contained.  

6. All security measures which are expected to be more than very short-term should 
take account of the functionality of the area and needs of its users and should 
be sympathetic to surrounding buildings, the public realm and any heritage assets, 
and must be of a high-quality design. 

7. An assessment of the environmental impact of security measures will be required. It 
should address the visual impact and impact on pedestrian flows.  

8. Security and safety measures are incorporated into the design at an early stage 
to avoid the need to retro-fit measures that adversely impact on the public 
realm or the quality of design. 

 

Page 105



 

48 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.2.16. Measures to design out crime, including counter-terrorism measures, should be 
integral to development proposals and may be applicable to crowded spaces 
around a development as well as the building itself. Security measures should be 
proportionate to the risk and the likely consequences of an attack, deter terrorism, 
assist in the detection of terrorist activity and help mitigate its effects.  Late 
consideration of security in developments can be more costly, inefficient, and less 
effective, and can have a negative impact on the architectural quality and design of 
a building and the surrounding public realm. These difficulties can be avoided by 
considering security at the early design stage. Given the limited space within the 
City, and the density of development, it is important that any required HVM is 
an integral part of the design of new development, and that it does not 
disrupt the permeability, accessibility and enjoyment of public spaces for 
everyone. 

How the policy works 

6.2.17. All new developments must incorporate appropriate security provision to reduce 
the risk and the likely impact of an attack. It is not always possible to provide 
security measures wholly within the building or development site, particularly when 
there is a need to provide stand-off distances to protect against potential vehicle-
borne attacks, or where the building line is immediately bounded by public 
highway. Security features for individual buildings on the public highway should be 
a last resort when all other alternative proposals have been exhausted including 
the scope for an area-based approach. 

6.2.18. A collective approach to security is likely to be more effective than an individual 
building approach, particularly in areas of high-density development such as the 
City Cluster. The City Corporation will use s106 planning obligations requiring 
developers to contribute to measures to enhance collective security, where 
appropriate.   

6.2.19. In considering the impact of new development on the public realm, the City 
Corporation will take into account the need for additional security measures within 
the public realm to reduce the risk to individuals from motor vehicles and the 
potential for vehicles to mount pavements. Developers will be expected to 
contribute towards the cost of on-street mitigation of the risk of vehicle attacks in 
the vicinity of their developments, through the use of s106 planning obligations. 

6.2.20. Developments should aim to achieve a high level of natural surveillance of all 
surrounding public areas including the highway. Mixed use developments can 
generate greater activity and surveillance, but a mix of uses within individual 
buildings may give rise to problems of security, management and amenity. The 
provision of independent primary and secondary access points will be required so 
that proposed uses are separate and self-contained. In appropriate circumstances, 
use of CCTV should be considered. 

6.2.21. Early engagement with the City of London Police and the City Corporation is 
essential to ensure that security measures are appropriate to evolving threats. 

Page 106



 

49 

 

Where the development has an impact on heritage assets, early discussion with 
Historic England is also recommended.  

6.2.22. Design and Access Statements should incorporate recommendations from the 
City of London Police, City Corporation and ‘Secured by Design’ principles or 
equivalent, setting out how an inclusive approach to security has been 
considered at the design stage. Advice in the City Corporation’s Public Realm 
Technical Manual should be incorporated into proposals to ensure developments 
offer a lasting contribution to the streets and spaces of the City. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 107



 

50 

 

 Housing  
 

4.1 Housing 

Context 

7.1.0. Housing is vital for the City’s future economy and its communities. A shortage of 
housing, particularly affordable housing, is one of the main barriers to future 
business and community growth in the City and across London. High quality, 
affordable housing is also essential to meet the housing needs of those of the 
City’s communities on lower incomes. 

7.1.1. The 2021 Census indicated that the City’s permanent residential population of 
the City was estimated to be around was 8,600, which is small in comparison to 
the daily working population in excess of 520,000 590,000.  The GLA’s 2016 2021-
based interim housing-led projections suggest that the City’s population 
(excluding those with main homes elsewhere) will have a modest increase to 
approximately 10,000 by 2036 9,500 by 2040. As the City’s housing stock 
increases the resident population does not increase in proportion as many 
residential units are used as second homes or for short term letting. The 2011 2021 
Census indicated that there were 1,400 1,700 second homes in the City of London. 

7.1.2. The majority of the City’s housing is concentrated around the edge of the City in 
four estates (the Barbican, Golden Lane, Middlesex Street and Mansell Street). 
Other residential areas are located in Smithfield, the Temples, parts of the riverside 
(Queenhithe), Fleet Street (City West), Carter Lane and around Botolph Lane. Most 
residential units in the City are flats with one or two bedrooms, which is consistent 
with the need assessment of unit sizes recommended in the City of London 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2016 2023. There have also been a 
number of developments providing shorter term accommodation (short lets or 
serviced apartments).  

7.1.3. The City Corporation is the strategic housing authority for the City of 
London and a landlord responsible for over 1,900 social tenanted properties 
and over 900 leaseholder properties across London. The City Corporation 
provides over 1,800 social housing units on 11 estates that it owns and 
manages outside of the City of London in the six London boroughs of 
Southwark, Islington, Lewisham, Lambeth, Hackney and Tower Hamlets. This 
is in addition to social housing provided within the City. The City Corporation 
has a current waiting list of 977 (in 2023), 175 of which are existing tenants 
who are insufficiently housed. 

7.1.4. Most Clustering new residential housing development has been located in or 
near existing residential areas in accordance with Local Plan policy. This allows 
greater opportunity to protect residential amenity and deliver a high-quality 
residential environment. Residential clustering reduces potential conflict with 

Page 108



 

51 

 

commercial and office uses. There may be occasional opportunities for new 
residential development on appropriate sites near identified residential areas, such 
as through the re-use of heritage assets, where the potential to meet future office 
needs may be limited by site-specific considerations. 

7.1.5. References to housing in this Plan include market and affordable housing 
(comprising social rented housing, affordable rented housing and intermediate 
housing), hostels, sheltered and extra-care housing. It also includes innovative 
housing products, such as Built to Rent and Co-Living accommodation which are 
likely to have an increasing role in meeting future housing needs, particularly for 
City workers at an early stage of their careers. References to housing in this Plan 
do not include student accommodation, as it may be appropriate in different 
locations to other forms of housing. 

7.1.6. Co-Living accommodation will contribute towards meeting general housing 
need at the national ratio for non-self contained accommodation of 1.8 
bedrooms to 1 residential unit. Student housing accommodation contributes to 
meeting general housing need at the national ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 
residential unit.  

Housing requirement 

7.1.7. The NPPF sets out a standardised approach to assessing housing need and 
requires strategic planning authorities to follow this approach in setting housing 
targets in Local Plans. The City of London Local Plan is required to be in general 
conformity with the London Plan, which sets a housing target for the City and the 
London boroughs.  

7.1.8. The London Plan’s strategic framework includes Policy SD5 which indicates that 
residential development is inappropriate in the commercial core of the City of 
London. Within this context, the London Plan is informed by a Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) for London, providing 
guidance on the amount of land potentially available in the City for 
residential development. The 2017 SHLAA identifies a potential supply of 
large housing sites in the City in the period 2019-2029 of 527 dwellings and 
an annual average of 74 dwellings on sites under 0.25 hectares, based on 
past trends. In line with the findings of the SHLAA, the London Plan it requires 
the City of London to deliver 1,460 new homes during the period 2019/20 – 
2028/29. This includes the 740 units that the London Plan sets as a target to 
be provided on small sites of less than 0.25 hectares in size over the 2019/20 
– 2028/29 period. Beyond 2028/29, the London Plan requires boroughs and 
the City to draw on the capacity work which underpins the London Plan 
target and any local evidence of capacity, as well as rolling forward London 
Plan small sites estimates, when setting longer term targets., with the annual 
average rate continuing beyond 2028/29 until such time as the London Plan is 
further reviewed. In Policy S3 the City’s housing requirement is expressed as a 
total of 2,482 dwellings for the Plan period to 2036 which represents the 10-year 
London Plan target of 1,460 dwellings plus the combined annual average of 146 
dwellings for the years post 2028/29 (1,022 dwellings). The housing requirement 
beyond 2028/29 will be kept under review and may need to be altered to ensure 

Page 109



 

52 

 

general conformity with any subsequent review of the London Plan. The London 
Plan also includes a target that 740 units should be provided on small sites of less 
than 0.25 hectares in size over the 2019/20 – 2028/29 period. 

7.1.9. Different assessment methods provide different figures for local housing need. 
The City’s 2016 SHMA assessed the level of housing need, including the needs of 
those requiring supported and specialised accommodation in the City, over the 
period 2014-36 using the latest population and household projections. The SHMA 
identified an objectively assessed need for an annual average of 126 dwellings per 
year. Using the national standard method for assessing local housing need at the 
time of preparing this Plan, the City’s minimum annual local housing need figure 
over the ten-year period from 2020 to 2030 would be 112 102. 

7.1.10. The City Corporation recognises that the wider housing needs across London 
support the case for a higher level of housing in the City than indicated by the 
City’s SHMA. This Local Plan therefore seeks to meet the London Plan housing 
target up to 2029 and to meet the housing requirement identified by the 
national standard method up to 2040., which has been applied to the whole of 
the Local Plan period as explained above. 

7.1.11. Housing delivery in the City is impacted by the volatile nature of the wider 
London housing market. If past volatile trends continue, new housing delivery in 
the City is likely to fluctuate from year to year and monitoring and delivery 
performance should therefore be assessed against overall delivery both in the 
period up to 2028/29 for the London Plan and up to 2040 for the City’s wider 
housing target, rather than on an annual basis. The City Corporation has 
prepared a Housing Trajectory which shows that the supply of small and larger 
windfall sites, together with sites in the development pipeline, will provide sufficient 
capacity to meet the London Plan requirement by 2028/29.  

7.1.12. The City Corporation’s Article 4 Direction, which removes permitted 
development rights for the change of use of offices to residential, the size and 
commercial character of the City and the priority given to commercial development 
through London Plan Policy SD5, all mean that new housing development in the 
City of London has been delivered through ‘windfall’ development rather than 
through the allocation of sites. City Corporation monitoring shows that in the period 
2011/12 to 2021/22, completions and permissions on windfall sites will have 
delivered an annual average of 198 dwellings per year. It is anticipated that 
windfalls will continue to deliver the majority of housing. The City Corporation has 
published a brownfield land register on its website, identifying land that is suitable 
for residential development in accordance with government requirements. The 
Mayor of London prepares a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) for London, providing guidance on the amount of land potentially 
available in the City for residential development. The 2017 SHLAA prepared to 
inform the draft London Plan 2017 identifies a potential supply of large housing 
sites in the City in the period 2019-2029 of 527 dwellings and an annual average of 
74 dwellings on sites under 0.25 hectares, based on past trends. This provision 
would be sufficient to meet London Plan housing targets up to 2029. Beyond and 
up to the end of the Local Plan period, it is expected that further windfalls will 
comeforward to ensure that the City can meet its housing requirements for the 

Page 110



 

53 

 

longer term. In the event that monitoring demonstrates that insufficient housing 
land is coming forward, the City Corporation will review this Plan or bring forward a 
partial review relating to housing land supply. The City Corporation will continue to 
support the delivery of new market and affordable housing on its own estates and 
other appropriate land holdings outside of the Square Mile in fulfilment of its 
ambition to deliver a significant number of new homes and contribute towards the 
delivery of new housing to meet London’s wider housing needs.  

7.1.13. The City Corporation is the strategic housing authority for the City of London and 
a landlord responsible for over 1,900 social tenanted properties and over 900 
leaseholder properties across London. The City Corporation provides over 1,800 
social housing units on 11 estates that it owns and manages outside of the City of 
London in the six London boroughs of Southwark, Islington, Lewisham, Lambeth, 
Hackney and Tower Hamlets. This is in addition to social housing provided within 
the City. 

7.1.14. The City Corporation has committed to play a leading role in tackling the 
housing shortage in London with a pledge to build hundreds of new social homes 
and thousands of additional mixed tenure homes. The City Corporation aims to 
deliver at least 700 new social homes on City-owned land and housing estates with 
potential for renewal and expansion. Where these homes are outside of the City, 
the City Corporation normally seeks joint nomination rights with the host borough to 
ensure that the housing can meet both City of London and host borough housing 
need. The City Corporation as a strategic landowner across London is seeking to 
deliver a further 3,000 significant number of additional mixed tenure homes on 
other sites in partnership with other providers, in recognition of the need for 
additional housing across London to meet housing needs. The City Corporation’s 
plans to build new homes have encouraged both public and private sector partners 
to propose development opportunities and potential joint ventures. Options to 
increase the supply of new homes beyond the City Corporation’s own sites are 
being explored. The planned co-location of the City Corporation owned and 
managed wholesale markets (Smithfield Meat Market, Billingsgate Fish Market and 
New Spitalfields Fruit and Vegetable Market) onto one site in Dagenham would 
provide an opportunity for mixed use redevelopment which could include housing. 
Billingsgate is a 5-hectare site next to Canary Wharf and New Spitalfields is a 13-
hectare site in Leyton.  

Affordable Housing 

7.1.15. The City of London is can be an expensive area to live in. ONS data shows that 
the affordability ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile residential 
earnings in 2016 2021/22 was 17.51 14.25, above the London average of 13.32 
13.46 and the England average of 6.91 7.28. The City of London SHMA shows that 
market rental prices in the City were significantly above the London-wide average 
or the average for inner London, indicating a significant problem of affordability. 
Overall, the SHMA suggests a need for an additional 69 affordable dwellings per 
year should be maximised to meet affordable housing needs. 

Page 111



 

54 

 

Gypsy and traveller accommodation 

The London Plan indicates that, in the absence of an up-to-date local gypsy and 
traveller needs assessment, boroughs should use the need figure set out in Table 4.4 of 
the London Plan. This table indicates that there is no need for specific gypsy and 
traveller accommodation in the City of London. The City Corporation will work with the 
Mayor and London Boroughs in the preparation of a London-wide Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Needs Assessment. 

Strategic Policy S3: Housing 

The City Corporation will protect existing housing and amenity and encourage additional 
housing concentrated in or near the identified residential areas to meet the City’s needs 
by:  

 Making provision for a minimum of 2,482 1,998 net additional dwellings between 
2019/20 and 2035/36 2023/24 and 2039/40: 

• encouraging new housing development on appropriate sites in or near 
identified residential areas; 

• within identified residential areas, prioritising the delivery of affordable 
housing, co-living, build to rent, hostels, sheltered and extra-care 
housing, while recognising that for-sale market housing would be likely 
in some instances to have a role to play in making housing development 
viable; 

• protecting existing housing where it is of a suitable quality and in a suitable 
location; 

• exceptionally, allowing the loss of isolated residential units where there is a 
poor level of amenity; and 

• refusing new housing where it would prejudice the primary business function 
of the City or be contrary to Policy OF2.   

2. Ensuring sufficient affordable housing is provided to meet the City’s housing need 
and contributing to London’s wider housing needs by: 

• ensuring the delivery of a minimum of 50% affordable housing on public 
sector land; and 

• requiring residential developments with the potential for 10 or more units to 
provide a minimum of 35% affordable housing on-site. Exceptionally, new 
affordable housing may be provided off-site, or through an equivalent cash-in 
lieu payment, if evidence is provided to the City Corporation’s satisfaction that 
on-site provision cannot be satisfactorily delivered and is not viable; and 

• providing a an appropriate mix of affordable tenures, addressing identified 
need in the City of London, including social or London affordable rented 
housing and intermediate housing (living rent, shared ownership or other 
genuinely affordable products) for rent or sale. 

Page 112



 

55 

 

3. Requiring a publicly accessible viability and feasibility assessment to be submitted to 
justify any proposals that do not meet on-site or off-site affordable housing 
requirements in this policy. Where policy targets are not able to be met when an 
application is decided, the City Corporation will require an upwards only review 
mechanism to be applied to ensure that the benefits of any subsequent uplift in 
values or reduction in costs are reflected in affordable housing contributions. 

4. Ensuring that other new land uses within identified residential areas are compatible 
with residential amenity.  

5. Requiring at least 10% of new dwellings to meet Building Regulation requirement 
M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ and 90% of all other new dwellings to meet 
Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.16. London has a severe housing shortage caused by a growing population and an 
inadequate supply of housing units. The lack of suitable and affordable housing 
has been identified by many businesses and business groups as a key constraint 
to further economic development and investment. The scale of housing proposed 
will contribute towards meeting local and wider London housing needs whilst still 
ensuring that the City remains predominantly a commercial office centre of national 
importance. New and innovative models of providing housing, including Build to 
Rent and Co-living, will be encouraged to meet changing housing needs.  

7.1.17. New housing in the City may be suitable for people that need to live near their 
workplace, especially key workers. Suitably located housing in the City can 
address local housing need and make a modest contribution to alleviating the 
housing shortage in London and relieving pressure on the transport system.  

7.1.18. The London Plan includes a detailed Policy H11 which supports Build to Rent 
developments. Build to Rent accommodation is specifically designed for renting, is 
typically owned by institutional investors, offers the potential for longer term returns 
for investors and importantly, longer lease terms and security for tenants. The City 
Corporation will support Build to Rent in or near the City’s residential areas and 
where it meets the detailed requirements in the London Plan. 

7.1.19. The City Corporation considers that there is potential within or near the identified 
residential areas for co-living accommodation and will encourage such provision on 
appropriate sites. Co-living accommodation will typically provide private ensuite 
bedrooms, shared social and kitchen spaces and co-working spaces with the 
latest smart technology. They are often suitable for people at early stages of their 
career when their ability to afford self-contained accommodation may be limited. 

7.1.20. Where appropriate, the City Corporation will support the appropriate 
regeneration of residential estates in the City where it will deliver improved living 
conditions for existing tenants and provide additional housing to meet housing 
needs. 

Page 113



 

56 

 

7.1.21. Many households in London already require accessible or adapted housing to 
lead dignified and independent lives. More Londoners are living longer and with the 
incidence of disability increasing with age, older people should have the choice of 
remaining in their own homes rather than moving to alternative accommodation. 

How the policy works 

7.1.22. To ensure that permissions for new housing are built out in a timely fashion, 
developers should provide information on the expected completion date for new 
residential development. The City Corporation will keep this under review and 
expect developers to liaise with the Corporation where it becomes apparent that 
anticipated completion dates cannot be achieved.  

7.1.23. There is a presumption in national policy and the London Plan that new 
affordable housing associated with housing development should be provided on-
site. The City Corporation will expect developers to deliver on-site affordable 
housing in new housing development above the affordable housing threshold 
unless it can be demonstrated through robust assessments that on-site provision is 
not feasible or viable and that off-site provision would better deliver mixed and 
inclusive communities than on-site provision. 

7.1.24. The City Corporation requires commercial development to make a financial 
contribution towards off-site affordable housing delivery instead of delivering mixed 
use development including housing on commercial sites. These contributions are 
used to deliver new affordable housing principally on City Corporation housing 
estates within and outside the City of London. 

7.1.25. Land within the City is an expensive and limited resource and there is a policy 
priority to deliver new office floorspace to strengthen its strategically important 
business role. The City Corporation therefore also works with housing partners to 
deliver new affordable housing on sites in the City fringe and in neighbouring 
boroughs, principally on City Corporation-owned housing estates, utilising 
commuted sums from commercial and housing developments within the City. This 
approach has been supported by the GLA and has provided affordable housing in 
locations in or near the City that meet local housing need, whilst making the best 
use of scarce City land for strategically important commercial activity. Although 
some affordable housing provision outside the City will continue to be funded by 
contributions from commercial development in the City, the presumption in this 
Plan is that new housing development in the City should provide affordable housing 
on-site. 

7.1.26. The London Plan and the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability 
Supplementary Planning Guidance set a strategic target for 50% of all new homes 
across London to be affordable, with a minimum threshold of 35% affordable 
housing on all developments comprising more than 10 units or which have a 
combined floorspace greater than 1,000m2. The Mayor has adopted a threshold 
approach to the consideration of applications for housing. Schemes which meet or 
exceed 35% affordable housing, or 50% on public sector land, are not required to 
submit viability information. Where an application does not meet these 

Page 114



 

57 

 

requirements, a viability assessment is required and the development will be 
subject to viability review as development progresses. 

7.1.27. In light of the Mayor’s approach and the shortage of available affordable housing 
to meet the needs of London’s workforce, a minimum of 35% affordable housing 
will be required on residential schemes in the City, with an ambition to deliver 
higher levels of affordable housing where this is viable. On public sector owned 
land, the higher 50% target will be applied as set out in the London Plan will be 
applied. The presumption is that affordable housing provision should be made on- 
site and all sites will be expected to deliver at least the minimum required level of 
affordable housing. Off-site provision or cash in lieu contributions will only be 
accepted in exceptional cases. In exceptional cases where off-site provision or 
cash in lieu contributions are considered to be acceptable in principle, agreements 
for this should provide no financial benefit to the applicant relative to on-site 
provision and should include review mechanisms in line with the Viability 
Tested Route, as set out in the London Plan. This means that the off-site 
provision, or the financial contribution, will be set at a level which captures the full 
uplift in value when delivering 100% market housing. This will ensure that the 
development is not more viable when the affordable housing obligation is satisfied 
through off-site provision or a cash in lieu payment in comparison to on-site 
delivery. The level of off-site provision, or the amount of the cash in lieu payment, 
must be sufficient to deliver at least the same number, size and type of affordable 
homes that would be required on-site. Further guidance on affordable housing 
requirements, including the methodology for calculating the level of cash-in lieu or 
off-site contributions required will be is set out in the City Corporation’s Planning 
Obligations SPD. This SPD guidance will be kept under review and amended as 
required to ensure financial contributions keep pace with the cost of delivering 
affordable housing and will continue to be sufficient to meet the full affordable 
housing requirements set out in this Plan. 

7.1.28. Developments which that propose lower levels of affordable housing, or where a 
developer considers particular circumstances exist that make a policy compliant 
scheme unviable, will need to be supported by robust viability assessments. These 
assessments will be published alongside other publicly accessible planning 
application information on the City Corporation’s website. The City Corporation will 
commission an independent review of submitted assessments, with the cost being 
met by the applicant. Consideration of viability and overall levels of affordable 
housing should take place at pre-application stage to avoid unnecessary delays in 
the determination of submitted planning applications. 

7.1.29. The requirement for on-site affordable housing in this Plan must be reflected in 
the price paid for land for residential development in the City. Overpaying for a site 
will is not be regarded an appropriate justification for failing to meet the affordable 
housing target. 

7.1.30. Where a viability assessment demonstrates that the Plan’s affordable housing 
targets cannot be met, the level of contribution should be determined based on 
the maximum amount of affordable housing at the relevant tenure split that 
could be provided on-site, as assessed through viability assessments. City 
Corporation will require an upwards only review mechanism to be included 

Page 115



 

58 

 

within any s106 planning obligation to ensure that any increases in scheme 
value or reduction in cost are appropriately reflected in increased affordable 
housing contributions. The detailed wording and timing of these review 
mechanisms will be determined on a case by case basis, having regard to the City 
Corporation’s Supplementary Planning Document and London Plan Guidance 
prepared by the Mayor in support of the London Plan. 

7.1.31. Various types of affordable housing are included within the national definition of 
affordable housing. The London Plan indicates that a minimum of 30% should be 
low cost rented homes, including social rent and London affordable rent, and a 
minimum of 30% should be intermediate products, such as shared ownership.  The 
remaining 40% should be determined by the relevant borough based on identified 
need. The City’s SHMA found that the need for intermediate housing products was 
relatively low and that social rented units would most successfully address the 
City’s affordable housing needs.  However, different and innovative forms of 
affordable housing are being developed and the viability and suitability of particular 
tenures is likely to change over the Plan period. The tenure of affordable housing 
will therefore need to be determined on a site by site basis, having regard to 
evidence of need in the City and London Plan requirements. Developers should 
liaise with the City Corporation’s Department of Community and Children’s 
Services to determine an appropriate mix for proposed schemes.  

7.1.32. The term ‘intermediate’ housing covers a range of different housing types, 
including shared ownership products, other low-cost homes for sale and 
intermediate rent. The City Corporation will take a flexible approach towards 
intermediate housing, based on the circumstances of each site, and will encourage 
provision that meets the needs of essential local workers where possible. 

Policy HS1: Location of New Housing 

1. New housing will be encouraged on suitable sites in or near identified residential 
areas. Within these areas a mix of appropriate residential, commercial, 
community, cultural and other uses will be permitted. 

2. New housing must not: 

• prejudice the primary business function of the City. Where proposed 
development would, or result in the loss of viable office accommodation, 
contrary to floorspace it must meet the requirements of Policy OF2; 

• inhibit the development potential or business activity in neighbouring 
commercial buildings and sites; or 

• result in poor residential amenity within existing and proposed development, 
including excessive noise or disturbance.  

3. Where existing residential estates are being redeveloped, an increased number of 
residential units will be expected, and the existing affordable housing on-site must 
be re-provided with at least the equivalent floorspace and tenure of affordable 
housing. Affordable housing which is re-provided must be offered to existing tenants 
at rents and service charges equivalent to those in the properties being replaced. 

Page 116



 

59 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.33. The City is a busy and sometimes noisy place, with a high density of 
development and business activity at all times during the day and evening, 7 seven 
days a week which has the potential to cause disturbance to residents. Large parts 
of the City are unsuitable for new housing because it could have an adverse impact 
on the City’s primary business role and would be likely to have poor residential 
amenity. The London Plan indicates that residential development is inappropriate in 
identified parts of the City to ensure that the current and future potential to 
assemble sites and deliver office development is not compromised by residential 
development. Elsewhere in the City, the London Plan indicates that offices and 
other strategic functions of the Central Activities Zone should be given greater 
weight in planning terms than residential development, except in wholly residential 
streets or predominantly residential neighbourhoods.   

7.1.34. The City’s policy approach is therefore to encourage new housing to be located 
within or near the identified residential areas shown in Figure 7, where reasonable 
residential amenity consistent with a central London location can be achieved. This 
approach helps to minimise disturbance to residents within the areas, while 
reducing potential conflict with the development and operation of commercial uses 
and providing a suitable framework for delivery of additional housing in the 
City.  

7.1.35. Due to the size and unique character of the City, all new housing has previously 
come forward on ‘windfall’ brownfield sites through the redevelopment or 
conversion of existing buildings as opportunities arise, within a similar policy 
framework to the one in this City Plan. This pattern of housing delivery is 
projected to continue throughout the life of this new Plan, delivering sufficient new 
housing over the Plan period to meet London Plan targets and projected local 
housing need. There is no need to allocate sites in the Local Plan to meet housing 
targets. 

 

 

How the policy works 

7.1.36. The policy sets out those parts of the City that are suitable for housing, 
specifically in and around established identified housing areas. In reality, the 
majority of proposals for new housing in and around these areas would be 
likely to be on sites occupied by office uses. It is therefore important to read 
this policy in conjunction with policy OF2. To accord with office floorspace 
policy OF2., applicants proposing redevelopment involving the loss or change of 
use of existing office accommodation must provide robust evidence to demonstrate 
that the site is not suitable and viable for longer term office use and the proposal 
will not prejudice the primary business function of the City. However, the City 
Corporation will take a more flexible approach to the loss of office floorspace in 
appropriate circumstances where development within or near the residential areas 
will provide additional housing. This could be particularly appropriate where the 

Page 117



 

60 

 

proposed housing offers Build to Rent, or Co-Living accommodation suitable for 
workers at an early stage of their careers. Further details are set out in the Office 
Use SPD.  

7.1.37. Residential development will not normally be permitted along streets which have 
high levels of noise and air pollution unless robust evidence is submitted which 
demonstrates how the development will mitigate the impact of that noise and 
pollution.  

7.1.38. Regeneration of housing estates will often involve the redevelopment of existing 
homes. Regeneration schemes should deliver an increased number of dwellings, 
where this is compatible with the delivery of a high-quality living environment for 
existing tenants. Existing affordable housing must be replaced at an equivalent 
tenure and offered to existing tenants at rents and service charges levels 
equivalent to those in the properties being replaced. Tenants should be involved 
at all stages of the process and have the opportunity to shape the proposals. 
Regeneration schemes should seek opportunities to improve social 
infrastructure and open spaces within the estate. This will help protect 
established local communities.   

Policy HS2: Loss of housing 

The net loss of existing housing units, including the amalgamation of residential units, 
will not be permitted except where: 

1. they provide poor amenity to residents which cannot be improved; or 

2. they do not have a separate entrance; or 

3. exceptionally, they are located outside identified residential areas and their loss 
would enable beneficial development for the business City. 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.39. The net loss of existing housing units will be resisted because of the limited 
opportunities to replace it in the City. This policy will also be applied to proposals 
for the amalgamation of adjoining residential units unless the existing 
accommodation is of such poor quality that it cannot provide a reasonable standard 
of amenity, or the proposed amalgamation of no more than two units would 
meet a clearly identified need for larger family accommodation or for retirement 
purposes. Exceptionally the net loss of existing housing may be acceptable 
outside residential areas where the development of offices will have a significant 
beneficial impact for the City. Isolated residential units outside identified residential 
areas can suffer poor amenity, such as noise nuisance and other disturbance due 
to non-residential uses in close proximity, including clubs and pubs, and can be 
adversely affected by the operation of the business City. 

Page 118



 

61 

 

7.1.40. Development sites that have received planning permission for residential 
units, and which demonstrate that there is a deliverable housing element, will 
be refused permission for change of use to non-residential use.  

 
Policy HS3: Residential environment 

The amenity of existing residents will be protected by resisting uses which that would 
cause unacceptable disturbance from noise, fumes and smells and vehicle or 
pedestrian movements.  

1. New noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential uses where 
possible. Where residential and other uses are located within the same 
development or area, adequate noise mitigation measures must be provided within 
the new development and, where required, planning conditions will be imposed to 
protect residential amenity. 

2. All development proposals should be designed to minimise overlooking and seek 
to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting levels to adjacent residential 
accommodation. Light spill from development that could affect residential 
areas should be minimised, in line with policy DE9. 

3. All residential development proposals must accord with the ‘Agent of Change’ 
principle, demonstrating how potential adverse noise impacts on and between 
dwellings will be mitigated by layout, design and materials. This principle is 
applicable when new housing proposals might otherwise constrain existing uses. 

4. The cumulative impact of planning applications for individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.41. The City is predominately a centre of business, with activity taking place at all 
times during the day and evenings, 7 days a week. This sometimes results in noise 
and disturbance to residents from new commercial development and commercial 
activities nearby. While the City Corporation will endeavour to minimise noise and 
other disturbance to residents it is inevitable that living in such a densely built-up 
area will result in some disturbance from a variety of sources, particularly outside 
the identified residential areas.  

7.1.42. The need to minimise overlooking and overshadowing of residential 
accommodation and minimise light spill where it impacts on residential 
accommodation, is a consideration in the design and layout of both new 
residential buildings and other development. However due to the density of 
development in the City it may not always be possible to entirely avoid any impacts 
on amenity. 

How the policy works 

Page 119



 

62 

 

7.1.43. The ‘Agent of Change’ principle makes developers responsible for addressing at 
the design stage the environmental and other impacts of development on existing 
neighbouring occupiers. Applicants for development near to existing residential 
properties should identify potential impacts on residential amenity and set out 
measures to mitigate those impacts within their Design and Access Statements or 
other supporting application documents. Where required, planning conditions will 
be imposed to limit hours of operation and servicing within predominantly 
residential areas. Policy CV4 addresses evening and night-time economy 
uses, while Policy HL3 seeks to minimise noise and light pollution.  

7.1.44. New residential development will also be subject to the Agent of Change 
principle and should include sufficient mitigation to ensure that the amenity 
of prospective owners or tenants is not compromised by existing uses in the 
vicinity. 

Policy HS4: Housing quality standards 

All new housing must be of a high-quality design and of a standard that facilitates the 
health and wellbeing of occupants and neighbouring occupants, and: 

1. meets London Plan housing space standards, including outdoor space 
standards and amenity space for individual units; 

2. meets standards for Secured by Design or similar certification;  

3. maximises opportunities for providing communal open and leisure space for 
residents; and 

4. provides amenity space for individual units, where possible including outdoor 
space. 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.45. All new housing, including changes of use to housing from other uses, will be 
expected to provide well designed, high quality living environments, both internally 
and externally, incorporating principles of inclusive, secure and sustainable design.  

How the policy works 

7.1.46. Housing development should comply with the requirements in the London Plan 
and the Mayor’s London Housing Design Guide unless it would not be feasible to 
do so because of site specific factors. The layout should incorporate sufficient 
space and facilities for waste, recycling bins and disabled and cycle parking. 

7.1.47. Private outdoor space should be provided in line with London Plan 
standards. Amenity space for residents could include gardens, roof top 
gardens/terraces, private balconies and the provision of new sports and 
recreational facilities. A minimum of 5 sq.m of private outdoor space should be 
provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1 sq.m should be provided for each 
additional occupant. Play space should also be included in line with the 
requirements in Policy HL8. There should be no distinction between amenity 

Page 120



 

63 

 

spaces and play areas for private and affordable housing residents. Proposals 
which seek to restrict access to such areas by affordable housing tenants will be 
refused. Daylight and sunlight to dwellings is addressed in the Design section of 
the Plan. 

Policy HS5: Short term residential letting  

1. Short term letting of permanent residential premises for over 90 days in a calendar 
year will not normally be permitted as it would reduce the stock of permanent housing 
in the City and may adversely impact the amenity of existing residents. 

2. Short term letting to provide residential accommodation for commercial purposes will 
not be permitted unless the units are contained within a separate building and will not 
be permitted if mixed with permanent residential accommodation.   

3. Where short term residential letting is permitted for commercial purposes, conditions 
will be imposed to prevent any later changes to permanent residential use in 
unsuitable accommodation or locations. 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.48. The City of London is primarily a commercial office centre. There is a small 
stock of permanent residential properties, and this stock needs to be maintained 
and increased to ensure that the City can continue to meet its assessed housing 
need. Loss of residential accommodation to short-term letting would reduce the 
overall stock of permanent housing and the City’s ability to meet its housing need. 
At the same time, there is some demand for residential accommodation that can be 
let on a short-term basis to provide for the needs of the City’s business community, 
particularly for visiting workers. Such short-term accommodation has a role to play 
but should not be mixed with permanent residential accommodation as it can 
impact the amenity of neighbours. 

How the policy works 

7.1.49. Under the Deregulation Act 2015, short-term letting for less than 90 days in a 
calendar year of domestic premises liable for council tax does not require planning 
permission. Letting for periods of more than 90 days in a calendar year would 
require permission. 

7.1.50. Short term residential lets of more than 90 days in a calendar year within 
domestic premises will not normally be permitted as they would reduce the stock of 
permanent housing in the City, possibly jeopardise housing delivery targets, and 
adversely impacting on the amenity of existing residents.  

7.1.51. Change of use of short term residential letting accommodation to permanent 
dwellings will normally be permitted where housing and amenity standards are met 
and the location accords with Policy HS1. 

7.1.52. The provision of short term lets for commercial purposes can help to meet the 
accommodation needs of business visitors. Such letting can have significant 

Page 121



 

64 

 

impacts on the amenity of neighbours by reason of noise, disturbance, and 
occasionally anti-social behaviour. Where such accommodation is proposed short 
term lets are proposed, the units should be contained in a separate block that is 
designed and managed for this purpose rather than forming part of a mixed block 
of short term and permanent residential units or short term residential lets and 
commercial activities. 

7.1.53. The requirement for the provision of affordable housing in Policy S3 applies to 
the commercial provision of self-contained short let residential accommodation. 

Policy HS6: Student housing accommodation and hostels  

1. Proposals for new Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) and hostels 
should support the City of London’s primary business function and the vibrancy of the 
Square Mile. They will only be permitted where: 

• they would meet high standards of design and amenity for occupants; 

• there are appropriate amenities for occupants in the local area; 

• they are well connected to relevant further or higher education 
institutions; 

• they would not prejudice the primary business function of the City, or result 
in the loss of suitably located and viable office floorspace, contrary to Policy 
OF2; 

• they would not have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of the 
area; and 

• they would not involve the loss of permanent residential accommodation. 

2. Proposals for Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) should be supported by 
identified further or higher educational institutions operating in the City of London or 
the Central Activities Zone. 

3. 35% of student accommodation on a site should be secured as affordable student 
accommodation as defined through the London Plan and associated guidance. 

4. The loss of existing student housing accommodation and hostels to other suitable 
uses which are in accordance with Local Plan policies will be permitted where there 
is no longer a need to provide accommodation for CAZ based universities or there is 
evidence that student accommodation is impacting on residential or business 
amenity.  

Reason for the policy 

7.1.54. The demand for student accommodation in London continues to grow. Higher 
education provision is a key part of London’s attractiveness as a World City and 
supports the City of London’s commercial role. However, opportunities for 
residential development in the City are limited and student housing 
accommodation may represent an opportunity lost to meet other housing needs in 
residential areas. 

Page 122



 

65 

 

How the policy works 

7.1.55. New Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) should be supported by an 
identified further or higher educational institution for the housing of its own 
students.  To reduce the need to travel between student accommodation and 
educational institutions, PBSA providers should seek support from institutions 
within the City or the Central Activities Zone through nomination agreements in line 
with London Plan requirements. Nomination agreements, secured by s106 
agreements, will be required for all affordable student accommodation.  

7.1.56. The Housing Delivery Test establishes a national ratio that every 2.5 student 
bedrooms in PBSA meet the same housing need as one conventional housing unit 
and contribute to meeting the City’s housing target at this ratio.  

7.1.57. National space and accessibility standards do not apply to Student 
accommodation but other Plan policies require inclusive and high quality 
design which will assist in ensuring the needs of students with disabilities 
are accomodated, like all development in the Square Mile, should meet the 
highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design. To help achieve this, 
the appropriate proportions of accessible rooms should be provided, in line 
with guidance issued by the Greater London Authority, which advises that 
the relevant part of London Plan Policy E10 Part H applies to development 
proposals for new non-self-contained student accommodation. 

7.1.58. Student accommodation should be built to a high standard, including 
appropriate sunlight and daylight levels. 

7.1.59. New student accommodation must not impact adversely on the amenity of 
existing residents or occupiers, either individually or cumulatively with other student 
accommodation developments. Developers will be expected to proactively 
liaise with local residents and businesses to manage the impacts of the 
development and offer mitigation solutions. Applicants will be required to 
submit Management Statements detailing how amenity issues will be 
addressed. The Agent of Change principle will apply to new student 
accommodation. 

7.1.60. Hostels can contribute to providing accommodation for vulnerable homeless 
people. The City Corporation’s Homelessness Strategy outlines how the 
Corporation will seek to reduce the incidence of rough sleeping in the City through 
collaborative working with outreach services, health services, the City of London 
Police, businesses and others. The Strategy seeks to provide appropriate 
accommodation options for homeless people, including through the use of s106 
contributions to deliver new affordable housing or hostels. Hostels may be 
acceptable within or near identified residential areas, where the amenity of existing 
occupiers is protected. 

Policy HS7: The Temples 

Within the Temples adjustments between professional and residential accommodation 
will be permitted where: 

Page 123



 

66 

 

• the overall balance of residential and professional chambers is maintained; 

• it is important to the functioning or character of the Temples, or to the 
continuing use of their buildings. 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.61. The Inner and Middle Temples are two of the Inns of Court which provide 
accommodation for the legal profession in the southwest of the City between Fleet 
Street and the River Thames. Along with other nearby Inns of Court and the Royal 
Courts of Justice in Westminster, the Temples form part of a specialist legal cluster 
recognised in the London Plan. 

7.1.62. The Temples mainly contain barristers’ chambers, together with other 
accommodation for Members of the Bar. The Inner and Middle Temples have a 
strong collegiate atmosphere due to the mix of residential and commercial uses. 
This mix of uses contributes to the historic interest and high environmental quality 
of the area and should be maintained.   

How the policy works 

7.1.63. In determining applications, the City Corporation will have regard to the 
importance of the continued existence of residential, office and support uses in the 
Temples and the contribution that this makes to their special character. However, 
the need to rationalise and refurbish chambers in order to maintain an efficient 
business and professional community is recognised. 

Policy HS7: Older persons housing 

The City Corporation will aim to ensure there is a sufficient supply of appropriate 
housing available for older people by: 

1. Making provision for a minimum of 170 Seeking to provide a minimum of 86 
net additional dwellings for older persons between 2019/20 and 2035/36 2023 and 
2040 supporting development that meets the specific needs of older people; 

2. supporting development that replaces existing provision for older people with better 
provision that addresses care needs or fosters independent living;  

3. ensuring new development is inclusive and accessible to all to allow people to 
continue living in their own homes; and 

4. resisting development that involves the net loss of housing for older people.  

Reason for the policy 

7.1.64. The City of London has an ageing resident population profile, in line with 
national demographic trends. Some people will wish to remain in their own homes, 
with suitable adaptations, or may choose to move into specialist housing which 
caters for the needs of older people, with varying degrees of support. The City of 
London SHMA identifies a need for 67 86 specialist older person units over the life 
of the Plan, however this figure does not take into account older people who 

Page 124



 

67 

 

choose to stay in their own homes and access personalised care. and The 
London Plan has an indicative figure of 10 units per year.  

How the policy works 

7.1.65. The City Corporation will work with developers to encourage the provision of 
sufficient accommodation suitable for older people, including provision of specialist 
older persons accommodation, where feasible, to meet identified needs. Housing 
suitable for older persons, including sheltered housing, is provided by the City 
Corporation on its land and estates, inside and outside of the City. Provision 
outside the City may assist in meeting the need for older persons housing for City 
residents through nomination rights. Specialist older persons housing should 
deliver affordable housing in line with Policy S3. Some older or disabled residents 
may need regular visits from carers and healthcare professionals and the provision 
of visitor parking would support their ability to live in their own homes. This issue is 
addressed in Policy VT3. 

Policy HS8: Self and custom housebuilding 

The City Corporation will encourage the provision of self and custom build units within 
large residential schemes.  

 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.66. The Self Build and Custom Housing Building Act 2015 requires councils to 
create a public register of individuals and groups who are interested in acquiring a 
plot to use for a self-build or custom build home. The City Corporation launched its 
own register for prospective self-builders in 2016. 

How the policy works 

7.1.67. There are no large areas of unused land in the City of London that would 
provide an opportunity to create serviced building plots. Furthermore, self-build and 
custom-build are likely to involve lower density development, which would conflict 
with policies in the Plan which seek to maximise housing supply. Given these 
constraints, the City Corporation considers that the best prospect for bringing 
forward suitable land will be in conjunction with large housing developments where 
units can be built to shell and core and individually fitted out. 

  

Page 125



 

68 

 

 Offices Support a Thriving 
Economy 

8.1. Offices 

Context 

The City is London’s historic business core and today represents the largest 
concentration of office-based employment in the capital.  It forms a world leading 
international financial and professional services centre, renowned for its financial, 
insurance and legal sectors which are the main office occupiers. The City is seeing 
a rapid increase in serviced offices and co-working providers, which offer more 
flexible workspace options and attract a more diverse range of occupiers including 
technology, creative enterprise and media companies.   

The whole of the City forms the business cluster and is suitable for commercial 
development. There are, however, residential areas within the City where a mixture 
of residential and commercial uses will be permitted (see Policy S3).  

There were 23,580 businesses and 522,000 workers in the City in 2018 and 
employment is projected to continue to grow over the long term. Over 98%  of all 
the City businesses are Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) with fewer than 250 
employees; 80% have fewer than 10 employees. 

The intense concentration of business occupiers in a small area is a key part of the 
attraction for companies looking to move into the City. The clustering of businesses 
is a vital part of the City’s operation and contributes to its reputation as a dynamic 
place to do business.  

The City lies wholly within London’s Central Activity Zone (CAZ) where the London 
Plan promotes further economic and employment growth. Prior to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the GLA project that City of London employment will grow by 116,000 
from 2016 to 2036, of which approximately 103,000 employees are estimated to be 
office based. London’s rapidly growing population will also create demand for more 
employment and for the space required to accommodate it. 

The Covid-19 pandemic is having significant health, wellbeing, social and 
economic impacts globally. The City of London has not been immune to these 
impacts and has seen a significant shift in working patterns to flexible and remote 
working, with major reductions in City footfall and use of the City’s retail, leisure 
and cultural assets, flexible working patterns are likely to continue in some form for 
most businesses and employees post Covid, within a blended approach to office 
working. The likely reduction in office occupation densities due to Covid presents 
an opportunity for City offices and businesses to reinvent themselves and the way 
that they work. Economic modelling by the GLA suggests a gradual return of 
economic activity and a return to economic and employment growth. At the same 
time, the fundamentals underpinning the City’s success, it’s locational advantages 

Page 126



 

69 

 

and the benefits of collaboration and cooperation remain. Alongside continued 
investor and developer interest in the City as a place in which to do business, these 
fundamentals suggest that the City will continue to prosper and, over the life of this 
Plan, will see further employment growth and a need for additional office, creative 
and collaboration space.  

The United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union will also have short and long-
term effects on economic and employment growth depending on the detail of future 
trading arrangements. 

The Corporation will continually review employment and office growth trends and 
the economic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and the UK’s departure from the 
European Union and will bring forward a review of this Plan to address changing 
trends, where necessary.  

 
Strategic Policy S4: Offices 

The City Corporation will facilitate significant growth in office development of the highest 
quality to meet projected economic and employment growth by: 

1. Increasing the City’s office floorspace stock by a minimum of 2,000,000m2 1,200,000 
m2 net during the period 2016 to 2036 2021 to 2040, phased as follows: 

• 2016 – 2021 750,000m2 

• 2021 – 2026 750,000m2 500,000m2 

• 2026 – 2031 250,000m2 400,000m2 

• 2031 – 2036 250,000m2 200,000m2 

• 2036 – 2040 100,000m2 

2. Ensuring that new floorspace is designed to be flexible to allow the transformation 
and adaptation of space to support new uses, different layouts and 
configurations, and different types and sizes of occupiers, and to meet the needs of 
SMEs, innovative, start-up companies, creative industries and those requiring 
move-on accommodation. 

3. Promoting the retrofitting of existing office buildings for office use and 
upgrades to their environmental performance and the quality of 
accommodation. 

4. Where appropriate, encouraging the provision of affordable office workspace that 
allows small and growing businesses the opportunity to take up space within the City. 

5. Protecting existing office stock from being lost to other uses where there is an 
identified need or where the loss would cause harm to the primary business function 
of the City. Where necessary, conditions may be attached to permissions for new 
office floorspace to secure its long-term use for such purposes. 

Page 127



 

70 

 

Reason for the policy 

8.1.1. The City of London is a world leading international financial and professional 
services centre and has a nationally important role in the economy. The intense 
concentration of business occupiers in a small area is a key part of the 
attraction for companies looking to move into the City. The clustering of 
businesses is a vital part of the City’s operation and contributes to its 
reputation as a dynamic place to do business as well as providing 
agglomeration benefits. The City lies wholly within London’s Central Activity 
Zone (CAZ) where the London Plan promotes further economic and 
employment growth. 

8.1.2. To maintain this position, it is vital to ensure that sufficient office floorspace is 
available to meet projected employment growth and occupier demand and that 
additional office development is of high quality and suitable for a variety of 
occupiers. The overall office floorspace target of 2,000,000m2 1,200,000m2 is 
derived from the estimated growth in office employment between 2016 2021 and 
2036 2040 and represents a 23% 13% increase in floorspace. Capacity modelling 
demonstrates that there are sufficient sites to meet this demand, provided 
primarily within the City Cluster area, supplemented by additional capacity 
elsewhere in the City. 

6. Notwithstanding the short term impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on occupier 
demand and construction activity, the City has a robust development pipeline. In 
March 2020, approximately two-thirds of the total office floorspace target had either 
been completed since the baseline date of 2016 or was under construction. While the 
long term impacts of the pandemic on the office market are uncertain, flexible 
working has become a key part of the business environment and it seems likely that 
many City workers will choose to spend at least part of the week working remotely 
rather than from the office. However, this trend is expected to be counteracted by a 
shift towards lower occupation densities and the provision of more breakout space 
within offices. The overall impact on floorspace demand may therefore be broadly 
neutral. 

8.1.3. The demand target is the central of three projections, based on different 
scenarios for office attendance, office densities, occupancy rates and 
employment projections. The central target is aligned with GLA 2022-based 
long term employment projections for London and the Square Mile.  

8.1.4. Recent years have also seen strong demand for ‘best in class’ or Grade A+ 
floorspace. Many businesses are placing greater value on high-quality 
sustainable and well-being credentials, quiet spaces for phone calls or 
working, abundance of meeting spaces and places for collaboration, good 
access to public transport and food and beverage amenities as well as 
design that communicates the company’s brand and values. 

8.1.5. Office floorspace need will be met through the delivery of new office space 
and through the refurbishment and retrofit of existing space to comply with 
current office floorspace standards and meet the Government-set 
requirements for minimum energy efficiency standards.  

Page 128



 

71 

 

8.1.6. Traditional office based jobs are the dominant sector in the Square Mile, 
representing 59% (346,000) of all jobs in 2021, but emerging office-based 
firms are faster-growing, consisting of 41,600 new jobs (+62% between 2015 
and 2021). There were 22,300 businesses and 590,000 workers in the City in 
2021 and employment is projected to continue to grow over the long term. 
The City accommodates 440,000 office based jobs in an estimated 5.3 million 
m2 (Net Internal Area) of office space. Over 99% of all the City businesses are 
Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) with fewer than 250 employees; 80% 
have fewer than 10 employees. 

8.1.7. In 2016 2023, 25% 29% of take-up of office floorspace in the City of London was 
from media and tech firms, compared to 28% 19% from financial companies, 
indicating an increasing shift away from the dominance of financial services, and 
an increasing demand from new types of occupiers. In 2018, there were 
approximately 41,000 persons in the City employed in Creative Industries. This 
broader range of occupiers is creating requirements for a broader range of office 
types.  

8.1.8. Demand for Incubator, Accelerator and Co-Working (IAC) floorspace is predicted 
to continue to grow across London and this type of accommodation is seen as 
important to the growth of SMEs. Delivering these types of workspace within the 
City will meet the needs of smaller businesses in particular and help to grow both 
the City and the wider London economy. 

8.1.9. As well as providing flexible space, it is important to ensure that there is 
floorspace that is affordable to start-up and growing businesses. Accommodation 
costs are a major overhead for new businesses and rents in the City can be 
prohibitive to new occupiers. The City has seen substantial growth in the serviced 
and co-working office market in recent years and flexibility of lease arrangements 
provides a range of opportunities to accommodate both new and growing 
businesses. At present there is no evidence that a specific policy requirement for 
subsudised workspace is needed in the City but Developers and building owners 
are also encouraged to consider a range of leasing structures, including below 
market rents where appropriate. The City Corporation is working closely with 
neighbouring boroughs to ensure that a range of affordable workspaces and 
move on accommodation needs can be accomodated are available to meet 
demand, in particular providing signposting and assistance to businesses in 
finding suitable office accomodation from new and emerging sectors of the 
economy and creative industries. How the policy works 

8.1.10. Strategic Policy S4 indicates the amount of floorspace required to meet the 
forecast employment growth and will encourage the flexible floorspace needed to 
attract and retain a range of occupiers.  

8.1.11. The delivery of floorspace in the City will be phased across the plan period, with 
indicative phasing targets identified in the policy. Phasing allows for short term 
monitoring of progress in meeting floorspace targets and effective planning for 
supporting services and infrastructure. A significant amount of office floorspace is 
under construction in the City, much of which will be completed in the first 2 

Page 129



 

72 

 

phasing periods. It is expected that 25% of the floorspace target will be achieved 
by 2026, with the remaining 75% in the latter phases. 

8.1.12. The City Corporation has made an Article 4 Direction removing permitted 
development rights for the change of use of offices (B1a) (E(g)(i)) to dwelling 
houses (C3) across the whole of the City. The Direction is consistent with the 
approach to office development and protection of offices set out in this Plan. 

8.1.13. Changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020 mean that 
offices could can be converted to a range of other Class E commercial, business 
and service uses without planning permission. Given that the largest past losses of 
office accommodation in the City have been to residential or visitor accommodation 
uses, this change is not expected to pose a significant risk to the City’s strategic 
role as a centre for financial and professional services. However,  Where 
permission is granted for office schemes that meet a specific identified need, 
conditions may be attached to ensure the impacts of any proposed later conversion 
of such space can be considered through the planning application process. 

Policy OF1: Office Development 

1. Office development should: 

• Prioritise the retrofitting of existing buildings; 

• be of an outstanding design and an exemplar of sustainability; and 

• be designed for future flexibility to future proof the City’s office stock and 
realise the principles of circular economy design approaches; 

• provide office floorspace suitable for a range of occupiers;  

• provide healthy and inclusive working environments that promote 
wellbeing; and  

• where appropriate, provide a proportion of flexible and affordable workspace 
suitable for micro, small and medium sized enterprises. 

2. Other commercial uses will be encouraged as part of office-led development, 
particularly at ground and basement levels, where such uses would not compromise 
the operation of office premises, would activate streets and provide supporting 
services for businesses, workers and residents.  

Reason for the policy 

8.1.14. A range of office floorspace is required to accommodate the future needs of the 
City’s office occupiers and this should include provision for incubator, co-working 
and accelerator space, as well as provision for larger firms where required. Flexible 
and affordable office floorspace is required that can be easily adapted to meet 
changing workplace and technology requirements and the needs of a variety of 
office occupiers.  

8.1.15. Offices are the predominant land use in the City, but complementary uses are 
required to provide supporting activities and services for businesses, workers and 

Page 130



 

73 

 

residents in appropriate locations within the City. Complementary uses which 
contribute to the City’s economy include retail, leisure, education, health facilities 
and cultural uses. A mix of commercial land uses, in particular at ground floor and 
basement levels, may will be required to create active frontages enhancing an 
area’s vitality and provide important complementary services. They also provide 
opportunities for creativity, collaboration and social interaction, which are key to the 
success of the City’s business clusters. Some uses have the potential to 
undermine the functioning, servicing and use of offices, particularly in areas 
of high density employment and where offices are required to be serviced 
overnight. 

How the policy works 

8.1.16. Proposals for new office development should demonstrate design quality and 
flexibility to accommodate a range of businesses. Particular encouragement will be 
given to floorspace which meets the needs of small businesses, start-ups and 
incubator space. Office development should include a suitable mix of 
complementary commercial or other uses appropriate to the site and location and 
contribute to the creation of active frontages at street level. Where appropriate, 
conditions or legal obligations may be used to ensure the delivery of a range 
of affordable workspaces. 

8.1.17. Many office lobbies have been designed to project a corporate image, and 
function as through space to access lifts. This can lead to a blank frontage 
on the street, especially with large windows on the façade with minimal 
internal activity and no public access. A lobby has the potential to be a more 
interesting and engaging space. Lobbies can be multifunctional spaces for 
interaction and provide spaces that contribute positively to the life of the 
City. The addition of publicly accessible facilities (including public toilets), co 
working spaces, breakout spaces, art gallery or cafes can create a more 
active lobby. Office buildings should include dynamic ground level uses to 
enhance their lobbies. Entrances should be easy to identify and should allow 
everyone to use them independently without additional effort, separation or 
special treatment. Revolving entrance doors are not accessible to a range of 
people. 

Policy OF2: Protection of Existing Office Floorspace  

1. The loss of existing office floorspace will be resisted unless it can be 
demonstrated that: 

• the proposed development would not lead to the loss of office 
floorspace that is, or sites that are, of a strategically important scale, 
type and/or location for the City; and 

• the proposed development would not compromise the potential for 
office development on sites within the vicinity; and 

• there is no demand in the office market, supported by marketing evidence 
covering a period of no less than 12 months. 

Page 131



 

74 

 

2. Where the criteria in part 1 of this policy have been met, proposals that 
would lead to the loss of existing office floorspace may follow one of the 
following routes: 

a. Viability tested route: Proposed development will be required to 
demonstrate that the retention, refurbishment or reprovision of some or 
all of the office floorspace on the site would not be unviable in the longer 
term, demonstrated by a viability assessment; or 

b. Retrofit fast track: Proposed development will be required to retain 
the substantial majority of the superstructure of the existing 
building, lead to an improvement in the environmental performance 
of the building, and result in change of use to (one or a mix of) hotel 
use, cultural uses, and/or educational use. Partial retention of office 
floorspace will be encouraged; 

c. Residential areas route: the loss of office floorspace is proposed on 
a site within or immediately adjacent to identified residential areas 
and would result in the provision of additional housing; 

d. Ground floor uses: the loss of office floorspace would be limited to 
ground or below ground levels, and proposed new uses would be 
complementary to continued office use on upper floors. Active 
frontage uses will be required at ground floor levels in most 
instances. 

• refurbishment or re-provision of some or all of the office floorspace on the site 
would be unviable in the longer term, demonstrated by a viability assessment; 
or 

• the loss of office floorspace the loss of office floorspace is within or near 
identified residential areas and would result in the provision of additional 
housing, particularly Build to Rent or Co-living accomodation. 

Where the above criteria have been met, the loss of office floorspace may be 
permitted provided that: 

• the proposed development would not compromise the potential for office 
development on sites within the vicinity and would have demonstrable wider 
benefits for other objectives of this Plan; and 

• the potential for re-providing a reduced amount of office floorspace within the 
development has been considered. 

  

Page 132



 

75 

 

Reason for the policy 

8.1.18. The City is the world’s leading international financial and professional 
services centre and is recognised as having a key role in the UK economy. To 
maintain this position and accommodate the projected increase in employment 
and office floorspace, it is important to maintain the substantial majority of 
existing office stock whilst accommodating future demand through the 
provision of flexible floorspace which that is suitable for a range of occupiers 
and refurbished office space.  

8.1.19. The protection and refurbishment of existing offices space is important to 
ensure that there is sufficient floorspace to meet future demand, and to 
offer a range of office stock to provide choice in terms of location and cost to 
potential occupiers. Proposals involving the loss of office accommodation that 
require planning permission will need to be supported by robust evidence of 
marketing and viability to ensure that viable offices can be retained to meet 
future office need.This includes ‘best in class’, grade A and grade B 
floorspace. While the current market for grade B space in the City is 
facing headwinds, with some traditional grade B occupiers shifting to 
more flexible working patterns or seeking other forms of flexible 
workspace, it remains uncertain whether this will persist over the longer 
term. This will be monitored and guidance will be issued if required to 
provide additional advice on appropriate responses to this potential 
challenge.  

8.1.20. Following changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 
2020, existing offices could can be converted to a range of other Class E 
commercial, business and service uses without planning permission, unless 
there are specific planning conditions attached to a site which prevent this.  

8.1.21. Refurbishment of office floorspace will be encouraged to accommodate 
future needs, whilst aligning with the sustainability principles set out in Policy 
DE1 and the need to find suitable and sustainable uses for historic buildings. 
Historic buildings can provide affordable office stock though they have specific 
constraints and opportunities which may affect the viability of refurbishment.   

8.1.22. The City of London Local Plan has for many years sought to protect 
suitably located and viable office floorspace, with marketing and viability 
evidence required to support proposals that result in a loss of office 
floorspace. This approach, supported by policy in the London Plan, has 
successfully protected the critical mass of office floorspace in the City, 
helping to maintain its primary office function. This broad approach will 
be maintained. However, there are instances where conversion of office 
buildings to other uses may assist in making the retention of existing 
buildings a more attractive investment opportunity, contributing to the 
‘retrofit first’ approach promoted in this Plan. This approach could also 
assist in delivering a greater range of facilities and uses in the City, 
complementing the primary function of the Square Mile while helping to 
deliver more vibrancy and a focus on increasing visitors. To achieve 
this, the ‘retrofit fast track’ approach has been introduced, removing the 

Page 133



 

76 

 

requirement for viability justification for a change of use in the 
circumstances set out in policy. The alternative uses set out – education, 
culture and hotels – would all help to create a more vibrant Square Mile.  

8.1.23. Within and immediately adjacent to identified residential areas, the loss of 
office floorspace for which there is no ongoing demand may assist in 
providing housing, to help meet the housing requirement set out in this Plan. 

How the policy works 

8.1.24. Where loss of office is proposed, development will need to meet all the 
criteria set out in part 1 of the policy, and will need to pursue one of the four 
routes set out in part 2. This policy will be applied on a sequential basis. 
Firstly, proposals need to demonstrate that there is no realistic demand for 
the existing office accommodation, or for refurbished or new office 
accommodation on the site, by complying with the criteria set out in Part 1 of 
the policy.  

8.1.25. The loss of office floorspace on the upper levels of buildings will require 
robust evidence to demonstrate why continued office use is not possible. 
This includes robust evidence of marketing of the building or site for 
continued office use. Robust evidence of the marketing of the building or site 
for continued office use over a period of at least 12 months will need to be 
demonstrated to comply with part 1 of the policy. The City Corporation will 
need to be satisfied that the site/building has been offered at a realistic price 
commensurate with the value of the site/building for office use and that active 
promotion has been undertaken by the agents marketing the site over the period. 
Proposals must provide evidence that the continued office use of the site 
would be unviable in the longer term.  

8.1.26. Viability assessments submitted in accordance with this policy will be made 
public, other than in exceptional circumstances, as set out in Policy PC1. Viability 
assessments should include the following:  

• Site description; 

• A valuation of the building in its existing use unfettered by any hope value; 

• Total costs of maintaining the building as existing and in the future; 

• Costs of refurbishing or redeveloping the building for office use; 

• Information on rents and capital values;  

• Information on current and recent occupation;  

• Target rates of return (internal rate of return or other appropriate measure); 
and 

• Sensitivity testing to support the robustness of the report conclusions. 

8.1.27. Where a change in use is proposed from office floorspace to another use, 
including complementary uses which enhance the attractiveness of the City, 
or meet other policy priorities set out in this Plan, then the provision of a full 

Page 134



 

77 

 

viability assessment may not be required. This would include where 
complementary uses meet the needs of City workers, residents and visitors 
and help make City buildings much more open and welcoming to all, or 
where educational facilities which help attract talented individuals or 
innovative business to the City are proposed. It would also include where the 
change of use of office floorspace at ground and lower ground levels improves the 
vibrancy of an area by introducing more active frontages and delivering more 
permeable buildings and spaces. and will be exempted from the requirement to 
provide viability and marking evidence where it does not prejudice the use of 
the building or site for office purposes. The priority to reduce carbon 
emissions and retain embodied carbon set out in Plan also means that 
changes of use from office to alternative uses which retain embodied carbon 
may also not require full viability information to justify the loss of office.  

8.1.28. Within or near identified residential areas, the City Corporation may, in 
appropriate circumstances, take a more flexible approach to the conversion 
of office floorspace to residential use, particularly where the residential 
accommodation is of a type such as Build to Rent or Co-Living which may be 
more complementary to the business City. In such cases, there would be no 
requirement to provide marketing and viability evidence under Part 1 of the 
policy. 

8.1.29. Further guidance on the evidence required to support the loss of office 
floorspace is set out in the Office Use SPD. Proposals which satisfy Part 1 of 
the policy will then need to comply with Part 2 of the policy by demonstrating 
that they are compatible with the wider objectives of the Plan and would not 
compromise office development on other sites in the vicinity.  

8.1.30. Where a proposal results in a reduced amount of office floorspace, 
account will be taken of the type and size of office floorspace provided and 
whether there is a specific need for office floorspace of that size and type in 
the City. 

 

Policy OF3: Temporary ‘Meanwhile’ Uses 

1. Temporary use of vacant commercial, business and service buildings or sites 
(‘meanwhile’ uses) will be permitted encouraged where the proposed use would not 
result in adverse impacts on the amenity of the surrounding area or the primary 
business role of the City. Where temporary permission is granted, it will be for a 
period not exceeding 36 months and the site will revert to its prior lawful use 
thereafter. Culture and Vibrancy Plans that accompany major developments 
should explore the potential for meanwhile use. 

2. Residential development is not considered an appropriate meanwhile use and will not 
be permitted.  

3. Where a major development would affect existing ground floor or podium level 
active uses (Class E (a)-(f)), these units should be kept in active use for as long 

Page 135



 

78 

 

as possible prior to development taking place. Culture and Vibrancy Plans 
should set out how this will be achieved. 

 

Reason for the policy 

8.1.31. Where buildings or sites in Class E commercial, business or service uses are 
vacant, and development is not expected in the short term, ‘meanwhile’ or 
temporary uses will be supported to ensure the vitality and vibrancy of the City is 
maintained, subject to the impact on surrounding uses.  

8.1.32. Many development sites in the City include shops, restaurants and other 
active uses within the curtilage. Where leases end prior to redevelopment, 
these units can remain vacant for long periods, undermining the vibrancy of 
the area. Meanwhile uses of these spaces prior to redevelopment would help 
to address this.  

How the policy works  

8.1.33.  ‘Meanwhile’ uses will be granted subject to conditions for a maximum of 36 
months, after which the use will revert to its prior lawful use. Applications to extend 
the period of the ‘meanwhile’ use or make it permanent will be considered against 
the relevant policies in the Development Plan and will not be permitted unless it is 
demonstrated that the permanent loss of the prior lawful use is acceptable.   

Page 136



 

79 

 

 Retailing 
Context 

Retailing is important for all the City’s communities – but retail demand is largely 
driven by City workers. This has resulted in a predominantly five-day (Monday-
Friday) trading week with footfall concentrated over weekday rush hours and lunch 
times. The City is, however, becoming a 7 day a week destination, with more retail 
units catering for a growing weekend and evening trade.    

There is demand for a better range and quality of retail and leisure facilities. The 
above average spending power of the City’s growing working and residential 
populations, longer and extended working and trading hours, the increasing number 
of visitors and the Square Mile’s high accessibility by public transport create 
significant opportunities for improvement to the retail offer. 

The ways in which people shop and use retail facilities are changing and the City’s 
retail offer needs to adapt to address changing consumer and leisure habits, whilst 
also retaining a focus on centres as places to shop. The Covid-19 pandemic has 
significantly reduced footfall in town centres and retail centres nationally and 
hastened the growth of online retailing, having short-term impacts on the vitality and 
viability of many retail and leisure facilities.  Retail centres that provide a diverse 
range of town centre uses, including shops, services, creative and leisure activities 
are likely to be in a better position to respond to changing retail demand and 
recover from the impacts of Covid-19. In the City, as elsewhere, there has been an 
expansion of experiential retail, leisure, entertainment and mixed uses, which can 
increase footfall at different times of the day and add to the visitor experience. Such 
uses are an important component of the City’s overall retail mix.   

9.1. Retail and active frontages 

 

Strategic Policy S5: Retailing and active frontages 

The City Corporation will seek to make the City’s retail areas more vibrant, with a 
greater mix of retail, leisure, entertainment, experience, culture, and other 
appropriate uses across the City. The City will work with the BIDs, landowners, 
operators, and other partners to enrich the ‘ground floor economy’, encourage 
active frontages and to provide different offers across different parts of the 
Square Mile, informed by their character, function and potential. 

The City will seek to improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment in the City of London, promoting the development of the City’s four 
Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) and the linkages between them wider distribution 
of retail by:  

Page 137



 

80 

 

1. Focusing new large-scale retail development in the PSCs and encouraging a 
vibrant retail offer across the Square Mile movement between them by 
enhancing the retail environment along Retail Links. 

2. Supporting proposals that contribute towards the delivery of additional retail 
floorspace across the City to meet future demand up to 20402036. 

3. Requiring major retail developments over 2,500m2 gross floorspace to be located 
within or near PSCs. Where suitable sites cannot be identified within PSCs, sites 
immediately adjoining the PSCs and in Retail Links should be considered. Other 
areas of the City will only be considered where no suitable sites are identified within 
or adjoining the PSCs and in Retail Links.  

4. Requiring a Retail Impact Assessment for schemes outside PSCs of 2,500m2 gross 
floorspace and above. The cumulative impact of retail floorspace will be taken into 
account in the assessment of planning applications. 

5. Focusing comparison and convenience shops within the PSCs, with a broader mix of 
retail and appropriate town centre uses and other active, publicly accessible 
frontage uses on the peripheries of the centres and the Retail Links.  

6. Supporting the provision of retail and other town centre uses that provide active 
and publicly accessible frontages at street level across the City where they would 
not detract from the viability and vitality of the PSCs and the Retail Links. 

7. Supporting a greater diversity of retail uses in all areas, and encourage 
contextual approaches for the provision of different types of retail use. 

8. Retail and other relevant uses will be encouraged to open at evenings and 
weekends, particularly in and around areas where there are key attractions. 

 
Reason for the policy 

9.1.1. The City’s retail offer has seen significant challenges in recent years as a 
result of the covid pandemic and changing working patterns, as well as 
notable retail growth in the Liverpool Street area, bolstered by the opening of 
the Elizabeth line. Over the longer term, evidence shows significant demand 
for growth in retail uses in the City. The City’s growing working population 
and the increasing number of visitors, as well as the Square Mile’s high 
accessibility by public transport, create significant opportunities for 
improvement to the retail offer, complementing the wider vision for the City 
to become a destination of choice for visitors.  

9.1.2. Four Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) have been are identified which in the 
City Plan. They provide a variety of comparison and convenience shopping in the 
City of London: Cheapside, Moorgate/Liverpool Street, Fleet Street and Leadenhall 
Market. Cheapside is considered to be the City’s ‘high street’ and has seen 
significant retail development in recent years. Moorgate/Liverpool Street PSC has 

Page 138



 

81 

 

potential to accommodate further retail floorspace, capitalising on the opening of 
the Elizabeth Line and becoming a key retail destination.  

9.1.3. A Retail Needs Assessment undertaken in 2017 2023 identified a need for 
approximately 200,000 m2 192,200m2 of additional retail floorspace up to 2036 
2040. This is an aspirational target based principally on projected employment and 
visitor number growth in the City. The reduction in footfall and the increase in 
online retailing as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic has reduced retail 
activity in the City, at least in the short term. Although the City experienced a 
reduction in footfall and reduced retail activity as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic, significant growth is forecast over the life of this Plan.  

9.1.4. The distribution of retail activity throughout the week has also changed, 
with a shift from a 5 day a week focus around meeting the needs of workers, 
to more hybrid working and a concentration of worker-based activity in the 
middle of the week, although this pattern may shift again depending on 
workplace attendance. Both domestic and international visitor numbers are 
expected to grow, in part building on the City Corporation’s actions to 
enhance the City as a leisure and cultural destination, and this trend will 
support further retail demand and growth.  

9.1.5. Alongside changes in patterns of demand, the rise of multi-channel retailing 
and experiential consumption are changing how stores operate and the 
nature of the consumer experience, which will impact the type, scale and use 
of stores. The introduction of a Commercial, Business and Service use class, 
Class E, which replaces previous A1, A2 and A3 uses, reduces the City 
Corporation’s ability to manage the mix of retail uses. These changes are 
likely to impact on the projected level of retail growth. Nevertheless, the 
fundamental economic indicators underpinning the Plan remain. The 
Assessment identifies the potential for significant retail growth in and around 
the PSCs, with a focus on potential growth around Moorgate/Liverpool 
Street. Some growth is antiticpated to come forward outside of the PSCs, 
near them or along Retail Links. 

9.1.6. The PSCs are recognised in the London Plan as ‘CAZ Retail Clusters’ that 
accommodate a range of other commercial uses alongside the retail function (see 
Figure 9). Outside the PSCs, retail units are dispersed across the City though 
many are on streets identified as Retail Links (see Figure 9), while others 
form convenient local centres or are isolated units. 

How the policy works 

9.1.7. In applying this policy and others in this chapter, retail includes shops, 
cafes and restaurants, and services for use by the general public such as 
hairdressers, banks and building societies, shoe repair and dry cleaning (ie 
those uses covered by use class E(a)-(c)). Other uses within Class E, such as 
gyms and health centres and nurseries (use classes E(d)-(e)) can also be 
suitable in retail areas, as can a range of other community and cultural uses 
and those frequented by members of the public, such as pubs and bars. 
Together this plan refers to all of these uses as active frontages or active 

Page 139



 

82 

 

frontage uses, provided the design of the premises creates a frontage that 
facilitates the visual and physical permeability of the building. For 
safeguarding, nurseries (use class E(f)) do not usually provide an active 
frontage but they can be suitable in retail areas as they provide a valuable 
service and bring vibrancy to an area. 

9.1.8. There are further opportunities to develop the City’s retail offer, allowing for a 
broad mix of retail and other suitable facilities while maintaining a predominance 
of comparison and convenience retail uses. The role and status of the four PSCs 
will be strengthened, encouraging further retail development, enhancing the retail 
offer in the City, supporting its primary business function and the growing cultural 
activity within the City. Improvements to pedestrian links and the retail offer within 
the Retail Links outside of the PSCs, including pedestrian links will encourage 
visitors and shoppers by to move between the PSCs by enabling increased 
activity along these connecting routes, and creating a welcoming and vibrant 
environment. 

9.1.9. Major retail development, defined as development over 2,500m2 gross 
floorspace, should locate within PSCs, but where suitable sites are not available 
sites on the edge of the PSCs or identified Retail Links should be considered 
before other areas of the City. Smaller scale retail development will be encouraged 
throughout the City, where it provides an active frontage and facilities which meet 
the needs of the City’s working population, visitors or local residents. Particular 
encouragement will be given to convenience retail uses near to residential areas 
that serve the needs of residents.  

9.1.10. Active retail frontages should be provided at street level across the City. Other 
appropriate town centre uses, including leisure uses, will be acceptable where they 
provide an active frontage. Retail uses may be permitted on upper floors of major 
commercial developments, including in tall buildings, where they provide additional 
facilities which are accessible to the public and office occupiers.  

Policy RE1: Principal Shopping Centres 

1. Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) are designated frontages on the Policies Map. 
Sites or buildings that form part of a designated frontage are considered to be part of 
the PSC in their entirety.  

2. The role of the PSCs as concentrations of comparison and convenience shopping 
will be retained. The loss of existing ground floor retail frontages and/or floorspace 
will be resisted and additional retail provision of varied unit sizes and frontage lengths 
will be encouraged, supported by complementary uses that increase footfall and 
provide active frontages. Where planning permission is required, proposals for 
changes between retail uses within the PSCs will be assessed against: 

• the contribution the unit makes to the function and character of the PSC;  

• maintain an active frontage; and 

Page 140



 

83 

 

• the effect of the proposal on the area in terms of the size of the unit, the length of 
its frontage, the composition and distribution of retail uses within the frontage and 
the location of the unit within the frontage. 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.1.11. The frontages of the four PSCs are defined on the Policies Map. Concentrating 
major new retail development in or near PSCs will ensure that their vitality and 
viability is maintained and will provide an opportunity to focus retail facilities in the 
most appropriate areas of the City, enhancing these as shopping destinations for 
City residents, workers and visitors. In accordance with the definition of PSCs set 
out in this policy, a sequential or retail impact assessment will not be required for 
retail development on any site or building that contains a designated frontage in a 
PSC.  

9.1.12. Retail uses within the PSCs are predominantly comparison and convenience 
uses and the City Corporation considers that this predominance should continue, 
supported by other town centre uses that provide activity at street level and create 
a welcoming and attractive environment for people to shop, access services and 
spend leisure time.  

9.1.13. Following changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020, 
existing shops, premises providing financial and professional services to the public, 
and restaurants and cafes can could be converted to a range of other Class E 
commercial, business and service uses without planning permission, unless there 
are specific planning conditions attached to a site which prevent this. Where 
planning permission is required for changes between retail uses, the City 
Corporation will require the provision of active retail frontages onto the street and 
will also assess the contribution the unit makes to the character of the PSC as a 
whole and its frontage; for example, retail units that are large or in prominent 
locations should be retained in retail use. The net loss of ground floor retail uses to 
non-retail uses within the identified PSC frontages could compromise the vitality of 
the PSCs and will be resisted. 

How the policy works 

9.1.14. Proposals for additional retail development in the PSCs should incorporate a 
range of unit sizes and frontage lengths to help provide a more diverse retail offer, 
whilst retaining a predominance of comparison and convenience shopping uses. 
Retail uses can generate significant numbers of delivery trips and retail 
development proposals will be required to demonstrate how delivery and servicing 
requirements have been addressed in the design process.  

9.1.15. Each PSC in the City has an individual character, which is described below, and 
will be considered in the implementation of policy: 

Page 141



 

84 

 

Cheapside 

9.1.16. Cheapside has been the City of London’s principal marketplace and high 
street since early medieval times, and the City Corporation will work with 
partners including the Cheapside BID to reinforce its role and character as 
the City’s high street, maintaining a predominance of comparison goods 
retail including fashion and clothing outlets.  

9.1.17. Cheapside PSC is currently the largest PSC in the City and serves a wider 
catchment area than the other. The PSC includes Bow Lane, the ground floor of 
One New Change, Cheapside and Poultry. The PSC has undergone significant 
redevelopment since 2011 and the strategy is to reinforce its role and character as 
the City’s ‘High Street’, maintaining a clear predominance of retail units with a 
focus on comparison goods and food and drinks provision. There is scope for 
greater weekend and evening trading and the retail needs assessment shows 
demand for increased for some additional retail floorspace, particularly to link the 
western part of Cheapside with Culture Mile. The City Corporation will work with 
the Cheapside Business Alliance BID to promote the Cheapside area as a 
shopping, business and visitor destination and to support its evolution into a seven 
day a week destination.  

9.1.18. Timed restrictions on vehicular access to Bank Junction and the potential for 
future public realm improvements provide an opportunity to achieve greater 
pedestrian movement and retail enhance links between Cheapside and retail 
activity within the Royal Exchange and further east. Public realm improvements 
at King Edward Street will help to improve links between Cheapside and the 
Smithfield and Barbican area. 

9.1.19. The PSC includes Bow Lane, the ground floor of One New Change, 
Cheapside and Poultry. 

Fleet Street 

9.1.20. Fleet Street is an important historic thoroughfare, with a rich variety of 
heritage assets, that acts as the processional route to St Paul’s Cathedral. 
The City Corporation will work with partners including the Fleet Street 
Quarter BID to revitalise the area, seeking improvements to the public realm 
and the creation of a more distinctive retail and leisure mix, using heritage 
assets, meanwhile uses and development opportunities to enliven the area 
and create more continuous active frontages. 

9.1.21. Ludgate Hill continues the processional route to the west entrance of the 
Cathedral, and contains retail that serves visitors and tourists. This City Plan 
therefore extends the PSC across Ludgate Circus up to St Paul’s 
Churchyard, recognising the important role the area plays in supporting the 
City’s visitor economy.  

9.1.22. Fleet Street is the smallest PSC and predominantly serves the needs of nearby 
workers, residents with a limited number of premises open in the evenings or at 
weekends. The PSC has a linear form and the busy road creates a poor 
environment and acts as a barrier to pedestrian permeability. Improvements to the 

Page 142



 

85 

 

public realm would help to improve the environment and the visitor and shopper 
experience. The current retail stock is largely food retail, and there is an 
opportunity to capitalise on the comparatively lower rents. Fleet Street’s 
outstanding heritage offers opportunities to develop a more distinctive retail mix in 
this PSC. There is some capacity for additional retail provision between Fleet 
Street and Holborn and there is scope to strengthen retail links with Cheapside.  

Leadenhall Market 

9.1.23. Leadenhall Market PSC is centred on the iconic Grade II* listed Victorian 
market building but and includes several surrounding streets. The PSC is located 
within the southern part of the City Cluster which accommodates a significant and 
growing proportion of the City’s workforce. The City Corporation will work with 
the EC BID and other partners to help enliven the area including at weekends 
and evenings, and seek to transform Leadenhall Market to become a primary 
destination for visitors, capitalising on its unique heritage and nearby 
emerging attractions such as public elevated spaces.  

9.1.24. Increased demand arising from the expanding City Cluster workforce will 
be met through the provision of retail units in the surrounding streets. 
Opportunities will be taken to improve wayfinding in the area and better 
revealing the presence of Leadenhall Market itself, and the accessibility of 
the area will be improved.  Additional retail will be provided by active retail 
frontages to new office development in the area. 

The market building is a tourist destination and so evening and week-end trading is 
encouraged. The character and significance of the historic market will be maintained 
and enhanced as a visitor and retail destination, supporting a flexible range of retail 
uses with an emphasis on food and beverage. Increased demand arising from the 
expanding City Cluster workforce will be met through larger, modern units in the 
surrounding streets which act as gateways to the market 

Moorgate/Liverpool Street 

9.1.25. Moorgate/Liverpool Street PSC covers a substantial area between and 
around two major stations. is the second largest in the City but has a relative 
under-provision of comparison goods space compared to the City average Retail 
demand in this PSC will continue to increase due to the improved connectivity 
arising from the Elizabeth line and development in and around Broadgate, 
supported by further retail provision along routes between Liverpool Street and 
Moorgate stations. There is potential for the PSC to expand its 7-day a week role, 
capitalising on its strong transport accessibility, its proximity for inner London 
residents and to nearby visitor and cultural attractions such as the Culture Mile 
Barbican, Old Spitalfields Market, Petticoat Lane, and Shoreditch.  

Policy RE2: Retail Links 

Within the Retail Links, the net loss of active frontages and floorspace will be 
resisted, including the loss of retail facilities, and additional retail development 
will be supported.  A mix of retail and town centre uses will be encouraged in the 

Page 143



 

86 

 

Retail Links, ensuring that the location and balance of uses does not adversely 
affect the function of the Link, any nearby PSC or their surrounding areas. 

Reason for the policy 

Retail Links provide City workers and residents with important services and 
leisure facilities and are typically along some of the busiest pedestrian routes. 
Their purpose is to connect the City’s PSCs and to provide connections to 
neighbouring boroughs’ retail frontages, transport hubs, areas with high footfall 
and residential areas.  Retail Links are a key part of the 40% of the City’s existing 
retail stock found outside of the PSCs and they play a significant role in meeting 
demand particularly for day-to-day retail goods and services. 

How the policy works 

The Retail Needs Assessment identified the need for approximately 85,000m2 of 
additional retail floorspace in the ‘rest of the City’ outside the PSCs. The 
Assessment highlighted two areas that should be a priority for new floorspace 
outside the PSCs: Farringdon/Culture Mile and Eastcheap/Monument. Delivery of 
new retail floorspace at Eastcheap/Monument could help to meet some of the 
demand arising from office development in the City Cluster which cannot be 
accommodated within the Leadenhall Market PSC and would provide more 
vibrant links towards the Pool of London. 

While the Retail Needs Assessment concluded that the Retail Links continue to 
play an important role in meeting demand, it advocated a different occupier mix in 
these areas compared to the PSCs in order to avoid drawing visitors away from 
the prime PSC streets. Comparison goods shopping should continue to be 
focused in the PSCs to maintain the health of the City’s core retail offer.  

While the mix of uses in the Links should include comparison and convenience 
shops, a variety of other retail and town centre uses will be permitted, where 
there is no detrimental or cumulative effect on the amenity of neighbouring 
residential or business premises, such as through litter, noise, disturbance and 
odours. All development in the Retail Links should incorporate active frontages at 
street level.  

Policy RE3 RE2: Ground floor retail provision Active frontages elsewhere in the 
City 

 Retail Active frontage uses will be encouraged at ground floor level across the City 
provided they: 

• include active frontages onto the street; 

• do not impact adversely on the amenity of residents, workers and visitors;  

• do not impact adversely on the operation of office premises; and  

• would not adversely affect the vitality and viability of the PSCs or Retail Links. 

Page 144



 

87 

 

2. The loss of existing active frontage uses will be resisted. Development that 
proposes their loss should be supported by evidence demonstrating that there 
is no demand for active frontage uses and that premises have been actively 
marketed for a period of no less than 12 months. Alternative uses that would 
support the retail environment should be provided. 

3. The loss of convenience retail units located close to, or that meet, a local residential 
need will be resisted, unless it is demonstrated that they are no longer required. 

Reason for the policy 

9.1.26. Many areas of the City contain retail and other active frontage uses that 
add vibrancy to the area and provide valuable services and leisure 
opportunities for workers, residents and visitors. Evidence demonstrates 
that there is substantial future demand for retail floorspace in the City, driven 
by increased numbers of workers and visitors to the Square Mile. The loss of 
retail and other active frontage uses across the City would undermine the 
ability to meet this demand and create a more vibrant City for everyone. 

9.1.27. Retail units outside of PSCs and Retail Links provide local facilities for the City’s 
workforce, enhance the City’s vibrancy, and may serve the City’s residential 
communities. Given that most of the City’s retail provision is tailored towards City 
workers, it is important to retain units such as convenience stores that are within 
easy walking distance of the residential areas and meet the day to day needs of 
surrounding communities. Unless they are subject to specific planning conditions, 
such units could be converted to any Class E commercial, business and service 
use without planning permission. 

How the policy works 

9.1.28. The provision of new retail units, particularly comparison and convenience 
units, at ground floor level in existing and new development will be 
encouraged where these units do not have an adverse impact on the 
operation of office premises, provide an active frontage onto the street and 
do not have an adverse impact on the amenity of residents, workers or 
visitors by reason of noise, smells or fumes from the operation of the unit or 
servicing and deliveries. Use of ground floors for retail provides the 
opportunity to create more permeable buildings which can assist in reducing 
pressure for space on City streets. 

Policy RE4 RE3: Specialist Retail Uses and clusters 

The City Corporation will seek to retain specialist retail uses and premises that are 
historically and culturally significant to the City of London. 

Existing and potential clusters of retail uses that contribute to the character and 
vibrancy of particular areas will be supported. Development in these areas should 
enhance and support retail uses in the area and deliver active frontages.  

 

Page 145



 

88 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.1.29. Within the City, there are some specialist retail uses and premises that cannot 
be found elsewhere, such as the historic Royal Exchange and the London Silver 
Vaults on Chancery Lane. These uses contribute to the City’s visitor economy and 
to its cultural distinctiveness and should be retained and promoted.   

9.1.30. The City also has number of retail clusters outside the PSCs that play an 
important role in bringing vibrancy to an area or that are an inherent part of 
the area’s character. This includes: 

• Premises around Smithfield market, which is going to see 
substantial change as the new Museum of London relocates to this 
area. 

• The courts and alleys around Cornhill, which require careful steps to 
ensure they remain (and in some cases become more) vibrant as well 
as improvements to wayfinding.  

• Areas around Middlesex Street and Aldgate High Street, which serve 
residential communities as well as visitors and local workers. 
Partnership working with the Aldgate Connect BID and London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets will be important across the wider area. 
Additional convenience retail in this area will be supported. 

• Areas around Minories, where there is a number of hotels alongside 
residential communities and emerging student housing. Additional 
convenience retail in this area will be supported. 

• Retail around the Golden Lane and Barbican estates, which play a 
role in serving the residential communities. 

• The south side of Holborn around Chancery Lane tube, which 
contributes to the wider ‘central London frontage’ that Camden 
identify in their Local Plan. 

• Many of the the City’s main thoroughfares and areas around 
transport hubs include retail uses. 

9.1.31. There is potential for areas along the Thames riverfront to enhance  the 
retail and leisure offer, where this would contribute to the creation of a 
vibrant, inclusive and welcoming riverfront for all. 

The Thames riverfront, particularly emanating from Millenium Bridge but in 
principle along the full length, where there are opportunities to improve the 
vibrancy of the riverside over the medium and longer term. 

How the policy works 

Page 146



 

89 

 

9.1.32. The City Corporation will work with owners, developers and occupiers to retain 
specialist retail uses and premises where it can be demonstrated that such uses 
are of historical or cultural significance. The City Corporation may attach conditions 
to planning permissions to ensure the retention or replacement of specialist 
facilities on the same site where they are impacted by development proposals. 

Policy RE5 RE4: Markets 

Proposals for markets and temporary retail pop-ups will be encouraged where they: 

1. are of an appropriate scale and frequency for their location; 

2. would not have a significant adverse impact on enhance the vitality and viability of 
existing retail centres within or outside the City; 

3. would not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or 
business occupiers;  

4. would not unduly obstruct pedestrian and vehicular movement; and 

5. would not involve the permanent loss of open space or harm the character of that 
space.  

 
Reason for the policy 

9.1.33. There is an increasing demand for temporary retail pop-ups and street food 
markets, such as the Guildhall Yard Lunch Market, which can support the local 
economy by generating increased vibrancy, retail diversity and footfall. These uses 
provide greater retail choice, enliven the public realm and increase the 
attractiveness of the City as a place to live, work and visit. Pop-up and meanwhile 
uses can minimise vacancies of retail premises while a long-term occupier is 
sought and may be used to animate areas where construction works are taking 
place. 

9.1.34. Street trading in the City is regulated by the City Corporation under the City of 
London Various Powers Act 1987 (as amended), which restricts permanent street 
trading but allows street trading to take place for temporary periods in specified 
locations. The exception is on Middlesex Street (Petticoat Lane) Market, which 
straddles the boundary between the City and Tower Hamlets, where licensed 
trading is permitted between 9am and 2pm on Sundays. Further information on 
licensing requirements is set out in the City Corporation’s Street Trading Policy 
which is available on the Corporation’s website. 

9.1.35. Temporary street trading, where permitted under the Various Powers Act, can 
operate for up to 14 days in a calendar year under permitted development rights. 
Trading for longer periods will require planning permission. Market trading off City 
streets but within the curtilage of a building will similarly require planning 
permission if undertaken for a period of more than 14 days in a calendar year.  

How the policy works 

Page 147



 

90 

 

9.1.36. Proposals for markets or temporary retail pop-ups located within a building or its 
curtilage should be ancillary to and complement the main use of the site. When 
assessing proposals for new permanent markets and opportunities for pop-ups, the 
City Corporation will consider the potential for significant adverse impacts on the 
trade of retailers occupying fixed units within the vicinity, together with impacts on 
the amenity of nearby residents or business occupiers, on pedestrian and vehicular 
movement or on open spaces.   

Page 148



 

91 

 

 

 Culture and Visitors and the 
Night-Time Economy 

Context 

London has long been recognised as one of the world’s great cultural cities. The 
City of London contains a huge concentration of arts and cultural facilities, which 
contribute to its uniqueness and complement its primary business function. These 
facilities include galleries, theatres, museums, heritage attractions, Livery Halls, 
libraries, places of worship and concert halls. In recent years a growing number of 
night-time entertainment facilities such as clubs, bars and event venues have 
located in the City, alongside the traditional historic public houses. Research 
undertaken for the City Corporation shows that growth in creative industries in the 
City between 2010 and 2016 has outpaced growth elsewhere in London and the 
UK. 

The City’s cultural offer is an integral element of the Square Mile, alongside the 
business City. The Barbican is identified as a strategic night-time location of 
national or international significance while Cheapside and Liverpool Street are 
identified as night-time areas of more than local significance in the London Plan. 
The City Corporation has ambitious plans for Culture Mile, as explained in the Key 
Areas of Change section. 

The City Corporation has prepared Visitor and Cultural Strategies that promote the 
City as a high-quality visitor destination with an emphasis on world-class cultural 
facilities. It is estimated there are approximately 21.5 million business and leisure 
visits a year to the City and this is expected to grow as a result of an increased 
cultural offer and improvements to transport accessibility such as the Elizabeth 
Line and Bank Station upgrade. Suitable facilities and hotel accommodation are 
required to provide visitors with a pleasant experience whilst in the City. 

Cultural and creative activity can contribute significantly to the quality of the 
environment and cultural experience, particularly where it enhances a sense of 
place. Public art can give visual pleasure and help to re-establish local identity and 
sense of place.  

10.1. Culture and Visitors 

Strategic Policy S6: Culture and Visitors and the Night-Time Economy 

The City Corporation will maintain and enhance the City of London’s cultural, 
leisure and recreation offer, visitor experiences and infrastructure, and the 
City’s evening and weekend economies to position the Square Mile as a 
key cultural and leisure destination, by: unique identity, character, and 
attractiveness to continue being a world-leading cultural and leisure destination 
within London and contribute to the wider objectives of the Destination City 

Page 149



 

92 

 

programme by contribution to London’s world-class cultural offer and the City’s 
communities will be able to access a range of arts, heritage and cultural 
experiences by: 

1. Encouraging cultural placemaking and creating vibrant and inclusive places 
that contribute to the experience of living, working and visiting the City while 
addressing the needs and aspirations of the City’s communities.  

2. Providing, supporting, encouraging access to and further Developing a wide 
range of creative and cultural, leisure and recreation facilities across the City 
that offer unique experiences at different times of the day and week, in line 
with the Culture Planning Framework, and that support City’s role as a 
visitor destination.  and delivering a major destination for culture and 
creativity in the north west of the City through the Culture Mile initiative;  

3. Requiring developers to submit Cultural Plans for major development, outlining 
how the development will contribute to the enrichment and enhancement of the 
City’s cultural offer; 

4. Protecting and enhancing existing areas of cultural significance including 
cultural buildings and leisure and recreation facilities, particularly where they 
provide an anchor for cultural regeneration or where a continuing need exists 
and ensuring there is no overall loss of cultural facilities or diversity in the City;  

5. Providing accessible and inclusive infrastructure and facilities that 
complement cultural, leisure and recreation uses in the City;   

6.  Placing heritage at the heart of cultural placemaking, seeking opportunities 
to embed heritage in the cultural offer and creating spaces and experiences 
that celebrate the City’s rich history, culture and community; 

7. Supporting the development of creative industries enterprise through and 
encouraging appropriate workspace and digital infrastructure to facilitate their 
development,particularly within Culture Mile; 

8. Allowing hotel development where it supports the primary business or cultural role 
of the City, and refusing new hotels where they would compromise the City’s 
business function or the potential for future business growth;  

9. Enabling a vibrant evening and night-time economy, especially in areas of night-
time activity and around cultural and tourist attractions where public 
transport such as the night tube and night buses are available, ensuring that 
night-time users are well-served with safe and convenient night-time 
transport; while ensuring that operators proactively manage night-time 
entertainment premises to minimise potential impact to residents and 
workers; 

10. Maintaining the City’s existing collection of public art artworks, statues, 
memorials and culturally significant objects items and pursuing opportunities to 
commission new, high quality artworks pieces in appropriate locations, ensuring 
they protect and enhance the local character, are accessibly and inclusively 
designed, and contribute towards enriching the public realm; and 

11. Maintaining and enhancing the City’s open spaces and/or streetscape public 
realm to accommodate cultural events and activities that are inclusive and 

Page 150



 

93 

 

accessible to all City communities, and which promote and celebrate the City’s 
unique rich heritage and culture offer; and 

12. Encouraging the temporary use of vacant buildings for creative and 
cultural activities. 

 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.1. London has long been recognised as one of the world’s great cultural 
cities. The definition of culture in the context of the City is broad and 
inclusive; culture exists both in the buildings and heritage of the City’s 
institutions and in the streets and informal spaces in between. The City of 
London contains a huge concentration of arts, leisure, recreation and 
cultural facilities and spaces that contribute to its uniqueness and 
complement its primary business function. These include buildings, 
structures and spaces where culture is either consumed (culture 
consumption spaces) or produced (culture production spaces) such as 
creative workspaces, arts galleries, studios, museums, theatres, Livery Halls, 
libraries, music, sports, entertainment and performance venues; and 
complementary uses which contribute to the primary culture, leisure and 
recreation function such as restaurants, retail, hotels, open spaces and 
tourism facilities. In recent years, a growing number of night-time 
entertainment facilities such as clubs, bars and event venues have located in 
the City, alongside the traditional historic public houses. These cultural 
contributors play a crucial role in enhancing City’s leisure, recreation and 
cultural offer while providing people with a wholesome experience and a 
sense of belonging. Community facilities, open spaces, places of worship, 
and heritage also provide important physical settings for a wide range of 
cultural, leisure and recreation activities that can attract more visitors.  

10.1.2. The City Corporation’s Cultural Strategy highlights that commerce and 
creativity thrive side by side and sets out a vision to position the City as a 
world capital for commerce and culture. The Strategy embraces a definition 
of culture that is broad and inclusive; it recognises that culture exists both in 
the buildings and heritage of the City’s institutions and in the streets and 
informal spaces in between. Culture is seen as being for everyone and is a 
driver of social mobility. The City’s cultural offer forms an integral part of the 
Square Mile, alongside its financial and business role. Barbican is identified 
as a strategic night-time location of national or international significance in 
the London Plan while Cheapside and Liverpool Street are identified as night-
time areas of more than local significance in the London Plan. The London 
Museum with its new home in Smithfield’s iconic market buildings will act as 
a cultural anchor in one of the most historic areas of the Square Mile. 

Page 151



 

94 

 

10.1.3. Destination City, the City Corporation’s flagship strategy, seeks to ensure 
that the City is a global destination for workers, visitors and residents. It 
aims at enhancing the Square Mile’s leisure and cultural offer by creating a 
sustainable, innovative and inclusive ecosystem of culture that celebrates its 
rich history and heritage and makes it more appealing to visitors as well as 
the City’s working and resident communities.  

The City’s cultural infrastructure is important to the distinctive and historically 
significant character of the Square Mile. The international reputation and high 
quality of this cultural activity has a critical part to play in the vibrancy of the 
working environment and adds to the appeal of the City as a place to do business. 
It attracts an increasing number of visitors, with consequent economic benefits, and 
supports the health mental, spiritual and physical wellbeing of the City workers, 
residents and visitors and workers.  

 

How the policy works 

10.1.4. The City Corporation will require proposals for new development and changes of 
use to protect existing leisure, arts and cultural facilities where they are needed 
and where necessary require appropriate replacement. The City Corporation will 
work with developers and cultural and arts institutions to deliver new facilities and 
spaces where they support the Culture Mile ambition or enhance the 
attractiveness of the City as a business and cultural and leisure destination. 

10.1.5. Developers will be required to submit Cultural Plans as part of planning 
applications for major developments. These should set out how the development 
will contribute towards enriching and enhancing the City’s creative and cultural 
offer for eple by incorporating cultural activites or displays in ground floor spaces; 
facilitating public access and providing exhibitions/interpretation boards in relation 
to matters of historic interest; providing permanent or temporary space for creative 
entreprises; and incorporating public art either within the design of the building or 
as freestanding structures. 

10.1.6. The City Corporation’s Cultural Planning Framework identifies focal areas 
across the Square Mile, and sets a broad framework that new cultural 
infrastructure, visitor attractions and complementary facilities will be 
expected to help realise. 

Policy CV1: Protection of Existing Visitor, Arts and Cultural Facilities 

1. The City Corporation will resist the loss of existing visitor, arts, and cultural facilities, 
unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality are provided on-site or within 
the vicinity which meet the needs of the City’s communities; or 

Page 152



 

95 

 

• the use can be delivered from other facilities without leading to or increasing any 
shortfall in provision and it has been demonstrated that there is no demand for 
another similar use on the site; or 

• it has been demonstrated that there is no realistic prospect of the premises being 
used for a similar purpose in the foreseeable future. 

2. Proposals resulting in the loss of visitor, arts and cultural facilities must be 
accompanied by evidence of the lack of need for those facilities. Loss of facilities 
will only be permitted where this would facilitate the overall enhancement of visitor, 
arts or cultural provision within the vicinity or where it has been demonstrated that 
the existing facility has been actively marketed for its current or an alternative 
visitor, arts or cultural use at reasonable terms for such a use. 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.7. The vibrancy of the City’s cultural offer depends on a broad network of arts and 
cultural organisations and facilities, and it is important that there is sufficient 
floorspace available to accommodate these uses. There is strong competition for 
buildings and sites from commercial uses in the City so it will be necessary to 
demonstrate that an existing arts or cultural use is no longer needed before a site 
will be allowed to change use. 

10.1.8. There are many cultural facilities that are unique to the City and maintain an 
historic or cultural association with the Square Mile. Special consideration needs to 
be given to the protection of these facilities to maintain the City’s unique cultural 
heritage. Examples of such facilities include City Livery Halls, public houses which 
have a heritage, cultural, economic or social value to local communities, theatres, 
museums, churches, and specialist retail premises such as the Silver Vaults in 
Chancery Lane.   

10.1.9. Some cultural facilities fall within broad categories of land use under the Use 
Classes Order, enabling the change of use of any one land use to another within 
that class without requiring planning permission. For instance, museums, places of 
worship and exhibition halls all fall within Use Class F.1 (Learning and non-
residential institutions). However, other uses such as theatres, concert halls and 
public houses are classed as sui generis, meaning that planning permission would 
be required to change them to any alternative use. 

How the policy works 

10.1.10. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that an existing visitor, arts or 
cultural facility has been marketed and that there is no reasonable interest from 
relevant organisations. Information should be included which sets out the length of 
time the property or site has been marketed; the number of viewings; the 
comments from prospective purchasers or tenants (including reference regarding 
the suitability of continued visitor, arts or cultural use). Marketing will not be 
required if it can be demonstrated that the loss of a facility is part of a business 
plan to deliver improvements to another similar facility nearby. 

Page 153



 

96 

 

10.1.11. The City Corporation has published guidelines for determining nominations for 
Assets of Community Value (ACV) in the City of London, which include local 
criteria to assess the role of public houses in furthering social wellbeing or social 
interest. In determining whether a public house has heritage, cultural, economic or 
social value, the City Corporation will have regard to those guidelines as well as 
the characteristics outlined in the London Plan. 

 
Policy CV2: Provision of Arts, Culture and Leisure Facilities 

 
The City Corporation will seek opportunities to provide new arts, cultural and 
leisure facilities that offer unique experiences at different times of the day and 
week and attract significant numbers of visitors into the City by: 
 

1. Requiring major developments to submit Culture and Vibrancy Plans 
setting out how their development will culturally enrich the Square Mile, 
informed by the City Corporation’s Cultural Planning Framework; 

2. Requiring large scale development proposals of 10,000 sqm or more in size 
to make provision on-site for arts, culture or leisure facilities; 

3. Requiring major developments below 10,000 sqm in size to make provision 
for arts, culture or leisure facilities of a scale commensurate with the size 
of the development, or to provide off-site provision or contributions 
towards arts, culture and leisure facilities and infrastructure. On-site 
provision will be preferred, with off-site provision only being appropriate 
where a specific project has been identified through partnership working. 

4. Encouraging the provision of arts, culture and leisure facilities in historic 
buildings and spaces where this would contribute to the enjoyment, 
appreciation and understanding of the City’s heritage in a way that is 
inclusive, welcoming and accessible for all. 

 

 
Reason for the policy 

 

10.1.12. The provision of new arts, culture and leisure facilities in the Square Mile 
is a key mechanism to help realise the City Corporation’s Destination City 
vision. These facilities will not only help to ensure the City becomes a key 
leisure destination for visitors but also maintains and enhances its position 
as a global business centre, as well as providing exciting and enriching 
cultural and leisure experiences for people living and working in and around 
the Square Mile. To achieve this, it is crucial that major developments 
contribute towards delivering new cultural and leisure facilities that help 
enhance the appeal and character of the development and the focal area in 
which they are located. 

Page 154



 

97 

 

A review of the Cultural Plans submitted with planning applications show 
that many major developments already make a significant on-site 
contribution to the creation of new cultural spaces. Large developments 
have the greatest flexibility to provide facilities on-site, although many 
smaller major developments will also be able to accommodate cultural 
facilities, or to contribute to schemes in the area. 

How the policy works 
 

10.1.13. Major developments will be required to submit Culture and Vibrancy 
Plans. These Plans should describe the cultural proposal, including the type 
and scale of arts, culture or leisure offer, and how it would complement the 
character of the focal area identified in the Cultural Planning Framework.  

10.1.14. Arts, culture and leisure facilities covers a wide range of uses, including 
museums, art galleries, libraries and performance venues; community uses 
that can be used and programmed creatively; integrating cultural activities 
into new public spaces, including roof gardens and viewing galleries; 
creating active street-level spaces; revealing spaces within heritage 
buildings to the public; creating a heritage-led cultural offer; providing 
affordable space for creative enterprises; encouraging meanwhile uses; 
providing inclusive and accessible sport and recreation facilities; and 
incorporating public art in the building’s design or within public realm.  

10.1.15. Developers should consider the operational and management 
requirements of cultural and leisure facilities provided in new developments 
prior to approval. A robust management plan for operational and 
management arrangements should be submitted as part of the Culture Plans 
at the pre-application stage. 

10.1.16. In some instances, financial contributions can be pooled together to 
deliver larger projects creating a more significant impact. Where two or more 
developments are in close proximity to each other, it may be acceptable to 
pool contributions to provide a larger cultural offer which will have a greater 
value.  

 
Policy CV2 CV3: Provision of Visitor Facilities 

The provision of facilities that meet the needs of visitors in new cultural developments 
and in nearby open spaces and the public realm will be encouraged, including: 

1. Seating and tables;   

2. structures and landscaping to enable children’s play and provide facilities for 
school groups; 

3. suitable shelter from weather conditions;  

Page 155



 

98 

 

4. well-designed public convenience provision, including changing places toilets, 
accessible to all users;  

5. well-designed signage, wayfinding and links to visitor facilities and destinations;  

6. temporary pop-up art installations, galleries and spaces in appropriate locations: 

7. performance spaces and animation of key routes where appropriate. 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.17. The City attracts large numbers of tourists in certain locations such as around 
St. Paul’s Cathedral and near the Tower of London. This is expected to grow with 
new attractions such as the proposed including the relocated Museum of London 
in Smithfield attracting increased numbers of visitors. It is important that the City of 
London can offer a range of facilities and events which meet the needs of these 
visitors whilst creating a distinctive look and feel for the City. 

How the policy works 

10.1.18. The City Corporation will work with developers and arts and culture institutions 
to ensure that new developments and open spaces near tourist attractions provide 
facilities that improve the experience for visitors and cater for how visitors use the 
space. These facilities must be capable of being accommodated without detracting 
from the setting of the relevant tourist attraction, the wider townscape or residential 
amenity. 

Policy CV34: Hotels 

Proposals for hotels and other visitor accommodation will be permitted where they: 

1. do not result in the loss of viable office accommodation for which there is 
continuing need, as set out in comply with the requirements of Policy OF2; 

2. do not result in adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, 
including cumulative impacts; 

3. provide active frontages and active uses at ground floor level, including a 
range of complementary facilities accessible to the public;  

4. are in suitable locations that provide good access to attractions, workplaces 
and other destinations in and outside the City, including via public 
transport; 

5. provide satisfactory arrangements for pick-up/drop-off, service delivery vehicles, 
waste storage, and taxis, appropriate to the size and nature of the development;  

6. are inclusive, meeting London Plan accessibility standards for new hotel 
bedrooms; 

7. ensure continuing beneficial use for historic buildings, including enhanced and 
inclusive public access to and interpretation of that heritage, where appropriate; 
and 

Page 156



 

99 

 

8. address the sustainability challenges associated with the City’s BREEAM priorities 
(energy, water, pollution and materials). 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.19. While the majority of visitors are day-trippers, the City has seen strong demand 
for hotel accommodation in the last ten years, and in 2020 2022 had 44 43 hotels, 
apart-hotels and hostels, providing over 6,700 7,552 bedrooms and a further 33 
serviced apartment properties providing 1,551 units. The GLA has forecast the 
need for an additional 58,146 bedrooms in London between 2015 and 204. This 
demand is driven by a projected increase of 42 million international visitor nights 
and a 15 million increase in domestic visitor nights. The City’s projected share of 
this increase is 4,341 rooms. Based on past trends and hotel sites currently 
permitted or under construction, there is a strong likelihood that the City will meet 
the London Plan requirement. A hotel needs study for the City was carried out 
in 2022, which assessed the overall need for hotel bedrooms to be 4,012 by 
2037. This consists of the forecast pipeline of hotel rooms up to 2030, with 
additional projected demand of an average of 350 rooms per year beyond 
that point. It should be noted that these GLA forecasts predate the Covid-19 
pandemic but although there have been short term impacts on the tourism industry, 
the attractions of the City and of London as a visitor destination remain strong. 

10.1.20. Hotel accommodation is important to cater for business visitors wishing to stay 
in the City, as well as leisure visitors. The amount of office floorspace will increase 
significantly in the next 20 years and the demand for business accommodation is 
likely to increase. Visitor numbers are projected to increase, and the development 
of Culture Mile the City Corporation’s ambition to establish the City as a 
cultural destination is likely to increase demand for hotel accommodation, 
particularly in the north west of the City.  

How the policy works 

10.1.21. Policy CV3 applies to hotels, apart-hotels and serviced apartments. 

10.1.22. Hotel development should not prejudice complement the primary business 
function of the City. Proposals by displacing sites that are suitable for office 
accommodation. Hotel proposals will need to demonstrate that there would not be 
a loss of suitable and viable office floorspace they are in accordance with Policy 
OF2 and the Office Use SPD.  

10.1.23. Hotel development may be suited to listed buildings, providing an alternative 
use which could enable significant heritage features to be conserved and 
enhanced. Where such change of use is proposed, the City Corporation will seek 
improved inclusive public access to and interpretation of the building’s heritage. 

10.1.24. Hotels can cause amenity issues for surrounding occupiers, for example 
through noise nuisance or traffic and servicing impacts. New hotel proposals will be 
expected to prioritise access by walking, cycling and public transport. The location 

Page 157



 

100 

 

of entrances and exits, drop-off points and servicing and delivery arrangements will 
be considered in the context of surrounding occupiers.  

10.1.25. Where new hotels are considered to be acceptable, they should facilitate the 
creation of active frontages and an inclusive City by providing enable the 
public to access to inclusive facilities such as co-working space, meeting rooms, 
cafes, restaurants or leisure facilities or other spaces, in order to bring the 
maximum benefit to the City’s communities. Hotel lobbies that have a significant 
ground floor presence should be designed as inclusive, welcoming spaces 
that members of the public who are not staying at the hotel feel welcome to 
enter and spend time in. Large-scale hotel development may also be suitable 
locations to provide public toilet facilities and provide ‘cool spaces’ that 
provide temporary respite during heat waves. 

10.1.26. Apart-hotels and serviced accommodation often display characteristics more 
associated with permanent, self-contained housing. Some are more akin to hotels 
in the type of services they provide but may result in different impacts. Apart-
hotels/serviced apartments may therefore fall within the C1 or C3 Use Classes, 
depending on their characteristics. Factors that may affect the Use Class include;  

• Presence of on-site staff/management; 

• Presence of reception, bar or restaurant; 

• Provision of cleaning and administrative services; 

• Ownership of units/ability to sell on open market; and 

• Minimum/maximum lease lengths. 

10.1.27. Where apart-hotels and serviced apartments are considered to fall within the 
C3 (dwelling houses) Use Class, proposals will be assessed in accordance with the 
housing policies in this Plan, including the requirement for affordable housing 
policies. Conditions will be used to ensure units are subject to minimum lease 
lengths. 

10.1.28. For proposals within the C1 (Hotels) Use Class, planning conditions will be 
considered to ensure that units would not be used or occupied by permanent 
households as this would reduce the availability of accommodation for short-term 
visitors to the City and may prejudice the business City and put pressure on local 
services and infrastructure. Conditions will therefore be used to ensure units are 
subject to maximum lease lengths (typically 90 days). 

 

Policy CV5: Evening and Night-Time Economy  

1. Proposals for new evening and night-time entertainment and related uses and the 
extension of existing premises will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that, 
either individually or cumulatively, there is no unacceptable impact on: 

• the amenity of residents and other noise-sensitive uses; 

Page 158



 

101 

 

• environmental amenity, taking account of the potential for noise, disturbance, 
waste and odours arising from the operation of the premises, customers 
arriving at and leaving the premises, and the servicing of the premises.  

2. Applicants will be required to submit Management Statements detailing how these 
issues will be addressed during the operation of the premises and are encouraged to 
should engage with nearby residential and commercial occupiers. 

3. Where new residential development is proposed close to existing evening or night-
time uses, the residential development will only be permitted if it includes suitable 
measures to mitigate potential disturbance and noise and air quality issues for 
prospective residents, in line with the agent of change principle.  

Reason for policy 

10.1.29. Evening and night-time entertainment is becoming an important part of the 
City’s economy, bolstered by London’s move toward becoming a 24-hour 
destination, growing numbers of workers and visitors, and the encouragement of 
arts and culture in the City. Expansion of the City’s evening and night-time offer will 
be encouraged where it is compatible with neighbouring uses. Night-time 
entertainment has the potential to add vibrancy to the Square Mile but can 
cause noise disturbance to nearby residents as well as other impacts such as anti-
social behaviour, litter and odours These adverse impacts need to be mitigated.  

10.1.30. Anti-social behaviour can potentially be reduced by providing a broad range of 
evening and night-time activities that appeal to different customers, rather than 
concentrating one type of use in a particular area. This includes extending the 
opening hours of existing day-time facilities such as shops, cafes and leisure 
facilities, which can promote customer cross-over and create bridges between the 
day-time and night-time economy. 

 

How the policy works 

10.1.31. The City Corporation will require the development responsible for change to 
manage the impact of that change – the ‘Agent of Change’ principle. This means 
that a new residential development built near to an existing night-time 
entertainment use would be responsible for providing appropriate soundproofing or 
other mitigation measures to avoid any undue impact, whereas a new night-time 
entertainment use opening in a residential area would be responsible for the 
necessary mitigation measures.   

10.1.32. Night-time entertainment uses in the City include restaurants and cafes, 
drinking establishments, hot food takeaways, nightclubs and other related uses 
including, for example, a nightclub or a mix of such uses. They form part of the 
City’s wider night-time economy. 

10.1.33. The management of night-time entertainment and licensed premises is 
undertaken through the operation of both planning and licensing regimes. In 

Page 159



 

102 

 

general, the planning regime controls the location, design and planning use of 
premises to protect the amenity of an area or local residents, whilst the licensing 
regime is used, having regard to licensing objectives, to control specific activities at 
premises to prevent, for example, noise and other public nuisance. Changes to the 
Use Classes Order in 2020 allow flexibility for commercial premises including 
offices and shops to become restaurants and cafes without requiring planning 
permission. Licensing and environmental health legislation would need to be 
applied to address any potential nuisance to nearby occupiers in these 
circumstances, albeit that planning permission would be required for any physical 
works such as ventilation equipment associated with a restaurant or café use.    

10.1.34. Planning and licensing regimes operate under separate legislative and 
regulatory frameworks.  The City Corporation will ensure that, as far as is possible, 
a complementary approach is taken between planning and licensing within the 
legislative framework.  The City Corporation publishes a Statement of Licensing 
Policy, which outlines the approach that it will take when considering applications 
for the sale and supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment and the 
provision of late-night refreshment.  This is supported by the City Corporation’s 
Code of Good Practice for Licensed Premises. The City Corporation’s Noise 
Strategy sets the strategic direction for noise policy within the City of London and 
outlines steps that the City Corporation will take, and is already taking, in dealing 
with noise issues, including those arising from night-time entertainment.  

10.1.35. The character of many licensed premises has changed significantly in recent 
years.  Existing and new premises often have longer operating hours, may have 
larger capacity and may provide live or recorded amplified music. Some of these 
premises are close to residential accommodation and this can result in disturbance 
and nuisance from excessive noise, particularly from people drinking and smoking 
outside, and arriving or leaving. Policy SA2 (Dispersal Routes) requires 
applications for night-time uses to include Management Statements setting out 
proposals for the dispersal of patrons.  

10.1.36. All planning applications for restaurants and cafes, where planning permission 
is required, and for drinking establishments, hot food takeaways and related, uses 
should include information stating the proposed hours of operation. The City 
Corporation may impose conditions requiring the closure of the premises between 
the hours of 11pm and 7am where appropriate, such as near noise sensitive uses. 

10.1.37. Potential applicants seeking planning permission for a night-time entertainment 
use, between the hours of 11pm and 7am, are expected to engage at the earliest 
possible stage with the City Corporation as Licensing Authority, the City of London 
Police, local residents and other neighbouring occupiers that will be affected by the 
proposal. This will ensure that the local context and local sensitivities are fully 
understood and can be taken into account when designing premises for night-time 
entertainment uses and planning the operation of the proposed use to minimise 
adverse impact on amenity. Policies HL3 and HS3 deal with noise and light 
pollution, and the residential environment respectively. 

10.1.38. Proposals for new and extended night-time entertainment uses or for variations 
of planning conditions must be accompanied by a Management Statement that 

Page 160



 

103 

 

addresses planning amenity issues, sets out how potential impacts on amenity will 
be addressed through the design of the premises and how they will operate without 
causing disturbance including: 

• hours of closure to protect amenity; 

• noise mitigation plans related to both internal and external noise, including 
measures to reduce sound transfer, such as soundproofing, noise controls 
and double entry lobbies; 

• the dispersal of patrons so as not to cause disturbance to residents; 

• arrangements for the storage, handling and disposal of waste; 

• a timed programme for deliveries and collections and other servicing 
arrangements; 

• measures to deal with the emission of odours; and 

• location of ventilation ducts and plant. 

  

10.1.39. Assessment of the Management Statement will have regard to the City Noise 
Strategy, the provisions of the City of London Statement of Licensing Policy and to 
any submitted licence application operating schedule. It is recognised that it may 
not be possible to submit detailed Management Statements when details of the end 
use operator are not known. However, applicants should submit an outline 
Management Statement which considers physical design measures to minimise 
disturbance, such as those outlined in the paragraph above. In such cases, 
conditions will be attached to any planning permissions granted requiring full 
Management Statements to be submitted once the occupiers are known. 

10.1.40. To safeguard quiet times and amenity, particularly for residents and other 
noise-sensitive uses, the City Corporation will attach planning conditions or seek 
s106 planning obligations to ensure compliance with agreed Management 
Statements.  The City Corporation will normally apply conditions to limit the hours 
of operation where there is potential for unacceptable disturbance to local residents 
and others.  Each case will be considered in relation to its locality and the need to 
strike a balance between the benefits to the City of night-time entertainment and 
the risk of disturbance to local residents, workers and others.  

Policy CV5 CV6: Public Art 

 
1. The City’s public realm and distinctive identity will be enhanced by: 

• encouraging the provision of new permanent, temporary, inclusive, diverse 
and high quality artworks in appropriate locations in the City on public and 
private land; 

• protecting existing works of art, statues, memorials and other objects of 
cultural significance; 

Page 161



 

104 

 

• ensuring that financial provision is made for the continuing future 
maintenance of new public art; 

• requiring the appropriate reinstatement or re-siting of art works and other 
objects of cultural significance when buildings are redeveloped. 

2. The location of new and relocated artworks must take into consideration the health 
and safety of pedestrians, particularly those with disabilities disabled people, and 
other road users.  

 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.41. Art can contribute significantly to the quality of the environment, particularly 
where it enhances a sense of place and local identity and is a form of community 
infrastructure. Public art includes temporary installations and non-physical works 
such as soundscapes.  

10.1.42. Where appropriate, artworks can be multi-functional so that a variety of 
community needs can be met. Artworks may provide shelter from the weather, 
include sensory elements and provide play opportunities. 

10.1.43. There are several arts events held regularly in the City including Sculpture in 
the City which forms a free public trail of works of art throughout the City.  

10.1.44. The proposed public art must respect, and not detract from, the surrounding 
environment. Objects of cultural significance may include blue plaques, statues, 
monuments, fountains, memorials, parish boundary markers and other similar 
heritage assets. 

10.1.45. Works of art must ensure that health and safety considerations are considered 
when designing, siting and maintaining the installation. Restriction of pedestrian 
flows must be avoided, and consideration given to ensuring that people with visual 
or mobility impairments are not placed in danger. Illuminated artworks must be 
sited to avoid light pollution impacting on nearby residential occupiers. 

How the policy works 

10.1.46. The City Arts Initiative (CAI) group advises the City Corporation on the artistic 
merit, siting, setting and appropriateness of public art proposals in the City. 
Temporary works of art (in situ for less than 8 weeks), which do not require 
planning permission, will be considered by the CAI group. 

10.1.47. Opportunities for public art in open spaces should be considered at an early 
stage to ensure that they are satisfactorily integrated into the design of 
development and applicants should work with artists at an early stage of design. 
Artworks and memorials should be appropriate to their location, including 
the history and context and the use of a site. Where works of public art are sited 
in the public realm, they should be endowed to secure their appropriate 
maintenance in perpetuity and their retention will be secured by condition or legal 

Page 162



 

105 

 

agreement. Where works of art are on private land, it is expected that those pieces 
will be maintained to a high standard by the landowner. The City Corporation may 
seek contributions through s106 obligations towards the provision of new public art 
and the future maintenance of public art. 

  

Page 163



 

106 

 

 Infrastructure 

11.1. Smart Infrastructure and Utilities  

Context 

The City of London relies on a range of utilities to function as a global financial, 
business and cultural centre and to meet the needs of its businesses, workers and 
residents. There are challenges to providing the infrastructure required to support 
existing activity in the City and to provide the infrastructure necessary to deliver the 
level of growth envisaged in the period up to 2036. At the same time, new 
developments and existing occupiers can actively minimise their demands on 
infrastructure, utilities and services to ensure that the City can become a more 
sustainable place to work, live and visit.   

Utilities infrastructure comprises the provision of electricity, gas, water, sewerage, 
sustainable drainage (SuDS), telecommunications, including wired and wireless 
infrastructure, decentralised energy networks and the pipe subway networks that 
accommodate such infrastructure. 

Strategic Policy S7: Smart Infrastructure and Utilities 

1. To coordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery and the 
transition towards a zero carbon and climate resilient City, all development 
should: 

• Minimise the demand for power, water and utility services;  

• Incorporate sustainable building design and demand management 
measures; 

• Connect to existing pipe subways where feasible, particularly where 
there is pipe and cable congestion under the streets; 

• Seek to provide the latest and best quality utility infrastructure and 
connections to serve the development.  

2. Developers must engage with infrastructure providers at an early stage of design 
to ensure that the infrastructure needs arising from the construction and 
operation of new development are addressed and required utility networks and 
connections are in place in time to serve the development. 

3. Existing essential utilities and telecommunications infrastructure will be 
protected from development unless it is no longer required or will be adequately 
relocated. 

4. The improvement and extension of utilities infrastructure should be designed 
and sited to minimise adverse impacts on the visual amenity, character and 
appearance of the City and its heritage assets.  

Page 164



 

107 

 

Reason for the policy 

11.1.1. Infrastructure is a vital component of modern cities. Maintaining high 
quality and sustainable utilities provision in the Square Mile is crucial for the 
City to remain competitive and address climate challenges. 

11.1.2. There are specific challenges to providing the infrastructure needed to support 
existing activity in the City and the additional infrastructure necessary to support 
the scale of development set out in this Plan: 

• The dense concentration of business activity in the City means that high 
demand is concentrated in a small geographical area. 

• There is a legacy of congested cable routes under the City’s streets. 

• Delivery of new infrastructure and improvements to existing networks may 
result in temporary disruption to businesses, residents and visitors. 

• Energy and telecoms demands are increasing and there is a need to 
continually improve and upgrade networks to meet this changing demand in a 
sustainable way, which does not compromise the City’s trajectory towards 
zero carbon. 

How the policy works 

11.1.3. The City Corporation has established strong links with the various infrastructure 
providers that service the City, including Thames Water, UK Power Networks, 
Cadent Gas, Citigen and telecoms providers. The City Corporation will seek to 
retain and strengthen these links, working with all providers and regulators, where 
appropriate. The City Corporation are developing a Utility Infrastructure 
Strategy, which sets out the steps that will be taken, including through 
partnership working, to ensure the City’s utilities infrastructure remains fit 
for purpose and future proofed.  

11.1.4. Developers will be required to demonstrate liaison with infrastructure providers 
at an early stage of building design, ensuring that future needs are planned and 
delivered in a timely fashion with minimal disturbance to City streets, businesses 
and residents.  

11.1.5. Utilities infrastructure comprises the provision of electricity, gas, water, 
sewerage, sustainable drainage (SuDS), telecommunications, including wired 
and wireless infrastructure, decentralised energy networks and the pipe 
subway networks that accommodate such infrastructure. 

Policy IN1: Infrastructure provision and connection 

1. Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and integrated with the 
development. The following infrastructure requirements should be planned for: 

• Electricity, gas and water supply necessary for the operation of the intended use 
and during the construction period. Account should be taken of the need to 
conserve resources and deliver energy and water efficient buildings to minimise 

Page 165



 

108 

 

future demands. Temporary building supply for the construction phase should be 
identified in conjunction with electricity providers including the estimated load 
capacity, substations and route for supply;  

• Heating and cooling demand and viability of provision via dencentralised energy 
networks. Designs must should incorporate connections to existing decentralised 
energy networks where feasible; 

• Digital and telecommunications network demand, including full fibre wired and 
wireless infrastructure in line with the Mayor of London’s ‘Wired Score’ connectivity 
rating or equivalent, planning for dual entry through communal entry chambers 
and flexibility to address future technological improvements; 

• Separate surface and foul water drainage requirements within the proposed 
building or site, including provision of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), 
rainwater harvesting and grey-water recycling, minimising discharge to the 
combined sewer network.  

Where it is not possible to provide detail at application stage, planning 
conditions and/or obligations will be used to secure the provision of such 
detail. 

2. To avoid delays to prospective tenants, developers should consider pre-installing 
fibre optic and other telco communal chambers or other innovative solutions to 
help facilitate communications networks, into the new development. 

3. Developers should conduct mobile signal tests within the development and consider 
the need for provider neutral in-building mobile solutions where coverage is poor.  

4. Development should aim to avoid reducing mobile connectivity in surrounding areas, 
and if that is not possible suitable mitigation measures will be required. Provision 
should be made on buildings or in the public realm to accommodate well-designed 
and located mobile digital infrastructure. 

Reason for the policy 

11.1.6. The dense concentration of businesses means that high demand is focused in a 
restricted geographical area. Electricity, telecommunications, water, gas and 
district heating and cooling networks are of particular importance. Congested cable 
routes traverse the City under its streets. Energy demands are increasing, 
particularly to provide air conditioning to counter increased warming and the 
delivery of upgraded ICT networks required by financial and business services. The 
impact of Covid-19 has highlighted the importance of digital connectivity. Recovery 
from the pandemic offers an opportunity to speed up and the transition to a an 
increasingly digital-reliant economy, accelerating the adoption of remote and 
home working, e-learning, e-commerce and telemedicine. 

11.1.7. The City Corporation’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan Utilities Infrastructure 
Strategy sets out in more detail the infrastructure projects that are under 
construction or required. 

 

Page 166



 

109 

 

 

How this policy works 

11.1.8. Developers must liaise with utility providers and adopt best practice in assessing 
and improving connectivity within developments.  Connection layouts and future 
proofing should be considered in the design of the development. 

11.1.9. Addressing air pollution is a fundamental concern for the City Corporation. 
Developers must should engage with energy providers prior to commencement of 
development works to ensure the availability of temporary building supplies, 
avoiding the need for diesel generators to provide electricity.  

11.1.10. Delivery of new infrastructure and improvements to existing networks could 
result in temporary disruption to businesses, residents and visitors. Developers 
must co-operate with infrastructure providers to minimise disruption to highways 
and businesses during major infrastructure upgrades and pipe subway 
construction.  

11.1.11. It is essential for the City to be digitally connected and responsive to the 
changing requirements of business, equipping businesses to benefit from the 
digital transformation stimulated by the Covid-19 pandemic. Buildings must be 
equipped to meet the digital needs of current and future occupiers. Developers will 
be expected to undertake an assessment of the connectivity of major new office 
buildings or refurbishments, using a wired certification such as WiredScore. 
Development should result in an improvement in the City’s digital connectivity.  

11.1.12. Mobile connectivity within and around buildings is critical to the City of London. 
Developers will need to ensure that their buildings do not worsen existing signal 
strength in the area and consider the provision of in-building solutions where signal 
strength is poor. The roll out of 5G across the City will require additional mobile 
infrastructure and suitably located cells. Where feasible, provision for new cells 
should be incorporated into new development. Where this is not feasible, provision 
should be made for additional cells to be located in the public realm, on existing 
street furniture or elsewhere as appropriate.  

11.1.13. The City Corporation will encourage the improvement and extension of utilities 
networks to ensure that the City uses the latest technology and continues to 
provide good quality services for businesses, residents, students and visitors. The 
City Corporation’s City Developer Guidelines for Incoming Utility Services provides 
guidance on best practice.  

Policy IN2: Infrastructure Capacity  

1. Development must not lead to capacity or reliability issues in the surrounding area 
and capacity projections must take into account the impacts of climate change which 
will influence future infrastructure demand.  

 Where potential capacity problems are identified, and no improvements are 
programmed by the utility company, the City Corporation will require developers to 

Page 167



 

110 

 

facilitate appropriate improvements, which may require the provision of space within 
new developments for on-site infrastructure or off-site infrastructure upgrades. 

 Developers are required to demonstrate, through effective engagement with 
providers, that adequate utility infrastructure will be provided, both on and off the site, 
to serve the development during construction and operation.  

 

Reason for the policy 

11.1.14. Early engagement with infrastructure providers is essential to ensure that there 
is adequate capacity to serve the development during its construction and 
operational phases.  

How this policy works 

11.1.15. The Sustainability or Energy Statement submitted as part of the planning 
application should set out the demand management measures incorporated into 
the scheme and should include evidence of engagement with providers. 

11.1.16. Infrastructure provision must be completed prior to the occupation of the 
development. The City Corporation will expect development to promote and 
contribute towards a zero low carbon based economy, through smart buildings and 
incorporating alternative solutions into the design. It will be necessary for 
developers to establish if the proposal would lead to overloading of the existing 
infrastructure, which may involve studies being undertaken by utility providers. 
Adequate time should be allowed to consider the supply options and to enable 
utility providers to collate an informed response. 

11.1.17. Projections of infrastructure demand should be realistic. Over specification 
should be avoided as it could result in underutilisation of infrastructure. The 
cumulative impacts should be considered through discussion with providers and 
pre-application meetings with the City Corporation. The co-ordination of 
infrastructure works is essential to minimise disruption and the impact on existing 
services.  

11.1.18. Developers will be required to submit written evidence from utility providers that 
effective engagement has been carried out. This could include a joint statement of 
intent endorsed by the relevant providers. S106 agreements may be used to 
ensure continuous engagement regarding route planning and confirmation of load 
demands.  

11.1.19. Redundant plant should be removed where possible to facilitate future 
infrastructure connections. Redundant infrastructure within the public realm, such 
as telephone boxes, should be removed unless it is of heritage interest. 

 

 

Page 168



 

111 

 

Policy IN3: Pipe Subways 

Developers and utility providers must provide entry and connection points within the 
development which relate to the City’s established utility infrastructure networks, 
utilising pipe subway routes where these are available. Sharing of routes with other 
nearby developments and the provision of new pipe subway facilities adjacent to 
buildings will be encouraged. 

 

Reason for the policy 

11.1.20. Expansion and integration of pipe subway and decentralised energy networks 
is a long-term aspiration of the City Corporation. The provision of additional pipe 
subways would provide greater capacity for pipes and cables, reducing the need 
for street works which often cause disruption. Pipe subways accommodate gas and 
watermains and electricity more effectively with easier access for maintenance, 
rather than burying pipes which are then not easily accessible. 

How the policy works 

11.1.21. The City Corporation will seek the expansion and integration of development 
into the pipe subway network where there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that 
services to development would be better integrated within an established pipe 
subway. Given the cost of installing new pipe subways, it is especially important to 
make efficient use of the existing network. Developments which are located 
adjacent to existing pipe subways will normally be expected to install connections. 

  

Page 169



 

112 

 

 Design Shape Outstanding 
Environments 

12.1. Design 

Context 

The built environment of the City of London has a unique and distinctive character. 
Arranged on a predominantly medieval and Roman street pattern, high quality 
historic and modern buildings and urban green spaces create a rich visual 
landscape of building types, materials and architectural design. The City of London 
has a nationally and internationally renowned townscape. The City has been a 
centre for international trade for centuries and this long history of commercial 
activity and its modern role as a world-leading financial and professional services 
centre is reflected in the design of the buildings and their activities. 

The demand for additional office floorspace and high land values within the Square 
Mile have resulted in a high-density and rapidly changing townscape which 
presents challenges and opportunities to ensure that new development delivers 
good growth. Innovative and creative solutions are required to optimise the use of 
land as a scarce resource, while creating architecture of a world class standard 
which enhances the City’s rich character. 

To realise the City Corporation’s vision for the Square Mile, the design of the built 
environment should contribute towards the delivery of a competitive and creative 
City with exemplars of sustainable building design. Development should contribute 
towards the aim of achieving a zero emission and climate resilient City by 2040 in 
accordance with the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy. 

Strategic Policy S8: Design 

The City Corporation will promote innovative, sustainable and inclusive high-quality 
buildings, streets and spaces. Design solutions should make effective use of 
limited land and contribute towards vibrancy, inclusion, wellbeing and a greener, 
net zero emission carbon City, through development which that: 

Sustainable design 

1. Takes a ‘retrofit first’ approach, prioritising the retention and retrofit of 
existing buildings, informed by an appraisal of the development options; 

2. Seeks opportunities to refurbish existing buildings, improving their 
environmental performance; 

3. Minimises whole life-cycle carbon and contributes towards a net zero 
carbon City; and 

Page 170



 

113 

 

4. Delivers world class sustainable buildings that are adaptable and 
informed by circular economy principles and that treat materials as a 
resource; 

5. Embeds climate resilience into design and contributes to the resilience of 
the Square Mile; 

6. Seeks opportunities to contribute to the wider sustainability of the City 
and (where relevant) neighbouring boroughs, especially where 
development would result in substantial carbon emissions. 

Form and Layout 

1. Optimises site capacity, informed by the character of the area and its 
potential for growth; 

2. Delivers buildings and spaces that have the right scale, massing, built form 
and layout, with due regard to the existing and emerging urban structure, 
building types, form and proportions identified in the Character Areas 
Study; 

3. Optimises pedestrian movement by maximising permeability, providing external 
and where feasible internal pedestrian routes which are inclusive, welcoming, 
convenient, comfortable and attractive, enhancing the City’s characteristic 
network of accessible buildings, streets, courts and alleys; 

4. Is pedestrian-focused, reducing conflict between pedestrian and vehicular traffic, 
creating a safe and attractive public realm, prioritising pedestrians and cyclists, 
whilst mitigating the impact of building servicing;  

5. Delivers publicly accessible space within the development by maximising the 
amount of accessible, inclusive and free to enter roof terraces and spaces, 
including in tall buildings and along the river and around City landmarks 

6. Delivers world class sustainable buildings which are mixed-use, adaptable, adopt 
circular economy principles and contribute towards a zero emission, zero carbon 
and climate resilient City;  

Experience 

7. Provides an appropriate mix of uses that contribute to the creation of a 
vibrant City; 

8. Places people at the heart of design, creating buildigs and spaces with a 
strong sense of belonging; 

9. Optimises microclimatic conditions, addressing solar glare, daylight and sunlight, 
wind conditions and thermal comfort and delivers improvements in air quality, 
open space and views; 

Page 171



 

114 

 

10. Delivers street level building frontages which are active, public-facing, usable, 
permeable, interesting, well-detailed and appropriately lit, delivering suitable levels 
of passive surveillance;  

11. Optimises the amount and connectivity of green infrastructure and, 
biodiversity and public amenity space and urban greening, and provides 
these in ways that are integral to the architecture and site design, enhancing 
public access to nature and biodiversity through maximising the provision of green 
roofs, walls and trees; and 

12. Delivers inclusive buildings, streets and spaces that meet the access needs of all 
the City’s communities irrespective of background or circumstance; 

13. Delivers publicly accessible space within the development by maximising the 
amount of accessible, inclusive and free to enter open spaces, roof terraces, 
cultural offers and other spaces, including in tall buildings and along the river 
and around City landmarks;  

14. Supports health and wellbeing within the City’s communities; and 

15. Is informed by early and meaningful stakeholder engagement, 
proportionate to the scale and type of development proposed. 

Quality and character 

16. Delivers high quality design, sustainable architecture of a height, bulk, 
massing, scale, urban grain, material, quality and depth of modelling and 
detail which is visually interesting, well-proportioned and well-detailed and 
conserves and enhances the local and wider townscape character and 
appearance of the City, and its historic environment, and takes into account 
cross boundary impacts of the neighbouring boroughs is appropriate to its 
neighbours;  

10. Incorporates sustainability measures and other plant and building services into a 
coherent architectural design; 

11. Considers lighting as an integral part of the design process, ensuring that 
internal and external lighting provides the right light in the right place at the 
right time addressing issues of light spill/trespass to the public realm and 
the character of the area;   

12. Incorporates signage of an appropriate siting, size, form, appearance and 
illumination within the architecture of the building’s architecture;  

13. Incorporates necessary security and safety measures as an integral part of the 
design; and 

14. Ensures that the building design concept is maintained from permission through 
to completion of a project. 

 

Page 172



 

115 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.1. As a world leading financial and professional services centre, with many 
important heritage assets and high quality buildings, the City requires world 
leading design in all aspects of the built environment, including the sustainability of 
new and refurbished buildings. Business occupiers are seeking buildings that 
are designed with high sustainability, accessibility and inclusion, and 
wellness credentials, and for these to be reflected in the appearance, 
functioning and design of buildings and their relationship to the wider 
context.  

12.1.2. The built environment is a major contributor to carbon emissions. 
Development should not only seek to minimise emissions but also find 
opportunities to improve wider sustainability. Retrofitting existing buildings 
will in many cases result in lower whole life-cycle carbon emissions (in total, 
and per square metre) than demolishing and redeveloping sites, and helps to 
minimise the use of materials. As our climate changes, development must 
play a role in helping to make the City more resilient to extreme weather 
conditions and the impact of changing climatic conditions. 

12.1.3. Development has a significant role to play in enhancing the public life of 
the Square Mile and making it more welcoming for everyone through 
delivering inclusive and accessible public spaces, vibrancy, destinations, 
experiences and leisure opportunities as an integral part of new 
development.  

How the policy works 

12.1.4. The design approach to each site in the City will be unique and there is a 
need to consider a broad range of factors through an iterative design 
process. While sites won’t share a singular route through the design 
process, this City Plan places significant importance on achieving 
sustainable development through a ‘retrofit first’ approach. An 
understanding of the potential for retaining and retrofitting existing buildings 
should therefore be the starting point for appraising site options, alongside a 
robust analysis of the whole lifecycle carbon of different development 
approaches.  

12.1.5. Options appraisals should also be informed by the potential for wider 
environmental benefits before considering the many wider design and 
planning matters set out in this policy and other policies throughout the 
Plan, and using this work to inform the design of the proposed scheme. 

12.1.6. To create a zero emission, sustainable City, development must be designed to 
minimise environmental impacts and be resilient to climate change throughout its 
lifecycle. 

Page 173



 

116 

 

12.1.7. The City of London will continue to be at the forefront of delivering the highest 
and most sustainable design standards. All development should demonstrate how 
it delivers the highest standard of design while also respecting its surroundings and 
the unique character and history of the City. Good design can have a positive 
impact for the wider community, within the City and beyond, improving access to 
buildings and the inclusivity of the City to those who may not live or work here. The 
diversity of the townscape means that different design considerations apply to each 
site and these need to be carefully assessed to take account of each building’s 
context.  This should not constrain design approaches, and a range of solutions 
may be appropriate. Liaison with the City Corporation, the City of London Police 
and the London Fire Brigade is essential at an early stage of design to ensure that 
buildings and spaces are safe and secure and reduce the potential for anti-social 
behaviour.    

12.1.8. The City Corporation will use a variety of modelling techniques to assist in the 
determination of planning applications. Developers will be required to use 
modelling techniques to demonstrate compliance with the City Corporation’s 
microclimate and thermal comfort planning advice notes. The City Corporation will 
use 3D digital modelling technology to assist in considering the visual impact of 
development, enabling an assessment to be made of the impact of development on 
townscape and skyscape. Developers will be required to provide digital 3D 
visualisations of their developments in an open source or other format compatible 
with the City Corporation’s 3D digital modelling technology. 

12.1.9. The City has a large workforce whose numbers are expected to grow 
substantially, albeit that increased remote working means that actual footfall may 
not rise in proportion to total employment. Most journeys within the Square Mile are 
on foot and pedestrian movement is particularly high during morning and evening 
peak times. The City has retained much of its historic street pattern, which provides 
convenient walking routes and allows for a high degree of pedestrian permeability.  
The City Corporation uses pedestrian modelling to better understand pedestrian 
flows and to manage the impact of proposed new development. The Transport 
Strategy sets standards and targets for pedestrian accessibility which will be 
implemented, in part, through this Plan. 

12.1.10. The City has numerous small open spaces, which provide valuable amenities, 
many of which are of historic importance. The design of these small spaces 
requires innovative and sensitive design solutions which respect their character 
and setting and create high quality, accessible areas for all the City’s communities.  
The City’s streets provide space for public enjoyment, and the City Corporation has 
a programme of public realm enhancement projects to improve the quality, 
sustainability, inclusivity and amenity of the public realm.  

12.1.11. The City provides significant employment, residential and leisure opportunities 
that should be accessible to all. Accessibility to new and existing buildings and 
spaces must create an inclusive environment. Adaptation of historic buildings 
requires careful design solutions. The City Corporation has an active programme of 
implementing access adaptations and will prepae further guidance for developers. 

 

Page 174



 

117 

 

Policy DE1 : Sustainability Standards Sustainable Design 

1. Development proposals should follow a retrofit first approach, thoroughly 
exploring the potential for retaining and retrofitting existing buildings as the 
starting point for appraising site options. 

2. All major development must demonstrate undertake an assessment of the 
options for the site, in line with the City Corporation’s Carbon Options 
Guidance Planning Advice Note, and should use this process to establish the 
most sustainable and suitable approach for the site.  

3. Where new buildings are the most sustainable and suitable approach, they 
should deliver exemplar low carbon development and the highest feasible and 
viable environmental sustainability quality, driving forward best practice 
beyond standard approaches and contributing to wider sustainability 
improvements in the area.  

4. Innovative design, materials, construction, operation and “end of life” phases 
of development and technologies should be used to deliver highest standards 
of environmental sustainability.  

5. Applicants must ensure that measures to improve environmental performance 
and mitigate and adapt to climate change have been integrated into the 
design. 

Circular economy design approaches 

6. Development should be designed to incorporate circular economy principles 
throughout the life cycle of the building through: 

o Flexible building design to accommodate evolving working and living 
patterns, reducing the need for redevelopment;  
 

o Floorspace adaptability to maximise the lifespan of buildings; 
 

o Reuse, refurbishment and retention of existing buildings, structures and 
materials to reduce reliance on virgin resources; 

 
o Designing for disassembly, reuse and recycling of deconstruction 

materials;  
 

o Maximum use of recycled materials in development and off-site 
construction methods to reduce wastage; and 

 
o Designs which enable durability, modularity, sharing of goods and 

services and reuse of supplies and equipment, minimising waste during 
the building’s operational phase. 

Sustainability standards 

Page 175



 

118 

 

7. Proposals for major development will be required to:  

• achieve a minimum BREEAM rating of “excellent” and aim for “outstanding” 
against the current, relevant BREEAM criteria at the time of application, obtaining 
maximum credits for the City’s priorities (energy, water, materials, waste and 
pollution) Climate resilience credit should be achieved for the waste 
category;  

• commit to achieving a minimum NABERS UK rating of 5 stars; 

• demonstrate that London Plan guidance on carbon emissions and air quality 
requirements have been met on site, retaining embodied carbon within 
building structures where feasible. In exceptional circumstances, where 
standards cannot be met on site, carbon offsetting will be required to account for 
the shortfall. This will be secured through a S106 agreement with offsetting 
contributions ring fenced for carbon reduction projects; 

• retain existing buildings and structures where feasible to reduce embodied 
carbon emissions and waste; 

• demonstrate climate resilience in building and landscape design; and 

• incorporate collective infrastructure such as heating and cooling networks, smart 
grids and collective battery renewable energy storage (for example batteries) 
wherever possible, to contribute to a net zero-emissions carbon, zero-waste, 
climate resilient City; and 

• Prioritise the objectives of the City of London Local Area Energy Plan 
(LAEP) to create or link into local energy networks and waste heat sources, 
and include opportunities for heat and cooling transfer to/from nearby 
developments. 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.12. The drivers factors driving for sustainable development are increasing, 
affecting impacting both global and local businesses as well as workers, 
residents and visitors. The businesses that survive will be those that embrace 
sustainability and responsible consumption. The pace and prestigious nature of 
development in the City presents opportunities to incorporate innovative design in 
both new and existing buildings to provide positive environmental outcomes for the 
City’s priorities:  

• Energy, carbon emissions and air pollutants – reducing emissions and 
moving to a net zero emissions and zero carbon city by 2040, in line with the 
requirements of the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy; 

• Water – reducing water use in an area of serious water stress; 

• Pollution – reducing exposure to poor air quality; 

• Materials – retaining embodied carbon in existing buildings and materials, and 
improving resource efficiency. 

Page 176



 

119 

 

12.1.13. Social and environmental responsibility is high on the agenda for many City 
businesses and their workforce and a working environment that supports these 
goals is essential for the City’s future. The London Plan provides a framework for 
driving forward this agenda, but it needs to be implemented at a local level.  

12.1.14. The City of London Zero Emissions Study 2018 Climate Action Strategy 
provides evidence for the trajectory to a zero emissions net zero carbon City by 
2040. The role of collective infrastructures such as smart grids, battery storage, 
heating and cooling networks and hydrogen infrastructure are essential elements 
in the delivery of the net zero carbon City, where decarbonised electricity that 
does not contribute to future local levels of pollution, is the main energy source. 
Heating and cooling networks will increasingly exploit low carbon energy from 
waste heat and heat pump technologies rather than fossil fuels and contribute to 
reductions in primary energy demand, carbon emissions and nitrous oxides. 
Therefore, connection to these networks is expected wherever feasible. This will 
also reduce the need for roof top installations such as boiler flues, cooling 
towers and plant rooms.  subject to appropriate decarbonisation plans.  

12.1.15. As new developments are large consumers of resources and materials, 
the possibility of sensitively refurbishing or retrofitting buildings should be 
considered in preference to demolition. Proposals for substantial demolition 
and reconstruction should be fully justified on the basis of whole-life carbon 
impact, resource and energy use, when compared to the existing building, 
and must justify why redevelopment and new build is the most sustainable 
and suitable apprach. All development should ensure the reduction, reuse or 
recycling of resources and materials, and minimise energy use and 

emissions that contribute to climate change. 

12.1.16.  The application of sustainability standards through this Plan will contribute to 
the achievement of these objectives of the City’s Climate Action Strategy, 
however, guidance in the area of sustainable development is rapidly evolving and 
applicants should use the most up to date guidance to inform their planning 
proposals. 

12.1.17. The circular economy is an alternative to the typical ‘linear’ way of 
treating resources. By finding ways of remanufacturing, reusing or recycling 
materials and keeping them in use for longer, waste can be reduced. The 
circular economy emphasises design for durability and modularity, making 
better use of under-used assets through sharing and offering products as a 
service. Circular economy principles can be applied to buildings and the 
development cycle, reducing the demand for new materials, and to the 
operational phase of a building’s life to minimise annual waste arisings.  

How the policy works 

12.1.18. The approach to retention and/or redevelopment, built form, whole life-
cycle carbon and circular economy for the development should be shaped on 
the basis of the insights derived from the carbon options assessment. 
Applicants should work collaboratively through the carbon options process 
to establish the most sustainable and suitable approach for the site. 

Page 177



 

120 

 

Applicants should demonstrate that they have taken into account principles 
of sustainable design and that measures to improve environmental 
performance and mitigate and adapt to climate change have been integrated 
into the design. 

12.1.19. The requirement for the highest feasible and viable sustainability standards 
applies to all development in the City, including major new development, 
extensions to existing buildings, major refurbishments and minor development. 
Refurbishments of existing buildings are subject to this policy where proposed 
works constitute development. Refurbishments bring the benefit of re-using some 
of the existing building’s embodied carbon. Standards required are those that are in 
place at the time of submission of a planning application. 

12.1.20. Sustainability Statements should be used to provide comprehensive evidence 
of the sustainability of each development. 

12.1.21. For major development the Sustainability Statement should include:  

• a BREEAM pre-assessment or design stage assessment including a 
summary of the credits to be targeted in each category. Planning conditions 
will be used to require submission of a post construction BREEAM certificate 
to demonstrate implementation of the approved designs, achievement of the 
City’s priority credits and identify any performance gaps between design and 
completed development.   

• an energy assessment in line with the Mayor’s Energy Planning Guidance. 
Where carbon offsetting is required, this will be secured through a S106 
agreement with offsetting contributions ring fenced for carbon reduction 
projects in the City or elsewhere.  

• an options appraisal following the City Corporation’s Carbon Options 
Guidance Planning Advice Note to develop a low carbon solution that 
optimises social, economic and environmental sustainability benefits. 

• an air quality assessment to meet the requirements of the London Plan 
demonstrating that the development will not result in deterioration in air 
quality, in line with the City of London Air Quality SPD.  

• details of the proposed adaptation and resilience measures to make the 
building resilient to the climate and weather patterns it will encounter during 
its lifespan. 

• Details of collective infrastructure which has been incorporated to address 
environmental challenges. 

Extensions: 

• If a development proposal includes an extension greater than 25% of the 

existing floorspace or consists of a distinct structure greater than 1,000sq.m, 

the extension on its own should be treated as a major development and 

assessed accordingly, including consideration of London Plan carbon 

emission targets, carbon options appraisal and BREEAM requirements.  

Page 178



 

121 

 

For minor development  

• Although minor development may provide more limited opportunities for the 

incorporation of sustainability features it is important that sustainability is 

considered at the design stage for all projects.  For most minor development 

inclusion of sustainability information in the Design and Access Statement will 

suffice.  

Circular design approaches for EIA development  

12.1.22. For development that requires an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) the Environmental Statement should demonstrate how circular 
economy principles have been incorporated into the development, fully 
addressing how construction, demolition and excavation (CD&E) waste will 
be minimised, deconstruction materials will be reused or recycled and the 
waste arisings during the operational phase of the development will be 
minimised and managed. This should include consideration of on-site 
facilities to reduce the need for waste vehicle movements such as on-site 
composting or anaerobic digestion, or waste consolidation. 

12.1.23. A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance 
should be submitted for all EIA development. 

Other Major development  

12.1.24. For all other Major development proposals, the sustainability statement 
should provide evidence of the application of circular economy principles 
and the adherence to the waste hierarchy. This could include reuse of 
existing buildings and structures, provision of Site Waste Management 
Strategies for the construction phase and Zero Waste Plans for the 
operational stage of the development. Major development should aim to 
achieve maximum BREEAM credits for Waste. 

12.1.25. A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance 
should be submitted for all Major development. 

All other development 

12.1.26. For all other development, the Design and Access statement should 
demonstrate how waste minimisation and the circular economy have been 
considered in the design of the development. 

 

Policy DE2: Design Quality New Development 

1. Development should be of a world-class an exemplar standard of design, 
aesthetics and architectural detail and should enhance the townscape and public 
realm. Development that would adversely affect the character, appearance or 
amenities of the buildings or area will be resisted.  

2. The design of all new development must ensure that: 

Page 179



 

122 

 

• The bulk and layout, form, scale, massing and appearance of schemes are 
appropriate in relation to their surroundings and have due regard to the 
general scale, height, building lines, character, historic interest and 
significance, urban grain and materials of the locality and relate well to the 
character of the area; 

• The site layout takes account of established and potential pedestrian 
desire lines enhancing pedestrian permeability; 

• Buildings and public spaces are inclusive and accessible for everyone; 

• The architecture and urban design function well, are visually attractive 
with high quality detailing, finishes and materials, and enrich the overall 
quality of the area for the long term; 

• Elevations have active, engaging and welcoming street frontages; 

• The development incorporates high quality landscape design and 
maximises opportunities for greening, biodiversity and public realm 
improvements; 

• Innovative design approaches are used to create high quality buildings 
that meet high sustainability standards, and integrate well with the 
surroundings; 

• It is constructed using appropriate, high quality, low carbon, sustainable 
and durable materials are used; 

• The design and materials It avoids unacceptable wind, loss of daylight and 
sunlight and thermal comfort impacts at street level or intrusive solar glare 
impacts on the surrounding townscape and public realm;  

• Development has attractive and visually interesting street level elevations, 
providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or enhance the 
vitality of the City’s streets; 

• The proposed uses and activities can be are accommodated within the 
curtilage of the development and do not rely on use of the public realm, 
including the use of public highway; 

• The plant and building services equipment are fully screened from view and 
integrated into the design of the building such that there are no adverse 
impacts on amenity in surrounding areas; 

• Servicing entrances are designed to minimise their effects on the appearance 
of the building and street scene and are fully integrated into the building’s 
design;  

• There is provision of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, including 
appropriate boundary treatments and urban greening; 

• Buildings are inclusive and accessible to all; 

• Security and safety measures are incorporated into the design at an early 
stage to avoid the need to retro-fit measures that adversely impact on the 
public realm or the quality of design; and 

Page 180



 

123 

 

• Opportunities are taken to enhance the The form, profile and appearance of 
the roofscape adds visual interest and complements the building. 

3. Applicants will be encouraged to undertake meaningful developer-led 
engagement before submitting their planning application in line with the 
Developer Engagement Guidance;  

4. Applicants will be required to provide digital 3D visualisations of their 
developments in an open source or other format compatible with the City 
Corporation’s 3D digital modelling technology. These visualisations should be 
used to inform pre-application and post application consultation with local 
communities and stakeholders. 

5. Applicants will be required to ensure the quality of the approved development 
is not materially diminished between permission and completion as a result of 
changes to the permitted to scheme. 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.27. Buildings and spaces around buildings affect us all – they are where we 
live, work and spend our leisure time; they shape our experiences as we 
spend time in them and move around them. Therefore central to delivering 
the right kind of growth, it is important to ensure that buildings are of high 
quality design; 

12.1.28. Given the exceptional quality of the City’s built environment, it’s essential 
for new developments to capture and enhance the qualities and 
characteristics that make it a special place; The network of routes and spaces, 
the scale, form, architectural expression and detailed design of buildings, together 
with the use of particular building materials, and the contribution of these elements 
to the composition of street blocks are all characteristic of, and combine to 
produce, the close-knit and intricate townscape of the City. It is important that new 
buildings and alterations respect and reinforce this general character. The City has 
dynamic, striking and internationally acclaimed architecture as well as more 
contextual buildings appropriate to their townscape setting.  

How the policy works 

12.1.29. This policy expects applicants to approach the design of new buildings, 
extensions or modifications to existing buildings in an interesting, innovative 
and appropriate manner. Whilst no particular architectural style is 
encouraged, the expectation is that every scheme should be of the highest 
quality meeting the requirements set out in this policy and should be based 
on a sound understanding of the site and its context, A series of key 
characteristic features have been identified in the City’s Character Areas 
Study, which should be applied to understand the underlying character of the 
different areas of the City. In assessing development proposals, careful 
consideration will be given to the scale, form, massing, appearance and 
those distinctive features that contribute to the area’s unique identity and 
local character.  

Page 181



 

124 

 

12.1.30. Good design is a key aspect for creating places, buildings or spaces that 
work well for everyone, look good, last long and can adapt to the changing 
needs of future generations. Making the right choices at all levels of the 
design process is therefore very important. The development proposals will 
be required to clearly articulate the design evolution from the conceptual 
stage to the final product. This narrative should be set out in the Design and 
Access Statement and should address the key design aspects outlined in the 
National Design Guidance: 

o the layout 
o the form 
o the scale of buildings 
o their appearance 
o landscape 
o materials 
o their detailing 

 
12.1.31. In assessing development schemes detailed consideration will be given to the 

bulk and massing and special characteristics of their locality. All development 
proposals are expected to have a high standard of design and architectural 
detailing. 

12.1.32. Wind conditions and solar glare may have an adverse effect on the 
surrounding townscape and the quality and use of the public realm. Assessments 
will need to be carried out on the impact of proposed development on wind 
conditions, thermal comfort and solar glare. Any adverse impacts should be 
minimised and unavoidable impacts will need to be mitigated. Appropriate 
measures to achieve this should be integrated into the design of the development. 
The City Corporation has published guidelines for developers on wind microclimate 
studies required to support planning applications. Further guidance is available on 
solar glare, solar convergence and daylight and sunlight impacts of development. 
The City Corporation will publish a further Planning Advice Note for developers on 
addressing thermal comfort in the public realm.   

12.1.33. The design and implementation executionof building extensions and 
alterationsto buildings, such as entrances and windows, are important of 
considerable importance since because they have a cumulative effect on the 
overall character and appearance of the City. Extensions or alterations should be 
considered in relation to the architectural character of the building, designed to 
minimise their impact and integrated into the design of the building.  Alterations and 
extensions should achieve a successful design relationship with their surroundings, 
taking full account of the local context and the setting of the building. 

12.1.34. In most buildings, the ground floor elevation has the most effect on public 
amenity, so its design should be given particular attention to ensure that it is 
legible, visually attractive and provides active frontages. Blank frontages and 
ventilation louvres should be avoided. Ventilation louvres, where necessary, should 
be located away from busy streets. Servicing entrances should be carefully 
designed to minimise adverse effects on the townscape. 

Page 182



 

125 

 

12.1.35. Buildings must be able to accommodate proposed uses within the curtilage of 
the development, including provision of tables and chairs. Proposed uses must not 
rely on the use of space in the public realm, including the use of public highway. 

12.1.36. The City of London has many public and private viewing galleries, terraces and 
tall buildings, meaning that many workers, residents and visitors see the 
townscape from above.  Attention should be given to the form, profile and general 
appearance of the roofscape to ensure that it complements the building as viewed 
from surrounding buildings as well as from the ground. The potential to add visual 
interest to a roofscape, including greening, should be designed in from the outset. 

12.1.37. Plant should be located below ground. Where this is not feasible, it should be 
satisfactorily integrated into the form and design of the roof. It should be enclosed 
and covered where it would otherwise harm the appearance of the building, the 
general scene, or views from other buildings. Intake points should be located away 
from existing and potential pollution sources (e.g. busy roads and combustion 
flues). All combustion flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest 
building in the development to ensure maximum dispersion of pollutants. 
Consideration should be given to the use of external heating and cooling supplies 
from district heating and cooling networks, such as the Citigen network, where 
available, as these may avoid or reduce the need for roof top installations such as 
boiler flues, cooling towers and plant rooms, as well as providing wider 
environmental benefits.  

12.1.38. Servicing entrances can have a detrimental impact on the appearance of the 
building and its immediate setting and can harm otherwise attractive pedestrian 
routes. The City Corporation expects innovative design solutions for servicing 
entrances and adjacent areas to minimise their visual impact and to enable them to 
be integrated into the design of the building. Design solutions must respect the 
sensitive nature of listed buildings and conservation areas. Gates and doors should 
be well designed and should be kept closed when the entrance to the service bay 
is not in use. 

Ventilation or extraction systems should be routed internally, and extensive or 
unsightly external ducting will not normally be permitted. Provision must be made 
within the building for services and ducting to and from all uses. Ventilation 
systems in new build premises for extracting and dispersing any emissions and 
cooking smells must be discharged at roof level and designed, installed, operated 
and maintained in accordance with manufacturer’s specification in order to prevent 
smells and emissions adversely affecting neighbours. For changes of use, 
developers and/or occupiers should investigate the potential to vent emissions to 
the roof. Developers should provide suitable rooftop ventilation, where 
appropriate. Where it can be demonstrated that venting of such emissions to the 
roof is not practical, venting to an adjacent footway will only be acceptable where 
the extraction system is of the highest specification for odour abatement and there 
is no adverse impact on neighbours by virtue of smells or other emissions. Other 
ventilation louvres should not be sited by adjoining footways. 

12.1.39. Developments should incorporate suitable off-street facilities for smokers 
wherever possible to avoid the need for smokers to congregate on the pavements.  

Page 183



 

126 

 

12.1.40. Developers should provide suitable rooftop ventilation for the City’s sewer 
network, where appropriate, and this should be integrated into the design of 
buildings. 

12.1.41. Strategic Policy S2 (Safe and Secure City) and Policy SA3 (Designing in 
Security) set out how appropriate security and safety provision must be 
incorporated into all development. 

Policy DE3: Public Realm 

The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, Transport for London and 
Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), and other key stakeholders organisations 
to design and implement schemes for the enhancement of the streets and spaces 
between buildings and the creation of new spaces including public squares, parks, 
open spaces, viewing galleries, rooftops, forecourts, streets, courts, alleyways, 
routes and spaces between buildings.  

Public Realm Design 

Public realm schemes must be of a high standard of design, sustainability, surface 
treatment and landscaping, must havinge regard to: 

1. The need to provide high quality, inclusive, welcoming, well designed, safe, 
and functional public realm that takes into account how people will use the 
space; 

2. The wellbeing of users ensuring appropriate shade and shelter, provision of 
areas with access to direct sunlight and taking into consideration 
microclimatic conditions including temperature, wind, exposure to noise, air 
pollution to create places that encourage people to dwell and spend time;  

3. The predominant use and function of the space and adjacent spaces;  

4. The use of sustainable natural and high quality materials, avoiding an excessive 
range and whilst harmonising the proposals with the surroundings of the scheme 
and the materials used throughout the City;   

5. The inclusion of trees and The need to increase the provision of green 
infrastructure, incuding tree planting, urban greening, soft landscaping and the 
promotion of the delivery of net gains in biodiversity, and where feasible 
linking up to link up existing habitats, green spaces and routes to provide 
green corridors;  

6. The City’s heritage, identifying, and retaining, and better revealing features that 
contribute positively to the character, cultural and leisure experience and 
appearance of the City;   

7. The need to integrate high quality public art as part of the public realm 
design; 

8. The provision of sustainable drainage, where feasible, co-ordinating the design with 
adjacent buildings to facilitate the implementation of rainwater recycling 
management; 

Page 184



 

127 

 

9. The need to improve pedestrian amenity, provide accessible and inclusive design 
that meets the needs of different usersensuring that streets and walkways remain 
uncluttered and encourage walking, cycling and wheeling enhance pedestrian 
permeability; and 

10. The promotion of active travel, delivering interventions which improve the 
design of streets and spaces for pedestrians and cyclists in line with the 
Healthy Streets Approach;  

11. The need to provide a high quality, safe and functional public realm;  

12. The sensitive co-ordination of lighting with the overall design of the scheme;  

13. The need to provide public amenities including seating and free water 
drinking fountains. 

14. The wellbeing of users in relation to air pollution, noise, temperatures, shading and 
microclimate. 

Inclusive and Accessible Public Realm 

The public realm should be welcoming, inclusive and accessible to all; it 
should be free to use and access.   
 

Development proposals should: 

 

1. Provide inclusive and accessible public realm that meets the existing and 
future needs of all user groups; 

2. Ensure public spaces are open, welcoming, inclusive, free to use, and fully 
publicly accessible and that appropriate management and operational 
arrangements are in place. Where the development creates new public 
realm or affects the use of existing public ream, it should be ensured that 
public access to the space is maximised and the rules governing the space 
are minimised to those required for its safe management, in accordance 
with the Mayor’s Public London Charter. A Management Plan should be 
provided setting out how the space will be used and managed at different 
times of the day and different days of the week.  

3. Ensure public spaces are free to use and access and align with the 
principles contained in the Mayor’s Public London Charter; any restrictions 
to public access will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances, subject 
to a legal agreement and should be the minimum necessary, appropriate 
and reasonable.  

Reason for the policy 

12.1.42. The City of London is a dense urban environment, with a limited amount 
of public realm.Most streets and public spaces accommodate a high level of 
pedestrian footfall and perform a variety of functions above and beyond 
accommodating the movement of people. The City’s streets and public 
spaces are where public life takes place, where workers, residents and 

Page 185



 

128 

 

visitors experience the City as a whole. Given the limited amount of space 
available at ground floor level in the City, public realm proposals must make 
effective use of the limited land resource and be of the highest design 
quality, maximising benefits for the public.  

12.1.43. To attract a greater and more diverse range of people to the city at 
different times of the day and on different days of the week, the design of the 
public realm must cater for a wide variety of requirements. The management 
and curation of the public realm influences how it is used and its appeals to 
different user groups. Management and maintenance of public space should 
be limited to minimise rules governing public spaces to avoid management 
regimes being implemented that set unnecessary rules for how people 
should behave. Whether publicly or privately owned, public realm should be 
open, free to use, welcoming and offer the highest level of public access. 
These spaces should only have rules restricting the behaviour of the public 
that are essential for safe management of the space.  

12.1.44. The City Corporation will actively promote schemes for the enhancement of the 
street scene and public realm. High quality natural materials are characteristic of 
the City of London and add greatly to the character and identity of streets, courts 
and spaces. Wherever possible, the City Corporation will retain these surface 
materials and will carry out repairs to match and extend their use.  Elsewhere, the 
City Corporation will encourage a limited palette of materials, providing continuity in 
the streetscape, and ease of access through the City.   

How the policy works 

12.1.45. The City Corporation will actively promote schemes for the enhancement 
of the public realm in accordance with the Healthy Streets Approach, the 
Mayor’s Public London Charter, the Mayor of London’s Streetscape 
Guidance, the City of London Public Realm SPD, the City of London Public 
Realm Toolkit, the City of London Transport Strategy and the Climate Action 
Strategy.  

12.1.46. Developers will be required to demonstrate that public realm 
enhancements will improve the function and appearance of the space. An 
assessment will be required to demonstrate how the development will 
function in terms of the use of the public space, pedestrian desire lines, and 
potential congestion or conflict, and what public realm enhancements will be 
required to deliver a functional, inclusive, accessible, safe and attractive 
public space.   

12.1.47. Public realm design should follow best practice place-making principles, 
by creating site layouts that positively respond to the context and 
microclimatic conditions, and using materials that harmonise spaces. 
Development proposals that deliver new or improved high quality public 
space will be encouraged and the provision of outdoor public space at 
ground level will be prioritised. There will be a particular focus on creating 
new routes and spaces that link the public realm network, connect key 
destinations in the City, and provide attractive walking and cycling routes 

Page 186



 

129 

 

and public spaces. These spaces should encourage people to dwell and 
spend time, and provide amenity for people’s health and well-being.   

12.1.48. The provision of tree planting will be encouraged to improve climate 
resilience, provide shade and visual amenity. It should be ensured that tree 
planting is feasible with below ground constraints.  

12.1.49.  .  A draft public realm management plan must be provided at the pre-
application stage, outlining how the public realm will be designed and 
managed in accordance with the London Plan and the Public London Charter 
principles. Public realm management plans will be secured through s106 
agreements. These plans should ensure that the design, and management 
regime that govern public spaces maximises public accessibility and 
supports the requirements of this policy. It should demonstrate how the 
public space will operate and be managed at different times of the day, and at 
different times of the week. 

12.1.50. Through site analysis and public engagement, developers should identify 
existing uses and users of public space and develop proposals that support 
and encourage the existing and future use of the space, while seeking to 
ensure public spaces are inclusive and accessible for all.  

12.1.51. Further information on design requirements for the public realm is 
available in the City Public Realm SPD, the City Public Realm Technical 
Manual, Conservation Area Character Summaries and Management 
Strategies, where appropriate, the Mayor of London’s Streetscape Guidance 
and the Public London Charter.  

12.1.52. The City Corporation will undertake public realm enhancement works through 
specifically targeted projects or in association with general street maintenance and 
vehicle, cycle and pedestrian traffic management schemes. The City Corporation 
will use s106 planning obligations, s278 highways contributions, the Community 
Infrastructure Levy and funding from external sources to deliver enhancement 
works. 

12.1.53. All projects in the public realm should be inclusive in design so that they 
provide equal access for all people in the City. Consideration should be 
given to design features which prevent damage from the activities of skaters, 
such as metal studs incorporated into street furniture and hard surfaces. 
Designs should be robust and durable and use sustainable and low carbon 
materials. 

12.1.54. The incorporation of artworks or integral decoratice features, such as 
sculptures, fountains and schemes included in the City Arts Initiative, to 
create animated spaces, will be encouraged. Early consideration of their 
design, management and maintenance regime. Detailed guidance is provided 
in Policy CV5. 

12.1.55. Further information on design requirements for the public realm is 
available in the City Public Realm SPD, the City Public Realm Technical 

Page 187



 

130 

 

Manual, Conservation Area Character Summaries and Management 
Strategies, where appropriate, and the Mayor of London’s Streetscape 
Guidance. 

Policy DE4: Pedestrian permeability 

• Improved wayfinding will be sought through public realm improvements.   

 Development will be required to contribute towards the improvement of pedestrian 
permeability in the City by: 

• Providing legible, good quality, safe and low pollution pedestrian connections 
between spaces; 

• Providing new pedestrian routes through buildings and development sites, 
where feasible, and respecting, maintaining and restoring, the City’s 
characteristic network of accessible buildings, streets, courts and alleyways;  

• Providing publicly accessible ground floors for improved pedestrian 
movement, where feasible; 

• Providing pedestrian routes that are of adequate width, step-free and follow 
best practice in street design to encourage ease of movement. 

2. Developments should enhance pedestrian permeability and not lead to the loss of 
routes and spaces that enhance the City’s function, character and historic interest.  

Reason for the policy 

12.1.56. The intensification of the use of buildings and the increase in the City’s working 
population are putting added pressure on the capacity, convenience, comfort and 
safety of the spaces, streets, lanes and alleys at the heart of the City.  Peak times 
are particularly busy for all forms of transport, and the potential for conflict between 
modes of travel is increased. 

12.1.57. Most travel in and through the City is on foot. The City Corporation has 
adopted Transport for London’s Legible London as a means of improving 
wayfinding within and through the City of London. 

How the policy works 

12.1.58. In order to reduce pedestrian congestion and improve pedestrian access 
through the public realm, new pathways for moving through the City will need to be 
created or re-established. Spreading the footfall across a wider area will help to 
create a more vibrant and comfortable street network. 

12.1.59. Development will be expected to deliver net gains in the public realm, through 
the establishment of new pedestrian routes around and through buildings, having 
regard to the cumulative impact of their development alongside existing and 
permitted development on the capacity of pedestrian routes. Publicly accessible 
ground floors will be encouraged where pedestrian desire lines would otherwise be 
affected and permeability of the City compromised. The City Corporation has 
developed a block size analysis which identifies large impermeable street blocks 

Page 188



 

131 

 

across the City in order to prioritise the identification of new pedestrian routes 
through development proposals. Over the Plan period the aim is to reduce the 
proportion of larger street blocks (shown in blue on Figure 11) and to increase the 
proportion of smaller blocks.  

12.1.60. Developers will be required to meet the cost of updates to the Legible London 
map database which are required as a result of development, and to fund the 
provision of new Legible London totems, where necessary.  

Policy DE5: Terraces and Elevated Public Spaces Viewing Galleries 

1. Roof terraces will be encouraged where:  

• The roof terrace is visually integrated into the overall design of the building 
when seen from both street level and higher-level viewpoints;  

• There would be no immediate overlooking of residential premises, 
unacceptable disturbance from noise or other significantly adverse impacts on 
residential amenity. Where there is a potential for a significantly adverse 
impact, the use of an extensive green roof and a restriction on access should 
be considered as an alternative; 

• Historic or locally distinctive roof forms, features or structures can be retained 
and enhanced;  

• There would be no adverse impact on protected views;  

• The design and layout of the terrace optimises the potential for urban 
greening; 

• Emissions from combustion plant will not affect users of the terrace. 

2. Where roof terraces and elevated public spaces viewing galleries are proposed, 
safety and security risks must be addressed at the design stage and space for 
security checks and any hostile vehicle mitigation incorporated into the 
development, where required. 

3. The provision Requiring all tall buildings or major developments to provide free 
to enter, publicly accessible elevated spaces areas will be required as part of all 
tall building or major developments, which may include roof gardens, and terraces, or 
public viewing galleries, or other retail or leisure facilities to create attractive 
destinations for people to enjoy the City’s spectacular skyline and views at 
upper levels, where appropriate.  

Reason for the policy 

12.1.61. Roof gardens and terraces are becoming increasingly common in the City, in 
response to demand from developers and occupiers. Public and private roof 
gardens and terraces present an opportunity for additional amenity space, urban 
greenery and the creation of new viewpoints of the City and the surrounding areas, 
thereby reinforcing London’s cultural and historic attractions.  

 

Page 189



 

132 

 

How the policy works 

12.1.62. The City Corporation encourages proposals for roof gardens and terraces 
where they are sympathetic to existing roof forms and features, particularly those of 
historic interest or which are otherwise locally distinctive and where they do not 
impact adversely on residential amenity. There should be no impact on strategic or 
locally protected views, including from planting.  

12.1.63. Where roof terraces and gardens are publicly accessible, entrances should not 
result in safety or security concerns, create congestion or adversely impact on the 
environmental quality at street level. Security implications should be considered at 
the design stage of the development, including making provision for security 
checks within the development and hostile vehicle mitigation, where required. 
Opening hours may be managed by condition or agreement, particularly where 
there are residential premises nearby. Roof terraces should not significantly 
increase noise levels or result in unacceptable light spillage in areas with residents 
or other sensitive uses. Appropriate safety features should be included to prevent 
people from jumping reduce the potential for suicide or falling from buildings. 
The City Corporation has adopted is producing guidelines to advise developers on 
best practice to reduce the potential for suicides from tall buildings. The positioning 
of combustion flues should be carefully considered so as to not expose users of the 
roof terrace to pollution emissions from combustion plant. 

12.1.64. Public access to tall buildings within the City is important in creating an 
inclusive city. Tall buildings should provide publicly accessible, step-free areas 
which that are free to enter and inclusively designed. These may include public 
viewing galleries at upper levels or other forms of open space provision and may 
provide retail, leisure or educational facilities to enhance their attraction, where 
this would not undermine the inclusivity of the space.  

Policy DE6: Shopfronts   

Shopfronts should be of a high standard of design and appearance to create an 
attractive and welcoming retail and leisure experience on City streets. 
Inappropriate designs and alterations will be resisted. Shopfront proposals should:  

1. Help to create active frontages, designed in ways that facilitate the visual 
and physical permeability of the building; 

2. Respect the quality and architectural contribution of any existing shopfront;   

3. Maintain the relationship between the shopfront, any fascia, the building and its 
context;  

4. Use materials which are sympathetic to the wider context and are of high quality;  

5. Ensure that signage is in appropriate locations and in proportion to the shopfront;  

6. Take into account the impact of louvres, plant and access to refuse storage;   

7. Ensure that Consider the potential to use awnings and canopies to provide 
shade and mitigate against adverse climate impacts. Where they are 
provided, they should are positioned only in locations where they would not 

Page 190



 

133 

 

harm the appearance of the shopfront, obstruct architectural features or views and 
are should be in compliance with highway requirements;  

8. Avoid openable shopfronts or large serving openings where they would have a 
harmful impact on the appearance of the building and/or amenity of the area; 

9. Avoid external shutters and contain alternative security measures, where required;   

10. Avoid opaque windows and provide retail displays which encourage browsing and 
passive surveillance;   

11. Ensure that the design is inclusive incorporating level entrances and adequate 
door widths; and 

12. Ensure that internal shop lighting does not create inappropriate light spillage into 
the public realm.  

 
Reason for the policy 

12.1.65. Shopfronts are important elements in the townscape and can contribute 
significantly to the street scene. The design of a shopfront should recognise this 
and be appropriate to, or enhance, the building and its location. It should respect 
the design of the building and not obscure, or result in damage to, existing 
architectural features. 

12.1.66. Existing shopfronts should be retained where they contribute to the 
appearance or special interest of a building or the street scene, particularly in listed 
buildings or conservation areas, or those that are of design or historic significance 
in their own right or as part of a group. Any modifications necessary should be 
sympathetic to the original design. 

How the policy works 

12.1.67. New shopfront proposals should relate to the upper floors of the building and 
surrounding buildings, providing consistency with neighbouring premises, where 
appropriate. New shopfronts should utilise high quality materials and finishes. The 
City Corporation will seek a reduction in fascias of excessive dimensions (height, 
width and depth) which that are out of proportion or scale with the shopfront or 
have a detrimental visual effect on the building or the street scene.  

12.1.68. Modification to shopfronts and shopfront designs to incorporate louvres, plant 
or refuse accommodation should be undertaken in a manner sympathetic to the 
design and character of the building where they cannot be accommodated in less 
sensitive elevations. The use of awnings and canopies should be considered to 
address climate impacts, where appropriate, and should be integrated into the 
shopfront design in relation to size, location and materials. 

12.1.69. Fully openable shopfronts and large serving openings may be refused where 
they create a void at ground floor level that could harm the appearance of buildings 
and create potential amenity issues. 

Page 191



 

134 

 

12.1.70. Required security measures should be internal to limit their visual impact on 
shopfronts and deliver an active frontage. External security shutters are not 
normally acceptable, except where they are a characteristic of historic shopfronts. 
Internal shutters should be perforated to enable visibility into the shop and passive 
surveillance. To enliven frontages and enable passive surveillance, all retail 
frontages should provide good visibility and glazing should not be blanked out. The 
installation of security glass and steel reinforced frontages will be considered in the 
context of the impact on the appearance and historic significance of the shopfront. 

Retail entrances – including alterations to existing buildings – should be 
designed with level entrances and doorways that toenable inclusive access by all. 
Other measures and movable portable ramps should be used exceptionally where 
level entrance is not feasible. Where alterations would have an impact on 
heritage assets, all feasible options should be explored to provide the 
highest levels of inclusion. 
 

 
Policy DE7: Advertisements  

1. Advertising must be of a high standard of design, restrained in amount and in 
keeping with the character of the City.  

2. Excessive or obtrusive advertising, inappropriate illuminated signs and the display of 
advertisements above ground floor level will be resisted. 

3. Advertising flags and banners may be appropriate to support cultural 
institutions.  

4. High quality temporary advertising associated with one-off events may be 
appropriate, where it would contribute to the vibrancy of the Square Mile and 
make a positive contribution to amenity and public safety. 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.71. To protect and enhance the character of the City’s streets, the City Corporation 
considers that advertising material should be restrained in quantity and form. Poor 
quality advertisements harm the street scene and the unique character of the City 
of London. The City Corporation will exercise advertisement control having regard 
to visual amenity and public safety and will seek improvements to the design of 
advertisements, where necessary. 

How the policy works 

12.1.72. Advertising hoardings and advertisements on street furniture will not normally 
be permitted as these detract from the character of the City. The display of 
advertisements on construction site hoardings will be resisted unless directly 
related to the development site. Construction hoardings may, however, provide an 
opportunity to add interest to the street scene by including images and information 
about the development under construction. Further guidance is contained in the 
City Corporation’s Hoardings Advice Note. 

Page 192



 

135 

 

12.1.73. The design of advertising material should respect its locality and use 
appropriate materials of high quality. Advertisements should be appropriate to the 
frontage served and should not include static or moving projection of images 
beyond the frontage, such as laser projections and projections on building façades, 
to protect visual amenity and public safety. Illumination of advertisements should 
be discreet and incorporate LEDs to reduce the overall bulk and energy use of 
signage. Advertising flags and banners will not normally be permitted except where 
appropriate for cultural institutions. Rotating advertisements will be resisted as 
these detract from the City’s character.  

12.1.74. Particular care will be necessary with advertisements on or in the setting of 
listed buildings and within conservation areas. Internal illumination of 
advertisements in such areas will not normally be permitted.  

12.1.75. Advertisements above ground level are frequently detrimental to the 
appearance and visual amenity of the street scene and can detract from the 
character and qualities of individual buildings by obscuring architectural features 
and the City’s streetscape and skyline. While there are exceptions, such as 
traditional or historic signs, signs in an elevated position will not usually be 
permitted.  

12.1.76. Appropriate action will be taken to have unauthorised advertisements removed. 

The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy requires that pavements are kept clear 

of obstructions through a range of actions, which include not permitting A-boards 

on the pavement and encouraging owners and occupiers not to place A-boards on 

private land adjacent to the pavement. 

Policy DE8: Daylight and sunlight 

1. Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that the daylight and sunlight 
available to nearby dwellings and other sensitive receptors including schools, 
hospitals, hotels and hostels, places of worship and open spaces, is appropriate 
for its context and provides acceptable living standards of daylight and sunlight, 
taking account of the Building Research Establishment’s guidelines. 

2. Development proposals should have regard to the daylight and sunlight levels 
of historic interiors and should seek opportunities to improve daylight and 
sunlight levels where this would be achievable and appropriate. 

3. The design of new developments should allow for the lighting needs of intended 
occupiers and provide acceptable levels of daylight and sunlight consistent with a city 
centre context, minimising the need for artificial lighting. 

4. Development should incorporate design measures to mitigate adverse solar glare 
effects on surrounding buildings and public realm. 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.77. The City is an urban centre with a very high density of buildings, resulting in 
lower average levels of daylight and sunlight to buildings and spaces in comparison 

Page 193



 

136 

 

to suburban or rural areas. The amount of daylight and sunlight received has an 
important effect on the amenity of dwellings, the appearance and enjoyment of the 
open spaces and streets of the City, and the energy efficiency of all buildings. 
Access to appropriate levels of daylight and sunlight is important for the mental 
health of workers and residents. Daylight and sunlight can enhance historic 
interiors, particularly those that have a cultural or community function 
including religious buildings.  

 

How the policy works 

12.1.78. The Building Research Establishment (BRE) has issued guidelines in ‘Site 
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ that set out a methodology for assessing 
changes in daylight and sunlight arising from new development. The City 
Corporation will apply these methods, consistent with BRE and NPPF guidance 
that ideal daylight and sunlight conditions may not be practicable in densely 
developed city-centre locations. Given the importance of the City’s open spaces in 
a high-density urban environment, the impact of any changes to sunlight on the 
public realm will need to be carefully evaluated even if proposals comply with BRE 
guidelines. Developers will be required to submit daylight and sunlight 
assessments and undertake radiance studies in support of their proposals. The 
City Corporation may require independent verification of these assessments at the 
developer’s expense. 

12.1.79. When considering proposed changes to existing lighting levels, the City 
Corporation will take account of the cumulative effect of development proposals, 
and existing levels of light if they are low. The City Corporation will take into 
account unusual existing circumstances, such as development on an open or low-
rise site as well as the presence of balconies or other external features, which limit 
the daylight and sunlight that a building can receive. The City Corporation will 
publish further guidance for City developers on how it expects BRE guidance 
to be used and interpreted, including guidance on the use of methodologies 
such as radiance studies to enable better understanding of daylight and 
sunlight impacts to a range of existing land uses. 

12.1.80. Planning considerations concerning daylight and sunlight operate 
independently of any common law rights and any light and air agreements which 
may exist. If a development is considered beneficial in the public interest and has 
planning permission, but it is not proceeding due to rights to light issues, the City 
Corporation may consider acquiring interests in land or appropriating land for 
planning purposes to enable development to proceed. 

Policy DE9: Lighting 

1. Development should be designed in ways that consider the impacts of 
internal and external lighting and should include measures to reduce 
energy consumption, avoid spillage beyond where it is needed and protect 
the amenity of light-sensitive uses such as housing, hospitals, relevant 

Page 194



 

137 

 

open spaces and community uses. The design of lighting should be 
informed by the potential impacts on biodiversity, and should seek to make 
the City a safer and more welcoming place to be for all its communities after 
dark. 

2. The external lighting of buildings should contribute positively to the unique 
character and – where relevant – grandeur of the City townscape by night.  

3. External lighting of heritage assets within the City must be sympathetic to the 
building and the wider context in terms of tone and brightness. 

4. Applications for major development and for lighting schemes should follow 
the submission requirements set out in the Lighting SPD (Lighting Strategy, 
Lighting Concept and Technical Lighting Design). All other applications 
should address how lighting has been considered as part of the 
submission.  

1. Lighting should be sensitively co-ordinated with the overall design of any new 
development, having regard to siting, scale, type, intensity and colour temperature 
of light. Development proposals should Lighting early in the design process. 

5. Development should incorporate measures to reduce light spillage from external 
and internal lighting, particularly where it would impact adversely on neighbouring 
occupiers, the wider public realm and biodiversity. 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.81. Lighting tThe City Corporation’s Lighting Strategy contributes to the City’s 
wider aims of to improve the night-time offering and creatinge an after-dark street 
experience that befits a world class business and cultural centre. Well-designed 
lighting schemes on commercial properties within the City can help create an 
attractive night-time townscape and enhance the experience for visitors, whilst 
avoiding disturbance to residents.   

12.1.82. Development has the potential to positively or adversely affect the level 
and quality of lighting in the surrounding area, so the lighting scheme should 
be incorporated into the detailed design process at an early stage. Careful 
planning and design are required to ensure proper consideration of key 
issues where lighting has an impact such as movement, accessibility, safety, 
security as well as the reduction of energy use and light pollution. 

Sensitively designed lighting schemes can improve accessibility for disabled 
people by reducing glare and excessive contrast. Well-designed lighting can 
support the prevention and detection of crime and anti-social behaviour and 
improve the perception of personal security. In the City, the predominance of 
glazed office buildings can lead to light pollution, which can impact 

Page 195



 

138 

 

residential amenity, undermine biodiversity and cause harm to wildlife. 
Impacts on the City’s open spaces – including the riverfront – are important 
considerations.  

12.1.83. Development has the potential to positively or adversely affect the level of 
lighting in the surrounding area, so the lighting scheme should be incorporated into 
the detailed design process at an early stage. Intensity, colour, scale and glare are 
all factors to be considered. Sensitively designed lighting schemes can improve 
accessibility for those with disabilities by reducing glare and excessive contrast. 
Lighting can support the prevention and detection of crime and anti-social 
behaviour and improve the perception of personal security. In the City, the 
predominance of glazed office buildings can lead to light spillage concerns for 
neighbouring residents with a potential impact on wellbeing. Avoidance of light 
spillage onto urban green spaces is crucial for biodiversity. 

How the policy works 
 
12.1.84. The highlighting of key buildings, bridges and other points of interest within the 

City at night time is appropriate where it enhances the overall experience of this 
unique area, and provides orientation and wayfinding after dark.  

12.1.85. The Illuminated River art project, to be implemented fully by 2022, will enhance 
the visual impact at night time through lighting of all 5 bridges located in the City. 
This will be complemented by a reduction in street lighting on the bridges.  

12.1.86. The external illumination of buildings, where appropriate, should be carefully 
designed to ensure visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, and 
the discreet integration of light fittings into the building design. Lighting intensity, 
tone and colour need to respect the architectural form and detail of the building, be 
sensitive to the setting of historic buildings and limit adverse effects upon adjacent 
areas, uses and biodiversity.  

12.1.87. There is potential for badly designed lighting schemes to generate light 
pollution with adverse impacts on neighbours and the natural environment, as well 
as incurring unnecessary costs for the occupier. The design of lighting schemes 
should be considered at an early stage in the development design process, having 
regard to the City of London Lighting Strategy SPD. For major applications and 
lighting schemes, Developers should submit a Lighting Strategy at pre-
application stage, a Lighting Concept with their planning application, and 
Technical Lighting Design details through condition if the application if a 
proposal includes the installation of external lighting or light spillage into the 
public realm is approved. All other applications should consider the lighting 
impacts as part of the application. 

12.1.88. The City Corporation will prepare further planning guidance to assist 
developers in the design of appropriate lighting schemes. Detailed information on 
requirements for lighting can be found in the City of London Lighting Strategy. 

Page 196



 

139 

 

12.1.89. Owners, occupiers and managers of existing buildings will be 
encouraged to adopt the principles set out in the Lighting SPD by signing up 
to the ‘Considerate Lighting Charter’ in the SPD. 

 

  

Page 197



 

140 

 

 
 

 Transport 

13.1. Vehicular Transport and Servicing 

Context 

The City is served by an extensive public transport network with six mainline 
railway stations, 12 underground and DLR stations and an extensive network of 
bus routes. Transport for London identifies the whole of the City of London as 
having a Public Transport Accessibility rating of above 6, the highest possible 
score. In addition, major rail termini near the City are used by large numbers of City 
commuters. Significant improvements are being made to public transport provision, 
particularly with the opening of the Elizabeth Line with two stations in the City at 
Farringdon and Liverpool Street/Moorgate. There are also river bus services which 
stop at Blackfriars Pier and at Tower Pier just outside the City. 

The City has access to a very wide regional labour pool with many of its 
businesses drawing their workforces from destinations across London and the 
wider South East. The provision of safe, convenient, sustainable and effective 
public transport services and facilities is critical to the City’s international 
competitiveness and its ability to continue to attract highly skilled workers. Given 
the unique nature of the City, with its comparatively low residential population and 
its dependence on inward commuting, the widely publicised ‘15-minute cities’ 
concept is not directly relevant to the City’s circumstances. For instance, Some 
services for City residents are provided in adjoining boroughs through partnership 
working arrangements, since it may not be cost effective to deliver those services 
within the Square Mile. The policies in this Plan seek to facilitate ease of access to 
jobs and services by walking and cycling for those who are able to do so, including 
ensuring good connections to neighbouring boroughs. 

Traffic in the City has changed significantly over the last two decades, both in 
terms of total volume and overall composition. Biennial traffic counts across the 
City show a 40% decrease in overall traffic volumes, with greater reductions for 
motor vehicles such as cars and light goods vehicles. The greatest observed 
reductions have coincided with key events such as the introduction of the 
Congestion Charge Zone, the global recession and the introduction of cycle 
superhighways. The street capacity unlocked by these reductions, alongside 
increases in cycling infrastructure provision, has facilitated an estimated tripling of 
cycling volumes across the City. 

Despite traffic reductions, there are still significant challenges. Traffic counts in 
2017 found a slight increase in car volumes probably caused by the increasing 
volumes of private hire vehicles. Freight vehicle numbers, after dropping 
significantly between 1999 and 2004, have levelled off in recent years. The rapid 
increase in cycling volumes seen in the first decade of the 21st century has not 
been sustained, with volumes slightly decreasing in recent years. 

Page 198



 

141 

 

The demands on the City’s transport network are increasing due to significant 
growth, fast-moving technological development and changing travel habits. In light 
of these factors, the City Corporation published a long-term Transport Strategy in 
2019 which sets the key priorities for the City’s streets and how the network is 
used. The Transport Strategy was developed in parallel with the drafting of the 
Local Plan and the policies set out in both are aligned. Measures to support the 
City’s Covid-19 recovery may provide an opportunity to accelerate delivery of some 
elements of the Transport Strategy. 

The Mayor’s Transport Strategy provides London-wide guidance, which is 
implemented through the City’s Local Implementation Plan. Transport providers 
serving the City publish plans and strategies that influence investment and 
management decisions affecting the City’s transport network. 

Strategic Policy S9: VehicularTransport and Servicing 

The City’s transport infrastructure will be maintained and improved by: 

1. Safeguarding land where necessary, as shown on the Policies Map, to enable the 
delivery of increased public transport capacity, including the Northern Line/Bank 
Station upgrade. Proposals which are contrary to the safeguarding of strategic 
infrastructure projects will be refused. 

2. Implementing improvements to street-level interchange between Fenchurch Street 
and Tower Hill/Tower Gateway stations and working with partners to explore the 
feasibility of a direct interchange route in the longer-term. 

3. Promoting further improvements to public transport capacity and step-free access at 
existing mainline rail, London Underground stations and river piers. 

4. Minimising road danger and congestion, and reducing vehicle emissions by: 

• Not providing any additional on-street car and motorcycle parking; 

• Identifying opportunities to use on-street parking reductions and 
restrictions to discourage private vehicle use; 

• Designing and managing streets in accordance with the City of London street 
hierarchy; 

• Minimising the impact of freight and servicing trips through such measures as 
the provision of on-site servicing facilities, the timing of deliveries outside 
peak hours, the adoption of area-wide solutions, freight consolidation and 
promoting deliveries by foot or bicycle for shorter distances;  

• Facilitating essential traffic, including emergency service vehicles, buses, 
freight and private transport for people with particular access needs, whilst 
minimising the environmental impact of these modes; 

• Requiring Encouraging the provision of infrastructure for alternative-fuel 
vehicles and zero emissions vehicles, such as off-street vehicle charging 
points; 

Page 199



 

142 

 

• Using traffic management measures and street works permits to improve 
journey time reliability on the City’s roads; and 

• Requiring developers to demonstrate, through Transport Assessments, 
Construction Logistics Plans, Travel Plans, Cycling Promotion Plans and 
Delivery and Servicing Plans, how the environmental impacts and road 
danger of travel and servicing will be minimised as a result of their 
development, promoting best practice such as direct vision standards, 
including through the use of river transport.  

 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.1. The City’s strategic central London position and its comprehensive transport 
infrastructure enable the vast majority of workers, residents and visitors to use 
public transport to access the City from across London and the wider south east. 
People walking and cycling make up more than two-thirds of all observed 
travel activity in the City. A third of all travel movements take place in the 
four peak hours: 8am to 10am and 5pm to 7pm. Over 90% of commuter travel 
to the City is by public transport, walking or cycling. Less than 5% of City workers 
drive to work. The City is already a highly sustainable location, and the opening of 
the Elizabeth Line will has result resulted in a wider catchment area within an 
hour’s journey time of the City. The City Corporation will use its planning powers, 
alongside its role as a transport authority, and in partnership with Transport for 
London to help secure improvements to public transport, for instance by 
safeguarding land from other forms of development where necessary.  

13.1.2. The City’s Transport Strategy indicates that the design and management of 
streets will reflect their position in the street hierarchy, as well as their function as 
places.  

 

Table 3: City of London street hierarchy  

Movement function Proposed category 

Through traffic – the preferred streets for motor vehicles 
that do not start or finish their journey have a destination 
in, or immediately adjacent to, the Square Mile. 

London Access streets 
(TfL network) 

Local traffic – the preferred streets for motor vehicles that 
are travelling around the Square Mile or to locations 
immediately adjacent. 

City Access streets 

Access – used for the first or final part of a journey, 
providing access to properties. 

Local Access streets 

Page 200



 

143 

 

13.1.3. The TfL network (classed as London Access) is expected to accommodate the 
majority of through traffic, while roads which are managed by the City Corporation 
are classed as either City Access or Local Access. Proposed Changes to the 
highway network at Bank Junction and the proposed changes to the St Paul’s 
Gyratory and Beech Street are reflected in the street hierarchy.  

 

How the policy works 

13.1.4. The City’s Transport Strategy aims to support the continued reduction of motor 
vehicle traffic on the City’s streets, with targets proposed to reduce the number of 
motor vehicles in the City from the 2017 baseline by at least 25% by 2030 and at 
least 50% by 2044. In 2022, motor vehicle traffic has already seen a 26% 
reduction from 185,000 vehicles in 2017 to 137,000 vehicles. The spare 
capacity unlocked by these reductions will allow for the radical transformation of 
the City’s streets to deliver a healthier, safer and more attractive street 
environment.  

13.1.5. Achievement of the targets is dependent on measures introduced by the Mayor 
of London and TfL, such as the Central London Zero Emission Zone, although the 
City Corporation will explore specific measures within the City of London if strategic 
scale measures are not progressed. The City Corporation will also implement 
measures such as timed closures and additional traffic calming to facilitate the 
removal of non-essential vehicular traffic.  

13.1.6. The City Corporation will work with TfL to review bus routing and frequency 
through the City to maintain or improve journey times and connectivity while 
enhancing the pedestrian environment.  

13.1.7. The City Corporation will work with TfL to prioritise investment in accessibility 
improvements to underground and DLR stations and will seek to identify 
opportunities to introduce step free access as part of new developments and major 
refurbishments. 

13.1.8. The City Corporation will require developers and occupiers to minimise the 
impact of freight and servicing trips through measures such as the retiming of 
deliveries and collections outside peak periods, along with consolidation onto fewer 
or different types of vehicles. 

13.1.9. Greater use of the River Thames will be encouraged for both passenger and 
freight transport purposes to alleviate the need for some motor vehicle trips on the 
City’s streets. 

Policy VT1: The impacts of development on transport 

1. Development proposals must have a positive impact on highway safety for all users 
in accordance with the Transport Strategy and Vision Zero ambition, and 
should not have adverse effects on the City’s transport networks.  

Page 201



 

144 

 

2. Where development would result in adverse impacts on the transport network, these 
must be demonstrated at pre-application stage and mitigated though site/building 
design, public highway works and management of operational activities. 
Appropriate measures to adapt public highway to mitigate the impact of the 
development will be sought via planning contributions or by legal agreement. There 
should be no reduction in the quality or function of the public highway as a 
result of development, and improvements should be sought where feasible. 

3. The design and implementation of traffic management and highway security 
measures must be agreed with the City Corporation and Transport for London, where 
appropriate, and may include restricting motor vehicle access and using traffic 
calming measures to limit the opportunity for hostile vehicle approach. 

4. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans (incorporating Cycling Promotion Plans) 
are required for all developments that exceed the following thresholds:  

Land Use Thresholds 

Offices  1,000m2 

Residential 10 units 

Retail 1,000m2 

Hotel 10 bed spaces 

Health 1,000m2 

Transport Infrastructure  >500 additional trips per peak hour 

Mixed Use  1,000m2 

5. A Construction Logistics Plans is required for all major developments or 
refurbishments and for any developments that would have a significant impact on the 
transport network during construction. 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.10. Development has the potential to create significant changes in transport 
patterns and demands that must be addressed at an early stage of the design 
process. Any adverse impacts that are identified must be minimised and mitigated 
through appropriate design and/or management measures. Transport 
Assessments are required to assess the potential impacts of development, while 
Travel Plans will be required to maximise the use of active transport modes and 
public transport. 

13.1.11. Major developments can have a significant impact on the function of 
existing streets and spaces and any adverse impacts must be mitigated by 
highway works and public realm interventions that enhance the quality of the 
City’s streets and public spaces.  

How the policy works 

Page 202



 

145 

 

13.1.12. An assessment of the transport implications of development, during both 
construction and operation, should address the impacts on: 

• Road danger; 

• Pedestrian environment, pedestrian and cyclist environment and 
movement, infrastructure provision; 

• Cycling infrastructure provision; 

• Public transport; and 

• The street network. 

 

13.1.13. Development will be subject to conditions, Section 106 and Section 278 
Agreements to ensure appropriate mitigation of any adverse transport 
impacts. Community Infrastructure Levy contributions will be used by the 
City Corporation to deliver wider improvements to the transport network, 
where appropriate.   

13.1.14. For major developments, developers must demonstrate at pre-application 
stage the impact of the proposed development on the streets and spaces 
including the increase in pedestrian, cycle and vehicular numbers. Any 
proposals that substantially affect the use and function of an existing street 
or public space will be required to mitigate the impact of their development 
through appropriate highways works and public realm enhancements.  

13.1.15. For applications that meet the relevant thresholds, a robust transport 
assessment is required, and an initial highways design general arrangement 
plan (at 1:200 scale), should be submitted, highlighting the highways works 
that would form part of a Section 278 Agreement. As a minimum, the 
reconstruction/reinstatement of the streets adjacent to the planning 
application site should be incorporated within the proposals.  

13.1.16. Proposals for works to the public highway should be developed in 
accordance with the Transport Strategy, City of London Public Realm Toolkit, 
the City of London COLSAT Tool, the City’s Healthy Streets Plans and other 
relevant guidance. 

13.1.17. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans (incorporating Cycling Promotion 
Plans) should be used to demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation’s 
Transport Standards Strategy. Applicants should discuss the scope of the 
transport documentation required early in the pre-application stage to ensure that it 
provides evidence tailored to the City’s specific circumstances. Account should be 
taken of the cumulative transport impacts of other nearby developments. TfL has 
prepared further guidance for developers on Transport Assessments which is 
available on the TfL website. 

13.1.18. A full Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) will be required by condition with 
outline details required at the application stage.  A CLP should comply with the 
measures set out in the City Corporation’s Code of Practice for Deconstruction and 

Page 203



 

146 

 

Construction Sites and with TfL’s online guidance. The CLP should show examples 
of how vehicles will be managed in line with the need to Reduce, Re-time and Re-
mode (the three Rs). 

13.1.19. Development will be subject to conditions, Section 106 and Section 278 
Agreements to ensure appropriate mitigation of any adverse transport impacts. 
Community Infrastructure Levy contributions will be used by the City Corporation to 
deliver wider improvements to the transport network, where appropriate. 

Policy VT2: Freight and Servicing  

1. Applicants should consult with the City Corporation on matters relating to servicing at 
an early design concept stage. Development should be designed to provide for on-
site servicing, wherever practicable. 

2. Developments must minimise the need for freight trips and seek to work together with 
adjoining owners and occupiers to manage freight and servicing on an area-wide 
basis. Major commercial development must provide for freight consolidation. New 
technologies will be encouraged to and use technological and procurement 
solutions that enable efficient servicing and deliveries to sites. 

3. Development should be designed to provide for on-site servicing bays within 
buildings, wherever practicable. On site servicing areas must be provided of a 
sufficient size and design to allow all goods and refuse collection vehicles likely to 
service the development at the same time to be conveniently loaded and unloaded. 
Servicing areas should provide sufficient space or facilities for all vehicles to enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. Servicing areas must be equipped with electric 
vehicle fast charging points. The use of servicing lifts will be required where this 
approach would be beneficial for creating attractive and inclusive public realm. 

4. Delivery to and servicing of development must take place outside peak pedestrian 
hours (i.e. avoiding no deliveries between 7am-10am, 12pm-2pm and 4pm-7pm on 
weekdays). Deliveries should be made in the late evening or at weekends outside of 
residential areas must take place outside the hours of 11pm – 7am on all days of 
the week. Areas of high footfall or in proximity to sensitive land uses may be 
subject to further restrictions, especially areas near cultural and visitor 
attractions and transport hubs. 

5. Developers should consider minimise ways to reduce congestion and emissions 
caused by servicing and deliveries through ensuring, such as implementing last 
mile deliveries are made by foot, cycle or zero emission vehicle, and should seek 
opportunities to support deliveries to the City by river and rail freight. justify 
where such measures are not possible.  Developers will be encouraged to identify 
opportunities for last mile logistic hubs where appropriate. 

6. Provision should be made within buildings servicing bays for shredding operations. 
On-street shredding will not be permitted. 

 

Page 204



 

147 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.20. The low numbers of private motor vehicles in the City mean that delivery and 
service vehicles have a relatively greater impact on traffic congestion and air 
quality, especially in areas of high-density development and narrow streets. 
Efficient off-street servicing and delivery arrangements are vital to keep the City’s 
traffic moving and thereby avoid air pollution caused by stationary traffic. The 
Mayor’s Transport Strategy aims to reduce the number of lorries and vans entering 
central London in the morning peak by 10% by 2026. The City’s Transport Strategy 
seeks to reduce the number of motorised freight vehicles by 15% by 2030 and 30% 
by 2044 and facilitate the transition to ultra-low emission and zero emission 
delivery vehicles. The City Corporation is working with local employers to support 
them in freight consolidation and to share best practice and ideas, for example 
through the Cheapside Business Alliance and the Active City Network. 

13.1.21. Retiming of deliveries and collections outside peak periods can reduce 
congestion, as can consolidation onto fewer vehicles or different types of vehicles. 
The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy aims to reduce the number of motorised 
freight vehicles at peak times (7-10am, 12-2pm and 4-7pm) by 50% by 2030 and 
90% by 2044. The use of different forms of consolidation , including ‘virtual’ as well 
as physical consolidation, will be required help to minimise the number of trips 
required to service a development during construction and operation, as does the 
use of Virtual consolidation involves techniques such as preferred suppliers or 
nominated carriers to serve a multi-tenanted building. Opportunities to trial and 
support freight innovation through new technology will be explored as part of the 
City Corporation’s Future City Streets programme. 

13.1.22. Large physical consolidation centres will almost always need to be located 
outside the City because of the lack of suitable land and high land values within the 
City and will therefore require the cooperation of other local authorities. The City 
Corporation’s Transport Strategy outlines the Corporation’s intention to work with a 
partner haulier to provide a consolidation service for the City of London by 2022 
and to establish a sustainable logistics centre to serve the Square Mile by 2030. 
This centre would co-locate major suppliers in a single warehouse, alongside 
consolidation, waste collection and couriering services. It would be supported by 
aims to use the planning process to require consolidation for new 
developments, while encouraging existing buildings and BIDs to use 
consolidation. Last mile logistics hubs within the City to can facilitate more 
deliveries on foot, by cycle bike and by small electric vehicles. 

13.1.23. Personal deliveries to places of work within the City contribute to congestion on 
the streets. Businesses should discourage personal deliveries to business 
premises and instead encourage deliveries near home and use of click and collect 
parcel drop off services. It may be appropriate to secure this through a legal 
agreement. Where deliveries continue to take place, the provision of shared ground 
floor storage facilities in multi-tenanted buildings may reduce the amount of time 
spent at the kerbside by delivery vehicles. To reduce emissions from delivery 
vehicles, electric vehicle charging points will be required within service areas for 
freight vehicles.  

Page 205



 

148 

 

13.1.24. In order to decrease freight vehicles in the City, the Transport Strategy 
aims to encourage freight into the City with rail. The City will work with 
Network Rail to explore opportunities for inward freight into mainline rail 
stations and encourages developers to support this.  

13.1.25. On-street shredding operations associated with building occupation creates 
noise and congestion on street and can have an adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses.  

How the policy works 

13.1.26. Servicing areas should be designed into new buildings and provide sufficient 
space or facilities for all vehicles to enter and exit the site in a forward gear. 
Headroom should be provided of at least 5m where skips are to be lifted and 4.75m 
for all other vehicle circulation areas.  

13.1.27. Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSP) will be required for all major commercial 
development over 1,000m2 and any other development or refurbishment that will 
cause significant transport impacts on the local or wider area through operational 
deliveries and servicing. For smaller development, a DSP is encouraged, and may 
be required in sensitive areas, as a tool to effectively manage delivery and 
servicing movements. DSPs should set out the following (as appropriate): 

• The number of vehicle trips that have been avoided as a result of the 
use of consolidation of servicing and deliveries 

• Procurement measures (including those taken jointly with other 
businesses) that would reduce the numbers of delivery and servicing 
trips 

• A commitment to the use of zero emission vehicles and how their 
use and the use of deliveries on foot and by cycle will be facilitated 

• Appropriate routing for vehicles, including to and from consolidation 
centres, taking account of the City’s street hierarchy and addressing 
the potential for river and rail freight 

• Proposals for monitoring delivery and servicing arrangements, 
including consolidation. 

13.1.28. Where consolidation of servicing and deliveries is proposed, the number of 
vehicle trips that have been avoided as a result should be set out in the DSP. 
Consideration should be given to smart or joint procurement measures with other 
businesses to reduce the numbers of deliveries and servicing trips required to the 
premises. Details should be set out in the DSP. Where any sort of consolidation 
centre is to be used, a commitment to the use of zero or low emission vehicles, and 
appropriate routeing should be included in the DSP. Within the Square Mile, DSP’s 
should take account of the City’s street hierarchy when considering routeing 
arrangements and should address the potential for use of the River Thames to 
reduce congestion caused by servicing and deliveries.  The DSP should set out 

Page 206



 

149 

 

proposals for monitoring of delivery and servicing arrangements, including the use 
of consolidation. The City Corporation will work with developers and occupiers to 
monitor the actual reductions in deliveries achieved through consolidation. 

13.1.29. Out of hours servicing is required, except in residential areas where night-time 
deliveries should must be avoided, and further restrictions may be applied in areas 
of high footfall. The DSP should set out that a booking system for deliveries and 
servicing will be implemented, and that deliveries and servicing within the restricted 
hours of 7am-10am, 12pm-2pm and 4pm-7pm on weekdays will not be permitted. 
High footfall in areas at other peak times may also require restrictions on deliveries 
and servicing.  

13.1.30. Where deliveries are required outside of the restricted hours, these should be 
subject to a quiet delivery agreement or a commitment to minimise noise and 
pollution impacts in all stages of the delivery process. Details should be set out in 
the DSP. Where appropriate, construction deliveries may be accepted outside of 
normal working hours and the management of such deliveries should be explained 
in the DSP. 

13.1.31. Provision should be made within off-street, in-building, servicing bays for 
shredding operations to reduce the potential for disturbance to neighbours. On-
street shredding will not be permitted. 

13.1.32. Further information is set out in the City of London’s Freight and Servicing 
SPD.  

Policy VT3: Vehicle Parking 

1. Development in the City should be car-free except for designated Blue Badge 
spaces. Where other car parking (including motorcycle parking) is exceptionally 
provided it must not exceed London Plan standards. 

2. No new public car parks will be permitted, including through the temporary use of 
vacant sites.  

3. Underutilised public car parks will be prioritised for as sites for last mile delivery hubs 
and other alternative uses that support the delivery of the Transport Strategy. The 
redevelopment of existing public car parks for other land uses will be supported if it is 
demonstrated that they are no longer needed for a transport-related function. 

4. All off-street car parking facilities must be equipped with electric vehicle charging 
points.  

5. New taxi ranks will only be permitted in key locations such as near stations, hotels 
and large retail developments and where they do not conflict with other policies in the 
development plan. Off-street taxi ranks should be designed with a combined entry 
and exit point to minimise obstruction to other transport modes. 

Reason for the policy 

Page 207



 

150 

 

13.1.33. The City has excellent public transport accessibility and all development should 
therefore be car-free (except for designated Blue Badge spaces) unless it can 
be demonstrated that there are exceptional circumstances which justify limited car 
parking, in line with London Plan standards. 

 

How the policy works 

13.1.34. Designated parking must be provided for Blue Badge holders within 
developments in conformity with the London Plan requirements and must be 
marked out and reserved for their use. Some older or disabled residents may need 
regular visits from carers and healthcare professionals and the provision of visitor 
parking would support their ability to live in their own homes. Any such parking 
should be marked out as such and restricted only for these users. 

13.1.35. The City’s public car parks were mostly constructed during the 1960s. Some 
are now underused, and the City Corporation is actively developing proposals to 
establish last mile delivery hubs within those car parks. Other transport-related 
infrastructure may be suitable in under-utilised car parks.  

13.1.36. Evidence will be required to demonstrate that a car park is no longer required 
for a transport-related purpose if conversion or redevelopment to an alternative 
land use is proposed.   

Policy VT4: River Transport 

1. The City Corporation will support improvements to river piers, steps and stairs to the 
foreshore; 

2. Improvements to piers and other river-based transport infrastructure to enable an 
increase in passenger and freight transport by river will be supported, alongside 
opportunities for new river-based transport.  

3. The City Corporation will seek the reinstatement of Swan Lane Pier for river 
transport uses. and dDevelopment which that prejudices this reinstatement will not 
be permitted. The reinstatement of Swan Lane Pier will be for a flexible multi use 
pier.  

4. The permanent mooring of vessels along the riverfront will be resisted in order 
to maintain views of the river and heritage assets, allow public enjoyment of 
the riverfront and minimise potential impacts on archaeology, ecology, and 
amenity. 

5. The City Corporation will continue to safeguard Walbrook Wharf as a river wharf and 
waste transfer site, support improvements to Walbrook Wharf that would 
improve its operation, and seek opportunities for the use of the wharf for 
transfer of goods, where this would not undermine its safeguarded role.  

Page 208



 

151 

 

6. All development within the City must consider use of the River Thames for the 
movement of construction materials and waste. Development adjacent to, or over, 
the river must be supported by a Transport Assessment and a Construction Logistics 
Plan addressing the potential of using the river for the movement of construction 
materials and waste and servicing of the development.  

 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.37. Walbrook Wharf is the only active river wharf in the City and will needs to be 
retained as a waste facility and river wharf in line with the associated Ministerial 
Safeguarding Direction and the London Plan and the Mayor’s Safeguarded 
Wharves Direction. The waste transfer site at Walbrook Wharf provides a means of 
removing domestic and commercial waste from the City by river, significantly 
reducing the need for road transport of waste. Subject to the need to retain 
capacity for efficient waste operations from this site and improve its operation, 
there may be potential to use Walbrook Wharf for freight logistics. 

13.1.38. Additional use of the river either to transport construction and demolition 
materials or for deliveries and servicing would further reduce the need for goods 
vehicles on the City’s streets, helping to alleviate congestion and pollution.  

13.1.39. Swan Lane Pier is a redundant pier and the City Corporation will seek its 
reinstatement for river transport uses. as a flexible multiuse pier including uses 
such as freight, leisure craft, taxi boats or emergency service use. Applicants 
should liaise with the Port of London Authority regarding the operational and safety 
aspects of their proposals and with the Environment Agency regarding the impact 
of boat movements on biodiversity and river defences.  

13.1.40. The City Corporation will require developments adjacent to, on, or over the 
river to consider the use of the river for freight and servicing and for the transport of 
construction and waste materials. 

13.1.41. Given the limited opportunities to improve river transport within the City, 
as well as the potential impacts on views, heritage, ecology, biodiversity, 
archaeology, noise and other disturbance, and public enjoyment of the 
riverfront, permanent mooring of vessels will be resisted. 

Policy VT5: Aviation Landing Facilities      

Heliports will not be permitted in the City. Helipads will only be permitted where they are 
essential for emergency or security purposes.  

 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.42. Heliports are not appropriate in the City because of the noise and disturbance 
that would be created by helicopters in such a densely developed area. In order to 

Page 209



 

152 

 

demonstrate a need for helipad facilities, it must be certified by the emergency 
services and shown that the need cannot be met elsewhere. The City Corporation’s 
Transport Strategy sets out principles that will apply to the potential use of drones 
in the City. The City Corporation will keep the need for facilities for drones under 
review, taking account of developing technology, the impact on amenity, City 
streets and sky space, and the security and privacy implications.  

Page 210



 

153 

 

13.2. Active Travel and Healthy Streets 

Context 

The Mayor of London, through his Transport Strategy, aims to significantly change the 
function of London’s streets to reduce the dominance and negative impacts of motor 
traffic and enable walking, cycling and social interaction. The Healthy Streets Approach 
provides the framework for the City of London’s Transport Strategy, which places 
improving people’s health and their experience of using streets at the heart of transport 
decision making. These include ensuring people feel safe and creating street 
environments that enable people to choose walking, cycling and public transport instead 
of using the car. Good performance against each indicator demonstrates that individual 
streets are appealing places to walk, cycle and spend time.  

The City’s workforce is expected to increase significantly over the course of the Plan 
period to 2036, albeit that increased remote working means that actual footfall is 
unlikely to rise in proportion to total employment. Visitor numbers are also anticipated to 
rise. This will result in significant and increasing pressure on the pavements and the 
public realm at peak times in the morning, lunchtime and early evening. Figure 15 
illustrates forecast pedestrian flows across the City in 2026 during the am peak. This 
forecast was produced before the Covid-19 pandemic and it is uncertain to what extent 
the pandemic may affect medium and longer term pedestrian movement in the City. The 
pandemic has, however, emphasised the importance of facilitating safe and convenient 
public transport services into and out of the City together with measures to ensure 
active travel and pedestrian comfort within the City’s boundaries.  

Strategic Policy S10: Active Travel and Healthy Streets  

The City Corporation will work with partners to improve the quality and permeability of 
the City’s streets and spaces in ways that enhance inclusion and accessibility, put 
the needs of people walking and wheeling first when designing and managing our 
streets, and enable more people to choose to cycle in the City, to prioritise walking 
and cycling, improve accessibility and encourage more active modes of travel to, from 
and within the City by: 

1. Applying the Healthy Streets Approach in development proposals and 
improvements to public realm; 

2. Improving conditions for safe, convenient, comfortable, inclusive and accessible 
walking, wheeling and cycling, incorporating climate change adaptation; 

3. Expanding the cycle network across the City with the aim of ensuring that nearly 
all property entrances are within 250m of the network; 

4. Implementing improvements to key walking routes and increasing the number of 
pedestrian priority streets as part of the delivery of the City’s Transport Strategy; 

5. Improving access routes and the public realm around stations, and between 
stations and key destinations; and 

6. Implementing enhancements to the safety and appearance of streets and public 
realm in conjunction with restrictions to vehicular access, taking account of the 
needs of disabled people.  

Page 211



 

154 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.2.1. The Healthy Streets Approach provides the framework for the City of 
London’s Transport Strategy, which places improving people’s health and 
their experience of using streets at the heart of transport decision making. 
Good performance against each indicator demonstrates that individual 
streets are appealing places to walk, cycle and spend time.  

13.2.2. Most movement in the City is on foot and the street environment is 
predominantly a pedestrian environment, with over 750,000 walked and wheeled 
journeys a day. Cycling in the City needs to be considered within this context. 
Cycling in the City increased by almost 300% four-fold between 1999 and 2017 
2022, although the rate of growth has slowed markedly since 2012. People cycling 
now make up a quarter of vehicles and this figure can rise to over 50% on major 
streets during peak periods.  Pedestrian numbers have also risen in recent the 
past 10 years as the City’s workforce has grown. In 2022, over a 24-hour count 
period across 30 sites, over 88,000 people were counted, a 2% increase from 2019 
pre-pandemic levels. 

13.2.3. Improvements to conditions for safe, convenient and comfortable walking and 
cycling are required to improve the experience of people who already walk and 
cycle and encourage more people to use active modes of travel. The City has 
embedded the Healthy Streets Approach to inform strategic decision making 
and project prioritisation. Provision of necessary infrastructure is particularly 
challenging due to the City’s historic street pattern and the significant demands for 
space on streets from the high volume of pedestrians, cyclists and servicing and 
other essential vehicles. New planning applications and public realm proposals 
will be assessed using the Healthy Streets Indicators to understand 
development impacts on surrounding streets and on people’s experiences of 
the City’s streets. 

13.2.4. The Mayor’s Transport Strategy seeks to enable more people to walk and cycle 
and reduce the use of and reliance on cars. Prioritisation of walking,wheeling and 
cycling through reallocation of highway space is advocated where appropriate to 
reduce conflict between different modes of transport, and to create an environment 
where people choose to walk,wheel and cycle. 

How the policy works 

13.2.5. Through the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy, the design and management 
of streets will reflect their position in the street hierarchy, as well as their function 
as places. Traffic management measures to implement the street hierarchy will be 
identified through the development of area based Healthy Streets Plans. These will 
consider how to reduce the use of Local Access streets by through traffic, while 
maintaining appropriate levels of vehicular access. They will also consider 
opportunities to introduce pedestrian priority, improve the experience of cycling, 
wheeling and walking, enhance the public realm and create new public space. 
Healthy Streets Plans will be developed by the City Corporation to cover the 
following areas: City Cluster; Fleet Street; Liverpool Street; Aldgate, Tower 
and Portsoken; Bunhill, Barbican and Golden Lane; Fenchurch Street; Bank 

Page 212



 

155 

 

and Cheapside; and Riverside. Planning applications will be assessed against 
the Healthy Streets Indicators and developers will be required to use the Healthy 
Streets Check for Designers for all developments that have a significant impact on 
surrounding streets. 

13.2.6. The first four Healthy Streets Plans will, to be developed by 2022, will cover the 
following areas: 

• Barbican and Smithfield: supporting the delivery of the Culture Mile Look and Feel 

Strategy and the new Museum of London. The area covered will align with the 

Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change. 

• Bank and Guildhall: incorporating the transformation of Bank Junction and 

supporting changes to the Museum of London roundabout and St Paul’s Gyratory. 

• City Cluster and Fenchurch Street: responding to the growth of the City Cluster and 

the proposed upgrade of Fenchurch Street station and enabling the delivery of the 

City Cluster Area Strategy. This will align with the City Cluster Key Area of Change 

and incorporate part of the Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change. 

• Temple and Fleet Street: in response to the Fleet Street Estate Project, which 

comprises the new Magistrates court and City of London Police headquarters, and 

enhancement of Fleet Street and the Temples area. 

• An experimental safety scheme was introduced at Bank Junction in May 2017, 

which restricted traffic to buses and cycles only on weekdays between 7am and 

7pm. Monitoring shows that this scheme achieved a significant reduction in 

casualties at the junction, while also reducing NO2 emissions in the area. Traffic 

restrictions at the junction have now been made permanent and a wider series of 

highways and public realm enhancements, known as All Change at Bank, will be 

implemented during the Plan period to transform the look and feel of this key 

junction at the heart of the City. 

13.2.7. Adaptation to the anticipated climate change in the City should include pollution 
reduction and mitigation. The Healthy Streets Approach, the City’s Transport 
Strategy and the City Corporation’s Air Quality Strategy seek to deliver 
improvements in air quality and reductions in emissions and noise from transport. 
The City Corporation is working with partners to ensure that the City’s streets and 
the public transport system are resilient to the long-term impacts of severe weather 
and climate change. 

Policy AT1: Pedestrian Movement, Permeability and Wayfinding 

 

1. Developers should facilitate pedestrian movement, enhance permeability, and 
reduce severance by provision of suitable routes through and around new 
developments, wherever feasible. Development will be required to contribute 
towards the improvement of pedestrian permeability in the City by:  

Page 213



 

156 

 

• Providing legible, good quality, safe and low pollution pedestrian 
connections between spaces;  

• Providing new pedestrian routes through buildings and development 
sites, where feasible, and respecting, maintaining and restoring, the 
City’s characteristic network of accessible buildings, streets, courts 
and alleyways;   

• Providing publicly accessible ground floors for improved pedestrian 
movement, where feasible;  

• Providing pedestrian routes that are of adequate width, step-free and 
follow best practice in street design to encourage ease of movement.  

2. The City Corporation will work with developers and owners to maintain 
pedestrian routes at ground level and the upper level walkway network around 
the Barbican and London Wall. Development should not lead to the loss of 
routes and spaces that enhance the City’s heritage, function or character. 

3. Development proposals should maintain and, wherever feasible, provide for an 
increase in pavement widths aligned with TfL Pedestrian Comfort guidance to 
ensure that pavements provide sufficient safety, comfort and convenience for the 
number of pedestrians. 

4. The loss of a pedestrian route will only be permitted where an alternative public 
pedestrian route of at least equivalent standard is provided having regard to: 

5. The extent to which the route provides for current and all reasonably foreseeable 
future demands placed upon it, including at peak periods; 

6. The shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 

7. Routes of historic importance will be safeguarded and where appropriate 
reinstated as part of the City’s characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, 
including the route’s historic alignment and width. 

8. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights with one to which 
the public have access only with permission will not be acceptable. 

9. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it enhances the 
connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City’s street network. Spaces should be 
designed so that signage is not necessary, and it is clear to the public that 
access is allowed. 

10. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged where 
this would improve movement and contribute to the character of an area, taking 
into account the existing pattern of pedestrian routes and movement and 
connections to neighbouring areas and boroughs where relevant. 

11. Improved wayfinding will be sought through new development and 
public realm improvements. Improvements sought will include: 

• Opportunities to update, enhance and add to the network of Legible 
London signs; 

• Consistent signage for public spaces created in new development; and 

Page 214



 

157 

 

• Better revealing ‘hidden’ routes, courts, alleys and other spaces in ways 
that respect and celebrate their character and heritage. 

12. Major development proposals should model the pedestrian flow 
impact of new development.  

 

Reason for this policy 

13.2.8. In light of the current and predicted demands on the City’s streets and public 
realm, permeability and legibility are vital in order to accommodate pedestrians and 
enable efficient movement of people on foot and by cycle. Redevelopment 
schemes may provide opportunities to improve pedestrian safety and comfort, for 
instance by creating new routes or areas of open space, widening pavements and 
removing pinch points, or securing enhanced public access to private spaces and 
routes. Policy DE4 sets out requirements for improved pedestrian permeability 
through buildings and development sites. 

13.2.9. The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy promotes strategic measures to 
facilitate improved pedestrian movement, including pedestrian priority streets, 
increasing the number of pedestrianised or pedestrian priority streets from 25km to 
35km by 2030 and 55km by 2044. Opportunities will also be identified to introduce 
pedestrian priority on streets with a pavement width of less than two metres.  

13.2.10. The Transport Strategy identifies certain routes and junctions which will be 
prioritised for improvement, focusing on those which are busiest with people 
walking and where pavement width and pedestrian crossings are inadequate for 
current or forecast demand. Improvements to the following routes and junctions will 
be delivered by 2030 (see Figure 16): 

• The area around Moorgate and Liverpool Street Stations (including 
Moorgate/London Wall junction) and the routes between these stations and key 
destinations, including the City Cluster, Culture Mile and Bank Junction. 

• Bank Junction and streets between the junction and the City Cluster. 

• The route from the Millennium Bridge to Culture Mile, including changes to St 
Paul’s Gyratory. 

• The route between the Barbican and the new Museum of London, including 
Beech Street and Long Lane (the ‘Culture Spine’). 

• Fleet Street, including potential changes to Ludgate Circus (in partnership with 
TfL). 

• The Bishopsgate corridor, including Monument junction (in partnership with TfL) 

The Globe View section of the Riverside Walkway. 

Routes north-south from:  

• Millennium Bridge to Barbican via St Pauls Cathedral, which supports the 
new Museum of London and Smithfield area changes.  

Page 215



 

158 

 

• Southwark Bridge to Barbican via Guildhall  

• Cannon Street to Liverpool Street via Bank  

• Blackfriars Bridge to Farringdon via Ludgate Circus (in partnership with 
TfL)  

• London Bridge to Liverpool Street via Bishopsgate including Monument 
junction (in partnership with TfL); and  

Routes east-west from:  

• Farringdon to Aldgate via Smithfield and the Barbican  

• Fleet Street to Aldgate via Bank and the City Cluster, including Ludgate 
Circus (in partnership with TfL).  

• Temple to Tower Hill via the Thames Riverside 

 

13.2.11. The City’s narrow streets and alleyways pose additional opportunities and 
challenges in terms of accessibility, wayfinding and safety. Many of these are 
valuable amenity spaces and are of historic importance. Sensitive solutions will be 
sought where development would have an impact on these spaces to protect their 
setting and create high quality, accessible areas for all the City’s users.   

How the policy works 

13.2.12. In considering proposals for new pedestrian routes, the City Corporation will 
ensure that routes are of adequate width, step-free and follow best practice in 
street design. Developers will be expected to consider the cumulative impacts of 
their developments on City streets alongside other existing and permitted 
development. Further details are set out in the City Public Realm SPD and 
accompanying Technical Manual. 

13.2.13. Pedestrian Comfort Levels are used to assess the level of crowding on a 
pavement or at a pedestrian crossing. The level of comfort, which is graded 
between A+ (most comfortable) and E (least comfortable), is based on the number 
of people walking and the space available, taking account of street furniture and 
other restrictions. Minimum pavement widths should accord to TfL’s 
Pedestrian Comfort guidance. TfL’s Pedestrian Comfort Guidance recommends 
a minimum comfort level of B+ and the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy aims 
for all City pavements to have a minimum pedestrian comfort level of B+. Transport 
Assessments submitted in support of planning applications should assess the level 
of pedestrian comfort and should provide a clear justification if any pavements in 
the vicinity of the development would fail to achieve a B+ rating. 

13.2.14. Appropriate management and maintenance arrangements for the public realm 
and pedestrian routes should be agreed, including for public space that is privately 
owned (in accordance with the Mayor of London’s Public London Charter) and 
secured through legal agreement or planning condition. Financial contributions 
secured through s106 planning obligations will be used to ensure 

Page 216



 

159 

 

development contributes to improvements in the wider public realm. 
Developers will be required to meet the cost of updates to the Legible 
London map database which are required as a result of development, and to 
fund the provision of new Legible London totems, where necessary. 

13.2.15. Where new pedestrian routes are created, or existing routes improved, the City 

Corporation will work with organisations such as the Active City Network and the 

Cheapside Business Alliance to provide information about routes to City workers, 

residents and visitors. 

Policy AT2: Active Travel including Cycling 

All major development must promote and encourage active travel through making 
appropriate provision for people who walk, wheel and cycle and travel actively, by: 

o ensuring suitable access between the development site and pedestrian and cycle 
routes; 

o incorporating sufficient shower and changing facilities, and lockers/storage to 
support walking and cycling in accordance with the London Cycling Design 
Standards. 

 

Reason for this policy  

13.2.16. Most of the City’s employees journey into work via public transport, completing 
their journeys on foot. Pedestrians make up the majority of the road users in the 
City and as such, provision needs to be made to facilitate safe and pleasant 
pedestrian movements and active travel. 

13.2.17. A growing number of people are choosing to cycle through and around the 
Square Mile. The popularity of cycle hire schemes has grown post-pandemic. 
Increased access to the East-West and North-South Cycle Superhighways 
Cycleways enables cyclists to cross the City on safer strategic routes. This will be 
supplemented by a Citywide core cycle network providing safe and attractive 
routes around the Square Mile and linking into cycling networks in neighbouring 
boroughs (see Figure 17). Cycling improvements and interventions TFL cycleways 
and will be prioritised on this network, with the aim of delivering the core cycling 
network by 2035. 

13.2.18. Smaller measures and network enhancements will be identified through 
development of the Healthy Streets Plansand a review of existing Quietways, 
which run along less heavily trafficked back streets. Additional cycling infrastructure 
should see an increase in the uptake of cycling as a way of travelling around as 
well as commuting into the City and help to achieve the aims of both City of 
London’s Transport Strategy, and that of the Mayor of London.  

How the policy works 

Page 217



 

160 

 

13.2.19. New developments should provide shower and storage/locker facilities to 
encourage employees to engage in active travel modes. Lockers should be 
provided at a minimum ratio of 1 locker per 1 cycle parking space. Showers should 
be provided at a minimum of 1 shower per 10 cycle parking spaces. The City of 
London’s Active City Network actively encourages employers to promote and 
support safer commuting. The provision of personalised travel planning by 
employers for their staff can be an effective way of helping to achieve this. 
Accessible facilities for disabled cyclists should also be provided. 

13.2.20. Developers will be required to contribute towards the enhancement of the 
public realm to encourage pedestrian and cycle travel, and towards the expansion 
of the City’s cycle network if the development is likely to benefit from the provision 
of a nearby route. Contributions may be secured through s106 planning obligations 
and s278 highways agreements where such provision is necessary to mitigate the 
impacts of the development.  

Policy AT3: Cycle Parking 

1. Developments must provide on-site cycle parking for occupiers and visitors, 

complying with London Plan standards, and will be encouraged to provide facilities 

for public cycle parking.  

2. All long stay on site cycle parking must be secure, undercover and preferably 

enclosed, in accordance with the London Cycle Design Standards. 

3. Developments that include ground floor retail and take-away food outlets should 

provide appropriate off-street storage for cargo bikes and hand carts. 

4. Cycling facilities should be conveniently located, easily accessible, safe and 

secure.  

5. Opportunities to provide space for dockless parking should be explored 

where development would create or have an impact on existing public realm. 

 

Reason for this policy 

13.2.21. There is need to encourage more people to cycle into the City and adopt active 
travel initiatives, to reduce congestion on City streets, deliver improvements in air 
quality, reduce carbon emissions and contribute to the wider health and wellbeing 
of City occupiers, residents and visitors. Sufficient cycle parking will be required to 
meet these needs. 

How the policy works 

13.2.22. Developers will be required to provide sufficient cycle parking to meet potential 
demand, including provision for non-standard cycles. 5% of cycle parking spaces 
must be flexible in order to support secure storage and charging for e-
bicycles, micromobility devices, and mobility scooters. A robust justification for 

Page 218



 

161 

 

failure to comply with London Plan standards will be required. This will be 
considered on a case by case basis as part of pre-application discussions.  All on-
site cycle parking must be secure, conveniently accessible and sheltered, in 
accordance with London Cycling Design Standards. 

13.2.23. Short-stay visitor cycle parking should be provided on-site at ground floor level. 
Visitor cycle parking should be near building entrances in publicly accessible 
spaces wherever possible. Exceptionally, if this is not possible because of the 
layout and configuration of the site, 25% additional long stay cycle parking must be 
provided. 

13.2.24. In order to facilitate last-mile deliveries by sustainable modes of travel, 
premises that include retail and take-away food outlets will be encouraged to 
provide storage space for cargo bikes and hand carts. 

13.2.25. The Mayor’s Transport Strategy seeks to ensure that on-street cycle facilities 
cater for the wide range of cycles used by disabled people.  

13.2.26. This policy applies to the cycle parking provided within new developments. The 
City Corporation’s Transport Strategy addresses public cycle parking. Developers 
are encouraged to provide additional public cycle parking facilities within the 
curtilage of their developments. The Transport Strategy aims to ensure that 
operators of dockless cycle and scooter hire schemes require users to leave 
cycles and scooters in designated parking locations. The City Corporation will 
publish a Cycle Parking Delivery Plan, which will review the availability and 
distribution of public cycle parking on and off-street to ensure it is sufficient to meet 
forecast demand. 

  

Page 219



 

162 

 

 Heritage and Tall buildings 
 
 

14.1. Historic Environment 

Context 

The City of London is the historic centre of London and has a rich and varied 
historic environment that reflects this. The City’s heritage assets contribute to its 
unique identity, adding to its character, attractiveness and competitiveness. This is 
of benefit to all the City’s communities, workers, residents and visitors.  

There are a large number of designated heritage assets in the City, with over 600 
listed buildings and many structures such as statues, monuments and sculptures. 
Listed buildings range from a 17th century home on Cloth Fair to Wren’s iconic St 
Paul’s Cathedral and churches, to modern buildings by renowned architects, such 
as the Barbican Estate and the Lloyds Building. As well as listed buildings there are 
27 conservation areas, 48 Scheduled Monuments and 4 Historic Parks and 
Gardens. Furthermore, the City provides part of the backdrop and setting for the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site. 

Strategic Policy S11: Historic Environment 

The City’s historic environment City’s heritage assets, their significance and 
settings will be protected, celebrated and positively managed by:  

1. Celebrating the City’s heritage for its contribution to the quality of life 

and promoting public enjoyment of, and access to, heritage assets; 

2. Conserving and enhancing heritage assets and their settings; to ensure that 

the City’s townscapes and heritage can be enjoyed for their contribution 

to quality of life and wellbeing Opportunities will be sought for 

development proposals to make a positive contribution to, and better 

reveal the significance of, heritage assets and reflect and enhance local 

character and distinctiveness; 

3. Seeking wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits by: 

a) placing heritage at the heart of placemaking and delivering high 

quality buildings and spaces which enrich and enhance the settings of 

heritage assets; 

(b) encouraging the beneficial, continued use of heritage assets through 

sensitive adaptation that is consistent with their conservation and 

enhancement, including those on the Heritage at Risk Register; 

Page 220



 

163 

 

(c) encouraging heritage-led regeneration by identifying opportunities to 
draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character 
and identity of the place; 

(d) encouraging sensitive sustainable retrofit of designated as well as non-
designated heritage assets and improvements that would benefit climate 
resilience and adaptation; 

(e) encouraging sites adjacent to and near heritage assets to work 
collaboratively with owners and operators of heritage assets to seek 
improvements to environmental performance, accessibility or other 
aspects of the functioning of heritage assets that are challenging to 
address; 

(e) Seeking improved enhanced public access and enhanced experience 
interpretation of the City’s cultural and heritage assets, ensuring that 
opportunities to experience and enjoy the City’s heritage and culture is 
available to a wide and diverse in a way that is socially and economically 
inclusive; 

4. Protecting and promoting the assessment and evaluation of the City’s ancient 

monuments and archaeological remains and their settings, including the 

interpretation, archiving and publication of archaeological investigations; and 

5. Preserving and seeking to enhance the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV), 

architectural and historic significance, authenticity and integrity of the Tower of 

London World Heritage Site and its local setting. 

Reason for the policy 

14.1.1. The City of London is the historic centre of London and has a rich and 
varied historic environment that reflects this. The City’s heritage assets 
contribute to its unique identity, adding to its character, attractiveness and 
competitiveness. This is of benefit to all the City’s communities, workers, 
residents and visitors.  

14.1.2. There are a large number of designated heritage assets in the City, with 
over 600 listed buildings and many structures such as statues, monuments 
and sculptures. Listed buildings range from a 17th century home on Cloth 
Fair, the unique early 18th century Bevis Marks Synagogue, and Wren’s iconic 
St Paul’s Cathedral and churches, to modern buildings by renowned 
architects, such as the Barbican Estate and the Lloyds Building. As well as 
listed buildings there are 27 conservation areas, 48 Scheduled Monuments 
and 4 Historic Parks and Gardens. Furthermore, the City provides part of the 
backdrop and setting for the Tower of London World Heritage Site. 

14.1.3. The City has a rich archaeological heritage including many designated and non-
designated monuments visible in the townscape and surviving as buried remains 

Page 221



 

164 

 

below buildings and streets. The whole of the City is regarded as having 
archaeological potential. 

14.1.4. The City contains a rich variety of architectural styles and materials, a medieval 
street pattern and a long history as a centre for commerce and trade. The diversity 
of the buildings and townscape creates a rich juxtaposition between the historic 
and the modern. This and the dense nature of development helps to differentiate 
the City of London from other global commercial centres and makes the City a 
unique place to live, work and visit. 

14.1.5. The City’s rich heritage contributes to the City’s primary function as a business 
centre, its cultural role, as a home to its small resident population and increasingly 
its role as a visitor destination. Approximately two thirds of the City’s listed 
buildings have a commercial use, including offices, retail, and hotels and provide 
vital small and medium-sized office space. The City has one of the greatest 
concentrations of architecturally significant places of worship in the country, with 44 
listed medieval and Wren churches, Bevis Marks Synagogue and an equally 
unique collection of over 60 churchyards embedded within a dense townscape. 

14.1.6. Heritage assets can significantly contribute to London’s economy, providing 
valuable office space suitable for small to medium-sized occupants as well as 
creative industries, and providing potential space for hotels and retail uses. In order 
to build upon the wider social, cultural and economic benefits of the historic 
environment, public access to, and experience of, the City’s heritage will be sought 
as part of development proposals in line with the wider policies in this Plan. 

14.1.7. The re-use, refurbishment and retrofitting of the City’s historic building 
stock is important for mitigating climate change impacts and reducing 
carbon emissions. Heritage assets must adapt to meet changing needs and 
environments while preserving their heritage significance. The City 
Corporation will require development proposals to find sensitive retrofitting 
solutions to reduce carbon emissions; enhance climate resilience; and 
improve access and environmental performance of historic buildings. 
Retrofitting historic buildings will be supported where a sensitive and 
tailored approach to design and specification is taken, in line with the City 
Corporation’s Heritage Buildings Retrofit Toolkit.  

How the policy works 

14.1.8. Applicants will be required to undertake a comprehensive heritage 
assessment proportionate to the scale of their site and heritage asset to 
understand ways in which their proposal could contribute towards the 
enhancement and enjoyment of the historic environment. This should 
include considering innovative approaches that extend beyond conventional 
conservation practices to promote  wider social, cultural and environmental 
benefits associated with heritage conservation. 

14.1.9. The policy enables adaptations to be made to heritage assets where the 
alterations are consistent with the conservation and significance of those assets. 
The sensitive adaptation of heritage assets contributes to the continual growth of 

Page 222



 

165 

 

the City’s economy. This and continued investment will ensure that buildings retain 
an active use so that the City’s buildings and heritage can be appreciated by 
present and future generations. 

14.1.10. The City Corporation will encourage proposals to achieve the conservation and 
appropriate use of buildings and monuments on the Heritage at Risk Register to 
ensure their repair, long term wellbeing and where possible, avoid future 
deterioration. 

14.1.11. In addition to the heritage assets within in the City, just outside the boundary 
lies the Tower of London, a UNESCO World Heritage Site of Outstanding Universal 
Value (OUV).  

Policy HE1: Managing Change to heritage assets the Historic Environment 

Development proposals which that affect heritage assets or their settings should be 
supported by a Statement of Heritage Significance and a Heritage Impact Assessment, 
to evaluate the significance of relevant heritage assets and their settings, to inform 
the proposals and maximise enhancements. It should be ensured any impacts of 
the proposals on the significance of heritage assets or their settings have been 
fully assessed and understood. The level of detail should be proportionate to the 
assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential 
impact of the proposal on their significance. 

Proposals should meet the following criteria: 

1. Development should preserve conserve and where possible enhance and better 
reveal the special architectural or historic interest and the significance of heritage 
assets and their settings; 

2. There will be a presumption against heritage harm and development causing 
harm to, or total loss of, the significance of designated heritage assets will be 
refused unless the heritage and/or wider public benefits convincingly 
outweigh that harm or loss. Applicants should clearly demonstrate that all 
reasonable efforts have been made to sustain the existing use, find new 
appropriate uses, or mitigate the extent of the harm to the significance of the 
asset; and whether the works proposed are the minimum required to secure 
the long-term use of the asset; 

3. Change of use to heritage assets should be consistent with their long-term 
conservation and should help to retain and enhance the asset, particularly 
those which have been identified at risk; 

4. Development should not cause the loss of routes and spaces that contribute 
to the character and historic interest of the City. The reinstatement of historic 
routes and the creation of new routes will be sought. 

5. The demolition or loss of designated heritage assets will be refused, having 
regard to tests set out in national policy. 

Page 223



 

166 

 

6. Where proposals would result in harm to, or the loss of, a non-designated 
heritage asset, the City Corporation will have regard to the scale of any harm or 
loss, the significance of the heritage asset and the wider public benefits 
proposed. 

7. Development in conservation areas should preserve and where possible or 
enhance and better reveal the character, or appearance and significance of 
the conservation area and its setting. The loss of buildings and features 
elements which that contribute to the character, appearance, setting or 
significance of a conservation area will be resisted should be conserved and 
opportunities to enhance conservation areas should be considered; 

8. Development should not adversely affect Historic Parks and Gardens 
preserve and where possible enhance and better reveal the significance, 
character and appearance of the City’s registered historic parks,  gardens 
and open spaces and should protect their settings and views from and 
towards these spaces. included on the Historic England Register and 
historic open spaces; 

9. Development in the defined immediate setting of Bevis Marks Synagogue 
and The Monument should preserve and where possible enhance the 
elements that contribute to the significance of their setting. 

10. Development should encourage the appreciation of the City’s historic 
roofscapes and should not impact the setting of an asset from high-level 
locations.  

 

Reason for the policy 

14.1.12. The City of London’s historic environment is of one its greatest assets. 
The special character that the City derives in large part is from the 
concentration and significance of its heritage assets, many of which are 
nationally and internationally renowned. Given their immense contribution to 
the character, economy and quality of life of the City, it is important that 
change to the historic environment is sensitively and carefully managed in 
ways appropriate to its significance and that makes it an integral part of the 
surrounding context. 

14.1.13. It is important that applicants provide a clear and comprehensive 
understanding of the heritage significance of a building, proportionate to the nature 
and scale of the proposed development. This may require detailed archival 
research to understand the historical evolution of the building in order to inform the 
proposals as well as the impact of the development on the heritage asset. 

14.1.14. National policy applies different tests to development proposals that would 
result in substantial harm to (or total loss of) the significance of a designated 
heritage asset and proposals that would cause less than substantial harm. Where 
the harm is less than substantial it should be weighed against the public benefits of 

Page 224



 

167 

 

the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
National policy indicates that great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

14.1.15. Where a development proposal would affect a non-designated heritage asset, 
national policy requires a balanced judgement to be made having regard to the 
scale of harm and the significance of the asset. The City Corporation will aim to 
identify non-designated heritage assets at the earliest stage in the planning 
process, with reference to current national criteria. This may be supported by 
additional research or investigations as appropriate and be based on a clear 
understanding of the building, structure, open space or archaeological remains, 
including group value. 

14.1.16. The designation of conservation areas carries with it the statutory duty to 
consider how an area or areas can be preserved and enhanced. The City 
Corporation will take the opportunity presented by development proposals within a 
conservation area to strengthen the special character of that conservation area and 
its setting.   

14.1.17. In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, developers 
should have regard to the character of conservation areas and their settings. This 
includes the size and shape of historic building plots, existing street patterns and 
the alignment and the width of frontages, materials, vertical and horizontal 
emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk and scale, including the effects of site 
amalgamation on scale, and hard and soft landscaping. Regard should be paid to 
the richness, variety and complexity of the architectural form and detailing of 
buildings and to the broader character of the area. 

14.1.18. Many buildings in conservation areas, make a significant contribution to the 
character of these areas. Proposals for the demolition of a non-listed building will 
be considered in terms of the building’s significance, its contribution to the 
character or appearance of the area and the level of potential harm. 

14.1.19. Even minor changes to listed buildings can have a significant impact on their 
character and appearance. Listing descriptions are unlikely to refer to every feature 
of significance and buildings’ interiors and plan forms are also of importance. 
Inspections of listed buildings will be necessary to identify the special interest and 
significance of the building and its curtilage. 

14.1.20. Extensions to listed buildings should be of an appropriate scale and character 
and will be acceptable where the overall impact on the building does not harm its 
significance. The bulk, height, location and materials of roof extensions will be 
particularly important and should be appropriate to the period and style of the 
building and its setting.  Where listed buildings are no longer used for their original 
or previous purpose, it is important to find alternative uses that safeguard their 
future, while being compatible with the character of the building. 

14.1.21. The City’s heritage assets are not just appreciated and understood from the 
ground, but also from above. Development proposals should facilitate public 

Page 225



 

168 

 

appreciation of the City’s historic roofscapes. The effect of a development on the 
setting of an asset from high level locations is a material consideration. 

14.1.22. Development proposals that affect the City’s historic parks and gardens will be 
assessed to ensure that overshadowing does not cause undue harm, that their 
historic character is maintained, and that the setting, enjoyment, and views into and 
from these gardens are respected. Development should not detract from the layout, 
design, character, appearance or setting of the park or garden or prejudice its 
future restoration. 

14.1.23. The pattern of streets, lanes, alleyways and other open spaces, such as 
squares and courts, is a distinctive element of the City’s townscape and is of 
historic significance in itself. The City Corporation will seek to maintain the widths 
and alignments of streets, lanes and other spaces where these have historic value 
or underpin the character of a location or their surroundings. Some historic routes 
have been lost to the detriment of the City’s historic townscape. Where possible, 
the City Corporation will seek to re-open or reintroduce such routes when the 
opportunity arises.  

How the policy works 

14.1.24. Applicants should provide a clear and comprehensive understanding of 
the heritage significance of a building, proportionate to the nature and scale 
of the proposed development. This may require detailed archival research to 
understand the historical evolution of the building in order to inform the 
proposals as well as the impact of the development on the heritage asset. 

14.1.25. National policy applies different tests to development proposals that 
would result in substantial harm to (or total loss of) the significance of a 
designated heritage asset and proposals that would cause less than 
substantial harm. Where the harm is less than substantial, it should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. National policy indicates that 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation irrespective of 
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less 
than substantial harm to its significance. 

14.1.26. Where a development proposal would affect a non-designated heritage 
asset, national policy requires a balanced judgement to be made having 
regard to the scale of harm and the significance of the asset. The City 
Corporation will aim to identify non-designated heritage assets at the earliest 
stage in the planning process, with reference to current national criteria. This 
may be supported by additional research or investigations as appropriate 
and be based on a clear understanding of the building, structure, open space 
or archaeological remains, including group value. 

14.1.27. The designation of conservation areas carries with it the statutory duty to 
consider how an area or areas can be preserved and enhanced. The City 
Corporation will take the opportunity presented by development proposals 
within a conservation area to strengthen the special character of that 

Page 226



 

169 

 

conservation area and its setting. Applicants should consider the 
significance and special character of conservation areas, informed by the 
Character Summary and Management Strategy Supplementary Planning 
Documents. 

14.1.28. In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, 
developers should have regard to the character of conservation areas and 
their settings. This includes the size and shape of historic building plots, 
existing street patterns and the alignment and the width of frontages, 
materials, vertical and horizontal emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk 
and scale, including the effects of site amalgamation on scale, and hard and 
soft landscaping. Regard should be paid to the richness, variety and 
complexity of the architectural form and detailing of buildings and to the 
broader character of the area. 

14.1.29. Many buildings in conservation areas, make a significant contribution to 
the character of these areas. Proposals for the demolition of a non-listed 
building will be considered in terms of the building’s significance, its 
contribution to the character or appearance of the area and the level of 
potential harm. 

14.1.30. Even minor changes to listed buildings can have a significant impact on 
their character and appearance. Listing descriptions are unlikely to refer to 
every feature of significance and buildings’ interiors and plan forms are also 
of importance. Inspections of listed buildings will be necessary to identify 
the special interest and significance of the building and its curtilage. 

14.1.31. Extensions to listed buildings should be of an appropriate scale and 
character and will be acceptable where the overall impact on the building 
does not harm its significance. The bulk, height, location and materials of 
roof extensions will be particularly important and should be appropriate to 
the period and style of the building and its setting.  Where listed buildings 
are no longer used for their original or previous purpose, it is important to 
find alternative uses that safeguard their future, while being compatible with 
the character of the building. 

14.1.32. The City’s heritage assets are not just appreciated and understood from the 
ground, but also from above. Development proposals should facilitate public 
appreciation of the City’s historic roofscapes. The effect of a development on the 
setting of an asset from high level locations a material consideration. 

14.1.33. The pattern of streets, lanes, alleyways and other open spaces, such as 
squares and courts, is a distinctive element of the City’s townscape and is of 
historic significance in itself. The City Corporation will seek to maintain the 
widths and alignments of streets, lanes and other spaces where these have 
historic value or underpin the character of a location or their surroundings. 
Some historic routes have been lost to the detriment of the City’s historic 
townscape. Where possible, the City Corporation will seek to re-open or 
reintroduce such routes when the opportunity arises.  

Page 227



 

170 

 

14.1.34. In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, 
developers should have regard to the character of conservation areas and 
their settings. This includes the size and shape of historic building plots, 
existing street patterns and the alignment and the width of frontages, 
materials, vertical and horizontal emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk 
and scale, including the effects of site amalgamation on scale, and hard and 
soft landscaping. Regard should be paid to the richness, variety and 
complexity of the architectural form and detailing of buildings and to the 
broader character of the area. 

14.1.35. Developers Applicants will be required to provide supporting information 
describing the significance of any heritage assets where fabric or setting would be 
affected, along with the contribution made by their setting to their significance and 
the potential impact of the proposed development on that significance. A heritage 
asset’s significance can be evidential, historic, aesthetic or communal. The 
information provided should be proportionate to the level of change or impact a 
proposal will have on the heritage asset or assets. Applicants should refer to 
guidance by Historic England Good Practice Advice Note in Planning 3: The 
Setting of Heritage Assets. 

14.1.36. The City Corporation’s Character Areas Study provides an overview of 
the City’s overall significance including a Statement of Significance for key 
strategic assets, like St Paul’s Cathedral; The Monument; and the Tower of 
London. It identifies the principle attributes that contribute to the 
significance of these heritage assets and their settings, which should be 
protected, enhanced, better revealed or celebrated. The study also divides 
the City into 9 character areas having shared characteristics, and provides a 
thorough assessment of the core heritage typologies in these areas, 
highlighting the key aspects that contribute to their significance. Applicants 
should draw reference to the Character Areas Study to understand their 
site’s significance and the key attributes of significance that they should 
consider. 

14.1.37. In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, 
developers should have regard to the character of conservation areas and 
their settings. This includes the size and shape of historic building plots, 
existing street patterns and the alignment and the width of frontages, 
materials, vertical and horizontal emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk 
and scale, including the effects of site amalgamation on scale, and hard and 
soft landscaping. Regard should be paid to the richness, variety and 
complexity of the architectural form and detailing of buildings and to the 
broader character of the area. 

Policy HE2: Ancient Monuments and Archaeology 

1. The City Corporation will preserve, protect, safeguard and enhance archaeological 
monuments, remains and their settings, seeking enhancement, inclusive access to, 
public display and interpretation where appropriate. 

Page 228



 

171 

 

2. Development proposals which involve excavation or ground works affecting sites of 
archaeological potential must be accompanied by an archaeological assessment and 
evaluation of the site, addressing the impact of the proposed development, mitigation 
of harm and identification of enhancement opportunities. 

3. Significant, substantive archaeological features on major development sites 
must be preserved in-situ and, where feasible, exposed to public view. 
Significant archaeological artefacts on major development sites must be 
retained and exhibited on site. Where it can be demonstrated that found 
archaeological features or artefacts are of lesser significance or substance, 
proper investigation and recording of archaeological remains will be required as an 
integral part of a development programme, including timely publication and archiving 
of results to advance understanding.  

 

Reason for the policy 

14.1.38. The archaeological potential of the City is of national and international 
significance and continues to shed new light on the Roman world in Britain, 
as well as considerable detail of life in later periods. Although there has been 
considerable redevelopment and excavation within the City, there remains 
much potential for the City’s archaeology to reveal information about and 
deep understanding of period in its history spanning two thousand 
years. Some of the archaeology is still visible – such as the remains of the 
Roman and medieval City wall exposed above ground or revealed in 
development sites, or the remains of the amphitheatre below the Guildhall. 

14.1.39. The City’s rich archaeological heritage has a major role to play in the 
Destination City programme and a strong contribution to make to the City’s 
cultural offer. Accordingly, the City will, whilst adhering to the highest 
standards of scholarly research, investigation and recording, proactively 
seek opportunities to reveal and celebrate this archaeological heritage. 

14.1.40. The entire City is considered to have archaeological potential, except 
where there is evidence that archaeological remains have been lost due to 
deep basement construction or other groundworks. The City Corporation will 
indicate the potential of a site, its significance and relative importance and 
the likely impact on archaeology at an early stage so that the appropriate 
assessment, evaluation and design development can be undertaken. 

How the policy works 

14.1.41. The City Corporation will indicate the potential of a site, its significance 
and relative importance and the likely impact on archaeology at an early 
stage so that the appropriate assessment, evaluation and design 
development can be undertaken. 

14.1.42. Planning applications that involve excavation or ground works must be 
accompanied by an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site, 

Page 229



 

172 

 

including the impact of the proposed development. An evaluation should include 
trial work in agreed specific areas of the site to provide more information and to 
inform consideration of the development proposals by the City Corporation. 

14.1.43. In some cases, a development may reveal archaeological features or 
artefacts a monument or archaeological remains which will could either be 
displayed on the site, or reburied. Their treatment would depend on their level 
of significance and their substantiveness.  

14.1.44. On sites where significant monuments or archaeological remains exist, 
development must be designed to enhance physical preservation and avoid 
disturbance or loss. This can be done by the sympathetic design of basements, 
raising ground levels, site coverage, and the location of foundations to avoid or 
minimise archaeological loss and securing their preservation for the future.  

14.1.45. Undesignated archaeological remains features equivalent in significance 
and substance to a scheduled ancient monument will be treated accordingly 
following consultation with Historic England given equal weight to 
designated heritage assets.  

14.1.46. On sites where significant, substantial archaeological features exist, 
development must be designed to enhance physical preservation and avoid 
disturbance or loss. This can be done by the sympathetic design of 
basements, raising ground levels, site coverage, and the location of 
foundations to avoid or minimise archaeological loss and securing their 
preservation for the future. 

14.1.47. The interpretation and presentation to the public of a visible or buried 
monument and enhancement of its setting should form part of development 
proposals and agreement. Agreement will be sought, where appropriate, to 
achieve public access. Successful exemplars of this are the Roman Wall 
exhibition at Vine Street, or the Temple of Mithras at Bloomberg.  

14.1.48. On sites where significant archaeological artefacts are discovered, there 
would be a presumption to retain them on site and display them in the most 
optimal place for appreciation by the public. This would be undertaken 
following the conclusion of any programme of research and study.  

14.1.49. The City Corporation will refuse schemes which do not Development 
proposals should provide an adequate assessment of a site, and make any 
provision for the incorporation, safeguarding or preservation of significant 
monuments features or remains, or which would harm or adversely affect those 
monuments features or remains. Where display of a monument features or of 
archaeological remains would harm the heritage asset or make it vulnerable and 
reburial is necessary, there should be interpretation to widen knowledge and 
contribute to the interest of the townscape. 

14.1.50. A programme of archaeological work for investigation, excavation and 
recording and publication of the results to a predetermined research framework 
and by an approved organisation should be submitted to and approved by the City 

Page 230



 

173 

 

Corporation, prior to development. This will be conditioned and will ensure the 
preservation of those remains by record. The programme of archaeological work 
should include all on-site work, including details of any temporary works which may 
have an impact on the archaeology of the site and all off-site work including the 
post-excavation analysis, publication and archiving of the results. 

Policy HE3: Setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site 

1. Development proposals affecting the setting of the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site should preserve and seek to enhance the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV), 
architectural and historic significance, authenticity and integrity of the Tower of 
London World Heritage Site. Applicants will be required to submit a Heritage 
Impact Assessment along with the planning application. 

2. Development proposals within the defined Local Setting Area of the Tower of 
London World Heritage Site should seek opportunities to enhance the immediate 
surroundings of the World Heritage Site, through improvements to the public realm 
and connectivity.  
 

3. Development proposals in the vicinity of the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site will be encouraged to enhance pedestrian and cycle routes, including 
signage and wayfinding in the area that is appropriate and contributes to the 
importance of setting of the Tower by improving its public accessibility and 
visibility. 
 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.1.51. The Tower of London is a UNESCO World Heritage Site of Outstanding 
Universal Value. While the Tower itself is within the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets, part of the defined Local Setting Area is within the City and is shown on 
the Policies Map. The local setting of the Tower comprises the spaces from which it 
can be seen from street and river level, and the buildings that enclose or provide 
definition to those spaces. The area around the Tower includes some streets with 
heavy traffic flows, and there is scope for improvements to be made to the public 
realm and to safety and accessibility for people walking and cycling  non-
motorised road users. Developments within a wider area may affect the 
setting of the Tower, depending on their scale, form and location. 

How the policy works 

14.1.52. Any potential impacts on the setting of the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site need to be considered in the relevant documents accompanying planning 
applications, such as in Heritage Statements, Townscape and Visual Impact 
Assessments or Transport Assessments.  

14.1.53. The Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan 2016, the Mayor 
of London Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘World Heritage Sites – Guidance 

Page 231



 

174 

 

and Settings 2012’ and the Tower of London ‘Local Setting Study 2010’, provide 
guidance on how the setting of the World Heritage Site can be positively managed, 
protecting its OUV, while accommodating change. The International Council on 
Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) publication ‘Guidance on Heritage Impact 
Assessments for Cultural World Heritage Properties’ offers guidance on the 
process of commissioning Heritage Impact Assessments (HIAs) for World Heritage 
properties and also outlines the methodology to be used in order to evaluate 
the impact of potential development on the OUV of properties. 

14.1.54. The Character Areas Study contains a Statement of Heritage Significance 
for the Tower of London outlining the key attributes that contribute to the 
OUV of the Tower of London and its setting which should be protected, 
enhanced or better revealed. Applicants should refer to the Statement of 
Heritage Significance to fully understand the significance of the Tower of 
London and its setting. 

14.1.55. The City Corporation is also undertaking a Heritage Impact Assessment 
to assess the potential impacts of the tall building areas on the OUV of the 
Tower of London WHS. 

14.2. Tall buildings  

Strategic Policy S12: Tall Buildings 

1. Tall buildings within the City of London are defined as buildings over 75m above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD). 

2. Tall buildings of world class architecture and sustainable and accessible design 
will be encouraged on suitable sites, having must have regard to:  

• the potential effect on the City skyline, the wider London skyline and historic 
skyline features;  

• the character and amenity of their surroundings, including the relationship 
with existing and consented tall buildings;  

• the significance of heritage assets and their immediate and wider settings;  

• the provision of a high-quality public realm at street level; and 

• the environmental impact the tall building may have on the surrounding area 
including buildings and public realm, including daylight and sunlight, 
solar glare, solar convergence, overshadowing and wind shear, and the 
capacity of the City’s streets and spaces to accommodate the development. 
Consideration should be given to how the design of tall buildings can 
assist with the dispersal of air pollutants; 

• Where tall buildings are acceptable in principle, their design must ensure safe 
and comfortable levels of wind, daylight and sunlight, solar glare and solar 
convergence within nearby buildings and the public realm within the vicinity of 
the building. The potential impact on telecommunications operations. Tall 

Page 232



 

175 

 

buildings should not interfere with telecommunications and provide 
appropriate mitigation where this is not feasible; Consideration should be 
given to how the design of tall buildings can assist with the dispersal of air 
pollutants; 

3. Tall buildings must not adversely affect the operation of London’s airports, nor 
exceed the Civil Aviation Authority’s maximum height limitation for tall buildings in 
central London. 

 
4. The design of tall buildings must: 

• achieve exemplar standard of architectural quality and sustainable and 
accessible building design; 

• enhance the City skyline and views; 

• provide adequate levels of daylight and sunlight within the new 
development; 

• make a positive contribution to the townscape character; 

• make a positive contribution to the quality of public realm, incorporate 
active frontages at ground floor and create a positive pedestrian 
experience; 

• maintain adequate distance between buildings to ensure high quality 
experience at the street level; 

• New tall buildings will be required to enhance permeability and provide by 
providing the maximum feasible amount of publicly accessible open space 
or other facilities at street level;  

• incorporate publicly accessible open space within the building and its 
curtilage, including at upper levels available at no charge free to enter, 
publicly accessible elevated spaces at upper levels, which may include 
culture, retail, leisure or education facilities, open spaces including roof 
gardens or public viewing galleries;  

• provide consolidation of servicing and deliveries to reduce potential 
vehicle movements; 

• mitigate adverse impacts on the microclimate and amenity of the site 
and surrounding area and avoid the creation of building canyons; and 

• demonstrate consideration of public safety requirements as part of the 
overall design. 

 

4. New tall buildings will be refused in inappropriate areas, comprising 
conservation areas; the St Paul’s Heights area; St Paul’s protected vista 
viewing corridors; the protected vista and White Tower protected silhouette of 
the Tower of London; and Monument views and setting; all as defined on the 
Policies Map. 

Page 233



 

176 

 

5. The tall building areas identified on the Policies Map and Figure XX are areas 
where tall buildings may be appropriate, subject to the requirements in this and 
other relevant policies. 

6.  The maximum heights that could be acceptable within the identified tall 
building areas on the Policies map and Figure XX.  

7. The height and form of tall buildings must take account of strategic and local 
views. 

8. The suitability of sites for tall buildings within the identified areas and their 
design, height, scale and massing should take into consideration local heritage 
assets and other localised factors relating to townscape character and 
microclimate. 

9. Applicants will be required to submit accurate three-dimensional computer 
models to support the analysis of their proposals. Accurate Visual 
Representations (AVRs) should be submitted as part of the application.  

10. Applicants will be required to ensure that any cross-boundary impacts of 
proposed schemes are fully addressed. 

.  

 Reason for the policy 

14.2.1. The City contains many tall buildings, which help to enhance its 
environment and economy and contribute to London’s world city role. While 
tall buildings are a characteristic and iconic element of the City’s skyline, 
they must not adversely impact on the City’s unique environment or built 
heritage. All of the City is sensitive to the development of tall buildings within 
and outside the City. Areas outside of the City may also be sensitive to the 
development of tall buildings within the City. The location and impact of 
future tall buildings therefore needs to be carefully considered. Policy HE3 
sets out criteria for development proposals affecting the setting of the Tower 
of London World Heritage Site. 

14.2.2. Tall buildings are defined as those exceeding 75m AOD in height. Figure 
19: Tall buildings distribution in the City of London September 2019 shows 
their current distribution. The City Corporation is required to refer 
applications to the Mayor for buildings that exceed 150m above ground 
height across the City and 25m above ground height in the Thames Policy 
Area. The intention of this lower threshold is to preserve the open aspect of 
the river and the riverside public realm. Tall buildings in the City may have 
impacts on locations within adjacent boroughs. Developers should ensure 
that any cross-boundary impacts are fully addressed. 

14.2.3. London Plan Policy D9 (Tall Buildings) requires Development Plans to 
define what is considered to be a tall building and determine if there are 
locations where tall buildings may be an appropriate form of development, 

Page 234



 

177 

 

identifying locations and appropriate tall building heights. Guidance issued by 
the Design Council/CABE and Historic England also encourages local planning 
authorities to consider the scope for tall buildings as part of strategic planning and 
to identify locations where they are, or are not, appropriate.  

14.2.4. Tall buildings in the City are defined as those exceeding 75m AOD in 
height. The City Corporation’s Ordnance Survey data on building heights 
indicates much of the City is between 50-75m above Ordnance Datum (AOD), 
or between 15-21 storeys; and only small pockets of the City have building 
heights at or around 6 storeys or 18m high. These areas include relatively 
small parts of Smithfield, Fleet Street and the Temples or along the lanes and 
alleys off Bank junction, which mostly comprise conservation areas. The City 
has a varied character with a striking spatial contrast. Given its small 
geographical area, it is not considered appropriate to prescribe a granular 
approach to a definition of tall buildings, but instead to have a single 
definition for tall buildings across the area. A definition of 75m isensures 
consistency with our longer-term strategic approach and – given prevailing 
heights across much of the City – is a level where buildings may have 
significant visual implications and could result in a significant change to the 
skyline.  

14.2.5. The City contains many tall buildings. In particular, the eastern part of the 
City has a concentration of tall buildings including iconic skyscrapers such 
as the Gherkin, 22 Bishopsgate, and the Leadenhall building. Tall buildings 
impart the City of London’s World City status to compete globally and to be a 
place where businesses seek to locate. Strategically planning for tall 
buildings in clusters can bring economic as well as townscape benefits. 
Clusters of tall buildings allow for concentration and agglomerations of 
businesses and related economic activity while they also provide higher 
densities and contribute towards creating a more defined impact on the 
overall City skyline. The eastern cluster forms a distinctive skyline with the 
highest density of commercial activity within the City and is required to 
accommodate a significant proportion of the City’s future growth in office 
floorspace. Capacity modelling demonstrates that the two clusters of tall 
buildings are required if the City is to meet objectively assessed need for 
office capacity over the lifetime of this Plan.  

14.2.6. Tall building development can have transformational impacts upon a place 
and they should be located in sustainable locations where they don’t 
undermine the character of a place, or intrude into, and undermine cherished 
views of landmarks or urban skylines. They can also cause adverse 
environmental impacts such as reduction in daylight and sunlight, wind 
shear and overshadowing. It is therefore critical to determine appropriate 
areas and heights for tall buildings in order to respond to the opportunities 
that tall buildings may provide whilst also addressing and responding 
appropriately to the issues that they may create.   

14.2.7. The London Plan indicates that areas should be identified where new tall 
buildings will be an appropriate form of development in principle. All of the 
City of London is sensitive to development of tall buildings and the City 

Page 235



 

178 

 

Cluster represents the most appropriate area for encouraging tall buildings 
in the City.  

14.2.8. The tall building areas identified are the City Cluster and Fleet Valley 
areas. A comprehensive analysis of the character of the City informed the 
location of these tall building areas. The study found that, given its historic 
nature, and the prominence in local and wider strategic views, all parts of the 
Square Mile are sensitive or very sensitive to tall buildings. The City Cluster 
and Fleet Valley areas are the only broad areas found to be less sensitive and 
less constrained relative to other areas. Outside the identified tall building 
areas, tall buildings would be likely to very significant impacts on heritage 
assets and on protected views from places within and outside the Square 
Mile, and could significantly undermine the prevailing townscape and 
character of the area.  

14.2.9. Different parts of the City have different characteristic features that make 
them distinct from each other. New development should be designed to fit in 
well within the existing context and have form, massing and height that 
positively responds to the townscape character.  

14.2.10. The heights of the buildings in the City Cluster and Fleet Valley areas 
were determined through extensive three dimensional modelling and 
mapping, informed by a detailed assessment of how the proposed massing 
of tall buildings in these areas could potentially impact the wider City and 
pan-London skyline. Both areas were assessed based on specific criteria, 
including the London Views Management Framework (LVMF), St Paul’s 
Heights, Monument Views, Tower of London approaches and representative 
views, and local strategic views. 

14.2.11. Tall buildings are a characteristic and iconic feature of the City’s skyline. 
Well-designed tall buildings can respond positively to the character and the 
historic environment of the area. The creation of coherent clusters of tall 
buildings will help to ensure individual tall buildings are not isolated features 
but part of a recognisable skyline, with viewers able to identify the clusters 
spatially and distinguish them visually from important skyline features such 
as St Paul’s Cathedral.  

14.2.12. The way tall buildings are experienced at ground level is an important 
consideration as tall buildings can have a significant impact on the 
streetscape and public realm. They can provide a range of activities and 
public spaces at ground level for people to walk and spend time. They can 
also benefit communities by providing publicly accessible viewing terraces 
and galleries.  

How the policy works 

14.2.13. This The identification of the two tall building areas does not mean that all 
sites in the two areas cluster are suitable. All new tall building proposals will need 
to satisfy the requirements of policy S12 and other policies in this Plan and the 

Page 236



 

179 

 

London Plan. Policy S21 provides more details about the considerations that apply 
specifically to new tall building proposals in the City Cluster. 

14.2.14. Outside of the City Cluster, there is less scope for new tall buildings due 
principally to conservation area and views protection considerations. Figure 
21: Areas inappropriate for new tall buildings identifies those areas of the 
City that are considered inappropriate for new tall buildings bdue to these 
policies, based on a composite of the various policy desginations illustrated 
in Figure 20.  

14.2.15. Tall buildings are high-profile developments with a wider impact, visible on the 
skyline across large parts of London. They provide City landmarks and should be 
designed to enhance the City’s skyline.  

14.2.16. Development proposals in the tall building areas will be required to follow 
the building heights (in metres AOD) specified on the two dimensional 
contour maps. Three dimensional digital models of these contours will be 
made available to inform tall building proposals. While the contour maps 
indicate heights to which the tall buildings could be built to, buildings should 
not necessarily be designed to maximise height; instead they should be 
thoughtfully designed to create built form that contributes positively to the 
skyline and townscape character and have architectural integrity. In some 
instances, site specific analysis might show that greater heights can be 
achieved by careful siting and massing, allowing tall buildings to slightly 
exceed the identified contour height. Any exceedances from the contour 
lines are envisaged to be wholly exceptional, and only permitted when no 
further adverse impacts on views or harm to heritage assets and their 
settings ensues. In such instances, the height of the proposals must still 
remain significantly lower than the next highest contour above and should 
provide exceptional public benefits. They should help create a coherent 
cluster form and add variety to the skyline while enhancing the character of 
the townscape. In all cases, detailed urban design and character assessment 
of the development proposal will be required, taking account of localised 
constraints. 

14.2.17. All tall building proposals should be accompanied by a Heritage 
Townscape Visual Impact Assessment that includes computer generated 
visualisations to illustrate the likely visual impacts of the proposed 
development, taking account of the cumulative impact of other proposed, 
permitted and existing tall buildings. Digital massing models of tall buildings 
should be submitted, in appropriate formats. The City Corporation will use 
these models to assess the impact of tall buildings on the local, City-wide 
and London-wide townscape and skyscape. 

14.2.18. Within and in close proximity to the City Cluster, there are numerous 
heritage assets with the potential to be affected by tall buildings. The 
location, siting, bulk, massing, height and design of tall buildings should be 
informed by the potential impact on heritage assets, while recognising the 
juxtaposition of old and new architecture that already exists and that, in 

Page 237



 

180 

 

many instances, makes a positive contribution to the character of the Square 
Mile.  

14.2.19. Tall buildings must not adversely impact on the operation of London’s airports, 
taking account of airport surface limitation heights. Consultation with London City 
Airport will be required on all proposals over 90m AOD and with Heathrow Ltd on 
all proposals over 150m AOD. Subject to this consultation, the maximum height of 
buildings, any equipment used during the construction process and any 
subsequent maintenance or demolition must not exceed the Civil Aviation 
Authority’s (CAA’s) aviation safeguarding policy for central London, which sets a 
maximum height limitation of 309.6m (1,016 ft) AOD. Developers should undertake 
early liaison with the CAA, Heathrow and London City Airports regarding building 
heights and the height of cranes or other equipment to be used during construction, 
subsequent operation or demolition. 

14.2.20. The development of tall buildings must take account of City Corporation 
Planning Advice Notes on the potential microclimate and thermal comfort impacts 
from development at an early stage in the design process. Planning Advice Notes 
set out requirements for assessing the impacts of tall buildings on solar glare, solar 
convergence, sunlight, wind and thermal comfort explaining how they should be 
considered as part of the design process. Tall buildings should not interfere with 
telecommunications during construction and operation. Developers will be required 
to submit a Telecommunications Interference Survey identifying the impact of the 
development and any proposed mitigation measures. 

14.2.21. Three dimensional computer models should be accompanied by data to 
verify the format, units of measurement and accurate positioning information 
relative to OSGB / Ordnance Datum co-ordinates. Submitted Accurate Visual 
Representations (AVRs) should be consistent with the supplied computer 
model but may reflect additional information to explain the physical 
appearance of the proposals. They should comply with the methodology and 
definitions included in Appendix C of the London View Management 
Framework. AVR materials should include representations of existing tall 
buildings and relevant consented schemes. 

14.2.22. Proposals for new tall buildings should take account of the cumulative 
impact of other proposed, permitted and existing tall buildings. The City 
Corporation will require proposals to maintain and enhance the provision of 
public open space around the building, avoid the creation of building 
canyons, maintain and enhance pedestrian permeability and deliver 
consolidation of servicing and deliveries to reduce potential vehicle 
movements. 

14.2.23. Tall buildings must provide for the amenity of occupiers, visitors to the 
building and the wider public. They should contain permeable ground floors 
which provide an active frontage, such as retail facilities. Tall buildings 
should provide free to enter, publicly accessible areas, which may include 
retail, leisure or educational facilities or areas of open space including roof 
gardens or public viewing galleries. There is a particular opportunity to 

Page 238



 

181 

 

provide publicly accessible spaces at upper levels, offering wider views 
across London. 

14.2.24. The City Corporation will use 3D digital modelling technology to visually 
assess the impact of tall buildings on the local, City-wide and London-wide 
townscape and skyscape. This assessment will support detailed 
consideration of development proposals against the policies in this Plan. 
Developers should submit virtual models of their development in an open 
source or other format compatible with the City Corporation’s 3D digital 
model to enable this assessment. 

 

14.3. Protected Views 

Strategic Policy S13: Protected Views 

The City Corporation will protect and enhance significant City and strategic London 
views of important buildings, townscape and skylines by: 

1. Implementing the Mayor of London’s London View Management Framework SPG 
to manage designated views of strategically important landmarks (St. Paul’s 
Cathedral and the Tower of London), river prospects, townscape views and linear 
views; 

2. Protecting and enhancing significant local views of St. Paul’s Cathedral, through 
the City Corporation’s St. Paul’s Heights code and local views from the Fleet 
Street, Ludgate Circus and Ludgate Hill processional route; the ssetting and 
backdrop to the Cathedral; significant local views of and from the Monument and 
views of historic City landmarks and skyline features;  

3. Securing an appropriate setting of and backdrop to the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site, ensuring its Outstanding Universal Value and taking account of the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan (2016); and  

4. Having regard to views of the City that have been designated by other 
Local Planning Authorities. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.3.1. The City and its surrounding area contain many famous landmarks that are 
visible from viewpoints across London. Views of the City’s skyline from the River 
Thames are especially notable and certain local views of St. Paul’s Cathedral have 
been protected successfully by the City Corporation’s ‘St. Paul’s Heights’ code 
since the 1930s. The successful protection and restoration of the views 
depends on the long-term application of the Heights limitations to all sites 
within the area of control. The views protected by the Heights are sensitive to 
even small infringements. Consistent application of the limitations is 
therefore crucial to their successful protection of the views. 

Page 239



 

182 

 

14.3.2. The London Plan sets out the overall view protection requirements which apply 
to Strategically Important Landmarks. Landmarks such as St. Paul’s Cathedral, the 
Monument and the Tower of London are internationally renowned and add to the 
City’s world class status. 

14.3.3. The approach to views protection in this Plan is a clarification of the long-
standing policy, rather than seeking changes to policy. It is supported by more 
detailed guidance in the Protected Views SPD.  

 

How the policy works 

14.3.4. Protected vistas are defined geometrically from an assessment point at the view 
location to the strategically important landmark that is the focus of the protected 
vista. Each protected vista includes a landmark viewing corridor, within which 
development should not exceed the height of the threshold plane. Beside and 
behind landmark viewing corridors are the wider setting consultation areas, within 
which development that exceeds the defined LVMF threshold plane should not 
compromise the viewer’s ability to recognise and appreciate the strategically 
jmportant landmark. 

14.3.5. Other designated strategic views have defined assessment points but are 
protected by qualitative assessment of the impact of a proposal on the important 
elements of the view. For the City, most of the relevant views are river prospects 
from Thames bridges and the riverside walk. The Mayor of London’s London View 
Management Framework (LVMF) SPG (2012) provides more detail, including 
detailed management plans for each strategic view of landmarks such as St. Paul’s 
Cathedral and the Tower of London.  

14.3.6. The LVMF defines a protected vista and a White Tower protected silhouette for 
the Tower of London. Any development in the wider setting consultation area in the 
background of this protected vista and the white tower protected silhouette should 
preserve or enhance the viewer’s ability to recognise the landmark and appreciate 
its Outstanding Universal Value. City sites have the potential to be intrusive in the 
view because of their relative proximity to the Tower. Therefore, proposed new 
development in the City which exceeds the defined LVMF threshold plane for this 
view will not be acceptable as it will not preserve this view. The City Corporation’s 
Protected Views SPD provides further details and guidance on the protected views 
within the City. 

14.3.7. The Tower of London has additional view protection, implemented through the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan (2016). This defines and 
protects a range of settings of the Tower World Heritage Site, which includes its 
relationship to historic features that are visible in the urban landscape. All new 
buildings in the setting of the Tower should contribute to the quality of views both of 
and from the Tower. 

Operation of the Heights 

Page 240



 

183 

 

14.3.8. The City Corporation has successfully protected views of St. Paul’s 
Cathedral through the St. Paul’s Heights policy for over 70 years. Applicants 
will be expected to submit drawings showing the relationship between the 
Heights limitations and the proposed development to ensure compliance 
with the Heights. 

14.3.9. Some existing buildings exceed the Heights limitations and thereby 
partially obstruct the protected views of St Paul’s. Upon alteration or 
redevelopment such buildings will be required to comply with the Heights 
limitations so that views obstructed at present will eventually be restored. 
Several infringing buildings have been redeveloped in compliance with the 
Heights, successfully restoring lost views.  

14.3.10. Strict observance of the Heights limitations can sometimes lead to a 
uniform roofscape. Developers are encouraged to provide design solutions 
to help promote a more articulated, interesting roofscape within the area of 
the St. Paul’s Heights limitations while also keeping to the limitations 
imposed by the St. Paul’s Heights grid. 

Backdrop and Skyline Setting of the Cathedral 

In some of the views protected by St Paul’s Heights tall buildings can be 
seen in juxtaposition to the Cathedral, compromising its dominance of the 
skyline. The relationship of tall buildings to the Cathedral varies with the 
viewpoint. In some cases, tall buildings can be seen behind the dome or 
western towers so that their outlines are impaired. From other viewpoints tall 
buildings appear above the roof of the Cathedral or crowd close to the 
Cathedral on the skyline. Views are compromised in these ways from the 
following locations: the south bank between New Globe Walk and Gabriel’s 
Wharf, and adjacent to Waterloo Bridge; and from the Millennium Bridge, 
Blackfriars Bridge, the southern part of Waterloo Bridge, Hungerford Bridge, 
and from Fleet Street. Within these views, new development and the 
redevelopment of existing tall buildings should aim not to worsen and, where 
possible, to improve the backdrop to the views. From other Heights 
viewpoints where no tall buildings appear in the backdrop and the Cathedral 
is seen against clear sky, new development should maintain this situation. 

14.3.11. In views from the south bank west of Blackfriars Bridge and from 
Waterloo Bridge the Cathedral is seen in relation to the City’s eastern cluster 
of tall buildings. The cluster appears to the right of the Cathedral and does 
not intrude into its backdrop. There is a clear gap on the skyline between the 
Cathedral and the cluster, which it is important to retain. The height and 
massing of buildings in the cluster step upwards from this gap. This is 
important to the visual relationship between the Cathedral and the cluster, 
and should be maintained. 

14.3.12. The City Corporation will protect local views of St Paul’s Cathedral when 
approaching along Fleet Street, Ludgate Circus and Ludgate Hill which forms part 
of the long established royal and state processional route between Westminster 
and the City. The views of St Paul’s are kinetic, changing as the viewer moves 

Page 241



 

184 

 

along the length of this route, depending on the topography and alignment of 
buildings. Development proposals that could be visible from places along this route 
should ensure that they do not impinge on the ability of the viewer to recognise and 
appreciate the silhouette of St Paul’s Cathedral, and that they maintain the current 
clear sky background profile. An indicative view background centre line is shown 
on Figure 22 to highlight this issue. Further details will be set out in an update 
to the Protected Views SPD, which will include a Statement 
of Significance and 3D digital modelling information to inform the future 
conservation and enhancement of this approach. 

14.3.13. New development proposals should be well designed in their own right. Their 
bulk and form should not be based solely on the parameters set by the 
requirements and consideration of the protected views. In determining planning 
applications for tall buildings, the City Corporation will take account of guidance 
from the Design Council/CABE, Historic England and the Greater London 
Authority. 

14.3.14. The City Corporation will co-operate with the Mayor, London boroughs and 
other local planning authorities, where proposed development outside of the City 
impacts on strategically important views of St Paul’s Cathedral, to ensure that 
development does not adversely impact on the view. 

14.3.15. The City Corporation will supplement its assessment of strategic and locally 
protected views with a visual assessment carried out using 3D digital modelling 
technology. Developers should submit virtual models for all major development in 
an open source or other format compatible with the City Corporation’s 3D digital 
model. 

St Paul’s Preservation Act and the St. Paul’s Depths  

14.3.16. The City of London (St Paul’s Cathedral Preservation) Act 1935 defines 
an area near St Paul’s where development below prescribed depths is 
controlled in order to protect the stability of the Cathedral.  

  

Page 242



 

185 

 

 Open Spaces and Green 
infrastructure 

15.1. Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 

Context 

The City of London is a dense urban environment containing many small open spaces 
and pocket parks. These spaces are vital to the City, offering residents, workers and 
visitors outside spaces in which to work or to relax and appreciate the streetscape. 
There is a growing recognition that green infrastructure helps to mitigate some effects of 
climate change, provides benefits for wellbeing and mental health and improves air 
quality. These same small green spaces are essential for wildlife found in this urban 
setting. The policy seeks to provide further green infrastructure, open space provision 
and biodiversity within the City.  

Strategic Policy S14:  Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 

The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, landowners, the churches 
and other agencies to promote a greener City by: 

1. Protecting existing open and green space; 

2. Seeking the provision of new open and green space through development, public 
realm or transportation improvements; 

3. Increasing public access to existing and new open spaces; 

4. Creating, maintaining and encouraging high quality green infrastructure; 

5. Using planting and habitat creation to enhance biodiversity, combat the impacts of 
climate change and improve air quality; 

6. Promoting the greening of the City through new development opportunities and 
refurbishments; and 

7. Ensuring new development and refurbishment protect and enhance the City’s 
biodiversity. 

8. Ensuring that the provision of new and enhanced open space, biodiversity 
and urban greening takes account of and contributes toward the green 
corridors identified in Figure XX and the City Corporation’s Biodiversity 
Action Plan. 

 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.1. The City is densely built up and most of its open space provision consists of 
small spaces at street level. Open spaces are vital to the City, offering 
residents, workers and visitors outside spaces in which to spend time, relax, 

Page 243



 

186 

 

and encounter nature, and play a crucial role in providing opportunities for 
play, exercise and recreation, and social interaction. Open spaces are also 
inclusive, providing free access for everyone. They are important havens for 
wildlife and enrich the City’s biodiversity, and help to mitigate the effects of 
climate change, improve air quality and benefit wellbeing, and physical and 
mental health. Green infrastructure in the City includes civic spaces, parks and 
gardens, trees and planting, churchyards, burial grounds, green roofs and walls in 
addition to amenity spaces. A key environmental asset is the River Thames. 

15.1.2. The City’s growing workforce and increasing visitor numbers, and the 
limited amount of open space in the Square Mile, mean that there is a need to 
provide more open spaces, and to improve and protect those that exist. 
Some areas of the City have deficiencies of open space or access to nature, 
or are places (such as the riverside) where additional open space and 
greening has an important role to play in realising the potential of the area 
and helping to create a more vibrant and welcoming City. Open and green 
space is under increasing pressure due to the intensification of development, an 
expanding workforce and growing visitor numbers projected over the Plan period. It 
is important that access to these spaces is protected and expanded as they 
provide multiple positive impacts on physical health and mental wellbeing, including 
providing opportunities for exercise, to reduce stress levels, and to facilitate social 
interaction. 

15.1.3. The City of London Corporation is committed to protecting existing open spaces 
and expanding the provision of green infrastructure as far as possible consistent 
with heritage significance. The City Corporation seeks further urban greening to 
make the Square Mile more attractive to workers, residents and visitors. This would 
contribute to the Mayor of London’s ambition to make over 50 per cent of London 
green by 2050 and support London’s designation in 2019 as the world’s first 
National Park City. 

15.1.4. Greening the City is an important step in ensuring the City is resilient to 
the effects of climate change. It can assist in creating cooler spaces, 
mitigating the urban heat island effect, and provide shade. Greening can 
improve biodiversity, improve air quality, and create a more attractive 
environment. Given the dense nature of the Square Mile and the demand for 
additional capacity, it is crucial that development provides greening and 
improves biodiversity on site and contributes as appropriate to wider 
improvements to green infrastructure. Given that space is at a premium in the 
City, all new developments and refurbishments will be required to include a 
greening element to the building and/or the public realm where consistent with 
good design and area character. This approach will have many benefits over time 
such as improving the urban environment for biodiversity, reducing rainwater run-
off, reducing air and noise pollution, regulating temperature, and making the City a 
more desirable business location by improving visual amenity. Public access to 
greening elements should be achieved wherever possible. 

How the policy works 

Page 244



 

187 

 

15.1.5. The City of London Corporation will work with developers and landowners at all 
stages of the development process and actively monitor developments from pre-
application stage through to post completion to ensure that the highest standards 
of green infrastructure are achieved, and existing provision is improved. 

Open Spaces 

 

Policy OS1: Protection and provision of open spaces  

The quantity, quality and accessibility of public open space will be maintained and 
improved. 

1. Existing open space will be protected and enhanced particularly spaces of historic 
interest;  

Where a Any loss of existing open space is should be wholly exceptional andis 
proposed it must be replaced on redevelopment by open space of equal or 
improved quantity and quality on or near the site. The loss of historic open 
spaces will be resisted; 

2. Additional publicly accessible open space and pedestrian routes will be sought in 
major commercial and residential developments, wherever practical but 
particularly in and near to areas of open space deficiency, in areas such as the 
riverside where it is a key component of placemaking, and where pedestrian 
modelling shows significant pressure on City streets; 

3. Further public open spaces will be created from underused highways and other 
land on development sites where feasible. Wherever possible, existing 
private spaces will be secured as publicly accessible open spaces as part of 
development; 

4. Public access will be secured, wherever possible, to existing and proposed private 
spaces; 

5. Improvements to the accessibility, inclusion, design, greening, lighting and 
biodiversity of existing open spaces will be promoted and, where relevant, 
secured through development Access to new and existing open spaces will 
be improved; and 

6. Open spaces must be designed to meet the needs requirements of all the City’s 
communities. They should be free, accessible, welcoming and inclusive. The 
design of open spaces should consider their context and how their use 
could contribute positively to the life of the Square Mile. This should include 
consideration of how seating, planting, lighting, and routes are designed 
and located; the potential for water features and noise attenuation; and 
opportunities for play, sport, recreation and leisure, taking into account 
likely users of the space.  

7. The provision of public drinking fountains in open spaces will be 
encouraged. 

Page 245



 

188 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.6. The City of London has 376 open spaces totalling just under 34 35 hectares in 
March 2022, which includes parks, gardens, churchyards and hard open spaces 
such as plazas and improvements to the repurposed highway. Most of the open 
spaces are small, with approximately 80% of sites less than 0.2 hectares in size 
and only 11% over half a hectare. There is a need for additional open space in the 
City to provide facilities for the growing daytime population, to help reduce the 
effects of pollution and climate change, to provide facilities for relaxation, 
tranquillity, agile working, leisure and sport, and to increase biodiversity. The 
provision of open space in the City is uneven, with some areas of deficiency 
in access to public open space [INSERT MAP]. Sites within and near to these 
areas will need to play a role in improving access to open space.  

15.1.7. As the City changes, there is a need for open spaces to play an increased 
role in supporting the life of the City. Open spaces provide a unique setting 
for people to spend time in free and accessible spaces, where they can 
pursue a variety of activities or simply enjoy being outdoors. Some parts of 
the City would benefit substantially from increased and improved open space 
provision. The Thames riverside has significant potential as an inclusive 
leisure destination but includes a riverside path that is narrow in places and 
lacks significant open areas where people can spend time and enjoy the 
river. Areas where there are due to be significant new attractions – such as 
Smithfield – that are likely to attract visitors including children and young 
people will require open spaces that can cater to their specific requirements. 
Other places, such as the City Cluster, where there are deficiencies in open 
spaces and high density development, will need to ensure that existing 
ground level open space works hard and is of an exemplary standard of 
design, that new spaces at ground level are created where possible, and that 
this is supplemented this through the addition of publicly accessible roof 
gardens and other spaces (see policy XX). Although open space provision in 
the Aldgate area has been significantly enhanced with the opening of Aldgate 
Square, this area has a lower proportion of open space (see Figure 15). 

How the policy works 

15.1.8. Many open spaces in the City are of historic value, such as churchyards, 
while others are of more recent origin. New or improved spaces are created 
through a programme of public realm enhancements undertaken by the City 
Corporation and others. Policy DE3 sets out standards for public realm 
improvements. These new spaces may be public highway land or private 
space around buildings. They offer the opportunity to create areas which 
meet a range of needs. 

15.1.9. The provision of open space across the City is uneven. The northern area 
of the City contains just over half of all the open space in the City, due to the 
relatively large amounts of space in the Barbican and Golden Lane estates 
and the Broadgate commercial estate. There is significant open space along 

Page 246



 

189 

 

the Thames and the riverside, with the Riverside Walk, the Temples legal 
precinct and space close to the Tower of London. A new area of public realm 
will be created at Blackfriars foreshore as a result of the Thames Tideway 
Tunnel project.  Although open space provision in the Aldgate area has been 
significantly enhanced with the opening of Aldgate Square, this area and the 
City Cluster areas have the lowest proportions of open space and face 
pressure from the increasing employment and pedestrian numbers 
associated with commercial intensification (see Figure 15). Additional open 
space is especially important in these areas, both at street level and at higher 
levels through the provision of accessible roof gardens/terraces. 

15.1.10. There is intense pressure on all the City’s open spaces particularly at 
lunchtimes and new development provides opportunities to create additional 
open space in and around buildings.  These spaces should be designed for 
multiple uses, be maintained to a high standard and be resilient to future 
climate conditions. 

Policy OS2: City Urban Greening  

1. The provision of urban greening should be integral to the design and layout of 
buildings and the public realm.  

• All development proposals will be required to demonstrate the highest feasible 
levels of greening consistent with good design and the local context;  

• The installation of biodiverse extensive or intensive green roofs, terraces and 
green walls will be sought, where appropriate, and new development should 
not compromise these elements on existing buildings located nearby; and 

• The loss of green walls and roofs, in whole or in part, will only be permitted in 
exceptional circumstances. 

2. Major development proposals will be required to: 

• Include an Urban Greening Factor (UGF) calculation demonstrating how the 
development will meet the City’s target UGF score of 0.3 as a minimum; and 

• Submit an operation and maintenance plan to demonstrate that the green 
features will be maintained and remain successful throughout the life of the 
building. 

 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.11. Urban greening provides a wide range of benefits for air quality, noise, urban 
heat island effect, rainwater run-off, biodiversity enhancement, recreation, and 
health and wellbeing of the City’s communities. This Given the limited opportunities 
to provide additional large green spaces in the Square Mile, greening the urban 
realm will be important if these benefits are to be realised. Greening will increase in 
importance as weather patterns continue to change with rising average 
temperatures, summer droughts and more intense rainfall events periodically 

Page 247



 

190 

 

through the year. The inclusion of blue infrastructure such as rain gardens and 
rainwater harvesting can help to minimise water use.  

15.1.12. Evidence demonstrates a positive correlation between urban greening and 
good mental and physical health. The provision of large green spaces in the City’s 
high-density urban environment is difficult to achieve. Small areas of soft 
landscaping, green walls and green roofs, associated with buildings and the public 
realm, will play a vital role in promoting wellbeing. Increased access to green 
spaces will be sought. 

15.1.13. The City Corporation has long championed green roofs and continues to 
actively encourage them, but other forms of greening are less common in and 
around new buildings. The City Corporation will seek the provision of trees and 
landscaping in all development where this is possible. Vertical greening such as 
green walls will be sought on buildings which do not provide for overnight sleeping 
accommodation. Green walls bring many of the same benefits to the environment 
as green roofs and can improve the appearance of locations where there is limited 
opportunity for horizontal planting. To be successful they require careful design, 
installation and regular maintenance. 

15.1.14. Green roofs should be designed, installed and maintained appropriately and 
can be designed as sustainable or ecological features, and recreational spaces. To 
ensure that the maximum practicable coverage of green roof and terraces can be 
achieved, location-appropriate plants should be installed on sloping roofs, between 
cradle tracks and underneath solar panel installations. 

15.1.15. There are two main types of green roofs, intensive green roofs which can be 
used as recreational spaces with similar features to parks and gardens, and 
extensive ones (including BioSolar green roofs) having plants such as sedums and 
wildflowers but with limited or no access. Varying extensive green roof substrate 
levels will be encouraged to improve rainwater retention and enhance biodiversity, 
using a high proportion of native plants. Where developers seek to install intensive 
green roofs with deep substrates for amenity space, these are expected to be of 
high-quality design incorporating rainwater harvesting for irrigation to minimise 
water use. 

15.1.16. The green roof should not impact adversely on protected views and planting 
should be appropriate to the location and height of the roof. All green roofs should 
be designed, installed and maintained appropriately for the life of the building to 
maximise the roof’s environmental benefits including biodiversity, rain-water run-off 
attenuation and building insulation. 

15.1.17. This policy promotes greening for all new buildings and public realm schemes. 
It takes account of the value of different types of greening through the application 
of an Urban Greening Factor (UGF), with a higher UGF for greening that provides 
multiple benefits.  

15.1.18. The London Plan has introduced a UGF scoring system for London, which will 
operate as a tool to assess the amount, type and value of greenery within 
development proposals. The London Plan recommends interim target scores, 

Page 248



 

191 

 

pending work by individual boroughs and the City Corporation to develop their own 
approaches tailored to local circumstances. Further information on applying and 
calculating the UGF is set out in Urban Greening Factor, London Plan 
Guidance (February 2023). 

15.1.19. The City Corporation’s UGF Study indicates that an UGF target of 0.3 would be 
deliverable for the majority of development in the City. The Study considered the 
potential for an UGF on a range of development types, including offices, 
residential, hotels and mixed commercial. Policy OS2 requires major development 
proposals in the City (commercial and residential) to include an UGF calculation 
demonstrating how it will meet the minimum UGF target of 0.3.  

How the policy works 

15.1.20. The City Corporation has long championed green roofs and continues to 
actively encourage them, but other forms of greening are less common in and 
around new buildings. The City Corporation will seek the provision of trees and 
landscaping in all development where this is possible. Vertical greening such as 
green walls will be sought on buildings which do not provide for overnight 
sleeping accommodation. Green walls bring many of the same benefits to the 
environment as green roofs and can improve the appearance of locations 
where there is limited opportunity for horizontal planting. To be successful 
they can take many forms and require careful design, installation and regular 
maintenance. 

15.1.21. Green roofs should be designed, installed and maintained appropriately and 
can be designed as sustainable or ecological features, and recreational spaces. To 
ensure that the maximum practicable coverage of green roof and terraces can be 
achieved, location-appropriate plants should be installed on sloping roofs, between 
cradle tracks and underneath solar panel installations. 

15.1.22. There are two main types of green roofs, intensive green roofs which can be 
used as recreational spaces with similar features to parks and gardens, and 
extensive ones (including BioSolar green roofs) having plants such as sedums and 
wildflowers but with limited or no access. Varying extensive green roof substrate 
levels will be encouraged to improve rainwater retention and enhance biodiversity, 
using a high proportion of native plants. Where developers seek to install intensive 
green roofs with deep substrates for amenity space, these are expected to be of 
high-quality design incorporating rainwater harvesting for irrigation to minimise 
water use. 

15.1.23. The green roof should not impact adversely on protected views and planting 
should be appropriate to the location and height of the roof. All green roofs should 
be designed, installed and maintained appropriately for the life of the building to 
maximise the roof’s environmental benefits including biodiversity, rain-water run-off 
attenuation and building insulation. 

15.1.24. Developers will need to provide evidence to justify why the UGF target cannot 
be met. The City Corporation will take a flexible approach where delivery of the 

Page 249



 

192 

 

target UGF would detract from the heritage significance of a building or 
conservation area. 

15.1.25. Development proposals could include greening of roofs, facades, terraces and 
balconies, both internal and external, and/or landscaping and tree planting around 
the building depending on the circumstances of each site. The UGF assessment 
should be submitted as part of the planning application, along with landscaping 
proposals and an operation and maintenance plan to show how the greenery will 
be maintained. This will ensure that suitable green elements are designed in and 
will remain attractive and viable throughout the life of the development. Urban 
greening should be considered at an appropriate stage in the design of the 
scheme, and scores should not be reduced as conditions are discharged. 
Internal greening which is fully enclosed does not count towards the UGF 
target score. 

15.1.26. More details including a worked example of a UGF calculation are set out 
in Appendix 1 of the Local Plan. 

 

Biodiversity 

Policy OS3: Biodiversity  

Development should aim to secure net gains for biodiversity where possible by 
incorporating incorporate measures to enhance biodiversity, including: 

1. Retention, protection and enhancement of habitats within Sites of Importance 
for Nature Conservation (SINCs), including the River Thames; 

2. Measures recommended in the City of London Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) in 
relation to particular species or habitats and action plans; 

3. Green roofs and walls, gardens and terraces, soft landscaping and trees and 
green walls where appropriate; 

4. Helping to create green corridors and biodiversity links; 

5. Wildlife-friendly features, such as nesting or roosting boxes and nesting 
opportunities for wild bees beehives; 

6. A planting mix and variation in vegetation types to encourage biodiversity; 

7. Planting which will be resilient to a range of climate conditions, with a high 
proportion of native plants;  

8. A lighting scheme designed to minimise impacts on biodiversity. 

 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.27. Protecting and improving biodiversity involves enhancing wildlife populations 
and their habitats. This has positive impacts for the environment, the economic and 

Page 250



 

193 

 

social life of the City and the aesthetics of the streetscape. Healthy biodiversity 
should be viewed as a sign of a healthy environment and healthy city. 

15.1.28. The City has 13 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs), 
including three new SINCs (Postman’s Park, Portsoken Street Garden, St Dunstan 
in the East Church Garden) which were agreed following a review in 2016. Two 
existing SINCs were agreed to be upgraded as part of this review: Barbican and St 
Alphage Garden, which includes the Barbican Wildlife Garden and the Beech 
Gardens, was upgraded from Grade 2 to Grade 1 Site of Borough Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SBINC); and Roman Wall, Noble Street, which was extended 
southwards to include St Anne and St Agnes Churchyard and was upgraded from a 
Local SINC to a Grade 2 SBINC. These new and upgraded SINCs will formally 
take effect upon adoption of this Plan. 

15.1.29. A number of areas along the riverside, west of Farringdon Street and east of 
Bishopsgate have been identified as Areas of Deficiency in Access to Nature  
(SINC AoD) by Greenspace Information for Greater London (GiGL) London’s 
environmental records centre and the Mayor of London GLA. SINC AoDs are 
defined as built-up areas more than 1km walking distance from accessible 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). The River Thames, 
which is a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (SMINC), 
brings wider benefits for migrating birds and fish species. However this 
SMINC has limited access to nature so does not alleviate AoD in the City. It is 
important that opportunities are taken to improve biodiversity throughout the City, 
and particularly in areas where this would improve green corridors or biodiversity 
links, such as along the riverside. The River Thames, which is a Site of 
Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (SMINC), brings wider benefits 
for migrating birds and fish species.  

How the policy works 

15.1.30. Measures to enhance biodiversity should provide habitats that benefit the City’s 
target species (house sparrows, peregrine falcons, swifts, black redstarts, bats, 
bumblebees and stag beetles) and by extension a wider range of insects and birds. 
The City of London BAP provides further details about the target species, and their 
target habitats and action plans. The BAP will be kept under regular review.The 
City has 13 SINCs, including three new SINCs (Postman’s Park, Portsoken 
Street Garden, St Dunstan in the East Church Garden) which were agreed 
following a review in 2016. Two existing SINCs were agreed to be upgraded 
as part of this review: Barbican and St Alphage’s Garden, which includes the 
Barbican Wildlife Garden and the Beech Gardens, was upgraded from Grade 
2 to Grade 1 Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation (SBINC); 
and Roman Wall, Noble Street, which was extended southwards to include St 
Anne and St Agnes Churchyard and was upgraded from a Local SINC to a 
Grade 2 SBINC. These new and upgraded SINCs will formally take effect 
upon adoption of this Plan. 

15.1.31. New developments should seek to protect and enhance biodiversity and the 
City’s environmental assets. This can be achieved by providing spaces for 
biodiversity to flourish through the retention and planting of trees and soft 

Page 251



 

194 

 

landscaping, along with green roofs and green walls where appropriate possible. 
A variety of these provisions in one development will create habitats for a range of 
different wildlife species. Joined up green spaces and corridors which link SINC 
sites give species a better chance of survival in the urban landscape and greater 
resilience to future climate change. Proposals for riverside developments 
should consider whether there may be opportunities to incorporate habitat 
creation measures to enhance the biodiversity of the River Thames SMINC. 

15.1.32. These measures will assist in the delivery of the All London Green Grid 
(ALGG) to promote the design and delivery of green infrastructure across London.  

15.1.33. The City’s wildlife depends not only on greenery but also on the built 
environment. Buildings can provide roosting sites for bats and nesting opportunities 
for birds. Artificial features such as nest boxes should be integrated into the design 
of development or refurbishment schemes wherever suitable to provide additional 
habitat for the City’s target species. Biodiverse features of value to wildlife that 
support the City of London’s BAP including target species and target 
habitats but are not included within the Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) 4.0. 
These should be provided in suitable locations, in close proximity to green 
features, and should include but are not limited to bird boxes, bat boxes and 
wild bee nesting habitat (cavity and ground nesting) and invertebrate hotels. 
Development should provide a clear justification as to why these features 
cannot be included. 

15.1.34. Proposals for riverside developments should consider whether there may be 
opportunities to incorporate habitat creation measures to enhance the biodiversity 
of the River Thames SMINC. 

15.1.35. Where development has a potential impact on designated sites of importance 
for biodiversity in or near the boundary of the site, the developer should submit 
an ecological statement appropriate Ecological Assessment outlining how any 
impacts will be avoided, minimised or mitigated. Where necessary, the City 
Corporation will seek independent review of an assessment, paid for by the 
developer.  

15.1.36. As set out in the BAP, the City of London recognises the importance of 
biodiversity data collection to improve monitoring and informs decisions and 
identify future areas of priority in the City. Opportunities such as citizen 
science and school projects and records collected by local voluntary 
individuals and groups make a significant contribution in supporting 
biodiversity and raises the profile of species and habitats within the City. 
Many of these findings are reported directly to GiGL. 

15.1.37. Biodiversity net gain is an approach to development that leaves biodiversity in 
a better state than before. This means that where biodiversity is lost as a result of a 
development, the compensation provided should be of an overall greater 
biodiversity value than that which is lost. The Mayor of London will be producing 
guidance to set out how biodiversity net gain applies in London. 

Page 252



 

195 

 

 

 

Policy OS4: Biodiversity Net Gain  

Major developments are required to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) to 
conserve and enhance biodiversity by: 

1. Meeting the City’s BNG target on-site score of achieving a minimum of 
three biodiversity units per hectare (BU/ha); 

2. Providing the biodiversity value of the site pre-development and post-
development after applying the mitigation hierarchy. Information on 
habitats of known value to biodiversity to be incorporated and maximised 
on-site, achieving a minimum three BU/ha; 

3. Any off-site areas proposed for habitat creation or enhancement for both 
pre-development and post development. However the City expects delivery 
to be achievable on-site and off-site provision should be a last resort; 

4. Material if it is not feasible to achieve the target score on-site then 
offsetting will be required, with preference given to off-setting schemes 
that help with the delivery of wider City of London Corporation policies and 
strategies, through the use of nature-based solutions and maximise 
opportunities for local nature recovery; 

5. Providing the following information: 

• A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (PEAR) or other appropriate 
Ecological Assessment alongside a completed Defra Biodiversity Metric 
(DBM) spreadsheet at planning application stage; 

• A Biodiversity Gain Plan (BGP) setting out the enhancements that will be 
incorporated on site to meet the BNG score, secured through condition 
prior to commencement; 

• A Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) setting out 
maintenance, management and monitoring of enhancements and the post-
development biodiversity values of the site, secured through condition 
prior to commencement.  

 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.38. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is an approach to development that leaves 
biodiversity in a better state than before. Major new developments are 
required to deliver BNG and the Environment Act 2021 requires them to 
provide a minimum 10% BNG. Habitats will need to be secured for at least 30 
years and the Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) 4.0 is the current method for 
calculating BNG but this may change. Due to the City’s highly urban nature 
and the high proportion of sites with a zero (or close to zero) baseline for 

Page 253



 

196 

 

biodiversity, the 10% uplift would not deliver meaningful improvements to 
biodiversity within the Square Mile. 

15.1.39. The Biodiversity Net Gain Study (2023) examined a range of development 
sites across the City and found that if biodiversity were maximised on these 
sites, they could have delivered an average of 3.41 biodiversity units per 
hectare (BU/ha). This evidence has informed the policy target set of 
achieiving a minimum of three biodiversity units per hectare (BU/ha).  

How the policy works 

15.1.40. All major developments are expected to submit a Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Report (PEAR) or other appropriate Ecological Assessment 
alongside a completed Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) in line with national 
requirements setting out how the development will meet the City of London’s 
BNG target score of achieving a minimum three BU/ha on-site. The 
assessment should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and/or experienced 
ecologist and should include baseline and proposed habitat mapping. The 
City of London Corporation may seek independent ecological advice to 
review submitted BNG reports. It is expected this independent assessment 
will be funded by the developer.  

15.1.41. The latest DBM or agreed equivalent will be used to quantify the 
biodiversity value of the site pre-development, post-development after 
application of the mitigation hierarchy and for any off-site areas proposed for 
habitat creation or enhancement both pre and post development. The City 
Corporation expects habitat creation to be delivered and maximised on-site 
providing biodiversity to the immediate area before off-setting is considered. 
Developers are expected to set-out BNG as an integral design aspect of the 
overall scheme and delivery meaningful ecology to increase levels of 
biodiversity in the City. The assessment should be undertaken by a suitably 
qualified and/or experienced ecologist and should include baseline and 
proposed habitat mapping. Section 106 obligations may be sought for 
monitoring of major applications for BNG delivery.  

15.1.42. The Urban Greening Factor (UGF) tool establishes the provision of urban 
greening in new developments and does not measure biodiversity benefits of 
proposals. Higher scoring surface cover types within the UGF are often ones 
which can delivery benefits for biodiversity. There is an opportunity to 
unlock additional space for BNG by steering associated soft landscaping 
towards habitat creation therefore providing more biodiversity on-site which 
is of benefit to local wildlife. 

Trees 

Policy OS54: Trees 

The City Corporation will seek to increase the number of trees and their overall canopy 
cover by: 

Page 254



 

197 

 

1. Requiring the retention of existing mature and semi-mature trees and encouraging 
additional tree planting to be integrated into the design and layout of developments 
and public realm improvements where appropriate; 

2. Protecting trees which are subject to Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) and 
designating new TPOs where necessary to protect trees of high amenity value; 

3. Other than in exceptional circumstances, only permitting the removal of existing 
trees which are dead, dying or dangerous. Where trees are removed, requiring 
their replacement with trees that can attain an equivalent value; 

4. Ensuring that existing trees located on or adjacent to development sites are 
considered during the planning process and are protected from damage during 
construction works; and 

5. Promoting tree planting to provide a diverse range of tree species, including large-
canopy trees wherever practicable, especially in places that would contribute 
to the green routes set out in figure XX. 

Reason for the policy 

15.1.43. There are just over 2,500 trees in the City, which are found in a variety of 
locations: along streets, in open spaces such as churchyards and livery company 
gardens, residential estates, business premises, historic parks and gardens and 
along the riverside. 

15.1.44. Trees are an integral part of the City’s unique history and an important asset. It 
is essential that the existing tree stock is managed and preserved effectively and 
that new trees are planted having regard to their contribution to enhancing amenity 
and townscape. Trees provide a wide range of benefits in the urban environment, 
including the trapping of air pollutants, enhancing biodiversity, providing shade and 
shelter from sun and rain, absorbing rainwater and filtering noise. 

15.1.45. The City of London Tree Strategy SPD aims to increase the number of City 
Corporation owned trees and ensure that all trees within the City are managed, 
preserved and planted in accordance with sound arboricultural practices whilst 
taking account of their contribution to amenity and the townscape for both current 
and future generations. The Tree Strategy SPD will be kept under review and 
should be read alongside the City of London Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP). 

15.1.46. Trees play an important role in connecting green spaces to create green 
corridors. Additional planting where feasible will help to reinforce those corridors. 
The green routes identified in figure XX set out priority corridors for greening 
the City. It is important that new tree planting includes a variety of species to 
increase the resilience of the City’s tree stock against the threat of disease and the 
impacts of a changing climate. 

How the policy works 

15.1.47. Developers will be expected to safeguard existing trees, plant new trees and 
only remove trees in exceptional circumstances. Where trees are removed during 
development works, replacement trees of an appropriate species, height and 

Page 255



 

198 

 

canopy cover must be planted when works are completed. The City Corporation 
will seek financial compensation for any trees removed or damaged without 
permission. This value will be based on a recognised tree valuation method such 
as the Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) or i-Tree Eco. 

15.1.48. The City Corporation will use TPOs, s106 planning obligations or conditions to 
ensure the retention of existing trees and the provision of new trees. 

  

Page 256



 

199 

 

 Climate resilience 

16.1. Climate Resilience and Flood Risk 

Context 

16.1.1. This section aims to ensure that the City of London remains resilient to changing 
climate patterns. The main focus is on flood risk and the risk of overheating of 
buildings and spaces which will become more frequent as a result of climate 
change. 

The UK Climate Projections (CP18) predict that London will experience a rise in mean 
temperatures of between 2oc and 6oc by 2061. This will increase the risk of overheating 
and the need for energy intensive air conditioning. In addition to this the City can 
experience temperatures up to 100c higher than the countryside around London, due to 
heat retention and waste heat expulsion from buildings resulting in an Urban Heat 
Island Effect. Climate change could potentially affect patterns of wind flow in high-
density urban environments like the City and this will be kept under review. The City 
Corporation has adopted a Climate Action Strategy setting out how the City can 
transition to a zero carbon economy by 2040 and be resilient to the impacts of climate 
change. 

Strategic Policy S15: Climate Resilience and Flood Risk 

Buildings and the public realm must be designed to be adaptable to future climate 
conditions and resilient to more frequent extreme weather events. 

1. Development must minimise the risk of overheating and any adverse contribution 
to the urban heat island effect; 

2. Development must avoid placing people or essential infrastructure at increased 
risk from river, surface water, sewer or groundwater flooding; 

3. Flood defence structures must be safeguarded and enhanced to maintain 
protection from sea level rise; 

4. Development should contribute towards making the City more resilient and 
should seek opportunities to integrate into wider climate resilience 
measures in the City. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.1.2. Today’s new buildings will probably be in place for decades or longer and must 
be resilient to the weather patterns and climate conditions they will encounter 
during their lifetime. Designing climate resilience into buildings and the public realm 
will help keep the City safe and comfortable as climate patterns change. The UK 
Climate Projections (CP18) predict that London will experience a rise in mean 

Page 257



 

200 

 

temperatures of between 2oc and 6oc by 2061. This will increase the risk of 
overheating and the need for energy intensive air conditioning. In addition to 
this the City can experience temperatures up to 100c higher than the 
countryside around London, due to heat retention and waste heat expulsion 
from buildings resulting in an urban heat island effect. Climate change could 
potentially affect patterns of wind flow in high-density urban environments 
like the City and this will be kept under review. Policy DE1 (Sustainability 
standards) sets out standards for new development in the City and the City 
Corporation’s ambition to move to a zero emission City by 2040. This includes 
sceope 3 emissions and embodied carbon which can be addressed through whole 
life carbon assessment. 

16.1.3. Although the total annual rainfall is projected to remain broadly similar to current 
levels, patterns of rainfall are expected to change with more intense storms and 
periods of low rainfall. This will increase the risk of flooding, particularly from 
surface water and from sewer surcharge from London’s combined drainage 
network. Conversely there will be a greater risk of water shortages and drought 
conditions as rainfall fluctuates.  

16.1.4. The City lies within the tidal section of the Thames and is vulnerable to sea level 
rise resulting from climate change. The Thames Estuary 2100 Plan identifies the 
need for the existing flood defences in central London to be raised by up to 0.5m 
by 2065 2050 and 1m between 2065 2050 and 2100 to protect London from 
flooding.  

How the policy works 

16.1.5. The City Corporation will continue to monitor and model climate change impacts 
on the City to inform policy and decision making through implementation of, and 
annual monitoring and review of, the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy. 
UK Climate Projections and the detailed actions in the Climate Action Strategy will 
form the basis of future planning for climate resilience in the City. The City of 
London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will be reviewed at least every five years 
or more frequently if circumstances require.  

16.1.6. Developers will be required to demonstrate that their proposals have taken 
account of predicted climate change and will minimise the impacts of changed 
climate patterns on future occupants and the City’s communities. 

Policy CR1: Overheating and Urban Heat Island Effect 

1. Developers will be required to demonstrate that their developments have been 
designed to reduce the risk of overheating through: 

• solar shading to prevent solar gain, particularly on glazed facades; 

• urban greening to improve evaporative cooling; 

• passive ventilation and heat recovery;  

• use of thermal mass to moderate temperature fluctuations; 

Page 258



 

201 

 

• minimal reliance on energy intensive cooling systems. 

2. Building designs should minimise any contribution to the urban heat island effect. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.1.7. Development presents an opportunity to renew or adapt the existing building 
stock and public spaces, or provide new buildings and spaces, which will cope 
better with changing climate patterns. The design of buildings should reduce 
energy demands from cooling infrastructure, making them more resilient to higher 
temperatures. Measures such as urban greening and design features that provide 
shade and shelter can have a positive impact on or near the building, minimising 
the urban heat island effect (see Policy OS2).  

16.1.8. Climate adaptation measures can contribute to wider benefits by pre-empting 
potential detrimental climate impacts. Careful selection of plants which are resilient 
to a range of weather conditions will assist wildlife to survive changed climate 
conditions. Urban greening and reduced reliance on air conditioning will have 
benefits for the City’s air quality. 

How the policy works 

16.1.9. For all major development, the City Corporation will require climate adaptation 
and resilience to be addressed at the design stage. Sustainability Statements 
should include details of the proposed adaptation and resilience measures. Energy 
statements should demonstrate how energy demand for cooling will be minimised. 
BREEAM credits for adaptation to climate change should be targeted.  

16.1.10. For minor development, the Design and Access Statement should include 
details of climate resilience and adaptation measures. 

Policy CR2: Flood Risk 

All development within the City flood risk area, and major development elsewhere, must 
be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrating that: 

1. the site is suitable for the intended use, in accordance with the sequential and 
exception tests (see tables 4 and 5) and with Environment Agency and Lead 
Local Flood Authority advice;  

2. the development will be safe for occupants and visitors and will not compromise 
the safety of other premises or increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 

3. safe access and egress routes are identified; and 

4. flood resistance and resilience have been designed into the proposal. 

 

 

Page 259



 

202 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.1.11. While the City is generally at low risk of flooding due to its topography, some 
parts of the City are at risk of flooding from the River Thames and from surface 
water/ or sewer overflow in the former Fleet valley.  

16.1.12. Figure 25 identifies the areas at risk from these sources as the City flood risk 
area. This policy will ensure that vulnerable uses are not located in areas that are 
at risk of flooding and that suitable flood resilience and evacuation measures are 
incorporated into the design.   

How the policy works 

16.1.13. Site-specific flood risk assessments must address the risk of flooding from all 
sources and take account of the City of London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
and the City of London Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. Necessary 
mitigation measures must be designed into and integrated with the development. 
Design and mitigation measures such as sustainable drainage systems may 
provide protection from flooding for properties beyond the site boundaries.  

16.1.14. Within the City Flood Risk Area different uses will be acceptable in different 
zones. Table 4 shows the vulnerability classifications and Table 5 shows which 
level of vulnerability classification is suitable in which part of the City Flood Risk 
Area. The Environment Agency’s flood zones are shown on the Policies Map. 
Thesequential test must be applied for all development other than minor 
development or change of use in the City flood risk area, which comprises 
Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and areas at risk of surface water or 
sewer flooding.  Where a change of use results in a more vulnerable use, evidence 
must be presented to demonstrate safety and suitable access and egress routes. 
Where necessary, conditions may be attached to planning permissions to manage 
the change of use into more vulnerable categories. 

Page 260



 

203 

 

Table 4: Flood risk vulnerability classifications relevant to the City 

Source: Relevant uses from Planning Practice Guidance – Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

16.1.15. If the intended use of a site falls into one of the categories where an exception 
test is required, as set out in Table 5, the developer will need to investigate 
whether there is a reasonably available site outside the City flood risk raea which 
would be more suitable for the intended use. If no alternative site is available, the 
developer must demonstrate through the exception test that the benefits of the 
development outweigh any risk from flooding, and that the development will be safe 
without increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 

Essential  

Infrastructure 

• Essential transport infrastructure (including mass evacuation 
routes) which has to cross the area at risk. 

• Essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a 
flood risk area for operational reasons, including electricity 
generating power stations and grid and primary substations 

Highly Vulnerable • Police and ambulance stations; fire stations and command 
centres; telecommunications installations required to be 
operational during flooding. 

• Emergency dispersal points. 

• Basement dwellings. 

• Installations requiring hazardous substances consent. 

More Vulnerable • Hospitals 

• Residential institutions such as care homes and hostels. 

• Buildings used for dwelling houses, student halls of 
residence, drinking establishments, nightclubs and hotels. 

• Non-residential uses for health services, nurseries and 
educational establishments. 

• Sites used for waste management facilities for hazardous 
waste. 

Less Vulnerable • Buildings used for shops; financial, professional and other 
services; restaurants, cafes and hot food takeaways; offices; 
general industry, storage and distribution; non-residential 
institutions not included in ‘more vulnerable’ and assembly 
and leisure. 

• Police, ambulance and fire stations which are not required to 
be operational during flooding. 

• Waste treatment (except hazardous waste facilities). 

Water-compatible 
development 

• Flood control infrastructure. 

• Sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations 

• Docks, marinas and wharves. 

• Navigation facilities. 

• Water-based recreation (excluding sleeping 
accommodation). 

• Amenity open space, nature conservation and biodiversity, 
outdoor sports and recreation and essential facilities such as 
changing rooms. 

Page 261



 

204 

 

Flood Risk 
Vulnerability 
classification 

Essential 
Infrastructure 

Highly 
Vulnerable 

More 
Vulnerable 

Less 
Vulnerable 

Water 
Compatible 

 

EA Zone 1 

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 2 

 

✓

 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 3a 

 

 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 3b 

 

 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 



 



 

✓

 

SFRA 
Surface 

water/sewer 
flood risk 

areas 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

 

✓

 

Table 5: Suitability of different uses in flood zones 

Source: amended from Planning Practice Guidance – Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

16.1.16. The City of London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) provides 
guidance on suitable flood resistance measures to prevent water entering the 
building and flood resilience measures, which enable speedy recovery in the event 
of flooding. These measures should be specified for all development within the City 
flood risk area and may be controlled by condition. Passive design measures such 
as suitable threshold levels and the use of flood resilient materials will be favoured 
over active measures such as removable flood barriers. All sleeping 
accommodation must be located above the modelled tidal breach level as shown in 
the SFRA unless it can be demonstrated that a permanent fixed barrier at the 
threshold of the property would prevent water ingress in a breach event.  

Page 262



 

205 

 

16.1.17. Design measures can help to reduce flooding, thus protecting the local area 
beyond the development site, through: 

• sustainable drainage systems; 

• green/blue roofs; and 

• rainwater reuse, recycling and attenuation 

16.1.18. Resistance to flooding can be achieved through design measures such as:  

• raised kerbs and altered topography which contains water at a distance from 
the building; 

• avoiding opening windows or vents at ground floor or basement levels; 

• using low permeability materials to limit water penetration of external walls, 
and flood resistant doors to prevent water ingress; and 

• fitting non-return valves on plumbing to prevent sewer surcharge within the 
building. 

16.1.19. Flood resilience measures make clean up after a flood more efficient, and 
include:  

• avoiding locating sensitive equipment such as computer servers at lower 
levels of buildings in flood prone areas;  

• locating all fittings, fixtures and services at a suitable height to minimise 
damage by flood waters; 

• using impermeable surfaces and structures; and 

• providing sumps and soak-aways that gradually release water to the sewer 
network. 

16.1.20. In order to demonstrate that the development will be safe for occupants, flood 
warning and evacuation plans should be provided for all ‘more’ or ‘highly’ 
vulnerable development within the City flood risk area. Details of the type of 
measures which should be included in an evacuation plan are set out in the City’s 
SFRA. 

16.1.21. For minor development outside the City flood risk area, an appropriate flood 
risk statement should be included in the Design and Access Statement. 

Policy CR3: Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 

1. All development, transportation and public realm proposals must incorporate SuDS 
principles and be designed to minimise the volume and discharge rate of rainwater 
run-off into the combined drainage network in the City, ensuring that rainwater is 
managed as close as possible to the development. 

2. The design of the surface water drainage system should be integrated into the design 
of proposed buildings and landscaping, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which make this impractical. Proposals should demonstrate that run-off rates are as 

Page 263



 

206 

 

close as possible to greenfield rates and the number of discharge points has been 
minimised. 

3. SuDS designs must take account of the City’s archaeological and other heritage 
assets, complex underground utilities, transport infrastructure and other underground 
structures, incorporating suitable SuDS elements for the City’s high density urban 
situation.  

4. SuDS should be designed, where possible, to maximise contributions to water 
resource efficiency, water quality, biodiversity enhancement and the provision of 
multifunctional open spaces. 

5. An operation and maintenance plan will be required to ensure that the SuDS 
elements will remain viable for the lifetime of the building. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.1.22. The drainage system in Central London comprises a combined network where 
foul sewage from internal plumbing combines with rainwater drainage in the same 
underground pipework. Consequently, heavy rain can result in overloading of the 
drainage network with discharges of diluted sewage from manholes within the City 
flood risk area and combined sewer outflow pipes into the Thames at Walbrook 
Wharf and Blackfriars. 

16.1.23. More frequent extreme rainfall events are predicted because of climate change 
and therefore the risk of sewer overflow flooding is increasing. To combat this, it is 
necessary to reduce the total amount of rainwater entering the drains and/or slow 
down the rate at which it enters the drains. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
provide a range of techniques for achieving this. 

How the policy works 

16.1.24. All development presents opportunities to reduce rainwater run-off. The 
cumulative impact of minor development, transport and public realm proposals are 
as important as major development in reducing the risk of sewer overflow flooding. 
Therefore, all development, transport and public realm proposals must contribute to 
a reduction in rainwater run-off to the drainage network. 

16.1.25. For major development, pre-application discussion with the City Corporation as 
Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority and consultation with the 
Environment Agency, Thames Water and other interested parties is encouraged to 
ensure that SuDS designs are suitable for the proposed site. SuDS designs must 
comply with the London Plan drainage hierarchy (see London Plan policy SI 13) and 
local requirements should be discussed at pre application stage with the City 
Corporation. 

Page 264



 

207 

 

16.1.26. Although planning permission may not be required for all transport and public 
realm schemes, SuDS and drainage plans should be integrated into the design 
process of these schemes to protect the City from flooding. 

16.1.27. For all major development, a separate SuDS and Drainage Plan must be 
submitted at application stage. For minor development the Design & Access 
Statement should include details of how rainwater run-off has been minimised. 
Designs should focus on reducing flows as close as possible to greenfield runoff 
rates, minimising the number of discharge points from the site. 

16.1.28. Proposals should demonstrate an integrated approach to water management, 
for example intercepting the first 5mm of each rainfall event through greening and 
incorporating rainwater storage for reuse or irrigation. Major developments should 
specifically maximise the other benefits of SuDS such as biodiversity, amenity and 
water quality. 

16.1.29. Arrangements for maintenance throughout the life of the building must be 
considered in the design of SuDS. Planning conditions may be used to secure a 
suitable operations and maintenance plan. 

Policy CR4:  Flood protection and flood defences 

1. Development must protect the integrity and effectiveness of structures intended to 
minimise flood risk and, where appropriate, enhance their effectiveness. 

2. Wherever practicable, development should contribute to an overall reduction in flood 
risk within and beyond the site boundaries, incorporating flood alleviation measures 
for the public realm. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.1.30. The City of London is protected from flooding by the Thames Barrier, and more 
locally by flood defence walls along the River Thames.  The Thames Estuary 2100 
(TE2100) project recognises the need for the raising of flood defences by up to 
0.5m by 2065 2050 and 1m by 2100. 

How the policy works 

16.1.31. Development adjacent to the flood defences must maintain their integrity and 
effectiveness for the benefit of the whole City. Development on the riverside should 
be designed to enable future flood defence raising without adverse impacts on river 
views, the setting of historic buildings and pedestrian movement along the riverside 
walk. Constraints may exist where flood defences form part of an existing building. 
Discussions with the Environment Agency will be required to establish the most 
effective designs for improved flood defences and to incorporate adequate set back 
from the defences to allow for future maintenance and raising in line with the 
TE2100 Plan.  

Page 265



 

208 

 

16.1.32. A strategic approach to flood defence raising will enable riparian developers to 
design buildings and the riverside environment to accommodate higher flood walls. 
Riparian owners are responsible for maintenance and enhancement of flood 
defences.  

Page 266



 

209 

 

16.2. Circular Economy and Waste 

Context 

16.2.1. The City Corporation is the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) for the Square Mile, 
with a statutory duty to plan for all the waste that is generated in the City. With no 
waste treatment plants in the City, the City Corporation relies on WPAs elsewhere 
to provide such facilities. By applying circular economy and waste hierarchy 
principles: designing for durability and modularity, making better use of under-used 
assets through sharing, reusing products and materials and recycling as much as 
possible, waste can be designed out and embodied carbon retained. This approach 
will reduce waste exports from the City whilst application of the proximity principle 
will ensure that residual waste is processed as close as possible to the City.  

Strategic Policy S16: Circular Economy and Waste 

1. The City Corporation will support businesses and residents in moving towards a Zero 
Waste City, by applying circular economy principles, the waste hierarchy and the 
proximity principle at all stages of the development cycle. 

2. The City Corporation will actively co-operate with other Waste Planning Authorities 
(WPAs) in planning for capacity to manage the City’s residual waste through: 

• Identifying waste management capacity in the City, or elsewhere in London, 
to meet the City’s London Plan waste apportionment target, including through 
partnership working with other London Waste Planning Authorities WPAs; 

• Co-operating with Waste Planning Authorities WPAs within and beyond 
London to plan for suitable facilities for the City’s waste; 

• Safeguarding Walbrook Wharf as a waste site and wharf suitable for the river 
transport of waste; and 

• Monitoring waste movements to and from the City and reviewing its waste 
arisings and capacity study at least every five years. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.2.2. The City Corporation has responsibility to plan for adequate facilities to manage 
the waste that originates in the City. This includes waste collected from the City’s 
households and businesses, waste generated in the process of redevelopment and 
hazardous waste from premises such as St Bartholomew’s Hospital. 

16.2.3. The London Plan and the London Environment Strategy set the framework for 
waste management in London. These strategies promote circular economy 
principles and the waste hierarchy: prevention, preparing for reuse, recycling, other 
recovery, and disposal only as a last resort. 

Page 267



 

210 

 

16.2.4. The current London Plan has set a waste apportionment figure requiring the City 
to identify sites with capacity to manage 100,000 90,000 tonnes of waste annually 
until 2036 by 2041, with an apportionment in 2021 of 84,000 tonnes.In the draft 
London Plan, the proposed apportionment for the City is reduced to 84,000 tonnes 
per annum in 2021 and 90,000 tonnes per annum in 2041. This figure represents 
the City’s contribution to meeting the Mayor’s target of 100% net self-sufficiency in 
the management of London’s household and commercial and industrial waste from 
2026. 

16.2.5. The London Plan sets out criteria for the selection of waste management sites, 
which the City of London Waste Arisings and Waste Management Capacity Study 
review 2016 used to evaluate potential sites in the City. This study concludes that, 
with current technologies and economic considerations, there is no viable waste 
management capacity within the Square Mile and that the City will not be able to 
satisfy the London Plan waste apportionment within its boundaries. 

16.2.6. The City Corporation has an agreement with the London Borough of Bexley and 
participates in the South-East London Joint Waste Planning Group, which 
comprises the boroughs of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lewisham and Southwark 
along with the City of London. The Group has identified sufficient waste 
management capacity up to 2036 to meet the combined apportionment of each of 
its individual members. The City will continue to contribute to London-wide waste 
planning through membership of the London Waste Planning Forum and will work 
with the GLA and the Environment Agency to improve waste planning. 

16.2.7. For commercial reasons, a proportion of the City’s waste will continue to be 
transported to sites outside London. This includes construction, demolition and 
excavation (CD&E) waste which is not covered by the Mayor’s targets for net self-
sufficiency. Annual monitoring of such waste exports will inform Duty to Co-operate 
discussions with receiving authorities within and outside London to ensure that 
sufficient capacity remains in the planning pipeline. 

16.2.8. The London Plan sets out borough apportionments for land-won aggregates for 
a small number of boroughs, which does not include should be reflected in local 
plans. No apportionment is made for the City of London and there is no 
requirement to include a policy for minerals within the Local Plan. Application of 
circular economy principles encourages the re-use and recycling of demolition 
waste and the use of recycled aggregates in order to reduce reliance on imported 
aggregates and retain embodied carbon. 

16.2.9. It is imperative that the City adopts circular economy and waste hierarchy 
principles, to cut down on the quantity of useable materials that are discarded and 
to eliminate reliance on disposable items, including single use plastics, in the City. 
Those materials that are discarded should be managed as close as possible to the 
City and transported by modes that are least damaging to the environment. 

How the policy works 

16.2.10. The City Corporation will continue to monitor the quantities and types of waste 
originating in the City and work with the City’s communities to minimise this waste, 

Page 268



 

211 

 

applying circular economy principles to design out waste and pollution and keep 
products and materials in use. The City Corporation will continue to work with the 
South-East London Joint Waste Planning Group and other Waste Planning 
Authorities WPAs in London and beyond to ensure that the City’s waste 
apportionment is met and that suitable facilities are available for the City’s waste to 
be managed in the most sustainable way. 

16.2.11. Changing economics and new waste management technologies means that 
small scale waste management is becoming more viable within the City, 
particularly within large development sites.   

16.2.12. During the period 2021-2041 2018-2036 a proportion of the City of London’s 
waste will continue to be managed outside London. Co-operation with Waste 
Planning Authorities WPAs outside London will aim to ensure that facilities with 
sufficient capacity remain available to accept the City’s waste during this period. 

16.2.13. The City Corporation will continue to safeguard Walbrook Wharf as a waste 
site and river wharf in line with the London Plan and the Safeguarded Wharves 
Direction. Any proposed development which would prejudice the operation of the 
existing safeguarded waste site at Walbrook Wharf will be refused. 

16.2.14. Pre-application consultation on suitable waste treatment, storage and 
collection facilities is encouraged. The level of detail required at the planning 
application stage will be proportionate to the scale of development.   

16.2.15. The Environmental Statement (for EIA applications) or sustainability 
statement should provide an assessment of on-site waste treatment options 
and quantities of residual waste likely to arise from the site. 

Policy CE1 Zero Waste City 

 All development proposals should incorporate waste facilities which must be 
integrated into the design of buildings and allow for separate treatment, storage and 
off-road collection of waste and recyclable materials, where feasible. Major 
developments should provide a single waste collection point to facilitate efficient 
waste management from multi tenanted buildings. 

 

 Development should be designed to promote circular economy principles throughout 
the life cycle of the building through: 

• Flexible building design to accommodate evolving working and living patterns, 
reducing the need for redevelopment; 

• Re use and refurbishment of existing buildings, structures and materials to 
reduce reliance on virgin resources and retain embodied carbon; 

• Requiring development to be designed to allow for disassembly, reuse and 
recycling of deconstruction materials;  

Page 269



 

212 

 

• Requiring the maximum use of recycled materials in development and off-site 
construction methods to reduce wastage; and 

• Designs which enable durability, modularity, sharing of goods and services 
and reuse of supplies and equipment, minimising waste during the building’s 
operational phase. 

2. All development proposals should incorporate waste facilities which must be 
integrated into the design of buildings and allow for separate treatment, storage and 
off-road collection of waste and recyclable materials, where feasible. Major 
developments should provide a single waste collection point to facilitate efficient 
waste management from multi tenanted buildings. 

Reason for the policy 

16.2.16. The circular economy is an alternative to the typical ‘linear’ way of treating 
resources. By finding ways of remanufacturing, reusing or recycling materials and 
keeping them in use for longer, waste can be reduced. The circular economy 
emphasises design for durability and modularity, making better use of under-used 
assets through sharing and offering products as a service. Circular economy 
principles can be applied to buildings and the development cycle, reducing the 
demand for new materials, and to the operational phase of a building’s life to 
minimise annual waste arisings.  

 

16.2.17. The design of buildings impacts on the potential for implementation of the 
waste hierarchy during their operational stage, through the facilities and waste 
management services that are incorporated into the design. For example, reliance 
on single use coffee cups and disposable plastics can be reduced by incorporating 
kitchen facilities and water fountains into building designs and waste movements 
can be reduced by managing food waste on-site through composting or anaerobic 
digestion. These facilities must be considered at the building’s design stage. 

 

16.2.18. Waste prevention is the most desirable action in the waste hierarchy as it 
results in no waste whatsoever.  Re-use is the next most desirable option as it 
involves products and materials being used again for their original intended 
purpose.  Recycling is the next most preferable option, involving the collection of 
used items and processing them into raw materials to be remanufactured into 
usable products or materials. The recovery of energy, through techniques such as 
anaerobic digestion, is a way of getting the most out of otherwise useless waste.  
Disposal should be the absolute last resort, after all the other options have been 
exhausted. 

16.2.19. On major developments opportunities for waste minimisation and on-site waste 
treatment, in line with the London Plan’s definition of waste management, should 
be explored in order to minimise the transport of residual waste within and beyond 
the City. The City of London Waste Arisings and Capacity Study identifies a range 

Page 270



 

213 

 

of options which should be considered, subject to the appropriate environmental 
permits, to facilitate a reduction in residual waste from City development sites. 

16.2.20. Waste treatment, storage and collection facilities must be integrated into new 
development and considered at an early stage of design to avoid the problems 
created by the placing of waste on the highway. Adequate provision must be made 
for the volume and types of residual waste and recyclables expected to be 
generated, especially the amount of paper and packaging generated by offices.  
The need to avoid health hazards associated with waste from catering 
establishments, the waste storage and collection needs of street traders, the 
separate storage of recyclable waste and the special arrangements required for the 
storage and transportation of clinical and hazardous waste should be provided for, 
where necessary. 

How the policy works 

16.2.21. Pre-application consultation on suitable waste treatment, storage and collection 
facilities is encouraged. The level of detail required at the planning application 
stage will be proportionate to the scale of development.   

16.2.22. The Environmental Statement (for EIA applications) or sustainability statement 
should provide an assessment of on-site waste treatment options and quantities of 
residual waste likely to arise from the site. 

EIA Development  

16.2.23. For development that requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) the 
Environmental Statement should demonstrate how circular economy principles 
have been incorporated into the development, fully addressing how construction, 
demolition and excavation (CD&E) waste will be minimised, deconstruction 
materials will be reused or recycled and the waste arisings during the operational 
phase of the development will be minimised and managed. This should include 
consideration of on-site facilities to reduce the need for waste vehicle movements 
such as on-site composting or anaerobic digestion, or waste consolidation. 

16.2.24. A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance should be 
submitted for all EIA development. 

Other Major development  

16.2.25. For all other Major development proposals, the sustainability statement should 
provide evidence of the application of circular economy principles and the 
adherence to the waste hierarchy. This could include reuse of existing buildings 
and structures, provision of Site Waste Management Strategies for the construction 
phase and Zero Waste Plans for the operational stage of the development. Major 
development should aim to achieve maximum BREEAM credits for Waste. 

16.2.26. A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance should be 
submitted for all Major development. 

Page 271



 

214 

 

All other development 

16.2.27. For all other development, the Design and Access statement should 
demonstrate how waste minimisation and the circular economy have been 
considered in the design of the development.  

16.2.28. Waste and recyclables should be capable of collection from off-street service 
areas which are integrated into the design of buildings.  The provision of such 
areas may not be practicable in small developments or refurbishments and may 
conflict with the protection of listed buildings and conservation areas.  In such 
cases waste stores within the site near the highway are preferable to the 
presentation of waste and recyclables on the pavement.  Residential 
developments, including short-term-lets, must be provided with ground floor waste 
and recyclables storage and collection facilities, with direct access to the highway 
for collection purposes. 

16.2.29. The City Corporation will attach appropriate planning conditions relating to 
waste treatment, storage and collection, but may also make use of its other 
regulatory powers to control waste in the City.  Compliance with the City of 
London’s operational waste requirements should contribute to BREEAM 
requirements for waste credits. 

Policy CE12: Sustainable Waste Facilities and Transport  

All development proposals should incorporate waste facilities, which must be 
integrated into the design of buildings and allow for separate treatment, storage 
and off-road collection of waste and recyclable materials, where feasible. Major 
developments should provide a single waste collection point to facilitate efficient 
waste management from multi tenanted buildings. 

The environmental impact of waste transport will be minimised through:  

1. Encouraging the use of rail and waterways for removal of waste, including 
deconstruction waste and delivery of construction materials; 

2. Ensuring maximum use of rail and waterways for the transport of excavation waste 
particularly from major infrastructure projects; 

3. Requiring low and zero emissions transport modes for waste movement; 

4. Reducing the number of waste vehicles by promoting optimum use of waste 
transport vehicle capacity through on-site or multi-site consolidation of waste. 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.2.30. On major developments, opportunities for waste minimisation and on-site 
waste treatment, in line with the London Plan’s definition of waste 
management, should be explored in order to minimise the transport of 
residual waste within and beyond the City. The City of London Waste 
Arisings and Capacity Study identifies a range of options which should be 

Page 272



 

215 

 

considered, subject to the appropriate environmental permits, to facilitate a 
reduction in residual waste from City development sites. 

16.2.31. Waste treatment, storage and collection facilities must be integrated into 
new development and considered at an early stage of design to avoid the 
problems created by the placing of waste on the highway. Adequate 
provision must be made for the volume and types of residual waste and 
recyclables expected to be generated, especially the amount of paper and 
packaging generated by offices.  The need to avoid health hazards 
associated with waste from catering establishments, the waste storage and 
collection needs of street traders, the separate storage of recyclable waste 
and the special arrangements required for the storage and transportation of 
clinical and hazardous waste should be provided for, where necessary. 

16.2.32. Waste and recyclables should be capable of collection from off-street 
service areas which are integrated into the design of buildings. The provision 
of such areas may not be practicable in small developments or 
refurbishments and may conflict with the protection of listed buildings and 
conservation areas. In such cases waste stores within the site near the 
highway are preferable to the presentation of waste and recyclables on the 
pavement. Residential developments, including short-term-lets, must be 
provided with ground floor waste and recyclables storage and collection 
facilities, with direct access to the highway for collection purposes. 

16.2.33. The City Corporation will attach appropriate planning conditions relating 
to waste treatment, storage and collection, but may also make use of its 
other regulatory powers to control waste in the City. Compliance with the 
City of London’s operational waste requirements should contribute to 
BREEAM requirements for waste credits. 

16.2.34. The proximity principle advocates that waste should be managed as close as 
possible to where it originates to reduce the environmental impacts of its 
transportation. The City’s restricted land area makes the provision of waste 
facilities within the City problematic, and it therefore relies on movement of the 
waste that is generated in the City to appropriate waste management facilities 
elsewhere in London and beyond London’s boundaries. 

16.2.35. Unlike other local authority areas, the majority of the waste that is generated in 
the City is managed by private contractors. A proportion of the City’s waste, 
including the small fraction of household waste, is transported by river from the 
safeguarded waste transfer station at Walbrook Wharf. The remainder is 
transported primarily by road, with destinations varying from one year to the next 
due to the commercial decisions of private waste contractors.  

16.2.36. This policy aims to maximise the use of the River Thames for waste transport, 
encourage transport modes such as rail and other waterways and encourage 
efficient use of low and zero emissions road vehicles for transporting waste.  

 

Page 273



 

216 

 

How the policy works 

16.2.37. The City Corporation will continue to work with the Port of London Authority, 
Marine Management Organisation and the Environment Agency to enable 
sustainable use of the River Thames for the movement of freight and waste, 
including the reduction of emissions from river transport. 

Major development  

16.2.38. Construction Logistics Plans should identify how sustainable transport of waste 
materials from the site will be addressed during the construction phase. Delivery 
and servicing plans should demonstrate how the transport of waste will be 
minimised, the potential for use of the river to move waste, and how low emission 
vehicles will be enabled during the operational phase of the building’s life. 

All other development  

16.2.39. Planning application documents should clearly demonstrate how waste 
minimisation, storage and sustainable waste transport have been addressed. 

Policy CE23: New waste management sites 

 
 Proposals for new facilities for waste management, handling and transfer will be 
required to demonstrate through design and sustainability statements that the 
benefits of the proposed development outweigh any adverse impacts and particularly 
that: 

• the development will handle waste which has been generated locally;  

• access arrangements, mode of transport and transport routes will minimise 
the potential for congestion and environmental impacts, including local air 
quality impacts and carbon emissions. Use of the river for transport of waste 
and recyclables will be encouraged;  

• the carbon impact of the development will be minimised. New waste facilities 
generating energy from waste should comply with the Mayor’s Carbon 
Intensity Floor (CIF); and 

• the development is resilient to natural and man-made safety and security 
challenges. 

2. Noise-sensitive development adjacent to the existing waste site at Walbrook Wharf, 
and development which that would compromise the use of the river for waste 
operations, will be resisted. 

3. Development in the vicinity of new waste management sites should not compromise 
the waste management operations on the site or create an unacceptable land use 
conflict. 

 

 

Page 274



 

217 

 

Reason for the policy 

16.2.40. Although the City is unlikely to be able to accommodate large waste 
management facilities within its boundary, changes in technology and waste 
transport costs may make small scale commercial facilities viable in the future.   

How the policy works 

16.2.41. Assessment of potential conflicts such as noise, vibration, odour, visual impact, 
pedestrian access and road or river transport will be a key matter in consideration 
of proposals. Mitigation which resolves potential conflicts may be necessary for 
development to proceed. 

16.2.42. The criteria set out in this policy will be used, alongside other policy 
considerations, to evaluate the suitability of proposed waste facilities and 
conditions will be applied to ensure that any new facility is suitable for the City’s 
high-density urban environment. 

  

Page 275



 

218 

 

 The Temples, the Thames 
Policy Area and the Key Areas of 
Change 

 

Introduction 

17.1.1. This section of the Plan sets out area-based policies and proposals relating to 
seven ‘Key Areas of Change’, together with an overarching policy which applies to 
the whole of the City’s riverside. The Key Areas of Change have been identified as 
they are likely to experience significant change over the Plan period and present 
particular opportunities or challenges that warrant a specific policy focus. 

17.1.2. Identifying Key Areas of Change provides a policy framework for bringing 
forward beneficial change within those areas, including the delivery of key 
development schemes, improving accessibility and the quality of the public realm, 
and introducing new uses or mixes of uses. The Key Areas of Change also provide 
a strategic context for the development of projects and funding bids by a range of 
City Corporation departments and external partners. 

17.1.3. The Key Areas of Change are shown indicatively on the Key Diagram and on 
the individual diagrams that accompany each area policy.  

17.1.4. Where appropriate, the City Corporation will prepare further guidance to support 
the delivery of the vision for particular Key Areas of Change. This may take the 
form of planning briefs or supplementary planning documents and will be produced 
in partnership with key stakeholders and local landowners.  

 

  

Page 276



 

219 

 

17.2. The Temples 

Policy TP1: The Temples 

The City Corporation will continue to support the unique functions of the Inner 
and Middle Temples as places of education and training and providers of 
common and collegiate facilities for barristers and students. Development in the 
Temples area that supports these functions, including improvements to the 
accessibility of buildings, will be supported. 

Opportunities to enhance and create additional greening and open spaces that 
enhance the historic character of the Temples will be encouraged. 

Within the Temples, adjustments between professional and residential accommodation 
will be permitted where it is important to the functioning or character of the Temples, or 
to the continuing use of their buildings. 

• the overall balance of residential and professional chambers is 
maintained; 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.2.1. The Inner and Middle Temples are two of the Inns of Court which provide 
accommodation, and enable education and training and many other facilities – 
such as libraries, meeting rooms, lecture rooms, and dining facilities – for the 
legal profession in the southwest of the City between Fleet Street and the River 
Thames. Along with other nearby Inns of Court and the Royal Courts of Justice in 
Westminster, the Temples form part of a specialist legal cluster recognised in the 
London Plan. The Temples are within a Conservation Area and contain a 
significant concentration of listed buildings. 

17.2.2. The Temples mainly contain barristers’ chambers, together with other 
accommodation for Members of the Bar. The Inner and Middle Temples have a 
strong collegiate atmosphere due to the mix of workspaces, residential, commercial 
and communal uses. This mix of uses contributes to the historic interest and high 
environmental quality of the area and should be maintained.   

How the policy works 

17.2.3. In determining applications, the City Corporation will have regard to the 
importance and long term balance of the continued existence of residential, office 
and support uses in the Temples and the contribution that this makes to their 
special character. However, the need to rationalise and refurbish chambers in 
order to maintain an efficient business and professional community is recognised. 
To enable the continued use of the buildings in the Temples, physical 
changes to the fabric of the historic buildings, especially for the purposes of 
improved accessibility, may be required. Alterations and additions must be 

Page 277



 

220 

 

informed by and respect the unique historic and architectural character of 
the area and the buildings and structures within it. 

 

17.3. Thames Policy Area 

Context 

17.3.1. The River Thames is an iconic feature of London that forms the southern 
boundary of the City and plays a major role in its prosperity and everyday life. The 
riverside provides a breathing space from the busy environment which 
characterises the rest of the City, as well as a traffic-free walkway on the north 
bank of the Thames. 

17.3.2. The River Thames serves several important functions, including as a corridor for 
freight and pedestrian transport, a tourism and recreational asset, a unique setting 
for views of the City and a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SMINC). The City’s topography, with the land rising from the riverside, means that 
most of the City is at relatively low risk from flooding. Nevertheless, this risk needs 
to be managed, particularly in the face of climate change.  

17.3.3. The London Plan requires the City’s Local Plan to designate and ensure the 
maintenance of a Thames Policy Area and to take account of emerging Maritime 
Spatial Plans prepared by the Marine Management Organisation. Policy S17 sets 
out the policy considerations which apply to the whole of the City’s riverside, as 
defined on the Policies Map. Further detailed guidance is provided in the City 
Corporation’s Thames Strategy SPD. The City Corporation’s Riverside Walk 
Enhancement Strategy sets out its plans for public realm enhancement along the 
riverside, which forms part of the Thames Path National Trail. 

17.3.4. The River Thames changes character on its way through the City, as it does 
through London. It includes areas where very limited change is likely to occur, such 
as at The Temples. However, two areas, at Blackfriars and the Pool of London, 
have been identified as Key Areas of Change because they are places where 
renewal is desirable and where there is potential for significant redevelopment and 
enhancement of existing buildings and the public realm during the Plan period. 
Policies relating to Blackfriars and the Pool of London follow the overarching policy 
for the Thames Policy Area. 

Strategic Policy S17: Thames Policy Area 

The unique character of the City’s riverside, and its uses for transport and recreation, 
will be enhanced by: 

1. Designating the Thames Policy Area and preparing and keeping under review a 
Thames Strategy SPD, which identifies the attributes of the area and gives guidance 
on development within this area. 

Page 278



 

221 

 

2. Co-operating with neighbouring boroughs to develop a joint Thames Strategy for the 
central section of the River Thames. 

3. Ensuring that buildings and spaces on or near the riverside contribute to sustainable 
economic growth and further the aims of the City of London Riverside Strategy 
and Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy, particularly through: 

• protecting and enhancing permanent public access and river views along the 
riverside walk and securing completion of the riverside walk at Queenhithe; 

• improving access to the River Thames by enhancing north-south routes and 
the creation of a continuous widening of the riverside walk; 

• maximising opportunities for public open space along the riverfront and 
seeking public realm improvements and increased permeability to the 
north of the riverside walk; 

• improving the vibrancy of the riverside by requiring new development to 
provide active frontages where appropriate; 

• encouraging a mix of commercial and cultural uses and promoting office-led 
commercial development, while safeguarding heritage assets and biodiversity 
value; and 

• provision of publicly accessible roof terraces, where they do not impact 
adversely on protected views, the amenity of occupiers or nearby residents;. 
and 

• supporting the Illuminated River project to deliver more sustainable bridge 
lighting and engage visitors with the River. 

4. Supporting, and safeguarding land for, the construction of the Thames Tideway 
Tunnel. 

5. Promoting the use of the River Thames and its environs for transport, navigation and 
recreation, particularly through: 

• safeguarding Walbrook Wharf for waste and river related freight traffic, 
including freight consolidation; 

• encouraging the use of the River Thames for the transport of construction and 
deconstruction materials and waste; 

• retaining Blackfriars Pier, and access to Tower Pier, and encouraging the 
reinstatement of Swan Lane Pier and the use of these facilities for river 
transport. Applications to remove these facilities will be refused unless 
suitable replacement facilities of an equivalent or higher standard are 
provided; 

• refusing development on or over the River, except for structures which that 
specifically require a waterside location for river-related uses; 

• resisting the permanent mooring of vessels; if moored vessels are 
exceptionally permitted they must be of national importance, have a 
special connection with the City and the River Thames, be used for a 

Page 279



 

222 

 

river-related purpose and not have a detrimental impact on navigation 
or the environment; and 

• maintaining and enhancing access points to the River Thames foreshore, 
from both land and water, for public or private use as appropriate, subject to 
health and safety and environmental safeguards. 

6. Ensuring that development does not have an adverse effect on the River Thames 
and Tidal Tributaries Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation and 
seeking opportunities to create or enhance riverside habitats. 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.3.5. The River Thames is an iconic feature of London and the City. that forms the 
southern boundary of the City and plays a major role in its prosperity and everyday 
life. The riverside provides a breathing space from the busy environment that 
characterises the rest of the City, as well as a traffic-free walkway on the north 
bank of the Thames. However, the riverside is not currently fulfilling its 
potential as a recreation, leisure and tourism destination despite its many 
positive attributes. 

17.3.6. The River Thames serves several important functions, including as a corridor for 
freight and pedestrian transport, a tourism and recreational asset, a unique setting 
for views of the City, a key environmental asset, and a Site of Metropolitan 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SMINC). The City’s topography, with the land 
rising from the riverside, means that most of the City is at relatively low risk from 
flooding. Nevertheless, this risk needs to be managed, particularly in the face of 
climate change.  

17.3.7. The London Plan requires the City’s Local Plan to designate and ensure the 
maintenance of a Thames Policy Area and to take account of emerging Maritime 
Spatial Plans prepared by the Marine Management Organisation. Policy S17 sets 
out the policy considerations which apply to the whole of the City’s riverside, as 
defined on the Policies Map. Further detailed guidance is provided in the City 
Corporation’s Thames Strategy SPD. The City Corporation’s Riverside Walk 
Enhancement Strategy sets out its plans for public realm enhancement along the 
riverside, which forms part of the Thames Path National Trail. 

17.3.8. The River Thames changes character on its way through the City, as it does 
through London. It includes areas where very limited change is likely to occur, such 
as at The Temples. However, two areas, at Blackfriars and the Pool of London, 
have been identified as Key Areas of Change because they are places where 
renewal is desirable and where there is potential for significant redevelopment and 
enhancement of existing buildings and the public realm during the Plan period. 
Policies relating to Blackfriars and the Pool of London follow the overarching policy 
for the Thames Policy Area. There are a range of different strategies and plans 
which affect the Thames including: 

Page 280



 

223 

 

• The London Plan, which sets out strategic policies for the River Thames and 
requires the designation of a Thames Policy Area. 

• The Mayor of London’s Safeguarded Wharves Review 2018-19, which aims 
to ensure that London’s need for waterborne freight-handling uses is met. 

• The Thames Estuary 2100 Plan produced by the Environment Agency, which 
addresses flood risk and water quality issues. 

• The Thames Strategy SPD, which identifies the attributes of the area and 
gives guidance on development within this area. 

• The City of London Riverside Strategy, which provides guidance for the 
management of the river flood defences in the Square Mile, including 
the approach to raising the flood defences over the coming century 
whilst also providing benefits to the workers, residents and visitors that 
use the Thames river frontage. 

• The Thames Vision produced by the Port of London Authority, which sets a 
framework for greater use of the River Thames between now and 2035 
including targets for increased passenger and freight movements. 

• Guidance called A Safer Riverside produced by the Port of London Authority, 
which aims to reduce the number of people drowning in the Thames by 
ensuring that safety is an intrinsic part of all development alongside and on 
the tidal Thames.   

• The UK Marine Policy Statement and the emerging South East Marine Plan 
produced by the Marine Management Organisation, which will provide a wider 
strategic context. Until that Plan has been adopted, reference should be 
made to the UK Marine Policy Statement, which sets out a framework and UK 
high level marine objectives. 

17.3.9. The City of London Thames Policy Area is designated as the part of the City 
where development and change could affect aspects of the river and its 
importance. Collaboration with riparian neighbouring boroughs, the Environment 
Agency, the Marine Management Organisation, the Port of London Authority and 
the Mayor of London is essential to ensure that the strategies and plans for the 
river are realised. 

17.3.10. The London Plan notes that no joint strategy currently exists for the central 
section of the Thames between Chelsea and Tower Bridge, and the City 
Corporation will work actively with neighbouring boroughs to help produce a joint 
Strategy. The City Corporation is undertaking research into the practical 
implications of raising the City’s flood defences in line with the Thames Estuary 
2100 Plan and is collaborating with neighbouring boroughs to promote shared 
learning and a common approach by all riparian authorities in central London. 

17.3.11. A key infrastructure project is the development of the Thames Tideway Tunnel, 
which is a 25km tunnel running mostly under the tidal section of the River Thames 
through central London. It is intended to capture and divert storm overflows, 
including the Fleet Combined Sewer Outflow at Blackfriars, to Beckton Sewage 
Treatment Works to avoid discharging them into the river.  

Page 281



 

224 

 

7.2.9 The ‘Illuminated River Project’ is a long-term art installation that involves the 
architectural illumination of bridges across central London. The project will animate 
the river and create further opportunities to develop the riverside walk for the 
enjoyment of visitors and London communities. The scheme commenced in 
summer 2019 and when complete will incorporate 15 bridges in total, of which six 
are partly or wholly in the City of London. 

Page 282



 

225 

 

 

17.4. Blackfriars Key Area of Change  

Context 

17.4.1. The area contains a mix of uses, including offices and commercial uses, the 
City of London School, the Mermaid Events Centre, The Guild Church of St 
Benet Paul’s Wharf, a public car park, Blackfriars Millennium Pier and Blackfriars 
Station. Most development is post-war, with large footprint buildings, few active 
frontages and a lack of open space.  

17.4.2. It is bounded by major through routes (including Upper Thames Street) which 
generate pollution and are a barrier to pedestrian movement, separating the 
Riverside Walk from the rest of the City. Access to the Riverside Walk is limited 
at street level. Blackfriars Bridge forms an important connection between the 
City and Southwark and Blackfriars Station is a major Underground and Rail 
station. 

17.4.3. There have been improvements along the Riverside Walk at Paul’s Walk and 
the City Corporation’s Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy sets out plans for 
public realm enhancement along the riverside. Development of the Thames 
Tideway Tunnel will create a large new area of public realm built out into the 
river west of Blackfriars Bridge, which is due for completion in 2025. There are 
significant views of St Paul’s Cathedral and the heights of new buildings are 
limited by strategic and locally protected views.  

Strategic Policy S18: Blackfriars 

The character and amenities of the Blackfriars Key Area of Change will be enhanced 
by: 

1. Making the area’s buildings, streets and public spaces more inclusive, 
accessible, welcoming and vibrant, with a mix of uses that encourages more 
activity and greater enjoyment of the river Thames and the riverside walk for 
all; 

2. Promoting substantial comprehensive redevelopment or refurbishment of existing 
post-war buildings to provide new high-quality office and commercial 
accommodation with active frontages at ground floor and mezzanine level and 
elevated public spaces including roof gardens; 

3. Implementing the Thames Tideway Tunnel project and creating a high-quality new 
area of public realm at Blackfriars Bridge foreshore (Bazalgette Embankment), 
and seeking opportunities to enhance the area underneath the Blackfriars 
undercroft for suitable sports, leisure, or recreation; 

4. Enhancing pedestrian permeability and accessibility, especially through 
improvements to and along the riverside, including appropriate widening of the 
Riverside Walk, improvements to Blackfriars Underpass, and the provision of 

Page 283



 

226 

 

new and improved links across Queen Victoria Street and Upper Thames Street to 
provide new north-south routes; 

5. Seeking provision of a new entrance to the east side of Blackfriars station 
that gives improved pedestrian connectivity to the riverfront; 

6. Preserving, enhancing and celebrating the area’s heritage and historic 
assets and giving careful consideration to protected views; 

7. Encouraging new cultural, leisure and recreation facilities, the retention or 
renewal of existing facilities where appropriate, and events, arts and play in 
public spaces, ensuring the retention or renewal of existing facilities, where 
appropriate; and  

8. Improving the quality of the public realm and identifying opportunities for urban 
greening and pollution reduction measures, particularly along Puddle Dock, Castle 
Baynard Street, White Lion Hill, Upper Thames Street and the churchyard of The 
Guild Church of St Benet Paul’s Wharf. 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.4.4. The area contains a mix of uses, including offices and commercial uses, the 
City of London School, the Mermaid Events Centre, The Guild Church of St 
Benet Paul’s Wharf, a public car park, Blackfriars Millennium Pier and Blackfriars 
Station. Most development is post-war, with large footprint buildings, few active 
frontages and a lack of open space. The area has a rich history and likely 
archaeological remains, including those relating to Baynard’s Castle, 
which should be celebrated and better revealed as part of redevelopment. 

17.4.5. It is bounded by major through routes (including Upper Thames Street) which 
generate pollution and are a barrier to pedestrian movement, separating the 
Riverside Walk from the rest of the City. Access to the Riverside Walk is limited 
at street level. Blackfriars Bridge forms an important connection between the 
City and Southwark, and Blackfriars Station is a major underground and rail 
station. 

17.4.6. There have been improvements along the Riverside Walk at Paul’s Walk and 
the City Corporation’s Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy sets out plans for 
public realm enhancement along the riverside. Development of the Thames 
Tideway Tunnel will create a large new area of public realm (Bazalgette 
Embankment) built out into the river west of Blackfriars Bridge, which is due for 
completion in 2025/26. There are significant views of St Paul’s Cathedral and 
the heights of new buildings are limited by strategic and locally protected views. 
The riverside walk forms part of the Thames Path National Trail and the 
River Thames is designated as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for 
Nature Conservation. Minimisation of flood risk and respect for the 
riverside’s rich archaeological and ecological heritage, are important 
considerations in this area. 

Page 284



 

227 

 

17.4.7. This area contains some post-war development which is underused and does 
not contribute to the context or setting of its location.  Except for the area 
adjacent to Blackfriars Station, this part of the City lacks vibrancy and due to the 
road network is notable for a relative lack of pedestrian permeability. Blackfriars 
has been identified as a Key Area of Change to facilitate beneficial commercial 
redevelopment, although this may be a medium or longer-term option due to 
existing leasehold arrangements. 

17.4.8. Baynard House is a large office site and data centre, which includes a public 
car park. It is key to the potential renewal of Blackfriars, since redevelopment of 
this site would provide an opportunity to improve the quality of architecture and 
sense of place, to redesign the road network to reduce the dominance of 
vehicular traffic and to achieve direct pedestrian routes to the riverside.   

17.4.9. Significant Comprehensive redevelopment would provide an opportunity for 
public realm improvements along Puddle Dock, Castle Baynard Street, White 
Lion Hill and Upper Thames Street, to reduce pollution and improve air quality. 
New active frontages will be sought as an integral part of any redevelopment. 
Pedestrian links across Upper Thames Street will be improved wherever 
possible to link the riverside to the rest of the City and to provide easier access 
to Blackfriars Pier. Proposals for redevelopment and the redesign of streets 
would be required to enhance the setting of The Guild Church of St Benet’s 
Paul’s Wharf and make it a more pleasant area to visit and dwell. 

17.4.10. The public realm created by the Thames Tideway Tunnel project at 
Blackfriars Bridge (Bazalgette Embankment) will introduce additional greenery 
to the riverside and will bring more activity to the area by providing a new place 
for relaxation and recreation. This facility will include a viewing terrace, civic 
space, green terraces, and a venue for outdoor events and public artwork. The 
riverside walkway will be improved by links between the new area of public 
realm, Blackfriars Bridge and Paul’s Walk and enhancements to the pedestrian 
route, including appropriate widening, between Blackfriars Bridge and 
Millennium Bridge. There is potential to enhance heritage assets and their 
setting by increased pedestrian permeability and there will be new views of 
Blackfriars Bridge and this part of the City from the new area of public realm.  

Page 285



 

228 

 

 

17.5. Pool of London Key Area of Change  

Context 

17.5.1. The area is the heart of what was once a London’s port which now contains 
predominately office and commercial uses, with some residential and hotel use 
and small-scale retail adjacent to the Tower of London.  There are no tube or 
train stations within the area, but it is well served by public transport just outside 
the area, including London Bridge Station, Tower Hill and Monument 
Underground Stations, Tower Gateway DLR Station and the bus route along 
Eastcheap. River passenger services operate from Tower Pier. 

17.5.2. Lower Thames Street acts as a significant barrier to pedestrian movement to 
and from the rest of the City and air quality is very poor. The opening of London 
Bridge staircase has encouraged more pedestrian movement between the 
Riverside Walk and London Bridge. However, there is limited retail or ground 
floor vibrancy and the public realm is uninspiring and does not reflect the 
importance of this area.    

17.5.3. The building stock is a mix of offices, listed buildings, with modern residential 
and hotel development to the east. St Magnus the Martyr Church, All Hallows by 
the Tower Church and Custom House are Grade I listed. Adelaide House and 
Old Billingsgate Market are Grade II listed, while Custom House Quay, cranes 
and stairs are Grade II* listed. Listed buildings and their key features should be 
enhanced. The eastern part of this area is within the local setting of the Tower of 
London World Heritage Site. The height of new buildings is limited by strategic 
and locally protected views.  

17.5.4. Several key buildings are likely to be vacated in the short term, providing an 
opportunity for renewal through development and public realm improvements 
which enhance heritage assets. The aim is to achieve a City riverside which 
complements that on the south bank of the Pool of London. 

17.5.5. The riverside walk forms part of the Thames Path National Trail and the River 
Thames is designated as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature 
Conservation. Minimisation of flood risk and respect for the riverside’s rich 
archaeological and ecological heritage, are important considerations in this area. 
The area beneath Billingsgate Market and the Billingsgate Bathhouse are 
Scheduled Monuments.  

  

Page 286



 

229 

 

Strategic Policy S19: Pool of London 

The Pool of London Key Area of Change will be renewed through the refurbishment 
and redevelopment of building stock and the delivery of significant public realm 
improvements: 

1. Making the area’s buildings, streets and public spaces more inclusive, 
accessible, welcoming and vibrant, with a mix of uses that encourages 
more activity and greater enjoyment of the river Thames, public spaces and 
the riverside walk for all; 

2. Enabling office-led mixed commercial use redevelopment or refurbishment, 
including the provision of retail, cultural and leisure uses which that are 
complementary to, and do not detract from, the primary business function of the 
City and which that enhance heritage assets.  

3. Requiring increased vibrancy and active frontages at ground floor, rooftop and 
terrace levels, through the provision of retail and publicly accessible leisure and 
cultural uses on the river frontage. 

4. Encouraging the provision of recreation, cultural events, arts and play in public 
spaces along the riverside, and ensuring their delivery through Cultural Culture 
and Vibrancy Plans.   

5. Maximising opportunities to increase the quantity and quality of public 
open space along the riverfront and seeking public realm improvements 
and increased permeability to the north of the riverside walk; 

6. Optimising the use of historic assets and spaces around them in ways that 
help to better reveal their heritage, create inclusive and welcoming 
environments and help to make the riverfront more vibrant and accessible 
for all; 

7. Preserving and enhancing the area’s significant heritage assets and historic 
significance including protected views, as well as encouraging more diverse 
communities to appreciate and understand the area through creative 
interpretation. 

8. Improving transport connections and pedestrian links by: 

• improving existing and creating new crossing points and improving 
wayfinding over Lower Thames Street;  

• improving links to the riverside by enhancing permeability and connectivity 
between London Bridge, Monument Street and Lower Thames Street; 

• improving signage to and from the Pool of London to the Tower of London; 

• improving the servicing of buildings, encouraging the development of 
shared servicing bays and access points and collaborative management; 
and 

Page 287



 

230 

 

• preventing vehicular access onto the riverside walk and removing car 
parking areas upon redevelopment. 

9. Enhancing public realm and public spaces by:  

• enhancing the Riverside Walk to create a continuous publicly accessible 
walkway free of cars between London Bridge and Tower Bridge which is 
accessible to all; 

• identifying opportunities for pollution reduction measures and additional 
greening and planting within the public realm and buildings on 
redevelopment; and 

• seeking maximizing opportunities from development to create 
additional inclusive public space and play facilities.  

 

Reason for the policy 

17.5.6. The area is the heart of what was once the historic port of London and 
is adjacent to the Tower of London. It contains key heritage assets 
including Custom House; the churches of All Hallows by the Tower and St 
Magnus the Martyr; Adelaide House; Old Billingsgate Market and the quay, 
cranes and stairs on the riverside in front of Custom House. 

17.5.7. Lower Thames Street acts as a significant barrier to pedestrian 
movement to and from the rest of the City and air quality is very poor. The 
opening of London Bridge staircase has encouraged more pedestrian 
movement between the Riverside Walk and London Bridge. However, there 
is limited retail or ground floor vibrancy and the public realm is 
uninspiring and does not reflect the importance of this area.    

17.5.8. There is an opportunity for renewal through development and public 
realm improvements that enhance and better-reveal heritage assets. The 
aim is to achieve a City riverside that complements the south bank while 
retaining and enhancing its own distinct character. 

17.5.9. The riverside walk forms part of the Thames Path National Trail and the 
River Thames is designated as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for 
Nature Conservation. Minimisation of flood risk and respect for the 
riverside’s rich archaeological and ecological heritage, are important 
considerations in this area. The area beneath old Billingsgate Market and 
the Billingsgate Roman House and Baths are Scheduled Monuments. The 
Pool of London provides a visual gateway to the City of London from the 
Thames and is the historic port of London. Several key existing buildings are 
likely to become vacant in the short term and this provides an opportunity to 
enhance and renew the area to provide a high-quality environment for 
businesses, visitors and residents.  

Page 288



 

231 

 

17.5.10. The area is predominantly commercial in character and this will continue 
through encouragement of office-led commercial development. Existing post-war 
buildings could be redeveloped or refurbished to provide high quality office 
space or other commercial activities where these are compatible with the 
business City. Listed buildings and their key features should be enhanced. 
There is potential to provide interpretation of the historic development of the 
area, its relationship with the original site of London Bridge and the significance 
of the riverside, and to improve appreciation and enjoyment of historic 
interiors for all.  

17.5.11. While the area will retain its strategically significant office uses, The 
priority should be for office use, but there is significant potential to 
enhance the area for visitors, tourists, children and young people, and 
those working and living in and around the City, providing cultural 
experiences and opportunities to spend time by and enjoy the riverside. 
also potential for complementary commercial and cultural uses compatible 
with the special interest of heritage assets and to encourage interpretation 
and public access to historic interiors.  

17.5.12. Publicly accessible retail, cultural and leisure uses will be encouraged at 
ground floor level throughout the Pool of London to increase vibrancy and 
provide active frontages. Key open spaces in front of buildings should be 
enhanced and public access improved. Existing car parks should be 
replaced with inclusive publicly accessible open spaces and proposals to 
restrict public access will be resisted. As well as delivering improvements in 
accessibility, vibrancy and public realm at street level, the City Corporation will 
encourage the provision of new, publicly accessible roof terraces and viewing 
areas through building redevelopment or refurbishment, whilst safeguarding 
existing protected views.   

17.5.13. Redevelopment and refurbishment offer the opportunity to revisit existing 
servicing arrangements. Developers will be encouraged to work with adjoining 
landowners to deliver shared servicing strategies and to minimise movements 
onto Lower Thames Street.  

17.5.14. Despite its significance, the Pool of London is relatively isolated from the 
rest of the City by Lower Thames Street. Working with TfL, the City Corporation 
will seek the improvement of existing crossing points across Lower Thames 
Street and the creation of new crossing points to encourage greater movement 
between the riverside and the rest of the City, particularly to the Monument 
and Leadenhall Market further afield. Where possible, historic routes between 
the river and other areas of the City will be reinstated through the redevelopment 
and refurbishment of buildings. 

17.5.15. The City Corporation will work closely with TfL, landowners and developers 
to design and deliver substantial improvements to the public realm along the 
riverside walk and routes to and along Lower Thames Street. Additional 
greening and open space will be encouraged, with tree planting in appropriate 
locations. Part of the Pool of London lies within the Local Setting Area of the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site. Development proposals and public realm 

Page 289



 

232 

 

works in this area should seek opportunities to enhance the immediate 
surroundings of the World Heritage Site, as set out in Policy HE3. 

 

17.6. Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change 

Context 

17.6.1. The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken area is positioned in the east of the City 
the southern edge of the area is adjacent to the Tower of London. 

17.6.2. The area contains a culturally diverse local population and a varied mix of 
uses, including offices, The Aldgate Primary School, Mansell and Middlesex 
Street housing estates, part of Petticoat Lane market and hotels and tourist 
activity associated with the Tower of London and Tower Bridge. There have 
been considerable improvements to the area in recent years, with the Aldgate 
gyratory being removed, a new square with a café and toilets created and public 
realm improvements implemented.   

17.6.3. Major hotel and office developments are under construction on Minories 
Proposals for the regeneration of the Mansell Street Estate have been 
considered and several large office sites currently have development potential. 
Petticoat Lane Market, a major tourist draw in the area, is undergoing public 
realm enhancement. These proposals and opportunities will impact on the area.  

17.6.4. The Chinese Embassy could be moving to Royal Mint Court just outside of 
the City boundary and this may lead to further diplomatic and commercial 
interest in this area. The Elizabeth Line stations at Liverpool Street in the City 
and at Whitechapel in Tower Hamlets are both within walking distance of 
Aldgate.  

 
Strategic Policy S20: Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 

The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change will be promoted as a mixed-
use area, which balances the competing needs requirements of residents, workers 
and visitors, by: 

1. Promoting office-led a greater mix of development including commercial, 
residential, education and hotels supported by complementary cultural and 
community use development to assist in the further renewal of the area. 
Diplomatic use and associated commercial activity will be encouraged. 

2. Supporting and enabling residential development in appropriate locations and 
identifying and meeting residents’ needs, utilising a range of funding sources to: 

• maximise training, education and employment opportunities for residents; 

• maximise opportunities for delivering health, community and educational 
services and facilities for residents, particularly in the Aldgate Square area; 

Page 290



 

233 

 

• create additional publicly accessible open and green space and additional 
accessible play space for children; 

• encourage local retail facilities; and 

• facilitate the redevelopment potential regeneration of the Mansell Street 
Estate and adjacent sites, re-providing existing social housing, alongside 
additional residential units, reduced levels of air and noise pollution, 
community facilities and good quality open and play spaces.  

3. Recognising the benefit and managing the impact of visitors to the area by:  

• enhancing Petticoat Lane Market, celebrating the character and history of 
the area and improving the visitor experience by working in partnership 
with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, market traders and other 
stakeholders; 

• encouraging cultural events, arts and play in public spaces; 

• permitting additional hotels on appropriate sites; and 

• managing the impact of tourist attractions in the area to minimise 
disturbance to workers and residents. 

4. Improving transport connections and pedestrian connectivity by: 

• implementing improvements to street-level interchange between 
Fenchurch Street and Tower Hill/Tower Gateway stations, and exploring 
the feasibility of a direct interchange route; 

• improving Aldgate Bus Station to improve air quality and deliver better 
access for pedestrians to and from community facilities, housing estates, 
open spaces and retail facilities; 

• sealing the ramp leading to the closed Aldgate Gyratory underpass and 
enhancing the area; 

• encouraging pedestrian routes and permeability through large development 
sites, particularly the Mansell Street Estate and between Minories and 
Mansell Street; 

• improving signage for visitors from Liverpool Street to Tower Hill and from 
Aldgate to Cheapside and to other tourist attractions as necessary; 

• enhancing links to the riverside walkway and the Tower of London; and 

• enhancing the north-south walking route between Tower Hill and Aldgate 
along Vine Street. 

5. Enhancing the public realm and open spaces by identifying opportunities for urban 
greening schemes, congestion and pollution reduction measures, particularly in 
the vicinity of The Aldgate School and Middlesex Street and Mansell Street 
Estates. 

 

Page 291



 

234 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.6.5. The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken area is positioned in the east of the 
City the southern edge of the area is adjacent to the Tower of London. 

17.6.6. The area contains a culturally diverse local population and a varied mix 
of uses, including offices, the Aldgate Primary School, Mansell and 
Middlesex Street housing estates and other housing, part of Petticoat Lane 
market, and hotels and tourist activity associated with the Tower of 
London and Tower Bridge. There have been considerable improvements to 
the area in recent years, with the Aldgate gyratory being removed, a new 
square with a café and toilets created and public realm improvements 
implemented.   

17.6.7. Until relatively recently, Aldgate was not as attractive for business investment 
as other parts of the City due to traffic levels, pollution and a lack of street-level 
activity. The City Corporation and its partners have sought to regenerate Aldgate 
by stimulating beneficial redevelopment and investing in a programme of 
environmental and public realm enhancements.  

17.6.8. While there have been significant improvements, most notably the removal of 
the Aldgate gyratory and the creation of Aldgate Square, the Aldgate, Tower and 
Portsoken area contains major through routes and parts of the area still suffer 
with associated congestion and poor air quality. The townscape around Tower 
Gateway is particularly affected by severance issues because of the road and 
rail networks, and there is currently little to entice visitors going to the Tower of 
London to explore this part of the City more widely. Tower Gateway lies within 
the Local Setting Area of the Tower of London World Heritage Site. 
Development proposals and public realm works in this area should seek 
opportunities to enhance the immediate surroundings of the World Heritage Site, 
as set out in Policy HE3.  

17.6.9. Identifying this area as a Key Area of Change will assist in guiding further 
enhancement of the area during the lifetime of this Plan. There is likely to be 
further commercial development, especially through the refurbishment or 
redevelopment of older buildings. The area will also experience increased 
tourism activity, in line with the continued increase in tourist numbers in London 
as a whole.  

17.6.10. Residents living on the Mansell and Middlesex Street EstatesThe area 
includes places where there are have lower levels of income, employment and 
education, skills and training than others in the City. The redevelopment 
regeneration potential of the Mansell Street Estate means that it could be one 
of the largest residential schemes in the City during the Plan period, which 
provides an opportunity to deliver additional housing to meet housing needshas 
the potential to provide improved housing for tenants, a more attractive 
environment, and increased housing in the area overall. Redevelopment 
Regeneration would require the re-provision of existing social housing at 
equivalent rents and service charge, achieving a good quality residential 

Page 292



 

235 

 

environment at high densities and reducing residential exposure to air and noise 
pollution.  

17.6.11. Development in the Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken area should enhance its 
appearance and vibrancy and will need to balance the interests of the residents 
who live in the area, particularly regarding air and noise pollution, with the 
increased cultural and commercial activities. With development occurring, small 
pockets of land may be vacant for long periods. Meanwhile uses for such land, 
including carefully designed green spaces, can help improve local air quality and 
be utilised by the local community, visitors and workers for leisure and sporting 
opportunities. Policies OF3 (Temporary ‘Meanwhile’ Uses) and HL7 (Sport and 
recreation) support this approach. 

17.6.12. Policy S20 will be implemented through the determination of planning 
applications, the implementation of City Corporation strategies and public realm 
projects and working in partnership with a wide range of organisations. 

17.6.13. Key partners include the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, which is 
working with the City Corporation to rejuvenate Petticoat Lane Market; TfL, 
which manages Aldgate Bus Station, Aldgate and Tower Hill Underground 
Stations and Tower Gateway DLR Station; Aldgate Connect, a cross-boundary 
Business Improvement District (BID), which will invest £4 million in projects in 
the area over the period to 2025; and Historic Royal Palaces, which manages 
the Tower of London World Heritage Site.   

  

Page 293



 

236 

 

17.7. City Cluster Key Area of Change 

Context 

17.7.1. The east of the City contains a cluster of tall buildings which form part of a 
distinctive skyline and has the highest density of business activity in the City. It 
contains a concentration of offices in banking and insurance use and 
increasingly a wider range of technology, legal and business services. Protected 
views considerations allow for the construction of tall buildings on appropriate 
sites in the Cluster area. Recognisable and iconic tall buildings, including the 
Gherkin and the Leadenhall Building, have been constructed over the past 15 
years and a number of significant tall buildings are under construction. Further 
tall buildings have been permitted but not yet commenced. Employment in the 
Cluster could increase from approximately 115,000 today, to over 200,000 once 
all current permissions are built out and occupied.  

17.7.2. While increased remote working means that actual footfall may not rise in 
proportion to projected employment growth, the planned intensification of 
development in a relatively small geographic area is expected to lead to a 
significant increase in footfall on streets that are already crowded at peak times. 
The City Cluster adjoins the Liverpool Street Key Area of Change and the 
opening of the Elizabeth Line will bring increased pedestrian movement into the 
Cluster, with Bishopsgate a key pedestrian route into and through the area. This 
concentration of activity will require new approaches to freight and servicing, 
including the use of physical and virtual consolidation. To assist delivery of 
transformational projects in the Cluster, the City Corporation will support the 
work of the Eastern Cluster Partnership in the process to become a Business 
Improvement District. 

17.7.3. The Cluster is not only a significant employment and tall buildings location, it 
contains a number of heritage assets, including Leadenhall Market which 
provides a key retail use in the heart of the Cluster and a valuable contrast to the 
modern development that surrounds it. The St Helen’s Place Conservation Area 
contains the churchyards of St Helen and St Ethelburga, providing open space 
and respite for workers. The Cluster also forms the focus of the annual Sculpture 
in the City exhibition and attracts visitors to its contemporary and historic 
architecture. 

Strategic Policy S21: City Cluster 

The City Cluster Key Area of Change will accommodate a significant growth in office 
floorspace and employment, including through the construction of new tall 
buildings, together with complementary land uses, transport, public realm and 
security enhancements, by; 

1. Increasing the provision of attractive world class buildings that are sustainable 
and offer a range of office accommodation to cater for the needs of varied office 
occupiers; 

Page 294



 

237 

 

2. Encouraging complementary uses including leisure, culture and retail to 
support the primary office function in this area and providing active 
frontages at ground level. 

3. Transforming Leadenhall Market into a seven day-week vibrant destination 
by encouraging culture, retail, food & beverage and other complementary 
uses, while preserving and enhancing its historic character and 
appearance. 

4. Requiring the provision of new and improved open spaces at ground level, 
free to enter publicly accessible spaces such as roof gardens and roof 
terraces, and cultural and leisure destinations and other facilities, that will 
provide additional public space and experiences for people working in the 
City alongside visitors and residents. 

5. Delivering tall buildings on appropriate sites in line with Policy S12 (Tall 
buildings)including on Renewal Opportunity Sites. These should make a 
ensuring they positively contributeion to the City’s skyline,  preserving heritage 
assets and their settings, taking account of the effect on the London skyline and 
on protected views;  

6. Ensuring development proposals have regard to the immediate setting of 
Bevis Marks Synagogue (as set out in the Policy Map). Developments 
should form a positive relationship with the Synagogue without dominating 
or detracting from its architectural and historic value; and ensuring that the 
historic elements of the Synagogue’s setting are preserved and enhanced. 

7. Protecting the City’s businesses, workers, residents and visitors against crime 
and terrorism by promoting the natural surveillance of streets, open spaces and 
buildings and implementing area-wide security measures, funded in part through 
s106 planning obligations; 

8. Enhancing the streets, spaces and public realm to improve connectivity into and 
through the Cluster, and prioritising pedestrian movement during the daytime in 
key streets such as St Mary Axe, Leadenhall Street and Lime Street; and 
creating new pedestrian routes through – and improving the accessibility 
of –  Leadenhall Market. 

9. Improving north-south connectivity for walking, wheeling and cycling 
through Gracechurch Street and Bishopsgate and east-west connectivity 
from Aldgate in the east to Bank in the west; 

10. Delivering a high-quality public realm, maintaining the quality of the microclimate 
and increasing urban greening; 

11. Activating streets, spaces and public realm at the ground floor and 
improving wayfinding through the streets and alleys. 

Page 295



 

238 

 

12. Improving walking and cycling into and through the Cluster. Pedestrian 
movement should be given priority through re-allocation of road space on 
key routes during daytime.  

13. Ensuring the provision of high-quality utilities and communications infrastructure 
and efficient use of the subsurface through early engagement and joint working 
between developers and utility providers; 

14. Ensuring an area wide approach is taken to security and estate 
management to ensure the safety and comfort of workers and visitors, with 
a high-quality public realm and environment that reflects the status of the 
area; 

15. Introducing new approaches to freight, construction logistics and servicing and 
delivering improvements to public transport to ensure the City Cluster can 
accommodate the planned level of growth.; and  

16. Improving access to retail, leisure, cultural, health and educational facilities and 
services by encouraging a range of complementary land uses, ensuring active 
frontages at ground level and supporting activities such as ‘Sculpture in the City’. 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.7.4. Tall buildings are an established defining feature of the City Cluster. The 
City Cluster has been identified as the area within the City that is most suitable 
for tall buildings on sites which are less constrained by view protection policies 
than elsewhere. The spatial extent of the Cluster and the Renewal Opportunity 
Sites has been informed by technical work undertaken to develop the City’s 3D 
digital modelling which shows that there is scope for further tall buildings, 
although not every site within the Cluster will be suitable. This area is 
designated as an area appropriate in principle for tall building 
development. Detailed sensitivity analysis and three-dimensional 
modelling shows that there is potential for further tall building 
development. Market demand for new office space in this area has remained 
high and future capacity projections indicate that a large proportion of the office 
development pipeline is within the City Cluster and it is expected to 
accommodate a significant part of the City’s future office space growth, 
alongside other compatible land uses. 

17.7.5. The resulting increase in floorspace and employment will inevitably The 
planned intensification of development in a relatively small geographic 
area will inevitably lead to a significant increase in footfall and put more 
pressure on public transport, streets, open spaces and services. The City 
Cluster adjoins the Liverpool Street Key Area of Change and the opening 
of the Elizabeth Line has significantly improved public transport access 
into the Cluster, with Bishopsgate being a key pedestrian route into and 
through the area. This concentration of activity will require better walking 
and cycling routes, enhanced public realm, and specialised approaches to 

Page 296



 

239 

 

freight and servicing, including the use of consolidation. To assist delivery 
of transformational projects in the Cluster, the City Corporation will 
continue to will support the work of the Eastern City Cluster Partnership in the 
process to become a Business Improvement District work with key 
stakeholders in the area, including the EC BID.  

17.7.6. Office development within the City Cluster will be expected to deliver flexible 
floorspace to meet the needs of a range of occupiers and ensure the City’s stock 
is resilient and ready to respond to changes in the market. While all forms of 
development should be of high-quality design, tall buildings by their nature have 
an impact on the wider London skyline. It is important that they create a 
coherent Cluster form and enhance the overall appearance of the Cluster on the 
skyline, while also having a successful relationship with the space around them 
at ground level and with particular regard to the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site, conservation areas and listed buildings. The Renewal Opportunity Sites 
have potential to accommodate an uplift in floorspace in new buildings of an 
appropriate design and height. The City Corporation will continue to use 3D 
modelling of the Cluster to understand opportunities for redevelopment guide 
future development and assess tall building proposals.  

17.7.7. The Cluster is not only a significant employment and tall buildings 
location, it contains a number of heritage assets, including the Grade I 
Listed Bevis Marks Synagogue, the oldest Synagogue in continued use in 
Great Britain. It is recognised that the Synagogue and its immediate 
setting are within the heart of an ever-changing world city and that there is 
pressure on sites for growth in the City Cluster. The Synagogue’s 
immediate setting forms an intrinsic part of its significance and the broad 
scale and heights of buildings in the immediate setting of the Synagogue 
contribute to its significance. Significant changes to these buildings could 
potentially affect the setting and therefore significance of the Synagogue. 

17.7.8. Leadenhall Market, the Grade II* listed Principal Shopping Centre 
located in the heart of the City Cluster, has a long history of commerce 
and attracts visitors as a result of its location and architecture. 
Opportunities should be taken to reinvigorate Leadenhall Market into a 
seven days-a-week vibrant retail and cultural destination, all while 
celebrating its unique location and relevance to the history of London.  

17.7.9. The intensification of development will have cumulative environmental and 
transport impacts which need to be carefully managed. Individual proposals for 
new tall buildings will need to take account of these cumulative impacts, 
especially the need to maintain and enhance the provision of pavement and 
public open space around the building, to ensure safe and comfortable levels of 
wind, daylight and sunlight, solar glare and solar convergence, and to implement 
efficient servicing and deliveries arrangements.  

17.7.10. The City Corporation is working with businesses and stakeholders to 
address the challenges facing the City Cluster. During the Plan period 
improvements to key streets and spaces will create a better connected and more 
interesting pedestrian experience. Proposals include timed or permanent 

Page 297



 

240 

 

closures of certain streets to create a pedestrian priority core, wider pavements 
and improved crossings, which would enable consequential public realm 
improvements such as more greenery and space for cultural and seasonal 
events. The City Corporation’s City Cluster Vision provides further details about 
these proposals, including an indication of potential design proposals. 

17.7.11. Area-wide security measures will be implemented, including the Anti-
Terrorism Traffic Regulation Order, to reduce the risks associated with high-
profile buildings and increasingly crowded streets. Developers will be required to 
contribute towards the design and implementation of area-wide security through 
s106 planning obligations proportionate to the scale of the development. Area-
wide approaches to servicing and deliveries will be promoted, for instance the 
use of physical and/or virtual consolidation measures.  

17.7.12. Active frontages and complementary land uses will be encouraged to 
enhance vibrancy and viability, extending to weekends to diversify the City, its 
economy and community. 

 

 

Page 298



 

241 

 

17.8. Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change 

Context 

17.8.1. The Fleet Street area is the former home of the press but has changed in 
character as the newspaper and publishing industries moved away. The western 
extent of the area comprises the legal precincts of the Inner and Middle Temples 
and adjoins the Royal Courts of Justice in the City of Westminster. Fleet Street 
is a Principal Shopping Centre (PSC) with retail frontage along its extent, 
although most units are small and cater principally for the lunchtime market.  
The street forms the spine of the Fleet Street Conservation Area and has 
numerous listed buildings. 

17.8.2.  The St Paul’s Conservation Area extends up much of Ludgate Hill and 
surrounding streets and frames the approach to the Cathedral. Protecting and 
enhancing this heritage and views of St Paul’s Cathedral will be a key 
consideration guiding future change. Fleet Street, Ludgate Circus and Ludgate 
Hill form part of the ancient processional route between Westminster and the 
City of London, providing iconic views of St Paul’s Cathedral. Fleet Street, 
Ludgate Circus and Ludgate Hill are heavily trafficked, with narrow, often 
congested, footways but there is a strong sense of place resulting from the 
spaces and the architecture. 

17.8.3. Significant occupational change presents an opportunity to promote renewal 
of the area through appropriate development or refurbishment of key buildings 
and to improve links north and south of Fleet Street to Holborn and the River 
Thames. The City Corporation, in partnership with the Ministry of Justice, is 
developing proposals for a new court building and police facilities in the area 
which will complement the legal cluster and stimulate further investment in this 
area.  

17.8.4. Junction improvements at Ludgate Circus will deliver a safer pedestrian and 
cycling environment. Recent major development on Ludgate Hill, together with 
new hotel provision, has enhanced the retail offer and the quality of commercial 
and visitor accommodation. 

Strategic Policy S22: Fleet Street and Ludgate 

The character and function of the Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change as a 
centre for judicial and related business, a royal and state processional route and a 
Principal Shopping Centre (PSC) will be promoted by: 

 Protecting and enhancing the character and appearance of the royal and state 
processional route including views of St. Paul’s Cathedral from the route. 

 Developing new court facilities and City of London Police station, having regard to 
the impact of the development on the Fleet Street Conservation Area and heritage 
assets and the need to ensure security of the buildings for court and police use.  

Page 299



 

242 

 

 Continuing to protect existing office use in the area, whilst encouraging office-led 
redevelopments including for creative, start-up and SME businesses, with a 
mix of complementary retail, leisure and cultural uses which enhance the area’s 
rich heritage and culture.  

 Seeking opportunities to provide an enhanced cultural offer in the area, 
informed by its rich history and connections to the legal, publishing and 
newspaper industries, as well as opportunities to better reveal the area’s 
heritage. 

 Allowing tall building development on appropriate sites within the defined 
tall building area identified on the Policies Map. 

 Providing flexible spaces and complementary uses in appropriate locations. 

 Directing further residential development to appropriate sites off principal streets to 
reinforce existing residential clusters, ensuring a high quality of residential 
amenity. Student housing may be appropriate on suitable sites. 

 Retaining retail provision within the Fleet Street PSC and Retail Link and 
encouraging greater diversity of retail, culture and leisure and the extension of 
retail, leisure and cultural activity into the evening and weekends, whilst retaining 
a focus on comparison and convenience shopping in the PSC, and promote 
pop-up and meanwhile uses in suitable premises and sites. 

 Enhancing the public realm and open spaces by: 

• improving and increasing the capacity and accessibility of pavements along 
Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill, junction improvements at Ludgate Circus 
and more spaces for seating in the area; 

• enhancing the courts and alleyways that lead off Fleet Street and Ludgate 
Hill and churchyards that are located in the area, helping to better reveal 
them through sensitive wayfinding, and seeking opportunities to 
improve safety through enhanced lighting and activation; 

• enhancing the immediate setting of St. Paul’s Cathedral through high 
quality development and public realm enhancements including a world 
square; and 

• delivering additional greening on streets and open spaces and 
encouraging the greening of buildings, where compatible with heritage 
considerations.  

 

Reason for the policy 

17.8.5. Junction improvements at Ludgate Circus will deliver a safer pedestrian and 
cycling environment. Recent major development on Ludgate Hill, together with 
new hotel provision, has enhanced the retail offer and the quality of commercial 
and visitor accommodation. 

Page 300



 

243 

 

17.8.6. Fleet Street is an iconic location with a name synonymous with the UK 
newspaper and publishing industry. However, the newspapers that occupied 
Fleet Street have moved out, and the area is home to a broad range of to be 
replaced with commercial office occupiers.  

17.8.7. The area is an established legal cluster, focused on the Temples in the City 
and the Royal Courts of Justice within the City of Westminster, and this will be 
enhanced with the delivery of the new court building and police facilities at 
Salisbury Square, which is being developed by the City Corporation in 
partnership with the Ministry of Justice to provide a flagship court facility 
for London to tackle cybercrime, fraud and economic crime. The area is 
identified in the London Plan as a CAZ Legal Cluster and its important and 
varied legal functions will be supported and enhanced through this City 
Plan. 

17.8.8. The City Corporation in partnership with the Ministry of Justice has proposed 
a new flagship court facility for London to tackle cybercrime, fraud and economic 
crime. The proposed new court and police station will need to be consistent with 
the requirement to protect and enhance heritage assets in the Fleet Street 
Conservation Area and the protection of retail uses within the Fleet Street PSC, 
whilst addressing the need for security and secure access.  

17.8.9. The Fleet Street area has a strong cultural offer with attractions ranging from 
Dr Johnson’s House to the St Bride’s Institute, the Bridewell Theatre and the 
historic churches of St Brides, St Dunstan’s in the West and Temple Church. 
These attractions help draw visitors to the area, which support the PSC, and 
opportunities should be sought to enrich the contribution these buildings 
and organisations make to the life of the Fleet Street area. 

17.8.10. Ludgate Circus is a major junction between Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill and 
Farringdon Street. The western side lies within the Fleet Street PSC, whilst the 
eastern side is within an identified Retail Link. Ludgate Hill forms the principal 
approach to St Paul’s Cathedral and a key element of the royal and state 
processional route. Major commercial development at Old Bailey has enhanced 
the office and retail offer on this street and further hotel development could 
support the City’s growing visitor economy. 

17.8.11. The Key Area of Change contains a mix of large modern office 
developments and smaller scale historic buildings on small plots more suitable 
for SME use. Several major occupiers have vacated office buildings on Fleet 
Street in recent years, providing opportunities for beneficial change though The 
City-wide presumption in favour of protecting office uses will continue to apply 
and the area’s commercial office focus will remain. A particular focus for 
future office development will be the identified tall building area, within 
which tall buildings will be permitted on appropriate sites, having regard to 
heritage and views constraints may limit opportunities for significant increases in 
floorspace. 

17.8.12. There may be potential for partnership working between occupiers in the 
area to deliver improvements and more flexible use of some buildings whilst 

Page 301



 

244 

 

retaining a predominance of commercial uses which complement the City’s 
business focus. To assist with the development of a coherent vision for the area, 
the City Corporation will support the work of the Fleet Street Quarter Partnership 
in the process to become a Business Improvement District BID. The Partnership 
BID is keen to explore ways in which Fleet Street can act as a vibrant spine for 
the area, while improving its links with other parts of the City including the area 
up to High Holborn and access to the riverside. 

17.8.13. The area contains an existing residential cluster to the north of Fleet Street, 
with a number of upper floors of buildings on Fleet Street itself converted to 
residential in recent years. South of Ludgate Hill is the established residential 
and commercial area of Carter Lane. Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill and Carter Lane 
suffer noise from commercial and retail activities, while traffic contributes to poor 
air quality along parts of Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill. To ensure a high quality 
of residential amenity, new residential development in this area will be directed 
to sites away from principal streets, so that the potential for noise disturbance 
and exposure to poor air quality can be minimised. 

17.8.14. The PSC is an important aspect of Fleet Street that provides vibrancy along 
its length, however the PSC is under-performing and has the potential to 
diversify. To strengthen the PSC, it should continue to focus on provide 
comparison and convenience shopping, but also look to extend its retail offer 
into the evenings and weekends and provide a broader range of retail and 
leisure uses. The Retail Link on Ludgate Hill provides a key route betweenFleet 
Street and Cheapside PSC and the extension of the Fleet Street PSC further 
development for retail and town centre uses is appropriate along this route. 

17.8.15. The key streets within the area offer a poor public realm, being heavily 
trafficked with narrow footways that are congested particularly during peak hours 
and lunch times. There is limited greenery along Fleet Street, Ludgate Circus 
and Ludgate Hill. Additional planting will need to consider the impact on the 
established character of the area and on key views of St Paul’s Cathedral along 
the processional route. There is scope to enhance the public realm and achieve 
a better balance between motor vehicles and to priortise pedestrians, including 
through the widening of pavements. Improvements to the public realm will 
deliver benefits to the area as well as improve air quality and provide more quiet 
areas in the network of courts and alleyways behind Fleet Street and Ludgate 
Hill. St Bride’s Churchyard is one of the largest public spaces in the Fleet Street 
area and has significant potential for enhancement. Other parts of the area 
where the public realm and street environment offer scope for improvement 
include Carter Lane and the Whitefriars area to the south of Fleetbank House 
Salisbury Square. 

17.8.16. The Key Area of Change extends up to St Paul’s Cathedral, an 
internationally recognised landmark on the London skyline which is sited at one 
of the highest points in the City and was London’s tallest building between the 
early eighteenth century and the 1960s. The local setting of St Paul’s remains 
relatively low-rise, allowing the scale and significance of the building to be 
appreciated and preserving its status as the defining focal point of the 
processional route and a key element of the area’s character. While the 

Page 302



 

245 

 

approach to St Paul’s from Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill is of historic 
importance, the setting of the Cathedral and the visitor experience is diminished 
by heavy traffic and associated highways clutter. There is potential for significant 
townscape enhancements and de-cluttering along the processional route and for 
further public realm and transportation improvements in the immediate vicinity of 
the Cathedral to enhance the setting of this iconic building. 

 

Page 303



 

246 

 

17.9. Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change 

Context 

17.9.1. The Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change is a vibrant, mixed use area 
that contains: 

• The highest concentration of residential units in the City, including the 
Barbican and Golden Lane estates and Smithfield (principally Barts 
Square); 

• A cultural quarter, known as Culture Mile focused on the Barbican and 
Museum of London, which is recognised in the London Plan as a strategic 
cultural area;  

• St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, which is a regional hospital and specialist 
cardiac and cancer centre.  

• Smithfield Market, London’s major wholesale meat market. 

• A mixed office stock and occupier profile, ranging from large corporate 
headquarters to buildings suitable for SMEs, creative enterprises and start-
ups. 

• Many heritage assets of national significance including listed buildings of 
diverse periods, conservation areas, scheduled ancient monuments and 
historic parks, gardens and spaces which enhance its special character. 

17.9.2. This part of the City will undergo significant change and development over the 
life of the Local Plan with the delivery of the Culture Mile initiative, including the 
proposed relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield and the potential 
development of a new Centre for Music on the site of the existing Museum of 
London. 

17.9.3. Smithfield Market may move from its current location in this period and 
alternative uses would then need to be found for the historic market buildings. 
Policy S25 supports the continued presence of Smithfield Market in the area in 
the short to medium term, while providing broad guidance on potential future 
uses if the Market moves beyond the Plan period.  

17.9.4. The opening of the Elizabeth Line, with a station entrance at Lindsey Street 
and another on Moorgate, will significantly increase public transport provision to 
the area and result in increased pedestrian flows to and from these stations and 
the rest of the City. 

                  

 

 

Page 304



 

247 

 

Strategic Policy S23: Smithfield and Barbican  

The City Corporation will improve the Smithfield and Barbican area by: 

1. implementing the Culture Mile initiative, encouraging culture-led mixed-use 
development on major sites in the area as well as cultural infrastructure 
and complementary uses, and delivering art and cultural attractions and public 
realm improvements through the Culture Mile Look and Feel Strategy; 

2. ensuring the retention and improvement of pedestrian permeability and 
connectivity through large sites such as Smithfield Market, Golden Lane and 
Barbican whilst seeking to preserve privacy, security and noise abatement for 
residents and businesses; 

3. ensuring future alternative uses appropriate to the listed status of the market 
buildings in Smithfield if the existing uses are relocated; 

4. supporting and enabling residential development in appropriate locations; 

5. identifying and meeting residents’ needs in the north of the City, including the 
protection and enhancement of residential amenity, community facilities and 
open space; 

6. making improvements to Beech Street to reduce the volume of vehicle traffic, 
improve air quality and increase amenity and vitality; 

7. seeking to minimise pollution levels through traffic management measures and 
increased green infrastructure in the public realm and on buildings; 

8. requiring improvements to pedestrian and cycle routes for all within and 
through the north of the City;  

9. supporting continued connections to the Citigen district heating and cooling 
network and ensuring that, where feasible, all new development is designed to 
enable connection to the Citigen network;  

10. supporting the provision of additional hotel uses in appropriate 
locations, where they are complementary to the City’s business role; 

11. encouraging a diverse leisure, retail, food and beverage offer, 
particularly along routes between the London Museum and the Barbican;  

12. encouraging the provision of spaces and premises suitable for start-ups, 
digital and creative industries, and cultural organisations and artists, 
including meanwhile use of vacant premises; and  

13. enhancing the special character of the area through sensitive change. 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.9.5. The Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change is a vibrant, mixed use area 
that contains: 

• The highest concentration of residential units in the City, including the 
Barbican and Golden Lane estates and Smithfield (principally Barts 
Square); 

• A cultural quarter known as Culture Mile focused on the Barbican and 
Museum of London, which is recognised in the London Plan as a strategic 

Page 305



 

248 

 

cultural area, which will be enhanced with the relocation and reopening of 
the London Museum;  

• St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, which is a regional hospital and specialist 
cardiac and cancer centre;  

• Smithfield Market, London’s major wholesale meat market, which is 
expected to relocate in the coming years; 

• A mixed office stock and occupier profile, ranging from large corporate 
headquarters to buildings suitable for SMEs, creative enterprises and start-
ups; 

• Many heritage assets of national significance including listed buildings of 
diverse periods, conservation areas, scheduled ancient monuments and 
historic parks, and gardens and spaces that enhance its special character. 

17.9.6. This part of the City will undergo significant change and development over the 
life of the Local Plan with the delivery of the Culture Mile initiative, including the 
proposed relocation of the Museum of London London Museum to Smithfield 
and the current operations of Smithfield Market and the potential development 
of a new Centre for Music on the site of the existing Museum of London. 

17.9.7. A Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum for the Barbican and 
Golden Lane area were designated by the City Corporation on 18 July 
2023. 

17.9.8. The Smithfield and Barbican area contains a very diverse range of uses, 
including commercial offices, retail, market, cultural, hospital and residential, 
which attract large numbers of people to the area. During the life of this Plan, 
the relocation of the Museum of London from London Wall to Smithfield would 
release its current site for the potential development of a Centre for Music. The 
City Corporation has taken a decision in principle, subject to feasibility and 
consultation, to co-locate its 3 wholesale markets to a new location which could 
release the existing Smithfield Market buildings for alternative use. The Culture 
Mile initiative City Corporation will see enable a range of cultural and artistic 
activities implemented throughout the area. Together these changes will attract 
a substantial increase in visitors to this part of the City and enhance the area’s 
attractiveness for businesses, residents and visitors. The opening of the 
Elizabeth Line, linking to national rail and tube lines, will make has made this 
area one of the most accessible locations by public transport in the 
countryhelping deliver the expected increase in visitors.  

17.9.9. The Barbican complex contains an internationally recognised cultural 
area and the City's largest concentration of residential units. Barbican 
Listed Building Management Guidelines have been produced, which seek 
to protect the special architectural and historic interest of the buildings 
and their setting. 

17.9.10. Delivery of this policy will be supported by implementation of public realm 
enhancement and transportation schemes and greater activation of streets, 
providing improved amenity, design and movement, for the benefit of workers, 

Page 306



 

249 

 

residents and visitors. The design of new buildings and spaces should provide 
greater pedestrian permeability, ensuring that the area is able to accommodate 
and manage increased volumes of people and activities. A particular concern in 
this area is the need to improve air quality to protect the health of the public, 
including in particular the comparatively large resident population and 
hospital patients. The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy proposes to 
introduce a local Zero Emission Zone covering Barbican and Golden Lane by 
2022. An interim 2-way Zero Emission Street is being implemented at Beech 
Street in 2020 under an Experimental Traffic Order. 

17.9.11. The Citigen plant, located immediately north of the City on Charterhouse 
Street in Islington, is providing heating and cooling to buildings within the City. 
Subject to future progress on decarbonisation, Citigen offers the potential of low 
carbon heating and cooling to buildings in this part of the City and new 
development should, where feasible, be designed to enable connection to the 
network. 

Culture Mile 

7.8.10 Culture Mile is a unique collection of arts, cultural and educational 
organisations and creative enterprises in the north of the City which has 
been created through a partnership of the City of London Corporation, the 
Barbican Arts Centre, Guildhall School of Music and Drama, the London 
Symphony Orchestra and the Museum of London. Culture Mile runs from 
Farringdon to Moorgate on the east-west axis and from the Golden Lane 
estate to south of London Wall on its north-south axis. The Culture Mile 
area has been identified as a Strategic Cultural Area in the London Plan.  

Strategic Policy S24: Culture Mile Implementation 

The City Corporation will promote and protect Culture Mile as the City’s main 
cultural centre and world class cultural destination, by encouraging and 
supporting:  

• the proposed relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield; 

• the potential development of a new Centre for Music on the current site of 
the Museum of London on London Wall;  

• shared working with the London Borough of Islington to ensure the 
change and development around Culture Mile benefits local communities 
through improved access to and experience of cultural enrichment, 
education, skills and employment opportunities; 

• provision of cultural facilities and uses within buildings and the public 
realm, where appropriate, and where the amenity of surrounding uses is 
not significantly compromised;  

• supporting the provision of additional hotel uses in appropriate locations, 
where they are complementary to the City’s business role; 

Page 307



 

250 

 

• encouraging a diverse leisure, retail, food and beverage offer, particularly 
along the Culture Spine key route;  

• encouraging the provision of spaces and premises suitable for start-ups, 
digital and creative industries, and cultural organisations and artists;  

• strengthening of routes, way finding, lighting and signage throughout the 
area and the links with the rest of the City in a co-ordinated manner;  

• public realm improvements to address increased pedestrian flows and 
visitor numbers to, from and within Culture Mile and to provide a relevant 
identity for Culture Mile; and  

• safeguarding cultural uses such as churches and museums. 

Reason for the policy 

17.9.12. Culture Mile has been identified to guide cultural and creative activity 
within this part of the City, including potential development in the area 
during the life of the Plan. It recognises and promotes the City’s cultural 
attractions to a wider audience. The opening of Elizabeth Line stations will 
stimulate further change in the area.  

17.9.13. An important element of the emerging proposals for Culture Mile is the 
identification of movement spines, including a key east-west route from 
the proposed Museum of London site, along Long Lane and Beech Street. 
Significant improvements to the public realm and traffic reduction 
measures, particularly along Beech Street, will be progressed to support 
increased pedestrian flows and the provision of cultural activity on street. 
Public realm improvements will be sought as development opportunities 
arise. Expansion of the area’s cultural offer, including within established 
institutions, will require the provision of appropriate transport 
infrastructure into and through the area. 

17.9.14. To deliver its ambitions for Culture Mile the Smithfield and Barbican Area, 
the City Corporation is aiming to create a distinctive look and feel for the area, 
which allows for the provision of art installations and activity in the public realm 
in appropriate locations and addresses the requirements for advertising and 
event promotion. Further planning guidance will be provided.  

17.9.15. The City Corporation and partners have published research that highlights 
the contribution made by Creative industries make a significant contribution 
in and around Culture Mile to the City’s economy, particularly within the 
Smithfield and Barbican area. And the potential for growth of this sector as 
part of the Culture Mile initiative. The research identified the Significant social 
and economic value that can be derived from the growth of creative enterprises 
and the City Corporation will continue to encourage and support their 
growth within the Key Area of Change, including through the deloivery of 
meanwhile uses in vacant and under-used premises. and made four key 
recommendations which are addressed in part through this policy: 

Page 308



 

251 

 

• Create a strong sense of place; 

• Secure the area’s distinctive ecology, including encouraging investment in 
the creative sector, developing new creative workspaces and protecting and 
encouraging formal and informal performance space; 

• Attract talent, create new jobs and support social mobility; and 

• Drive inward investment. 

Policy SB1: Culture Mile Impacts 

The City Corporation will protect the amenity of residents, workers and 
occupiers and conserve and enhance the character of designated and 
non-designated heritage assets by:   

considering the impact of noise-generating uses, particularly night-time 
activities on residents and business occupiers when granting planning 
permissions;   

requiring the installation of noise mitigation measures in developments 
and spaces to minimise the potential for disruption and anti-social 
behaviour where appropriate; 

managing the highway network to minimise traffic disturbance and to 
maintain access to existing premises for essential servicing; 

requiring development and cultural activities to preserve and enhance 
historic buildings and their settings, historic structures and spaces and 
conservation areas;  

allowing suitable architectural lighting of buildings and spaces, 
consistent with their architectural, cultural and heritage status, the 
amenity of occupiers and the requirements of Culture Mile; and 

ensuring public realm and open space improvements, and temporary and 
pop-up stalls and events do not impede the efficient flow of people and 
essential vehicles or detrimentally impact on the conservation area. 

Reason for the policy 

Culture Mile will be a vibrant place with large numbers of people and 
significant activity during the day and into the evening. This level of 
activity will impact on residents and workers as well as the movement of 
people and traffic and therefore a range of mitigation measures need to be 
considered alongside project implementation.  

The London Borough of Islington has designated the Clerkenwell and 
Farringdon area as a Cultural Quarter, where development of cultural and 
creative uses should be focused. It also proposes introducing a new Local 
Shopping Area extending from Farringdon Station to Smithfield Market 
along Cowcross Street, which will support development of retail and food, 
drink and entertainment uses. While these initiatives will complement the 

Page 309



 

252 

 

Culture Mile, cross-boundary impacts may arise from cultural and night-
time economy uses on either side of the boundary between the City and 
Islington. Proposals for such uses in Culture Mile will be expected to 
mitigate any cross-boundary impacts as well as any impacts on City 
residents and businesses.  

Policy S9 (Vehicular Transport and Servicing) addresses disturbance from 
vehicle movements as well as disruption to servicing arrangements. 
Policies HL3 (Noise and Light Pollution) and CV4 (Evening and Night-Time 
Economy) outline measures to help protect residents from noise and light 
disturbance and the night-time economy. Further guidance is provided in 
the City Corporation’s Noise Strategy, Lighting Strategy and Statement of 
Licencing Policy.  

Smithfield 

17.9.16. The Smithfield area has over centuries developed a distinctive mixed-use 
character and townscape and contains the designated Smithfield Conservation 
Area and numerous important listed buildings. It is characterised by the   
wholesale Smithfield Market, the General Market and St Bartholomew’s 
Hospital complex. The hospital is a leading internationally renowned teaching 
hospital and centre for excellence which includes specialist cardiac and heart 
centres.  

17.9.17. The Smithfield area also supports a range of other land uses, including 
residential, offices, retail, leisure, churches and night-time entertainment. The 
City Corporation has taken a decision to co-locate its three wholesale markets 
on a single site and Smithfield Market will relocate to this new wholesale market 
site during the Plan period. Smithfield is home to a significant number of cultural 
organisations and creative enterprises with links to Camden and Islington. 

Strategic Policy S254: Smithfield 

The City Corporation will protect and enhance the distinctive mixed-use and historic 
character of Smithfield by:  

1. supporting the continued presence of St. Bartholomew’s Hospital; 
2. supporting the continued presence of Smithfield Market in the short to medium 

term; 
3. encouraging the future sensitive re-use of the Smithfield Market buildings, should 

the market relocate, requiring a world class design solution which that delivers a 
mix of uses that celebrate and are appropriate to its sensitive heritage character, 
and that provide inclusive public access to the buildings;  

4. supporting the proposed relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield; 
5. further enhancing the distinctive character of the Smithfield area by retaining 

existing buildings, and encouraging appropriate new development, suitable for 
accommodating a mix of uses; 

6. managing the particular challenges which result from the late evening, 7 day a 
week character of the area; 

Page 310



 

253 

 

7. resisting residential development adjacent to the current market site or 
future Museum of London in order to minimise potential adverse impacts on 
residential amenity; 

8. promoting a retail and leisure economy that complements and contributes to 
the changing uses in the area and supports the establishment of Smithfield 
as a leisure destination; 

9. ensuring new activities and developments contribute to a reduction in freight and 
vehicular movements, whilst not adversely impacting the operation of businesses 
and amenity of residents; and  

10. providing for, and supporting, improved pedestrian permeability and the 
creation of new and enhanced public realm across the area to accommodate 
cultural activity and increased pedestrian flows arising from the Elizabeth Line and 
potential new uses in the existing market buildings. 
 
 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.9.18. The proposed relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield, the 
opening of the Elizabeth Line and development encouragement of Culture Mile 
cultural and visitor activities, will result in a significant increase in pedestrian 
and visitor numbers in this Key Area of Change, which will place further 
pressure on the public realm and on important local open spaces such as 
Smithfield Rotunda Garden, which is Grade II listed. Improvements to the 
public realm will be required to ensure that increased movement can be 
accommodated. At the same time, it is important that new activities do not 
adversely affect the amenity of existing business and residents, the continued 
operation of St Bartholomew’s Hospital or impact on the area’s historic 
significance and mixed-use character. The wider area has a mix of uses, 
including the hospital, Livery Halls, open spaces, pubs, shops and 
restaurants, offices and residential use.  

17.9.19. The City Corporation has carried out a strategic review of its 3three 
wholesale markets, Smithfield, Billingsgate and New Spitalfields. A decision has 
been taken in principle, subject to feasibility and consultation, to co-locate the 
wholesale markets on a single site. As a result, it is possible expected that 
Smithfield Market may will move from its current location in the City at some 
time in the latter part of during the Plan period. The Local City Plan therefore 
continues to protect the operation of the Market in Smithfield, but also provides 
guidance requiring future potential uses of the market buildings to maintain the 
historic character of the existing Grade II* and Grade II listed market buildings. 
Future uses should ensure the legacy of these buildings through world class 
design and innovation which supports the growing evening and weekend 
economy, complements the City Corporation’s aspirations for Culture Mile 
cultural and leisure activity and is fully inclusive whilst protecting local 
amenity. Inclusive, welcoming public access to the buildings of Smithfield 
Market will be an important component of future uses and designs should 
consider how these spaces can be better revealed, with routes through 

Page 311



 

254 

 

the buildings including Buyer’s Walk, the central spine running through 
the buildings. If the decision in principle to co-locate the wholesale markets on 
a new site is confirmed, then a planning brief or Masterplan Supplementary 
Planning Document will be prepared setting out further guidance on potential 
future uses for the Smithfield Market buildings.

Page 312



 

255 

 

 
 

17.10. Liverpool Street Key Area of Change 

Context 

17.10.1. The Liverpool Street area stretches from the City boundary with Shoreditch 
in the north east, to Finsbury Circus in the west and the City Cluster to the south. 
It provides a key route from Liverpool Street Station to the Barbican and Culture 
Mile. It is an area that will experience extensive change with the opening of the 
Elizabeth Line and the completion of significant new office floorspace and retail 
and leisure facilities which are currently under construction or progressing 
through the planning process.  

17.10.2. Liverpool Street is the gateway to the City for East Anglia – as well as being 
a multi-line tube station. The Elizabeth Line will provide fast easy access from 
the west including from the West End, Heathrow and beyond, linked to Moorgate 
station which already serves stations to the north of London. The increase in 
passengers and pedestrians in this area facilitated by the Elizabeth Line brings 
challenges and opportunities: challenges in terms of additional people on 
already heavily used streets; opportunities in terms of increased accessibility for 
businesses and greater demand for the growing retail and leisure sector.  

17.10.3. The area is a gateway to ‘Tech City’ focussed on Old Street, Shoreditch and 
Spitalfields, and there are further opportunities to develop tech-related activity in 
the City and its fringes. Facilitating office space suitable for such businesses 
affordable, collaborative, and available for short periods will enhance the local 
office eco-system and strengthen the City’s reputation as a centre for incubators, 
start-ups and the tech and Fintech sectors.  

Strategic Policy S265: Liverpool Street  

The City Corporation will enhance the Moorgate-Liverpool Street area to take 
advantage of the opportunities presented by good public transport accessibility, the 
opening of the Elizabeth Line, and restoration of Finsbury Circus and the 
redevelopment and refurbishment of Broadgate by:  

 
1. accommodating the increased footfall by maintaining and enhancing walking 

routes within, to and from the area, including routes to the City Cluster, and 
improving wayfinding; 
 

2. providing active frontages and clear at the ground floor level to animate and 
add vibrancy to the area; 
 

3. and clear providing a welcoming visitor experience with improved 
wayfinding and signposting that reflects the area’s position as a key gateway 
to the Culture Mile the City; 

Page 313



 

256 

 

 
4. encouraging the development of flexible and collaborative office space to meet 

the needs of future offices occupiers and potential start-ups, allowing for 
business growth in a variety of sectors and the development of the tech 
and fintech eco-system; 
 

5. supporting encouraging development that provides opportunities for 
collaborative working facilitating linkages between businesses in this area, 
Tech City, the creative sector and educational institutions to create an 
attractive and vibrant business eco-system 
 

6. supporting additional retail development provision in the Moorgate/Liverpool 
Street Principal Shopping Centre and encouraging the extension of retail and 
leisure activities into the evenings and weekends, supporting and enhancing 
the night-time economy, diversifying the retail and leisure offer and 
creating a shopping and leisure destination to draw a diverse range of 
audiences while managing the potential impacts associated with the 
night-time economy; 
 

7. enhancing the public realm and walking routes to Petticoat Lane Market, 
working in partnership with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, and the 
links to Whitecross Street and Spitalfields markets;  
 

8. delivering a high-quality public realm with additional publicly accessible open 
space and increased greenery alongside to deliver biodiversity 
improvements;  
 

9. Improving pedestrian routes in and around the bus station and 
enhancing the user experience through provision of seating, legible 
wayfinding and ease of access;  
 

10. Improving the overall user experience and supporting improvements to the 
accessibility and capacity of Liverpool Street Station, including enhancing step 
free access and improving entry points; and  
 

11. improving the safety and capacity of pedestrian routes around Moorgate and 
Liverpool Street Elizabeth Line stations, and between the stations and key 
destinations, including the Barbican, Tech City and the City Cluster. 

 

Reason for the policy 

17.10.4. The Liverpool Street area is a dynamic part of the City of London, and 
home to one of London’s busiest transport hubs and increasingly a 
destination for leisure as well as work. The Liverpool Street area is 
undergoing significant transformation through. This has happened through the 
recent arrival of the Elizabeth Line and significant intensification in the City 
Cluster to the south; the large-scale redevelopment and refurbishment of 

Page 314



 

257 

 

Broadgate and associated public realm improvements; and the 
development of several new offices, provision of more and retail and leisure 
facilities in the Liverpool Street area and in the nearby City Cluster that are 
either under construction or planned floorspace.  improvements in 
surrounding streets, the opening of the Elizabeth Line. These changes are 
bringing greater footfall, greater vibrancy and activity seven days a week, 
enhancing the desirability of the area as a business, retail and leisure 
destination. The Moorgate/Liverpool Street Principal Shopping Centre has 
potential to accommodate significant growth of retail provision during the Plan 
period. Broadgate is currently developing a more outward looking character and 
this is expected to continue, alongside further improvements to permeability. 

17.10.5. Where suitable funding is available, the City Corporation will support such 
change through delivery of world class public realm and improvement to streets 
and pedestrian routes, including additional pedestrian priority and new 
pedestrian routes to maximise permeability, where appropriate. The Transport 
Strategy indicates that the area around Moorgate and Liverpool Street stations 
will be prioritised for improvements, together with the routes between these 
stations and key destinations such as Culture Mile and the City Cluster. Where 
feasible, additional urban greening and the creation of green urban spaces will 
be encouraged.  

17.10.6. The City Corporation will work with relevant partners such as including TfL, 
Network Rail, and train operators and landowners to promote improvements to 
the accessibility of and facilities of provided in Liverpool Street Station and the 
surrounding area. This may include enhancing step free access, improving 
entry points and reviewing bus interchange, together with any potential future 
improvements to operational capacity at the station.  

17.10.7. Alongside these changes, encouragement will be given to the provision of 
space suitable for incubators, start-ups, technology-based companies and 
creative industries, including the provision of flexible accommodation suitable for 
these sectors and growing businesses. This will reinforce established links 
between the area and the Old Street/Shoreditch/Spitalfields Tech City area, and 
will exploit the opportunities presented by Culture Mile to enhance the creative 
ecology of this part of the City. Collaboration will be encouraged between 
creative industries in Culture Mile and emerging tech industries. 

Page 315



 

258 

 

 

 Implementation 

18.1. Planning Contributions 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

18.1.1. The 2008 Planning Act and Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) set out the legislative and regulatory basis for the CIL. They 
provide for the setting and collection of a statutory charge levied on 
development, intended to address the infrastructure needs arising out of the 
implementation of the Local City Plan. CIL is the primary mechanism for seeking 
contributions from developers towards the provision of new infrastructure. 
Infrastructure is defined broadly in the Act to include transport, flood defences, 
schools and other educational facilities, medical facilities, sporting and 
recreational facilities and open spaces.  

Planning Obligations 

18.1.2. CIL Regulations indicate that planning obligations may only constitute a 
reason for granting permission if the planning obligation is:  

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to the development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

18.1.3. Planning obligations are legal agreements linked to planning permissions that 
regulate the way a development is undertaken, and they are used where it is not 
possible to regulate the permission by means of a condition. They may be in the 
form of in-kind benefits or a financial contribution and may be used to prescribe 
the nature of a development, compensate for loss or damage created by a 
development, or mitigate the impacts associated with the development. The 
level of any obligation is subject to consideration of its impact on the viability of 
the development proposed. 

Strategic Policy S27: Planning Contributions 

The City Corporation will seek appropriate contributions from developers to manage 
and mitigate the impact of development:  

1. Requiring contributions through the Community Infrastructure Levy to: 
 

• assist in the delivery of the infrastructure necessary to support 
implementation of the Local City Plan and the City’s Transport Strategy; 
and 

Page 316



 

259 

 

• contribute towards the costs of Crossrail, or other strategic infrastructure, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Mayor of London Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2. 
 

2. Requiring s106 planning obligations, having regard to the impact of the obligation 
on the viability of development, for:  

• site specific mitigation meeting statutory tests; 

• affordable housing;  

• training, skills and job brokerage; 

• carbon offsetting; 

• cultural provision; 

• Highways and public realm enhancements including commuted sums 
for maintenance; 

• local procurement in the City and neighbouring boroughs; and 

• measures to enhance area-wide security, where appropriate.  
 

3. Use of the Vacant Building Credit is not considered to be appropriate in the City 
of London. 

 

Reason for the policy 

18.1.4. The compact nature of the City and the intensification of development and 
employment place demands on the City’s services, infrastructure and 
environment.  The City Corporation utilises the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) to help local infrastructure keep pace with the demands of development 
and attaches planning conditions and negotiates planning obligations (also 
known as S106 agreements) with developers, to ensure proposals are 
acceptable.   

How the policy works 

18.1.5. The City Corporation has adopted a CIL Charging Schedule and will prepare 
an publishes an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement setting out the types 
of infrastructure or infrastructure projects that may be funded in part or in whole 
by CIL.  

18.1.6. In line with legislative and regulatory requirements, and the provisions of the 
City Corporation’s CIL, planning obligations in the City will be sought for site 
specific mitigation, including contributions towards area-wide security measures 
in the City Cluster, in line with the policies set out in this Plan. Planning 
obligations will also be negotiated to deliver affordable housing, the provision of 
training and skills programmes, and carbon offsetting and, where appropriate, 
contributions towards cultural provision. Specific requirements are set out in 

Page 317



 

260 

 

other policies within this Plan, particularly Policies S1, S3, VT1 and DE1. 
Planning obligations in the City are sought principally from commercial 
development, but other forms of development will also be expected to make 
contributions, where appropriate. Affordable housing will be required on-site on 
qualifying residential developments, but exceptionally financial contributions will 
be sought. Financial contributions towards affordable housing will be sought 
from commercial development. 

18.1.7. Where required, the City Corporation will seek, via s106 planning obligations, 
Section 278 Agreements with developers to ensure that highway works 
necessary to make a development acceptable are funded by the developer and 
implemented by the highway authority.  

18.1.8. Further detail on planning obligations is set out in the Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document and in the s106 Standard Template which is 
published on the City Corporation’s website.  

18.1.9. The Vacant Building Credit is set out in national planning policy and is 
intended to provide an incentive to bring forward brownfield sites for 
development. The high cost of land in the City of London, together with high 
levels of demand for commercial and residential development, mean that 
additional incentives are not required to encourage brownfield sites to come 
forward for development. The use of Vacant Building Credit is therefore not 
considered to be appropriate within the City of London. 

Crossrail 

18.1.10. The Mayor of London Community Infrastructure Levy 2 (CIL2) was 
implemented from 1 April 2019. It requires development across London to make 
a contribution towards the funding of Crossrail 1 and Crossrail 2. The Mayor’s 
CIL2 sets a charging rate for all development in London, with a higher charging 
rate for office, retail and hotel development in Central London, including in the 
City of London. The Mayor’s CIL2 is payable in addition to the City of London 
CIL. 

Policy PC1: Viability Assessments 

1. Development proposals must take full account of the policy requirements set out 
in this Plan and the London Plan, including financial and other requirements 
under the Mayoral and City of London Community Infrastructure Levy and s106 
planning obligations.  

2. Exceptionally, even where policy requirements have been taken into account, 
applicants may consider that these requirements cannot be delivered in full 
without adversely affecting the overall viability of a development. In these 
circumstances, proposals must be supported by a scheme specific viability 
assessment.   

3. The viability assessment must be prepared in accordance with the standard 
methodology set out in national planning practice guidance. The price paid for a 

Page 318



 

261 

 

site and/or building will not be a relevant justification for not meeting 
Development Plan requirements. 

4. Viability assessments will be made available on the Planning Register reflecting 
the expectation that these should be publicly available. If the applicant considers 
that the assessment in part or whole should be redacted for reasons of 
confidentiality, there will be an opportunity for the applicant to make the case. If 
an assessment is redacted, an executive summary will be made public. 

5. The City Corporation will seek independent verification of submitted viability 
assessments, with the cost of verification being met by the applicant.  

6. Where it is agreed that a development cannot viably deliver all required planning 
obligations at the date of permission, but that there are nevertheless other policy 
considerations which justify the approval of planning permission, the City 
Corporation will normally require a review of the viability information at a later 
stage of the development, or upon occupation.   

 

Reason for the policy 

18.1.11. Delivery of the Local City Plan and the London Plan requires developers to 
make contributions towards infrastructure and affordable housing provision 
through the CIL and s106 planning obligations. Developers must take into 
account the full cost of meeting development plan requirements when 
purchasing sites or buildings and in the design of schemes. A whole plan 
viability assessment has been undertaken in the preparation of this Plan 
demonstrating that as at March 2020 implementation of the policies should not 
adversely impact on the viability of development in the City of London. 
Exceptionally, there may be circumstances where a developer considers that 
meeting development plan requirements in full cannot be delivered without 
adversely impacting on the viability of a development. In such circumstances, 
the City Corporation will require a site-specific viability assessment to be 
submitted in support of the proposed lower level of contributions. 

How the policy works 

18.1.12. Where viability assessments are submitted in support of planning 
applications, these must be prepared in accordance with the Government’s 
recommended approach to viability assessments set out in national Planning 
Practice Guidance. In particular, assessments must demonstrate that the values 
assumed for sites and/or buildings fully reflect the planning policy requirements 
set out in the Local City Plan and the London Plan. The actual price paid for 
land will not be a relevant justification for failing to meet the policies in the 
development plan. 

18.1.13. The City Corporation will review viability assessments against the 
requirements in the Local City Plan and London Plan and, where necessary, will 
seek independent verification of submitted assessments from suitably qualified 

Page 319



 

262 

 

consultants who have experience of the development market in central London. 
Verification of viability assessments will consider whether appropriate costs, 
values and risk rates have been utilised which reflect the ambitions of this Plan. 
The City Corporation will expect the applicant to meet the full cost of this 
independent verification. 

18.1.14. The City Corporation will make all viability assessments submitted, together 
with any verification reports, available publicly via the Planning Register on the 
City Corporation’s website. If a developer considers that the viability assessment 
should remain confidential in whole or in part, they should provide justification to 
the City Corporation outlining the potential harm that could occur from making 
the relevant information public. The City Corporation will consider whether the 
public interest in maintaining confidentiality outweighs the public interest in 
making the viability assessment public. Where the City Corporation considers 
that an assessment should remain confidential in whole, or in part, it will keep 
the justification under review, including taking account of whether information 
should remain confidential with the passage of time from initial submission. 

18.1.15. Where the City Corporation agrees that a development cannot meet the full 
policy requirements for CIL and s106 planning obligations at the date of 
commencement, but that there are other policy considerations which would 
nevertheless justify approval of the scheme despite this non-compliance, the 
Corporation will normally require that a review mechanism be included within 
any s106 planning obligation, with a review of the viability information required at 
a later stage in the development, or upon occupation. In determining the 
appropriate mechanism, the City Corporation will have regard to national 
Planning Practice Guidance, the London Plan and the Mayor of London’s 
Affordable Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance. Where a 
development is proposed to be undertaken in phases, the City Corporation will 
normally require a review of the viability prior to the commencement of each 
phase of the development. 

18.1.16. Policy S3 Housing requires the use of upwards only review mechanisms in 
circumstances where the affordable housing targets in that policy are not met.  
 

  

Page 320



 

263 

 

18.2. Monitoring 

18.2.1. The Local City Plan was prepared in the context of the most up to date 
information available. A range of projections and potential future scenarios were 
considered for each policy area. However, circumstances may change and 
monitoring of Local City Plan policies is essential to determine the extent to 
which the policies are delivering the Local City Plan vision, strategic objectives 
and spatial strategy.  

18.2.2. The City Corporation will prepare and publish at least annually a range of 
Local City Plan monitoring reports, which measure and evaluate progress 
towards meeting the Plan objectives across a range of policy areas. Policies 
monitored will include offices; housing; hotels; tall buildings; protected views; 
sustainability; waste; open spaces and green infrastructure. The City 
Corporation will also periodically (annually) review progress against the 
programme of infrastructure delivery set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

18.2.3. The City Corporation is required to review the Local City Plan at least every 
five years from the date of adoption to determine whether it needs to be 
updated. Data and trends identified in the Local City Plan monitoring reports 
may indicate the need for an earlier partial or full review of the adopted Plan. 
The emergence of new trends resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic and its 
aftermath will be regularly monitored for their policy implications. 

18.2.4. As mentioned in the introduction to this Plan, the Government is pursuing a 
planning reform agenda which includes proposals to radically change the format 
and content of local plans. These reforms, if enacted, will be a key factor in 
determining the timing and scope of the next review of the City of London’s 
Local City Plan. 

  

Page 321



 

264 

 

Appendices and Glossary 

  

Page 322



 

265 

 

Error! Bookmark not defined. 

  

Page 323



 

266 

 

Appendix 2 – Historic England Advice 
Note 7 Selection Criteria  
This table is taken from Historic England Advice Note 7: Local Heritage Listing, and 
sets out commonly applied selection criteria for assessing the suitability of heritage 
assets for local heritage listing. 

 

Table 2: Commonly applied selection criteria for assessing the suitability of assets for inclusion in a local heritage list 
(source: Historic England) 
 
 

Page 324



 

267 

 

Glossary 
Explanation of terms used in the City of London Local City Plan. 

* Terms explained elsewhere in the glossary are marked with an asterisk. 

Accelerator office space 

An office location which provides mentorship, advice, and resources to help start-ups 
succeed and grow rapidly, normally let on a short-term basis. 

Active frontage 

A ground frontage providing active visual engagement at street level to 
improve vitality and safety to the public realm. 

Fronts of buildings that facilitate visual and physical permeability.  

Active frontage use 

A definition used in this plan for those uses that fall within use classes E(a)-(e), 
where they have an active frontage. These use classes include shops, cafes 
and restaurants, and services for use by the general public such as 
hairdressers, banks and building societies, shoe repair and dry cleaning, 
gyms, and health centres. Pubs and other community and cultural uses may 
also be active frontage uses, where they are frequented by members of the 
public. 

 

Affordable housing 

Affordable housing is defined primarily by affordability and not by tenure. It comprises 
‘social rented housing’, ‘affordable rented housing’ and ‘intermediate housing’, 
provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Social 
rented housing is at rents no greater than target rents set by government for local 
authority, Registered Social Landlords* (RSL) and cooperative tenants.  Affordable 
rented housing has the same characteristics as social housing but is offered at up to 
80% of local market rentals (including service charges, where applicable). 
Intermediate housing is housing for sale and rent where costs are above target rents 
for social rented housing but are at least 20% below local market levels and are 
affordable by households on moderate incomes. Intermediate housing can include 
shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), starter homes, discounted market 
sales housing and other sub-market rented and key worker provision. 

Affordable workspace  

Workspace that is provided at rents maintained below the market rate for that space 
for a special social, cultural, or economic development purpose. 

Page 325



 

268 

 

Agent of Change 

The principle that the person or organisation responsible for change is responsible for 
managing the impact of that change. This includes impacts from noise, vibration and 
lighting. For example, a new residential development near an existing cultural use 
would be responsible for ensuring that residents are not disturbed by the activities of 
the cultural use. Similarly, a new cultural use near an existing residential 
development would need to ensure that existing residents are not disturbed. 

Air Quality Impact Assessment 

An assessment of the impact of a development on the levels of certain pollutants in 
the local area, which could include: a description of baseline conditions and how 
these could change; relevant air quality concerns; the assessment methods to be 
adopted and any requirements around verification of modelling air quality; sensitive 
locations; the basis for assessing impact and determining the significance of an 
impact; construction phase impact; and/or acceptable mitigation measures. 

Air Quality Neutral 

Assessment of air quality against benchmarks set by the Mayor of London through 
his Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2014. Developments that do not 
exceed these benchmarks will be considered to avoid any increase in NOx and PM 
emissions across London as a whole and therefore be ‘air quality neutral’.  

Apart-hotel 

Accommodation for short or medium-term stays that generally provide more 
amenities for daily use (such as a small kitchenette) than standard hotel 
accommodation. They have a reception area where customers can access services 
without pre-booking and are available on a nightly basis without a deposit being 
required against damages. 

Assets of Community Value (ACV) 

A building or other land is an asset of community value if its main use has recently 
been or is presently used to further the social wellbeing or social interests of the local 
community and could do so in the future. ACVs must be approved by the local 
authority.  

Biodiverse green roofs  

A biodiverse green roof should include a varied substrate depth, planted and or 
seeded with a wide range of wildflowers (sedums can be added). A biodiverse green 
roof should have a sufficient depth of between 80 - 150mm. 

Biodiversity  

The variety of plants and animals and other living things in a particular area or region. 
It encompasses habitat diversity, species diversity and genetic diversity. Biodiversity 
has value in its own right and has social and economic value for human society.  

Page 326



 

269 

 

Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 

The Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) provides a framework to ensure all legislative 
requirements relating to the management of green spaces are taken into 
consideration at all times and both identifies and prioritises actions for biodiversity at 
a local level. 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

Biodiversity net gain is a statutory requirement which applies to new 
development. It is a way of making sure the habitat for wildlife on a site is in a 
better state after the development than it was before development. 

BREEAM assessment   

The Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) is a sustainability assessment method that sets standards for the 
environmental performance of buildings through the design, specification, 
construction and operation phases and can be applied to new developments or 
refurbishment schemes. It focuses on sustainable value across range of categories: 
energy; land use and ecology; water; health and wellbeing; pollution; transport; 
materials; waste; management. 

Build to Rent 

Homes built specifically for private renting rather than for sale which meet criteria set 
out in Policy H11 Build to Rent in the Publication London Plan, December 2020 2021.  

Business Eco-System 

A network of organisations, including suppliers, distributors, customers, competitors 
and government agencies, involved in the delivery of a specific product or service. 

Business Improvement District  

A defined area in which a levy is charged on all business rate payers in addition to 
the business rates to develop projects that will benefit businesses in the local area. 

Cash in lieu / commuted sums 

Payments of money received from developers instead of the provision of affordable 
residential units on the development site in the City of London. The money is 
pooled and used by the City Corporation when opportunities to develop affordable 
housing arise. 

CAZ - Central Activities Zone 

The area defined in the London Plan* where planning policy promotes financial and 
business services, specialist retailing, tourist and cultural uses and activities.  The 
City is wholly within the CAZ.  

Page 327



 

270 

 

Changing Places toilets 

These meet the needs of people with profound and multiple learning disabilities, as 
well as people with other physical disabilities such as spinal injuries, muscular 
dystrophy and multiple sclerosis. These toilets provide the right equipment including 
a height adjustable adult-sized changing table, a tracking hoist system, adequate 
space for a disabled person and carer, a peninsular WC with room either side and a 
safe and clean environment including tear off paper to cover the bench, a large waste 
bin and a non-slip floor. 

Circular economy 

An economy which keeps resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the 
maximum value from them whilst in use, then recovering and regenerating products 
and materials at the end of each service life. 

 

City Flood Risk Area 

Area of the City which is susceptible to flooding from the river Thames, surface water 
or the sewer network. 

CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy 

A statutory charge on new development used to contribute towards the funding of 
infrastructure provision. The City Corporation has prepared a CIL charging schedule 
that was implemented in July 2014. 

Local City Plan 

Document setting out the statutory local plan, including the strategy, vision and 
policies and proposals for planning the City.  

Comparison goods 

Comparison goods are those bought relatively infrequently, so consumers usually 
compare prices, features and quality before making a purchase. They may include 
items such as clothes, electrical items, household and leisure goods. 

CAAC - Conservation Area Advisory Committee 

A consultative group set up to advise on planning applications and other proposals in 
the City’s conservation areas. 

Construction Logistics Plan  

A travel plan that aims to improve the sustainability of construction freight movements 
by establishing site management and procurement processes to reduce the impact of 
construction traffic on the street network.  

Page 328



 

271 

 

Creative enterprises / Creative industries 

Defined by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport* as those industries 
which have their origin in individual creativity, skill and talent and which have a 
potential for wealth and job creation through the generation and exploitation of 
intellectual property. They include architecture; advertising & marketing; crafts, 
product, graphic & fashion design; film, TV, radio and photography; IT, software & 
computer services; museums, galleries & libraries; music, performing & visual arts, 
and publishing.  

Culturally significant object 

Objects which people identify and value and which reflect their evolving knowledge, 
culture, beliefs and traditions. 

Cultural Culture and Vibrancy Plan 

A Cultural Culture and Vibrancy Plan is a flexible framework to support the 
successful incorporation of relevant, enriching and inclusive cultural, leisure and 
recreation components within a major development through a step by step process. 
It is prepared through the development process and the final detail, delivery and 
ongoing management secured through conditions and/or legal agreement. 
Decentralised energy 

Energy that is generated close to the place where it is used, so that transmission of 
electricity, heat and other energy carriers are minimised. 

Deconstruction 

The act of breaking down a building into components or dismantling - this allows for 
recycling of the resulting materials. Different to demolition which involves wrecking, 
destroying or tearing down completely. 

DSP - Delivery and Servicing Plan  

A plan that shows how a development will proactively manage delivery and servicing 
arrangements. 

DCMS - Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 

The government department of state whose responsibilities include recreation, the 
arts and historic buildings. 

DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities MHCLG - 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

The government department of state whose responsibilities include town 
planning. 

Design and Access Statement 

Page 329



 

272 

 

A statement that accompanies a planning application to explain the design principles 
and concepts that have informed the development and how access issues have been 
dealt with. 

Design Council / CABE 

Advisor to central and local government on good design. It includes the 
Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE). 

Development Management 

The process by which the City Corporation (and, where appropriate, the Mayor of 
London and Secretary of State) determine applications for planning permission and 
related consents. Applications are decided in accordance with the development plan* 
unless material considerations (including the NPPF*) indicate otherwise. 

 

Development Plan 

The statutory documents that together set out the planning policies for an area. In the 
City the development plan comprises the Mayor’s London Plan* together with the 
City’s Local City Plan*. 

DPD - Development Plan Document 

Statutory planning policy document whose preparation process includes public 
examination.  There is one adopted DPD in the City: the Local Plan DPD*. 

Embodied carbon 

The total life cycle carbon used in the collection, manufacture, transportation, 
assembly, recycling and disposal of a given material or product. 

Freight consolidation  

Combining goods shipments into fewer deliveries to reduce the number of freight 
vehicles required to service a building. This can be achieved through the physical 
consolidation of goods at an off-site location and/or through methods such as 
preferred supplier schemes and common procurement strategies. 

GLA - Greater London Authority 

The GLA comprises the Mayor of London* (who has an executive role and makes 
decisions on behalf of the GLA) and a separately elected Assembly (a body of 25 
elected Members which has a scrutiny role and is responsible for appointing GLA 
staff). 

Green corridors 

Page 330



 

273 

 

Almost continuous areas of open space which are linked. They can act as wildlife 
corridors and serve amenity, landscape and access routes. 

Green infrastructure 

A strategically planned, designed and managed network of green spaces and other 
features vital to the sustainability of any urban area. This includes (although not 
exclusively) trees, green roofs and walls, green corridors*, and blue infrastructure 
such as water spaces and natural drainage features. 

HRA - Habitats Regulations Assessment 

The purpose of the Habitats Regulations Assessment is to identify any aspects of an 
emerging Local Plan that would have the potential to cause a likely significant effect 
on Natura 2000 or European sites (Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar sites), (either in isolation or in combination with 
other plans and projects), and to identify appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
strategies where such effects are identified. 

There is a legal requirement for all Local Plans to be subject to a HRA, set out within 
Article 6 of the EC Habitats Directive 1992, and interpreted into British law by the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. 

HIA - Health Impact Assessment 

A means of assessing the health impacts of policies, plans and projects using 
quantitative, qualitative and participatory techniques. The HIA of the City Local Plan 
is incorporated into the Integrated Impact Assessment*. 

Heritage asset 

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions because of its heritage 
interest. Designated heritage assets include World Heritage Sites*, Scheduled 
Monuments, Listed Buildings*, Registered Parks and Gardens, Registered 
Battlefields and Conservation Areas that are ‘designated’ under the relevant 
legislation. Non-designated heritage assets are those which have a heritage interest 
but have not been formally designated. 

Historic England 

The body responsible for advising the government, local authorities and others on 
historic buildings and archaeology. It was previously called English Heritage. 

Hostile vehicle mitigation 

Structural measures that prevent access to, or close proximity of, unscreened 
vehicles to a building or space, or measures that reduce the speed of vehicles 
approaching a site or its defences. 

Housing trajectory 

Page 331



 

274 

 

A projection of the number of new homes expected to be added to the City’s housing 
stock over a given time period. 

Inclusive design 

Consideration at the design stage to ensure that development makes provision for 
everyone regardless of disability, age, gender, ethnicity, faith or economic 
circumstance and addresses the needs of those with mobility difficulties, poor vision 
and other physical disabilities. Inclusive design results in an environment which 
everyone can use, to access and benefit from the full range of opportunities 
available; confidently, independently, with choice and dignity, which avoids 
separation or segregation and is made up of places and spaces that 
acknowledge diversity and difference, meeting the needs of everyone in 
society. 

Incubator office space 

Dedicated office space aimed at start-ups and normally let for a set period of time. 

Infrastructure 

Term used to describe the facilities and services necessary for people to live their 
everyday lives. Infrastructure can take many forms; it can be defined in physical, 
green and social terms, and can range from strategic provision, such as a new public 
transport facility or school, to the creation of a local play space. 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 

Proposed statutory statement reporting on the level of developer contributions 
received through the Community Infrastructure Levy* and s106 planning obligations 
and setting out spending priorities for the next 5 years. 

IIA - Integrated Impact Assessment 

An assessment process which considers the impacts of policies and proposals within 
statutory plans against environmental, equality, health, and community safety 
objectives. The City Plan 2036 2040 IIA comprises three areas of assessment: a 
Sustainability Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment - required by EU 
Directive to assess the social, economic and environmental impacts of new policies, 
It is supported by: 

• an Equality Analysis - related to the City Corporation’s duties under the 
Equalities Act 2010 and the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and assessing the 
impact of new policies on people of different ethnicities; 

• a Health Impact Assessment*. 

The IIA seeks to assess the impact of the draft City Plan 2036 2040 and its 
alternatives and identify any potential unintended consequences of its 
implementation.  

Page 332



 

275 

 

Listed building 

A building or structure protected because of its historic or architectural interest. The 
list of such buildings is drawn up by Historic England* and the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport*. 

LDD - Local Development Document 

Documents containing policies and guidance, comprising Development Plan 
Documents*, Supplementary Planning Documents* and the Statement of Community 
Involvement*. 

LDS - Local Development Scheme 

Timetable and project plan for producing the Local City Plan*. It is regularly updated. 

  

Page 333



 

276 

 

LIP - Local Implementation Plan 

Statutory transport plan produced by London Boroughs and the City Corporation 
bringing together transport proposals to implement the Mayor’s Transport Strategy at 
the local level. 

London Plan (Spatial Development Strategy) 

Prepared by the Mayor of London*, it provides a London-wide planning strategy and 
the City’s Local Plan* must generally conform to it. 

SPG - Supplementary London Planning Guidance 

Guidance prepared by the Mayor of London* to explain policies of the London 
Plan*. 

LVMF - London View Management Framework 

Guidance by the Mayor of London* on the protection of important views, including 
those of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London. 

Major development 

For a full definition see Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Generally, major developments 
are:   

• Residential development of 10 or more dwellings or on a site of 0.5 hectares 
or more. 

• and all other development of Development of other uses, where the 
floorspace to be created by the development is 1,000 square metres gross 
or more floorspace, or on a site of the site areas is 1 hectare or more. 

Mayor of London 

The Mayor is the executive head of the Greater London Authority* and is also 
responsible for a number of related organisations, including Transport for London*, 
Homes for London Board and the Metropolitan Police Authority. The Mayor prepares 
London-wide strategies, including those for planning (the London Plan*), transport, 
waste, energy, economic development, housing and air quality.  He has powers to 
direct decisions on large planning applications. 

Meanwhile use 

A use which is to last for a limited time, or one which is limited in its operation for a 
particular period of time. Meanwhile is defined as at or during the same time, while 
something else is being done. 

  

Page 334



 

277 

 

Municipal waste 

Waste collected by a local authority, including domestic waste and street cleansing 
waste. It also includes commercial waste collected by the authority, although waste 
producers may also have this privately collected. 

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 

The government’s statement of planning guidance to local planning authorities, 
issued by the Department of Communities and Local Government for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities*. The latest version was published in February 2019. 
The City Corporation must take account of it in preparing and implementing its 
planning policies. 

Noise Assessment 

A technical assessment which identifies whether the overall effect of the noise 
exposure of a building (including the impact during the construction phase wherever 
applicable) is, or would be, above or below the significant observed adverse effect 
level and the lowest observed adverse effect level for the given situation:  

Significant observed adverse effect level: the level of noise exposure above which 
significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur. 

Lowest observed adverse effect level: the level of noise exposure above which 
adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected. 

Offsetting measures 

The measures permitted for dealing with residual emissions remaining after taking 
account of energy efficiency and decentralised and low carbon energy sources e.g. 
retrofitting works undertaken by a developer to improve the energy efficiency of 
existing buildings in the vicinity of the development; export of low carbon heat from 
the development to other developments; or investment in low carbon community heat 
infrastructure. 

Open space 

Land which is not built on and which has some amenity value or potential for amenity 
value.  Amenity value is derived from the visual, recreational or other enjoyment 
which the open space can provide, such as historic and cultural interest and value. 
This includes open spaces in public or private ownership. 

Permitted development rights  

A national grant of planning permission which allows certain building works and 
change of use to be carried out without having to secure planning permission. 

  

Page 335



 

278 

 

Pipe subway 

Tunnels, mainly under streets, that accommodate utilities such as gas and water 
pipes and electricity and telecommunications cables, providing a more efficient 
alternative to burying these in the ground. 

Planning obligations / s106 agreements 

Legal agreements negotiated between the City Corporation and developers (or 
offered unilaterally by developers) setting out financial and non-financial undertakings 
to mitigate the direct impact of development. Also known as section 106 Agreements, 
or s106 planning obligations.  From July 2014 some financial planning obligations in 
the City have been replaced by the Community Infrastructure Levy*. 

PPG - Planning Practice Guidance 

An online resource which brings together national guidance on various topics in one 
place and explains the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)* in 
more detail. 

Policies Map 

A map accompanying the Local City Plan* showing where its policies apply to 
specific locations. 

PSC - Principal Shopping Centre 

Significant clusters of retail activity within the City of London, which are the local 
expression of the London Plan’s CAZ Retail Clusters. There are 4 PSCs within the 
City of London: Cheapside, Moorgate/Liverpool Street, Leadenhall Market and Fleet 
Street. 

Public Examination 

The Local City Plan* will be subject to public examination before an independent 
planning inspector. The inspector assesses the “soundness” of the Local City Plan. 

Public realm 

Publicly accessible space between and around buildings, including streets, squares, 
forecourts, parks and open spaces. 

Registered Provider 

Not for profit providers of affordable* and other social housing, including housing 
associations and regulated by Government. 

Renewal Opportunity Sites 

Principal opportunities for accommodating large scale development, which may 
include refurbishment or redevelopment of existing buildings. 

Page 336



 

279 

 

Residential amenity 

The elements of a location or neighbourhood that contribute to its overall character 
and the enjoyment of residents. 

Retail Impact Assessment 

An assessment undertaken for an application for retail use on the impact of the 
proposal on the vitality and viability of existing centres within the catchment area of 
the proposed development. The assessment includes the likely cumulative effect of 
recent permissions, developments under construction and completed developments. 

Safeguarded wharves 

Sites that have been safeguarded for cargo handling uses such as intraport or 
transhipment movements and freight-related purposes. A list of those sites that are 
currently protected and those proposed for protection is available in ‘Safeguarded 
Wharves on the River Thames’, GLA, 2005. On 19 February 2021, the Secretary of 
State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities issued Directions for 
safeguarded wharves in London, requiring all planning applications for 
safeguarded wharves to be referred to the Mayor of London. There is one 
safeguarded wharf in the City of London at Walbrook Wharf. 

Safer City Partnership 

A partnership, comprising representatives from a range of City interests, whose aim 
is to reduce the level of crime, disorder, antisocial behaviour, terrorism and 
substance misuse in the City. 

Secured by Design 

A crime prevention initiative, to encourage those involved in the development industry 
to adopt crime prevention measures to assist in reducing the opportunity for crime 
and the fear of crime, creating a safer and more secure environment. 

Short term residential letting 

Letting of residential property on a non-permanent basis. Under the Deregulation Act 
2015, short term residential letting of domestic premises which are liable for council 
tax for less than 90 days in a calendar year does not require planning permission. 
Letting for periods of more than 90 days will require permission. 

SINCs - Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

London's most valuable places for wildlife that provide local people with access to 
nature have been identified as Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). 
The sites are graded as being of Metropolitan, Borough or Local importance. 

  

Page 337



 

280 

 

Smart infrastructure 

Infrastructure which includes sensors that produce, analyse and help to securely 
share data on the performance of the built and natural environment. 

Social and community facilities 

Social and community facilities are defined by the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 and its subsequent amendments, including the Town and 
Country Planning (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020. The majority of social 
and community facilities fall within Class E (Commercial, business and services), 
Class F.1 (Learning and non-residential institutions) and Class F.2 (Local community 
uses) use classes. Community facilities include:  

• Leisure and cultural facilities (including arts, entertainment and sport facilities)  

• Community centres and meeting places (including places of worship)  

• Libraries  

• Facilities for children (from nursery provision to youth clubs)  

• Education (including adult education)  

• Healthcare facilities  

SCI - Statement of Community Involvement 

A plan for public consultation on planning policy documents and planning 
applications. The City Corporation’s SCI was adopted in 2016 2022. 

Strategic Cultural Areas  

Areas identified in the London Plan* with internationally important cultural institutions, 
which are also major tourist attractions, and include the West End, South 
Bank/Bankside/London Bridge, Barbican, Wembley, the South Kensington museum 
complex/Royal Albert Hall, London’s Arcadia, Olympic Park and Lee Valley Regional 
Park. 

Strategic developments (applications referable to the Mayor)  

The planning applications that must be referred to the Mayor of London* under the 
Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008 and any amendments 
hereto. 

SEA - Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The environmental assessment of plans, required by EU Directive 2001/42/EC. It is 
carried out as part of the sustainability appraisal*. 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

A document prepared by the Local Planning Authority to provide information on areas 
that may flood and on all sources of flooding as required by the NPPF*. 

  

Page 338



 

281 

 

SHLAA - Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  

A technical assessment to determine the quantity and suitability of land potentially 
available for housing development. It is a required part of the evidence base needed 
for the preparation of a Local Plan (as specified in the National Planning Policy 
Framework*, paragraph 67). 

In London, the Mayor of London* carries out a London-wide SHLAA to inform the 
London Plan* as it determines housing targets for each borough and the City of 
London. The City of London Local City Plan relies on the land availability evidence 
provided by the London-wide SHLAA. 

SHMA - Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

An assessment of future housing requirements in an area. The assessment informs 
the development of local and strategic plan strategies and housing targets and 
identifies the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that the local 
population is likely to need over the plan period including addressing the need for all 
types of housing, including affordable housing and the needs of different groups in 
the community (such as, but not limited to, families with children, older people, 
people with disabilities disabled people, service families and people wishing to build 
their own homes).  

Street hierarchy 

Categorisation of streets in the City of London Transport Strategy* which describes 
the function of every street in terms of motor traffic: 

• London Access Streets (TfL network):  Preferred streets for motor vehicles 
that do not have a destination in, or immediately adjacent to, the Square Mile. 

• City Access Streets:  Preferred streets for motor vehicles that are travelling 
around the Square Mile or to immediately adjacent destinations.  

• Local Access Streets:  Primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, 
providing access for vehicles to properties. 

SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 

A document that explains the policies of the Local City Plan* in detail.  It is subject to 
consultation, but not public examination*. 

SA - Sustainability Appraisal 

The Local City Plan* is subject to SA, which ensures that it is soundly based on the 
principles of sustainable development.  SA is carried out as the policies are 
developed or reviewed so that they can take account of its findings. The SA of the 
City Plan 2036 2040 has been combined with other assessment processes in an 
Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)*. 

  

Page 339



 

282 

 

SuDS - Sustainable Drainage Solutions 

A range of sustainable measures for surface water management which reduce the 
amount, flow or rate of surface water discharge into sewers. 

Traffic and Environmental Zone 

A security and surveillance cordon that surrounds the City of London. It consists of 
road barriers, checkpoints and closed-circuit television cameras with the aim of 
slowing, managing and monitoring vehicular movements entering the City. 

Transport Assessment 

This is prepared and submitted alongside planning applications for developments 
likely to have significant transport implications. For major proposals, assessments 
should illustrate the following: accessibility to the site by all modes; the likely modal 
split of journeys to and from the site; and proposed measures to improve access by 
public transport, walking and cycling.  

TfL - Transport for London 

The body, under the control of the Mayor of London*, responsible for strategic 
transport policy and the provision of public transport, including buses and the 
underground. TfL is responsible for certain major streets in the City. The body, 
under the control of the Mayor of London, responsible for strategic transport 
policy and the provision of public transport, including buses, the Underground 
and the DLR. TfL is the Traffic and Highways Authority for the Transport for 
London Road Network (TLRN) or red routes, and controls all traffic signals in 
London". 

Transport Strategy 

A strategy for the future planning of transport in the City of London which provides a 
25-year framework for future investment in and management of the City’s streets, as 
well as measures to reduce the social, economic and environmental impacts of motor 
traffic and congestion. 

Travel Plan/Cycling Promotion Plan 

A long-term management strategy that includes the promotion of active travel for a 
development. It shall seek to deliver sustainable transport objectives and will be 
regularly reviewed in line with planning obligation requirements. 

Tower of London World Heritage Site Consultative Committee 

A committee of experts and policy makers providing guidance for the preparation and 
implementation of the Tower of London Management Plan, and comprising 
representatives from: Historic Royal Palaces, City Corporation, Historic England*, 
GLA*, International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS), Department of 
Culture, Media and Sport* (DCMS) and the London Boroughs of Southwark and 
Tower Hamlets. 

Page 340



 

283 

 

UNESCO - United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation 

Among UNESCO’s responsibilities are the inscription of World Heritage Sites, which 
include the Tower of London. 

Urban greening  

A process for delivering additional green infrastructure in the City of London. Due to 
the morphology and density of the built environment in the City, green roofs, green 
(or living) walls, street trees, and techniques such as soft landscaping, are the most 
appropriate elements of green infrastructure. 

Urban Greening Factor (UGF) 

A model to assist boroughs and developers in determining the appropriate provision 
of urban greening for new developments. 

Urban heat island 

The height of buildings and their arrangement means that while more heat is 
absorbed during the day, it takes longer to escape at night. As a result, central 
London can be up to 10oC warmer than the rural areas around London. The 
temperature difference is usually larger at night than during the day. The Urban Heat 
Island effect is noticeable during both the summer and winter months. 

Use Classes Order 

A statutory instrument made by the Secretary of State under Section 22 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, subsequently amended several times, setting out 
broad classes of use for land and buildings. 

Viability Assessment 

An assessment of the financial viability of a development to determine the maximum 
level of affordable housing and other policy requirements that can be provided. 

Waste management 

The London Plan’s* definition of waste management includes its use for energy 
recovery or composting or recyclate sorting and bulking but does not include waste 
transfer. 

Wheelchair accessible  

Homes built to Building Regulation Requirement M4 (3) (2) (b): Wheelchair user 
dwellings, where the dwelling is constructed to meet the needs of occupants who use 
wheelchairs users. 

Also includes hotel rooms which are built to be accessible to guests who use 
wheelchairsusers. 

Page 341



 

284 

 

Wheelchair adaptable 

Homes built to Building Regulation Requirement M4 (3) (2) (a): Wheelchair user 
dwellings, where the dwelling is constructed to allow simple adaptation to the 
dwelling to meet the needs of occupants who use wheelchairsusers. 

Windfall development/sites 

Housing development that does not take place on sites identified in the Development 
Plan* or on the Policies Map* but is brought forward by developers.  

World Heritage Site 

A site inscribed by UNESCO* for its Outstanding Universal Value.  The Tower of 
London, located just outside the City’s boundaries, is designated as a World Heritage 
Site. 

Zero carbon 

Activity that causes no net release of carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gas 
emissions into the atmosphere. 

Zero waste 

Making the most efficient use of resources by minimising the City of London’s 
demand on primary resources, and maximising the reuse, recycling and recovery of 
resources instead of treating them as waste. 

Zero Emission Zone 

Defined area where access by some polluting vehicles is restricted or deterred 
with the aim of improving air quality. 

 

Page 342



City Plan 2040 
City of London Local Plan 

Revised Proposed Submission Draft 

February 2024 

        Appendix 3

Page 343



 

2 

 

Foreword 
 

(To be completed) 

 

Shravan Joshi 

Chairman of the Planning & Transportation Committee 

 

 

  

Page 344



 

3 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES ............................................................................................................................ 6 

1.2 ECONOMIC OBJECTIVE ................................................................................................................................ 6 
1.3 SOCIAL OBJECTIVE ..................................................................................................................................... 7 
1.4 ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVE ....................................................................................................................... 7 

 SPATIAL STRATEGY .................................................................................................................................. 8 

 HEALTH, INCLUSION AND SAFETY ......................................................................................................... 10 

3.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S1: HEALTHY AND INCLUSIVE CITY .................................................................................... 10 
3.2 POLICY HL1: INCLUSIVE BUILDINGS AND SPACES ............................................................................................ 14 
3.3 POLICY HL2: AIR QUALITY ........................................................................................................................ 15 
3.4 POLICY HL3: NOISE ................................................................................................................................. 17 
3.5 POLICY HL5: CONTAMINATED LAND AND WATER QUALITY .............................................................................. 18 
3.6 POLICY HL6: LOCATION AND PROTECTION OF SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES ............................................... 19 
3.7 POLICY HL7: PUBLIC TOILETS .................................................................................................................... 20 
3.8 POLICY HL8: SPORT AND RECREATION ........................................................................................................ 22 
3.9 POLICY HL9: PLAY AREAS AND FACILITIES ..................................................................................................... 23 
3.10 POLICY HL10: HEALTH IMPACT ASSESSMENT (HIA) ...................................................................................... 24 
3.11 STRATEGIC POLICY S2: SAFE AND SECURE CITY ............................................................................................. 26 
3.12 POLICY SA1: PUBLICLY ACCESSIBLE LOCATIONS ............................................................................................. 27 
3.13 POLICY SA2: DISPERSAL ROUTES ............................................................................................................... 28 
3.14 POLICY SA3: DESIGNING IN SECURITY ......................................................................................................... 29 

 HOUSING .............................................................................................................................................. 32 

4.1 HOUSING CONTEXT ................................................................................................................................. 32 
4.2 STRATEGIC POLICY S3: HOUSING ............................................................................................................... 35 
4.3 POLICY HS1: LOCATION OF NEW HOUSING .................................................................................................. 39 
4.4 POLICY HS2: LOSS OF HOUSING ................................................................................................................. 41 
4.5 POLICY HS3: RESIDENTIAL ENVIRONMENT ................................................................................................... 42 
4.6 POLICY HS4: HOUSING QUALITY STANDARDS ................................................................................................ 43 
4.7 POLICY HS5: SHORT TERM RESIDENTIAL LETTING ........................................................................................... 44 
4.8 POLICY HS6: STUDENT ACCOMMODATION AND HOSTELS ................................................................................ 45 
4.9 POLICY HS7: OLDER PERSONS HOUSING ...................................................................................................... 46 
4.10 POLICY HS8: SELF AND CUSTOM HOUSEBUILDING ......................................................................................... 47 

 OFFICES ................................................................................................................................................. 49 

5.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S4: OFFICES ................................................................................................................. 49 
5.2 POLICY OF1: OFFICE DEVELOPMENT .......................................................................................................... 52 
5.3 POLICY OF2: PROTECTION OF EXISTING OFFICE FLOORSPACE .......................................................................... 53 
5.4 POLICY OF3: TEMPORARY ‘MEANWHILE’ USES ............................................................................................ 56 

 RETAIL ................................................................................................................................................... 58 

6.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S5: RETAIL AND ACTIVE FRONTAGES .................................................................................. 58 
6.2 POLICY RE1: PRINCIPAL SHOPPING CENTRES ................................................................................................ 60 
6.3 POLICY RE2: ACTIVE FRONTAGES ............................................................................................................... 64 
6.4 POLICY RE3: SPECIALIST RETAIL USES AND CLUSTERS ..................................................................................... 64 
6.5 POLICY RE4: MARKETS ............................................................................................................................ 66 

 CULTURE AND VISITORS ........................................................................................................................ 68 

7.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S6: CULTURE AND VISITORS ............................................................................................ 68 
7.2 POLICY CV1: PROTECTION OF EXISTING VISITOR, ARTS AND CULTURAL FACILITIES ............................................... 70 
7.3 POLICY CV2: PROVISION OF ARTS, CULTURE AND LEISURE FACILITIES ................................................................ 71 
7.4 POLICY CV3: PROVISION OF VISITOR FACILITIES ............................................................................................ 73 
7.5 POLICY CV4: HOTELS .............................................................................................................................. 73 

Page 345



 

4 

 

7.6 POLICY CV5: EVENING AND NIGHT-TIME ECONOMY...................................................................................... 76 
7.7 POLICY CV6: PUBLIC ART ......................................................................................................................... 79 

 INFRASTRUCTURE ................................................................................................................................. 81 

8.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S7: INFRASTRUCTURE AND UTILITIES ................................................................................. 81 
8.2 POLICY IN1: INFRASTRUCTURE PROVISION AND CONNECTION .......................................................................... 82 
8.3 POLICY IN2: INFRASTRUCTURE CAPACITY ..................................................................................................... 84 
8.4 POLICY IN3: PIPE SUBWAYS ...................................................................................................................... 85 

 DESIGN .................................................................................................................................................. 87 

9.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S8: DESIGN .................................................................................................................. 87 
9.2 POLICY DE1 : SUSTAINABLE DESIGN ........................................................................................................... 90 
9.3 POLICY DE2: DESIGN QUALITY .................................................................................................................. 94 
9.4 POLICY DE3: PUBLIC REALM ..................................................................................................................... 97 
9.5 POLICY DE5: TERRACES AND ELEVATED PUBLIC SPACES ................................................................................ 101 
9.6 POLICY DE6: SHOPFRONTS ..................................................................................................................... 102 
9.7 POLICY DE7: ADVERTISEMENTS ............................................................................................................... 104 
9.8 POLICY DE8: DAYLIGHT AND SUNLIGHT ..................................................................................................... 105 
9.9 POLICY DE9: LIGHTING .......................................................................................................................... 106 

 TRANSPORT ........................................................................................................................................ 109 

10.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S9: TRANSPORT AND SERVICING ..................................................................................... 109 
10.2 POLICY VT1: THE IMPACTS OF DEVELOPMENT ON TRANSPORT ....................................................................... 112 
10.3 POLICY VT2: FREIGHT AND SERVICING ...................................................................................................... 114 
10.4 POLICY VT3: VEHICLE PARKING ............................................................................................................... 117 
10.5 POLICY VT4: RIVER TRANSPORT .............................................................................................................. 117 
10.6 POLICY VT5: AVIATION LANDING FACILITIES .............................................................................................. 119 
10.7 STRATEGIC POLICY S10: ACTIVE TRAVEL AND HEALTHY STREETS .................................................................... 120 
10.8 POLICY AT1: PEDESTRIAN MOVEMENT, PERMEABILITY AND WAYFINDING ....................................................... 122 
10.9 POLICY AT2: ACTIVE TRAVEL INCLUDING CYCLING ....................................................................................... 126 
10.10 POLICY AT3: CYCLE PARKING .................................................................................................................. 128 

 HERITAGE AND TALL BUILDINGS ......................................................................................................... 130 

11.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S11: HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT ....................................................................................... 130 
11.2 POLICY HE1: MANAGING CHANGE TO THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT .............................................................. 133 
11.3 POLICY HE2: ANCIENT MONUMENTS AND ARCHAEOLOGY ............................................................................ 136 
11.4 POLICY HE3: SETTING OF THE TOWER OF LONDON WORLD HERITAGE SITE ...................................................... 138 
11.5 STRATEGIC POLICY S12: TALL BUILDINGS .................................................................................................. 139 
11.6 STRATEGIC POLICY S13: PROTECTED VIEWS ............................................................................................... 146 

 OPEN SPACES AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ..................................................................................... 150 

12.1 STRATEGIC POLICY S14:  OPEN SPACES AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ............................................................ 150 
12.2 POLICY OS1: PROTECTION AND PROVISION OF OPEN SPACES ......................................................................... 151 
12.3 POLICY OS2: URBAN GREENING .............................................................................................................. 153 
12.4 POLICY OS3: BIODIVERSITY ..................................................................................................................... 155 
12.5 POLICY OS4: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN ...................................................................................................... 157 
12.6 POLICY OS5: TREES ............................................................................................................................... 159 

 CLIMATE RESILIENCE ........................................................................................................................... 161 

13.1   STRATEGIC POLICY S15: CLIMATE RESILIENCE AND FLOOD RISK .................................................................... 161 
13.2 POLICY CR1: OVERHEATING AND URBAN HEAT ISLAND EFFECT...................................................................... 162 
13.3 POLICY CR2: FLOOD RISK ....................................................................................................................... 163 
13.4 POLICY CR3: SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SYSTEMS (SUDS) ............................................................................... 167 
13.5 POLICY CR4:  FLOOD PROTECTION AND FLOOD DEFENCES ............................................................................. 168 

13.6 STRATEGIC POLICY S16: CIRCULAR ECONOMY AND WASTE ........................................................................... 169 
13.7 POLICY CE1: SUSTAINABLE WASTE FACILITIES AND TRANSPORT ..................................................................... 171 

Page 346



 

5 

 

13.8 POLICY CE2: NEW WASTE MANAGEMENT SITES .......................................................................................... 174 

 THE TEMPLES, THE THAMES POLICY AREA AND THE KEY AREAS OF CHANGE ...................................... 175 

14.1 POLICY TP1: THE TEMPLES ..................................................................................................................... 175 
14.2 STRATEGIC POLICY S17: THAMES POLICY AREA .......................................................................................... 176 
14.3 STRATEGIC POLICY S18: BLACKFRIARS....................................................................................................... 180 
14.4 STRATEGIC POLICY S19: POOL OF LONDON ................................................................................................ 183 
14.5 STRATEGIC POLICY S20: ALDGATE, TOWER AND PORTSOKEN ........................................................................ 187 
14.6 STRATEGIC POLICY S21: CITY CLUSTER ...................................................................................................... 191 
14.7 STRATEGIC POLICY S22: FLEET STREET AND LUDGATE .................................................................................. 195 
14.8 STRATEGIC POLICY S23: SMITHFIELD AND BARBICAN ................................................................................... 199 
14.9 STRATEGIC POLICY S24: SMITHFIELD ........................................................................................................ 202 
14.10 STRATEGIC POLICY S25: LIVERPOOL STREET ............................................................................................... 204 

 IMPLEMENTATION .............................................................................................................................. 207 

15.2 STRATEGIC POLICY S27: PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS ................................................................................... 207 
15.3 POLICY PC1: VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS ....................................................................................................... 209 
15.4 MONITORING ....................................................................................................................................... 212 

APPENDICES ................................................................................................................................................. 213 

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................................................... 215 

 
  

Page 347



 

6 

 

 
 

 Strategic Priorities 
The City Plan 2040 is the local plan for the City of London. It is a plan for the 
development of the Square Mile, setting out what type of development the City 
Corporation expects to take place and where. The Local City Plan sets out the City 
Corporation’s strategic priorities for planning the Square Mile, together with policies 
that guide decisions on planning applications.  

1.1.0     To help realise our vision for the Square Mile, the City Plan 2040 sets out 
strategic priorities that underpin the policies in the Plan. These priorities have 
been informed by stakeholders, national and London-wide policy, and the 
strategies of the City Corporation and other partners.  

1.1.1     As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), achieving 
sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives – an economic, a social and an environmental 
objective. The strategic priorities have been grouped accordingly, though 
many priorities will have benefits for more than one of the three sustainable 
development objectives. 

1.2 Economic objective 

• Delivering sustainable economic growth, including a minimum of 1.2 million 

sqm net additional office floorspace by 2040 

• Ensuring new and refurbished office space meets the environmental, social 

and governance (ESG) priorities of occupiers and their workforces 

• Providing flexible and adaptable workspace that meets the needs of different 

sectors and business sizes, supporting specialist business clusters and 

promoting a range of complementary uses including education 

• Creating a more vibrant and diverse retail economy 

• Enhancing the City’s evening and weekend economies 

• Creating new and enhanced culture, leisure and visitor attractions 

• Delivering the accommodation, facilities, attractions and infrastructure required 

for a leading destination 

• Ensuring development plays a significant role in enhancing the life of the 

Square Mile and the capital as a whole, both through the uses and design of 

development and through appropriate planning contributions 

• Helping to facilitate the infrastructure requirements of the Square Mile 

Page 348



 

7 

 

1.3 Social objective 

• Delivering new, inclusive open spaces and enhancing the City’s public realm 

for everyone 

• Enhancing the City’s riverside for everyone through the delivery of new and 

improved public realm and greater vibrancy 

• Enhancing and transforming seven Key Areas of Change where significant 

change is expected and providing a policy framework to guide sustainable 

change in those areas 

• Engaging with the City’s communities including workers and residents and 

other stakeholders 

• Creating a more inclusive, healthier, and safer City for everyone 

• Delivering additional homes within the Square Mile and on City Corporation 

estates and other appropriate sites outside the City 

• Enhancing the City’s social infrastructure and creating new sports and 

recreation opportunities across the Square Mile. 

1.4 Environmental objective 

• Ensuring that the City is environmentally sustainable and transitions to a net 

zero carbon City by 2040, taking a ‘retrofit first’ approach to development  

• Delivering urban greening and greater biodiversity 

• Celebrating, protecting and enhancing the City’s unique heritage assets 

• Enhancing the City’s distinctive and iconic skyline while preserving strategic 

views of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London World Heritage Site 

• Ensuring exemplary design of development 

• Promoting greater use of the river Thames for passenger and freight transport, 

increased enjoyment of the City’s riverside and reductions in the risk of 

flooding 

• Ensuring development and infrastructure help transform the City’s streets, 

creating attractive and accessible places to walk, wheel, cycle and spend time, 

and enabling sustainable transport and active travel 

 

 

 

 

Page 349



 

8 

 

 Spatial Strategy 
 
2.1.0     Many aspects of the City Plan have a spatial element. Different approaches 

to development and growth need to be taken in different parts of the City to 
ensure a sustainable pattern of development is delivered, and to bring 
forward development in a way that enhances the unique character of the 
Square Mile. This spatial strategy (Figure 1) sets out an overview for how 
that will be achieved. 

1. All parts of the Square Mile will continue to see growth and development over 
the lifetime of the City Plan 2040. However, some areas – identified in this 
plan as Key Areas of Change (KAOC) – will see either a greater proportion of 
net additional floorspace than other parts of the City, or will undergo more 
significant change to their built form. Priorities for each KAOC are set out in 
section 14. 

2. Net additional office floorspace will primarily be delivered in the City Cluster 
KAOC, supplemented by floorspace in the Fleet Street and Ludgate KAOC 
and Liverpool Street KAOC. Office growth will be encouraged in all parts of the 
Square Mile.  

3. Additional housing will be focussed in and around the identified residential 
areas, with consideration given to student housing in other suitable areas. 

4. Demand for retail growth is likely to be focussed in the four principal shopping 
centres (PSC) of Moorgate and Liverpool Street; Leadenhall Market; 
Cheapside; and Fleet Street. Priorities for each area are set out in section 6. 
Active frontages, with uses that are suitable for their context, will be delivered 
in all parts of the Square Mile, bringing vibrancy to the City and meeting the 
needs of people who live and work here and those who visit the area.  

5. Focal areas for culture have been identified in the cultural planning framework, 
informed by the existing cultural character of different parts of the City and the 
potential for each area to contribute to the ongoing transformation of the City 
into a vibrant destination. 

6. New hotels will be encouraged in suitable locations across the City, 
particularly in places near to transport hubs and where there is good access to 
visitor destinations in and outside the City. 

7. Streets will be planned to facilitate world-class connections and reinforce a 
Square Mile that is inclusive and accessible to all, as envisaged in the City 
Corporation’s Transport Strategy. 

8. Green corridors will link up the City’s Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs), with development complementing and (where 
appropriate) contributing to wider environmental enhancements along the 
routes. 

Page 350



 

9 

 

9. The Thames riverfront will play an enhanced role for the City, providing more 
opportunities for leisure, culture and recreation, with improved greening, 
biodiversity and connectivity. 

10. Designated strategic and local views will inform development, with tall 
buildings focused in the City cluster and the Fleet valley, which are identified 
as areas suitable for tall buildings.  

11. The unique character of different parts of the City, including the area’s rich 
heritage (which includes nearly 600 listed buildings, 27 conservation areas, 48 
scheduled ancient monuments and four historic parks and gardens) will be 
celebrated, protected and enhanced, and help to shape new development in 
the Square Mile. 

Figure 1: Key Diagram 

 
 

Page 351



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 352



 

10 

 

 Health, Inclusion and Safety 

3.1 Strategic Policy S1: Healthy and Inclusive City 

The City Corporation will work with a range of partners to create a healthy and 
inclusive environment, promote social and economic inclusivity and enable all 
communities to access a wide range of health, employment, education, recreation, 
sport and leisure opportunities, by: 

1. Implementing the principles of the City of London Corporation Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy; 

2. Ensuring that the construction, design, use and management of buildings, streets 
and the public realm helps to protect and improve the health of all the City’s 
communities; 

3. Requiring Health Impact Assessments of different levels depending on the scale 
and impact of the proposed development; 

4. Requiring the design and management of buildings, streets and spaces to provide 
for the access requirements of all the City’s communities, including disabled 
people, older people and people with young children; 

5. Requiring inclusive design and management of buildings, streets and public 
spaces to provide for the requirements of all the City’s communities; 

6. Expecting developers and development to:  

• engage with neighbours before and during construction to minimise 
adverse impacts;  

• promote healthy buildings and the use of relevant standards that measure 
health and wellbeing in buildings; 

• improve local air quality, particularly nitrogen dioxide and particulates 
PM10 and PM2.5;  

• respect the City’s quieter places and spaces; 

• limit unnecessary light spillage and ‘sky glow’;  

• address land contamination, ensuring development does not result in 
contaminated land or pollution of the water environment;  

7. Protecting and enhancing existing public health and educational facilities, including 
St Bartholomew’s Hospital and existing City schools and higher education 
providers, working in partnership with neighbouring boroughs to deliver accessible 
additional educational and health facilities in appropriate locations; 

Page 353



 

11 

 

8. Encouraging the further provision of both public and private health facilities. 
Conditions may be attached to permissions for public healthcare facilities to 
ensure their future retention; 

9. Promoting opportunities for training and skills development to improve access to 
employment, particularly for City residents and those in neighbouring boroughs; 

10. Supporting facilities for the provision and improvement of social and educational 
services through the City’s libraries; 

11. Supporting nursery provision and additional childcare facilities; 

12. Protecting and enhancing existing community facilities, allowing for relocation 
where justified, and providing new facilities where required; and 

13. Protecting and enhancing existing sport, play space and recreation facilities and 
encouraging the provision of further publicly accessible facilities, within major 
developments and public realm improvements, in line with the aims of the City 
Corporation’s Sports Strategy.  

Reason for the policy 

3.1.0    The City Corporation’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy considers three 
distinct populations with different needs and health issues: residents, workers 
and rough sleepers. Using data from the City and Hackney Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, it identifies five priorities for health and wellbeing in the 
City: 

▪ Good mental health for all; 

▪ A healthy urban environment; 

▪ Effective health and social care integration; 

▪ All children have the best start in life; and 

▪ Promoting healthy behaviours. 

3.1.1    The Local Plan has a particular role in delivering a healthy urban environment, 
as it can address issues such as poor air quality; relatively high levels of noise; 
a lack of green space, community space and space to exercise; some 
overcrowding of the housing stock; and road safety.  

3.1.2    The City’s population differs from other areas in that the daytime population is 
dominated by workers, with residents forming a small but important community. 
The number of City employees and residents is forecast to increase during the 
Plan period, placing additional demands on the provision of health, education 
and social services to the working and resident populations. City workers may 
find it difficult to access health services where they live due to their working 

Page 354



 

12 

 

hours and the provision of additional clinics and pharmacy services in the 
Square Mile could play an important role in addressing their health needs. 

        Figure 2: Health facilities in and adjoining the City 

3.1.3    The small permanent residential population in the City means that it is often not 
economic to deliver effective services for City residents from locations within the 
City. The City Corporation therefore works jointly with neighbouring boroughs 
and service providers to ensure that cost effective services can be provided. 
The City Corporation will work with the City and Hackney Integrated Care Board 
and other NHS and community organisations to regularly assess the need for 
health and social care facilities locally and sub-regionally. 

3.1.4    The City is intensively occupied with large numbers of people working in office 
buildings in close proximity. Many City employees work long hours and access 
leisure, medical and entertainment opportunities within or close to their place of 
employment. Research suggests that a poor working environment can have a 
negative impact on the health of workers, and consequently their productivity. It 
is therefore important that buildings are designed to promote the health and 
wellbeing of everyone.  

3.1.5     Advances in technology and an awareness of how office environments can 
impact people’s mental and physical health has highlighted the importance of 
striving to create a healthy City environment. A sense of community inclusion 
and belonging is important for both physical and mental health. People who live 

Page 355



 

13 

 

in cohesive communities with a wide range of employment opportunities, 
services, infrastructure and low crime are less likely to suffer poor health. The 
City Corporation established the Business Healthy programme in 2017 to 
support businesses to promote the health and wellbeing of their employees.  

3.1.6    Outdoor spaces and the public realm provide places for relaxation, amenity and 
leisure. The location and nature of the City means that perceptions of tranquillity 
and quieter areas are often based on the relative noise levels of an area 
compared to its surroundings, rather than absolute noise levels. The City 
Corporation’s Noise Strategy 2016-2026 supports the creation of tranquil areas 
in the City and promotes awareness of the importance of protecting and 
enhancing these locations where possible. Examples of quieter areas in the City 
are open spaces, parts of the Riverside Walk, churchyards and housing estates.  
Research on traffic noise has found that long-term exposure to noise above a 
certain level can have negative impacts on physical and mental health. It is 
therefore important to protect the relative tranquillity of some of the City’s open 
spaces to confer benefits to health and wellbeing by providing places of respite 
from the City’s generally high ambient noise levels, and assisting in the 
restoration and recovery from sensory overload.  

3.1.7 The City is a relatively affluent area and is the third least deprived local authority 
area in London. However, disparities exist. While the Barbican is amongst the 
20% least deprived residential areas in England, Mansell Street and Petticoat 
Lane areas are amongst the 40% most deprived.  The Local Plan can play a 
part in tackling such disparities, for instance by securing training and skills 
programmes through planning obligations associated with major development 
schemes.  

  

Page 356



 

14 

 

3.2 Policy HL1: Inclusive buildings and spaces 

Buildings, open spaces and streets must meet the highest standards of accessibility and 
inclusive design, ensuring that the City of London is: 

 Inclusive, welcoming and safe for all, regardless of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. Major applications should develop and submit equality impact 
assessments, demonstrating how this will be achieved; 

 convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring that everyone can 
experience independence without undue effort, separation or special treatment; 

 responsive to the requirements of all users who visit, work or live in the City, whilst 
recognising that one solution might not work for all; 

 a place that promotes equity, diversity and social inclusion in the design and use of 
buildings and public spaces, including through the provision of spaces that are free to 
access. 

Reason for the policy 

3.2.0 An inclusive environment is one that recognises that everyone benefits from 
improved accessibility including disabled people, older people, families with 
children, carers, people with temporary medical conditions or impaired mobility 
and non-disabled people. The built environment needs to be safe, accessible 
and convenient to improve the quality of life for all City users. Despite progress 
in building a more accessible City, some people still experience considerable 
barriers to living independent and dignified lives as a result of the way the built 
environment is designed, built and managed. The outcome of embracing 
inclusive design should be a City where people want to live, work and visit and 
which feels open and welcoming to people from different backgrounds.  

3.2.1 Under the public sector equality duty, local authorities are required to have regard 
to the objectives of eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to 
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not; and foster good relations 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who 
do not.  

How the policy works 

3.2.2 Developers will be required to submit Design and Access Statements which 
demonstrate a commitment to inclusive design and the promotion of equity, 
diversity and social inclusion. Applicants should  engage with relevant user 
groups, including health and social care providers, at early stages to inform their 
approach. Such engagement should take place before the detailed design stage 
prior to submission of an application to ensure maximum effectiveness and 
inclusive design within the building and in the surrounding public realm. Design 

Page 357



 

15 

 

and Access Statements must include details both on how best practice 
standards have been complied with and how inclusion will be maintained and 
managed throughout the lifetime of the building.   

3.2.3 Applicants should submit Equality Impact Assessments for major developments to 
ensure the needs of people belonging to groups with protected characteristics 
are met, and demonstrating how the development would promote equality, 
diversity and inclusion.  

3.3 Policy HL2: Air quality 

1. Developers will be required to effectively manage the impact of their proposals on air 
quality. Major developments must comply with the requirements of the Air Quality 
SPD for Air Quality Impact Assessments; 

2. Development that would result in a worsening of the City’s nitrogen dioxide or PM10 
and PM2.5 pollution levels will be strongly resisted;  

3. All developments must be at least Air Quality Neutral. Developments subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment should adopt an air quality positive approach.  
Major developments must maximise credits for the pollution section of the BREEAM 
assessment relating to on-site emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx); 

4. Developers will be expected to install non-combustion energy technology where 
available;  

5. A detailed Air Quality Impact Assessment will be required for combustion based low 
carbon technologies (e.g. biomass, combined heat and power), and any necessary 
mitigation must be approved by the City Corporation; 

6. Developments that include uses that are more vulnerable to air pollution, such as 
schools, nurseries, medical facilities and residential development, will be refused if 
the occupants would be exposed to poor air quality. Developments will need to 
ensure acceptable air quality through appropriate design, layout, landscaping and 
technological solutions; 

7. Construction and deconstruction and the transport of construction materials and 
waste must be carried out in such a way as to minimise air quality impacts to the 
fullest extent possible. Impacts from these activities must be addressed within 
submitted Air Quality Impact Assessments. All developments should comply with the 
requirements of the London Low Emission Zone for Non Road Mobile Machinery; 

8. Air intake points should be located away from existing and potential pollution sources 
(e.g. busy roads and combustion flues). All combustion flues should terminate above 
the roof height of the tallest part of the development to ensure maximum dispersion 
of pollutants and be at least 3 metres away from any publicly accessible roof spaces. 

 

 

Page 358



 

16 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.3.0 Due to its location at the heart of London and the density of development, the City 
of London has high levels of air pollution. Poor air quality can harm human 
health, particularly for young people while their lungs are developing, and 
increase the incidence of cardiovascular and lung disease. The City, in common 
with all central London, has been declared an Air Quality Management Area, 
due to national health-based objectives for the pollutants nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
and small particles (PM10) not being met. National targets for PM2.5 are also not 
met. 

3.3.1 The City Corporation is working with a wide range of organisations to address this 
problem and levels of NO2 are falling, although the health-based limits are still 
not met everywhere in the Square Mile. The City Corporation’s Air Quality 
Strategy aims to ensure that air quality in over 90% of the Square Mile meets 
the health-based Limit Values and World Health Organisation (WHO) 
Guidelines for NO2 by the beginning of 2025. Limits set for particulate matter 
(PM10) are generally met although the national target for PM2.5 is not met 
anywhere in the City. Air Quality Strategy aims to support the Mayor of London 
to meet the tighter WHO Guidelines for PM10 and PM2.5 by 2030. 

3.3.2 The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy contains proposals to reduce air 
pollution associated with road traffic in the Square Mile. While the main source 
of pollutants in the City has historically been road transport, buildings now 
account for over half of NOx emissions arising in the City. Tackling poor air 
quality requires a broad range of actions, including reducing traffic congestion 
and supporting low emissions vehicles, reducing emissions associated with 
combustion-based heating and cooling systems, and limiting emissions linked 
with demolition and construction. The addition of green space and planting on 
and around buildings and within the public realm can help to trap particulate 
pollution.   

How the policy works 

3.3.3 The City Corporation’s Air Quality Strategy provides detailed information on the air 
quality issues facing the City and actions being pursued by the City Corporation 
and a range of partners to improve air quality. The Air Quality SPD sets out 
specific guidance for developers on the City Corporation’s requirements for 
reducing air pollution from developments within the Square Mile. The City 
Corporation’s Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites and 
the Mayor’s Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition 
SPG provide guidance on procedures to be adopted to minimise the impacts of 
demolition and construction activities on air quality. 

3.3.4 Developers will be required to manage the impact of their proposals on air quality, 
which should as a minimum be air quality neutral. Large-scale developments 
that are subject to Environmental Impact Assessment procedures should, in 
particular, propose methods of delivering an air quality positive approach which 
results in improvements to the City’s air quality.  

Page 359



 

17 

 

3.3.5 Developers are expected to fully explore the use of non-combustion generators, 
though it is recognised that there are currently limited options for non-
combustion generators. In the short term, alternatives to using diesel as a fuel 
for generators may be acceptable where non-combustion options are not 
available. Technological advances during the life of the Plan will create more 
opportunities to install non-combustion generators. 

3.4 Policy HL3: Noise  

1. A noise assessment will be required where there may be an impact on noise-
sensitive uses. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings should 
ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect nearby land uses, 
particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, hospitals, schools, 
nurseries and quiet open spaces. New noise-generating development should 
include suitable mitigation measures such as noise attenuation or restrictions 
on operating hours. 
 

2. Any potential noise pollution conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised, in line with the ‘agent of change’ principle. 

3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction activities must be 
minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit noise disturbance near 
the development. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be 
no increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment. 

4. Opportunities will be sought to incorporate improvements to the acoustic 
environment within major development.  

5. When bringing forward major development proposals, developers should 
explore opportunities to enhance the existing acoustic environment. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.4.0 The City has a complex, densely developed and intensively used built 
environment in which space is at a premium and where multiple activities occur 
in very close proximity. Therefore, the effective management of noise impacts 
applies to both development that introduces new sources of noise pollution and 
development that is sensitive to noise.  

3.4.1 The main noise and vibration sources related to new developments in the City are:  

• Construction and demolition work and associated activities, such as piling, 
heavy goods vehicle movements and street works; 

• Building services plant and equipment, such as ventilation fans, air-
conditioning and emergency generators; 

Page 360



 

18 

 

• Leisure facilities and licensed premises, involving noise from people and 
amplified music; and 

• Servicing activities such as deliveries, window cleaning and building 
maintenance. 

3.4.2 Noise sensitive uses and developments in the City include residential 
developments, hotels and serviced apartments, health facilities, schools and 
childcare provision and certain open spaces. 

3.4.3 Planning and licensing regimes operate under separate legislative and regulatory 
frameworks. The City Corporation will ensure that, as far as is possible, a 
complementary approach is taken between planning and licensing to enable 
consistency of advice and decision making.  

How the policy works 

3.4.4 The City of London Noise Strategy 2016-2026 sets out the strategic approach to 
noise in the City and the City Corporation’s Code of Practice for Deconstruction 
and Construction Sites provides guidance on procedures to be adopted to 
minimise the noise and vibration impacts of development. The use of planning 
conditions or obligations will be considered where this could successfully 
moderate adverse effects, for example, by limiting hours of operation. 

3.4.5 Some major developments may have the potential to enhance the City’s acoustic 
environment, for instance by incorporating water features that can aid relaxation, 
help to mitigate sensory overload and help to mask traffic noise. More information 
about this can be found in the City Corporation’s Noise Strategy. 

3.4.6 For noise sensitive developments, confirmation will be sought of appropriate 
acoustic standards at the design stage. The City Corporation will apply the ‘agent 
of change’ principle, meaning that the responsibility for mitigating the impact of 
noise will fall on the new development. 

3.5 Policy HL5: Contaminated land and water quality 

Where development involves ground works or the creation of open spaces, developers 
will be expected to carry out a detailed site investigation to establish whether the site is 
contaminated and to determine the potential for pollution of the water environment or 
harm to human health and non-human receptors. Suitable mitigation must be identified 
to remediate any contaminated land and prevent potential adverse impacts of the 
development on human and non-human receptors, land or water quality. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.5.0 When a site is developed, and ground conditions change there is potential for 
contaminants to be mobilised, increasing the risk of harm.  Site investigation 
should establish whether the proposed use is compatible with the land 

Page 361



 

19 

 

condition. The term “non-human receptors” encompasses buildings and other 
property, or ecological systems and habitats, which may be harmed as a result 
of contaminated land or water. 

How the policy works 

3.5.1 Pre-application discussions will be used to identify the particular issues related to 
environmental protection that are relevant to each development site. The City 
Corporation has published a Contaminated Land Strategy and a 
Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy, which provide details of the issues 
likely to be encountered in different parts of the City and should be used for 
reference by developers.  

3.6 Policy HL6: Location and protection of social and community 
facilities 

1. Existing social and community facilities will be protected in situ unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality, quantity and accessibility 
are provided on-site or within the vicinity which meet existing and predicted 
future needs for this type of facility; or  

• necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without leading to, 
or increasing, any shortfall in provision, and with equivalent or improved 
accessibility for relevant user groups; or  

• it has been demonstrated through active marketing, at reasonable terms for 
public, social and community floorspace, that there is no demand for the 
existing facility or another social or community use on the site. 

2. The development of new social and community facilities should provide flexible, 
multi-use spaces suitable for a range of different uses and will be permitted:  

• in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve; 

• in or near identified residential areas, providing their amenity is 
safeguarded; and 

• as part of major mixed-use developments, subject to an assessment of 
the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing 
facilities and neighbouring uses.  

3. Developments that result in additional need for social and community facilities 
will be required to provide the necessary facilities or contribute towards 
enhancing existing facilities to enable them to meet identified need. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.6.0 Social and community facilities contribute to successful communities by providing 
venues for a wide range of activities and services that are accessible to those 

Page 362



 

20 

 

communities. As such they make a significant contribution to people’s mental, 
spiritual and physical wellbeing, sense of community, learning and education. 
Library and educational facilities and those that support the City’s business and 
cultural roles are particularly important. A definition of social and community 
facilities, with reference to the Use Classes Order, is provided in the glossary. 

How the policy works 

3.6.1 Existing social and community facilities will be protected in situ, unless it can be 
demonstrated to the City Corporation’s satisfaction that there is no demand 
from social and community users for the facilities or that their loss is part of a 
published asset management plan, in the case of non-commercial enterprises, 
or that necessary services can be delivered from alternative premises without a 
reduction in service provision. The presumption is that current facilities and 
uses should be retained where a continuing need exists. If this is not feasible, 
preference will be given to another social and community use in the first 
instance. 

3.6.2 Where existing social and community facilities are to be relocated, the 
replacement facilities should be within the City. However, for services that serve 
a wider catchment area, relocation outside the City, but within a reasonable 
distance, may be acceptable. There may be advantages in locating 
organisations together within multi-functional community buildings to maximise 
the efficient use of resources. Places of worship have the potential to 
accommodate a range of activities on their premises which can help improve 
community cohesion. Relocated facilities must be available to communities at a 
cost/rent equivalent to that charged prior to redevelopment. New facilities 
provided should similarly provide space at a cost/rent that is affordable to the 
communities being served. 

3.6.3 Where rationalisation of services would result in either the reduction or relocation 
of social and community floorspace, the replacement floorspace must be of a 
comparable size or provide a better quality of service to target communities. 

3.6.4 Given the limited opportunities to replace such facilities in the City, conditions may 
be attached to permissions for new public health facilities to ensure that the 
impacts of any proposed later conversion to another use can be considered 
through the planning application process. Conditions will not be applied to 
private healthcare facilities. 

3.7 Policy HL7: Public toilets 

The City Corporation will promote a widespread distribution of publicly accessible toilets 
which meet public demand by:  

1. requiring the provision of a range of directly accessible public toilet facilities 
suitable for a range of users including disabled people, families with young 
children and people of all gender identities in major retail, leisure and transport 
developments, particularly near visitor attractions, public open spaces and 

Page 363



 

21 

 

existing major transport interchanges. Provision should be made for free 
‘Changing Places’ for disabled people and their carers and facilities for feeding 
infants; 

2. Publicly accessible toilets should be 24 hours a day, particularly areas with 
concentrations of night-time activity;  

3. supporting an increase in the membership of the Community Toilet Scheme; 

4. resisting the loss of existing publicly accessible toilets as a result of 
redevelopment, and requiring the provision of replacement facilities, unless 
adequate provision is available nearby; and 

5. requiring the renewal of existing toilets which are within areas subject to major 
redevelopment schemes and seeking the incorporation of additional toilets in 
proposed developments, such as hotels and office schemes, where they are 
needed to meet increased demand, especially in locations likely to see 
significant footfall and visitors. 

  

Reason for the policy 

3.7.0 Inclusive and accessible toilet provision is essential to meet the needs of all 
communities. Publicly accessible toilets are a particularly important facility for 
certain groups, such as disabled people, older people, families with babies 
and young children and pregnant women. They are also important to meet the 
needs of tourists and visitors to the City. It is important when designing toilet 
provision to include cubicles for people with ambulant mobility impairments 
which can also be suitable for some older people and people who require 
additional space. 

3.7.1 Areas of the City with concentrations of night-time entertainment require 
adequate publicly accessible toilet provision to prevent fouling on the streets. 

How the policy works 

3.7.2 The City Corporation will require the provision of publicly accessible toilets in 
major retail, leisure, transport and commercial developments, secured through 
legal agreements, or through encouraging membership of the Community 
Toilet Scheme, and will seek their provision where appropriate in other major 
developments such as office and hotel schemes. The Community Toilet 
Scheme allows the public to use toilet facilities in participating businesses, 
albeit that hours are often restricted.  

3.7.3 Publicly accessible toilets should be clearly signposted to ensure they are easily 
found and should be available 24 hours a day other than in exceptional 
circumstances. The City Corporation has produced a free toilet finder app 
suitable for use on mobile phones. Facilities should be maintained by the 
owner as part of the overall maintenance of any development.  

3.7.4 ‘Changing places’ toilets are not designed for independent use and should be 
provided in addition to standard unisex disabled persons’ toilets, baby change 

Page 364



 

22 

 

and family facilities, rather than as a replacement. Changing places toilets are 
particularly encouraged in proximity to cultural attractions and should be 
available for use on a 24 hour basis. Management and maintenance is 
important to safe use and should be secured through the planning process. 
Where publicly accessible toilets are provided, consideration should be given 
to the provision of self-contained gender-neutral toilets. 

3.8 Policy HL8: Sport and recreation 

 The City Corporation will promote the expansion of the City’s sport and recreation 
offer, by encouraging sport and recreation provision as part of appropriate new 
developments and helping to deliver a network of free outdoor sporting facilities in 
the City. 

 Existing public sport and recreational facilities will be protected in situ, unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality, quantity and accessibility 
are provided on-site or within the vicinity that meets existing and predicted 
future needs for this type of facility; or 

• necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without leading to, or 
increasing, any shortfall in provision; or 

• it has been demonstrated through active marketing, at reasonable terms for 
sport and recreational use, that there is no demand for the existing facility or 
alternative sport and recreation facilities which could be met on the site. 

2. The provision of new sport and recreation facilities, particularly publicly accessible 
facilities, will be encouraged in locations which are convenient to the communities 
they serve. New facilities should provide flexible space to accommodate a range of 
different uses and users, must be accessible to all, and should not cause undue 
disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. 

3. The use of vacant development sites for a temporary sport or recreational use will be 
encouraged where appropriate and where this does not preclude return to the 
original use or other suitable use on redevelopment.  

 

Reason for the policy 

3.8.0 There has been an increase in sport and recreational facilities in the City in recent 
years, with much of the increase resulting from additional private gym facilities, 
including those within office developments and some hotels. While this is 
welcome, many facilities charge substantial fees and are not available to those 
seeking more informal, occasional and cheaper sport and leisure opportunities. 
By supporting new facilities, and creating a network of facilities across the 
Square Mile, the City can encourage healthier and more active lifestyles for all. 
Demand for such facilities is likely to increase due to the rapid growth in the 
working population and as the City becomes more of a destination for visitors. 

Page 365



 

23 

 

How the policy works 

3.8.1 The City Corporation will protect existing public sports and recreation facilities in 
situ, where there is a need, and encourage the provision of new public and 
private facilities that meet Sport England’s Active Design principles. Where in 
situ provision is not feasible, services should be delivered from other facilities 
without reducing the level of provision. However, any proposals involving the 
loss of public sport and recreational facilities must be accompanied by evidence 
of a lack of need for those facilities. Current public facilities and uses should be 
retained where a continuing need exists. If this is not feasible, preference will be 
given to a similar type of sport and recreational use in the first instance. Where 
new outdoor facilities are created, priority will be given to those that provide 
opportunities for recreation that are free or available at low cost. Consideration 
should be given to locating outdoor exercise facilities for adults and children’s 
play equipment near each other, where appropriate.  

3.9 Policy HL9: Play areas and facilities 

 The City Corporation will promote opportunities for inclusive play and the provision of 
high quality play equipment and spaces in the City, by: 

• protecting existing play areas and facilities and, on redevelopment, requiring 
the replacement of facilities either on-site or nearby to an equivalent or better 
standard; 

• seeking additional or enhanced play equipment and spaces, particularly in 
areas near to existing or planned attractions, and in places within and well 
connected to residential areas and other places likely to be used by children 
and young people; 

• requiring external play space and facilities as part of major new residential 
developments;  

• Where the creation of new play facilities is not possible, requiring developers 
to work with the City Corporation to deliver enhanced provision nearby, or 
provide financial contributions to enable the provision of facilities elsewhere;  

• promoting opportunities for informal play within open spaces where it is not 
possible to secure formal play areas; and 

• ensuring play facilities are designed inclusively, considering in particular 
differences in age, gender, neurodiversity and disability. Developers should 
seek to engage children and young people in the design of play spaces. 

2. Play areas and facilities must be inclusive and not be located in areas of poor air 
quality due to the negative health impacts on young children. 

 

 

 

Page 366



 

24 

 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.9.0 Play is essential for the healthy development of children and takes place in both 
formal and informal spaces. Formal play spaces include areas specifically 
designed and designated for play. As the City increasingly becomes a 
destination for a wider range of visitors, including families, children and young 
people, there will be increased demand for play spaces that are free of charge, 
well-designed, inclusive and accessible. These are likely to be focussed in 
areas near to leisure destinations such as the new Museum of London in 
Smithfield and along the Thames riverfront. Play near and within residential 
areas is also an important component of ensuring communities can be active 
and healthy and have fun near where they live. 

How the policy works 

3.9.1 The high rate of development in the City and the creation of new, and 
improvement of existing, public realm creates opportunities for informal play 
spaces in the City, which are not designated solely for that purpose but contain 
features that can be used for imaginative play. These spaces would also benefit 
the increasing numbers of children who visit the City.  

3.9.2 Public realm improvements and the creation of new open spaces should be 
designed imaginatively to serve the needs of all the City’s communities but also 
offer informal play opportunities. Children and young people are diverse in their 
experiences of the world and have different ways that they want to play and 
hang out in social spaces. The design of play space should be informed by 
these differences and children and young people should be involved in helping 
to design them. Where the opportunity arises, the City Corporation will enable 
appropriate sensory play areas in the City for disabled children, young people 
and adults and those with special educational needs and disabilities. 

3.10     Policy HL10: Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 

The City Corporation will require development to deliver health benefits to the  
City’s communities and mitigate any negative impacts.  
 
Major development should submit a rapid HIA. A full HIA will be required on those 
developments that are subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment. An HIA may 
also be required for developments considered to have particular health impacts, 
including those involving sensitive uses such as education, health, leisure or community 
facilities, publicly accessible open space, hot food take away shops, betting shops and 
in areas where air pollution and noise issues are particularly prevalent. 
 
The scope of any HIA should be agreed with the City Corporation and be informed by 
City Corporation guidance on HIA. The assessment should be undertaken as early as 
possible in the development process so that potential health gains can be maximised, 
and any negative impacts can be mitigated. 

Page 367



 

25 

 

 
Reason for the policy 

3.10.0   The City of London is a densely built up central urban location. The scale of 
development, the busy and congested streets and pavements, limited open 
space and large numbers of workers can impact on people’s physical and 
mental health. 

3.10.1   Major development can impact on health in a variety of ways including through 
noise and pollution during the construction phrase, increased traffic 
movements and greater competition for limited open space. Equally, 
development can deliver improvements such as improved access by walking, 
wheeling, cycling and public transport and the provision of opportunities to 
access open and green spaces, exercise facilities, cultural and community 
facilities and healthy food outlets. 

3.10.2  HIAs provide a systematic framework to identify the potential impacts of a 
development proposal on the health and wellbeing of the population and 
highlight any health inequalities that may arise. The Covid-19 pandemic has 
highlighted the important role that health impact assessments can play in 
enabling developers to understand and plan for potential risks to health and 
wellbeing. 

3.10.3   HIAs can highlight mitigation measures that may be appropriate to enable 
developments to maximise the health of communities. 

How the policy works 
 

3.10.4   Developers will be expected to identify potential impacts on health resulting 
from all major developments in the City, following the approach set out in the 
City Corporation’s Health Impact Assessment guidance note.  

 
Rapid HIA 

 
3.10.5   This involves focused investigation of health impacts and would normally 

recommend mitigation and/or enhancement measures. The City Corporation 
will adapt the London HUDU Rapid HIA Tool to reflect the City’s circumstances 
and will expect this to be used for major developments. 

 
Full HIA 

 
3.10.6   This involves comprehensive analysis of all potential health and wellbeing 

impacts, which may include quantitative and qualitative information, data from 
health needs assessments, reviews of the evidence base and community 
engagement. A full HIA will be required on those developments that are subject 
to an Environmental Impact Assessment and could be included within the 
Environmental Statement to avoid duplication. 

 

Page 368



 

26 

 

3.10.7 HIAs must look at the issue of health comprehensively, and not focus solely on 
access to health services. Where significant impacts are identified, measures 
to mitigate the adverse impact of the development should be provided as part 
of the proposals or secured through conditions or a Section 106 Agreement. 

3.11    Strategic Policy S2: Safe and Secure City 

The City Corporation will work with the City of London Police and the London Fire 
Brigade to ensure that the City is safe and secure from crime, the fear of crime, anti-
social behaviour and terrorism, by: 

1. Ensuring that development proposals design-out crime and encourage a mix of uses 
and natural surveillance of streets and spaces; 

2. Implementing measures to enhance the collective security of the City against terrorist 
threats, applying security measures to broad areas such as the Traffic and 
Environmental Zone, major development schemes, or to the City as a whole;  

3. Developing area-based approaches to implementing security measures where major 
developments are planned or are under construction simultaneously, and in locations 
where occupiers have requested collective security measures; 

4. Ensuring that development proposals take account of the need for resilience so that 
residential and business communities are better prepared for, and better able to 
recover from, emergencies including fire, flood, weather, and other related hazards 
as set out in the London Risk Register.  

5. Requiring development proposals to meet the highest standards of fire safety. Major 
development proposals must submit a Fire Statement setting out how the 
development will address fire safety in the design, construction and operation of the 
building for all building users, including safe and dignified emergency evacuation. 

6. Ensuring that development proposals cater to community safety and security 
requirements particularly those of people more likely to experience crime and fear of 
safety, including women, girls, children, younger, older and disabled people. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.11.0 The City is a safe place to live, work and visit, with low rates of crime. Safety and 
security are important to the continuing role of the City of London as a world 
leading financial and professional services centre, and as an attractive place to 
live and visit. Ensuring a safe and secure City requires close co-operation 
between the City Corporation, neighbouring boroughs, the City of London Police 
and the London Fire Brigade, and between these agencies, the Metropolitan 
Police, the British Transport Police, the Government and Judiciary and the 
Mayor of London taking into account the Mayor’s Zero Action Plan to eliminate 
deaths and injuries on city streets. The Safer City Partnership brings together 

Page 369



 

27 

 

representatives from both statutory and non-statutory agencies that contribute 
to the work of keeping the City safe. The Partnership publishes a Strategic Plan 
and its vision is for the City of London to be a safe place to live, learn, work, and 
visit. Close working with developers and occupiers is also essential. 

How the policy works 

3.11.1 Security and fire safety features should be considered at the outset of the design 
process to be most effective and avoid the need for retrofitting later during the 
development process or following completion. Early engagement with the City 
Corporation, the City of London Police and the London Fire Brigade is 
particularly important, including through the pre-application process.  

3.11.2  The design of a scheme should create safe, inclusive and accessible 
environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime do not undermine 
quality of life or social cohesion. Designs should take into account the most up-
to-date information and advice regarding security needs in the area, working 
with local advisors to reduce vulnerability and increase resilience. Where 
appropriate, developers will be required to contribute towards the funding of 
measures designed to enhance security. 

3.11.3   All development proposals must achieve the highest standards of fire safety 
and developers must liaise at an early stage in the design process with the City 
Corporation’s District Surveyor and the London Fire Brigade on fire safety 
considerations, incorporating London Plan fire safety requirements. Major 
development proposals must be accompanied by a Fire Statement which sets 
out how the development will address fire safety in the design, construction and 
operation of the building. 

3.12    Policy SA1: Publicly accessible locations   

All major developments are required to address the issue of publicly accessible 
locations and counter-terrorism by: 

1. Conducting a full risk assessment; 

2. Undertaking early consultation with the City of London Police on risk mitigation 
measures; and 

3. Restricting or rationalising motor vehicle access where required. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.12.0 Places that are attractive, open and easily accessible can often become 
crowded. Such places are a potential target for crime and terrorism and offer 
the prospect of serious disruption or worse.  

3.12.1   Crowded places include mainline and underground stations, shopping centres, 
bars and clubs which are all easily accessible. The high density of development, 

Page 370



 

28 

 

the substantial daytime population and the high-profile of many City buildings 
and businesses make the area a potential target for terrorism. Measures such 
as traffic calming may be employed to limit the opportunity for hostile vehicle 
approach. 

How the policy works 

3.12.2  A risk assessment should be submitted for approval by the City Corporation as 
part of a planning application for major development or transport proposals. The 
risk assessment should be proportionate to the nature of the risk identified 
through consultation with the City of London Police and will typically include: 

• Assessment of the risk of structural damage from an attack; 

• Identification of measures to minimise any risk; 

• Detail on how the perimeter is treated, including glazing; 

• Consideration of adjacent land-uses and commuter routes.  

 

3.12.3  The City Corporation will liaise with the City of London Police in considering and 
approving risk assessments submitted as part of a planning application. 

3.13     Policy SA2: Dispersal Routes 

Applications for major commercial development and developments which propose night-
time uses must include a Management Statement setting out detailed proposals for the 
dispersal of patrons and workers from premises to ensure the safe egress of all people, 
minimise the potential for over-crowding and reduce the instances of noise nuisance 
and anti-social behaviour, particularly in residential areas. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.13.0   The City increasingly operates on a 7 day a week basis, with an increase in 
evening and night-time uses. This will result in an increase in pedestrian 
movements within the City as patrons enter and exit public houses, bars, night-
clubs and restaurants. Anti-social behaviour, including noise, disturbance and 
odours arising from the operation of the premises can be disruptive to City 
residents and occupiers and proposals should seek to mitigate any negative 
impacts that may arise, incorporating the Agent of Change principle. 

3.13.1  The City’s daytime population places pressure on the City’s public realm at peak 
times. It is therefore necessary to provide details of dispersal routes as part of 
planning applications for major commercial developments to understand their 
implications for movement and amenity. 

Page 371



 

29 

 

3.13.2   The planning and design of dispersal routes should be inclusive and take into 
account the needs of disabled people, older people, people with impaired 
mobility and people with children. 

How the policy works  

3.13.3  The dispersal of patrons from premises, particularly late at night should not have 
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of residents and other noise-sensitive 
uses. Adverse impacts will require mitigation in line with Policy CV4: Evening 
and Night-time Economy.  

3.13.4   Major commercial developments should incorporate measures to reduce 
pedestrian flow at peak times or provide alternative routes to avoid over-
crowding on existing streets to ensure the safety and security of the City and to 
avoid further stress on the City’s public realm.  

3.13.5   A management statement will be required, setting out the measures 
incorporated into the scheme to mitigate the adverse impacts of night-time 
economy uses. Early engagement with nearby residents and occupiers, as well 
as the City of London Police and the City Corporation as Licensing Authority, 
can help ensure that the measures contained in the management statement are 
appropriate to local circumstances. Assessment of the management statement 
will have regard to the City of London Noise Strategy, the provisions of the City 
of London Statement of Licensing Policy and any submitted licence application 
operating schedule. 

3.14    Policy SA3: Designing in Security 

1. Security measures must be incorporated into the design of development at an early 
stage, taking account ‘secured by design’ principles, to avoid the need for later 
retrofitting and measures that would adversely impact on the public realm or the 
quality of design. Applicants must liaise with the City Corporation and the City of 
London Police and incorporate their advice into the scheme design as required.  

2. Security measures should be designed within the development’s boundaries and 
integrated with those of adjacent buildings and surrounding public realm. Area-wide 
approaches should be considered. 

3. Where it is required, Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) should be integrated into the 
design of the building. Development proposals should avoid the need for HVM on the 
public highway and public realm. In exceptional circumstances, where non-integrated 
HVM is shown to be necessary, consideration should be given to the use of trees, 
planters and benches to reduce its visual impact. Design and location of any HVM 
should ensure that public realm and pedestrian permeability is not adversely 
impacted, and should be designed to ensure an inclusive and accessible public 
realm.  

4. Developers will be expected to contribute towards the cost of necessary and 
proportionate on-street mitigation of the risk of vehicle attacks in the vicinity of their 

Page 372



 

30 

 

developments, or within a wider area where area-based security measures are 
proposed. 

5. Where mixed use schemes are proposed, developments must provide independent 
primary and secondary access points, ensuring that the proposed uses are separate 
and self-contained.  

6. All security measures which are expected to be more than very short-term should 
take account of the functionality of the area and needs of its users and should be 
sympathetic to surrounding buildings, the public realm and any heritage assets, and 
must be of a high-quality design. 

7. An assessment of the environmental impact of security measures will be required. It 
should address the visual impact and impact on pedestrian flows.  

8. Security and safety measures are incorporated into the design at an early stage to 
avoid the need to retro-fit measures that adversely impact on the public realm or the 
quality of design. 

 

Reason for the policy 

3.14.0   Measures to design out crime, including counter-terrorism measures, should be 
integral to development proposals and may be applicable to crowded spaces 
around a development as well as the building itself. Security measures should 
be proportionate to the risk and the likely consequences of an attack, deter 
terrorism, assist in the detection of terrorist activity and help mitigate its effects.  
Late consideration of security in developments can be more costly, inefficient, 
and less effective, and can have a negative impact on the architectural quality 
and design of a building and the surrounding public realm. These difficulties can 
be avoided by considering security at the early design stage. Given the limited 
space within the City, and the density of development, it is important that any 
required HVM is an integral part of the design of new development, and that it 
does not disrupt the permeability, accessibility and enjoyment of public spaces 
for everyone. 

How the policy works 

3.14.1  All new developments must incorporate appropriate security provision to reduce 
the risk and the likely impact of an attack. It is not always possible to provide 
security measures wholly within the building or development site, particularly 
when there is a need to provide stand-off distances to protect against potential 
vehicle-borne attacks, or where the building line is immediately bounded by 
public highway. Security features for individual buildings on the public highway 
should be a last resort when all other alternative proposals have been 
exhausted including the scope for an area-based approach. 

3.14.2   A collective approach to security is likely to be more effective than an individual 
building approach, particularly in areas of high-density development such as the 

Page 373



 

31 

 

City Cluster. The City Corporation will use s106 planning obligations requiring 
developers to contribute to measures to enhance collective security, where 
appropriate.   

3.14.3   In considering the impact of new development on the public realm, the City 
Corporation will take into account the need for additional security measures 
within the public realm to reduce the risk to individuals from motor vehicles and 
the potential for vehicles to mount pavements. Developers will be expected to 
contribute towards the cost of on-street mitigation of the risk of vehicle attacks 
in the vicinity of their developments, through the use of s106 planning 
obligations. 

3.14.4  Developments should aim to achieve a high level of natural surveillance of all 
surrounding public areas including the highway. Mixed use developments can 
generate greater activity and surveillance, but a mix of uses within individual 
buildings may give rise to problems of security, management and amenity. The 
provision of independent primary and secondary access points will be required 
so that proposed uses are separate and self-contained. In appropriate 
circumstances, use of CCTV should be considered. 

3.14.5   Early engagement with the City of London Police and the City Corporation is 
essential to ensure that security measures are appropriate to evolving threats. 
Where the development has an impact on heritage assets, early discussion with 
Historic England is also recommended.  

3.14.6   Design and Access Statements should incorporate recommendations from the 
City of London Police, City Corporation and ‘Secured by Design’ principles or 
equivalent, setting out how an inclusive approach to security has been 
considered at the design stage. Advice in the City Corporation’s Public Realm 
Technical Manual should be incorporated into proposals to ensure 
developments offer a lasting contribution to the streets and spaces of the City. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 374



 

32 

 

 Housing  

4.1 Housing Context 

4.1.0     Housing is vital for the City’s future economy and its communities. A shortage of 
housing, particularly affordable housing, is one of the main barriers to future 
business and community growth in the City and across London. High quality, 
affordable housing is also essential to meet the housing needs of those of the 
City’s communities on lower incomes. 

4.1.1    The 2021 Census indicated that the City’s permanent residential population was 
8,600, which is small in comparison to the working population in excess of 
590,000.  The GLA’s 2021-based interim housing-led projections suggest that 
the City’s population (excluding those with main homes elsewhere) will have a 
modest increase to approximately 9,500 by 2040. The 2021 Census indicated 
that there were 1,700 second homes in the City of London. 

4.1.2     The majority of the City’s housing is concentrated around the edge of the City in 
four estates (the Barbican, Golden Lane, Middlesex Street and Mansell Street). 
Other residential areas are located in Smithfield, the Temples, parts of the 
riverside (Queenhithe), Fleet Street (City West), Carter Lane and around 
Botolph Lane. Most residential units in the City are flats with one or two 
bedrooms, which is consistent with the need assessment of unit sizes 
recommended in the City of London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) 2023.  

4.1.3     The City Corporation is the strategic housing authority for the City of London 
and a landlord responsible for over 1,900 social tenanted properties and over 
900 leaseholder properties across London. The City Corporation provides over 
1,800 social housing units on 11 estates that it owns and manages outside of 
the City of London in the six London boroughs of Southwark, Islington, 
Lewisham, Lambeth, Hackney and Tower Hamlets. This is in addition to social 
housing provided within the City. The City Corporation has a current waiting list 
of 977 (in 2023), 175 of which are existing tenants who are insufficiently 
housed. 

4.1.4    Clustering new housing development in or near existing residential areas allows 
greater opportunity to protect residential amenity and deliver a high-quality 
residential environment. Residential clustering reduces potential conflict with 
commercial and office uses. There may be occasional opportunities for new 
residential development on appropriate sites near identified residential areas, 
such as through the re-use of heritage assets, where the potential to meet 
future office needs may be limited by site-specific considerations. 

4.1.5     References to housing in this Plan include market and affordable housing 
(comprising social rented housing, affordable rented housing and intermediate 
housing), hostels, sheltered and extra-care housing. It also includes Built to 
Rent and Co-Living accommodation which are likely to have an increasing role 

Page 375



 

33 

 

in meeting future housing needs, particularly for City workers at an early stage 
of their careers. References to housing in this Plan do not include student 
accommodation, as it may be appropriate in different locations to other forms of 
housing. 

4.1.6     Co-Living accommodation will contribute towards meeting general housing 
need at the national ratio for non-self contained accommodation of 1.8 
bedrooms to 1 residential unit. Student accommodation contributes to meeting 
general housing need at the national ratio of 2.5 student rooms to 1 residential 
unit.  

Housing requirement 

4.1.7    The NPPF sets out a standardised approach to assessing housing need and 
requires strategic planning authorities to follow this approach in setting housing 
targets in Local Plans. The City of London Local Plan is required to be in 
general conformity with the London Plan, which sets a housing target for the 
City and the London boroughs.  

4.1.8    The London Plan’s strategic framework includes Policy SD5 which indicates that 
residential development is inappropriate in the commercial core of the City of 
London. Within this context, the London Plan is informed by a Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) for London, providing guidance on the 
amount of land potentially available in the City for residential development. The 
2017 SHLAA identifies a potential supply of large housing sites in the City in the 
period 2019-2029 of 527 dwellings and an annual average of 74 dwellings on 
sites under 0.25 hectares, based on past trends. In line with the findings of the 
SHLAA, the London Plan requires the City of London to deliver 1,460 new 
homes during the period 2019/20 – 2028/29. This includes the 740 units that the 
London Plan sets as a target to be provided on small sites of less than 0.25 
hectares in size over the 2019/20 – 2028/29 period. Beyond 2028/29, the 
London Plan requires boroughs and the City to draw on the capacity work which 
underpins the London Plan target and any local evidence of capacity, as well as 
rolling forward London Plan small sites estimates, when setting longer term 
targets. 

4.1.9     Different assessment methods provide different figures for local housing need. 
Using the national standard method for assessing local housing need at the 
time of preparing this Plan, the City’s minimum annual local housing need figure 
would be  102. 

4.1.10   The City Corporation recognises that the wider housing needs across London 
support the case for a higher level of housing in the City than indicated by the 
City’s SHMA. This Local Plan therefore seeks to meet the London Plan housing 
target up to 2029 and to meet the housing requirement identified by the national 
standard method up to 2040. 

4.1.11   Housing delivery in the City is impacted by the volatile nature of the wider 
London housing market. If past volatile trends continue, new housing delivery in 
the City is likely to fluctuate from year to year and monitoring and delivery 

Page 376



 

34 

 

performance should therefore be assessed against overall delivery both in the 
period up to 2028/29 for the London Plan and up to 2040 for the City’s wider 
housing target, rather than on an annual basis. The City Corporation has 
prepared a Housing Trajectory which shows that the supply of small and larger 
windfall sites, together with sites in the development pipeline, will provide 
sufficient capacity to meet the London Plan requirement by 2028/29.  

4.1.12  The City Corporation’s Article 4 Direction, which removes permitted 
development rights for the change of use of offices to residential, the size and 
commercial character of the City and the priority given to commercial 
development through London Plan Policy SD5, all mean that new housing 
development in the City of London has been delivered through ‘windfall’ 
development rather than through the allocation of sites. City Corporation 
monitoring shows that in the period 2011/12 to 2021/22, completions and 
permissions on windfall sites will have delivered an annual average of 198 
dwellings per year. It is anticipated that windfalls will continue to deliver the 
majority of housing. The City Corporation has published a brownfield land 
register on its website, identifying land that is suitable for residential 
development in accordance with government requirements.In the event that 
monitoring demonstrates that insufficient housing land is coming forward, the 
City Corporation will review this Plan or bring forward a partial review relating to 
housing land supply.  

4.1.13  The City Corporation has committed to play a leading role in tackling the 
housing shortage in London with a pledge to build hundreds of new social 
homes and thousands of additional mixed tenure homes. The City Corporation 
aims to deliver at least 700 new social homes on City-owned land and housing 
estates with potential for renewal and expansion. Where these homes are 
outside of the City, the City Corporation normally seeks joint nomination rights 
with the host borough to ensure that the housing can meet both City of London 
and host borough housing need. The City Corporation as a strategic landowner 
across London is seeking to deliver a significant number of additional mixed 
tenure homes on other sites in partnership with other providers, in recognition of 
the need for additional housing across London to meet housing needs.The co-
location of the City Corporation owned and managed wholesale markets 
(Smithfield Meat Market, Billingsgate Fish Market and New Spitalfields Fruit and 
Vegetable Market) onto one site in Dagenham would provide an opportunity for 
mixed use redevelopment which could include housing. Affordable Housing 

4.1.14  The City of London can be an expensive area to live in. ONS data shows that 
the affordability ratio of lower quartile house prices to lower quartile residential 
earnings in 2021/22 was 14.25, above the London average of 13.46 and the 
England average of 7.28. The City of London SHMA shows that market rental 
prices in the City were significantly above the London-wide average or the 
average for inner London, indicating a significant problem of affordability. 
Overall, the SHMA suggests affordable dwellings should be maximised to meet 
affordable housing needs. 

Page 377



 

35 

 

Gypsy and traveller accommodation 

The London Plan indicates that, in the absence of an up-to-date local gypsy and 
traveller needs assessment, boroughs should use the need figure set out in Table 4.4 of 
the London Plan. This table indicates that there is no need for specific gypsy and 
traveller accommodation in the City of London. The City Corporation will work with the 
Mayor and London Boroughs in the preparation of a London-wide Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Needs Assessment. 

4.2 Strategic Policy S3: Housing 

The City Corporation will protect existing housing and amenity and encourage additional 
housing concentrated in or near the identified residential areas to meet the City’s needs 
by:  

 Making provision for a minimum of 1,998 net additional dwellings between 2023/24 
and 2039/40: 

• encouraging new housing development on appropriate sites in or near 
identified residential areas; 

• within identified residential areas, prioritising the delivery of affordable 
housing, co-living, build to rent, hostels, sheltered and extra-care housing, 
while recognising that for sale market housing would be likely in some 
instances to have a role to play in making housing development viable; 

• protecting existing housing where it is of a suitable quality and in a suitable 
location; 

• exceptionally, allowing the loss of isolated residential units where there is a 
poor level of amenity; and 

• refusing new housing where it would prejudice the primary business function 
of the City or be contrary to Policy OF2.   

2. Ensuring sufficient affordable housing is provided to meet the City’s housing need 
and contributing to London’s wider housing needs by: 

• ensuring the delivery of a minimum of 50% affordable housing on public 
sector land; and 

• requiring residential developments with the potential for 10 or more units to 
provide a minimum of 35% affordable housing on-site. Exceptionally, new 
affordable housing may be provided off-site, or through an equivalent cash-in 
lieu payment, if evidence is provided to the City Corporation’s satisfaction that 
on-site provision cannot be satisfactorily delivered and is not viable; and 

• providing an appropriate mix of affordable tenures, addressing identified need 
in the City of London, including social or London affordable rented housing 
and intermediate housing (living rent, shared ownership or other genuinely 
affordable products) for rent or sale. 

Page 378



 

36 

 

3. Requiring a publicly accessible viability and feasibility assessment to be submitted to 
justify any proposals that do not meet on-site or off-site affordable housing 
requirements in this policy. Where policy targets are not able to be met when an 
application is decided, the City Corporation will require an upwards only review 
mechanism to be applied to ensure that the benefits of any subsequent uplift in 
values or reduction in costs are reflected in affordable housing contributions. 

4. Ensuring that other new land uses within identified residential areas are compatible 
with residential amenity.  

5. Requiring at least 10% of new dwellings to meet Building Regulation requirement 
M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ and all other new dwellings to meet Building 
Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.2.0 London has a severe housing shortage caused by a growing population and an 
inadequate supply of housing units. The lack of suitable and affordable housing 
has been identified by many businesses and business groups as a key 
constraint to further economic development and investment. The scale of 
housing proposed will contribute towards meeting local and wider London 
housing needs whilst still ensuring that the City remains predominantly a 
commercial office centre of national importance.  

4.2.1 New housing in the City may be suitable for people that need to live near their 
workplace, especially key workers. Suitably located housing in the City can 
address local housing need and make a modest contribution to alleviating the 
housing shortage in London and relieving pressure on the transport system.  

4.2.2 The London Plan detailed Policy H11 supports Build to Rent developments. Build 
to Rent accommodation is specifically designed for renting, is typically owned 
by institutional investors, offers the potential for longer term returns for investors 
and importantly, longer lease terms and security for tenants. The City 
Corporation will support Build to Rent in or near the City’s residential areas and 
where it meets the detailed requirements in the London Plan. 

4.2.3 The City Corporation considers that there is potential within or near the identified 
residential areas for co-living accommodation and will encourage such provision 
on appropriate sites. Co-living accommodation will typically provide private 
ensuite bedrooms, shared social and kitchen spaces and co-working spaces. 
They are often suitable for people at early stages of their career. 

4.2.4 Where appropriate, the City Corporation will support the appropriate regeneration 
of residential estates in the City where it will deliver improved living conditions 
for existing tenants and provide additional housing to meet housing needs. 

4.2.5 Many households in London already require accessible or adapted housing to 
lead dignified and independent lives. More Londoners are living longer and with 

Page 379



 

37 

 

the incidence of disability increasing with age, older people should have the 
choice of remaining in their own homes rather than moving to alternative 
accommodation. 

How the policy works 

4.2.6    To ensure that permissions for new housing are built out in a timely fashion, 
developers should provide information on the expected completion date for new 
residential development. The City Corporation will keep this under review and 
expect developers to liaise with the Corporation where it becomes apparent that 
anticipated completion dates cannot be achieved.  

4.2.7    There is a presumption in national policy and the London Plan that new 
affordable housing associated with housing development should be provided 
on-site. The City Corporation will expect developers to deliver on-site affordable 
housing in new housing development above the affordable housing threshold 
unless it can be demonstrated through robust assessments that on-site 
provision is not feasible or viable and that off-site provision would better deliver 
mixed and inclusive communities than on-site provision. 

4.2.8     The City Corporation requires commercial development to make a financial 
contribution towards off-site affordable housing delivery instead of delivering 
mixed use development including housing on commercial sites. These 
contributions are used to deliver new affordable housing principally on City 
Corporation housing estates within and outside the City of London. 

4.2.9     Land within the City is an expensive and limited resource and there is a policy 
priority to deliver new office floorspace to strengthen its strategically important 
business role. The City Corporation therefore also works with housing partners 
to deliver new affordable housing on sites in the City fringe and in neighbouring 
boroughs, principally on City Corporation-owned housing estates, utilising 
commuted sums from commercial and housing developments within the City. 
This approach has been supported by the GLA and has provided affordable 
housing in locations in or near the City that meet local housing need, whilst 
making the best use of scarce City land for strategically important commercial 
activity. Although some affordable housing provision outside the City will 
continue to be funded by contributions from commercial development in the 
City, the presumption in this Plan is that new housing development in the City 
should provide affordable housing on-site. 

4.2.10  The London Plan and the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability 
Supplementary Planning Guidance set a strategic target for 50% of all new 
homes across London to be affordable, with a minimum threshold of 35% 
affordable housing on all developments comprising more than 10 units or which 
have a combined floorspace greater than 1,000m2. The Mayor has adopted a 
threshold approach to the consideration of applications for housing. Schemes 
which meet or exceed 35% affordable housing, or 50% on public sector land, 
are not required to submit viability information. Where an application does not 
meet these requirements, a viability assessment is required and the 
development will be subject to viability review as development progresses. 

Page 380



 

38 

 

4.2.11   In light of the Mayor’s approach and the shortage of available affordable 
housing to meet the needs of London’s workforce, a minimum of 35% affordable 
housing will be required on residential schemes in the City, with an ambition to 
deliver higher levels of affordable housing where this is viable. On public sector 
owned land, the higher 50% target will be applied as set out in the London Plan. 
The presumption is that affordable housing provision should be made on- site 
and all sites will be expected to deliver at least the minimum required level of 
affordable housing. Off-site provision or cash in lieu contributions will only be 
accepted in exceptional cases. In exceptional cases where off-site provision or 
cash in lieu contributions are considered to be acceptable in principle, 
agreements for this should provide no financial benefit to the applicant relative 
to on-site provision and should include review mechanisms in line with the 
Viability Tested Route, as set out in the London Plan. This means that the off-
site provision, or the financial contribution, will be set at a level which captures 
the full uplift in value when delivering 100% market housing. This will ensure 
that the development is not more viable when the affordable housing obligation 
is satisfied through off-site provision or a cash in lieu payment in comparison to 
on-site delivery. The level of off-site provision, or the amount of the cash in lieu 
payment, must be sufficient to deliver at least the same number, size and type 
of affordable homes that would be required on-site. Further guidance on 
affordable housing requirements, including the methodology for calculating the 
level of cash-in lieu or off-site contributions required is set out in the City 
Corporation’s Planning Obligations SPD. This guidance will be kept under 
review and amended as required to ensure financial contributions keep pace 
with the cost of delivering affordable housing and will continue to be sufficient to 
meet the full affordable housing requirements set out in this Plan. 

4.2.12   Developments that propose lower levels of affordable housing, or where a 
developer considers particular circumstances exist that make a policy compliant 
scheme unviable, will need to be supported by robust viability assessments. 
These assessments will be published alongside other publicly accessible 
planning application information on the City Corporation’s website. The City 
Corporation will commission an independent review of submitted assessments, 
with the cost being met by the applicant. Consideration of viability and overall 
levels of affordable housing should take place at pre-application stage to avoid 
unnecessary delays in the determination of submitted planning applications. 

4.2.13   The requirement for on-site affordable housing in this Plan must be reflected in 
the price paid for land for residential development in the City. Overpaying for a 
site is not an appropriate justification for failing to meet the affordable housing 
target. 

4.2.14   Where a viability assessment demonstrates that the Plan’s affordable housing 
targets cannot be met, the level of contribution should be determined based on 
the maximum amount of affordable housing at the relevant tenure split that 
could be provided on-site, as assessed through viability assessments. The 
detailed wording and timing of these review mechanisms will be determined on 
a case by case basis, having regard to the City Corporation’s Supplementary 
Planning Document and London Plan Guidance prepared by the Mayor. 

Page 381



 

39 

 

4.2.15   Various types of affordable housing are included within the national definition of 
affordable housing. The London Plan indicates that a minimum of 30% should 
be low cost rented homes, including social rent and London affordable rent, and 
a minimum of 30% should be intermediate products, such as shared ownership.  
The remaining 40% should be determined by the relevant borough based on 
identified need. The City’s SHMA found that the need for intermediate housing 
products was relatively low and that social rented units would most successfully 
address the City’s affordable housing needs.  However, different and innovative 
forms of affordable housing are being developed and the viability and suitability 
of particular tenures is likely to change over the Plan period. The tenure of 
affordable housing will therefore need to be determined on a site by site basis, 
having regard to evidence of need in the City and London Plan requirements. 
Developers should liaise with the City Corporation’s Department of Community 
and Children’s Services to determine an appropriate mix for proposed schemes.  

4.2.16  The term ‘intermediate’ housing covers a range of different housing types, 
including shared ownership products, other low-cost homes for sale and 
intermediate rent. The City Corporation will take a flexible approach towards 
intermediate housing, based on the circumstances of each site, and will 
encourage provision that meets the needs of essential local workers where 
possible. 

4.3 Policy HS1: Location of New Housing 

1. New housing will be encouraged on suitable sites in or near identified residential 
areas. Within these areas a mix of residential, commercial, community, cultural and 
other uses will be permitted. 

2. New housing must not: 

• prejudice the primary business function of the City. Where proposed 
development would, result in the loss of office floorspace it must meet the 
requirements of Policy OF2; 

• inhibit the development potential or business activity in neighbouring 
commercial buildings and sites; or 

• result in poor residential amenity within existing and proposed development, 
including excessive noise or disturbance.  

3. Where existing residential estates are being redeveloped, an increased number of 
residential units will be expected, and the existing affordable housing on-site must 
be re-provided with at least the equivalent floorspace and tenure of affordable 
housing. Affordable housing which is re-provided must be offered to existing tenants 
at rents and service charges equivalent to those in the properties being replaced. 

 

 

Page 382



 

40 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.3.0    The City is a busy and sometimes noisy place, with a high density of 
development and business activity at all times during the day and evening, 
seven days a week which has the potential to cause disturbance to residents. 
Large parts of the City are unsuitable for new housing because it could have an 
adverse impact on the City’s primary business role and would be likely to have 
poor residential amenity. The London Plan indicates that residential 
development is inappropriate in identified parts of the City to ensure that the 
current and future potential to assemble sites and deliver office development is 
not compromised by residential development. Elsewhere in the City, the London 
Plan indicates that offices and other strategic functions of the Central Activities 
Zone should be given greater weight in planning terms than residential 
development, except in wholly residential streets or predominantly residential 
neighbourhoods.   

4.3.1    The City’s policy approach is therefore to encourage new housing to be located 
within or near the identified residential areas shown in Figure 3, where 
reasonable residential amenity consistent with a central London location can be 
achieved. This approach helps to minimise disturbance to residents within the 
areas, while reducing potential conflict with the development and operation of 
commercial uses and providing a suitable framework for delivery of additional 
housing in the City.  

4.3.2     Due to the size and unique character of the City, all new housing has previously 
come forward on ‘windfall’ brownfield sites through the redevelopment or 
conversion of existing buildings as opportunities arise, within a similar policy 
framework to the one in this City Plan. This pattern of housing delivery is 
projected to continue throughout the life of this new Plan, delivering sufficient 
new housing over the Plan period to meet London Plan targets and projected 
local housing need. There is no need to allocate sites in the Local Plan to meet 
housing targets. 

How the policy works 

4.3.3    The policy sets out those parts of the City that are suitable for housing, 
specifically in and around established identified housing areas. In reality, the 
majority of proposals for new housing in and around these areas would be likely 
to be on sites occupied by office uses. It is therefore important to read this  
policy in conjunction with policy OF2.  

4.3.4     Residential development will not normally be permitted along streets which 
have high levels of noise and air pollution unless robust evidence is submitted 
which demonstrates how the development will mitigate the impact of that noise 
and pollution.  

4.3.5     Regeneration of housing estates will often involve the redevelopment of existing 
homes. Regeneration schemes should deliver an increased number of 
dwellings, where this is compatible with the delivery of a high-quality living 
environment for existing tenants. Existing affordable housing must be replaced 

Page 383



 

41 

 

at an equivalent tenure and offered to existing tenants at rents and service 
charges levels equivalent to those in the properties being replaced. Tenants 
should be involved at all stages of the process and have the opportunity to 
shape the proposals. Regeneration schemes should seek opportunities to 
improve social infrastructure and open spaces within the estate. This will help 
protect established local communities.   

      Figure 3: Residential areas 

4.4 Policy HS2: Loss of housing 

The net loss of existing housing units, including the amalgamation of residential units, 
will not be permitted except where: 

1. they provide poor amenity to residents which cannot be improved; or 

2. they do not have a separate entrance; or 

3. exceptionally, they are located outside identified residential areas and their loss 
would enable beneficial development for the business City. 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.4.0    The net loss of existing housing units will be resisted because of the limited 
opportunities to replace it in the City. This policy will also be applied to 
proposals for the amalgamation of adjoining residential units unless the existing 

Page 384



 

42 

 

accommodation is of such poor quality that it cannot provide a reasonable 
standard of amenity, or the proposed amalgamation of no more than two units 
would meet a clearly identified need for larger family accommodation or for 
retirement purposes. Exceptionally the net loss of existing housing may be 
acceptable outside residential areas where the development of offices will have 
a significant beneficial impact for the City. Isolated residential units outside 
identified residential areas can suffer poor amenity, such as noise nuisance and 
other disturbance due to non-residential uses in close proximity, including clubs 
and pubs, and can be adversely affected by the operation of the business City. 

4.4.1     Development sites that have received planning permission for residential units, 
and which demonstrate that there is a deliverable housing element, will be 
refused permission for change of use to non-residential use.  

4.5 Policy HS3: Residential environment 

The amenity of existing residents will be protected by resisting uses that would cause 
unacceptable disturbance from noise, fumes and smells and vehicle or pedestrian 
movements.  

1. New noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential uses where 
possible. Where residential and other uses are located within the same 
development or area, adequate noise mitigation measures must be provided within 
the new development and, where required, planning conditions will be imposed to 
protect residential amenity. 

2. All development proposals should be designed to minimise overlooking and seek 
to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting levels to adjacent residential 
accommodation. Light spill from development that could affect residential areas 
should be minimised, in line with policy DE9. 

3. The cumulative impact of planning applications for individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.5.0     The City is predominately a centre of business, with activity taking place at all 
times during the day and evenings, 7 days a week. This sometimes results in 
noise and disturbance to residents from new commercial development and 
commercial activities nearby. While the City Corporation will endeavour to 
minimise noise and other disturbance to residents it is inevitable that living in 
such a densely built-up area will result in some disturbance from a variety of 
sources, particularly outside the identified residential areas.  

4.5.1     The need to minimise overlooking and overshadowing of residential 
accommodation and minimise light spill where it impacts on residential 
accommodation, is a consideration in the design and layout of both new 
residential buildings and other development. However due to the density of 

Page 385



 

43 

 

development in the City it may not always be possible to entirely avoid any 
impacts on amenity. 

How the policy works 

4.5.2     The ‘Agent of Change’ principle makes developers responsible for addressing 
at the design stage the environmental and other impacts of development on 
existing neighbouring occupiers. Applicants for development near to existing 
residential properties should identify potential impacts on residential amenity 
and set out measures to mitigate those impacts within their Design and Access 
Statements or other supporting application documents. Where required, 
planning conditions will be imposed to limit hours of operation and servicing 
within predominantly residential areas.  

4.6 Policy HS4: Housing quality standards 

All new housing must be of a high-quality design and of a standard that facilitates the 
health and wellbeing of occupants and neighbouring occupants, and: 

1. meets London Plan housing space standards, including outdoor space standards 
and amenity space for individual units; 

2. meets standards for Secured by Design or similar certification;  

3. maximises opportunities for providing communal open and leisure space for 
residents; 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.6.0     All new housing, including changes of use to housing from other uses, will be 
expected to provide well designed, high quality living environments, both 
internally and externally, incorporating principles of inclusive, secure and 
sustainable design.  

How the policy works 

4.6.1     Housing development should comply with the requirements in the London Plan 
The layout should incorporate sufficient space and facilities for waste, recycling 
bins and disabled and cycle parking. 

4.6.2     Private outdoor space should be provided in line with London Plan standards. 
Amenity space for residents could include gardens, roof top gardens/terraces, 
private balconies and the provision of new sports and recreational facilities. Play 
space should also be included in line with the requirements in Policy HL8. There 
should be no distinction between amenity spaces and play areas for private and 
affordable housing residents. Proposals which seek to restrict access to such 
areas by affordable housing tenants will be refused.  

Page 386



 

44 

 

4.7 Policy HS5: Short term residential letting  

1. Short term letting of permanent residential premises for over 90 days in a calendar 
year will not normally be permitted as it would reduce the stock of permanent housing 
in the City and may adversely impact the amenity of existing residents. 

2. Short term letting to provide residential accommodation for commercial purposes will 
not be permitted unless the units are contained within a separate building and will not 
be permitted if mixed with permanent residential accommodation.   

3. Where short term residential letting is permitted for commercial purposes, conditions 
will be imposed to prevent any later changes to permanent residential use in 
unsuitable accommodation or locations. 

 

Reason for the policy 

4.7.0    The City of London is primarily a commercial office centre. There is a small 
stock of permanent residential properties, and this stock needs to be maintained 
and increased to ensure that the City can continue to meet its assessed 
housing need. Loss of residential accommodation to short-term letting would 
reduce the overall stock of permanent housing and the City’s ability to meet its 
housing need. At the same time, there is some demand for residential 
accommodation that can be let on a short-term basis to provide for the needs of 
the City’s business community, particularly for visiting workers. Such short-term 
accommodation has a role to play but should not be mixed with permanent 
residential accommodation as it can impact the amenity of neighbours. 

How the policy works 

4.7.1     Under the Deregulation Act 2015, short-term letting for less than 90 days in a 
calendar year of domestic premises liable for council tax does not require 
planning permission. Letting for periods of more than 90 days in a calendar year 
would require permission. 

4.7.2     Short term residential lets of more than 90 days in a calendar year within 
domestic premises will not normally be permitted as they would reduce the 
stock of permanent housing in the City, possibly jeopardise housing delivery 
targets, and adversely impacting on the amenity of existing residents.  

4.7.3     Change of use of short term residential letting accommodation to permanent 
dwellings will normally be permitted where housing and amenity standards are 
met and the location accords with Policy HS1. 

4.7.4     Where short term lets are proposed, the units should be contained in a separate 
block that is designed and managed for this purpose rather than forming part of 
a mixed block of short term and permanent residential units or short term 
residential lets and commercial activities. 

Page 387



 

45 

 

4.7.5     The requirement for the provision of affordable housing in Policy S3 applies to 
the commercial provision of self-contained short let residential accommodation. 

4.8 Policy HS6: Student accommodation and hostels  

1. Proposals for new Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) and hostels should 
support the City of London’s primary business function and the vibrancy of the 
Square Mile. They will only be permitted where: 

• they would meet high standards of design and amenity for occupants; 

• there are appropriate amenities for occupants in the local area; 

• they are well connected to relevant further or higher education institutions; 

• they would not prejudice the primary business function of the City, or result in 
the loss of suitably located and viable office floorspace, contrary to Policy 
OF2; 

• they would not have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of the area; 
and 

• they would not involve the loss of permanent residential accommodation. 

2. Proposals for PBSA should be supported by identified further or higher educational 
institutions operating in the City of London or the Central Activities Zone. 

3. 35% of student accommodation on a site should be secured as affordable student 
accommodation as defined through the London Plan and associated guidance. 

4. The loss of existing student accommodation and hostels to other suitable uses which 
are in accordance with Local Plan policies will be permitted where there is no longer 
a need to provide accommodation for CAZ based universities or there is evidence 
that student accommodation is impacting on residential or business amenity.  

 

Reason for the policy 

4.8.0     The demand for student accommodation in London continues to grow. Higher 
education provision is a key part of London’s attractiveness as a World City and 
supports the City of London’s commercial role. However, opportunities for 
residential development in the City are limited and student accommodation may 
represent an opportunity lost to meet other housing needs in residential areas. 

 

How the policy works 

4.8.1    New Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) should be supported by an 
identified further or higher educational institution for the housing of its own 
students.  To reduce the need to travel between student accommodation and 

Page 388



 

46 

 

educational institutions, PBSA providers should seek support from institutions 
within the City or the Central Activities Zone through nomination agreements in 
line with London Plan requirements. Nomination agreements, secured by s106 
agreements, will be required for all affordable student accommodation.  

4.8.2    The Housing Delivery Test establishes a national ratio that every 2.5 student 
bedrooms in PBSA meet the same housing need as one conventional housing 
unit and contribute to meeting the City’s housing target at this ratio.  

4.8.3    Student accommodation, like all development in the Square Mile, should meet 
the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design. To help achieve this, 
the appropriate proportions of accessible rooms should be provided, in line with 
guidance issued by the Greater London Authority, which advises that the 
relevant part of London Plan Policy E10 Part H applies to development 
proposals for new non-self-contained student accommodation. 

4.8.4     Student accommodation should be built to a high standard, including 
appropriate sunlight and daylight levels. 

4.8.5     New student accommodation must not impact adversely on the amenity of 
existing residents or occupiers, either individually or cumulatively with other 
student accommodation developments. Developers will be expected to 
proactively liaise with local residents and businesses to manage the impacts of 
the development and offer mitigation solutions. Applicants will be required to 
submit Management Statements detailing how amenity issues will be 
addressed.  

4.8.6     Hostels can contribute to providing accommodation for homeless people. The 
City Corporation’s Homelessness Strategy outlines how the Corporation will 
seek to reduce the incidence of rough sleeping in the City through collaborative 
working with outreach services, health services, the City of London Police, 
businesses and others. The Strategy seeks to provide appropriate 
accommodation options for homeless people, including through the use of s106 
contributions to deliver new affordable housing or hostels. Hostels may be 
acceptable within or near identified residential areas, where the amenity of 
existing occupiers is protected. 

4.9 Policy HS7: Older persons housing 

The City Corporation will aim to ensure there is a sufficient supply of appropriate 
housing available for older people by: 

1. Seeking to provide a minimum of 86 net additional dwellings for older persons 
between 2019/20 and 2035/36 2023 and 2040 supporting development that meets 
the specific needs of older people; 

2. supporting development that replaces existing provision for older people with better 
provision that addresses care needs or fosters independent living;  

Page 389



 

47 

 

3. ensuring new development is inclusive and accessible to all to allow people to 
continue living in their own homes; and 

4. resisting development that involves the net loss of housing for older people. 

  

Reason for the policy 

4.9.0    The City of London has an ageing resident population profile, in line with 
national demographic trends. Some people will wish to remain in their own 
homes, with suitable adaptations, or may choose to move into specialist 
housing which caters for the needs of older people, with varying degrees of 
support. The City of London SHMA identifies a need for 86 specialist older 
person units over the life of the Plan, however this figure does not take into 
account older people who choose to stay in their own homes and access 
personalised care. The London Plan has an indicative figure of 10 units per 
year.  

How the policy works 

4.9.1     The City Corporation will work with developers to encourage the provision of 
sufficient accommodation suitable for older people, including provision of 
specialist older persons accommodation, where feasible, to meet identified 
needs. Housing suitable for older persons, including sheltered housing, is 
provided by the City Corporation on its land and estates, inside and outside of 
the City. Provision outside the City may assist in meeting the need for older 
persons housing for City residents through nomination rights. Specialist older 
persons housing should deliver affordable housing in line with Policy S3. 

4.10 Policy HS8: Self and custom housebuilding 

The City Corporation will encourage the provision of self and custom build units within 
large residential schemes.  

 

Reason for the policy 

4.10.0 The Self Build and Custom Housing Building Act 2015 requires councils to create 
a public register of individuals and groups who are interested in acquiring a plot 
to use for a self-build or custom build home. The City Corporation launched its 
own register for prospective self-builders in 2016. 

How the policy works 

4.10.1 There are no large areas of unused land in the City of London that would provide 
an opportunity to create serviced building plots. Furthermore, self-build and 
custom-build are likely to involve lower density development, which would 
conflict with policies in the Plan which seek to maximise housing supply. Given 

Page 390



 

48 

 

these constraints, the City Corporation considers that the best prospect for 
bringing forward suitable land will be in conjunction with large housing 
developments. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 391



 

49 

 

 Offices  

5.1 Strategic Policy S4: Offices 

The City Corporation will facilitate significant growth in office development of the highest 
quality to meet projected economic and employment growth by: 

1. Increasing the City’s office floorspace stock by a minimum of 1,200,000 m2 net during 
the period 2021 to 2040, phased as follows: 

• 2021 – 2026 500,000m2 

• 2026 – 2031 400,000m2 

• 2031 – 2036 200,000m2 

• 2036 – 2040 100,000m2 

2. Ensuring that new floorspace is designed to be flexible to allow the transformation 
and adaptation of space to support new uses, different layouts and configurations, 
different types and sizes of occupiers, and to meet the needs of SMEs, start-up 
companies, creative industries and those requiring move-on accommodation. 

3. Promoting the retrofitting of existing office buildings for office use and upgrades to 
their environmental performance and the quality of accommodation. 

4. Where appropriate, encouraging the provision of affordable office workspace that 
allows small and growing businesses the opportunity to take up space within the City. 

5. Protecting existing office stock from being lost to other uses where there is an 
identified need or where the loss would cause harm to the primary business function 
of the City. Where necessary, conditions may be attached to permissions for new 
office floorspace to secure its long-term use for such purposes. 

Reason for the policy 

5.1.0     The City of London is a world leading international financial and professional 
services centre and has a nationally important role in the economy. The intense 
concentration of business occupiers in a small area is a key part of the 
attraction for companies looking to move into the City. The clustering of 
businesses is a vital part of the City’s operation and contributes to its reputation 
as a dynamic place to do business as well as providing agglomeration benefits. 
The City lies wholly within London’s Central Activity Zone (CAZ) where the 
London Plan promotes further economic and employment growth. 

5.1.1     To maintain this position, it is vital to ensure that sufficient office floorspace is 
available to meet projected employment growth and occupier demand and that 
additional office development is of high quality and suitable for a variety of 
occupiers. The overall office floorspace target of 1,200,000m2 is derived from 
the estimated growth in office employment between  2021 and 2040 and 

Page 392



 

50 

 

represents a 13% increase in floorspace. Capacity modelling demonstrates that 
there are sufficient sites to meet this demand, provided primarily within the City 
Cluster area, supplemented by additional capacity elsewhere in the City. 

5.1.2     The demand target is the central of three projections, based on different 
scenarios for office attendance, office densities, occupancy rates and 
employment projections. The central target is aligned with GLA 2022-based 
long term employment projections for London and the Square Mile.  

5.1.3     Recent years have also seen strong demand for ‘best in class’ or Grade A+ 
floorspace. Many businesses are placing greater value on high-quality 
sustainable and well-being credentials, quiet spaces for phone calls or working, 
abundance of meeting spaces and places for collaboration, good access to 
public transport and food and beverage amenities as well as design that 
communicates the company’s brand and values. 

5.1.4     Office floorspace need will be met through the delivery of new office space and 
through the refurbishment and retrofit of existing space to comply with current 
office floorspace standards and meet the Government-set requirements for 
minimum energy efficiency standards.  

5.1.5    Traditional office based jobs are the dominant sector in the Square Mile, 
representing 59% (346,000) of all jobs in 2021, but emerging office-based firms 
are faster-growing, consisting of 41,600 new jobs (+62% between 2015 and 
2021). There were 22,300 businesses and 590,000 workers in the City in 2021 
and employment is projected to continue to grow over the long term. The City 
accommodates 440,000 office based jobs in an estimated 5.3 million m2 (Net 
Internal Area) of office space. Over 99% of all the City businesses are Small 
and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) with fewer than 250 employees; 80% have 
fewer than 10 employees. 

5.1.6     In  2023, 29% of take-up of office floorspace in the City of London was from 
media and tech firms, compared to 19% from financial companies, indicating an 
increasing shift away from the dominance of financial services, and an 
increasing demand from new types of occupiers.This broader range of 
occupiers is creating requirements for a broader range of office types.  

5.1.7     Demand for Incubator, Accelerator and Co-Working (IAC) floorspace is 
predicted to continue to grow across London and this type of accommodation is 
seen as important to the growth of SMEs. Delivering these types of workspace 
within the City will meet the needs of smaller businesses in particular and help 
to grow both the City and the wider London economy. 

5.1.8     As well as providing flexible space, it is important to ensure that there is 
floorspace that is affordable to start-up and growing businesses. 
Accommodation costs are a major overhead for new businesses and rents in 
the City can be prohibitive to new occupiers. The City has seen substantial 
growth in the serviced and co-working office market in recent years and 
flexibility of lease arrangements provides a range of opportunities to 
accommodate both new and growing businesses. Developers and building 

Page 393



 

51 

 

owners are also encouraged to consider a range of leasing structures, including 
below market rents to ensure that a range of affordable workspaces are 
available to meet demand, in particular from new and emerging sectors of the 
economy and creative industries.  

Figure 4: Office distribution 

How the policy works 

5.1.9     Strategic Policy S4 indicates the amount of floorspace required to meet the 
forecast employment growth and will encourage the flexible floorspace needed 
to attract and retain a range of occupiers.  

5.1.10   The delivery of floorspace in the City will be phased across the plan period, with 
indicative phasing targets identified in the policy. Phasing allows for short term 
monitoring of progress in meeting floorspace targets and effective planning for 
supporting services and infrastructure. A significant amount of office floorspace 
is under construction in the City, much of which will be completed in the first 2 
phasing periods.  

5.1.11   The City Corporation has made an Article 4 Direction removing permitted 
development rights for the change of use of offices (E(g)(i)) to dwelling houses 
(C3) across the whole of the City. The Direction is consistent with the approach 
to office development and protection of offices set out in this Plan. 

Page 394



 

52 

 

5.1.12   Changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020 mean that 
offices can be converted to a range of other Class E commercial, business and 
service uses without planning permission. Where permission is granted for 
office schemes that meet a specific identified need, conditions may be attached 
to ensure the impacts of any proposed later conversion of such space can be 
considered through the planning application process. 

5.2 Policy OF1: Office Development 

1. Office development should: 

• Prioritise the retrofitting of existing buildings; 

• be of an outstanding design and an exemplar of sustainability;  

• be designed for future flexibility to future proof the City’s office stock and 
realise the principles of circular economy design approaches; 

• provide office floorspace suitable for a range of occupiers;  

• provide healthy and inclusive working environments that promote wellbeing; 
and  

• where appropriate, provide a proportion of flexible and affordable workspace 
suitable for micro, small and medium sized enterprises. 

2. Other commercial uses will be encouraged as part of office-led development, 
particularly at ground and basement levels, where such uses would not compromise 
the operation of office premises, would activate streets and provide supporting 
services for businesses, workers and residents.  

 

 

Reason for the policy 

5.2.0     A range of office floorspace is required to accommodate the future needs of the 
City’s office occupiers and this should include provision for incubator, co-
working and accelerator space, as well as provision for larger firms where 
required. Flexible and affordable office floorspace is required that can be easily 
adapted to meet changing workplace and technology requirements and the 
needs of a variety of office occupiers.  

5.2.1    Offices are the predominant land use in the City, but complementary uses are 
required to provide supporting activities and services for businesses, workers 
and residents in appropriate locations within the City. Complementary uses 
which contribute to the City’s economy include retail, leisure, education, health 
facilities and cultural uses. A mix of commercial land uses, in particular at 
ground floor and basement levels, will be required to create active frontages 
enhancing an area’s vitality and provide important complementary services. 
They also provide opportunities for creativity, collaboration and social 
interaction, which are key to the success of the City’s business clusters. Some 

Page 395



 

53 

 

uses have the potential to undermine the functioning, servicing and use of 
offices, particularly in areas of high density employment and where offices are 
required to be serviced overnight. 

How the policy works 

5.2.2    Proposals for new office development should demonstrate design quality and 
flexibility to accommodate a range of businesses. Particular encouragement will 
be given to floorspace which meets the needs of small businesses, start-ups 
and incubator space. Office development should include a suitable mix of 
complementary commercial or other uses appropriate to the site and location 
and contribute to the creation of active frontages at street level. Where 
appropriate, conditions or legal obligations may be used to ensure the delivery 
of a range of affordable workspaces. 

5.2.3    Many office lobbies have been designed to project a corporate image, and 
function as through space to access lifts. This can lead to a blank frontage on 
the street, especially with large windows on the façade with minimal internal 
activity and no public access. A lobby has the potential to be a more interesting 
and engaging space. Lobbies can be multifunctional spaces for interaction and 
provide spaces that contribute positively to the life of the City. The addition of 
publicly accessible facilities (including public toilets), co working spaces, 
breakout spaces, art gallery or cafes can create a more active lobby. Office 
buildings should include dynamic ground level uses to enhance their lobbies. 
Entrances should be easy to identify and should allow everyone to use them 
independently without additional effort, separation or special treatment. 
Revolving entrance doors are not accessible to a range of people. 

5.3 Policy OF2: Protection of Existing Office Floorspace  

1. The loss of existing office floorspace will be resisted unless it can be 
demonstrated that: 

• the proposed development would not lead to the loss of office floorspace that 
is, or sites that are, of a strategically important scale, type and/or location for 
the City;  

• the proposed development would not compromise the potential for office 
development on sites within the vicinity; and 

• there is no demand in the office market, supported by marketing evidence 
covering a period of no less than 12 months. 

2. Where the criteria in part 1 of this policy have been met, proposals that would 
lead to the loss of existing office floorspace may follow one of the following 
routes: 

a. Viability tested route: Proposed development will be required to 
demonstrate that the retention, refurbishment or reprovision of the office 

Page 396



 

54 

 

floorspace would not be viable in the longer term, demonstrated by a 
viability assessment;  

b. Retrofit fast track: Proposed development will be required to retain the 
substantial majority of the superstructure of the existing building, lead to 
an improvement in the environmental performance of the building, and 
result in change of use to (one or a mix of) hotel use, cultural uses, and/or 
educational use. Partial retention of office floorspace will be encouraged; 

c. Residential areas route: the loss of office floorspace is proposed on a site 
within or immediately adjacent to identified residential areas and would 
result in the provision of additional housing; 

d. Ground floor uses: the loss of office floorspace would be limited to ground 
or below ground levels, and proposed new uses would be complementary 
to continued office use on upper floors. Active frontage uses will be 
required at ground floor levels in most instances. 

 

Reason for the policy 

5.3.0    The City is the world’s leading international financial and professional services 
centre and is recognised as having a key role in the UK economy. To maintain 
this position and accommodate the projected increase in employment and 
office floorspace, it is important to maintain the substantial majority of existing 
office stock whilst accommodating future demand through the provision of 
flexible floorspace that is suitable for a range of occupiers and refurbished 
office space.  

5.3.1     The protection and refurbishment of existing office space is important to 
ensure that there is sufficient floorspace to meet future demand, and to offer a 
range of office stock to provide choice in terms of location and cost to potential 
occupiers. This includes ‘best in class’, grade A and grade B floorspace. While 
the current market for grade B space in the City is facing headwinds, with 
some traditional grade B occupiers shifting to more flexible working patterns or 
seeking other forms of flexible workspace, it remains uncertain whether this 
will persist over the longer term. This will be monitored and guidance will be 
issued if required to provide additional advice on appropriate responses to this 
potential challenge.  

5.3.2     Following changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020, 
existing offices can be converted to a range of other Class E commercial, 
business and service uses without planning permission, unless there are 
specific planning conditions attached to a site which prevent this.  

5.3.3    Refurbishment of office floorspace will be encouraged to accommodate future 
needs, whilst aligning with the sustainability principles set out in Policy DE1 
and the need to find suitable and sustainable uses for historic buildings.  

Page 397



 

55 

 

5.3.4    The City of London Local Plan has for many years sought to protect suitably 
located and viable office floorspace, with marketing and viability evidence 
required to support proposals that result in a loss of office floorspace. This 
approach, supported by policy in the London Plan, has successfully protected 
the critical mass of office floorspace in the City, helping to maintain its primary 
office function. This broad approach will be maintained. However, there are 
instances where conversion of office buildings to other uses may assist in 
making the retention of existing buildings a more attractive investment 
opportunity, contributing to the ‘retrofit first’ approach promoted in this Plan. 
This approach could also assist in delivering a greater range of facilities and 
uses in the City, complementing the primary function of the Square Mile while 
helping to deliver more vibrancy and a focus on increasing visitors. To achieve 
this, the ‘retrofit fast track’ approach has been introduced, removing the 
requirement for viability justification for a change of use in the circumstances 
set out in policy. The alternative uses set out – education, culture and hotels – 
would all help to create a more vibrant Square Mile.  

5.3.5    Within and immediately adjacent to identified residential areas, the loss of 
office floorspace for which there is no ongoing demand may assist in providing 
housing, to help meet the housing requirement set out in this Plan. 

How the policy works 

5.3.6    Where loss of office is proposed, development will need to meet all the criteria 
set out in part 1 of the policy, and will need to pursue one of the four routes set 
out in part 2.  

5.3.7    Robust evidence of the marketing of the building or site for continued office 
use over a period of at least 12 months will need to be demonstrated to 
comply with part 1 of the policy. The City Corporation will need to be satisfied 
that the site/building has been offered at a realistic price commensurate with 
the value of the site/building for office use and that active promotion has been 
undertaken by the agents marketing the site over the period.  

5.3.8    Viability assessments submitted in accordance with this policy will be made 
public, other than in exceptional circumstances, as set out in Policy PC1. 
Viability assessments should include the following:  

• Site description; 

• A valuation of the building in its existing use unfettered by any hope 
value; 

• Total costs of maintaining the building as existing and in the future; 

• Costs of refurbishing or redeveloping the building for office use; 

• Information on rents and capital values;  

• Information on current and recent occupation;  

• Target rates of return (internal rate of return or other appropriate 
measure); and 

Page 398



 

56 

 

• Sensitivity testing to support the robustness of the report conclusions. 

5.3.9    Where a change in use is proposed from office floorspace to another use, 
including complementary uses which enhance the attractiveness of the City, or 
meet other policy priorities set out in this Plan, then the provision of a full 
viability assessment may not be required. This would include where 
complementary uses meet the needs of City workers, residents and visitors 
and help make City buildings much more open and welcoming to all, or where 
educational facilities which help attract talented individuals or innovative 
business to the City are proposed. It would also include where the change of 
use of office floorspace at ground and lower ground levels improves the 
vibrancy of an area by introducing more active frontages and delivering more 
permeable buildings and spaces. The priority to reduce carbon emissions and 
retain embodied carbon set out in Plan also means that changes of use from 
office to alternative uses which retain embodied carbon may also not require 
full viability information to justify the loss of office.  

5.3.10  Further guidance on the evidence required to support the loss of office 
floorspace is set out in the Office Use SPD.  

5.4 Policy OF3: Temporary ‘Meanwhile’ Uses 

1. Temporary use of vacant commercial, business and service buildings or sites 
(‘meanwhile’ uses) will be encouraged where the proposed use would not result in 
adverse impacts on the amenity of the surrounding area or the primary business role 
of the City. Where temporary permission is granted, it will be for a period not 
exceeding 36 months and the site will revert to its prior lawful use thereafter. Culture 
and Vibrancy Plans that accompany major developments should explore the potential 
for meanwhile use. 

2. Residential development is not considered an appropriate meanwhile use and will not 
be permitted.  

3. Where a major development would affect existing ground floor or podium level active 
uses (Class E (a)-(f)), these units should be kept in active use for as long as possible 
prior to development taking place. Culture and Vibrancy Plans should set out how 
this will be achieved. 

 

Reason for the policy 

5.4.0    Where buildings or sites in Class E commercial, business or service uses are 
vacant, and development is not expected in the short term, ‘meanwhile’ or 
temporary uses will be supported to ensure the vitality and vibrancy of the City 
is maintained, subject to the impact on surrounding uses.  

5.4.1    Many development sites in the City include shops, restaurants and other active 
uses within the curtilage. Where leases end prior to redevelopment, these units 

Page 399



 

57 

 

can remain vacant for long periods, undermining the vibrancy of the area. 
Meanwhile uses of these spaces prior to redevelopment would help to address 
this.  

How the policy works  

5.4.2  ‘  Meanwhile’ uses will be granted subject to conditions for a maximum of 36 
months, after which the use will revert to its prior lawful use. Applications to 
extend the period of the ‘meanwhile’ use or make it permanent will be 
considered against the relevant policies in the Development Plan and will not be 
permitted unless it is demonstrated that the permanent loss of the prior lawful 
use is acceptable.   

Page 400



 

58 

 

 Retail 

6.1 Strategic Policy S5: Retail and active frontages 

The City Corporation will seek to make the City’s retail areas more vibrant, with a 
greater mix of retail, leisure, entertainment, experience, culture, and other 
appropriate uses across the City. The City will work with the BIDs, landowners, 
operators, and other partners to enrich the ‘ground floor economy’, encourage 
active frontages and to provide different offers across different parts of the Square 
Mile, informed by their character, function and potential. 

The City will seek to improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment in the City of London, promoting the development of the City’s four 
Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) and the wider distribution of retail by:  

1. Focusing new large-scale retail development in the PSCs and encouraging a 
vibrant retail offer across the Square Mile. 

2. Supporting proposals that contribute towards the delivery of additional retail 
floorspace across the City to meet future demand up to 2040. 

3. Requiring major retail developments over 2,500m2 gross floorspace to be 
located within or near PSCs. Where suitable sites cannot be identified within 
PSCs, sites immediately adjoining the PSCs should be considered. Other areas 
of the City will only be considered where no suitable sites are identified within or 
adjoining the PSCs.  

4. Requiring a Retail Impact Assessment for schemes outside PSCs of 2,500m2 

gross floorspace and above. The cumulative impact of retail floorspace will be 
taken into account in the assessment of planning applications. 

5. Focusing comparison and convenience shops within the PSCs, with a broader 
mix of retail and other active, publicly accessible frontage uses on the 
peripheries of the centres.  

6. Supporting the provision of retail uses that provide active and publicly 
accessible frontages at street level across the City where they would not detract 
from the viability and vitality of the PSCs. 

7. Supporting a greater diversity of retail uses in all areas, and encourage 
contextual approaches for the provision of different types of retail use. 

8. Retail and other relevant uses will be encouraged to open at evenings and 
weekends, particularly in and around areas where there are key attractions. 

 

 

Page 401



 

59 

 

 
Reason for the policy 

6.1.0    The City’s retail offer has seen significant challenges in recent years as a result 
of the covid pandemic and changing working patterns, as well as notable retail 
growth in the Liverpool Street area, bolstered by the opening of the Elizabeth 
line. Over the longer term, evidence shows significant demand for growth in 
retail uses in the City. The City’s growing working population and the increasing 
number of visitors, as well as the Square Mile’s high accessibility by public 
transport, create significant opportunities for improvement to the retail offer, 
complementing the wider vision for the City to become a destination of choice 
for visitors.  

6.1.1     Four Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) are identified in the City Plan. They 
provide a variety of comparison and convenience shopping in the City of 
London: Cheapside, Moorgate/Liverpool Street, Fleet Street and Leadenhall 
Market. Cheapside is considered to be the City’s ‘high street’ and has seen 
significant retail development in recent years. Moorgate/Liverpool Street PSC 
has potential to accommodate further retail floorspace, capitalising on the 
opening of the Elizabeth Line and becoming a key retail destination.  

6.1.2     A Retail Needs Assessment undertaken in 2023 identified a need for 
approximately 192,200m2 of additional retail floorspace up to  2040. This is an 
aspirational target based principally on projected employment and visitor 
number growth in the City. Although the City experienced a reduction in footfall 
and reduced retail activity as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, significant 
growth is forecast over the life of this Plan.  

6.1.3     The distribution of retail activity throughout the week has also changed, with a 
shift from a 5 day a week focus around meeting the needs of workers, to more 
hybrid working and a concentration of worker-based activity in the middle of the 
week, although this pattern may shift again depending on workplace 
attendance. Both domestic and international visitor numbers are expected to 
grow, in part building on the City Corporation’s actions to enhance the City as a 
leisure and cultural destination, and this trend will support further retail demand 
and growth.  

6.1.4     Alongside changes in patterns of demand, the rise of multi-channel retailing and 
experiential consumption are changing how stores operate and the nature of the 
consumer experience, which will impact the type, scale and use of stores.  

6.1.5     The PSCs are recognised in the London Plan as ‘CAZ Retail Clusters’ that 
accommodate a range of other commercial uses alongside the retail function 
(see Figure 9). Outside the PSCs, retail units are dispersed across the City. 

How the policy works 

6.1.6     In applying this policy and others in this chapter, retail includes shops, cafes 
and restaurants, and services for use by the general public such as 
hairdressers, banks and building societies, shoe repair and dry cleaning (ie 

Page 402



 

60 

 

those uses covered by use class E(a)-(c)). Other uses within Class E, such as 
gyms and health centres and nurseries (use classes E(d)-(e)) can also be 
suitable in retail areas, as can a range of other community and cultural uses 
and those frequented by members of the public, such as pubs and bars. 
Together this plan refers to all of these uses as active frontages or active 
frontage uses, provided the design of the premises creates a frontage that 
facilitates the visual and physical permeability of the building. For safeguarding, 
nurseries (use class E(f)) do not usually provide an active frontage but they can 
be suitable in retail areas as they provide a valuable service and bring vibrancy 
to an area. 

6.1.7    There are further opportunities to develop the City’s retail offer, allowing for a 
broad mix of retail and other suitable facilities while maintaining a predominance 
of comparison and convenience retail uses. The role and status of the four 
PSCs will be strengthened, encouraging further retail development, enhancing 
the retail offer in the City, supporting its primary business function and the 
growing cultural activity within the City. Improvements to the retail offer outside 
of the PSCs, including pedestrian links will encourage visitors and shoppers by 
creating a welcoming and vibrant environment. 

6.1.8     Major retail development, defined as development over 2,500m2 gross 
floorspace, should locate within PSCs, but where suitable sites are not available 
sites on the edge of the PSCs should be considered before other areas of the 
City. Smaller scale retail development will be encouraged throughout the City, 
where it provides an active frontage and facilities which meet the needs of the 
City’s working population, visitors or local residents. Particular encouragement 
will be given to convenience retail uses near to residential areas that serve the 
needs of residents.  

6.1.9     Active frontages should be provided at street level across the City. Retail uses 
may be permitted on upper floors of major commercial developments, including 
in tall buildings, where they provide additional facilities which are accessible to 
the public and office occupiers.  

6.2 Policy RE1: Principal Shopping Centres 

1. Principal Shopping Centres (PSCs) are designated frontages on the Policies Map. 
Sites or buildings that form part of a designated frontage are considered to be part of 
the PSC in their entirety.  

2. The role of the PSCs as concentrations of comparison and convenience shopping 
will be retained. The loss of existing ground floor retail frontages and/or floorspace 
will be resisted and additional retail provision of varied unit sizes and frontage lengths 
will be encouraged, supported by complementary uses that increase footfall and 
provide active frontages. Where planning permission is required, proposals for 
changes between retail uses within the PSCs will be assessed against: 

• the contribution the unit makes to the function and character of the PSC;  

Page 403



 

61 

 

• maintain an active frontage; and 

• the effect of the proposal on the area in terms of the size of the unit, the length of 
its frontage, the composition and distribution of retail uses within the frontage and 
the location of the unit within the frontage. 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.2.0     The frontages of the four PSCs are defined on the Policies Map. Concentrating 
major new retail development in or near PSCs will ensure that their vitality and 
viability is maintained and will provide an opportunity to focus retail facilities in 
the most appropriate areas of the City, enhancing these as shopping 
destinations for City residents, workers and visitors. In accordance with the 
definition of PSCs set out in this policy, a sequential or retail impact assessment 
will not be required for retail development on any site or building that contains a 
designated frontage in a PSC.  

6.2.1     Retail uses within the PSCs are predominantly comparison and convenience 
uses and the City Corporation considers that this predominance should 
continue, supported by other town centre uses that provide activity at street 
level and create a welcoming and attractive environment for people to shop, 
access services and spend leisure time.  

6.2.2     Following changes to the Use Classes Order introduced in September 2020, 
existing shops, premises providing financial and professional services to the 
public, and restaurants and cafes can be converted to a range of other Class E 
commercial, business and service uses without planning permission, unless 
there are specific planning conditions attached to a site which prevent this. 
Where planning permission is required for changes between retail uses, the City 
Corporation will require the provision of active retail frontages onto the street 
and will also assess the contribution the unit makes to the character of the PSC 
as a whole and its frontage; for example, retail units that are large or in 
prominent locations should be retained in retail use. The net loss of ground floor 
retail uses to non-retail uses within the identified PSC frontages could 
compromise the vitality of the PSCs and will be resisted. 

How the policy works 

6.2.3     Proposals for additional retail development in the PSCs should incorporate a 
range of unit sizes and frontage lengths to help provide a more diverse retail 
offer, whilst retaining a predominance of comparison and convenience shopping 
uses. Retail uses can generate significant numbers of delivery trips and retail 
development proposals will be required to demonstrate how delivery and 
servicing requirements have been addressed in the design process.  

6.2.4     Each PSC in the City has an individual character, which is described below, and 
will be considered in the implementation of policy: 

Page 404



 

62 

 

Cheapside 

6.2.5    Cheapside has been the City of London’s principal marketplace and high street 
since early medieval times, and the City Corporation will work with partners 
including the Cheapside BID to reinforce its role and character as the City’s high 
street, maintaining a predominance of comparison goods retail including fashion 
and clothing outlets.  

6.2.6     There is scope for greater weekend and evening trading and the retail needs 
assessment shows demand for increased retail floorspace. The City 
Corporation will work with the Cheapside BID to promote the area as a 
shopping, business and visitor destination and to support its evolution into a 
seven day a week destination.  

6.2.7    Timed restrictions on vehicular access to Bank Junction and the potential for 
public realm improvements provide an opportunity to achieve greater pedestrian 
movement and enhance links between Cheapside and retail activity within the 
Royal Exchange and further east. Public realm improvements at King Edward 
Street will help to improve links between Cheapside and the Smithfield and 
Barbican area. 

6.2.8     The PSC includes Bow Lane, the ground floor of One New Change, Cheapside 
and Poultry. 

Fleet Street 

6.2.9     Fleet Street is an important historic thoroughfare, with a rich variety of heritage 
assets, that acts as the processional route to St Paul’s Cathedral. The City 
Corporation will work with partners including the Fleet Street Quarter BID to 
revitalise the area, seeking improvements to the public realm and the creation 
of a more distinctive retail and leisure mix, using heritage assets, meanwhile 
uses and development opportunities to enliven the area and create more 
continuous active frontages. 

6.2.10   Ludgate Hill continues the processional route to the west entrance of the 
Cathedral, and contains retail that serves visitors and tourists. This City Plan 
therefore extends the PSC across Ludgate Circus up to St Paul’s Churchyard, 
recognising the important role the area plays in supporting the City’s visitor 
economy.  

Leadenhall Market 

6.2.11   Leadenhall Market PSC is centred on the iconic Grade II* listed Victorian 
market building and includes several surrounding streets. The PSC is located 
within the southern part of the City Cluster which accommodates a significant 
and growing proportion of the City’s workforce. The City Corporation will work 
with the EC BID and other partners to help enliven the area including at 
weekends and evenings, and seek to transform Leadenhall Market to become a 
primary destination for visitors, capitalising on its unique heritage and nearby 
emerging attractions such as public elevated spaces.  

Page 405



 

63 

 

6.2.12   Increased demand arising from the expanding City Cluster workforce will be 
met through the provision of retail units in the surrounding streets. Opportunities 
will be taken to improve wayfinding in the area and better revealing the 
presence of Leadenhall Market itself, and the accessibility of the area will be 
improved.   

Moorgate/Liverpool Street 

6.2.13   Moorgate/Liverpool Street PSC covers a substantial area between and around 
two major stations. Retail demand in this PSC will continue to increase due to 
the improved connectivity arising from the Elizabeth line and development in 
and around Broadgate, supported by further retail provision along routes 
between Liverpool Street and Moorgate stations. There is potential for the PSC 
to expand its 7-day a week role, capitalising on its strong transport accessibility, 
its proximity for inner London residents and to nearby visitor and cultural 
attractions such as the Barbican, Old Spitalfields Market, Petticoat Lane, and 
Shoreditch.  

         Figure 5: Principal Shopping Centres 

 

 

 

 

Page 406



 

64 

 

6.3 Policy RE2: Active frontages  

 Active frontage uses will be encouraged at ground floor level across the City provided 
they: 

• do not impact adversely on the amenity of residents, workers and visitors;  

• do not impact adversely on the operation of office premises; and  

• would not adversely affect the vitality and viability of the PSCs. 

2. The loss of existing active frontage uses will be resisted. Development that proposes 
their loss should be supported by evidence demonstrating that there is no demand 
for active frontage uses and that premises have been actively marketed for a period 
of no less than 12 months. Alternative uses that would support the retail environment 
should be provided. 

3. The loss of convenience retail units located close to, or that meet, a local residential 
need will be resisted, unless it is demonstrated that they are no longer required. 

Reason for the policy 

6.3.0     Many areas of the City contain retail and other active frontage uses that add 
vibrancy to the area and provide valuable services and leisure opportunities for 
workers, residents and visitors. Evidence demonstrates that there is substantial 
future demand for retail floorspace in the City, driven by increased numbers of 
workers and visitors to the Square Mile. The loss of retail and other active 
frontage uses across the City would undermine the ability to meet this demand 
and create a more vibrant City for everyone. 

6.3.1    Retail units outside of PSCs provide local facilities for the City’s workforce, 
enhance the City’s vibrancy, and serve the City’s residential communities. 
Given that most of the City’s retail provision is tailored towards City workers, it is 
important to retain units such as convenience stores that are within easy 
walking distance of the residential areas and meet the day to day needs of 
surrounding communities. Unless they are subject to specific planning 
conditions, such units could be converted to any Class E commercial, business 
and service use without planning permission. 

6.4 Policy RE3: Specialist Retail Uses and clusters 

The City Corporation will seek to retain specialist retail uses and premises that are 
historically and culturally significant to the City of London. 

Existing and potential clusters of retail uses that contribute to the character and vibrancy 
of particular areas will be supported. Development in these areas should enhance and 
support retail uses in the area and deliver active frontages.  

  

Page 407



 

65 

 

Reason for the policy 

6.4.0    Within the City, there are some specialist retail uses and premises that cannot 
be found elsewhere, such as the historic Royal Exchange and the London Silver 
Vaults on Chancery Lane. These uses contribute to the City’s visitor economy 
and to its cultural distinctiveness and should be retained and promoted.   

6.4.1     The City also has number of retail clusters outside the PSCs that play an 
important role in bringing vibrancy to an area or that are an inherent part of the 
area’s character. This includes: 

• Premises around Smithfield market, which is going to see substantial 
change as the new Museum of London relocates to this area. 

• The courts and alleys around Cornhill, which require careful steps to 
ensure they remain (and in some cases become more) vibrant as well as 
improvements to wayfinding.  

• Areas around Middlesex Street and Aldgate High Street, which serve 
residential communities as well as visitors and local workers. Partnership 
working with the Aldgate Connect BID and London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets will be important across the wider area. Additional convenience 
retail in this area will be supported. 

• Areas around Minories, where there is a number of hotels alongside 
residential communities and emerging student housing. Additional 
convenience retail in this area will be supported. 

• Retail around the Golden Lane and Barbican estates, which play a role in 
serving the residential communities. 

• The south side of Holborn around Chancery Lane tube, which contributes 
to the wider ‘central London frontage’ that Camden identify in their Local 
Plan. 

• Many of the the City’s main thoroughfares and areas around transport 
hubs include retail uses. 

6.4.2    There is potential for areas along the Thames riverfront to enhance  the retail 
and leisure offer, where this would contribute to the creation of a vibrant, 
inclusive and welcoming riverfront for all. 

The Thames riverfront, particularly emanating from Millenium Bridge but in 
principle along the full length, where there are opportunities to improve the 
vibrancy of the riverside over the medium and longer term. 

How the policy works 

6.4.3    The City Corporation will work with owners, developers and occupiers to retain 
specialist retail uses and premises where it can be demonstrated that such uses 

Page 408



 

66 

 

are of historical or cultural significance. The City Corporation may attach 
conditions to planning permissions to ensure the retention or replacement of 
specialist facilities on the same site where they are impacted by development 
proposals. 

6.5 Policy RE4: Markets 

Proposals for markets and temporary retail pop-ups will be encouraged where they: 

1. are of an appropriate scale and frequency for their location; 

2. would enhance the vitality and viability of existing retail centres within or outside 
the City; 

3. would not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or 
business occupiers;  

4. would not unduly obstruct pedestrian and vehicular movement; and 

5. would not involve the permanent loss of open space or harm the character of that 
space.  

 

Reason for the policy 

6.5.0    There is an increasing demand for temporary retail pop-ups and street food 
markets, which can support the local economy by generating increased 
vibrancy, retail diversity and footfall. These uses provide greater retail choice, 
enliven the public realm and increase the attractiveness of the City as a place to 
live, work and visit. Pop-up and meanwhile uses can minimise vacancies of 
retail premises while a long-term occupier is sought and may be used to 
animate areas where construction works are taking place. 

6.5.1    Street trading in the City is regulated by the City Corporation under the City of 
London Various Powers Act 1987 (as amended), which restricts permanent 
street trading but allows street trading to take place for temporary periods in 
specified locations. The exception is on Middlesex Street (Petticoat Lane) 
Market, which straddles the boundary between the City and Tower Hamlets, 
where licensed trading is permitted between 9am and 2pm on Sundays. Further 
information on licensing requirements is set out in the City Corporation’s Street 
Trading Policy which is available on the Corporation’s website. 

6.5.2   Temporary street trading, where permitted under the Various Powers Act, can 
operate for up to 14 days in a calendar year under permitted development 
rights. Trading for longer periods will require planning permission. Market 
trading off City streets but within the curtilage of a building will similarly require 
planning permission if undertaken for a period of more than 14 days in a 
calendar year.  

  

Page 409



 

67 

 

How the policy works 

6.5.3     Proposals for markets or temporary retail pop-ups located within a building or its 
curtilage should be ancillary to and complement the main use of the site. When 
assessing proposals for new permanent markets and opportunities for pop-ups, 
the City Corporation will consider the potential for significant adverse impacts 
on the trade of retailers occupying fixed units within the vicinity, together with 
impacts on the amenity of nearby residents or business occupiers, on  
pedestrian and vehicular movement or on open spaces.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 410



 

68 

 

 

 Culture and Visitors 

7.1 Strategic Policy S6: Culture and Visitors  

The City Corporation will maintain and enhance the City of London’s cultural, leisure 
and recreation offer, visitor experiences and infrastructure, and the City’s evening and 
weekend economies to position the Square Mile as a key cultural and leisure 
destination, by:  

1. Encouraging cultural placemaking and creating vibrant and inclusive places that 
contribute to the experience of living, working and visiting the City while 
addressing the needs and aspirations of the City’s communities.  

2. Developing a wide range of cultural, leisure and recreation facilities across the City 
that offer unique experiences at different times of the day and week, in line with 
the Culture Planning Framework, and that support City’s role as a visitor 
destination;  

3. Protecting and enhancing existing areas of cultural significance including cultural 
buildings and leisure and recreation facilities, particularly where they provide an 
anchor for cultural regeneration or where a continuing need exists and ensuring 
there is no overall loss of cultural facilities or diversity in the City;  

4. Providing accessible and inclusive infrastructure and facilities that complement 
cultural, leisure and recreation uses in the City;   

5.  Placing heritage at the heart of cultural placemaking, seeking opportunities to 
embed heritage in the cultural offer and creating spaces and experiences that 
celebrate the City’s rich history, culture and community; 

6. Supporting the development of creative industries and encouraging appropriate 
workspace and digital infrastructure to facilitate their development; 

7. Allowing hotel development where it supports the primary business or cultural role 
of the City;  

8. Enabling a vibrant evening and night-time economy, especially in areas of night-
time activity and around cultural and tourist attractions where public transport such 
as the night tube and night buses are available, ensuring that night-time users are 
well-served with safe and convenient night-time transport;  

9. Maintaining the City’s existing artworks, statues, memorials and culturally 
significant items and pursuing opportunities to commission new, high quality 
artworks in appropriate locations, ensuring they protect and enhance the local 
character, are accessibly and inclusively designed, and contribute towards 
enriching the public realm;  

10. Maintaining and enhancing the City’s open spaces and public realm to 
accommodate cultural events and activities that are inclusive and accessible to all 
City communities, and which promote and celebrate City’s rich heritage and 
culture; and 

Page 411



 

69 

 

11. Encouraging the temporary use of vacant buildings for creative and cultural 
activities. 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.1.0     London has long been recognised as one of the world’s great cultural cities. 
The definition of culture in the context of the City is broad and inclusive; culture 
exists both in the buildings and heritage of the City’s institutions and in the 
streets and informal spaces in between. The City of London contains a huge 
concentration of arts, leisure, recreation and cultural facilities and spaces that 
contribute to its uniqueness and complement its primary business function. 
These include buildings, structures and spaces where culture is either 
consumed (culture consumption spaces) or produced (culture production 
spaces) such as creative workspaces, arts galleries, studios, museums, 
theatres, Livery Halls, libraries, music, sports, entertainment and performance 
venues; and complementary uses which contribute to the primary culture, 
leisure and recreation function such as restaurants, retail, hotels, open spaces 
and tourism facilities. In recent years, a growing number of night-time 
entertainment facilities such as clubs, bars and event venues have located in 
the City, alongside the traditional historic public houses. These cultural 
contributors play a crucial role in enhancing City’s leisure, recreation and 
cultural offer while providing people with a wholesome experience and a sense 
of belonging. Community facilities, open spaces, places of worship, and 
heritage also provide important physical settings for a wide range of cultural, 
leisure and recreation activities that can attract more visitors.  

7.1.1     The City’s cultural offer forms an integral part of the Square Mile, alongside its 
financial and business role. Barbican is identified as a strategic night-time 
location of national or international significance in the London Plan while 
Cheapside and Liverpool Street are identified as night-time areas of more than 
local significance in the London Plan. The London Museum with its new home 
in Smithfield’s iconic market buildings will act as a cultural anchor in one of the 
most historic areas of the Square Mile. 

7.1.2     Destination City, the City Corporation’s flagship strategy, seeks to ensure that 
the City is a global destination for workers, visitors and residents. It aims at 
enhancing the Square Mile’s leisure and cultural offer by creating a sustainable, 
innovative and inclusive ecosystem of culture that celebrates its rich history and 
heritage and makes it more appealing to visitors as well as the City’s working 
and resident communities.  

The City’s cultural infrastructure is important to the distinctive and historically 
significant character of the Square Mile. The international reputation and high 
quality of this cultural activity has a critical part to play in the vibrancy of the 
working environment and adds to the appeal of the City as a place to do 
business. It attracts an increasing number of visitors, with consequent economic 
benefits, and supports the health and wellbeing of the City workers, residents 
and visitors.  

Page 412



 

70 

 

How the policy works 

7.1.3     The City Corporation will require proposals for new development and changes 
of use to protect existing leisure, arts and cultural facilities where they are 
needed and where necessary require appropriate replacement. The City 
Corporation will work with developers and cultural and arts institutions to deliver 
new facilities and spaces where they enhance the attractiveness of the City as a 
business and cultural and leisure destination. 

7.1.4    The City Corporation’s Cultural Planning Framework identifies focal areas 
across the Square Mile, and sets a broad framework that new cultural 
infrastructure, visitor attractions and complementary facilities will be expected to 
help realise. 

7.2 Policy CV1: Protection of Existing Visitor, Arts and Cultural 
Facilities 

1. The City Corporation will resist the loss of existing visitor, arts, and cultural facilities, 
unless: 

• replacement facilities of at least equivalent quality are provided on-site or within 
the vicinity which meet the needs of the City’s communities; or 

• the use can be delivered from other facilities without leading to or increasing any 
shortfall in provision and it has been demonstrated that there is no demand for 
another similar use on the site; or 

• it has been demonstrated that there is no realistic prospect of the premises being 
used for a similar purpose in the foreseeable future. 

2. Proposals resulting in the loss of visitor, arts and cultural facilities must be 
accompanied by evidence of the lack of need for those facilities. Loss of facilities 
will only be permitted where this would facilitate the overall enhancement of visitor, 
arts or cultural provision within the vicinity or where it has been demonstrated that 
the existing facility has been actively marketed for its current or an alternative 
visitor, arts or cultural use at reasonable terms for such a use. 
 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.2.0     The vibrancy of the City’s cultural offer depends on a broad network of arts and 
cultural organisations and facilities, and it is important that there is sufficient 
floorspace available to accommodate these uses. There is strong competition 
for buildings and sites from commercial uses in the City so it will be necessary 
to demonstrate that an existing arts or cultural use is no longer needed before a 
site will be allowed to change use. 

Page 413



 

71 

 

7.2.1    There are many cultural facilities that are unique to the City and maintain an 
historic or cultural association with the Square Mile. Special consideration 
needs to be given to the protection of these facilities to maintain the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. Examples of such facilities include City Livery Halls, 
public houses which have a heritage, cultural, economic or social value to local 
communities, theatres, museums, churches, and specialist retail premises such 
as the Silver Vaults in Chancery Lane.   

How the policy works 

7.2.2     Applicants will be required to demonstrate that an existing visitor, arts or cultural 
facility has been marketed and that there is no reasonable interest from relevant 
organisations. Information should be included which sets out the length of time 
the property or site has been marketed; the number of viewings; the comments 
from prospective purchasers or tenants (including reference regarding the 
suitability of continued visitor, arts or cultural use). Marketing will not be 
required if it can be demonstrated that the loss of a facility is part of a business 
plan to deliver improvements to another similar facility nearby. 

7.2.3    The City Corporation has published guidelines for determining nominations for 
Assets of Community Value (ACV) in the City of London, which include local 
criteria to assess the role of public houses in furthering social wellbeing or 
social interest. In determining whether a public house has heritage, cultural, 
economic or social value, the City Corporation will have regard to those 
guidelines as well as the characteristics outlined in the London Plan. 

7.3 Policy CV2: Provision of Arts, Culture and Leisure Facilities 

The City Corporation will seek opportunities to provide new arts, cultural and leisure 
facilities that offer unique experiences at different times of the day and week and attract 
significant numbers of visitors into the City by: 
 

1. Requiring major developments to submit Culture and Vibrancy Plans setting out 
how their development will culturally enrich the Square Mile, informed by the City 
Corporation’s Cultural Planning Framework; 

2. Requiring large scale development proposals of 10,000 sqm or more in size to 
make provision on-site for arts, culture or leisure facilities; 

3. Requiring major developments below 10,000 sqm in size to make provision for 
arts, culture or leisure facilities of a scale commensurate with the size of the 
development, or to provide off-site provision or contributions towards arts, culture 
and leisure facilities and infrastructure. On-site provision will be preferred, with 
off-site provision only being appropriate where a specific project has been 
identified through partnership working. 

4. Encouraging the provision of arts, culture and leisure facilities in historic buildings 
and spaces where this would contribute to the enjoyment, appreciation and 
understanding of the City’s heritage in a way that is inclusive, welcoming and 
accessible for all. 

Page 414



 

72 

 

Reason for the policy 

 

7.3.0    The provision of new arts, culture and leisure facilities in the Square Mile is a 
key mechanism to help realise the City Corporation’s Destination City vision. 
These facilities will not only help to ensure the City becomes a key leisure 
destination for visitors but also maintains and enhances its position as a global 
business centre, as well as providing exciting and enriching cultural and leisure 
experiences for people living and working in and around the Square Mile. To 
achieve this, it is crucial that major developments contribute towards delivering 
new cultural and leisure facilities that help enhance the appeal and character of 
the development and the focal area in which they are located. 

7.3.1     A review of the Cultural Plans submitted with planning applications show that 
many major developments already make a significant on-site contribution to the 
creation of new cultural spaces. Large developments have the greatest flexibility 
to provide facilities on-site, although many smaller major developments will also 
be able to accommodate cultural facilities, or to contribute to schemes in the 
area. 

How the policy works 
 

7.3.2     Major developments will be required to submit Culture and Vibrancy Plans. 
These Plans should describe the cultural proposal, including the type and scale 
of arts, culture or leisure offer, and how it would complement the character of 
the focal area identified in the Cultural Planning Framework.  

7.3.3     Arts, culture and leisure facilities covers a wide range of uses, including 
museums, art galleries, libraries and performance venues; community uses that 
can be used and programmed creatively; integrating cultural activities into new 
public spaces, including roof gardens and viewing galleries; creating active 
street-level spaces; revealing spaces within heritage buildings to the public; 
creating a heritage-led cultural offer; providing affordable space for creative 
enterprises; encouraging meanwhile uses; providing inclusive and accessible 
sport and recreation facilities; and incorporating public art in the building’s 
design or within public realm.  

7.3.4     Developers should consider the operational and management requirements of 
cultural and leisure facilities provided in new developments prior to approval. A 
robust management plan for operational and management arrangements 
should be submitted as part of the Culture Plans at the pre-application stage. 

7.3.5     In some instances, financial contributions can be pooled together to deliver 
larger projects creating a more significant impact. Where two or more 
developments are in close proximity to each other, it may be acceptable to pool 
contributions to provide a larger cultural offer which will have a greater value.  

Page 415



 

73 

 

7.4 Policy CV3: Provision of Visitor Facilities 

The provision of facilities that meet the needs of visitors in new cultural developments 
and in nearby open spaces and the public realm will be encouraged, including: 

1. Seating and tables;   

2. structures and landscaping to enable children’s play and provide facilities for 
school groups; 

3. suitable shelter from weather conditions;  

4. well-designed public convenience provision, including changing places toilets, 
accessible to all users;  

5. well-designed signage, wayfinding and links to visitor facilities and destinations;  

6. temporary pop-up art installations, galleries and spaces in appropriate locations: 

7. performance spaces and animation of key routes where appropriate. 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.4.0 The City attracts large numbers of tourists in certain locations such as around St. 
Paul’s Cathedral and near the Tower of London. This is expected to grow with 
new attractions including the relocated Museum of London in Smithfield 
attracting increased numbers of visitors. It is important that the City of London 
can offer a range of facilities and events which meet the needs of these visitors 
whilst creating a distinctive look and feel for the City. 

How the policy works 

7.4.1 The City Corporation will work with developers and arts and culture institutions to 
ensure that new developments and open spaces near tourist attractions provide 
facilities that improve the experience for visitors and cater for how visitors use 
the space. These facilities must be capable of being accommodated without 
detracting from the setting of the relevant tourist attraction, the wider townscape 
or residential amenity. 

7.5 Policy CV4: Hotels 

Proposals for hotels and other visitor accommodation will be permitted where they: 

1. comply with the requirements of Policy OF2; 

2. do not result in adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, 
including cumulative impacts; 

3. provide active frontages and active uses at ground floor level, including facilities 
accessible to the public;  

Page 416



 

74 

 

4. are in suitable locations that provide good access to attractions, workplaces and 
other destinations in and outside the City, including via public transport; 

5. provide satisfactory arrangements for pick-up/drop-off, service delivery vehicles, 
waste storage, and taxis, appropriate to the size and nature of the development;  

6. are inclusive, meeting London Plan accessibility standards for new hotel 
bedrooms; 

7. ensure continuing beneficial use for historic buildings, including enhanced and 
inclusive public access to and interpretation of that heritage, where appropriate; 
and 

8. address the sustainability challenges associated with the City’s BREEAM priorities 
(energy, water, pollution and materials). 

 

Reason for the policy 

7.5.0 While the majority of visitors are day-trippers, the City has seen strong demand for 
hotel accommodation in the last ten years, and in 2022 had 43 hotels, apart-
hotels and hostels, providing 7,552 bedrooms and a further 33 serviced 
apartment properties providing 1,551 units. A hotel needs study for the City was 
carried out in 2022, which assessed the overall need for hotel bedrooms to be 
4,012 by 2037. This consists of the forecast pipeline of hotel rooms up to 2030, 
with additional projected demand of an average of 350 rooms per year beyond 
that point.  

7.5.1 Hotel accommodation is important to cater for business visitors wishing to stay in 
the City, as well as leisure visitors. The amount of office floorspace will increase 
significantly in the next 20 years and the demand for business accommodation 
is likely to increase. Visitor numbers are projected to increase, and the 
development of the City Corporation’s ambition to establish the City as a 
cultural destination is likely to increase demand for hotel accommodation, 
particularly in the north west of the City.  

How the policy works 

7.5.2      Policy CV3 applies to hotels, apart-hotels and serviced apartments. 

7.5.3     Hotel development should complement the primary business function of the 
City. Proposals will need to demonstrate that they are in accordance with Policy 
OF2 and the Office Use SPD.  

7.5.4     Hotel development may be suited to listed buildings, providing an alternative 
use which could enable significant heritage features to be conserved and 
enhanced. Where such change of use is proposed, the City Corporation will 
seek improved inclusive public access to and interpretation of the building’s 
heritage. 

7.5.5     Hotels can cause amenity issues for surrounding occupiers, for example 
through noise nuisance or traffic and servicing impacts. New hotel proposals will 

Page 417



 

75 

 

be expected to prioritise access by walking, cycling and public transport. The 
location of entrances and exits, drop-off points and servicing and delivery 
arrangements will be considered in the context of surrounding occupiers.  

7.5.6     Where new hotels are considered to be acceptable, they should facilitate the 
creation of active frontages and an inclusive City by providing public access to 
inclusive facilities such as co-working space, meeting rooms, cafes, restaurants 
or leisure facilities or other spaces, in order to bring the maximum benefit to the 
City’s communities. Hotel lobbies that have a significant ground floor presence 
should be designed as inclusive, welcoming spaces that members of the public 
who are not staying at the hotel feel welcome to enter and spend time in. Large-
scale hotel development may also be suitable locations to provide public toilet 
facilities and provide ‘cool spaces’ that provide temporary respite during heat 
waves. 

Figure 6: Hotels and Visitor attractions 

7.5.7     Apart-hotels and serviced accommodation often display characteristics more 
associated with permanent, self-contained housing. Some are more akin to 
hotels in the type of services they provide but may result in different impacts. 
Apart-hotels/serviced apartments may therefore fall within the C1 or C3 Use 
Classes, depending on their characteristics. Factors that may affect the Use 
Class include;  

• Presence of on-site staff/management; 

• Presence of reception, bar or restaurant; 

• Provision of cleaning and administrative services; 

Page 418



 

76 

 

• Ownership of units/ability to sell on open market; and 

• Minimum/maximum lease lengths. 

7.5.8     Where apart-hotels and serviced apartments are considered to fall within the C3 
(dwelling houses) Use Class, proposals will be assessed in accordance with the 
housing policies in this Plan, including the requirement for affordable housing. 
Conditions will be used to ensure units are subject to minimum lease lengths. 

7.5.9     For proposals within the C1 (Hotels) Use Class, planning conditions will be 
considered to ensure that units would not be used or occupied by permanent 
households as this would reduce the availability of accommodation for short-
term visitors to the City and may prejudice the business City and put pressure 
on local services and infrastructure. Conditions will therefore be used to ensure 
units are subject to maximum lease lengths (typically 90 days). 

7.6 Policy CV5: Evening and Night-Time Economy  

1. Proposals for new evening and night-time entertainment and related uses and the 
extension of existing premises will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that, 
either individually or cumulatively, there is no unacceptable impact on: 

• the amenity of residents and other noise-sensitive uses; 

• environmental amenity, taking account of the potential for noise, disturbance, 
waste and odours arising from the operation of the premises, customers 
arriving at and leaving the premises, and the servicing of the premises.  

2. Applicants will be required to submit Management Statements detailing how these 
issues will be addressed during the operation of the premises and are should engage 
with nearby residential and commercial occupiers. 

3. Where new residential development is proposed close to existing evening or night-
time uses, the residential development will only be permitted if it includes suitable 
measures to mitigate potential disturbance and noise and air quality issues for 
prospective residents, in line with the agent of change principle.  

 

Reason for policy 

7.6.0     Evening and night-time entertainment is becoming an important part of the 
City’s economy, bolstered by London’s move toward becoming a 24-hour 
destination, growing numbers of workers and visitors, and the encouragement 
of arts and culture in the City. Expansion of the City’s evening and night-time 
offer will be encouraged where it is compatible with neighbouring uses. Night-
time entertainment has the potential to add vibrancy to the Square Mile but can 
cause noise disturbance to nearby residents as well as other impacts such as 
anti-social behaviour, litter and odours These adverse impacts need to be 
mitigated.  

Page 419



 

77 

 

7.6.1     Anti-social behaviour can potentially be reduced by providing a broad range of 
evening and night-time activities that appeal to different customers, rather than 
concentrating one type of use in a particular area. This includes extending the 
opening hours of existing day-time facilities such as shops, cafes and leisure 
facilities, which can promote customer cross-over and create bridges between 
the day-time and night-time economy. 

How the policy works 

7.6.2     The City Corporation will require the development responsible for change to 
manage the impact of that change – the ‘Agent of Change’ principle. This 
means that a new residential development built near to an existing night-time 
entertainment use would be responsible for providing appropriate soundproofing 
or other mitigation measures to avoid any undue impact, whereas a new night-
time entertainment use opening in a residential area would be responsible for 
the necessary mitigation measures.   

7.6.3     Night-time entertainment uses in the City include restaurants and cafes, 
drinking establishments, hot food takeaways, nightclubs and other related uses. 
They form part of the City’s wider night-time economy. 

7.6.4    The management of night-time entertainment and licensed premises is 
undertaken through the operation of both planning and licensing regimes. In 
general, the planning regime controls the location, design and planning use of 
premises to protect the amenity of an area or local residents, whilst the 
licensing regime is used, having regard to licensing objectives, to control 
specific activities at premises to prevent, for example, noise and other public 
nuisance.  

7.6.5    Planning and licensing regimes operate under separate legislative and 
regulatory frameworks.  The City Corporation will ensure that, as far as is 
possible, a complementary approach is taken between planning and licensing 
within the legislative framework.  The City Corporation publishes a Statement of 
Licensing Policy, which outlines the approach that it will take when considering 
applications for the sale and supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated 
entertainment and the provision of late-night refreshment.  This is supported by 
the City Corporation’s Code of Good Practice for Licensed Premises. The City 
Corporation’s Noise Strategy sets the strategic direction for noise policy within 
the City of London and outlines steps that the City Corporation will take, and is 
already taking, in dealing with noise issues, including those arising from night-
time entertainment.  

7.6.6    The character of many licensed premises has changed significantly in recent 
years.  Existing and new premises often have longer operating hours, may have 
larger capacity and may provide live or recorded amplified music. Some of 
these premises are close to residential accommodation and this can result in 
disturbance and nuisance from excessive noise, particularly from people 
drinking and smoking outside, and arriving or leaving. Policy SA2 (Dispersal 
Routes) requires applications for night-time uses to include Management 
Statements setting out proposals for the dispersal of patrons.  

Page 420



 

78 

 

7.6.7    All planning applications for restaurants and cafes, where planning permission is 
required, and for drinking establishments, hot food takeaways and related, uses 
should include information stating the proposed hours of operation. The City 
Corporation may impose conditions requiring the closure of the premises 
between the hours of 11pm and 7am where appropriate, such as near noise 
sensitive uses. 

7.6.8     Potential applicants seeking planning permission for a night-time entertainment 
use, between the hours of 11pm and 7am, are expected to engage at the 
earliest possible stage with the City Corporation as Licensing Authority, the City 
of London Police, local residents and other neighbouring occupiers that will be 
affected by the proposal. This will ensure that the local context and local 
sensitivities are fully understood and can be taken into account when designing 
premises for night-time entertainment uses and planning the operation of the 
proposed use to minimise adverse impact on amenity.  

7.6.9 Proposals for new and extended night-time entertainment uses or for variations of 
planning conditions must be accompanied by a Management Statement that 
addresses planning amenity issues, sets out how potential impacts on amenity 
will be addressed through the design of the premises and how they will operate 
without causing disturbance including: 

• hours of closure to protect amenity; 

• noise mitigation plans related to both internal and external noise, including 
measures to reduce sound transfer, such as soundproofing, noise controls 
and double entry lobbies; 

• the dispersal of patrons so as not to cause disturbance to residents; 

• arrangements for the storage, handling and disposal of waste; 

• a timed programme for deliveries and collections and other servicing 
arrangements; 

• measures to deal with the emission of odours; and 

• location of ventilation ducts and plant. 

  

7.6.10  Assessment of the Management Statement will have regard to the City Noise 
Strategy, the provisions of the City of London Statement of Licensing Policy and 
to any submitted licence application operating schedule. It is recognised that it 
may not be possible to submit detailed Management Statements when details of 
the end use operator are not known. However, applicants should submit an 
outline Management Statement which considers physical design measures to 
minimise disturbance, such as those outlined in the paragraph above. In such 
cases, conditions will be attached to any planning permissions granted requiring 
full Management Statements to be submitted once the occupiers are known. 

7.6.11  To safeguard quiet times and amenity, particularly for residents and other noise-
sensitive uses, the City Corporation will attach planning conditions or seek s106 
planning obligations to ensure compliance with agreed Management 

Page 421



 

79 

 

Statements.  The City Corporation will normally apply conditions to limit the 
hours of operation where there is potential for unacceptable disturbance to local 
residents and others.  Each case will be considered in relation to its locality and 
the need to strike a balance between the benefits to the City of night-time 
entertainment and the risk of disturbance to local residents, workers and others.  

7.7 Policy CV6: Public Art 

1. The City’s public realm and distinctive identity will be enhanced by: 

• encouraging the provision of new permanent, temporary, inclusive, diverse 
and high quality artworks in appropriate locations in the City on public and 
private land; 

• protecting existing works of art, statues, memorials and other objects of 
cultural significance; 

• ensuring that financial provision is made for the continuing maintenance of 
new public art; 

• requiring the appropriate reinstatement or re-siting of art works and other 
objects of cultural significance when buildings are redeveloped. 

2. The location of new and relocated artworks must take into consideration the health 
and safety of pedestrians, particularly disabled people, and other road users.  

 

Reason for the policy 

7.7.0    Art can contribute significantly to the quality of the environment, particularly 
where it enhances a sense of place and local identity and is a form of 
community infrastructure. Public art includes temporary installations and non-
physical works such as soundscapes.  

7.7.1     Where appropriate, artworks can be multi-functional so that a variety of 
community needs can be met. Artworks may provide shelter from the weather, 
include sensory elements and provide play opportunities. 

7.7.2     There are several arts events held regularly in the City including Sculpture in 
the City which forms a free public trail of works of art throughout the City.  

7.7.3     The proposed public art must respect, and not detract from, the surrounding 
environment. Objects of cultural significance may include blue plaques, statues, 
monuments, fountains, memorials, parish boundary markers and other similar 
heritage assets. 

7.7.4     Works of art must ensure that health and safety considerations are considered 
when designing, siting and maintaining the installation. Restriction of pedestrian 
flows must be avoided, and consideration given to ensuring that people with 

Page 422



 

80 

 

visual or mobility impairments are not placed in danger. Illuminated artworks 
must be sited to avoid light pollution impacting on nearby residential occupiers. 

How the policy works 

7.7.5     The City Arts Initiative (CAI) group advises the City Corporation on the artistic 
merit, siting, setting and appropriateness of public art proposals in the City. 
Temporary works of art (in situ for less than 8 weeks), which do not require 
planning permission, will be considered by the CAI group. 

7.7.6     Opportunities for public art in open spaces should be considered at an early 
stage to ensure that they are satisfactorily integrated into the design of 
development and applicants should work with artists at an early stage of design. 
Artworks and memorials should be appropriate to their location, including the 
history and context and the use of a site. Where works of public art are sited in 
the public realm, they should be endowed to secure their appropriate 
maintenance in perpetuity and their retention will be secured by condition or 
legal agreement. Where works of art are on private land, it is expected that 
those pieces will be maintained to a high standard by the landowner. The City 
Corporation may seek contributions through s106 obligations towards the 
provision of new public art and the future maintenance of public art. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 423



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 424



 

81 

 

 Infrastructure 

8.1 Strategic Policy S7: Infrastructure and Utilities 

1. To coordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery and the 
transition towards a zero carbon and climate resilient City, all development 
should: 

• Minimise the demand for power, water and utility services;  

• Incorporate sustainable building design and demand management 
measures; 

• Connect to existing pipe subways where feasible, particularly where 
there is pipe and cable congestion under the streets; 

• Seek to provide the latest and best quality utility infrastructure and 
connections to serve the development.  

2. Developers must engage with infrastructure providers at an early stage of design 
to ensure that the infrastructure needs arising from the construction and 
operation of new development are addressed and required utility networks and 
connections are in place in time to serve the development. 

3. Existing essential utilities and telecommunications infrastructure will be 
protected from development unless it is no longer required or will be adequately 
relocated. 

4. The improvement and extension of utilities infrastructure should be designed 
and sited to minimise adverse impacts on the visual amenity, character and 
appearance of the City and its heritage assets.  

 

Reason for the policy 

8.1.0     Infrastructure is a vital component of modern cities. Maintaining high quality and 
sustainable utilities provision in the Square Mile is crucial for the City to remain 
competitive and address climate challenges. 

8.1.1     There are specific challenges to providing the infrastructure needed to support 
existing activity in the City and the development set out in this Plan: 

• The dense concentration of business activity in the City means that high 
demand is concentrated in a small geographical area. 

• There is a legacy of congested cable routes under the City’s streets. 

• Delivery of new infrastructure and improvements to existing networks may 
result in temporary disruption to businesses, residents and visitors. 

Page 425



 

82 

 

• Energy and telecoms demands are increasing and there is a need to 
continually improve and upgrade networks to meet this changing demand in a 
sustainable way, which does not compromise the City’s trajectory towards 
zero carbon. 

How the policy works 

8.1.2    The City Corporation has established strong links with the various infrastructure 
providers that service the City, including Thames Water, UK Power Networks, 
Cadent Gas, Citigen and telecoms providers. The City Corporation will seek to 
retain and strengthen these links, working with all providers and regulators, 
where appropriate. The City Corporation are developing a Utility Infrastructure 
Strategy, which sets out the steps that will be taken, including through 
partnership working, to ensure the City’s utilities infrastructure remains fit for 
purpose and future proofed.  

8.1.3     Developers will be required to demonstrate liaison with infrastructure providers 
at an early stage of building design, ensuring that future needs are planned and 
delivered in a timely fashion with minimal disturbance to City streets, 
businesses and residents.  

8.1.4     Utilities infrastructure comprises the provision of electricity, gas, water, 
sewerage, sustainable drainage (SuDS), telecommunications, including wired 
and wireless infrastructure, decentralised energy networks and the pipe subway 
networks that accommodate such infrastructure. 

8.2 Policy IN1: Infrastructure provision and connection 

1. Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and integrated with the 
development. The following infrastructure requirements should be planned for: 

• Electricity, gas and water supply necessary for the operation of the intended use 
and during the construction period. Account should be taken of the need to 
conserve resources and deliver energy and water efficient buildings to minimise 
future demands. Temporary building supply for the construction phase should be 
identified in conjunction with electricity providers including the estimated load 
capacity, substations and route for supply;  

• Heating and cooling demand and viability of provision. Designs should incorporate 
connections to existing decentralised energy networks where feasible; 

• Digital and telecommunications network demand, including full fibre wired and 
wireless infrastructure in line with the Mayor of London’s ‘Wired Score’ connectivity 
rating or equivalent, planning for dual entry through communal entry chambers 
and flexibility to address future technological improvements; 

• Separate surface and foul water drainage requirements within the proposed 
building or site, including provision of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), 
rainwater harvesting and grey-water recycling, minimising discharge to the 
combined sewer network.  

Page 426



 

83 

 

Where it is not possible to provide detail at application stage, planning conditions 
and/or obligations will be used to secure the provision of such detail. 

2. To avoid delays to prospective tenants, developers should consider pre-installing 
telco communal chambers or other innovative solutions to help facilitate 
communications networks, into the new development. 

3. Developers should conduct mobile signal tests within the development and consider 
the need for provider neutral in-building mobile solutions where coverage is poor.  

4. Development should aim to avoid reducing mobile connectivity in surrounding areas, 
and if that is not possible suitable mitigation measures will be required. Provision 
should be made on buildings or in the public realm to accommodate well-designed 
and located mobile digital infrastructure. 

 

Reason for the policy 

8.2.0    The dense concentration of businesses means that high demand is focused in a 
restricted geographical area. Electricity, telecommunications, water, gas and 
district heating and cooling networks are of particular importance. Congested 
cable routes traverse the City under its streets. Energy demands are increasing, 
particularly to provide air conditioning to counter increased warming and the 
delivery of upgraded ICT networks required by financial and business services. 
The impact of Covid-19 has highlighted the importance of digital connectivity 
and the transition to an increasingly digital-reliant economy. 

8.2.1    The City Corporation’s Utilities Infrastructure Strategy sets out in more detail the 
infrastructure projects that are under construction or required. 

How this policy works 

8.2.2    Developers must liaise with utility providers and adopt best practice in assessing 
and improving connectivity within developments.  Connection layouts and future 
proofing should be considered in the design of the development. 

8.2.3     Addressing air pollution is a fundamental concern for the City Corporation. 
Developers should engage with energy providers prior to commencement of 
development works to ensure the availability of temporary building supplies, 
avoiding the need for diesel generators to provide electricity.  

8.2.4    Delivery of new infrastructure and improvements to existing networks could 
result in temporary disruption to businesses, residents and visitors. Developers 
must co-operate with infrastructure providers to minimise disruption to highways 
and businesses during major infrastructure upgrades and pipe subway 
construction.  

8.2.5     It is essential for the City to be digitally connected and responsive to the 
changing requirements of business, equipping businesses to benefit from the 
digital transformation stimulated by the Covid-19 pandemic. Buildings must be 

Page 427



 

84 

 

equipped to meet the digital needs of current and future occupiers. Developers 
will be expected to undertake an assessment of the connectivity of major new 
office buildings or refurbishments, using a wired certification such as 
WiredScore. Development should result in an improvement in the City’s digital 
connectivity.  

8.2.6 Mobile connectivity within and around buildings is critical to the City of London. 
Developers will need to ensure that their buildings do not worsen existing signal 
strength in the area and consider the provision of in-building solutions where 
signal strength is poor. The roll out of 5G across the City will require additional 
mobile infrastructure and suitably located cells. Where feasible, provision for 
new cells should be incorporated into new development. Where this is not 
feasible, provision should be made for additional cells to be located in the public 
realm, on existing street furniture or elsewhere as appropriate.  

8.2.7 The City Corporation will encourage the improvement and extension of utilities 
networks to ensure that the City uses the latest technology and continues to 
provide good quality services for businesses, residents, students and visitors. 
The City Corporation’s City Developer Guidelines for Incoming Utility Services 
provides guidance on best practice.  

8.3 Policy IN2: Infrastructure Capacity  

1. Development must not lead to capacity or reliability issues in the surrounding area 
and capacity projections must take into account the impacts of climate change which 
will influence future infrastructure demand.  

2. Where potential capacity problems are identified, and no improvements are 
programmed by the utility company, the City Corporation will require developers to 
facilitate appropriate improvements, which may require the provision of space within 
new developments for on-site infrastructure or off-site infrastructure upgrades. 

 Developers are required to demonstrate, through effective engagement with 
providers, that adequate utility infrastructure will be provided, both on and off the site, 
to serve the development during construction and operation.  

 

Reason for the policy 

8.3.0    Early engagement with infrastructure providers is essential to ensure that there 
is adequate capacity to serve the development during its construction and 
operational phases.  

How this policy works 

8.3.1     The Sustainability or Energy Statement submitted as part of the planning 
application should set out the demand management measures incorporated into 
the scheme and should include evidence of engagement with providers. 

Page 428



 

85 

 

8.3.2     Infrastructure provision must be completed prior to the occupation of the 
development. The City Corporation will expect development to promote and 
contribute towards a zero carbon economy, through smart buildings and 
incorporating alternative solutions into the design. It will be necessary for 
developers to establish if the proposal would lead to overloading of the existing 
infrastructure, which may involve studies being undertaken by utility providers. 
Adequate time should be allowed to consider the supply options and to enable 
utility providers to collate an informed response. 

8.3.3    Projections of infrastructure demand should be realistic. Over specification 
should be avoided as it could result in underutilisation of infrastructure. The 
cumulative impacts should be considered through discussion with providers and 
pre-application meetings with the City Corporation. The co-ordination of 
infrastructure works is essential to minimise disruption and the impact on 
existing services.  

8.3.4     Developers will be required to submit written evidence from utility providers that 
effective engagement has been carried out. This could include a joint statement 
of intent endorsed by the relevant providers. S106 agreements may be used to 
ensure continuous engagement regarding route planning and confirmation of 
load demands.  

8.3.5    Redundant plant should be removed where possible to facilitate future 
infrastructure connections. Redundant infrastructure within the public realm, 
such as telephone boxes, should be removed unless it is of heritage interest. 

8.4 Policy IN3: Pipe Subways 

Developers and utility providers must provide entry and connection points within the 
development which relate to the City’s established utility infrastructure networks, 
utilising pipe subway routes where these are available. Sharing of routes with other 
nearby developments and the provision of new pipe subway facilities adjacent to 
buildings will be encouraged. 

 

Reason for the policy 

8.4.0     Expansion and integration of pipe subway and decentralised energy networks is 
a long-term aspiration of the City Corporation. The provision of additional pipe 
subways would provide greater capacity for pipes and cables, reducing the 
need for street works which often cause disruption. Pipe subways 
accommodate gas and watermains and electricity more effectively with easier 
access for maintenance, rather than burying pipes which are then not easily 
accessible. 

 

 

Page 429



 

86 

 

How the policy works 

8.4.1    The City Corporation will seek the expansion and integration of development 
into the pipe subway network where there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
that services to development would be better integrated within an established 
pipe subway. Given the cost of installing new pipe subways, it is especially 
important to make efficient use of the existing network. Developments which are 
located adjacent to existing pipe subways will normally be expected to install 
connections. 

Page 430



 

87 

 

 Design  

9.1    Strategic Policy S8: Design 

The City Corporation will promote innovative, sustainable and inclusive high-quality 
buildings, streets and spaces. Design solutions should make effective use of 
limited land and contribute towards vibrancy, inclusion, wellbeing and a greener, 
net zero carbon City, through development that: 

Sustainable design 

1. Takes a ‘retrofit first’ approach, prioritising the retention and retrofit of existing 
buildings, informed by an appraisal of the development options; 

2. Seeks opportunities to refurbish existing buildings, improving their environmental 
performance; 

3. Minimises whole life-cycle carbon and contributes towards a net zero carbon 
City;  

4. Delivers world class sustainable buildings that are adaptable and informed by 
circular economy principles and that treat materials as a resource; 

5. Embeds climate resilience into design and contributes to the resilience of the 
Square Mile; and 

6. Seeks opportunities to contribute to the wider sustainability of the City and 
(where relevant) neighbouring boroughs, especially where development would 
result in substantial carbon emissions. 

Form and Layout 

7. Optimises site capacity, informed by the character of the area and its potential for 
growth; 

8. Delivers buildings and spaces that have the right scale, massing, built form and 
layout, with due regard to the existing and emerging urban structure, building 
types, form and proportions identified in the Character Areas Study; 

9. Optimises pedestrian movement by maximising permeability, providing external 
and where feasible internal pedestrian routes which are inclusive, welcoming, 
convenient, comfortable and attractive, enhancing the City’s characteristic 
network of accessible buildings, streets, courts and alleys; and 

10. Is pedestrian-focused, reducing conflict between pedestrian and vehicular traffic, 
creating a safe and attractive public realm, prioritising pedestrians and cyclists, 
whilst mitigating the impact of building servicing;  

Page 431



 

88 

 

Experience 

11. Provides an appropriate mix of uses that contribute to the creation of a vibrant 
City; 

12. Places people at the heart of design, creating buildigs and spaces with a strong 
sense of belonging; 

13. Optimises microclimatic conditions, addressing solar glare, daylight and sunlight, 
wind conditions and thermal comfort and delivers improvements in air quality, 
open space and views; 

14. Delivers street level building frontages which are active, public-facing, usable, 
permeable, interesting, well-detailed and appropriately lit, delivering suitable 
levels of passive surveillance;  

15. Optimises the amount and connectivity of green infrastructure and, biodiversity 
and public amenity space and urban greening, and provides these in ways that 
are integral to the architecture and site design; 

16. Delivers inclusive buildings, streets and spaces that meet the access needs of all 
the City’s communities irrespective of background or circumstance; 

17. Delivers publicly accessible space within the development by maximising the 
amount of accessible, inclusive and free to enter open spaces, roof terraces, 
cultural offers and other spaces, including in tall buildings and along the river and 
around City landmarks;  

18. Supports health and wellbeing within the City’s communities; and 

19. Is informed by early and meaningful stakeholder engagement, proportionate to 
the scale and type of development proposed. 

Quality and character 

20. Delivers high quality design, which is visually interesting, well-proportioned and   
well-detailed and conserves and enhances the townscape character and 
appearance of the City, and its historic environment, and takes into account 
cross boundary impacts of the neighbouring boroughs;  

21.  Incorporates sustainability measures and other plant and building services into a 
coherent architectural design; 

22. Considers lighting as an integral part of the design process, ensuring that internal 
and external lighting provides the right light in the right place at the right time;   

23. Incorporates signage of an appropriate siting, size, form, appearance and   
illumination within the building’s architecture;  

24. Incorporates necessary security and safety measures as an integral part of the 
design; and 

Page 432



 

89 

 

25. Ensures that the building design concept is maintained from permission through 
to completion of a project. 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.1.0  As a world leading financial and professional services centre, with many 
important heritage assets and high quality buildings, the City requires world 
leading design in all aspects of the built environment, including the sustainability 
of new and refurbished buildings. Business occupiers are seeking buildings that 
are designed with high sustainability, accessibility and inclusion, and wellness 
credentials, and for these to be reflected in the appearance, functioning and 
design of buildings and their relationship to the wider context.  

9.1.1  The built environment is a major contributor to carbon emissions. Development 
should not only seek to minimise emissions but also find opportunities to 
improve wider sustainability. Retrofitting existing buildings will in many cases 
result in lower whole life-cycle carbon emissions (in total, and per square metre) 
than demolishing and redeveloping sites, and helps to minimise the use of 
materials. As our climate changes, development must play a role in helping to 
make the City more resilient to extreme weather conditions and the impact of 
changing climatic conditions. 

9.1.2  Development has a significant role to play in enhancing the public life of the 
Square Mile and making it more welcoming for everyone through delivering 
inclusive and accessible public spaces, vibrancy, destinations, experiences and 
leisure opportunities as an integral part of new development.  

How the policy works 

9.1.3  The design approach to each site in the City will be unique and there is a need to 
consider a broad range of factors through an iterative design process. While 
sites won’t share a singular route through the design process, this City Plan 
places significant importance on achieving sustainable development through a 
‘retrofit first’ approach. An understanding of the potential for retaining and 
retrofitting existing buildings should therefore be the starting point for appraising 
site options, alongside a robust analysis of the whole lifecycle carbon of 
different development approaches.  

9.1.4 Options appraisals should also be informed by the potential for wider 
environmental benefits before considering the many wider design and planning 
matters set out in this policy and other policies throughout the Plan, and using 
this work to inform the design of the proposed scheme. 

Page 433



 

90 

 

9.2    Policy DE1 : Sustainable Design 

1. Development proposals should follow a retrofit first approach, thoroughly exploring 
the potential for retaining and retrofitting existing buildings as the starting point for 
appraising site options. 

2. All major development must undertake an assessment of the options for the site, in 
line with the City Corporation’s Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice Note, and 
should use this process to establish the most sustainable and suitable approach for 
the site.  

3. Where new buildings are the most sustainable and suitable approach, they should 
deliver exemplar low carbon development and the highest environmental 
sustainability quality, driving forward best practice beyond standard approaches and 
contributing to wider sustainability improvements in the area.  

4. Innovative design, materials, construction, and technologies should be used to 
deliver highest standards of environmental sustainability.  

5. Applicants must ensure that measures to improve environmental performance and 
mitigate and adapt to climate change have been integrated into the design. 

Circular economy design approaches 

6. Development should be designed to incorporate circular economy principles 
throughout the life cycle of the building through: 

o Flexible building design to accommodate evolving working and living patterns, 
reducing the need for redevelopment;  
 

o Floorspace adaptability to maximise the lifespan of buildings; 
 

o Reuse, refurbishment and retention of existing buildings, structures and 
materials to reduce reliance on virgin resources; 

 
o Designing for disassembly, reuse and recycling of deconstruction materials;  

 
o Maximum use of recycled materials in development and off-site construction 

methods to reduce wastage; and 
 
o Designs which enable durability, modularity, sharing of goods and services 

and reuse of supplies and equipment, minimising waste during the building’s 
operational phase. 

Sustainability standards 

7. Proposals for major development will be required to:  

• achieve a minimum BREEAM rating of “excellent” and aim for “outstanding” 
against the current, relevant BREEAM criteria at the time of application, obtaining 

Page 434



 

91 

 

maximum credits for the City’s priorities (energy, water, materials, waste and 
pollution) Climate resilience credit should be achieved for the waste category;  

• commit to achieving a minimum NABERS UK rating of 5 stars; 

• demonstrate that London Plan guidance on carbon emissions and air quality 
requirements have been met on site. In exceptional circumstances, where 
standards cannot be met on site, carbon offsetting will be required to account for 
the shortfall. This will be secured through a S106 agreement with offsetting 
contributions ring fenced for carbon reduction projects; 

• retain existing buildings and structures where feasible to reduce embodied 
carbon emissions and waste; 

• demonstrate climate resilience in building and landscape design;  

• incorporate collective infrastructure such as heating and cooling networks, smart 
grids and collective renewable energy storage (for example batteries) wherever 
possible, to contribute to a net zero carbon, zero-waste, climate resilient City; and 

• Prioritise the objectives of the City of London Local Area Energy Plan (LAEP) to 
create or link into local energy networks and waste heat sources, and include 
opportunities for heat and cooling transfer to/from nearby developments. 
 

 

 
Reason for the policy 

9.2.0    The factors driving sustainable development are increasing, impacting both 
global and local businesses as well as workers, residents and visitors. The pace 
and prestigious nature of development in the City presents opportunities to 
incorporate innovative design in both new and existing buildings to provide 
positive environmental outcomes for the City’s priorities:  

• Energy, carbon emissions and air pollutants – reducing emissions and 
moving to a net zero carbon city by 2040, in line with the requirements of the 
City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy; 

• Water – reducing water use in an area of serious water stress; 

• Pollution – reducing exposure to poor air quality; 

• Materials – retaining embodied carbon in existing buildings and materials, and 
improving resource efficiency. 

9.2.1    Social and environmental responsibility is high on the agenda for many City 
businesses and their workforce and a working environment that supports these 
goals is essential for the City’s future.  

9.2.2    The City of London Climate Action Strategy provides evidence for the trajectory 
to a net zero carbon City by 2040. The role of collective infrastructures such as 
smart grids, battery storage, heating and cooling networks and hydrogen 
infrastructure are essential elements in the delivery of the net zero carbon City, 
where decarbonised electricity that does not contribute to future local levels of 

Page 435



 

92 

 

pollution, is the main energy source. Heating and cooling networks will 
increasingly exploit low carbon energy from waste heat and heat pump 
technologies rather than fossil fuels and contribute to reductions in primary 
energy demand, carbon emissions and nitrous oxides. Therefore, connection to 
these networks is expected wherever feasible. This will also reduce the need for 
roof top installations such as boiler flues, cooling towers and plant rooms.   

9.2.3    As new developments are large consumers of resources and materials, the 
possibility of sensitively refurbishing or retrofitting buildings should be 
considered in preference to demolition. Proposals for substantial demolition and 
reconstruction should be fully justified on the basis of whole-life carbon impact, 
resource and energy use, when compared to the existing building, and must 
justify why redevelopment and new build is the most sustainable and suitable 
apprach. All development should ensure the reduction, reuse or recycling of 
resources and materials, and minimise energy use and emissions that 

contribute to climate change. 

9.2.4     The application of sustainability standards through this Plan will contribute to 
the achievement of the objectives of the City’s Climate Action Strategy, 
however, guidance in the area of sustainable development is rapidly evolving 
and applicants should use the most up to date guidance to inform their planning 
proposals. 

9.2.5    The circular economy is an alternative to the typical ‘linear’ way of treating 
resources. By finding ways of remanufacturing, reusing or recycling materials 
and keeping them in use for longer, waste can be reduced. The circular 
economy emphasises design for durability and modularity, making better use of 
under-used assets through sharing and offering products as a service. Circular 
economy principles can be applied to buildings and the development cycle, 
reducing the demand for new materials, and to the operational phase of a 
building’s life to minimise annual waste arisings.  

How the policy works 

9.2.6     The approach to retention and/or redevelopment, built form, whole life-cycle 
carbon and circular economy for the development should be shaped on the 
basis of the insights derived from the carbon options assessment. Applicants 
should work collaboratively through the carbon options process to establish the 
most sustainable and suitable approach for the site. Applicants should 
demonstrate that they have taken into account principles of sustainable design 
and that measures to improve environmental performance and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change have been integrated into the design. 

9.2.7     The requirement for the highest feasible and viable sustainability standards 
applies to all development in the City, including major new development, 
extensions to existing buildings, major refurbishments and minor development. 
Refurbishments of existing buildings are subject to this policy where proposed 
works constitute development.  

Page 436



 

93 

 

9.2.8     Sustainability Statements should be used to provide comprehensive evidence 
of the sustainability of each development. 

9.2.9     For major development the Sustainability Statement should include:  

• a BREEAM pre-assessment or design stage assessment including a 
summary of the credits to be targeted in each category. Planning conditions 
will be used to require submission of a post construction BREEAM certificate 
to demonstrate implementation of the approved designs, achievement of the 
City’s priority credits and identify any performance gaps between design and 
completed development.   

• an energy assessment in line with the Mayor’s Energy Planning Guidance.  

• an options appraisal following the City Corporation’s Carbon Options 
Guidance Planning Advice Note to develop a low carbon solution that 
optimises social, economic and environmental sustainability benefits. 

• an air quality assessment to meet the requirements of the London Plan 
demonstrating that the development will not result in deterioration in air 
quality, in line with the City of London Air Quality SPD.  

• details of the proposed adaptation and resilience measures to make the 
building resilient to the climate and weather patterns it will encounter during 
its lifespan. 

• Details of collective infrastructure which has been incorporated to address 
environmental challenges. 

Extensions: 

• If a development proposal includes an extension greater than 25% of the 

existing floorspace or consists of a distinct structure greater than 1,000sq.m, 

the extension on its own should be treated as a major development and 

assessed accordingly, including consideration of London Plan carbon 

emission targets, carbon options appraisal and BREEAM requirements.  

For minor development  

• Although minor development may provide more limited opportunities for the 

incorporation of sustainability features it is important that sustainability is 

considered at the design stage for all projects.  For most minor development 

inclusion of sustainability information in the Design and Access Statement will 

suffice.  

Circular design approaches for EIA development  

9.2.10   For development that requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) the 
Environmental Statement should demonstrate how circular economy principles 
have been incorporated into the development, fully addressing how 
construction, demolition and excavation (CD&E) waste will be minimised, 
deconstruction materials will be reused or recycled and the waste arisings 
during the operational phase of the development will be minimised and 
managed. This should include consideration of on-site facilities to reduce the 

Page 437



 

94 

 

need for waste vehicle movements such as on-site composting or anaerobic 
digestion, or waste consolidation. 

9.2.11   A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance should be 
submitted for all EIA development. 

Other Major development  

9.2.12   For all other Major development proposals, the sustainability statement should 
provide evidence of the application of circular economy principles and the 
adherence to the waste hierarchy. This could include reuse of existing buildings 
and structures, provision of Site Waste Management Strategies for the 
construction phase and Zero Waste Plans for the operational stage of the 
development. Major development should aim to achieve maximum BREEAM 
credits for Waste. 

9.2.13   A Circular Economy Statement following the London Plan guidance should be 
submitted for all Major development. 

All other development 

9.2.14   For all other development, the Design and Access statement should 
demonstrate how waste minimisation and the circular economy have been 
considered in the design of the development. 

9.3    Policy DE2: Design Quality  

1. Development should be of an exemplar standard of design, aesthetics and 
architectural detail and should enhance the townscape and public realm. 
Development that would adversely affect the character, appearance or amenities of 
the buildings or area will be resisted.  

2. The design of new development must ensure that: 

• The layout, form, scale, massing and appearance of schemes are appropriate 
in relation to their surroundings and have due regard to the scale, height, 
building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain and 
materials of the locality and relate well to the character of the area; 

• The site layout takes account of established and potential pedestrian desire 
lines enhancing pedestrian permeability; 

• Buildings and public spaces are inclusive and accessible for everyone; 

• The architecture and urban design function well, are visually attractive with 
high quality detailing, finishes and materials, and enrich the overall quality of 
the area for the long term; 

• Elevations have active, engaging and welcoming street frontages; 

• The development incorporates high quality landscape design and maximises 
opportunities for greening, biodiversity and public realm improvements; 

Page 438



 

95 

 

• Innovative design approaches are used to create high quality buildings that 
meet high sustainability standards, and integrate well with the surroundings; 

• It is constructed using appropriate, high quality, low carbon, sustainable and 
durable materials; 

• It avoids unacceptable wind, loss of daylight and sunlight and thermal comfort 
impacts at street level or intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding 
townscape and public realm;  

• The proposed uses and activities are accommodated within the curtilage of 
the development and do not rely on use of the public realm, including the use 
of public highway; 

• The plant and building services equipment are fully screened from view and 
integrated into the design of the building such that there are no adverse 
impacts on amenity in surrounding areas; 

• The form, profile and appearance of the roofscape adds visual interest and 
complements the building. 

3. Applicants will be encouraged to undertake meaningful developer-led engagement 
before submitting their planning application in line with the Developer Engagement 
Guidance;  

4. Applicants will be required to provide digital 3D visualisations of their developments 
in an open source or other format compatible with the City Corporation’s 3D digital 
modelling technology. These visualisations should be used to inform pre-application 
and post application consultation with local communities and stakeholders. 

5. Applicants will be required to ensure the quality of the approved development is not 
materially diminished between permission and completion as a result of changes to 
the permitted to scheme. 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.3.0    Buildings and spaces around buildings affect us all – they are where we live, 
work and spend our leisure time; they shape our experiences as we spend time 
in them and move around them. Therefore central to delivering the right kind of 
growth, it is important to ensure that buildings are of high quality design; 

9.3.1     Given the exceptional quality of the City’s built environment, it’s essential for 
new developments to capture and enhance the qualities and characteristics that 
make it a special place; The network of routes and spaces, the scale, form, 
architectural expression and detailed design of buildings, together with the use 
of particular building materials, and the contribution of these elements to the 
composition of street blocks are all characteristic of, and combine to produce, 
the close-knit and intricate townscape of the City. It is important that new 
buildings and alterations respect and reinforce this general character. The City 

Page 439



 

96 

 

has dynamic, striking and internationally acclaimed architecture as well as more 
contextual buildings appropriate to their townscape setting.  

How the policy works 

9.3.2     This policy expects applicants to approach the design of new buildings, 
extensions or modifications to existing buildings in an interesting, innovative and 
appropriate manner. Whilst no particular architectural style is encouraged, the 
expectation is that every scheme should be of the highest quality meeting the 
requirements set out in this policy and should be based on a sound 
understanding of the site and its context, A series of key characteristic features 
have been identified in the City’s Character Areas Study, which should be 
applied to understand the underlying character of the different areas of the City. 
In assessing development proposals, careful consideration will be given to the 
scale, form, massing, appearance and those distinctive features that contribute 
to the area’s unique identity and local character.  

9.3.3     Good design is a key aspect for creating places, buildings or spaces that work 
well for everyone, look good, last long and can adapt to the changing needs of 
future generations. Making the right choices at all levels of the design process is 
therefore very important. The development proposals will be required to clearly 
articulate the design evolution from the conceptual stage to the final product. 
This narrative should be set out in the Design and Access Statement and 
should address the key design aspects outlined in the National Design 
Guidance: 

o the layout 
o the form 
o the scale of buildings 
o their appearance 
o landscape 
o materials 
o their detailing 

 
9.3.4     Wind conditions and solar glare may have an adverse effect on the surrounding 

townscape and the quality and use of the public realm. Assessments will need 
to be carried out on the impact of proposed development on wind conditions, 
thermal comfort and solar glare. Any adverse impacts should be minimised and 
unavoidable impacts will need to be mitigated. Appropriate measures to achieve 
this should be integrated into the design of the development. The City 
Corporation has published guidelines for developers on wind microclimate 
studies required to support planning applications. Further guidance is available 
on solar glare, solar convergence and daylight and sunlight impacts of 
development.  

9.3.5     The design and implementation of building extensions and alterations, such as 
entrances and windows, are important because they have a cumulative effect 
on the overall character and appearance of the City. Extensions or alterations 
should be considered in relation to the architectural character of the building, 
designed to minimise their impact and integrated into the design of the building.  

Page 440



 

97 

 

Alterations and extensions should achieve a successful design relationship with 
their surroundings, taking full account of the local context and the setting of the 
building. 

9.3.6     In most buildings, the ground floor elevation has the most effect on public 
amenity, so its design should be given particular attention to ensure that it is 
legible, visually attractive and provides active frontages. Blank frontages and 
ventilation louvres should be avoided. Ventilation louvres, where necessary, 
should be located away from busy streets.  

9.3.7     Plant should be located below ground. Where this is not feasible, it should be 
satisfactorily integrated into the form and design of the roof. It should be 
enclosed and covered where it would otherwise harm the appearance of the 
building, the general scene, or views from other buildings. Intake points should 
be located away from existing and potential pollution sources (e.g. busy roads 
and combustion flues). All combustion flues should terminate above the roof 
height of the tallest building in the development to ensure maximum dispersion 
of pollutants.  

9.3.8     Servicing entrances can have a detrimental impact on the appearance of the 
building and its immediate setting and can harm otherwise attractive pedestrian 
routes. The City Corporation expects innovative design solutions for servicing 
entrances and adjacent areas to minimise their visual impact and to enable 
them to be integrated into the design of the building. Design solutions must 
respect the sensitive nature of listed buildings and conservation areas.  

Ventilation or extraction systems should be routed internally, and extensive or 
unsightly external ducting will not normally be permitted. Provision must be 
made within the building for services and ducting to and from all uses. 
Ventilation systems in new build premises for extracting and dispersing any 
emissions and cooking smells must be discharged at roof level and designed, 
installed, operated and maintained in accordance with manufacturer’s 
specification in order to prevent smells and emissions adversely affecting 
neighbours. For changes of use, developers and/or occupiers should 
investigate the potential to vent emissions to the roof. Developers should 
provide suitable rooftop ventilation, where appropriate. Where it can be 
demonstrated that venting of such emissions to the roof is not practical, venting 
to an adjacent footway will only be acceptable where the extraction system is of 
the highest specification for odour abatement and there is no adverse impact on 
neighbours by virtue of smells or other emissions. Other ventilation louvres 
should not be sited by adjoining footways. 

9.4    Policy DE3: Public Realm 

The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, Transport for London and 
Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), and other key stakeholders to design and 
implement schemes for the enhancement of streets and spaces and the creation of new 
spaces including public squares, parks, open spaces, viewing galleries, rooftops, 
forecourts, streets, courts, alleyways, routes and spaces between buildings.  

Page 441



 

98 

 

Public Realm Design 

Public realm schemes, must have regard to: 

1. The need to provide high quality, inclusive, welcoming, well designed, safe, and 
functional public realm that takes into account how people will use the space; 

2. The wellbeing of users ensuring appropriate shade and shelter, provision of areas 
with access to direct sunlight and taking into consideration microclimatic conditions 
including temperature, wind, exposure to noise, air pollution to create places that 
encourage people to dwell and spend time;  

3. The predominant use and function of the space and adjacent spaces;  

4. The use of sustainable natural and high quality materials, avoiding an excessive 
range whilst harmonising the proposals with the surroundings and the materials 
used throughout the City;   

5. The need to increase the provision of green infrastructure, incuding tree planting, 
urban greening, soft landscaping and the delivery of net gains in biodiversity, and to 
link up existing habitats, green spaces and routes to provide green corridors;  

6. The City’s heritage, identifying, and retaining, and better revealing features that 
contribute positively to the character, cultural and leisure experience and 
appearance of the City;   

7. The need to integrate high quality public art as part of the public realm design; 

8. The provision of sustainable drainage, where feasible, co-ordinating the design with 
adjacent buildings to facilitate rainwater management; 

9. The need to improve pedestrian amenity, ensuring that streets and walkways 
remain uncluttered and encourage walking, cycling and wheeling; 

10. The promotion of active travel, delivering interventions which improve the design of 
streets and spaces for pedestrians and cyclists in line with the Healthy Streets 
Approach;  

11. The sensitive co-ordination of lighting with the overall design of the scheme;  

12. The need to provide public amenities including seating and free water drinking 
fountains. 

Inclusive and Accessible Public Realm 

The public realm should be welcoming, inclusive and accessible to all; it should be free 
to use and access.   

 

Development proposals should: 
 

1. Provide inclusive and accessible public realm that meets the existing and future 
needs of all user groups; 

2. Ensure public spaces are open, welcoming, inclusive, free to use, and fully 
publicly accessible and that appropriate management and operational 
arrangements are in place. Where the development creates new public realm or 
affects the use of existing public ream, it should be ensured that public access to 

Page 442



 

99 

 

the space is maximised and the rules governing the space are minimised to 
those required for its safe management, in accordance with the Mayor’s Public 
London Charter. A Management Plan should be provided setting out how the 
space will be used and managed at different times of the day and different days 
of the week.  

3. Ensure public spaces are free to use and access and align with the principles 
contained in the Mayor’s Public London Charter; any restrictions to public access 
will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances, subject to a legal agreement 
and should be the minimum necessary, appropriate and reasonable.  

 

Reason for the policy 

9.4.0     The City of London is a dense urban environment, with a limited amount of 
public realm.Most streets and public spaces accommodate a high level of 
pedestrian footfall and perform a variety of functions above and beyond 
accommodating the movement of people. The City’s streets and public spaces 
are where public life takes place, where workers, residents and visitors 
experience the City as a whole. Given the limited amount of space available at 
ground floor level in the City, public realm proposals must make effective use of 
the limited land resource and be of the highest design quality, maximising 
benefits for the public.  

9.4.1     To attract a greater and more diverse range of people to the city at different 
times of the day and on different days of the week, the design of the public 
realm must cater for a wide variety of requirements. The management and 
curation of the public realm influences how it is used and its appeals to different 
user groups. Management and maintenance of public space should be limited 
to minimise rules governing public spaces to avoid management regimes being 
implemented that set unnecessary rules for how people should behave. 
Whether publicly or privately owned, public realm should be open, free to use, 
welcoming and offer the highest level of public access. These spaces should 
only have rules restricting the behaviour of the public that are essential for safe 
management of the space.  

9.4.2     High quality natural materials are characteristic of the City of London and add 
greatly to the character and identity of streets, courts and spaces. Wherever 
possible, the City Corporation will retain these surface materials and will carry 
out repairs to match and extend their use.  Elsewhere, the City Corporation will 
encourage a limited palette of materials, providing continuity in the streetscape, 
and ease of access through the City.   

How the policy works 

9.4.3     The City Corporation will actively promote schemes for the enhancement of the 
public realm in accordance with the Healthy Streets Approach, the Mayor’s 
Public London Charter, the Mayor of London’s Streetscape Guidance, the City 

Page 443



 

100 

 

of London Public Realm SPD, the City of London Public Realm Toolkit, the City 
of London Transport Strategy and the Climate Action Strategy.  

9.4.4     Developers will be required to demonstrate that public realm enhancements will 
improve the function and appearance of the space. An assessment will be 
required to demonstrate how the development will function in terms of the use 
of the public space, pedestrian desire lines, and potential congestion or conflict, 
and what public realm enhancements will be required to deliver a functional, 
inclusive, accessible, safe and attractive public space.   

9.4.5    Public realm design should follow best practice place-making principles, by 
creating site layouts that positively respond to the context and microclimatic 
conditions, and using materials that harmonise spaces. Development proposals 
that deliver new or improved high quality public space will be encouraged and 
the provision of outdoor public space at ground level will be prioritised. There 
will be a particular focus on creating new routes and spaces that link the public 
realm network, connect key destinations in the City, and provide attractive 
walking and cycling routes and public spaces. These spaces should encourage 
people to dwell and spend time, and provide amenity for people’s health and 
well-being.   

9.4.6     The provision of tree planting will be encouraged to improve climate resilience, 
provide shade and visual amenity. It should be ensured that tree planting is 
feasible with below ground constraints.  

9.4.7    A draft public realm management plan must be provided at the pre-application 
stage, outlining how the public realm will be designed and managed in 
accordance with the London Plan and the Public London Charter principles. 
Public realm management plans will be secured through s106 agreements. 
These plans should ensure that the design, and management regime that 
govern public spaces maximises public accessibility and supports the 
requirements of this policy. It should demonstrate how the public space will 
operate and be managed at different times of the day, and at different times of 
the week. 

9.4.8     Through site analysis and public engagement, developers should identify 
existing uses and users of public space and develop proposals that support and 
encourage the existing and future use of the space, while seeking to ensure 
public spaces are inclusive and accessible for all.  

9.4.9    Further information on design requirements for the public realm is available in 
the City Public Realm SPD, the City Public Realm Technical Manual, 
Conservation Area Character Summaries and Management Strategies, where 
appropriate, the Mayor of London’s Streetscape Guidance and the Public 
London Charter.  

9.4.10   The City Corporation will undertake public realm enhancement works through 
specifically targeted projects or in association with general street maintenance 
and vehicle, cycle and pedestrian traffic management schemes. The City 
Corporation will use s106 planning obligations, s278 highways contributions, the 

Page 444



 

101 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy and funding from external sources to deliver 
enhancement works. 

9.5     Policy DE5: Terraces and Elevated Public Spaces  

1. Roof terraces will be encouraged where:  

• The roof terrace is visually integrated into the overall design of the building 
when seen from both street level and higher-level viewpoints;  

• There would be no immediate overlooking of residential premises, 
unacceptable disturbance from noise or other significantly adverse impacts on 
residential amenity. Where there is a potential for a significantly adverse 
impact, the use of an extensive green roof and a restriction on access should 
be considered as an alternative; 

• Historic or locally distinctive roof forms, features or structures can be retained 
and enhanced;  

• There would be no adverse impact on protected views;  

• The design and layout of the terrace optimises the potential for urban 
greening; 

• Emissions from combustion plant will not affect users of the terrace. 

2. Where roof terraces and elevated public spaces are proposed, safety and security 
risks must be addressed at the design stage and space for security checks and any 
hostile vehicle mitigation incorporated into the development, where required. 

3. Requiring all tall buildings or major developments to provide free to enter, publicly 
accessible elevated spaces, which may include roof gardens, terraces, public viewing 
galleries, or other retail or leisure facilities to create attractive destinations for people 
to enjoy the City’s spectacular skyline and views. 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.5.0     Roof gardens and terraces are becoming increasingly common in the City, in 
response to demand from developers and occupiers. Public and private roof 
gardens and terraces present an opportunity for additional amenity space, 
urban greenery and the creation of new viewpoints of the City and the 
surrounding areas, thereby reinforcing London’s cultural and historic attractions.  

How the policy works 

9.5.1     The City Corporation encourages proposals for roof gardens and terraces 
where they are sympathetic to existing roof forms and features, particularly 
those of historic interest or which are otherwise locally distinctive and where 
they do not impact adversely on residential amenity. There should be no impact 
on strategic or locally protected views. 

Page 445



 

102 

 

9.5.2     Where roof terraces and gardens are publicly accessible, entrances should not 
result in safety or security concerns, create congestion or adversely impact on 
the environmental quality at street level. Security implications should be 
considered at the design stage of the development, including making provision 
for security checks within the development and hostile vehicle mitigation, where 
required. Opening hours may be managed by condition or agreement, 
particularly where there are residential premises nearby. Roof terraces should 
not significantly increase noise levels or result in unacceptable light spillage in 
areas with residents or other sensitive uses. Appropriate safety features should 
be included to reduce the potential for suicide or falling from buildings. The City 
Corporation has adopted guidelines to advise developers on best practice to 
reduce the potential for suicides from tall buildings. The positioning of 
combustion flues should be carefully considered so as to not expose users of 
the roof terrace to pollution emissions from combustion plant. 

9.5.3     Public access to tall buildings within the City is important in creating an inclusive 
city. Tall buildings should provide publicly accessible, step-free areas that are 
free to enter and inclusively designed. These may include public viewing 
galleries at upper levels or other forms of open space provision and may 
provide retail, leisure or educational facilities to enhance their attraction, where 
this would not undermine the inclusivity of the space.  

9.6    Policy DE6: Shopfronts   

Shopfronts should be of a high standard of design and appearance to create an 
attractive and welcoming retail and leisure experience on City streets. Inappropriate 
designs and alterations will be resisted. Shopfront proposals should:  

1. Help to create active frontages, designed in ways that facilitate the visual and 
physical permeability of the building; 

2. Respect the quality and architectural contribution of any existing shopfront;   

3. Maintain the relationship between the shopfront, any fascia, the building and its 
context;  

4. Use materials which are sympathetic to the wider context and are of high quality;  

5. Ensure that signage is in appropriate locations and in proportion to the shopfront;  

6. Take into account the impact of louvres, plant and access to refuse storage;   

7. Consider the potential to use awnings and canopies to provide shade and mitigate 
against adverse climate impacts. Where they are provided, they should not harm 
the appearance of the shopfront, obstruct architectural features or views and 
should be in compliance with highway requirements;  

8. Avoid external shutters and contain alternative security measures, where required;   

9. Avoid opaque windows and provide retail displays which encourage browsing and 
passive surveillance;   

10. Ensure that the design is inclusive incorporating level entrances and adequate 
door widths; and 

Page 446



 

103 

 

11. Ensure that internal shop lighting does not create inappropriate light spillage into 
the public realm.  

 

Reason for the policy 

9.6.0     Shopfronts are important elements in the townscape and can contribute 
significantly to the street scene. The design of a shopfront should recognise this 
and be appropriate to, or enhance, the building and its location. It should 
respect the design of the building and not obscure, or result in damage to, 
existing architectural features. 

9.6.1     Existing shopfronts should be retained where they contribute to the appearance 
or special interest of a building or the street scene, particularly in listed buildings 
or conservation areas, or those that are of design or historic significance in their 
own right or as part of a group. Any modifications necessary should be 
sympathetic to the original design. 

How the policy works 

9.6.2     New shopfront proposals should relate to the upper floors of the building and 
surrounding buildings, providing consistency with neighbouring premises, where 
appropriate. New shopfronts should utilise high quality materials and finishes. 
The City Corporation will seek a reduction in fascias of excessive dimensions 
(height, width and depth) that are out of proportion or scale with the shopfront or 
have a detrimental visual effect on the building or the street scene.  

9.6.3    Modification to shopfronts and shopfront designs to incorporate louvres, plant or 
refuse accommodation should be undertaken in a manner sympathetic to the 
design and character of the building where they cannot be accommodated in 
less sensitive elevations. The use of awnings and canopies should be 
considered to address climate impacts, where appropriate, and should be 
integrated into the shopfront design in relation to size, location and materials. 

9.6.4     Fully openable shopfronts and large serving openings may be refused where 
they create a void at ground floor level that could harm the appearance of 
buildings and create potential amenity issues. 

9.6.5     Required security measures should be internal to limit their visual impact on 
shopfronts and deliver an active frontage. External security shutters are not 
normally acceptable, except where they are a characteristic of historic 
shopfronts. Internal shutters should be perforated to enable visibility into the 
shop and passive surveillance. To enliven frontages and enable passive 
surveillance, all retail frontages should provide good visibility and glazing should 
not be blanked out. The installation of security glass and steel reinforced 
frontages will be considered in the context of the impact on the appearance and 
historic significance of the shopfront. 

Page 447



 

104 

 

Retail entrances – including alterations to existing buildings – should be designed 
with level entrances and doorways that enable inclusive access by all. Where 
alterations would have an impact on heritage assets, all feasible options should be 
explored to provide the highest levels of inclusion. 

9.7    Policy DE7: Advertisements  

1. Advertising must be of a high standard of design, restrained in amount and in 
keeping with the character of the City.  

2. Excessive or obtrusive advertising, inappropriate illuminated signs and the display of 
advertisements above ground floor level will be resisted. 

3. Advertising flags and banners may be appropriate to support cultural institutions.  

4. High quality temporary advertising associated with one-off events may be 
appropriate, where it would contribute to the vibrancy of the Square Mile and make a 
positive contribution to amenity and public safety. 

 

Reason for the policy 

9.7.0    To protect and enhance the character of the City’s streets, the City Corporation 
considers that advertising material should be restrained in quantity and form. 
Poor quality advertisements harm the street scene and the unique character of 
the City of London. The City Corporation will exercise advertisement control 
having regard to visual amenity and public safety and will seek improvements to 
the design of advertisements, where necessary. 

How the policy works 

9.7.1     Advertising hoardings and advertisements on street furniture will not normally 
be permitted as these detract from the character of the City. The display of 
advertisements on construction site hoardings will be resisted unless directly 
related to the development site. Construction hoardings may, however, provide 
an opportunity to add interest to the street scene by including images and 
information about the development under construction. Further guidance is 
contained in the City Corporation’s Hoardings Advice Note. 

9.7.2     The design of advertising material should respect its locality and use 
appropriate materials of high quality. Advertisements should be appropriate to 
the frontage served and should not include static or moving projection of images 
beyond the frontage, such as laser projections and projections on building 
façades, to protect visual amenity and public safety. Illumination of 
advertisements should be discreet and incorporate LEDs to reduce the overall 
bulk and energy use of signage. Advertising flags and banners will not normally 
be permitted except where appropriate for cultural institutions. Rotating 
advertisements will be resisted as these detract from the City’s character.  

Page 448



 

105 

 

9.7.3     Particular care will be necessary with advertisements on or in the setting of 
listed buildings and within conservation areas. Internal illumination of 
advertisements in such areas will not normally be permitted.  

9.7.4     Advertisements above ground level are frequently detrimental to the 
appearance and visual amenity of the street scene and can detract from the 
character and qualities of individual buildings by obscuring architectural features 
and the City’s streetscape and skyline. While there are exceptions, such as 
traditional or historic signs, signs in an elevated position will not usually be 
permitted.  

9.7.5     Appropriate action will be taken to have unauthorised advertisements removed. 

The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy requires that pavements are kept 

clear of obstructions through a range of actions, which include not permitting A-

boards on the pavement and encouraging owners and occupiers not to place A-

boards on private land adjacent to the pavement. 

9.8    Policy DE8: Daylight and sunlight 

1. Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that the daylight and sunlight 
available to nearby dwellings and other sensitive receptors including schools, 
hospitals, hotels and hostels, places of worship and open spaces, is appropriate for 
its context and provides acceptable standards of daylight and sunlight, taking 
account of the Building Research Establishment’s guidelines. 

2. Development proposals should have regard to the daylight and sunlight levels of 
historic interiors and should seek opportunities to improve daylight and sunlight levels 
where this would be achievable and appropriate. 

3. The design of new developments should allow for the lighting needs of intended 
occupiers and provide acceptable levels of daylight and sunlight consistent with a city 
centre context, minimising the need for artificial lighting. 

4. Development should incorporate design measures to mitigate adverse solar glare 
effects on surrounding buildings and public realm. 

Reason for the policy 

9.8.0     The City is an urban centre with a very high density of buildings, resulting in 
lower average levels of daylight and sunlight to buildings and spaces in 
comparison to suburban or rural areas. The amount of daylight and sunlight 
received has an important effect on the amenity of dwellings, the appearance 
and enjoyment of the open spaces and streets of the City, and the energy 
efficiency of all buildings. Access to appropriate levels of daylight and sunlight is 
important for the mental health of workers and residents. Daylight and sunlight 
can enhance historic interiors, particularly those that have a cultural or 
community function including religious buildings.  

 

Page 449



 

106 

 

How the policy works 

9.8.1     The Building Research Establishment (BRE) has issued guidelines in ‘Site 
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ that set out a methodology for 
assessing changes in daylight and sunlight arising from new development. The 
City Corporation will apply these methods, consistent with BRE and NPPF 
guidance that ideal daylight and sunlight conditions may not be practicable in 
densely developed city-centre locations. Given the importance of the City’s 
open spaces in a high-density urban environment, the impact of any changes to 
sunlight on the public realm will need to be carefully evaluated even if proposals 
comply with BRE guidelines. Developers will be required to submit daylight and 
sunlight assessments and undertake radiance studies in support of their 
proposals. The City Corporation may require independent verification of these 
assessments at the developer’s expense. 

9.8.2     When considering proposed changes to existing lighting levels, the City 
Corporation will take account of the cumulative effect of development proposals, 
and existing levels of light if they are low. The City Corporation will take into 
account unusual existing circumstances, such as development on an open or 
low-rise site as well as the presence of balconies or other external features, 
which limit the daylight and sunlight that a building can receive. The City 
Corporation will publish further guidance for City developers on how it expects 
BRE guidance to be used and interpreted, including guidance on the use of 
methodologies such as radiance studies to enable better understanding of 
daylight and sunlight impacts to a range of existing land uses. 

9.8.3     Planning considerations concerning daylight and sunlight operate independently 
of any common law rights and any light and air agreements which may exist. If 
a development is considered beneficial in the public interest and has planning 
permission, but it is not proceeding due to rights to light issues, the City 
Corporation may consider acquiring interests in land or appropriating land for 
planning purposes to enable development to proceed. 

9.9    Policy DE9: Lighting 

1. Development should be designed in ways that consider the impacts of internal 
and external lighting and should include measures to reduce energy consumption, 
avoid spillage beyond where it is needed and protect the amenity of light-sensitive 
uses such as housing, hospitals, relevant open spaces and community uses. The 
design of lighting should be informed by the potential impacts on biodiversity, and 
should seek to make the City a safer and more welcoming place to be for all its 
communities after dark. 

2. The external lighting of buildings should contribute positively to the unique 
character and – where relevant – grandeur of the City townscape by night.  

3. External lighting of heritage assets within the City must be sympathetic to the 
building and the wider context in terms of tone and brightness. 

Page 450



 

107 

 

4. Applications for major development and for lighting schemes should follow the 
submission requirements set out in the Lighting SPD (Lighting Strategy, Lighting 
Concept and Technical Lighting Design). All other applications should address 
how lighting has been considered as part of the submission.  

Reason for the policy 

9.9.0    The City Corporation aims to improve the night-time offering and create an after-
dark street experience that befits a world class business and cultural centre. 
Well-designed lighting schemes on commercial properties within the City can 
help create an attractive night-time townscape and enhance the experience for 
visitors, whilst avoiding disturbance to residents.   

9.9.1     Development has the potential to positively or adversely affect the level and 
quality of lighting in the surrounding area, so the lighting scheme should be 
incorporated into the detailed design process at an early stage. Careful planning 
and design are required to ensure proper consideration of key issues where 
lighting has an impact such as movement, accessibility, safety, security as well 
as the reduction of energy use and light pollution. 

9.9.2     Sensitively designed lighting schemes can improve accessibility for disabled 
people by reducing glare and excessive contrast. Well-designed lighting can 
support the prevention and detection of crime and anti-social behaviour and 
improve the perception of personal security. In the City, the predominance of 
glazed office buildings can lead to light pollution, which can impact residential 
amenity, undermine biodiversity and cause harm to wildlife. Impacts on the 
City’s open spaces – including the riverfront – are important considerations.  

How the policy works 
 
9.9.3     The highlighting of key buildings, bridges and other points of interest within the 

City at night time is appropriate where it enhances the overall experience of this 
unique area, and provides orientation and wayfinding after dark.  

9.9.4     The external illumination of buildings, where appropriate, should be carefully 
designed to ensure visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, 
and the discreet integration of light fittings into the building design. Lighting 
intensity, tone and colour need to respect the architectural form and detail of the 
building, be sensitive to the setting of historic buildings and limit adverse effects 
upon adjacent areas, uses and biodiversity.  

9.9.5     The design of lighting schemes should be considered at an early stage in the 
development design process, having regard to the City of London Lighting SPD. 
For major applications and lighting schemes, Developers should submit a 
Lighting Strategy at pre-application stage, a Lighting Concept with their planning 
application, and Technical Lighting Design details through condition if the 
application is approved. All other applications should consider the lighting 
impacts as part of the application. 

Page 451



 

108 

 

9.9.6     Owners, occupiers and managers of existing buildings will be encouraged to 
adopt the principles set out in the Lighting SPD by signing up to the 
‘Considerate Lighting Charter’ in the SPD. 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 452



 

109 

 

 

 Transport 

10.1    Strategic Policy S9: Transport and Servicing 

The City’s transport infrastructure will be maintained and improved by: 

1. Safeguarding land where necessary, as shown on the Policies Map, to enable the 
delivery of increased public transport capacity. Proposals which are contrary to the 
safeguarding of strategic infrastructure projects will be refused. 

2. Implementing improvements to street-level interchange between Fenchurch Street 
and Tower Hill/Tower Gateway stations and working with partners to explore the 
feasibility of a direct interchange route in the longer-term. 

3. Promoting further improvements to public transport capacity and step-free access at 
existing mainline rail, London Underground stations and river piers. 

4. Minimising road danger and congestion, and reducing vehicle emissions by: 

• Not providing any additional on-street car and motorcycle parking; 

• Identifying opportunities to use on-street parking reductions and restrictions to 
discourage private vehicle use; 

• Designing and managing streets in accordance with the City of London street 
hierarchy; 

• Minimising the impact of freight and servicing trips through such measures as 
the provision of on-site servicing facilities, the timing of deliveries outside 
peak hours, the adoption of area-wide solutions, freight consolidation and 
promoting deliveries by foot or bicycle;  

• Facilitating essential traffic, including emergency service vehicles, buses, 
freight and private transport for people with particular access needs, whilst 
minimising the environmental impact of these modes; 

• Requiring the provision of infrastructure for alternative-fuel vehicles and zero 
emissions vehicles, such as off-street vehicle charging points; 

• Using traffic management measures and street works permits to improve 
journey time reliability on the City’s roads; and 

• Requiring developers to demonstrate, through Transport Assessments, 
Construction Logistics Plans, Travel Plans, Cycling Promotion Plans and 
Delivery and Servicing Plans, how the environmental impacts and road 
danger of travel and servicing will be minimised as a result of their 
development, promoting best practice such as direct vision standards, and 
zero vison policies to minimise danger of travel and servicing, including 
through the use of river transport.  

Page 453



 

110 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.1.0  The City’s strategic central London position and its comprehensive transport 
infrastructure enable the vast majority of workers, residents and visitors to use 
public transport to access the City from across London and the wider south 
east. People walking and cycling make up more than two-thirds of all observed 
travel activity in the City. A third of all travel movements take place in the four 
peak hours: 8am to 10am and 5pm to 7pm. Over 90% of commuter travel to the 
City is by public transport, walking or cycling. Less than 5% of City workers 
drive to work. The City is already a highly sustainable location, and the opening 
of the Elizabeth Line has resulted in a wider catchment area within an hour’s 
journey time of the City. The City Corporation will use its planning powers, 
alongside its role as a transport authority, and in partnership with Transport for 
London to help secure improvements to public transport, for instance by 
safeguarding land from other forms of development where necessary.  

10.1.1 The City’s Transport Strategy indicates that the design and management of 
streets will reflect their position in the street hierarchy, as well as their function 
as places.  

 

  

   Table 1: City of London street hierarchy  

 

10.1.2   The TfL network (classed as London Access) is expected to accommodate the 
majority of through traffic, while roads which are managed by the City 
Corporation are classed as either City Access or Local Access. Changes to the 
highway network at Bank Junction and the proposed changes to the St Paul’s 
Gyratory are reflected in the street hierarchy.  

 

 

Movement function Proposed category 

Through traffic – the preferred streets for motor 
vehicles that do not have a destination in, or 
immediately adjacent to, the Square Mile. 

London Access streets 
(TfL network) 

Local traffic – the preferred streets for motor 
vehicles that are travelling around the Square Mile 
or to locations immediately adjacent. 

City Access streets 

Access – used for the first or final part of a journey, 
providing access to properties. 

Local Access streets 

Page 454



 

111 

 

 

Figure 7: Proposed Street Hierarchy 

How the policy works 

10.1.3   The City’s Transport Strategy aims to support the continued reduction of motor 
vehicle traffic on the City’s streets, with targets proposed to reduce the number 
of motor vehicles in the City from the 2017 baseline by at least 25% by 2030 
and at least 50% by 2044. In 2022, motor vehicle traffic has already seen a 26% 
reduction from 185,000 vehicles in 2017 to 137,000 vehicles. The spare 
capacity unlocked by these reductions will allow for the radical transformation of 
the City’s streets to deliver a healthier, safer and more attractive street 
environment.  

10.1.4   Achievement of the targets is dependent on measures introduced by the Mayor 
of London and TfL, although the City Corporation will explore specific measures 
within the City of London if strategic scale measures are not progressed. The 
City Corporation will also implement measures such as timed closures and 
additional traffic calming to facilitate the removal of non-essential vehicular 
traffic.  

10.1.5  The City Corporation will work with TfL to review bus routing and frequency 
through the City to maintain or improve journey times and connectivity while 
enhancing the pedestrian environment.  

10.1.6  The City Corporation will work with TfL to prioritise investment in accessibility 
improvements to underground and DLR stations and will seek to identify 

Page 455



 

112 

 

opportunities to introduce step free access as part of new developments and 
major refurbishments. 

10.1.7  The City Corporation will require developers and occupiers to minimise the 
impact of freight and servicing trips through measures such as the retiming of 
deliveries and collections outside peak periods, along with consolidation onto 
fewer or different types of vehicles. 

10.1.8 Greater use of the River Thames will be encouraged for both passenger and 
freight transport purposes to alleviate the need for some motor vehicle trips on 
the City’s streets. 

10.2    Policy VT1: The impacts of development on transport 

1. Development proposals must have a positive impact on highway safety for all users 
in accordance with the Transport Strategy and Vision Zero ambition, and should not 
have adverse effects on the City’s transport networks.  

2. Where development would result in adverse impacts on the transport network, these 
must be demonstrated at pre-application stage and mitigated though site/building 
design, public highway works and management of operational activities. Appropriate 
measures to adapt public highway to mitigate the impact of the development will be 
sought via planning contributions or by legal agreement. There should be no 
reduction in the quality or function of the public highway as a result of development, 
and improvements should be sought where feasible. 

3. The design and implementation of traffic management and highway security 
measures must be agreed with the City Corporation and Transport for London, where 
appropriate, and may include restricting motor vehicle access and using traffic 
calming measures to limit the opportunity for hostile vehicle approach. 

4. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans (incorporating Cycling Promotion Plans) 
are required for all developments that exceed the following thresholds:  

Land Use Thresholds 

Offices  1,000m2 

Residential 10 units 

Retail 1,000m2 

Hotel 10 bed spaces 

Health 1,000m2 

Transport Infrastructure  >500 additional trips per peak hour 

Mixed Use  1,000m2 

5. A Construction Logistics Plans is required for all major developments or 
refurbishments and for any developments that would have a significant impact on the 
transport network during construction. 

Page 456



 

113 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.2.0  Development has the potential to create significant changes in transport patterns 
and demands that must be addressed at an early stage of the design process. 
Any adverse impacts that are identified must be minimised and mitigated 
through appropriate design and/or management measures. Transport 
Assessments are required to assess the potential impacts of development, 
while Travel Plans will be required to maximise the use of active transport 
modes and public transport. 

10.2.1   Major developments can have a significant impact on the function of existing 
streets and spaces and any adverse impacts must be mitigated by highway 
works and public realm interventions that enhance the quality of the City’s 
streets and public spaces.  

How the policy works 

10.2.2  An assessment of the transport implications of development, during both 
construction and operation, should address the impacts on: 

• Road danger; 

• Pedestrian environment, pedestrian and cyclist movement, infrastructure 
provision; 

• Public transport; and 

• The street network. 

 

10.2.3 Development will be subject to conditions, Section 106 and Section 278 
Agreements to ensure appropriate mitigation of any adverse transport impacts. 
Community Infrastructure Levy contributions will be used by the City 
Corporation to deliver wider improvements to the transport network, where 
appropriate.   

10.2.4 For major developments, developers must demonstrate at pre-application stage 
the impact of the proposed development on the streets and spaces including 
the increase in pedestrian, cycle and vehicular numbers. Any proposals that 
substantially affect the use and function of an existing street or public space will 
be required to mitigate the impact of their development through appropriate 
highways works and public realm enhancements.  

10.2.5 For applications that meet the relevant thresholds, a robust transport assessment 
is required, and an initial highways design general arrangement plan (at 1:200 
scale), should be submitted, highlighting the highways works that would form 
part of a Section 278 Agreement. As a minimum, the 
reconstruction/reinstatement of the streets adjacent to the planning application 
site should be incorporated within the proposals.  

10.2.6 Proposals for works to the public highway should be developed in accordance 
with the Transport Strategy, City of London Public Realm Toolkit, the City of 

Page 457



 

114 

 

London COLSAT Tool, the City’s Healthy Streets Plans and other relevant 
guidance. 

10.2.7 Transport Assessments and Travel Plans (incorporating Cycling Promotion 
Plans) should be used to demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation’s 
Transport Strategy. Applicants should discuss the scope of the transport 
documentation required early in the pre-application stage to ensure that it 
provides evidence tailored to the City’s specific circumstances. Account should 
be taken of the cumulative transport impacts of other nearby developments. TfL 
has prepared further guidance for developers on Transport Assessments which 
is available on the TfL website. 

10.2.8 A full Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) will be required by condition with outline 
details required at the application stage.  A CLP should comply with the 
measures set out in the City Corporation’s Code of Practice for Deconstruction 
and Construction Sites and with TfL’s online guidance. The CLP should show 
examples of how vehicles will be managed in line with the need to Reduce, Re-
time and Re-mode (the three Rs). 

10.3    Policy VT2: Freight and Servicing  

1. Applicants should consult with the City Corporation on matters relating to servicing at 
an early design concept stage.  

2. Developments must minimise the need for freight trips and seek to work together with 
adjoining owners and occupiers to manage freight and servicing on an area-wide 
basis. Major commercial development must provide for freight consolidation and use 
technological and procurement solutions that enable efficient servicing and deliveries 
to sites. 

3. Development should be designed to provide for on-site servicing bays within 
buildings, wherever practicable. On site servicing areas must be of a sufficient size 
and design to allow all goods and refuse collection vehicles likely to service the 
development at the same time to be conveniently loaded and unloaded. Servicing 
areas should provide sufficient space or facilities for all vehicles to enter and exit the 
site in a forward gear. Servicing areas must be equipped with electric vehicle fast 
charging points. The use of servicing lifts will be required where this approach would 
be beneficial for creating attractive and inclusive public realm. 

4. Delivery to and servicing of development must take place outside peak pedestrian 
hours (i.e. no deliveries between 7am-10am, 12pm-2pm and 4pm-7pm on 
weekdays). Deliveries residential areas must take place outside the hours of 11pm – 
7am on all days of the week. Areas of high footfall or in proximity to sensitive land 
uses may be subject to further restrictions, especially areas near cultural and visitor 
attractions and transport hubs. 

5. Developers should minimise congestion and emissions caused by servicing and 
deliveries through ensuring, last mile deliveries are made by foot, cycle or zero 
emission vehicle, and should seek opportunities to support deliveries to the City by 

Page 458



 

115 

 

river and rail freight. Developers will be encouraged to identify opportunities for last 
mile logistic hubs where appropriate. 

6. Provision should be made within servicing bays for shredding operations. On-street 
shredding will not be permitted. 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.3.0  The low numbers of private motor vehicles in the City mean that delivery and 
service vehicles have a relatively greater impact on traffic congestion and air 
quality, especially in areas of high-density development and narrow streets. 
Efficient off-street servicing and delivery arrangements are vital to keep the 
City’s traffic moving and thereby avoid air pollution caused by stationary traffic. 
The Mayor’s Transport Strategy aims to reduce the number of lorries and vans 
entering central London in the morning peak by 10% by 2026. The City’s 
Transport Strategy seeks to reduce the number of motorised freight vehicles by 
15% by 2030 and 30% by 2044 and facilitate the transition to ultra-low emission 
and zero emission delivery vehicles.  

10.3.1   Retiming of deliveries and collections outside peak periods can reduce 
congestion, as can consolidation onto fewer vehicles or different types of 
vehicles. The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy aims to reduce the number 
of motorised freight vehicles at peak times (7-10am, 12-2pm and 4-7pm) by 
50% by 2030 and 90% by 2044. The use of consolidation, will help to minimise 
the number of trips required to service a development during construction and 
operation, as does the use of preferred suppliers or nominated carriers to serve 
a multi-tenanted building.  

10.3.2 Large physical consolidation centres will almost always need to be located 
outside the City because of the lack of suitable land and high land values within 
the City and will therefore require the cooperation of other local authorities. The 
City Corporation’s Transport Strategy aims to use the planning process to 
require consolidation for new developments, while encouraging existing 
buildings and BIDs to use consolidation. Last mile logistics hubs can facilitate 
more deliveries on foot, by cycle and by small electric vehicles. 

10.3.3 Personal deliveries to places of work within the City contribute to congestion on 
the streets. Businesses should discourage personal deliveries to business 
premises and instead encourage deliveries near home and use of click and 
collect parcel drop off services. It may be appropriate to secure this through a 
legal agreement. Where deliveries continue to take place, the provision of 
shared ground floor storage facilities in multi-tenanted buildings may reduce the 
amount of time spent at the kerbside by delivery vehicles.  

10.3.4 In order to decrease freight vehicles in the City, the Transport Strategy aims to 
encourage freight into the City with rail. The City will work with Network Rail to 
explore opportunities for inward freight into mainline rail stations and 
encourages developers to support this.  

Page 459



 

116 

 

10.3.5 On-street shredding operations associated with building occupation creates 
noise and congestion and can have an adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring uses.  

How the policy works 

10.3.6  Servicing areas should be designed into new buildings and provide sufficient 
space or facilities for all vehicles to enter and exit the site in a forward gear. 
Headroom should be provided of at least 5m where skips are to be lifted and 
4.75m for all other vehicle circulation areas.  

10.3.7   Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSP) will be required for all major commercial 
development over 1,000m2 and any other development or refurbishment that 
will cause significant transport impacts on the local or wider area through 
operational deliveries and servicing. For smaller development, a DSP is 
encouraged, and may be required in sensitive areas, as a tool to effectively 
manage delivery and servicing movements. DSPs should set out the following 
(as appropriate): 

• The number of vehicle trips that have been avoided as a result of the use 
of consolidation of servicing and deliveries 

• Procurement measures (including those taken jointly with other 
businesses) that would reduce the numbers of delivery and servicing trips 

• A commitment to the use of zero emission vehicles and how their use and 
the use of deliveries on foot and by cycle will be facilitated 

• Appropriate routing for vehicles, including to and from consolidation 
centres, taking account of the City’s street hierarchy and addressing the 
potential for river and rail freight 

• Proposals for monitoring delivery and servicing arrangements, including 
consolidation. 

10.3.8   Out of hours servicing is required, except in residential areas where night-time 
deliveries must be avoided, and further restrictions may be applied in areas of 
high footfall. The DSP should set out that a booking system for deliveries and 
servicing will be implemented, and that deliveries and servicing within the 
restricted hours of 7am-10am, 12pm-2pm and 4pm-7pm on weekdays will not 
be permitted. High footfall in areas at other peak times may also require 
restrictions on deliveries and servicing.  

10.3.9   Where deliveries are required outside of the restricted hours, these should be 
subject to a quiet delivery agreement or a commitment to minimise noise and 
pollution impacts in all stages of the delivery process. Details should be set out 
in the DSP. Where appropriate, construction deliveries may be accepted 
outside of normal working hours and the management of such deliveries should 
be explained in the DSP. 

Page 460



 

117 

 

10.3.10 Further information is set out in the City of London’s Freight and Servicing SPD.  

10.4    Policy VT3: Vehicle Parking 

1. Development in the City should be car-free except for designated Blue Badge 
spaces. Where other car parking (including motorcycle parking) is exceptionally 
provided it must not exceed London Plan standards. 

2. No new public car parks will be permitted, including through the temporary use of 
vacant sites.  

3. Underutilised public car parks will be prioritised for alternative uses that support the 
delivery of the Transport Strategy. The redevelopment of existing public car parks for 
other land uses will be supported if it is demonstrated that they are no longer needed 
for a transport-related function. 

4. All off-street car parking facilities must be equipped with electric vehicle charging 
points.  

5. New taxi ranks will only be permitted in key locations such as near stations, hotels 
and large retail developments and where they do not conflict with other policies in the 
development plan. Off-street taxi ranks should be designed with a combined entry 
and exit point to minimise obstruction to other transport modes. 

 

Reason for the policy 

10.4.0 The City has excellent public transport accessibility and all development should 
therefore be car-free (except for designated Blue Badge spaces) unless it can 
be demonstrated that there are exceptional circumstances which justify limited 
car parking, in line with London Plan standards. 

How the policy works 

10.4.1 Designated parking must be provided for Blue Badge holders within 
developments in conformity with the London Plan requirements and must be 
marked out and reserved for their use. Some older or disabled residents may 
need regular visits from carers and healthcare professionals and the provision 
of visitor parking would support their ability to live in their own homes. Any such 
parking should be marked out as such and restricted only for these users. 

10.5    Policy VT4: River Transport 

1. The City Corporation will support improvements to river piers, steps and stairs to the 
foreshore; 

Page 461



 

118 

 

2. Improvements to piers and other river-based transport infrastructure to enable an 
increase in passenger and freight transport by river will be supported, alongside 
opportunities for new river-based transport.  

3. The City Corporation will seek the reinstatement of Swan Lane Pier for river transport 
uses. Development that prejudices this reinstatement will not be permitted.  

4. The permanent mooring of vessels along the riverfront will be resisted in order to 
maintain views of the river and heritage assets, allow public enjoyment of the 
riverfront and minimise potential impacts on archaeology, ecology, and amenity. 

5. The City Corporation will continue to safeguard Walbrook Wharf as a river wharf and 
waste transfer site, support improvements to Walbrook Wharf that would improve its 
operation, and seek opportunities for the use of the wharf for transfer of goods, 
where this would not undermine its safeguarded role.  

6. All development within the City must consider use of the River Thames for the 
movement of construction materials and waste. Development adjacent to, or over, 
the river must be supported by a Transport Assessment and a Construction Logistics 
Plan addressing the potential of using the river for the movement of construction 
materials and waste and servicing of the development.  

 

Reason for the policy 

10.5.0   Walbrook Wharf is the only active river wharf in the City and needs to be 
retained as a waste facility and river wharf in line with the associated Ministerial 
Safeguarding Direction and the London Plan The waste transfer site at 
Walbrook Wharf provides a means of removing domestic and commercial waste 
from the City by river, significantly reducing the need for road transport of 
waste. Subject to the need to retain capacity for efficient waste operations from 
this site and improve its operation, there may be potential to use Walbrook 
Wharf for freight logistics. 

10.5.1  Additional use of the river either to transport construction and demolition 
materials or for deliveries and servicing would further reduce the need for goods 
vehicles on the City’s streets, helping to alleviate congestion and pollution.  

10.5.2  Swan Lane Pier is a redundant pier and the City Corporation will seek its 
reinstatement for river transport uses. Applicants should liaise with the Port of 
London Authority regarding the operational and safety aspects of their 
proposals and with the Environment Agency regarding the impact of boat 
movements on biodiversity and river defences.  

10.5.3  Given the limited opportunities to improve river transport within the City, as well 
as the potential impacts on views, heritage, ecology, biodiversity, archaeology, 
noise and other disturbance, and public enjoyment of the riverfront, permanent 
mooring of vessels will be resisted. 

Page 462



 

119 

 

10.6    Policy VT5: Aviation Landing Facilities      

Heliports will not be permitted in the City. Helipads will only be permitted where they are 
essential for emergency or security purposes.  

 

Reason for the policy 

10.6.0   Heliports are not appropriate in the City because of the noise and disturbance 
that would be created by helicopters in such a densely developed area. In order 
to demonstrate a need for helipad facilities, it must be certified by the 
emergency services and shown that the need cannot be met elsewhere. The 
City Corporation’s Transport Strategy sets out principles that will apply to the 
potential use of drones in the City. The City Corporation will keep the need for 
facilities for drones under review, taking account of developing technology, the 
impact on amenity, City streets and sky space, and the security and privacy 
implications.  

Page 463



 

120 

 

10.7 Strategic Policy S10: Active Travel and Healthy Streets  

The City Corporation will work with partners to improve the quality and permeability of 
the City’s streets and spaces in ways that enhance inclusion and accessibility, put the 
needs of people walking and wheeling first when designing and managing our streets, 
and enable more people to choose to cycle in the City by: 

1. Applying the Healthy Streets Approach in development proposals and 
improvements to public realm; 

2. Improving conditions for safe, convenient, comfortable, inclusive and accessible 
walking, wheeling and cycling, incorporating climate change adaptation; 

3. Expanding the cycle network across the City with the aim of ensuring that all 
property entrances are within 250m of the network; 

4. Implementing improvements to key walking routes and increasing the number of 
pedestrian priority streets as part of the delivery of the City’s Transport Strategy; 

5. Improving access routes and the public realm around stations, and between 
stations and key destinations; and 

6. Implementing enhancements to the safety and appearance of streets and public 
realm in conjunction with restrictions to vehicular access, taking account of the 
needs of disabled people.  

 

Reason for the policy 

10.7.0 The Healthy Streets Approach provides the framework for the City of London’s 
Transport Strategy, which places improving people’s health and their 
experience of using streets at the heart of transport decision making. Good 
performance against each indicator demonstrates that individual streets are 
appealing places to walk, cycle and spend time.  

10.7.1 Most movement in the City is on foot and the street environment is predominantly 
a pedestrian environment, with over 750,000 walked and wheeled journeys a 
day. Cycling in the City needs to be considered within this context. Cycling in 
the City increased by almost four-fold between 1999 and 2022, although the 
rate of growth has slowed since 2012. Pedestrian numbers have also risen in 
the past 10 years as the City’s workforce has grown.  

10.7.2 Improvements to conditions for safe, convenient and comfortable walking and 
cycling are required to improve the experience of people who already walk and 
cycle and encourage more people to use active modes of travel. The City has 
embedded the Healthy Streets Approach to inform strategic decision making 
and project prioritisation. Provision of necessary infrastructure is particularly 
challenging due to the City’s historic street pattern and the significant demands 
for space on streets from the high volume of pedestrians, cyclists and servicing 
and other essential vehicles. New planning applications and public realm 
proposals will be assessed using the Healthy Streets Indicators to understand 
development impacts on surrounding streets and on people’s experiences of 
the City’s streets. 

Page 464



 

121 

 

10.7.3   The Mayor’s Transport Strategy seeks to enable more people to walk and cycle 
and reduce the use of and reliance on cars. Prioritisation of walking,wheeling 
and cycling through reallocation of highway space is advocated where 
appropriate to reduce conflict between different modes of transport, and to 
create an environment where people choose to walk,wheel and cycle. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 8: Mayor’s Transport Strategy Healthy Street Indicators 

How the policy works 

10.7.4   Through the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy, the design and 
management of streets will reflect their position in the street hierarchy, as well 
as their function as places. Traffic management measures to implement the 
street hierarchy will be identified through the development of area based 
Healthy Streets Plans. These will consider how to reduce the use of Local 
Access streets by through traffic, while maintaining appropriate levels of 
vehicular access. They will also consider opportunities to introduce pedestrian 
priority, improve the experience of cycling, wheeling and walking, enhance the 
public realm and create new public space. Healthy Streets Plans will be 

Page 465



 

122 

 

developed by the City Corporation to cover the following areas: City Cluster; 
Fleet Street; Liverpool Street; Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken; Bunhill, Barbican 
and Golden Lane; Fenchurch Street; Bank and Cheapside; and Riverside.  

 

  Figure 9: Proposed Healthy Street Plans 

10.8   Policy AT1: Pedestrian Movement, Permeability and Wayfinding 

1. Developers should facilitate pedestrian movement, enhance permeability, and 
reduce severance by provision of suitable routes through and around new 
developments, wherever feasible. Development will be required to contribute 
towards the improvement of pedestrian permeability in the City by:  

• Providing legible, good quality, safe and low pollution pedestrian connections 
between spaces;  

• Providing new pedestrian routes through buildings and development sites, 
where feasible, and respecting, maintaining and restoring, the City’s 
characteristic network of accessible buildings, streets, courts and alleyways;   

• Providing publicly accessible ground floors for improved pedestrian 
movement, where feasible;  

• Providing pedestrian routes that are of adequate width, step-free and follow 
best practice in street design to encourage ease of movement.  

Page 466



 

123 

 

2. The City Corporation will work with developers and owners to maintain 
pedestrian routes at ground level and the upper level walkway network around 
the Barbican and London Wall. Development should not lead to the loss of routes 
and spaces that enhance the City’s heritage, function or character. 

3. Development proposals should maintain and, wherever feasible, provide for an 
increase in pavement widths aligned with TfL Pedestrian Comfort guidance to 
ensure that pavements provide sufficient safety, comfort and convenience for the 
number of pedestrians. 

4. The loss of a pedestrian route will only be permitted where an alternative public 
pedestrian route of at least equivalent standard is provided having regard to: 

5. The extent to which the route provides for current and all reasonably foreseeable 
future demands placed upon it, including at peak periods; 

6. The shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 

7. Routes of historic importance will be safeguarded and where appropriate 
reinstated as part of the City’s characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, 
including the route’s historic alignment and width. 

8. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights with one to which 
the public have access only with permission will not be acceptable. 

9. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it enhances the 
connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City’s street network. Spaces should be 
designed so that signage is not necessary, and it is clear to the public that 
access is allowed. 

10. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged where this would 
improve movement and contribute to the character of an area, taking into 
account the existing pattern of pedestrian routes and movement and connections 
to neighbouring areas and boroughs where relevant. 

11. Improved wayfinding will be sought through new development and public realm 
improvements. Improvements sought will include: 

12. Opportunities to update, enhance and add to the network of Legible London 
signs; 

13. Consistent signage for public spaces created in new development; and 

14. Better revealing ‘hidden’ routes, courts, alleys and other spaces in ways that 
respect and celebrate their character and heritage. 

15. Major development proposals should model the pedestrian flow impact of new 
development.  

 

Page 467



 

124 

 

Reason for this policy 

10.8.0   In light of the current and predicted demands on the City’s streets and public 
realm, permeability and legibility are vital in order to accommodate pedestrians 
and enable efficient movement of people on foot and by cycle. Redevelopment 
schemes may provide opportunities to improve pedestrian safety and comfort, 
for instance by creating new routes or areas of open space, widening 
pavements and removing pinch points, or securing enhanced public access to 
private spaces and routes.  

10.8.1  The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy promotes strategic measures to 
facilitate improved pedestrian movement, including pedestrian priority streets, 
increasing the number of pedestrianised or pedestrian priority streets from 
25km to 35km by 2030 and 55km by 2044. Opportunities will also be identified 
to introduce pedestrian priority on streets with a pavement width of less than 
two metres.  

10.8.2  The Transport Strategy identifies certain routes and junctions which will be 
prioritised for improvement, focusing on those which are busiest with people 
walking and where pavement width and pedestrian crossings are inadequate for 
current or forecast demand. Improvements to the following routes and junctions 
will be delivered by 2030 (see Figure 10): 

Routes north-south from:  

• Millennium Bridge to Barbican via St Pauls Cathedral, which supports the 
new Museum of London and Smithfield area changes.  

• Southwark Bridge to Barbican via Guildhall  

• Cannon Street to Liverpool Street via Bank  

• Blackfriars Bridge to Farringdon via Ludgate Circus (in partnership with TfL)  

• London Bridge to Liverpool Street via Bishopsgate including Monument 
junction (in partnership with TfL); and  

Routes east-west from:  

• Farringdon to Aldgate via Smithfield and the Barbican  

• Fleet Street to Aldgate via Bank and the City Cluster, including Ludgate 
Circus (in partnership with TfL).  

• Temple to Tower Hill via the Thames Riverside 

Page 468



 

125 

 

10.8.3   The City’s narrow streets and alleyways pose additional opportunities and 
challenges in terms of accessibility, wayfinding and safety. Many of these are 
valuable amenity spaces and are of historic importance. Sensitive solutions will 
be sought where development would have an impact on these spaces to protect 
their setting and create high quality, accessible areas for all the City’s users 

Figure 10: Proposed walking improvements (2019-2030) 

How the policy works 

10.8.4   In considering proposals for new pedestrian routes, the City Corporation will 
ensure that routes are of adequate width, step-free and follow best practice in 
street design. Developers will be expected to consider the cumulative impacts 
of their developments on City streets alongside other existing and permitted 
development. Further details are set out in the City Public Realm SPD and 
accompanying Technical Manual. 

10.8.5   Pedestrian Comfort Levels are used to assess the level of crowding on a 
pavement or at a pedestrian crossing. The level of comfort, which is graded 
between A+ (most comfortable) and E (least comfortable), is based on the 
number of people walking and the space available, taking account of street 
furniture and other restrictions. Minimum pavement widths should accord to 
TfL’s Pedestrian Comfort guidance. TfL’s Pedestrian Comfort Guidance 
recommends a minimum comfort level of B+ and the City Corporation’s 
Transport Strategy aims for all City pavements to have a minimum pedestrian 
comfort level of B+. Transport Assessments submitted in support of planning 
applications should assess the level of pedestrian comfort and should provide a 

Page 469



 

126 

 

clear justification if any pavements in the vicinity of the development would fail 
to achieve a B+ rating. 

10.8.6 Appropriate management and maintenance arrangements for the public realm 
and pedestrian routes should be agreed, including for public space that is 
privately owned (in accordance with the Mayor of London’s Public London 
Charter) and secured through legal agreement or planning condition. Financial 
contributions secured through s106 planning obligations will be used to ensure 
development contributes to improvements in the wider public realm. Developers 
will be required to meet the cost of updates to the Legible London map 
database which are required as a result of development, and to fund the 
provision of new Legible London totems, where necessary. 

10.9    Policy AT2: Active Travel including Cycling 

All major development must promote and encourage active travel through making 
appropriate provision for people who walk, wheel and cycle by: 

• ensuring suitable access between the development site and pedestrian and cycle 
routes; 

• incorporating sufficient shower and changing facilities, and lockers/storage to 
support walking and cycling in accordance with the London Cycling Design 
Standards. 

 

Reason for this policy  

10.9.0   Most of the City’s employees journey into work via public transport, completing 
their journeys on foot. Pedestrians make up the majority of the road users in the 
City and as such, provision needs to be made to facilitate safe and pleasant 
pedestrian movements and active travel. 

10.9.1   A growing number of people are choosing to cycle through and around the 
Square Mile. The popularity of cycle hire schemes has grown post-pandemic. 
Increased access to the East-West and North-South Cycleways enables cyclists 
to cross the City on safer strategic routes. This will be supplemented by a 
Citywide core cycle network providing safe and attractive routes around the 
Square Mile and linking into cycling networks in neighbouring boroughs (see 
Figure 17). TFL cycleways and will be prioritised on this network, with the aim of 
delivering the core cycling network by 2035. 

10.9.2 Smaller measures and network enhancements will be identified through 
development of the Healthy Streets Plans. Additional cycling infrastructure 
should see an increase in the uptake of cycling as a way of travelling around as 
well as commuting into the City and help to achieve the aims of both City of 
London’s Transport Strategy, and that of the Mayor of London.  

Page 470



 

127 

 

 

Figure 11: Proposed cycling network 

 

How the policy works 

10.9.3  New developments should provide shower and storage/locker facilities to 
encourage employees to engage in active travel modes. Lockers should be 
provided at a minimum ratio of 1 locker per 1 cycle parking space. Showers 
should be provided at a minimum of 1 shower per 10 cycle parking spaces. The 
City of London’s Active City Network actively encourages employers to promote 
and support safer commuting. The provision of personalised travel planning by 
employers for their staff can be an effective way of helping to achieve this. 
Accessible facilities for disabled cyclists should also be provided. 

10.9.4   Developers will be required to contribute towards the enhancement of the public 
realm to encourage pedestrian and cycle travel, and towards the expansion of 
the City’s cycle network if the development is likely to benefit from the provision 
of a nearby route. Contributions may be secured through s106 planning 
obligations and s278 highways agreements where such provision is necessary 
to mitigate the impacts of the development.  

Page 471



 

128 

 

10.10    Policy AT3: Cycle Parking 

1. Developments must provide on-site cycle parking for occupiers and visitors, 

complying with London Plan standards, and will be encouraged to provide 

facilities for public cycle parking.  

 

2. All long stay on site cycle parking must be secure, undercover and preferably 

enclosed, in accordance with the London Cycle Design Standards. 

 
3. Developments that include ground floor retail and take-away food outlets should 

provide appropriate off-street storage for cargo bikes and hand carts. 

 
4. Cycling facilities should be conveniently located, easily accessible, safe and 

secure.  

 
5. Opportunities to provide space for dockless parking should be explored where 

development would create or have an impact on existing public realm. 

 

Reason for this policy 

10.10.0 There is need to encourage more people to cycle into the City and adopt active 
travel initiatives, to reduce congestion on City streets, deliver improvements in 
air quality, reduce carbon emissions and contribute to the wider health and 
wellbeing of City occupiers, residents and visitors. Sufficient cycle parking will 
be required to meet these needs. 

How the policy works 

10.10.1 Developers will be required to provide sufficient cycle parking to meet potential 
demand, including provision for non-standard cycles. 5% of cycle parking 
spaces must be flexible in order to support secure storage and charging for e-
bicycles, micromobility devices, and mobility scooters. A robust justification for 
failure to comply with London Plan standards will be required. This will be 
considered on a case by case basis as part of pre-application discussions.  All 
on-site cycle parking must be secure, conveniently accessible and sheltered, in 
accordance with London Cycling Design Standards. 

10.10.2 Short-stay visitor cycle parking should be provided on-site at ground floor level. 
Visitor cycle parking should be near building entrances in publicly accessible 
spaces wherever possible.  

10.10.3 In order to facilitate last-mile deliveries by sustainable modes of travel, 
premises that include retail and take-away food outlets will be encouraged to 
provide storage space for cargo bikes and hand carts. 

Page 472



 

129 

 

10.10.4 The Mayor’s Transport Strategy seeks to ensure that on-street cycle facilities 
cater for the wide range of cycles used by disabled people.  

10.10.5 This policy applies to the cycle parking provided within new developments. The 
City Corporation’s Transport Strategy addresses public cycle parking. 
Developers are encouraged to provide additional public cycle parking facilities 
within the curtilage of their developments. The Transport Strategy aims to 
ensure that operators of dockless cycle and scooter hire schemes require users 
to leave cycles and scooters in designated parking locations.  

  

Page 473



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 474



 

130 

 

 Heritage and Tall buildings 
 

11.1   Strategic Policy S11: Historic Environment 

The City’s historic environment will be protected, celebrated and positively 
managed by:  

1. Celebrating the City’s heritage for its contribution to the quality of life and 

promoting public enjoyment of, and access to, heritage assets; 

2. Conserving and enhancing heritage assets and their settings; Opportunities 

will be sought for development proposals to make a positive contribution to, 

and better reveal the significance of, heritage assets and reflect and enhance 

local character and distinctiveness; 

3. Seeking wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits by: 

a) placing heritage at the heart of placemaking and delivering high quality 

buildings and spaces which enrich and enhance the settings of heritage 

assets; 

(b) encouraging the beneficial, continued use of heritage assets through 

sensitive adaptation that is consistent with their conservation and 

enhancement, including those on the Heritage at Risk Register; 

(c) encouraging heritage-led regeneration by identifying opportunities to draw 
on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character and 
identity of the place; 

(d) encouraging sensitive sustainable retrofit of designated as well as non-
designated heritage assets and improvements that would benefit climate 
resilience and adaptation; 

(e) encouraging sites adjacent to and near heritage assets to work 
collaboratively with owners and operators of heritage assets to seek 
improvements to environmental performance, accessibility or other aspects of 
the functioning of heritage assets that are challenging to address; 

(e) Seeking enhanced public access and interpretation of the City’s cultural 
and heritage assets, ensuring that opportunities to experience and enjoy the 
City’s heritage and culture is available to a wide and diverse in a way that is 
socially and economically inclusive; 

Page 475



 

131 

 

4. Protecting and promoting the assessment and evaluation of the City’s ancient 

monuments and archaeological remains and their settings, including the 

interpretation, archiving and publication of archaeological investigations; and 

5. Preserving and seeking to enhance the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV), 

architectural and historic significance, authenticity and integrity of the Tower of 

London World Heritage Site and its setting. 

 

Reason for the policy 

11.1.0  The City of London is the historic centre of London and has a rich and varied 
historic environment that reflects this. The City’s heritage assets contribute to its 
unique identity, adding to its character, attractiveness and competitiveness. This 
is of benefit to all the City’s communities, workers, residents and visitors.  

11.1.1  There are a large number of designated heritage assets in the City, with over 
600 listed buildings and many structures such as statues, monuments and 
sculptures. Listed buildings range from a 17th century home on Cloth Fair, the 
unique early 18th century Bevis Marks Synagogue, and Wren’s iconic St Paul’s 
Cathedral and churches, to modern buildings by renowned architects, such as 
the Barbican Estate and the Lloyds Building. As well as listed buildings there 
are 27 conservation areas, 48 Scheduled Monuments and 4 Historic Parks and 
Gardens. Furthermore, the City provides part of the backdrop and setting for the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site. 

11.1.2 The City has a rich archaeological heritage including many designated and non-
designated monuments visible in the townscape and surviving as buried 
remains below buildings and streets. The whole of the City is regarded as 
having archaeological potential. 

11.1.3  The City contains a rich variety of architectural styles and materials, a medieval 
street pattern and a long history as a centre for commerce and trade. The 
diversity of the buildings and townscape creates a rich juxtaposition between 
the historic and the modern. This and the dense nature of development helps to 
differentiate the City of London from other global commercial centres and 
makes the City a unique place to live, work and visit. 

11.1.4  The City’s rich heritage contributes to the City’s primary function as a business 
centre, its cultural role, as a home to its small resident population and 
increasingly its role as a visitor destination. Approximately two thirds of the 
City’s listed buildings have a commercial use, including offices, retail, and hotels 
and provide vital small and medium-sized office space.  

11.1.5   Heritage assets can significantly contribute to London’s economy, providing 
valuable office space suitable for small to medium-sized occupants as well as 
creative industries, and providing potential space for hotels and retail uses. In 
order to build upon the wider social, cultural and economic benefits of the 

Page 476



 

132 

 

historic environment, public access to, and experience of, the City’s heritage will 
be sought as part of development proposals in line with the wider policies in this 
Plan. 

11.1.6  The re-use, refurbishment and retrofitting of the City’s historic building stock is 
important for mitigating climate change impacts and reducing carbon emissions. 
Heritage assets must adapt to meet changing needs and environments while 
preserving their heritage significance. The City Corporation will require 
development proposals to find sensitive retrofitting solutions to reduce carbon 
emissions; enhance climate resilience; and improve access and environmental 
performance of historic buildings. Retrofitting historic buildings will be supported 
where a sensitive and tailored approach to design and specification is taken, in 
line with the City Corporation’s Heritage Buildings Retrofit Toolkit.  

  Figure 12: Designated heritage assets in the City of London 

 

How the policy works 

11.1.7   Applicants will be required to undertake a comprehensive heritage assessment 
proportionate to the scale of their site and heritage asset to understand ways in 
which their proposal could contribute towards the enhancement and enjoyment 
of the historic environment. This should include considering innovative 
approaches that extend beyond conventional conservation practices to promote  
wider social, cultural and environmental benefits associated with heritage 
conservation. 

Page 477



 

133 

 

11.2   Policy HE1: Managing Change to the Historic Environment 

Development proposals that affect heritage assets or their settings should be 
supported by a Statement of Heritage Significance and a Heritage Impact 
Assessment. It should be ensured any impacts of the proposals on the significance 
of heritage assets or their settings have been fully assessed and understood. The 
level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than 
is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. 

Proposals should meet the following criteria: 

1. Development should preserve and where possible enhance and better reveal 
the special architectural or historic interest and the significance of heritage 
assets and their settings; 

2. There will be a presumption against heritage harm and development causing 
harm to, or total loss of, the significance of designated heritage assets will be 
refused unless the heritage and/or wider public benefits convincingly 
outweigh that harm or loss. Applicants should clearly demonstrate that all 
reasonable efforts have been made to sustain the existing use, find new 
appropriate uses, or mitigate the extent of the harm to the significance of the 
asset; and whether the works proposed are the minimum required to secure 
the long-term use of the asset; 

3. Change of use to heritage assets should be consistent with their long-term 
conservation and should help to retain and enhance the asset, particularly 
those which have been identified at risk; 

4. Development should not cause the loss of routes and spaces that contribute 
to the character and historic interest of the City. The reinstatement of historic 
routes and the creation of new routes will be sought. 

5. Where proposals would result in harm to, or the loss of, a non-designated 
heritage asset, the City Corporation will have regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss, the significance of the heritage asset and the wider public benefits 
proposed. 

6. Development in conservation areas should preserve and where possible 
enhance and better reveal the character, appearance and significance of the 
conservation area and its setting. The buildings and features that contribute 
to the character, appearance, setting or significance of a conservation area 
should be conserved and opportunities to enhance conservation areas 
should be considered; 

7. Development should preserve and where possible enhance and better reveal 
the significance, character and appearance of the City’s registered historic 
parks,  gardens and open spaces and should protect their settings and views 
from and towards these spaces; 

Page 478



 

134 

 

8. Development in the defined immediate setting of Bevis Marks Synagogue 
and The Monument should preserve and where possible enhance the 
elements that contribute to the significance of their setting; 

9. Development should encourage the appreciation of the City’s historic 
roofscapes and should not impact the setting of an asset from high-level 
locations.  

 

Reason for the policy 

11.2.0   The City of London’s historic environment is of one its greatest assets. The 
special character that the City derives in large part is from the concentration and 
significance of its heritage assets, many of which are nationally and 
internationally renowned. Given their immense contribution to the character, 
economy and quality of life of the City, it is important that change to the historic 
environment is sensitively and carefully managed in ways appropriate to its 
significance and that makes it an integral part of the surrounding context. 

How the policy works 

11.2.1  Applicants should provide a clear and comprehensive understanding of the 
heritage significance of a building, proportionate to the nature and scale of the 
proposed development. This may require detailed archival research to 
understand the historical evolution of the building in order to inform the 
proposals as well as the impact of the development on the heritage asset. 

11.2.2  National policy applies different tests to development proposals that would result 
in substantial harm to (or total loss of) the significance of a designated heritage 
asset and proposals that would cause less than substantial harm. Where the 
harm is less than substantial, it should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
National policy indicates that great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

11.2.3  Where a development proposal would affect a non-designated heritage asset, 
national policy requires a balanced judgement to be made having regard to the 
scale of harm and the significance of the asset. The City Corporation will aim to 
identify non-designated heritage assets at the earliest stage in the planning 
process, with reference to current national criteria. This may be supported by 
additional research or investigations as appropriate and be based on a clear 
understanding of the building, structure, open space or archaeological remains, 
including group value. 

11.2.4   The designation of conservation areas carries with it the statutory duty to 
consider how an area or areas can be preserved and enhanced. The City 
Corporation will take the opportunity presented by development proposals 
within a conservation area to strengthen the special character of that 

Page 479



 

135 

 

conservation area and its setting. Applicants should consider the significance 
and special character of conservation areas, informed by the Character 
Summary and Management Strategy Supplementary Planning Documents. 

11.2.5   In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, developers 
should have regard to the character of conservation areas and their settings. 
This includes the size and shape of historic building plots, existing street 
patterns and the alignment and the width of frontages, materials, vertical and 
horizontal emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk and scale, including the 
effects of site amalgamation on scale, and hard and soft landscaping. Regard 
should be paid to the richness, variety and complexity of the architectural form 
and detailing of buildings and to the broader character of the area. 

11.2.6   Many buildings in conservation areas, make a significant contribution to the 
character of these areas. Proposals for the demolition of a non-listed building 
will be considered in terms of the building’s significance, its contribution to the 
character or appearance of the area and the level of potential harm. 

11.2.7   Even minor changes to listed buildings can have a significant impact on their 
character and appearance. Listing descriptions are unlikely to refer to every 
feature of significance and buildings’ interiors and plan forms are also of 
importance. Inspections of listed buildings will be necessary to identify the 
special interest and significance of the building and its curtilage. 

11.2.8  Extensions to listed buildings should be of an appropriate scale and character 
and will be acceptable where the overall impact on the building does not harm 
its significance. The bulk, height, location and materials of roof extensions will 
be particularly important and should be appropriate to the period and style of 
the building and its setting.  Where listed buildings are no longer used for their 
original or previous purpose, it is important to find alternative uses that 
safeguard their future, while being compatible with the character of the building. 

11.2.9  The pattern of streets, lanes, alleyways and other open spaces, such as squares 
and courts, is a distinctive element of the City’s townscape and is of historic 
significance in itself. The City Corporation will seek to maintain the widths and 
alignments of streets, lanes and other spaces where these have historic value 
or underpin the character of a location or their surroundings. Some historic 
routes have been lost to the detriment of the City’s historic townscape. Where 
possible, the City Corporation will seek to re-open or reintroduce such routes 
when the opportunity arises.  

11.2.10 In the design of new buildings or the alteration of existing buildings, developers 
should have regard to the character of conservation areas and their settings. 
This includes the size and shape of historic building plots, existing street 
patterns and the alignment and the width of frontages, materials, vertical and 
horizontal emphasis, layout and detailed design, bulk and scale, including the 
effects of site amalgamation on scale, and hard and soft landscaping. Regard 
should be paid to the richness, variety and complexity of the architectural form 
and detailing of buildings and to the broader character of the area. 

Page 480



 

136 

 

11.2.11 Applicants will be required to provide supporting information describing the 
significance of any heritage assets where fabric or setting would be affected, 
along with the contribution made by their setting to their significance and the 
potential impact of the proposed development on that significance. A heritage 
asset’s significance can be evidential, historic, aesthetic or communal. The 
information provided should be proportionate to the level of change or impact a 
proposal will have on the heritage asset or assets. Applicants should refer to 
guidance by Historic England Good Practice Advice Note in Planning 3: The 
Setting of Heritage Assets. 

11.2.12 The City Corporation’s Character Areas Study provides an overview of the 
City’s overall significance including a Statement of Significance for key strategic 
assets, like St Paul’s Cathedral; The Monument; and the Tower of London. It 
identifies the principle attributes that contribute to the significance of these 
heritage assets and their settings, which should be protected, enhanced, better 
revealed or celebrated. The study also divides the City into 9 character areas 
having shared characteristics, and provides a thorough assessment of the core 
heritage typologies in these areas, highlighting the key aspects that contribute 
to their significance. Applicants should draw reference to the Character Areas 
Study to understand their site’s significance and the key attributes of 
significance that they should consider. 

11.3    Policy HE2: Ancient Monuments and Archaeology 

1. The City Corporation will preserve, protect, safeguard and enhance archaeological 
monuments, remains and their settings, seeking enhancement, inclusive access to, 
public display and interpretation where appropriate. 

2. Development proposals which involve excavation or works affecting sites of 
archaeological potential must be accompanied by an archaeological assessment and 
evaluation of the site, addressing the impact of the proposed development, mitigation 
of harm and identification of enhancement opportunities. 

3. Significant, substantive archaeological features on major development sites must be 
preserved in-situ and, where feasible, exposed to public view. Significant 
archaeological artefacts on major development sites must be retained and exhibited 
on site. Where it can be demonstrated that found archaeological features or artefacts 
are of lesser significance or substance, proper investigation and recording of 
archaeological remains will be required as an integral part of a development 
programme, including timely publication and archiving of results to advance 
understanding.  

Reason for the policy 

11.3.0   The archaeological potential of the City is of national and international 
significance and continues to shed new light on the Roman world in Britain, as 
well as considerable detail of life in later periods. Although there has been 
considerable redevelopment and excavation within the City, there remains 
much potential for the City’s archaeology to reveal information about and deep 

Page 481



 

137 

 

understanding of period in its history spanning two thousand years. Some of the 
archaeology is still visible – such as the remains of the Roman and medieval 
City wall exposed above ground or revealed in development sites, or the 
remains of the amphitheatre below the Guildhall. 

11.3.1   The City’s rich archaeological heritage has a major role to play in the 
Destination City programme and a strong contribution to make to the City’s 
cultural offer. Accordingly, the City will, whilst adhering to the highest standards 
of scholarly research, investigation and recording, proactively seek 
opportunities to reveal and celebrate this archaeological heritage. 

How the policy works 

11.3.2   The City Corporation will indicate the potential of a site, its significance and 
relative importance and the likely impact on archaeology at an early stage so 
that the appropriate assessment, evaluation and design development can be 
undertaken. 

11.3.3   Planning applications that involve excavation or ground works must be 
accompanied by an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site, 
including the impact of the proposed development. An evaluation should include 
trial work in agreed specific areas of the site to provide more information and to 
inform consideration of the development proposals by the City Corporation. 

11.3.4   In some cases, a development may reveal archaeological features or artefacts 
which could either be displayed on the site, or reburied. Their treatment would 
depend on their level of significance and their substantiveness.  

11.3.5   Undesignated archaeological features equivalent in significance and substance 
to a scheduled ancient monument will be treated accordingly following 
consultation with Historic England.  

11.3.6   On sites where significant, substantial archaeological features exist, 
development must be designed to enhance physical preservation and avoid 
disturbance or loss. This can be done by the sympathetic design of basements, 
raising ground levels, site coverage, and the location of foundations to avoid or 
minimise archaeological loss and securing their preservation for the future. 

11.3.7   The interpretation and presentation to the public of a visible or buried 
monument and enhancement of its setting should form part of development 
proposals and agreement will be sought, where appropriate, to achieve public 
access. Successful exemplars of this are the Roman Wall exhibition at Vine 
Street, or the Temple of Mithras at Bloomberg.  

11.3.8   On sites where significant archaeological artefacts are discovered, there would 
be a presumption to retain them on site and display them in the most optimal 
place for appreciation by the public. This would be undertaken following the 
conclusion of any programme of research and study.  

Page 482



 

138 

 

11.3.9   Development proposals should provide an adequate assessment of a site and 
make any provision for the incorporation, safeguarding or preservation of 
significant features or remains, or which would harm or adversely affect those 
features or remains. Where display features or of archaeological remains would 
harm the heritage asset or make it vulnerable and reburial is necessary, there 
should be interpretation to widen knowledge and contribute to the interest of the 
townscape. 

11.3.10 A programme of archaeological work for investigation, excavation and recording 
and publication of the results to a predetermined research framework and by an 
approved organisation should be submitted to and approved by the City 
Corporation, prior to development. This will be conditioned and will ensure the 
preservation of those remains by record. The programme of archaeological 
work should include all on-site work, including details of any temporary works 
which may have an impact on the archaeology of the site and all off-site work 
including the post-excavation analysis, publication and archiving of the results. 

11.4    Policy HE3: Setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site 

1. Development proposals affecting the setting of the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site should preserve and seek to enhance the Outstanding Universal 
Value (OUV), architectural and historic significance, authenticity and integrity of 
the Tower of London World Heritage Site. Applicants will be required to submit 
a Heritage Impact Assessment along with the planning application. 

2. Development proposals within the defined Local Setting Area of the Tower of 
London World Heritage Site should seek opportunities to enhance the 
immediate surroundings of the World Heritage Site, through improvements to 
the public realm and connectivity.  
 

3. Development proposals in the vicinity of the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site will be encouraged to enhance pedestrian and cycle routes, including 
signage and wayfinding in the area that is appropriate and contributes to the 
importance of setting of the Tower by improving its public accessibility and 
visibility. 

 

Reason for the policy 

11.4.0   The Tower of London is a UNESCO World Heritage Site of Outstanding 
Universal Value. While the Tower itself is within the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets, part of the defined Local Setting Area is within the City and is shown 
on the Policies Map. The local setting of the Tower comprises the spaces from 
which it can be seen from street and river level, and the buildings that enclose 
or provide definition to those spaces. The area around the Tower includes some 
streets with heavy traffic flows, and there is scope for improvements to be made 
to the public realm and to safety and accessibility for people walking and 
cycling. 

Page 483



 

139 

 

How the policy works 

11.4.1   Any potential impacts on the setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site 
need to be considered in the relevant documents accompanying planning 
applications, such as in Heritage Statements, Townscape and Visual Impact 
Assessments or Transport Assessments.  

11.4.2   The Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan 2016, the Mayor 
of London Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘World Heritage Sites – Guidance 
and Settings 2012’ and the Tower of London ‘Local Setting Study 2010’, provide 
guidance on how the setting of the World Heritage Site can be positively 
managed, protecting its OUV, while accommodating change. The International 
Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) publication ‘Guidance on Heritage 
Impact Assessments for Cultural World Heritage Properties’ offers guidance on 
the process of commissioning Heritage Impact Assessments (HIAs) for World 
Heritage properties and also outlines the methodology to be used to evaluate 
the impact of potential development on the OUV of properties. 

11.4.3 The Character Areas Study contains a Statement of Heritage Significance for the 
Tower of London outlining the key attributes that contribute to the OUV of the 
Tower of London and its setting which should be protected, enhanced or better 
revealed. Applicants should refer to the Statement of Heritage Significance to 
fully understand the significance of the Tower of London and its setting. 

11.4.4 The City Corporation is also undertaking a Heritage Impact Assessment to 
assess the potential impacts of the tall building areas on the OUV of the Tower 
of London WHS. 

11.5    Strategic Policy S12: Tall Buildings 

1. Tall buildings within the City of London are defined as buildings over 75m above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD). 

2. Tall buildings must have regard to:  

• the potential effect on the City skyline, the wider London skyline and historic 
skyline features;  

• the character and amenity of their surroundings, including the relationship 
with existing and consented tall buildings;  

• the significance of heritage assets and their immediate and wider settings;  

• the environmental impact on the surrounding buildings and public realm, 
including daylight and sunlight, solar glare, solar convergence, 
overshadowing and wind shear, and the capacity of the City’s streets and 
spaces to accommodate the development. Consideration should be given to 
how the design of tall buildings can assist with the dispersal of air pollutants; 

Page 484



 

140 

 

• The potential impact on telecommunications operations. Tall buildings should 
not interfere with telecommunications and provide appropriate mitigation 
where this is not feasible;  

3. Tall buildings must not adversely affect the operation of London’s airports, nor 
exceed the Civil Aviation Authority’s maximum height limitation for tall buildings in 
central London. 

4. The design of tall buildings must: 

• achieve exemplar standard of architectural quality and sustainable and 
accessible building design; 

• enhance the City skyline and views; 

• provide adequate levels of daylight and sunlight within the new development; 

• make a positive contribution to the townscape character; 

• make a positive contribution to the quality of public realm, incorporate active 
frontages at ground floor and create a positive pedestrian experience; 

• maintain adequate distance between buildings to ensure high quality 
experience at the street level; 

• enhance permeability by providing the maximum feasible amount of publicly 
accessible open space at street level;  

• incorporate publicly accessible open space within the building and its 
curtilage, including free to enter, publicly accessible elevated spaces at upper 
levels, which may include culture, retail, leisure or education facilities, open 
spaces including roof gardens or public viewing galleries;  

• provide consolidation of servicing and deliveries to reduce potential vehicle 
movements; 

• mitigate adverse impacts on the microclimate and amenity of the site and 
surrounding area and avoid the creation of building canyons; and 

• demonstrate consideration of public safety requirements as part of the overall 
design. 

5. The tall building areas identified on the Policies Map and Figure 14 are areas where 
tall buildings may be appropriate, subject to the requirements in this and other 
relevant policies. 

6. The maximum heights that could be acceptable within the identified tall building 
areas are identified on the Policies Map and Figure 15. 

7. The height and form of tall buildings must take account of strategic and local views. 

8. The suitability of sites for tall buildings within the identified areas and their design, 
height, scale and massing should take into consideration local heritage assets and 
other localised factors relating to townscape character and microclimate. 

Page 485



 

141 

 

9. Applicants will be required to submit accurate three-dimensional computer models to 
support the analysis of their proposals. Accurate Visual Representations (AVRs) 
should be submitted as part of the application.  

10. Applicants will be required to ensure that any cross-boundary impacts of 
proposed schemes are fully addressed. 

Reason for the policy 

11.5.0   London Plan Policy D9 (Tall Buildings) requires Development Plans to define 
what is considered to be a tall building and determine if there are locations 
where tall buildings may be an appropriate form of development, identifying 
locations and appropriate tall building heights. Guidance issued by the Design 
Council/CABE and Historic England also encourages local planning authorities 
to consider the scope for tall buildings as part of strategic planning and to 
identify locations where they are, or are not, appropriate.  

11.5.1  Tall buildings in the City are defined as those exceeding 75m AOD in height. 
The City Corporation’s Ordnance Survey data on building heights indicates 
much of the City is between 50-75m above Ordnance Datum (AOD), or 
between 15-21 storeys; and only small pockets of the City have building heights 
at or around 6 storeys or 18m high. These areas include relatively small parts of 
Smithfield, Fleet Street and the Temples or along the lanes and alleys off Bank 
junction, which mostly comprise conservation areas. The City has a varied 
character with a striking spatial contrast. Given its small geographical area, it is 
not considered appropriate to prescribe a granular approach to a definition of 
tall buildings, but instead to have a single definition for tall buildings across the 
area. A definition of 75m is ensures consistency with our longer-term strategic 
approach and – given prevailing heights across much of the City – is a level 
where buildings may have significant visual implications and could result in a 
significant change to the skyline.  

11.5.2  The City contains many tall buildings. In particular, the eastern part of the City 
has a concentration of tall buildings including iconic skyscrapers such as the 
Gherkin, 22 Bishopsgate, and the Leadenhall building. Tall buildings impart the 
City of London’s World City status to compete globally and to be a place where 
businesses seek to locate. Strategically planning for tall buildings in clusters can 
bring economic as well as townscape benefits. Clusters of tall buildings allow for 
concentration and agglomerations of businesses and related economic activity 
while they also provide higher densities and contribute towards creating a more 
defined impact on the overall City skyline. The eastern cluster forms a 
distinctive skyline with the highest density of commercial activity within the City 
and is required to accommodate a significant proportion of the City’s future 
growth in office floorspace. Capacity modelling demonstrates that the two 
clusters of tall buildings are required if the City is to meet objectively assessed 
need for office capacity over the lifetime of this Plan.  

11.5.3  Tall building development can have transformational impacts upon a place and 
they should be located in sustainable locations where they don’t undermine the 
character of a place, or intrude into, and undermine cherished views of 

Page 486



 

142 

 

landmarks or urban skylines. They can also cause adverse environmental 
impacts such as reduction in daylight and sunlight, wind shear and 
overshadowing. It is therefore critical to determine appropriate areas and 
heights for tall buildings in order to respond to the opportunities that tall 
buildings may provide whilst also addressing and responding appropriately to 
the issues that they may create.   

Figure 13: Tall buildings distribution (March 2023) 

11.5.4  The tall building areas identified are the City Cluster and Fleet Valley areas. A 
comprehensive analysis of the character of the City informed the location of 
these tall building areas. The study found that, given its historic nature, and the 
prominence in local and wider strategic views, all parts of the Square Mile are 
sensitive or very sensitive to tall buildings. The City Cluster and Fleet Valley 
areas are the only broad areas found to be less sensitive and less constrained 
relative to other areas. Outside the identified tall building areas, tall buildings 
would be likely to very significant impacts on heritage assets and on protected 
views from places within and outside the Square Mile, and could significantly 
undermine the prevailing townscape and character of the area.  

11.5.5   Different parts of the City have different characteristic features that make them 
distinct from each other. New development should be designed to fit in well 
within the existing context and have form, massing and height that positively 
responds to the townscape character.  

11.5.6   The heights of the buildings in the City Cluster and Fleet Valley areas were 
determined through extensive three dimensional modelling and mapping, 

Page 487



 

143 

 

informed by a detailed assessment of how the proposed massing of tall 
buildings in these areas could potentially impact the wider City and pan-London 
skyline. Both areas were assessed based on specific criteria, including the 
London Views Management Framework (LVMF), St Paul’s Heights, Monument 
Views, Tower of London approaches and representative views, and local 
strategic views. 

11.5.7   Tall buildings are a characteristic and iconic feature of the City’s skyline. Well-
designed tall buildings can respond positively to the character and the historic 
environment of the area. The creation of coherent clusters of tall buildings will 
help to ensure individual tall buildings are not isolated features but part of a 
recognisable skyline, with viewers able to identify the clusters spatially and 
distinguish them visually from important skyline features such as St Paul’s 
Cathedral.  

11.5.8   The way tall buildings are experienced at ground level is an important 
consideration as tall buildings can have a significant impact on the streetscape 
and public realm. They can provide a range of activities and public spaces at 
ground level for people to walk and spend time. They can also benefit 
communities by providing publicly accessible viewing terraces and galleries.  

 

         Figure 14: Areas appropriate for tall buildings 

  

Page 488



 

144 

 

How the policy works 

11.5.9 The identification of the two tall building areas does not mean that all sites in the 
two areas are suitable. All new tall building proposals will need to satisfy the 
requirements of policy S12 and other policies in this Plan and the London Plan. 
Policy S21 provides more details about the considerations that apply specifically 
to new tall building proposals in the City Cluster. 

11.5.10 Tall buildings are high-profile developments with a wider impact, visible on the 
skyline across large parts of London. They provide City landmarks and should 
be designed to enhance the City’s skyline.  

11.5.11 Development proposals in the tall building areas will be required to follow the 
building heights (in metres AOD) specified on the two dimensional contour 
maps. Three dimensional digital models of these contours will be made 
available to inform tall building proposals. While the contour maps indicate 
heights to which the tall buildings could be built to, buildings should not 
necessarily be designed to maximise height; instead they should be thoughtfully 
designed to create built form that contributes positively to the skyline and 
townscape character and have architectural integrity. In some instances, site 
specific analysis might show that greater heights can be achieved by careful 
siting and massing, allowing tall buildings to slightly exceed the identified 
contour height. Any exceedances from the contour lines are envisaged to be 
wholly exceptional, and only permitted when no further adverse impacts on 
views or harm to heritage assets and their settings ensues. In such instances, 
the height of the proposals must still remain significantly lower than the next 
highest contour above and should provide exceptional public benefits. They 
should help create a coherent cluster form and add variety to the skyline while 
enhancing the character of the townscape. In all cases, detailed urban design 
and character assessment of the development proposal will be required, taking 
account of localised constraints. 

11.5.12 All tall building proposals should be accompanied by a Heritage Townscape 
Visual Impact Assessment that includes computer generated visualisations to 
illustrate the likely visual impacts of the proposed development, taking account 
of the cumulative impact of other proposed, permitted and existing tall buildings. 
Digital massing models of tall buildings should be submitted, in appropriate 
formats. The City Corporation will use these models to assess the impact of tall 
buildings on the local, City-wide and London-wide townscape and skyscape. 

11.5.13 Within and in close proximity to the City Cluster, there are numerous heritage 
assets with the potential to be affected by tall buildings. The location, siting, 
bulk, massing, height and design of tall buildings should be informed by the 
potential impact on heritage assets, while recognising the juxtaposition of old 
and new architecture that already exists and that, in many instances, makes a 
positive contribution to the character of the Square Mile.  

11.5.14 Tall buildings must not adversely impact on the operation of London’s airports, 
taking account of airport surface limitation heights. Consultation with London 
City Airport will be required on all proposals over 90m AOD and with Heathrow 

Page 489



 

145 

 

Ltd on all proposals over 150m AOD. Subject to this consultation, the maximum 
height of buildings, any equipment used during the construction process and 
any subsequent maintenance or demolition must not exceed the Civil Aviation 
Authority’s (CAA’s) aviation safeguarding policy for central London, which sets a 
maximum height limitation of 309.6m (1,016 ft) AOD. Developers should 
undertake early liaison with the CAA, Heathrow and London City Airports 
regarding building heights and the height of cranes or other equipment to be 
used during construction, subsequent operation or demolition. 

11.5.15 The development of tall buildings must take account of City Corporation 
Planning Advice Notes on the potential microclimate and thermal comfort 
impacts from development at an early stage in the design process. Planning 
Advice Notes set out requirements for assessing the impacts of tall buildings on 
solar glare, solar convergence, sunlight, wind and thermal comfort explaining 
how they should be considered as part of the design process. Tall buildings 
should not interfere with telecommunications during construction and operation. 
Developers will be required to submit a Telecommunications Interference 
Survey identifying the impact of the development and any proposed mitigation 
measures. 

11.5.16 Three dimensional computer models should be accompanied by data to verify 
the format, units of measurement and accurate positioning information relative 
to OSGB / Ordnance Datum co-ordinates. Submitted Accurate Visual 
Representations (AVRs) should be consistent with the supplied computer model 
but may reflect additional information to explain the physical appearance of the 
proposals. They should comply with the methodology and definitions included in 
Appendix C of the London View Management Framework. AVR materials 
should include representations of existing tall buildings and relevant consented 
schemes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 15: Tall building contours 

Page 490



 

146 

 

11.6    Strategic Policy S13: Protected Views 

The City Corporation will protect and enhance significant City and strategic London 
views of important buildings, townscape and skylines by: 

1. Implementing the Mayor of London’s London View Management Framework SPG 
to manage designated views of strategically important landmarks (St. Paul’s 
Cathedral and the Tower of London), river prospects, townscape views and linear 
views; 

2. Protecting and enhancing significant local views of St. Paul’s Cathedral, through 
the City Corporation’s St. Paul’s Heights code and local views from the Fleet 
Street, Ludgate Circus and Ludgate Hill processional route; the ssetting and 
backdrop to the Cathedral; significant local views of and from the Monument and 
views of historic City landmarks and skyline features;  

3. Securing an appropriate setting of and backdrop to the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site, ensuring its Outstanding Universal Value and taking account of the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan (2016); and  

4. Having regard to views of the City that have been designated by other Local 
Planning Authorities. 

 

Reason for the policy 

11.6.0   The City and its surrounding area contain many famous landmarks that are 
visible from viewpoints across London. Views of the City’s skyline from the 
River Thames are especially notable and certain local views of St. Paul’s 
Cathedral have been protected successfully by the City Corporation’s ‘St. Paul’s 
Heights’ code since the 1930s. The successful protection and restoration of the 
views depends on the long-term application of the Heights limitations to all sites 
within the area of control. The views protected by the Heights are sensitive to 
even small infringements. Consistent application of the limitations is therefore 
crucial to their successful protection of the views. 

11.6.1  The London Plan sets out the overall view protection requirements which apply 
to Strategically Important Landmarks. Landmarks such as St. Paul’s Cathedral, 
the Monument and the Tower of London are internationally renowned and add 
to the City’s world class status. 

11.6.2 The approach to views protection in this Plan is supported by more detailed 
guidance in the Protected Views SPD.  

Page 491



 

147 

 

         Figure 16: Protected views  

 

How the policy works 

11.6.3   Protected vistas are defined geometrically from an assessment point at the view 
location to the strategically important landmark that is the focus of the protected 
vista. Each protected vista includes a landmark viewing corridor, within which 
development should not exceed the height of the threshold plane. Beside and 
behind landmark viewing corridors are the wider setting consultation areas, 
within which development that exceeds the defined LVMF threshold plane 
should not compromise the viewer’s ability to recognise and appreciate the 
strategically jmportant landmark. 

11.6.4  Other designated strategic views have defined assessment points but are 
protected by qualitative assessment of the impact of a proposal on the 
important elements of the view. For the City, most of the relevant views are river 
prospects from Thames bridges and the riverside walk. The Mayor of London’s 
London View Management Framework (LVMF) SPG (2012) provides more 
detail, including detailed management plans for each strategic view of 
landmarks such as St. Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London.  

11.6.5  The LVMF defines a protected vista and a White Tower protected silhouette for 
the Tower of London. Any development in the wider setting consultation area in 
the background of this protected vista and the white tower protected silhouette 
should preserve or enhance the viewer’s ability to recognise the landmark and 

Page 492



 

148 

 

appreciate its Outstanding Universal Value. City sites have the potential to be 
intrusive in the view because of their relative proximity to the Tower. Therefore, 
proposed new development in the City which exceeds the defined LVMF 
threshold plane for this view will not be acceptable as it will not preserve this 
view. The City Corporation’s Protected Views SPD provides further details and 
guidance on the protected views within the City.  

11.6.6   The Tower of London has additional view protection, implemented through the 
Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan (2016). This defines 
and protects a range of settings of the Tower World Heritage Site, which 
includes its relationship to historic features that are visible in the urban 
landscape. All new buildings in the setting of the Tower should contribute to the 
quality of views both of and from the Tower. 

 Operation of the Heights 

11.6.7   The City Corporation has successfully protected views of St. Paul’s Cathedral 
through the St. Paul’s Heights policy for over 70 years. Applicants will be 
expected to submit drawings showing the relationship between the Heights 
limitations and the proposed development to ensure compliance with the 
Heights. 

11.6.8   Some existing buildings exceed the Heights limitations and thereby partially 
obstruct the protected views of St Paul’s. Upon alteration or redevelopment 
such buildings will be required to comply with the Heights limitations so that 
views obstructed at present will eventually be restored. Several infringing 
buildings have been redeveloped in compliance with the Heights, successfully 
restoring lost views.  

11.6.9  Strict observance of the Heights limitations can sometimes lead to a uniform 
roofscape. Developers are encouraged to provide design solutions to help 
promote a more articulated, interesting roofscape within the area of the St. 
Paul’s Heights limitations while also keeping to the limitations imposed by the 
St. Paul’s Heights grid. 

Backdrop and Skyline Setting of the Cathedral 

11.6.10 In some of the views protected by St Paul’s Heights tall buildings can be seen in 
juxtaposition to the Cathedral, compromising its dominance of the skyline. The 
relationship of tall buildings to the Cathedral varies with the viewpoint. In some 
cases, tall buildings can be seen behind the dome or western towers so that 
their outlines are impaired. From other viewpoints tall buildings appear above 
the roof of the Cathedral or crowd close to the Cathedral on the skyline. Views 
are compromised in these ways from the following locations: the south bank 
between New Globe Walk and Gabriel’s Wharf, and adjacent to Waterloo 
Bridge; and from the Millennium Bridge, Blackfriars Bridge, the southern part of 
Waterloo Bridge, Hungerford Bridge, and from Fleet Street. Within these views, 
new development and the redevelopment of existing tall buildings should aim 
not to worsen and, where possible, to improve the backdrop to the views. From 
other Heights viewpoints where no tall buildings appear in the backdrop and the 

Page 493



 

149 

 

Cathedral is seen against clear sky, new development should maintain this 
situation. 

11.6.11 In views from the south bank west of Blackfriars Bridge and from Waterloo 
Bridge the Cathedral is seen in relation to the City’s eastern cluster of tall 
buildings. The cluster appears to the right of the Cathedral and does not intrude 
into its backdrop. There is a clear gap on the skyline between the Cathedral and 
the cluster, which it is important to retain. The height and massing of buildings 
in the cluster step upwards from this gap. This is important to the visual 
relationship between the Cathedral and the cluster, and should be maintained. 

11.6.12 The City Corporation will protect local views of St Paul’s Cathedral when 
approaching along Fleet Street, Ludgate Circus and Ludgate Hill which forms 
part of the long established royal and state processional route between 
Westminster and the City. The views of St Paul’s are kinetic, changing as the 
viewer moves along the length of this route, depending on the topography and 
alignment of buildings. Development proposals that could be visible from places 
along this route should ensure that they do not impinge on the ability of the 
viewer to recognise and appreciate the silhouette of St Paul’s Cathedral, and 
that they maintain the current clear sky background profile. An indicative view 
background centre line is shown on Figure 22 to highlight this issue.  

11.6.13 New development proposals should be well designed in their own right. Their 
bulk and form should not be based solely on the parameters set by the 
requirements and consideration of the protected views. In determining planning 
applications for tall buildings, the City Corporation will take account of guidance 
from the Design Council/CABE, Historic England and the Greater London 
Authority. 

11.6.14 The City Corporation will co-operate with the Mayor, London boroughs and 
other local planning authorities, where proposed development outside of the 
City impacts on strategically important views of St Paul’s Cathedral, to ensure 
that development does not adversely impact on the view. 

11.6.15 The City Corporation will supplement its assessment of strategic and locally 
protected views with a visual assessment carried out using 3D digital modelling 
technology. Developers should submit virtual models for all major development 
in an open source or other format compatible with the City Corporation’s 3D 
digital model. 

St Paul’s Preservation Act and the St. Paul’s Depths  

11.6.16 The City of London (St Paul’s Cathedral Preservation) Act 1935 defines an area 
near St Paul’s where development below prescribed depths is controlled in 
order to protect the stability of the Cathedral.  

  

Page 494



 

150 

 

 Open Spaces and Green   
       infrastructure 

12.1 Strategic Policy S14:  Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure 

The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, landowners, the churches 
and other agencies to promote a greener City by: 

1. Protecting existing open and green space; 

2. Seeking the provision of new open and green space through development, public 
realm or transportation improvements; 

3. Increasing public access to existing and new open spaces; 

4. Creating, maintaining and encouraging high quality green infrastructure; 

5. Using planting and habitat creation to enhance biodiversity, combat the impacts of 
climate change and improve air quality; 

6. Promoting the greening of the City through new development opportunities and 
refurbishments; and 

7. Ensuring new development and refurbishment protect and enhance the City’s 
biodiversity. 

8. Ensuring that the provision of new and enhanced open space, biodiversity and 
urban greening takes account of and contributes toward the green corridors 
identified in Figure 18 and the City Corporation’s Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.1.0  The City is densely built up and most of its open space provision consists of 
small spaces at street level. Open spaces are vital to the City, offering 
residents, workers and visitors outside spaces in which to spend time, relax, 
and encounter nature, and play a crucial role in providing opportunities for play, 
exercise and recreation, and social interaction. Open spaces are also inclusive, 
providing free access for everyone. They are important havens for wildlife and 
enrich the City’s biodiversity, and help to mitigate the effects of climate change, 
improve air quality and benefit wellbeing, and physical and mental health. 
Green infrastructure in the City includes civic spaces, parks and gardens, trees 
and planting, churchyards, burial grounds, green roofs and walls in addition to 
amenity spaces.  

12.1.1 The City’s growing workforce and increasing visitor numbers, and the limited 
amount of open space in the Square Mile, mean that there is a need to provide 
more open spaces, and to improve and protect those that exist. Some areas of 
the City have deficiencies of open space or access to nature, or are places 

Page 495



 

151 

 

(such as the riverside) where additional open space and greening has an 
important role to play in realising the potential of the area and helping to create 
a more vibrant and welcoming City.  

12.1.2   Greening the City is an important step in ensuring the City is resilient to the 
effects of climate change. It can assist in creating cooler spaces, mitigating the 
urban heat island effect, and provide shade. Greening can improve biodiversity, 
improve air quality, and create a more attractive environment. Given the dense 
nature of the Square Mile and the demand for additional capacity, it is crucial 
that development provides greening and improves biodiversity on site and 
contributes as appropriate to wider improvements to green infrastructure.  

12.2     Policy OS1: Protection and provision of open spaces  

The quantity, quality and accessibility of public open space will be maintained and 
improved. 

1. Existing open space will be protected and enhanced.  

Any loss of existing open space should be wholly exceptional and it must be 
replaced on redevelopment by open space of equal or improved quantity and 
quality on or near the site. The loss of historic open spaces will be resisted; 

2. Additional publicly accessible open space and pedestrian routes will be sought in 
major developments, particularly in and near to areas of open space deficiency, in 
areas such as the riverside where it is a key component of placemaking, and 
where pedestrian modelling shows significant pressure on City streets; 

3. Further open spaces will be created from underused highways and on 
development sites where feasible. Wherever possible, existing private spaces will 
be secured as publicly accessible open spaces as part of development; 

4. Improvements to the accessibility, inclusion, design, greening, lighting and 
biodiversity of existing open spaces will be promoted and, where relevant, secured 
through development; and 

5. Open spaces must be designed to meet the requirements of all the City’s 
communities. They should be free, accessible, welcoming and inclusive. The 
design of open spaces should consider their context and how their use could 
contribute positively to the life of the Square Mile. This should include 
consideration of how seating, planting, lighting, and routes are designed and 
located; the potential for water features and noise attenuation; and opportunities 
for play, sport, recreation and leisure, taking into account likely users of the space.  

6. The provision of public drinking fountains in open spaces will be encouraged. 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.2.0 The City of London has 376 open spaces totalling just under 35 hectares in 
March 2022, which includes parks, gardens, churchyards and hard open spaces 

Page 496



 

152 

 

such as plazas and repurposed highway. Most of the open spaces are small, 
with approximately 80% of sites less than 0.2 hectares in size and only 11% 
over half a hectare. There is a need for additional open space in the City to 
provide facilities for the growing daytime population, to help reduce the effects 
of pollution and climate change, to provide facilities for relaxation, tranquillity, 
leisure and sport, and to increase biodiversity. The provision of open space in 
the City is uneven, with some areas of deficiency in access to public open 
space [INSERT MAP]. Sites within and near to these areas will need to play a 
role in improving access to open space.  

Figure 17: Open Spaces  

12.2.1   As the City changes, there is a need for open spaces to play an increased role 
in supporting the life of the City. Open spaces provide a unique setting for 
people to spend time in free and accessible spaces, where they can pursue a 
variety of activities or simply enjoy being outdoors. Some parts of the City would 
benefit substantially from increased and improved open space provision. The 
Thames riverside has significant potential as an inclusive leisure destination but 
includes a riverside path that is narrow in places and lacks significant open 
areas where people can spend time and enjoy the river. Areas where there are 
due to be significant new attractions – such as Smithfield – that are likely to 
attract visitors including children and young people will require open spaces that 
can cater to their specific requirements. Other places, such as the City Cluster, 
where there are deficiencies in open spaces and high density development, will 
need to ensure that existing ground level open space works hard and is of an 
exemplary standard of design, that new spaces at ground level are created 
where possible, and that this is supplemented this through the addition of 
publicly accessible roof gardens and other spaces (see policy DE5). Although 

Page 497



 

153 

 

open space provision in the Aldgate area has been significantly enhanced with 
the opening of Aldgate Square, this area has a lower proportion of open space 
(see Figure 15). 

12.3    Policy OS2: Urban Greening  

1. The provision of urban greening should be integral to the design and layout of 
buildings and the public realm.  

• All development proposals will be required to demonstrate the highest 
feasible levels of greening consistent with good design and the local 
context;  

• The installation of biodiverse extensive or intensive green roofs, terraces 
and green walls will be sought, where appropriate, and new development 
should not compromise these elements on existing buildings located 
nearby; and 

• The loss of green walls and roofs, in whole or in part, will only be 
permitted in exceptional circumstances. 

2. Major development proposals will be required to: 

• Include an Urban Greening Factor (UGF) calculation demonstrating how 
the development will meet the City’s target UGF score of 0.3 as a 
minimum; and 

• Submit an operation and maintenance plan to demonstrate that the green 
featureswill be maintained and remain successful throughout the life of 
the building. 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.3.0  Urban greening provides a wide range of benefits for air quality, noise, urban 
heat island effect, rainwater run-off, biodiversity enhancement, recreation, and 
health and wellbeing of the City’s communities. Given the limited opportunities 
to provide additional large green spaces in the Square Mile, greening the urban 
realm will be important if these benefits are to be realised. Greening will 
increase in importance as weather patterns continue to change with rising 
average temperatures, summer droughts and more intense rainfall events 
periodically through the year. The inclusion of blue infrastructure such as rain 
gardens and rainwater harvesting can help to minimise water use.  

12.3.1   This policy promotes greening for all new buildings and public realm schemes. 
It takes account of the value of different types of greening through the 
application of an Urban Greening Factor (UGF), with a higher UGF for greening 
that provides multiple benefits.  

Page 498



 

154 

 

12.3.2  The London Plan has introduced a UGF scoring system for London, which will 
operate as a tool to assess the amount, type and value of greenery within 
development proposals. Further information on applying and calculating the 
UGF is set out in Urban Greening Factor, London Plan Guidance (February 
2023). 

12.3.3  The City Corporation’s UGF Study indicates that an UGF target of 0.3 would be 
deliverable for the majority of development in the City. The Study considered 
the potential for an UGF on a range of development types, including offices, 
residential, hotels and mixed commercial. Policy OS2 requires major 
development proposals in the City (commercial and residential) to include an 
UGF calculation demonstrating how it will meet the minimum UGF target of 0.3.  

How the policy works 

12.3.4   The City Corporation has long championed green roofs and continues to 
actively encourage them. The City Corporation will seek the provision of trees 
and landscaping in all development where this is possible. can take many forms 
and require careful design, installation and regular maintenance. 

12.3.5  Green roofs should be designed, installed and maintained appropriately and can 
be designed as sustainable or ecological features, and recreational spaces. To 
ensure that the maximum practicable coverage of green roof and terraces can 
be achieved, location-appropriate plants should be installed on sloping roofs, 
between cradle tracks and underneath solar panel installations. 

12.3.6   There are two main types of green roofs, intensive green roofs which can be 
used as recreational spaces with similar features to parks and gardens, and 
extensive ones (including BioSolar green roofs) having plants such as sedums 
and wildflowers but with limited or no access. Varying extensive green roof 
substrate levels will be encouraged to improve rainwater retention and enhance 
biodiversity, using a high proportion of native plants. Where developers seek to 
install intensive green roofs with deep substrates for amenity space, these are 
expected to be of high-quality design incorporating rainwater harvesting for 
irrigation to minimise water use. 

12.3.7  The green roof should not impact adversely on protected views and planting 
should be appropriate to the location and height of the roof. All green roofs 
should be designed, installed and maintained appropriately for the life of the 
building to maximise the roof’s environmental benefits including biodiversity, 
rain-water run-off attenuation and building insulation. 

12.3.8   Development proposals could include greening of roofs, facades, terraces and 
balconies, both internal and external, and/or landscaping and tree planting 
around the building depending on the circumstances of each site. The UGF 
assessment should be submitted as part of the planning application, along with 
landscaping proposals and an operation and maintenance plan to show how the 
greenery will be maintained. This will ensure that suitable green elements are 
designed in and will remain attractive and viable throughout the life of the 
development. Urban greening should be considered at an appropriate stage in 

Page 499



 

155 

 

the design of the scheme, and scores should not be reduced as conditions are 
discharged. Internal greening which is fully enclosed does not count towards the 
UGF target score. 

12.4    Policy OS3: Biodiversity  

Development should incorporate measures to enhance biodiversity, including: 

1. Retention, protection and enhancement of habitats within Sites of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINCs), including the River Thames; 

2. Measures recommended in the City of London Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) in 
relation to particular species or habitats and action plans; 

3. Green roofs, gardens and terraces, soft landscaping and trees and green walls 
where appropriate; 

4. Helping to create green corridors and biodiversity links; 

5. Wildlife-friendly features, such as nesting or roosting boxes and nesting 
opportunities for wild bees; 

6. A planting mix and variation in vegetation types to encourage biodiversity; 

7. Planting which will be resilient to a range of climate conditions, with a high 
proportion of native plants;  

8. A lighting scheme designed to minimise impacts on biodiversity. 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.4.0 Protecting and improving biodiversity involves enhancing wildlife populations and 
their habitats. This has positive impacts for the environment, the economic and 
social life of the City and the aesthetics of the streetscape. Healthy biodiversity 
should be viewed as a sign of a healthy environment and healthy city. 

12.4.1 A number of areas along the riverside, west of Farringdon Street and east of 
Bishopsgate have been identified as Areas of Deficiency in Access to Nature  
(SINC AoD) by Greenspace Information for Greater London (GiGL) London’s 
environmental records centre and the Mayor of London. SINC AoDs are defined 
as built-up areas more than 1km walking distance from accessible Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). The River Thames, which is a 
Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (SMINC), brings wider 
benefits for migrating birds and fish species. However this SMINC has limited 
access to nature so does not alleviate AoD in the City. It is important that 
opportunities are taken to improve biodiversity throughout the City, and 
particularly in areas where this would improve green corridors or biodiversity 
links, such as along the riverside.  

  

Page 500



 

156 

 

 

 

Figure 18: Green corridors 

How the policy works 

12.4.2   Measures to enhance biodiversity should provide habitats that benefit the City’s 
target species (house sparrows, peregrine falcons, swifts, black redstarts, bats, 
bumblebees and stag beetles) and by extension a wider range of insects and 
birds. The City of London BAP provides further details about the target species, 
their target habitats and action plans.The City has 13 SINCs, including three 
new SINCs (Postman’s Park, Portsoken Street Garden, St Dunstan in the East 
Church Garden) which were agreed following a review in 2016. Two existing 
SINCs were agreed to be upgraded as part of this review: Barbican and St 
Alphage’s Garden, which includes the Barbican Wildlife Garden and the Beech 
Gardens, was upgraded from Grade 2 to Grade 1 Site of Borough Importance 
for Nature Conservation (SBINC); and Roman Wall, Noble Street, which was 
extended southwards to include St Anne and St Agnes Churchyard and was 
upgraded from a Local SINC to a Grade 2 SBINC. These new and upgraded 
SINCs will formally take effect upon adoption of this Plan. 

12.4.3   New developments should seek to protect and enhance biodiversity and the 
City’s environmental assets. This can be achieved by providing spaces for 
biodiversity to flourish through the retention and planting of trees and soft 
landscaping, along with green roofs and green walls where appropriate. A 
variety of these provisions in one development will create habitats for a range of 

Page 501



 

157 

 

different wildlife species. Joined up green spaces and corridors which link SINC 
sites give species a better chance of survival in the urban landscape and 
greater resilience to future climate change. Proposals for riverside 
developments should consider whether there may be opportunities to 
incorporate habitat creation measures to enhance the biodiversity of the River 
Thames SMINC. 

12.4.4  The City’s wildlife depends not only on greenery but also on the built 
environment. Buildings can provide roosting sites for bats and nesting 
opportunities for birds. Artificial features such as nest boxes should be 
integrated into the design of development or refurbishment schemes wherever 
suitable to provide additional habitat for the City’s target species. Biodiverse 
features of value to wildlife that support the City of London’s BAP including 
target species and target habitats but are not included within the Defra 
Biodiversity Metric (DBM) 4.0. These should be provided in suitable locations, in 
close proximity to green features, and should include but are not limited to bird 
boxes, bat boxes and wild bee nesting habitat (cavity and ground nesting) and 
invertebrate hotels. Development should provide a clear justification as to why 
these features cannot be included. 

12.4.5   Where development has a potential impact on designated sites of importance 
for biodiversity in or near the boundary of the site, the developer should submit 
an appropriate Ecological Assessment outlining how any impacts will be 
avoided, minimised or mitigated. Where necessary, the City Corporation will 
seek independent review of an assessment, paid for by the developer.  

12.4.6   As set out in the BAP, the City of London recognises the importance of 
biodiversity data collection to improve monitoring and informs decisions and 
identify future areas of priority in the City. Opportunities such as citizen science 
and school projects and records collected by local voluntary individuals and 
groups make a significant contribution in supporting biodiversity and raises the 
profile of species and habitats within the City. Many of these findings are 
reported directly to GiGL. 

12.5    Policy OS4: Biodiversity Net Gain  

Major developments are required to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) to conserve 
and enhance biodiversity by: 

1. Meeting the City’s BNG target on-site score of achieving a minimum of three 
biodiversity units per hectare (BU/ha); 

2. Providing the biodiversity value of the site pre-development and post-
development after applying the mitigation hierarchy. Information on habitats of 
known value to biodiversity to be incorporated and maximised on-site, achieving 
a minimum three BU/ha; 

3. Any off-site areas proposed for habitat creation or enhancement for both pre-
development and post development. However the City expects delivery to be 
achievable on-site and off-site provision should be a last resort; 

Page 502



 

158 

 

4. Material if it is not feasible to achieve the target score on-site then offsetting will 
be required, with preference given to off-setting schemes that help with the 
delivery of wider City of London Corporation policies and strategies, through the 
use of nature-based solutions and maximise opportunities for local nature 
recovery; 

5. Providing the following information: 

• A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (PEAR) or other appropriate 
Ecological Assessment alongside a completed Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) 
spreadsheet at planning application stage; 

• A Biodiversity Gain Plan (BGP) setting out the enhancements that will be 
incorporated on site to meet the BNG score, secured through condition prior to 
commencement; 

• A Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) setting out maintenance, 
management and monitoring of enhancements and the post-development 
biodiversity values of the site, secured through condition prior to commencement.  

 

Reason for the policy 

12.5.0   Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is an approach to development that leaves 
biodiversity in a better state than before. Major new developments are required 
to deliver BNG and the Environment Act 2021 requires them to provide a 
minimum 10% BNG. Habitats will need to be secured for at least 30 years and 
the Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) 4.0 is the current method for calculating 
BNG but this may change. Due to the City’s highly urban nature and the high 
proportion of sites with a zero (or close to zero) baseline for biodiversity, the 
10% uplift would not deliver meaningful improvements to biodiversity within the 
Square Mile. 

12.5.1   The Biodiversity Net Gain Study (2023) examined a range of development sites 
across the City and found that if biodiversity were maximised on these sites, 
they could have delivered an average of 3.41 biodiversity units per hectare 
(BU/ha). This evidence has informed the policy target set of achieiving a 
minimum of three biodiversity units per hectare (BU/ha).  

How the policy works 

12.5.2   All major developments are expected to submit a Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Report (PEAR) or other appropriate Ecological Assessment alongside 
a completed Defra Biodiversity Metric (DBM) in line with national requirements 
setting out how the development will meet the City of London’s BNG target 
score of achieving a minimum three BU/ha on-site. The assessment should be 
undertaken by a suitably qualified and/or experienced ecologist and should 
include baseline and proposed habitat mapping. The City of London 
Corporation may seek independent ecological advice to review submitted BNG 
reports. It is expected this independent assessment will be funded by the 
developer.  

Page 503



 

159 

 

12.5.3   The latest DBM or agreed equivalent will be used to quantify the biodiversity 
value of the site pre-development, post-development after application of the 
mitigation hierarchy and for any off-site areas proposed for habitat creation or 
enhancement both pre and post development. The City Corporation expects 
habitat creation to be delivered and maximised on-site providing biodiversity to 
the immediate area before off-setting is considered. Developers are expected to 
set-out BNG as an integral design aspect of the overall scheme and delivery 
meaningful ecology to increase levels of biodiversity in the City. The 
assessment should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and/or experienced 
ecologist and should include baseline and proposed habitat mapping. Section 
106 obligations may be sought for monitoring of major applications for BNG 
delivery.  

12.5.4  The Urban Greening Factor (UGF) tool establishes the provision of urban 
greening in new developments and does not measure biodiversity benefits of 
proposals. Higher scoring surface cover types within the UGF are often ones 
which can delivery benefits for biodiversity. There is an opportunity to unlock 
additional space for BNG by steering associated soft landscaping towards 
habitat creation therefore providing more biodiversity on-site which is of benefit 
to local wildlife. 

12.6    Policy OS5: Trees 

The City Corporation will seek to increase the number of trees and their overall canopy 
cover by: 

1. Requiring the retention of existing mature and semi-mature trees and encouraging 
additional tree planting to be integrated into the design and layout of developments 
and public realm improvements where appropriate; 

2. Protecting trees which are subject to Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) and 
designating new TPOs where necessary to protect trees of high amenity value; 

3. Other than in exceptional circumstances, only permitting the removal of existing 
trees which are dead, dying or dangerous. Where trees are removed, requiring 
their replacement with trees that can attain an equivalent value; 

4. Ensuring that existing trees located on or adjacent to development sites are 
considered during the planning process and are protected from damage during 
construction works; and 

5. Promoting tree planting to provide a diverse range of tree species, including large-
canopy trees wherever practicable, especially in places that would contribute to 
the green routes set out in figure 18. 

 

 

 

  

Page 504



 

160 

 

Reason for the policy 

12.6.0  There are just over 2,500 trees in the City, which are found in a variety of 
locations: along streets, in open spaces such as churchyards and livery 
company gardens, residential estates, business premises, historic parks and 
gardens and along the riverside. 

12.6.1  Trees are an integral part of the City’s unique history and an important asset. It 
is essential that the existing tree stock is managed and preserved effectively 
and that new trees are planted having regard to their contribution to enhancing 
amenity and townscape. Trees provide a wide range of benefits in the urban 
environment, including the trapping of air pollutants, enhancing biodiversity, 
providing shade and shelter from sun and rain, absorbing rainwater and filtering 
noise. 

12.6.2  The City of London Tree Strategy SPD aims to increase the number of City 
Corporation owned trees and ensure that all trees within the City are managed, 
preserved and planted in accordance with sound arboricultural practices whilst 
taking account of their contribution to amenity and the townscape for both 
current and future generations. The Tree Strategy SPD will be kept under 
review and should be read alongside the City of London Biodiversity Action Plan 
(BAP). 

12.6.3   Trees play an important role in connecting green spaces to create green 
corridors. Additional planting where feasible will help to reinforce those 
corridors. The green routes identified in figure 18 set out priority corridors for 
greening the City. It is important that new tree planting includes a variety of 
species to increase the resilience of the City’s tree stock against the threat of 
disease and the impacts of a changing climate. 

How the policy works 

12.6.4   Developers will be expected to safeguard existing trees, plant new trees and 
only remove trees in exceptional circumstances. Where trees are removed 
during development works, replacement trees of an appropriate species, height 
and canopy cover must be planted when works are completed. The City 
Corporation will seek financial compensation for any trees removed or damaged 
without permission. This value will be based on a recognised tree valuation 
method such as the Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) or i-Tree 
Eco. 

12.6.5   The City Corporation will use TPOs, s106 planning obligations or conditions to 
ensure the retention of existing trees and the provision of new trees. 

  

Page 505



 

161 

 

 

 Climate resilience 

13.1   Strategic Policy S15: Climate Resilience and Flood Risk 

Buildings and the public realm must be designed to be adaptable to future climate 
conditions and resilient to more frequent extreme weather events. 

1. Development must minimise the risk of overheating and any adverse contribution 
to the urban heat island effect; 

2. Development must avoid placing people or essential infrastructure at increased 
risk from river, surface water, sewer or groundwater flooding; 

3. Flood defence structures must be safeguarded and enhanced to maintain 
protection from sea level rise; 

4. Development should contribute towards making the City more resilient and 
should seek opportunities to integrate into wider climate resilience measures in 
the City. 

Reason for the policy 

13.1.0  Today’s new buildings will probably be in place for decades or longer and must 
be resilient to the weather patterns and climate conditions they will encounter 
during their lifetime. Designing climate resilience into buildings and the public 
realm will help keep the City safe and comfortable as climate patterns change. 
The UK Climate Projections (CP18) predict that London will experience a rise in 
mean temperatures of between 2oc and 6oc by 2061. This will increase the risk 
of overheating and the need for energy intensive air conditioning. In addition to 
this the City can experience temperatures up to 100c higher than the 
countryside around London, due to heat retention and waste heat expulsion 
from buildings resulting in an urban heat island effect. Climate change could 
potentially affect patterns of wind flow in high-density urban environments like 
the City and this will be kept under review.  

13.1.1  Although the total annual rainfall is projected to remain broadly similar to current 
levels, patterns of rainfall are expected to change with more intense storms and 
periods of low rainfall. This will increase the risk of flooding, particularly from 
surface water and from sewer surcharge from London’s combined drainage 
network. Conversely there will be a greater risk of water shortages and drought 
conditions as rainfall fluctuates.  

13.1.2 The City lies within the tidal section of the Thames and is vulnerable to sea level 
rise resulting from climate change. The Thames Estuary 2100 Plan identifies 
the need for the existing flood defences in central London to be raised by up to 
0.5m by 2050 and 1m between 2050 and 2100 to protect London from flooding.  

 

Page 506



 

162 

 

How the policy works 

13.1.3   The City Corporation will continue to monitor and model climate change impacts 
on the City to inform policy and decision making through implementation of, and 
annual monitoring and review of, the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy. 
UK Climate Projections and the detailed actions in the Climate Action Strategy 
form the basis of future planning for climate resilience in the City. The City of 
London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will be reviewed at least every five 
years or more frequently if circumstances require.  

13.2 Policy CR1: Overheating and Urban Heat Island Effect 

1. Developers will be required to demonstrate that their developments have been 
designed to reduce the risk of overheating through: 

• solar shading to prevent solar gain, particularly on glazed facades; 

• urban greening to improve evaporative cooling; 

• passive ventilation and heat recovery;  

• use of thermal mass to moderate temperature fluctuations; 

• minimal reliance on energy intensive cooling systems. 

2. Building designs should minimise any contribution to the urban heat island effect. 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.2.0  Development presents an opportunity to renew or adapt the existing building 
stock and public spaces, or provide new buildings and spaces, which will cope 
better with changing climate patterns. The design of buildings should reduce 
energy demands from cooling infrastructure, making them more resilient to 
higher temperatures. Measures such as urban greening and design features 
that provide shade and shelter can have a positive impact on or near the 
building, minimising the urban heat island effect (see Policy OS2).  

13.2.1  Climate adaptation measures can contribute to wider benefits by pre-empting 
potential detrimental climate impacts. Careful selection of plants which are 
resilient to a range of weather conditions will assist wildlife to survive changed 
climate conditions. Urban greening and reduced reliance on air conditioning will 
have benefits for the City’s air quality. 

How the policy works 

13.2.2   For all major development, the City Corporation will require climate adaptation 
and resilience to be addressed at the design stage. Sustainability Statements 
should include details of the proposed adaptation and resilience measures. 
Energy statements should demonstrate how energy demand for cooling will be 

Page 507



 

163 

 

minimised. BREEAM credits for adaptation to climate change should be 
targeted.  

13.2.3 For minor development, the Design and Access Statement should include details 
of climate resilience and adaptation measures. 

13.3    Policy CR2: Flood Risk 

All development within the City flood risk area, and major development elsewhere, must 
be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrating that: 

1. the site is suitable for the intended use, in accordance with the sequential and 
exception tests (see tables 4 and 5) and with Environment Agency and Lead 
Local Flood Authority advice;  

2. the development will be safe for occupants and visitors and will not compromise 
the safety of other premises or increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 

3. safe access and egress routes are identified; and 

4. flood resistance and resilience have been designed into the proposal. 

Reason for the policy 

13.3.0   While the City is generally at low risk of flooding due to its topography, some 
parts of the City are at risk of flooding from the River Thames and from 
surface water or sewer overflow in the former Fleet valley.  

13.3.1   The Policies Map identifies the areas at risk from these sources as the City 
flood risk area. This policy will ensure that vulnerable uses are not located in 
areas that are at risk of flooding and that suitable flood resilience and 
evacuation measures are incorporated into the design.   

How the policy works 

13.3.2 Site-specific flood risk assessments must address the risk of flooding from all 
sources and take account of the City of London Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment and the City of London Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
Necessary mitigation measures must be designed into and integrated with 
the development. Design and mitigation measures such as sustainable 
drainage systems may provide protection from flooding for properties beyond 
the site boundaries.  

13.3.3  Within the City Flood Risk Area different uses will be acceptable in different 
zones. Table 2 shows the vulnerability classifications and Table 5 shows 
which level of vulnerability classification is suitable in which part of the City 
Flood Risk Area. The Environment Agency’s flood zones are shown on the 
Policies Map. Thesequential test must be applied for all development other 
than minor development or change of use in the City flood risk area, which 
comprises Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and areas at risk of 
surface water or  

Page 508



 

164 

 

sewer flooding.  Where a change of use results in a more vulnerable use, 
evidence must be presented to demonstrate safety and suitable access and 
egress routes. Where necessary, conditions may be attached to planning 
permissions to manage the change of use into more vulnerable categories. 

  

   Table 2: Flood risk vulnerability classifications relevant to the City 
   Source: Relevant uses from Planning Practice Guidance (Flood Risk and Coastal        
   Change)   

 

 

 

Essential  
Infrastructure 

• Essential transport infrastructure (including mass 
evacuation routes) which has to cross the area at risk. 

• Essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a 
flood risk area for operational reasons, including electricity 
generating power stations and grid and primary substations 

Highly  
Vulnerable 

• Police and ambulance stations; fire stations and command 
centres; telecommunications installations required to be 
operational during flooding. 

• Emergency dispersal points. 

• Basement dwellings. 

• Installations requiring hazardous substances consent. 

More  
Vulnerable 

• Hospitals 

• Residential institutions such as care homes and hostels. 

• Buildings used for dwelling houses, student halls of 
residence, drinking establishments, nightclubs and hotels. 

• Non-residential uses for health services, nurseries and 
educational establishments. 

• Sites used for waste management facilities for hazardous 
waste. 

Less  
Vulnerable 

• Buildings used for shops; financial, professional and other 
services; restaurants, cafes and hot food takeaways; 
offices; general industry, storage and distribution; non-
residential institutions not included in ‘more vulnerable’ and 
assembly and leisure. 

• Police, ambulance and fire stations which are not required 
to be operational during flooding. 

• Waste treatment (except hazardous waste facilities). 

Water- 
compatible  
development 

• Flood control infrastructure. 

• Sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations 

• Docks, marinas and wharves. 

• Navigation facilities. 

• Water-based recreation (excluding sleeping 
accommodation). 

• Amenity open space, nature conservation and biodiversity, 
outdoor sports and recreation and essential facilities such 
as changing rooms. 

Page 509



 

165 

 

13.3.4   If the intended use of a site falls into one of the categories where an exception 
test is required, as set out in Table 3, the developer will need to investigate 
whether there is a reasonably available site outside the City flood risk raea 
which would be more suitable for the intended use. If no alternative site is 
available, the developer must demonstrate through the exception test that the 
benefits of the development outweigh any risk from flooding, and that the 
development will be safe without increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 

Flood Risk 
Vulnerability 
classification 

Essential 
Infrastructure 

Highly 
Vulnerable 

More 
Vulnerable 

Less 
Vulnerable 

Water 
Compatible 

 

EA Zone 1 

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 2 

 

✓

 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 3a 

 

 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

✓

 

 

EA Zone 3b 

 

 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 



 



 

✓

 

SFRA 
Surface 

water/sewer 
flood risk 

areas 

Exception 
Test 

required 



 

Exception 
Test 

required 

✓

 

 

✓

 

Table 3: Suitability of different uses in flood zones 

Source: amended from Planning Practice Guidance – Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

Page 510



 

166 

 

13.3.5   The City of London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) provides 
guidance on suitable flood resistance measures to prevent water entering the 
building and flood resilience measures, which enable speedy recovery in the 
event of flooding. These measures should be specified for all development 
within the City flood risk area and may be controlled by condition. Passive 
design measures such as suitable threshold levels and the use of flood resilient 
materials will be favoured over active measures such as removable flood 
barriers. All sleeping accommodation must be located above the modelled tidal 
breach level as shown in the SFRA unless it can be demonstrated that a 
permanent fixed barrier at the threshold of the property would prevent water 
ingress in a breach event.  

13.3.6   Design measures can help to reduce flooding, thus protecting the local area 
beyond the development site, through: 

• sustainable drainage systems; 

• green/blue roofs; and 

• rainwater reuse, recycling and attenuation 

13.3.7 Resistance to flooding can be achieved through design measures such as:  

• raised kerbs and altered topography which contains water at a distance from 
the building; 

• avoiding opening windows or vents at ground floor or basement levels; 

• using low permeability materials to limit water penetration of external walls, 
and flood resistant doors to prevent water ingress; and 

• fitting non-return valves on plumbing to prevent sewer surcharge within the 
building. 

13.3.8 Flood resilience measures make clean up after a flood more efficient, and 
include:  

• avoiding locating sensitive equipment such as computer servers at lower 
levels of buildings in flood prone areas;  

• locating all fittings, fixtures and services at a suitable height to minimise 
damage by flood waters; 

• using impermeable surfaces and structures; and 

• providing sumps and soak-aways that gradually release water to the sewer 
network. 

13.3.9   In order to demonstrate that the development will be safe for occupants, flood 
warning and evacuation plans should be provided for all ‘more’ or ‘highly’ 
vulnerable development within the City flood risk area. Details of the type of 
measures which should be included in an evacuation plan are set out in the 
City’s SFRA. 

Page 511



 

167 

 

13.3.10 For minor development outside the City flood risk area, an appropriate flood risk 
statement should be included in the Design and Access Statement. 

13.4    Policy CR3: Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 

1. All development, transportation and public realm proposals must incorporate SuDS 
principles and be designed to minimise the volume and discharge rate of rainwater 
run-off into the combined drainage network in the City, ensuring that rainwater is 
managed as close as possible to the development. 

2. The design of the surface water drainage system should be integrated into the design 
of proposed buildings and landscaping, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which make this impractical. Proposals should demonstrate that run-off rates are as 
close as possible to greenfield rates and the number of discharge points has been 
minimised. 

3. SuDS designs must take account of the City’s archaeological and other heritage 
assets, complex underground utilities, transport infrastructure and other underground 
structures, incorporating suitable SuDS elements for the City’s high density urban 
situation.  

4. SuDS should be designed, where possible, to maximise contributions to water 
resource efficiency, water quality, biodiversity enhancement and the provision of 
multifunctional open spaces. 

5. An operation and maintenance plan will be required to ensure that the SuDS 
elements will remain viable for the lifetime of the building. 

Reason for the policy 

13.4.0   The drainage system in Central London comprises a combined network where 
foul sewage from internal plumbing combines with rainwater drainage in the 
same underground pipework. Consequently, heavy rain can result in 
overloading of the drainage network with discharges of diluted sewage from 
manholes within the City flood risk area and combined sewer outflow pipes into 
the Thames at Walbrook Wharf and Blackfriars. 

13.4.1   More frequent extreme rainfall events are predicted because of climate change 
and therefore the risk of sewer overflow flooding is increasing. To combat this, it 
is necessary to reduce the total amount of rainwater entering the drains and/or 
slow down the rate at which it enters the drains. Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) provide a range of techniques for achieving this. 

How the policy works 

13.4.2   All development presents opportunities to reduce rainwater run-off. The 
cumulative impact of minor development, transport and public realm proposals 
are as important as major development in reducing the risk of sewer overflow 
flooding. Therefore, all development, transport and public realm proposals must 
contribute to a reduction in rainwater run-off to the drainage network. 

Page 512



 

168 

 

13.4.3   For major development, pre-application discussion with the City Corporation as 
Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority and consultation with the 
Environment Agency, Thames Water and other interested parties is encouraged 
to ensure that SuDS designs are suitable for the proposed site. SuDS designs 
must comply with the London Plan drainage hierarchy (see London Plan policy 
SI 13) and local requirements should be discussed at pre application stage with 
the City Corporation. 

13.4.4  Although planning permission may not be required for all transport and public 
realm schemes, SuDS and drainage plans should be integrated into the design 
process of these schemes to protect the City from flooding. 

13.4.5   For all major development, a separate SuDS and Drainage Plan must be 
submitted at application stage. For minor development the Design & Access 
Statement should include details of how rainwater run-off has been minimised. 
Designs should focus on reducing flows as close as possible to greenfield runoff 
rates, minimising the number of discharge points from the site. 

13.4.6   Proposals should demonstrate an integrated approach to water management, 
for example intercepting the first 5mm of each rainfall event through greening 
and incorporating rainwater storage for reuse or irrigation. Major developments 
should specifically maximise the other benefits of SuDS such as biodiversity, 
amenity and water quality. 

13.4.7  Arrangements for maintenance throughout the life of the building must be 
considered in the design of SuDS. Planning conditions may be used to secure a 
suitable operations and maintenance plan. 

13.5    Policy CR4:  Flood protection and flood defences 

1. Development must protect the integrity and effectiveness of structures intended to 
minimise flood risk and, where appropriate, enhance their effectiveness. 

2. Wherever practicable, development should contribute to an overall reduction in flood 
risk within and beyond the site boundaries, incorporating flood alleviation measures 
for the public realm. 

Reason for the policy 

13.5.0   The City of London is protected from flooding by the Thames Barrier, and more 
locally by flood defence walls along the River Thames.  The Thames Estuary 
2100 (TE2100) project recognises the need for the raising of flood defences by 
up to 0.5m by 2050 and 1m by 2100. 

How the policy works 

13.5.1   Development adjacent to the flood defences must maintain their integrity and 
effectiveness for the benefit of the whole City. Development on the riverside 
should be designed to enable future flood defence raising without adverse 

Page 513



 

169 

 

impacts on river views, the setting of historic buildings and pedestrian 
movement along the riverside walk. Constraints may exist where flood defences 
form part of an existing building. Discussions with the Environment Agency will 
be required to establish the most effective designs for improved flood defences 
and to incorporate adequate set back from the defences to allow for future 
maintenance and raising in line with the TE2100 Plan.  

13.5.2   A strategic approach to flood defence raising will enable riparian developers to 
design buildings and the riverside environment to accommodate higher flood 
walls. Riparian owners are responsible for maintenance and enhancement of 
flood defences. 

13.6    Strategic Policy S16: Circular Economy and Waste 

1. The City Corporation will support businesses and residents in moving towards a Zero 
Waste City, by applying circular economy principles, the waste hierarchy and the 
proximity principle at all stages of the development cycle. 

2. The City Corporation will actively co-operate with other Waste Planning Authorities 
(WPAs) in planning for capacity to manage the City’s residual waste through: 

• Identifying waste management capacity in the City, or elsewhere in London, 
to meet the City’s London Plan waste apportionment target, including through 
partnership working with other London WPAs; 

• Co-operating with WPAs within and beyond London to plan for suitable 
facilities for the City’s waste; 

• Safeguarding Walbrook Wharf as a waste site and wharf suitable for the river 
transport of waste; and 

• Monitoring waste movements to and from the City and reviewing its waste 
arisings and capacity study at least every five years. 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.6.0 The City Corporation has responsibility to plan for adequate facilities to manage 
the waste that originates in the City. This includes waste collected from the 
City’s households and businesses, waste generated in the process of 
redevelopment and hazardous waste from premises such as St Bartholomew’s 
Hospital. 

13.6.1 The London Plan and the London Environment Strategy set the framework for 
waste management in London. These strategies promote circular economy 
principles and the waste hierarchy: prevention, preparing for reuse, recycling, 
other recovery, and disposal only as a last resort. 

Page 514



 

170 

 

13.6.2 The current London Plan has set a waste apportionment figure requiring the City 
to identify sites with capacity to manage 90,000 tonnes of waste annually by 
2041, with an apportionment in 2021 of 84,000 tonnes. This figure represents 
the City’s contribution to meeting the Mayor’s target of 100% net self-sufficiency 
in the management of London’s household and commercial and industrial waste 
from 2026. 

13.6.3 The London Plan sets out criteria for the selection of waste management sites, 
which the City of London Waste Arisings and Waste Management Capacity 
Study review 2016 used to evaluate potential sites in the City. This study 
concludes that, with current technologies and economic considerations, there is 
no viable waste management capacity within the Square Mile and that the City 
will not be able to satisfy the London Plan waste apportionment within its 
boundaries. 

13.6.4 The City Corporation has an agreement with the London Borough of Bexley and 
participates in the South-East London Joint Waste Planning Group, which 
comprises the boroughs of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lewisham and 
Southwark along with the City of London. The Group has identified sufficient 
waste management capacity up to 2036 to meet the combined apportionment of 
each of its individual members. The City will continue to contribute to London-
wide waste planning through membership of the London Waste Planning Forum 
and will work with the GLA and the Environment Agency to improve waste 
planning. 

13.6.5 For commercial reasons, a proportion of the City’s waste will continue to be 
transported to sites outside London. This includes construction, demolition and 
excavation (CD&E) waste which is not covered by the Mayor’s targets for net 
self-sufficiency. Annual monitoring of such waste exports will inform Duty to Co-
operate discussions with receiving authorities within and outside London to 
ensure that sufficient capacity remains in the planning pipeline. 

13.6.6 The London Plan sets out apportionments for land-won aggregates, which does 
not include the City of London and there is no requirement to include a policy for 
minerals within the Local Plan. Application of circular economy principles 
encourages the re-use and recycling of demolition waste and the use of 
recycled aggregates in order to reduce reliance on imported aggregates and 
retain embodied carbon. 

13.6.7 It is imperative that the City adopts circular economy and waste hierarchy 
principles, to cut down on the quantity of useable materials that are discarded 
and to eliminate reliance on disposable items, including single use plastics, in 
the City. Those materials that are discarded should be managed as close as 
possible to the City and transported by modes that are least damaging to the 
environment. 

How the policy works 

13.6.8 The City Corporation will continue to monitor the quantities and types of waste 
originating in the City and work with the City’s communities to minimise this 

Page 515



 

171 

 

waste, applying circular economy principles to design out waste and pollution 
and keep products and materials in use. The City Corporation will continue to 
work with the South-East London Joint Waste Planning Group and other WPAs 
in London and beyond to ensure that the City’s waste apportionment is met and 
that suitable facilities are available for the City’s waste to be managed in the 
most sustainable way. 

13.6.9 Changing economics and new waste management technologies means that 
small scale waste management is becoming more viable within the City, 
particularly within large development sites.   

13.6.10 During the period 2021-2041 a proportion of the City of London’s waste will 
continue to be managed outside London. Co-operation with WPAs outside 
London will aim to ensure that facilities with sufficient capacity remain available 
to accept the City’s waste during this period. 

13.6.11 The City Corporation will continue to safeguard Walbrook Wharf as a waste site 
and river wharf in line with the London Plan and the Safeguarded Wharves 
Direction. Any proposed development which would prejudice the operation of 
the existing safeguarded waste site at Walbrook Wharf will be refused. 

13.6.12 Pre-application consultation on suitable waste treatment, storage and collection 
facilities is encouraged. The level of detail required at the planning application 
stage will be proportionate to the scale of development.   

13.6.13 The Environmental Statement (for EIA applications) or sustainability statement 
should provide an assessment of on-site waste treatment options and quantities 
of residual waste likely to arise from the site. 

13.7    Policy CE1: Sustainable Waste Facilities and Transport  

All development proposals should incorporate waste facilities, which must be integrated 
into the design of buildings and allow for separate treatment, storage and off-road 
collection of waste and recyclable materials, where feasible. Major developments 
should provide a single waste collection point to facilitate efficient waste management 
from multi tenanted buildings. 

The environmental impact of waste transport will be minimised through:  

1. Encouraging the use of rail and waterways for removal of waste, including 
deconstruction waste and delivery of construction materials; 

2. Ensuring maximum use of rail and waterways for the transport of excavation waste 
particularly from major infrastructure projects; 

3. Requiring low and zero emissions transport modes for waste movement; 

4. Reducing the number of waste vehicles by promoting optimum use of waste 
transport vehicle capacity through on-site or multi-site consolidation of waste. 

 

Page 516



 

172 

 

Reason for the policy 

13.7.0   On major developments, opportunities for waste minimisation and on-site waste 
treatment, in line with the London Plan’s definition of waste management, 
should be explored in order to minimise the transport of residual waste within 
and beyond the City. The City of London Waste Arisings and Capacity Study 
identifies a range of options which should be considered, subject to the 
appropriate environmental permits, to facilitate a reduction in residual waste 
from City development sites. 

13.7.1   Waste treatment, storage and collection facilities must be integrated into new 
development and considered at an early stage of design to avoid the problems 
created by the placing of waste on the highway. Adequate provision must be 
made for the volume and types of residual waste and recyclables expected to 
be generated, especially the amount of paper and packaging generated by 
offices.  The need to avoid health hazards associated with waste from catering 
establishments, the waste storage and collection needs of street traders, the 
separate storage of recyclable waste and the special arrangements required for 
the storage and transportation of clinical and hazardous waste should be 
provided for, where necessary. 

13.7.2   Waste and recyclables should be capable of collection from off-street service 
areas which are integrated into the design of buildings. The provision of such 
areas may not be practicable in small developments or refurbishments and may 
conflict with the protection of listed buildings and conservation areas. In such 
cases waste stores within the site near the highway are preferable to the 
presentation of waste and recyclables on the pavement. Residential 
developments, including short-term-lets, must be provided with ground floor 
waste and recyclables storage and collection facilities, with direct access to the 
highway for collection purposes. 

13.7.3   The City Corporation will attach appropriate planning conditions relating to 
waste treatment, storage and collection, but may also make use of its other 
regulatory powers to control waste in the City. Compliance with the City of 
London’s operational waste requirements should contribute to BREEAM 
requirements for waste credits. 

13.7.4   The proximity principle advocates that waste should be managed as close as 
possible to where it originates to reduce the environmental impacts of its 
transportation. The City’s restricted land area makes the provision of waste 
facilities within the City problematic, and it therefore relies on movement of the 
waste that is generated in the City to appropriate waste management facilities 
elsewhere in London and beyond London’s boundaries. 

13.7.5   Unlike other local authority areas, the majority of the waste that is generated in 
the City is managed by private contractors. A proportion of the City’s waste, 
including the small fraction of household waste, is transported by river from the 
safeguarded waste transfer station at Walbrook Wharf. The remainder is 
transported primarily by road, with destinations varying from one year to the 
next due to the commercial decisions of private waste contractors.  

Page 517



 

173 

 

13.7.6   This policy aims to maximise the use of the River Thames for waste transport, 
encourage transport modes such as rail and other waterways and encourage 
efficient use of low and zero emissions road vehicles for transporting waste.  

How the policy works 

13.7.7   The City Corporation will continue to work with the Port of London Authority, 
Marine Management Organisation and the Environment Agency to enable 
sustainable use of the River Thames for the movement of freight and waste, 
including the reduction of emissions from river transport. 

Major development  

13.7.8   Construction Logistics Plans should identify how sustainable transport of waste 
materials from the site will be addressed during the construction phase. Delivery 
and servicing plans should demonstrate how the transport of waste will be 
minimised, the potential for use of the river to move waste, and how low 
emission vehicles will be enabled during the operational phase of the building’s 
life. 

All other development  

13.7.9   Planning application documents should clearly demonstrate how waste 
minimisation, storage and sustainable waste transport have been addressed. 

Figure 19: Waste deposit locations 

 

Page 518



 

174 

 

13.8    Policy CE2: New waste management sites 

 Proposals for new facilities for waste management, handling and transfer will be 
required to demonstrate through design and sustainability statements that the 
benefits of the proposed development outweigh any adverse impacts and particularly 
that: 

• the development will handle waste which has been generated locally;  

• access arrangements, mode of transport and transport routes will minimise 
the potential for congestion and environmental impacts, including local air 
quality impacts and carbon emissions. Use of the river for transport of waste 
and recyclables will be encouraged;  

• the carbon impact of the development will be minimised. New waste facilities 
generating energy from waste should comply with the Mayor’s Carbon 
Intensity Floor (CIF); and 

• the development is resilient to natural and man-made safety and security 
challenges. 

2. Noise-sensitive development adjacent to the existing waste site at Walbrook Wharf, 
and development that would compromise the use of the river for waste operations, 
will be resisted. 

3. Development in the vicinity of new waste management sites should not compromise 
the waste management operations on the site or create an unacceptable land use 
conflict. 

Reason for the policy 

13.8.0   Although the City is unlikely to be able to accommodate large waste 
management facilities within its boundary, changes in technology and waste 
transport costs may make small scale commercial facilities viable in the future.   

How the policy works 

13.8.1   Assessment of potential conflicts such as noise, vibration, odour, visual impact, 
pedestrian access and road or river transport will be a key matter in 
consideration of proposals. Mitigation which resolves potential conflicts may be 
necessary for development to proceed. 

13.8.2   The criteria set out in this policy will be used, alongside other policy 
considerations, to evaluate the suitability of proposed waste facilities and 
conditions will be applied to ensure that any new facility is suitable for the City’s 
high-density urban environment.  

Page 519



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 520



 

175 

 

 The Temples, the Thames 
Policy Area and the Key Areas of 
Change 

14.1 Policy TP1: The Temples 

The City Corporation will continue to support the unique functions of the Inner and 
Middle Temples as places of education and training and providers of common and 
collegiate facilities for barristers and students. Development in the Temples area that 
supports these functions, including improvements to the accessibility of buildings, will be 
supported. 

Opportunities to enhance and create additional greening and open spaces that enhance 
the historic character of the Temples will be encouraged. 

Within the Temples, adjustments between professional and residential accommodation 
will be permitted where it is important to the functioning or character of the Temples, or 
to the continuing use of their buildings. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.1.0 The Inner and Middle Temples are two of the Inns of Court which provide 
accommodation, and enable education and training and many other facilities – 
such as libraries, meeting rooms, lecture rooms, and dining facilities – for the 
legal profession in the southwest of the City between Fleet Street and the River 
Thames. Along with other nearby Inns of Court and the Royal Courts of Justice 
in Westminster, the Temples form part of a specialist legal cluster recognised in 
the London Plan. The Temples are within a Cons33ervation Area and contain a 
significant concentration of listed buildings. 

14.1.1 The Temples mainly contain barristers’ chambers, together with other 
accommodation for Members of the Bar. The Inner and Middle Temples have a 
strong collegiate atmosphere due to the mix of workspaces, residential, 
commercial and communal uses. This mix of uses contributes to the historic 
interest and high environmental quality of the area and should be maintained.   

How the policy works 

14.1.2 In determining applications, the City Corporation will have regard to the 
importance and long term balance of the continued existence of residential, 
office and support uses in the Temples and the contribution that this makes to 
their special character. However, the need to rationalise and refurbish 
chambers in order to maintain an efficient business and professional community 

Page 521



 

176 

 

is recognised. To enable the continued use of the buildings in the Temples, 
physical changes to the fabric of the historic buildings, especially for the 
purposes of improved accessibility, may be required. Alterations and additions 
must be informed by and respect the unique historic and architectural character 
of the area and the buildings and structures within it. 

14.2 Strategic Policy S17: Thames Policy Area 

The unique character of the City’s riverside, and its uses for transport and recreation, 
will be enhanced by: 

1. Ensuring that buildings and spaces on or near the riverside contribute to sustainable 
economic growth and further the aims of the City of London Riverside Strategy and 
Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy, particularly through: 

• protecting and enhancing permanent public access and river views along the 
riverside walk; 

• improving access to the River Thames by enhancing north-south routes and 
the widening of the riverside walk; 

• maximising opportunities for public open space along the riverfront and 
seeking public realm improvements and increased permeability to the north of 
the riverside walk; 

• improving the vibrancy of the riverside by requiring new development to 
provide active frontages where appropriate; 

• encouraging a mix of commercial and cultural uses and promoting office-led 
commercial development, while safeguarding heritage assets and biodiversity 
value; and 

• provision of publicly accessible roof terraces, where they do not impact 
adversely on protected views, the amenity of occupiers or nearby residents. 

2. Supporting, and safeguarding land for, the construction of the Thames Tideway 
Tunnel. 

3. Promoting the use of the River Thames and its environs for transport, navigation and 
recreation, particularly through: 

• safeguarding Walbrook Wharf for waste and river related freight traffic, 
including freight consolidation; 

• encouraging the use of the River Thames for the transport of construction and 
deconstruction materials and waste; 

• retaining Blackfriars Pier, and access to Tower Pier, and encouraging the 
reinstatement of Swan Lane Pier and the use of these facilities for river 
transport. Applications to remove these facilities will be refused unless 
suitable replacement facilities of an equivalent or higher standard are 
provided; 

Page 522



 

177 

 

• refusing development on or over the River, except for structures that 
specifically require a waterside location for river-related uses; 

• resisting the permanent mooring of vessels; and 

• maintaining and enhancing access points to the River Thames foreshore, 
from both land and water, for public or private use as appropriate, subject to 
health and safety and environmental safeguards. 

4. Ensuring that development does not have an adverse effect on the River Thames 
and Tidal Tributaries Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation and 
seeking opportunities to create or enhance riverside habitats. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.2.0 The River Thames is an iconic feature of London and the City. The riverside 
provides a breathing space from the busy environment that characterises the 
rest of the City, as well as a traffic-free walkway on the north bank of the 
Thames. However, the riverside is not currently fulfilling its potential as a 
recreation, leisure and tourism destination despite its many positive attributes. 

14.2.1 The River Thames serves several important functions, including as a corridor for 
freight and pedestrian transport, a tourism and recreational asset, a unique 
setting for views of the City, a key environmental asset, and a Site of 
Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (SMINC). The City’s 
topography, with the land rising from the riverside, means that most of the City 
is at relatively low risk from flooding. Nevertheless, this risk needs to be 
managed, particularly in the face of climate change.  

14.2.2 There are a range of different strategies and plans which affect the Thames 
including: 

• The London Plan, which sets out strategic policies for the River Thames and 
requires the designation of a Thames Policy Area. 

• The Mayor of London’s Safeguarded Wharves Review 2018-19, which aims 
to ensure that London’s need for waterborne freight-handling uses is met. 

• The Thames Estuary 2100 Plan produced by the Environment Agency, which 
addresses flood risk and water quality issues. 

• The Thames Strategy SPD, which identifies the attributes of the area and 
gives guidance on development within this area. 

• The City of London Riverside Strategy, which provides guidance for the 
management of the river flood defences in the Square Mile, including the 
approach to raising the flood defences over the coming century whilst also 
providing benefits to the workers, residents and visitors that use the Thames 
river frontage. 

 

Page 523



 

178 

 

• The Thames Vision produced by the Port of London Authority, which sets a 
framework for greater use of the River Thames between now and 2035 
including targets for increased passenger and freight movements. 

• Guidance called A Safer Riverside produced by the Port of London Authority, 
which aims to reduce the number of people drowning in the Thames by 
ensuring that safety is an intrinsic part of all development alongside and on 
the tidal Thames.   

• The UK Marine Policy Statement and the emerging South East Marine Plan 
produced by the Marine Management Organisation, which will provide a wider 
strategic context. Until that Plan has been adopted, reference should be 
made to the UK Marine Policy Statement, which sets out a framework and UK 
high level marine objectives. 

 

  

Figure 20: Thames Policy Area 

 

14.2.3   The City of London Thames Policy Area is designated as the part of the City 
where development and change could affect aspects of the river and its 
importance. Collaboration with riparian neighbouring boroughs, the Environment 
Agency, the Marine Management Organisation, the Port of London Authority 
and the Mayor of London is essential to ensure that the strategies and plans for 
the river are realised. 

14.2.4   The London Plan notes that no joint strategy currently exists for the central 
section of the Thames between Chelsea and Tower Bridge, and the City 
Corporation will work actively with neighbouring boroughs to help produce a 
joint Strategy.  

Page 524



 

179 

 

14.2.5   A key infrastructure project is the development of the Thames Tideway Tunnel, 
which is a 25km tunnel running mostly under the tidal section of the River 
Thames through central London. It is intended to capture and divert storm 
overflows, including the Fleet Combined Sewer Outflow at Blackfriars, to 
Beckton Sewage Treatment Works to avoid discharging them into the  river.  

Page 525



 

180 

 

14.3    Strategic Policy S18: Blackfriars 

The character and amenities of the Blackfriars Key Area of Change will be enhanced 
by: 

1. Making the area’s buildings, streets and public spaces more inclusive, accessible, 
welcoming and vibrant, with a mix of uses that encourages more activity and 
greater enjoyment of the river Thames and the riverside walk for all; 

2. Promoting comprehensive redevelopment or refurbishment of existing post-war 
buildings to provide new high-quality office and commercial accommodation with 
active frontages at ground floor and mezzanine level and elevated public spaces 
including roof gardens; 

3. Implementing the Thames Tideway Tunnel project and creating a high-quality new 
area of public realm at Blackfriars Bridge foreshore (Bazalgette Embankment), and 
seeking opportunities to enhance the area underneath the Blackfriars undercroft 
for suitable sports, leisure, or recreation; 

4. Enhancing pedestrian permeability and accessibility, especially through 
improvements to and along the riverside, including appropriate widening of the 
Riverside Walk, improvements to Blackfriars Underpass, and the provision of new 
and improved links across Queen Victoria Street and Upper Thames Street to 
provide new north-south routes; 

5. Seeking provision of a new entrance to the east side of Blackfriars station that 
gives improved pedestrian connectivity to the riverfront; 

6. Preserving, enhancing and celebrating the area’s heritage and historic assets and 
giving careful consideration to protected views; 

7. Encouraging new cultural, leisure and recreation facilities, the retention or renewal 
of existing facilities where appropriate, and events, arts and play in public spaces; 
and  

8. Improving the quality of the public realm and identifying opportunities for urban 
greening and pollution reduction measures, particularly along Puddle Dock, Castle 
Baynard Street, White Lion Hill, Upper Thames Street and the churchyard of The 
Guild Church of St Benet Paul’s Wharf. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.3.0 The area contains a mix of uses, including offices and commercial uses, the 
City of London School, the Mermaid Events Centre, The Guild Church of St 
Benet Paul’s Wharf, a public car park, Blackfriars Millennium Pier and 
Blackfriars Station. Most development is post-war, with large footprint 
buildings, few active frontages and a lack of open space. The area has a rich 
history and likely archaeological remains, including those relating to 

Page 526



 

181 

 

Baynard’s Castle, which should be celebrated and better revealed as part of 
redevelopment. 

14.3.1   It is bounded by major through routes (including Upper Thames Street) which 
generate pollution and are a barrier to pedestrian movement, separating the 
Riverside Walk from the rest of the City. Access to the Riverside Walk is 
limited at street level. Blackfriars Bridge forms an important connection 
between the City and Southwark, and Blackfriars Station is a major 
underground and rail station. 

14.3.2   There have been improvements along the Riverside Walk at Paul’s Walk and  
the City Corporation’s Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy sets out plans 
for public realm enhancement along the riverside. Development of the 
Thames Tideway Tunnel will create a large new area of public realm 
(Bazalgette Embankment) built out into the river west of Blackfriars Bridge, 
which is due for completion in 2025/26. There are significant views of St 
Paul’s Cathedral and the heights of new buildings are limited by strategic and 
locally protected views. The riverside walk forms part of the Thames Path 
National Trail and the River Thames is designated as a Site of Metropolitan 
Importance for Nature Conservation. Minimisation of flood risk and respect 
for the riverside’s rich archaeological and ecological heritage, are important 
considerations in this area. 

14.3.3   Comprehensive redevelopment would provide an opportunity for public realm 
improvements along Puddle Dock, Castle Baynard Street, White Lion Hill and 
Upper Thames Street, to reduce pollution and improve air quality. New active 
frontages will be sought as an integral part of any redevelopment. Pedestrian 
links across Upper Thames Street will be improved wherever possible to link 
the riverside to the rest of the City and to provide easier access to Blackfriars 
Pier. Proposals for redevelopment and the redesign of streets would be 
required to enhance the setting of The Guild Church of St Benet’s Paul’s 
Wharf and make it a more pleasant area to visit and dwell. 

14.3.4   The public realm created by the Thames Tideway Tunnel project at 
Blackfriars Bridge (Bazalgette Embankment) will introduce additional 
greenery to the riverside and will bring more activity to the area by providing 
a new place for relaxation and recreation. This facility will include a viewing 
terrace, civic space, green terraces, and a venue for outdoor events and 
public artwork. The riverside walkway will be improved by links between the 
new area of public realm, Blackfriars Bridge and Paul’s Walk and 
enhancements to the pedestrian route, including appropriate widening, 
between Blackfriars Bridge and Millennium Bridge. There is potential to 
enhance heritage assets and their setting by increased pedestrian 
permeability and there will be new views of Blackfriars Bridge and this part of 
the City from the new area of public realm.  

 
 
 
 

Page 527



 

182 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figure 21: Blackfriars existing conditions 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 22: Blackfriars Spatial Priorities                

Page 528



 

183 

 

14.4    Strategic Policy S19: Pool of London 

The Pool of London Key Area of Change will be renewed through the refurbishment 
and redevelopment of building stock and the delivery of significant public realm 
improvements: 

1. Making the area’s buildings, streets and public spaces more inclusive, 
accessible, welcoming and vibrant, with a mix of uses that encourages more 
activity and greater enjoyment of the river Thames, public spaces and the 
riverside walk for all; 

2. Enabling office-led mixed commercial use redevelopment or refurbishment, 
including the provision of retail, cultural and leisure uses that are complementary 
to, and do not detract from, the primary business function of the City and that 
enhance heritage assets.  

3. Requiring increased vibrancy and active frontages at ground floor, rooftop and 
terrace levels, through the provision of retail and publicly accessible leisure and 
cultural uses on the river frontage. 

4. Encouraging the provision of recreation, cultural events, arts and play in public 
spaces along the riverside, and ensuring their delivery through Culture and 
Vibrancy Plans.   

5. Maximising opportunities to increase the quantity and quality of public open 
space along the riverfront and seeking public realm improvements and increased 
permeability to the north of the riverside walk; 

6. Optimising the use of historic assets and spaces around them in ways that help 
to better reveal their heritage, create inclusive and welcoming environments and 
help to make the riverfront more vibrant and accessible for all; 

7. Preserving and enhancing the area’s significant heritage assets and historic 
significance including protected views, as well as encouraging more diverse 
communities to appreciate and understand the area through creative 
interpretation. 

8. Improving transport connections and pedestrian links by: 

• improving existing and creating new crossing points and improving 
wayfinding over Lower Thames Street;  

• improving links to the riverside by enhancing permeability and connectivity 
between London Bridge, Monument Street and Lower Thames Street; 

• improving signage to and from the Pool of London to the Tower of London; 

• improving the servicing of buildings, encouraging the development of 
shared servicing bays and access points and collaborative management; 
and 

Page 529



 

184 

 

• preventing vehicular access onto the riverside walk and removing car 
parking areas upon redevelopment. 

9. Enhancing public realm and public spaces by:  

• enhancing the Riverside Walk to create a continuous publicly accessible 
walkway free of cars between London Bridge and Tower Bridge which is 
accessible to all; 

• identifying opportunities for pollution reduction measures and additional 
greening and planting within the public realm and buildings on 
redevelopment; and 

• maximizing opportunities from development to create additional inclusive 
public space and play facilities.  

 

Reason for the policy 

14.4.0   The area is the heart of what was once the historic port of London and is 
adjacent to the Tower of London. It contains key heritage assets including 
Custom House; the churches of All Hallows by the Tower and St Magnus the 
Martyr; Adelaide House; Old Billingsgate Market and the quay, cranes and 
stairs on the riverside in front of Custom House. 

14.4.1   Lower Thames Street acts as a significant barrier to pedestrian movement to 
and from the rest of the City and air quality is very poor. The opening of 
London Bridge staircase has encouraged more pedestrian movement 
between the Riverside Walk and London Bridge. However, there is limited 
retail or ground floor vibrancy and the public realm is uninspiring and does 
not reflect the importance of this area.    

14.4.2  There is an opportunity for renewal through development and public realm 
improvements that enhance and better-reveal heritage assets. The aim is to 
achieve a City riverside that complements the south bank while retaining and 
enhancing its own distinct character. 

14.4.3 The riverside walk forms part of the Thames Path National Trail and the River 
Thames is designated as a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature 
Conservation. Minimisation of flood risk and respect for the riverside’s rich 
archaeological and ecological heritage, are important considerations in this 
area. The area beneath old Billingsgate Market and the Billingsgate Roman 
House and Baths are Scheduled Monuments.  

14.4.4   There is potential to provide interpretation of the historic development of the 
area, its relationship with the original site of London Bridge and the 
significance of the riverside, and to improve appreciation and enjoyment of 
historic interiors for all.  

Page 530



 

185 

 

14.4.5   While the area will retain its strategically significant office uses, there is 
significant potential to enhance the area for visitors, tourists, children and 
young people, and those working and living in and around the City, providing 
cultural experiences and opportunities to spend time by and enjoy the 
riverside.  

14.4.6   Publicly accessible retail, cultural and leisure uses will be encouraged at 
ground floor level throughout the Pool of London to increase vibrancy and 
provide active frontages. Key open spaces in front of buildings should be 
enhanced and public access improved. Existing car parks should be replaced 
with inclusive publicly accessible open spaces and proposals to restrict public 
access will be resisted. As well as delivering improvements in accessibility, 
vibrancy and public realm at street level, the City Corporation will encourage 
the provision of new, publicly accessible roof terraces and viewing areas 
through building redevelopment or refurbishment, whilst safeguarding 
existing protected views.   

14.4.7   Redevelopment and refurbishment offer the opportunity to revisit existing 
servicing arrangements. Developers will be encouraged to work with 
adjoining landowners to deliver shared servicing strategies and to minimise 
movements onto Lower Thames Street.  

14.4.8   Despite its significance, the Pool of London is relatively isolated from the rest 
of the City by Lower Thames Street. Working with TfL, the City Corporation 
will seek the improvement of existing crossing points across Lower Thames 
Street and the creation of new crossing points to encourage greater 
movement between the riverside and the rest of the City, particularly to the 
Monument and Leadenhall Market further afield. Where possible, historic 
routes between the river and other areas of the City will be reinstated through 
the redevelopment and refurbishment of buildings. 

14.4.9 The City Corporation will work closely with TfL, landowners and developers to 
design and deliver substantial improvements to the public realm along the 
riverside walk and routes to and along Lower Thames Street. Additional 
greening and open space will be encouraged, with tree planting in 
appropriate locations. Part of the Pool of London lies within the Local Setting 
Area of the Tower of London World Heritage Site. Development proposals 
and public realm works in this area should seek opportunities to enhance the 
immediate surroundings of the World Heritage Site, as set out in Policy HE3. 

  

Page 531



 

186 

 

      Figure 23: Pool of London existing condiitons 

        Figure 24: Pool of London Spatial Priorities 

Page 532



 

187 

 

14.5    Strategic Policy S20: Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken 

The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Key Area of Change will be promoted as a mixed-
use area, which balances the requirements of residents, workers and visitors, by: 

1. Promoting a greater mix of development including commercial, residential, 
education and hotels supported by complementary cultural and community use 
development to assist in the further renewal of the area. 

2. Supporting and enabling residential development in appropriate locations and 
identifying and meeting residents’ needs, utilising a range of funding sources to: 

• maximise training, education and employment opportunities for residents; 

• maximise opportunities for delivering health, community and educational 
services and facilities for residents, particularly in the Aldgate Square area; 

• create additional publicly accessible open and green space and additional 
accessible play space for children; 

• encourage local retail facilities; and 

• facilitate the regeneration of the Mansell Street Estate and adjacent sites, 
re-providing existing social housing, alongside additional residential units, 
reduced levels of air and noise pollution, community facilities and good 
quality open and play spaces.  

3. Recognising the benefit and managing the impact of visitors to the area by:  

• enhancing Petticoat Lane Market, celebrating the character and history of 
the area and improving the visitor experience by working in partnership 
with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, market traders and other 
stakeholders; 

• encouraging cultural events, arts and play in public spaces; 

• permitting additional hotels on appropriate sites; and 

• managing the impact of tourist attractions in the area to minimise 
disturbance to workers and residents. 

4. Improving transport connections and pedestrian connectivity by: 

• implementing improvements to street-level interchange between 
Fenchurch Street and Tower Hill/Tower Gateway stations, and exploring 
the feasibility of a direct interchange route; 

• improving Aldgate Bus Station to improve air quality and deliver better 
access for pedestrians to and from community facilities, housing estates, 
open spaces and retail facilities; 

• sealing the ramp leading to the closed Aldgate Gyratory underpass and 
enhancing the area; 

Page 533



 

188 

 

• encouraging pedestrian routes and permeability through large development 
sites, particularly the Mansell Street Estate and between Minories and 
Mansell Street; 

• improving signage for visitors from Liverpool Street to Tower Hill and from 
Aldgate to Cheapside and to other tourist attractions as necessary; 

• enhancing links to the riverside walkway and the Tower of London; and 

• enhancing the north-south walking route between Tower Hill and Aldgate 
along Vine Street. 

5. Enhancing the public realm and open spaces by identifying opportunities for urban 
greening schemes, congestion and pollution reduction measures, particularly in 
the vicinity of The Aldgate School and Middlesex Street and Mansell Street 
Estates. 

Reason for the policy 

14.5.0 The Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken area is positioned in the east of the City 
the southern edge of the area is adjacent to the Tower of London. 

14.5.1 The area contains a culturally diverse local population and a varied mix of 
uses, including offices, the Aldgate Primary School, Mansell and Middlesex 
Street housing estates and other housing, part of Petticoat Lane market, and 
hotels and tourist activity associated with the Tower of London and Tower 
Bridge. There have been considerable improvements to the area in recent 
years, with the Aldgate gyratory being removed, a new square with a café 
and toilets created and public realm improvements implemented.   

14.5.2 While there have been significant improvements, most notably the removal of 
the Aldgate gyratory and the creation of Aldgate Square, the Aldgate, Tower 
and Portsoken area contains major through routes and parts of the area still 
suffer with associated congestion and poor air quality. The townscape around 
Tower Gateway is particularly affected by severance issues because of the 
road and rail networks, and there is currently little to entice visitors going to 
the Tower of London to explore this part of the City more widely. Tower 
Gateway lies within the Local Setting Area of the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site. Development proposals and public realm works in this area 
should seek opportunities to enhance the immediate surroundings of the 
World Heritage Site, as set out in Policy HE3.  

14.5.3 Identifying this area as a Key Area of Change will assist in guiding further 
enhancement of the area during the lifetime of this Plan. There is likely to be 
further commercial development, especially through the refurbishment or 
redevelopment of older buildings. The area will also experience increased 
tourism activity, in line with the continued increase in tourist numbers in 
London as a whole.  

14.5.4  The area includes places where there are lower levels of income, 
employment and education, skills and training than others in the City. The 
regeneration potential of the Mansell Street Estate the potential to provide 

Page 534



 

189 

 

improved housing for tenants, a more attractive environment, and increased 
housing in the area overall. Regeneration would require the re-provision of 
existing social housing at equivalent rents and service charge, achieving a 
good quality residential environment at high densities and reducing 
residential exposure to air and noise pollution.  

14.5.5  Development in the Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken area should enhance its 
appearance and vibrancy and will need to balance the interests of the 
residents who live in the area, particularly regarding air and noise pollution, 
with the increased cultural and commercial activities.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 535



 

190 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 25: Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken existing conditions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 26: Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken Spatial Priorities 

Page 536



 

191 

 

14.6    Strategic Policy S21: City Cluster 

The City Cluster Key Area of Change will accommodate a significant growth in office 
floorspace and employment, including through the construction of new tall buildings, 
together with complementary land uses, transport, public realm and security 
enhancements, by; 

1. Increasing the provision of attractive world class buildings that are sustainable 
and offer a range of office accommodation to cater for the needs of varied office 
occupiers; 

2. Encouraging complementary uses including leisure, culture and retail to support 
the primary office function in this area and providing active frontages at ground 
level. 

3. Transforming Leadenhall Market into a seven day-week vibrant destination by 
encouraging culture, retail, food & beverage and other complementary uses, 
while preserving and enhancing its historic character and appearance. 

4. Requiring the provision of new and improved open spaces at ground level, free to 
enter publicly accessible spaces such as roof gardens and roof terraces, and 
cultural and leisure destinations and other facilities, that will provide additional 
public space and experiences for people working in the City alongside visitors 
and residents. 

5. Delivering tall buildings on appropriate sites in line with Policy S12 (Tall buildings) 
ensuring they positively contribute to the City’s skyline,  preserving heritage 
assets and their settings, taking account of the effect on the London skyline and 
on protected views;  

6. Ensuring development proposals have regard to the immediate setting of Bevis 
Marks Synagogue (as set out in the Policy Map). Developments should form a 
positive relationship with the Synagogue without dominating or detracting from its 
architectural and historic value; and ensuring that the historic elements of the 
Synagogue’s setting are preserved and enhanced. 

7. Protecting the City’s businesses, workers, residents and visitors against crime 
and terrorism by promoting the natural surveillance of streets, open spaces and 
buildings and implementing area-wide security measures, funded in part through 
s106 planning obligations; 

8. Enhancing the streets, spaces and public realm to improve connectivity into and 
through the Cluster, and prioritising pedestrian movement in key streets such as 
St Mary Axe, Leadenhall Street and Lime Street; and creating new pedestrian 
routes through – and improving the accessibility of –  Leadenhall Market. 

9. Improving north-south connectivity for walking, wheeling and cycling through 
Gracechurch Street and Bishopsgate and east-west connectivity from Aldgate in 
the east to Bank in the west; 

Page 537



 

192 

 

10. Delivering a high-quality public realm, maintaining the quality of the microclimate 
and increasing urban greening; 

11. Activating streets, spaces and public realm at the ground floor and improving 
wayfinding through the streets and alleys. 

12. Improving walking and cycling into and through the Cluster. Pedestrian 
movement should be given priority through re-allocation of road space on key 
routes during daytime.  

13. Ensuring the provision of high-quality utilities and communications infrastructure 
and efficient use of the subsurface through early engagement and joint working 
between developers and utility providers; 

14. Ensuring an area wide approach is taken to security and estate management to 
ensure the safety and comfort of workers and visitors, with a high-quality public 
realm and environment that reflects the status of the area; 

15. Introducing new approaches to freight, construction logistics and servicing and 
delivering improvements to public transport to ensure the City Cluster can 
accommodate the planned level of growth. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.6.0 Tall buildings are an established defining feature of the City Cluster. This area 
is designated as an area appropriate in principle for tall building 
development. Detailed sensitivity analysis and three-dimensional modelling 
shows that there is potential for further tall building development. Market 
demand for new office space in this area has remained high and future 
capacity projections indicate that a large proportion of the office development 
pipeline is within the City Cluster and it is expected to accommodate a 
significant part of the City’s future office space growth, alongside other 
compatible land uses. 

14.6.1 The planned intensification of development in a relatively small geographic 
area will inevitably lead to a significant increase in footfall and put more 
pressure on public transport, streets, open spaces and services. The City 
Cluster adjoins the Liverpool Street Key Area of Change and the opening of 
the Elizabeth Line has significantly improved public transport access into the 
Cluster, with Bishopsgate being a key pedestrian route into and through the 
area. This concentration of activity will require better walking and cycling 
routes, enhanced public realm, and specialised approaches to freight and 
servicing, including the use of consolidation. To assist delivery of 
transformational projects in the Cluster, the City Corporation will continue to 
work with key stakeholders in the area, including the EC BID.  

14.6.2 Office development within the City Cluster will be expected to deliver flexible 
floorspace to meet the needs of a range of occupiers and ensure the City’s 

Page 538



 

193 

 

stock is resilient and ready to respond to changes in the market. While all 
forms of development should be of high-quality design, tall buildings have an 
impact on the wider London skyline. It is important that they create a 
coherent Cluster form and enhance the overall appearance of the Cluster on 
the skyline, while also having a successful relationship with the space around 
them at ground level and with particular regard to the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site, conservation areas and listed buildings. The City Corporation 
will use 3D modelling of the Cluster to guide future development and assess 
tall building proposals.  

14.6.3 The Cluster is not only a significant employment and tall buildings location, it 
contains a number of heritage assets, including the Grade I Listed Bevis 
Marks Synagogue, the oldest Synagogue in continued use in Great Britain. It 
is recognised that the Synagogue and its immediate setting are within the 
heart of an ever-changing world city and that there is pressure on sites for 
growth in the City Cluster. The Synagogue’s immediate setting forms an 
intrinsic part of its significance and the broad scale and heights of buildings in 
the immediate setting of the Synagogue contribute to its significance. 
Significant changes to these buildings could potentially affect the setting and 
therefore significance of the Synagogue. 

14.6.4 Leadenhall Market, the Grade II* listed Principal Shopping Centre located in 
the heart of the City Cluster, has a long history of commerce and attracts 
visitors as a result of its location and architecture. Opportunities should be 
taken to reinvigorate Leadenhall Market into a seven days-a-week vibrant 
retail and cultural destination, all while celebrating its unique location and 
relevance to the history of London.  

14.6.5 The intensification of development will have environmental and transport 
impacts which need to be carefully managed. Individual proposals for new tall 
buildings will need to take account of these cumulative impacts, especially 
the need to maintain and enhance the provision of pavement and public open 
space around the building, to ensure safe and comfortable levels of wind, 
daylight and sunlight, solar glare and solar convergence, and to implement 
efficient servicing and deliveries arrangements.  

14.6.6 Area-wide security measures will be implemented, including the Anti-Terrorism 
Traffic Regulation Order, to reduce the risks associated with high-profile 
buildings and increasingly crowded streets. Developers will be required to 
contribute towards the design and implementation of area-wide security 
through s106 planning obligations proportionate to the scale of the 
development. Area-wide approaches to servicing and deliveries will be 
promoted, for instance the use of physical and/or virtual consolidation 
measures.  

 

 

 

Page 539



 

194 

 

 Figure 27: City Cluster existing conditions 

Figure 28: City Cluster Spatial Priorities 

Page 540



 

195 

 

14.7    Strategic Policy S22: Fleet Street and Ludgate 

The character and function of the Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change as 
a centre for judicial and related business, a royal and state processional route and 
a Principal Shopping Centre (PSC) will be promoted by: 

 Protecting and enhancing the character and appearance of the royal and state 
processional route including views of St. Paul’s Cathedral from the route. 

 Developing new court facilities and City of London Police station, having regard 
to the impact of the development on the Fleet Street Conservation Area and 
heritage assets and the need to ensure security of the buildings for court and 
police use.  

 Continuing to protect existing office use in the area, whilst encouraging office-
led redevelopments including for creative, start-up and SME businesses, with a 
mix of complementary retail, leisure and cultural uses which enhance the area’s 
rich heritage and culture.  

 Seeking opportunities to provide an enhanced cultural offer in the area, 
informed by its rich history and connections to the legal, publishing and 
newspaper industries, as well as opportunities to better reveal the area’s 
heritage. 

 Allowing tall building development on appropriate sites within the defined tall 
building area identified on the Policies Map. 

 Providing flexible spaces and complementary uses in appropriate locations. 

 Directing further residential development to appropriate sites off principal streets 
to reinforce existing residential clusters, ensuring a high quality of residential 
amenity. Student housing may be appropriate on suitable sites. 

 Retaining retail provision within the Fleet Street PSC and encouraging greater 
diversity of retail, culture and leisure and the extension of retail, leisure and 
cultural activity into the evening and weekends, and promote pop-up and 
meanwhile uses in suitable premises and sites. 

 Enhancing the public realm and open spaces by: 

• improving and increasing the capacity and accessibility of pavements 
along Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill, junction improvements at Ludgate 
Circus and more spaces for seating in the area; 

• enhancing the courts and alleyways that lead off Fleet Street and 
Ludgate Hill and churchyards that are located in the area, helping to 
better reveal them through sensitive wayfinding, and seeking 
opportunities to improve safety through enhanced lighting and 
activation; 

Page 541



 

196 

 

• enhancing the immediate setting of St. Paul’s Cathedral through high 
quality development and public realm enhancements; and 

• delivering additional greening on streets and open spaces and 
encouraging the greening of buildings, where compatible with heritage 
considerations.  

 

Reason for the policy 

14.7.0  Fleet Street is an iconic location with a name synonymous with the UK 
newspaper and publishing industry. However, the newspapers that occupied 
Fleet Street have moved out, and the area is home to a broad range of 
commercial office occupiers.  

14.7.1  The area is an established legal cluster, focused on the Temples in the City 
and the Royal Courts of Justice within the City of Westminster, and this will 
be enhanced with the delivery of the new court building and police facilities at 
Salisbury Square, which is being developed by the City Corporation in 
partnership with the Ministry of Justice to provide a flagship court facility for 
London to tackle cybercrime, fraud and economic crime. The area is 
identified in the London Plan as a CAZ Legal Cluster and its important and 
varied legal functions will be supported and enhanced through this City Plan. 

14.7.2  The Fleet Street area has a strong cultural offer with attractions ranging from 
Dr Johnson’s House to the St Bride’s Institute, the Bridewell Theatre and the 
historic churches of St Brides, St Dunstan’s in the West and Temple Church. 
These attractions help draw visitors to the area, which support the PSC, and 
opportunities should be sought to enrich the contribution these buildings and 
organisations make to the life of the Fleet Street area. 

14.7.3  Ludgate Circus is a major junction between Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill and 
Farringdon Street. The western side lies within the Fleet Street PSC, Ludgate 
Hill forms the principal approach to St Paul’s Cathedral and a key element of 
the royal and state processional route. Major commercial development at Old 
Bailey has enhanced the office and retail offer on this street and further hotel 
development could support the City’s growing visitor economy. 

14.7.4  The Key Area of Change contains a mix of large modern office developments 
and smaller scale historic buildings on small plots more suitable for SME use. 
The City-wide presumption in favour of protecting office uses will continue to 
apply and the area’s commercial office focus will remain. A particular focus 
for future office development will be the identified tall building area, within 
which tall buildings will be permitted on appropriate sites, having regard to 
heritage and views constraints. 

14.7.5  There may be potential for partnership working between occupiers in the area 
to deliver improvements and more flexible use of some buildings whilst 
retaining a predominance of commercial uses which complement the City’s 
business focus. To assist with the development of a coherent vision for the 

Page 542



 

197 

 

area, the City Corporation will support the work of the Fleet Street Quarter 
BID. The BID is keen to explore ways in which Fleet Street can act as a 
vibrant spine for the area, while improving its links with other parts of the City 
including the area up to High Holborn and access to the riverside. 

14.7.6  The area contains an existing residential cluster to the north of Fleet Street, 
with a number of upper floors of buildings on Fleet Street itself converted to 
residential in recent years. South of Ludgate Hill is the established residential 
and commercial area of Carter Lane. Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill and Carter 
Lane suffer noise from commercial and retail activities, while traffic 
contributes to poor air quality along parts of Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill. To 
ensure a high quality of residential amenity, new residential development in 
this area will be directed to sites away from principal streets, so that the 
potential for noise disturbance and exposure to poor air quality can be 
minimised. 

14.7.7  The PSC is an important aspect of Fleet Street that provides vibrancy along 
its length, however the PSC is under-performing and has the potential to 
diversify. To strengthen the PSC, it should continue to provide comparison 
and convenience shopping, but also look to extend its retail offer into the 
evenings and weekends and provide a broader range of retail and leisure 
uses. Ludgate Hill provides a key route betweenFleet Street and Cheapside 
PSC and the extension of the Fleet Street PSC is appropriate along this 
route. 

14.7.8  The key streets within the area offer a poor public realm, being heavily 
trafficked with narrow footways that are congested particularly during peak 
hours and lunch times. There is limited greenery along Fleet Street, Ludgate 
Circus and Ludgate Hill. Additional planting will need to consider the impact 
on the established character of the area and on key views of St Paul’s 
Cathedral along the processional route. There is scope to enhance the public 
realm and to priortise pedestrians, including through the widening of 
pavements. Improvements to the public realm will deliver benefits to the area 
as well as improve air quality and provide more quiet areas in the network of 
courts and alleyways behind Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill. St Bride’s 
Churchyard is one of the largest public spaces in the Fleet Street area and 
has significant potential for enhancement. Other parts of the area where the 
public realm and street environment offer scope for improvement include 
Carter Lane and the Whitefriars area to the south of Salisbury Square. 

14.7.9  The Key Area of Change extends up to St Paul’s Cathedral, an internationally 
recognised landmark on the London skyline which is sited at one of the 
highest points in the City and was London’s tallest building between the early 
eighteenth century and the 1960s. The local setting of St Paul’s remains 
relatively low-rise, allowing the scale and significance of the building to be 
appreciated and preserving its status as the defining focal point of the 
processional route and a key element of the area’s character. While the 
approach to St Paul’s from Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill is of historic 
importance, the setting of the Cathedral and the visitor experience is 
diminished by heavy traffic and associated highways clutter. There is 

Page 543



 

198 

 

potential for significant townscape enhancements and de-cluttering along the 
processional route and for further public realm and transportation 
improvements in the immediate vicinity of the Cathedral to enhance the 
setting of this iconic building.  

Figure 29: Fleet Street and Ludgate existing condions 

 Figure 30: Fleet Street and Ludgate Spatial Priorities

Page 544



 

199 

 

14.8    Strategic Policy S23: Smithfield and Barbican  

The City Corporation will improve the Smithfield and Barbican area by: 

1. encouraging culture-led mixed-use development on major sites in the area as 
well as cultural infrastructure and complementary uses, and delivering art and 
cultural attractions and public realm improvements; 

2. ensuring the retention and improvement of pedestrian permeability and 
connectivity through large sites such as Smithfield Market, and Barbican whilst 
seeking to preserve privacy, security and noise abatement for residents and 
businesses; 

3. ensuring future alternative uses appropriate to the listed status of the market 
buildings in Smithfield if the existing uses are relocated; 

4. supporting and enabling residential development in appropriate locations; 

5. identifying and meeting residents’ needs in the north of the City, including the 
protection and enhancement of residential amenity, community facilities and 
open space; 

6. making improvements to Beech Street to reduce the volume of vehicle traffic, 
improve air quality and increase amenity and vitality; 

7. seeking to minimise pollution levels through traffic management measures and 
increased green infrastructure in the public realm and on buildings; 

8. requiring improvements to pedestrian and cycle routes for all within and 
through the north of the City;  

9. supporting continued connections to the Citigen district heating and cooling 
network and ensuring that, where feasible, all new development is designed to 
enable connection to the Citigen network;  

10. supporting the provision of additional hotel uses in appropriate locations, 
where they are complementary to the City’s business role; 

11. encouraging a diverse leisure, retail, food and beverage offer, particularly 
along routes between the London Museum and the Barbican;  

12. encouraging the provision of spaces and premises suitable for start-ups, digital 
and creative industries, and cultural organisations and artists, including 
meanwhile use of vacant premises; and  

13. enhancing the special character of the area through sensitive change. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.8.0 The Smithfield and Barbican Key Area of Change is a vibrant, mixed use area 
that contains: 

Page 545



 

200 

 

• The highest concentration of residential units in the City, including the 
Barbican and Golden Lane estates and Smithfield (principally Barts 
Square); 

• A cultural quarter focused on the Barbican and Museum of London, which is 
recognised in the London Plan as a strategic cultural area, which will be 
enhanced with the relocation and reopening of the London Museum;  

• St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, which is a regional hospital and specialist 
cardiac and cancer centre;  

• Smithfield Market, London’s major wholesale meat market, which is 
expected to relocate in the coming years; 

• A mixed office stock and occupier profile, ranging from large corporate 
headquarters to buildings suitable for SMEs, creative enterprises and start-
ups; 

• Many heritage assets of national significance including listed buildings of 
diverse periods, conservation areas, scheduled ancient monuments and 
historic parks, and gardens and spaces that enhance its special character. 

14.8.1   This part of the City will undergo significant change and development over 
the life of the Local Plan with the relocation of the London Museum to 
Smithfield and the current operations of Smithfield Market. 

14.8.2   A Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Forum for the Barbican and 
Golden Lane area were designated by the City Corporation on 18 July 2023. 

14.8.3   The City Corporation will enable a range of cultural and artistic activities 
throughout the area. Together these changes will attract a substantial 
increase in visitors to this part of the City and enhance the area’s 
attractiveness for businesses, residents and visitors. The opening of the 
Elizabeth Line, linking to national rail and tube lines, has made this area one 
of the most accessible locations by public transport in the country.  

14.8.4   The Barbican complex contains an internationally recognised cultural area 
and the City's largest concentration of residential units. Barbican Listed 
Building Management Guidelines have been produced, which seek to protect 
the special architectural and historic interest of the buildings and their setting. 

14.8.5   Delivery of this policy will be supported by implementation of public realm 
enhancement and transportation schemes and greater activation of streets, 
providing improved amenity, design and movement, for the benefit of 
workers, residents and visitors. The design of new buildings and spaces 
should provide greater pedestrian permeability, ensuring that the area is able 
to accommodate and manage increased volumes of people and activities. A 
particular concern in this area is the need to improve air quality to protect the 
health of the public, including in particular the comparatively large resident 
population and hospital patients.  

Page 546



 

201 

 

14.8.6   The Citigen plant, located immediately north of the City on Charterhouse 
Street in Islington, is providing heating and cooling to buildings within the 
City. Subject to future progress on decarbonisation, Citigen offers the 
potential of low carbon heating and cooling to buildings in this part of the City 
and new development should, where feasible, be designed to enable 
connection to the network. 

14.8.7   To deliver its ambitions for the Smithfield and Barbican Area, the City 
Corporation is aiming to create a distinctive look and feel for the area, which 
allows for the provision of art installations and activity in the public realm in 
appropriate locations.  

14.8.8   Creative industries make a significant contribution to the City’s economy, 
particularly within the Smithfield and Barbican area. Significant social and 
economic value can be derived from the growth of creative enterprises and 
the City Corporation will continue to encourage and support their growth 
within the Key Area of Change, including through the deloivery of meanwhile 
uses in vacant and under-used premises.  

 

      Figure 31: Smithfield and Barbican existing conditions 

 

 

Page 547



 

202 

 

 

Figure 32: Smithfield and Barbican Spatial Priorities 

14.9    Strategic Policy S24: Smithfield 

The City Corporation will protect and enhance the distinctive mixed-use and 
historic character of Smithfield by:  

14. supporting the continued presence of St. Bartholomew’s Hospital; 

15. supporting the continued presence of Smithfield Market in the short to medium 
term; 

16. encouraging the future sensitive re-use of the Smithfield Market buildings, 
should the market relocate, requiring a world class design solution that 
delivers a mix of uses that celebrate and are appropriate to its sensitive 
heritage character, and that provide inclusive public access to the buildings;  

17. supporting the relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield; 

18. further enhancing the distinctive character of the Smithfield area by retaining 
existing buildings, and encouraging appropriate new development, suitable for 
accommodating a mix of uses; 

19. managing the particular challenges which result from the late evening, 7 day a 
week character of the area; 

Page 548



 

203 

 

20. resisting residential development adjacent to the current market site or future 
Museum of London in order to minimise potential adverse impacts on 
residential amenity; 

21. promoting a retail and leisure economy that complements and contributes to 
the changing uses in the area and supports the establishment of Smithfield as 
a leisure destination; 

22. ensuring new activities and developments contribute to a reduction in freight 
and vehicular movements, whilst not adversely impacting the operation of 
businesses and amenity of residents; and  

23. providing for, and supporting, improved pedestrian permeability and the 
creation of new and enhanced public realm across the area to accommodate 
cultural activity and increased pedestrian flows arising from the Elizabeth Line 
and potential new uses in the existing market buildings. 

 
 

Reason for the policy 

14.9.0   The relocation of the Museum of London to Smithfield, the opening of the 
Elizabeth Line and encouragement of cultural and visitor activities, will result 
in a significant increase in pedestrian and visitor numbers in this Key Area of 
Change, which will place further pressure on the public realm and on 
important local open spaces such as Smithfield Rotunda Garden, which is 
Grade II listed. Improvements to the public realm will be required to ensure 
that increased movement can be accommodated. At the same time, it is 
important that new activities do not adversely affect the amenity of existing 
business and residents, the continued operation of St Bartholomew’s 
Hospital or impact on the area’s historic significance and mixed-use 
character. The wider area has a mix of uses, including the hospital, Livery 
Halls, open spaces, pubs, shops and restaurants, offices and residential use.  

14.9.1 The City Corporation has carried out a strategic review of its three wholesale 
markets, Smithfield, Billingsgate and New Spitalfields. A decision has been 
taken, to co-locate the wholesale markets on a single site. As a result, it is 
expected that Smithfield Market will move from its current location in the City 
during the Plan period. The City Plan therefore continues to protect the 
operation of the Market in Smithfield, but also provides guidance requiring 
future potential uses of the market buildings to maintain the historic character 
of the existing Grade II* and Grade II listed market buildings. Future uses 
should ensure the legacy of these buildings through world class design and 
innovation which supports the growing evening and weekend economy, 
complements the City Corporation’s aspirations for cultural and leisure 
activity and is fully inclusive whilst protecting local amenity. Inclusive, 
welcoming public access to the buildings of Smithfield Market will be an 
important component of future uses and designs should consider how these 
spaces can be better revealed, with routes through the buildings including 
Buyer’s Walk, the central spine running through the buildings.  

Page 549



 

204 

 

14.10    Strategic Policy S25: Liverpool Street  

The City Corporation will enhance the Moorgate-Liverpool Street area to take 
advantage of the opportunities presented by good public transport accessibility, the 
opening of the Elizabeth Line, restoration of Finsbury Circus and the redevelopment 
and refurbishment of Broadgate by:  

 
1. accommodating the increased footfall by maintaining and enhancing walking 

routes within, to and from the area, including routes to the City Cluster; 
 

2. providing active frontages at the ground floor level to animate and add 
vibrancy to the area; 
 

3. providing a welcoming visitor experience with improved wayfinding and 
signposting that reflects the area’s position as a key gateway to the City; 

 
4. encouraging the development of flexible office space to meet the needs of 

future offices occupiers and potential start-ups, allowing for business growth in 
a variety of sectors; 
 

5. encouraging development that provides opportunities for collaborative working 
between businesses in this area, Tech City, the creative sector and 
educational institutions to create an attractive and vibrant business eco-
system 
 

6. supporting retail development in the Moorgate/Liverpool Street Principal 
Shopping Centre and encouraging the extension of retail and leisure activities 
into the evenings and weekends, diversifying the retail and leisure offer and 
creating a shopping and leisure destination to draw a diverse range of 
audiences; 
 

7. enhancing the public realm and walking routes to Petticoat Lane Market, 
working in partnership with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, and the 
links to Whitecross Street and Spitalfields markets;  
 

8. delivering a high-quality public realm with additional publicly accessible open 
space and increased greenery alongside biodiversity improvements;  
 

9. Improving pedestrian routes in and around the bus station and enhancing the 
user experience through provision of seating, legible wayfinding and ease of 
access;  
 

10. Improving the overall user experience and supporting improvements to the 
accessibility and capacity of Liverpool Street Station, including enhancing step 
free access and improving entry points; and  
 

Page 550



 

205 

 

11. improving the safety and capacity of pedestrian routes around Moorgate and 
Liverpool Street Elizabeth Line stations, and between the stations and key 
destinations, including Tech City and the City Cluster. 

 

Reason for the policy 

14.10.0 The Liverpool Street area is a dynamic part of the City of London, and home 
to one of London’s busiest transport hubs and increasingly a destination for 
leisure as well as work. The area is undergoing significant transformation. 
This has happened through the recent arrival of the Elizabeth Line; the large-
scale redevelopment and refurbishment of Broadgate and associated public 
realm improvements; and the development of several new offices, and retail 
and leisure facilities in the Liverpool Street area and in the nearby City 
Cluster that are either under construction or planned. These changes are 
bringing greater footfall, greater vibrancy and activity seven days a week, 
enhancing the desirability of the area as a business, retail and leisure 
destination. The Moorgate/Liverpool Street Principal Shopping Centre has 
potential to accommodate significant growth of retail provision during the 
Plan period. Broadgate is currently developing a more outward looking 
character and this is expected to continue, alongside further improvements to 
permeability. 

14.10.1 Where suitable funding is available, the City Corporation will support such 
change through delivery of world class public realm and improvement to 
streets and pedestrian routes, including additional pedestrian priority and 
new pedestrian routes to maximise permeability, where appropriate. The 
Transport Strategy indicates that the area around Moorgate and Liverpool 
Street stations will be prioritised for improvements, together with the routes 
between these stations and key destinations such as Culture Mile and the 
City Cluster. Where feasible, additional urban greening and the creation of 
green urban spaces will be encouraged.  

14.10.2 The City Corporation will work with relevant partners including TfL, Network 
Rail, train operators and landowners to promote improvements to the 
accessibility of facilities provided in Liverpool Street Station and the 
surrounding area. This may include enhancing step free access, improving 
entry points and reviewing bus interchange, together with any potential future 
improvements to operational capacity at the station.  

14.10.3 Alongside these changes, encouragement will be given to the provision of 
space suitable for incubators, start-ups, technology-based companies and 
creative industries, including the provision of flexible accommodation suitable 
for these sectors and growing businesses. This will reinforce established 
links between the area and the Old Street/Shoreditch/Spitalfields Tech City 
area, and will exploit the opportunities to enhance the creative ecology of this 
part of the City.  

Page 551



 

206 

 

  Figure 33: Liverpool Street existing condiitons 

Figure 34: Liverpool Street Spatial Priorities 

Page 552



 

207 

 

 

 Implementation 
Planning Contributions 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

15.1.0 The 2008 Planning Act and Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) set out the legislative and regulatory basis for the CIL. They 
provide for the setting and collection of a statutory charge levied on 
development, intended to address the infrastructure needs arising out of the 
implementation of the City Plan. CIL is the primary mechanism for seeking 
contributions from developers towards the provision of new infrastructure. 
Infrastructure is defined broadly in the Act to include transport, flood 
defences, schools and other educational facilities, medical facilities, sporting 
and recreational facilities and open spaces.  

Planning Obligations 

15.1.1 CIL Regulations indicate that planning obligations may only constitute a 
reason for granting permission if the planning obligation is:  

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to the development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

15.1.2 Planning obligations are legal agreements linked to planning permissions that 
regulate the way a development is undertaken, and they are used where it is 
not possible to regulate the permission by means of a condition. They may 
be in the form of in-kind benefits or a financial contribution and may be used 
to prescribe the nature of a development, compensate for loss or damage 
created by a development, or mitigate the impacts associated with the 
development. The level of any obligation is subject to consideration of its 
impact on the viability of the development proposed. 

15.2    Strategic Policy S27: Planning Contributions 

The City Corporation will seek appropriate contributions from developers to manage 
and mitigate the impact of development:  

1. Requiring contributions through the Community Infrastructure Levy to: 
 

• assist in the delivery of the infrastructure necessary to support 
implementation of the City Plan and the City’s Transport Strategy; and 

• contribute towards the costs of Crossrail, or other strategic infrastructure, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Mayor of London Community 

Page 553



 

208 

 

Infrastructure Levy 2. 
 

2. Requiring s106 planning obligations, having regard to the impact of the obligation 
on the viability of development, for:  

• site specific mitigation meeting statutory tests; 

• affordable housing;  

• training, skills and job brokerage; 

• carbon offsetting; 

• cultural provision; 

• Highways and public realm enhancements including commuted sums for 
maintenance; 

• local procurement in the City and neighbouring boroughs; and 

• measures to enhance area-wide security, where appropriate.  
 

3. Use of the Vacant Building Credit is not considered to be appropriate in the City 
of London. 

 

Reason for the policy 

15.2.0 The compact nature of the City and the intensification of development and 
employment place demands on the City’s services, infrastructure and 
environment.  The City Corporation utilises the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) to help local infrastructure keep pace with the demands of 
development and attaches planning conditions and negotiates planning 
obligations (also known as S106 agreements) with developers, to ensure 
proposals are acceptable.   

How the policy works 

15.2.1 The City Corporation has adopted a CIL Charging Schedule and publishes an 
annual Infrastructure Funding Statement setting out the types of 
infrastructure or infrastructure projects that may be funded in part or in whole 
by CIL.  

15.2.2 In line with legislative and regulatory requirements, and the provisions of the 
City Corporation’s CIL, planning obligations in the City will be sought for site 
specific mitigation, including contributions towards area-wide security 
measures in the City Cluster, in line with the policies set out in this Plan. 
Planning obligations will also be negotiated to deliver affordable housing, the 
provision of training and skills programmes, carbon offsetting and, where 
appropriate, contributions towards cultural provision. Specific requirements 
are set out in other policies within this Plan, particularly Policies S1, S3, VT1 
and DE1. Planning obligations in the City are sought principally from 

Page 554



 

209 

 

commercial development, but other forms of development will also be 
expected to make contributions, where appropriate. Affordable housing will 
be required on-site on qualifying residential developments, but exceptionally 
financial contributions will be sought. Financial contributions towards 
affordable housing will be sought from commercial development. 

15.2.3 Where required, the City Corporation will seek, via s106 planning obligations, 
Section 278 Agreements with developers to ensure that highway works 
necessary to make a development acceptable are funded by the developer 
and implemented by the highway authority.  

15.2.4 Further detail on planning obligations is set out in the Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document and in the s106 Standard Template 
which is published on the City Corporation’s website.  

15.2.5 The Vacant Building Credit is set out in national planning policy and is 
intended to provide an incentive to bring forward brownfield sites for 
development. The high cost of land in the City of London, together with high 
levels of demand for commercial and residential development, mean that 
additional incentives are not required to encourage brownfield sites to come 
forward for development. The use of Vacant Building Credit is therefore not 
considered to be appropriate within the City of London. 

Crossrail 

15.2.6 The Mayor of London Community Infrastructure Levy 2 (CIL2) was 
implemented from 1 April 2019. It requires development across London to 
make a contribution towards the funding of Crossrail 1 and Crossrail 2. The 
Mayor’s CIL2 sets a charging rate for all development in London, with a 
higher charging rate for office, retail and hotel development in Central 
London, including in the City of London. The Mayor’s CIL2 is payable in 
addition to the City of London CIL. 

15.3    Policy PC1: Viability Assessments 

1. Development proposals must take full account of the policy requirements set out 
in this Plan and the London Plan, including financial and other requirements 
under the Mayoral and City of London Community Infrastructure Levy and s106 
planning obligations.  

2. Exceptionally, even where policy requirements have been taken into account, 
applicants may consider that these requirements cannot be delivered in full 
without adversely affecting the overall viability of a development. In these 
circumstances, proposals must be supported by a scheme specific viability 
assessment.   

3. The viability assessment must be prepared in accordance with the standard 
methodology set out in national planning practice guidance. The price paid for a 
site and/or building will not be a relevant justification for not meeting 
Development Plan requirements. 

Page 555



 

210 

 

4. Viability assessments will be made available on the Planning Register reflecting 
the expectation that these should be publicly available. If the applicant considers 
that the assessment in part or whole should be redacted for reasons of 
confidentiality, there will be an opportunity for the applicant to make the case. If 
an assessment is redacted, an executive summary will be made public. 

5. The City Corporation will seek independent verification of submitted viability 
assessments, with the cost of verification being met by the applicant.  

6. Where it is agreed that a development cannot viably deliver all required planning 
obligations at the date of permission, but that there are nevertheless other policy 
considerations which justify the approval of planning permission, the City 
Corporation will normally require a review of the viability information at a later 
stage of the development, or upon occupation.   

 

Reason for the policy 

15.3.0 Delivery of the City Plan and the London Plan requires developers to make 
contributions towards infrastructure and affordable housing provision through 
the CIL and s106 planning obligations. Developers must take into account 
the full cost of meeting development plan requirements when purchasing 
sites or buildings and in the design of schemes. A whole plan viability 
assessment has been undertaken in the preparation of this Plan 
demonstrating that implementation of the policies should not adversely 
impact on the viability of development in the City of London. Exceptionally, 
there may be circumstances where a developer considers that meeting 
development plan requirements in full cannot be delivered without adversely 
impacting on the viability of a development. In such circumstances, the City 
Corporation will require a site-specific viability assessment to be submitted in 
support of the proposed lower level of contributions. 

How the policy works 

15.3.1 Where viability assessments are submitted in support of planning applications, 
these must be prepared in accordance with the Government’s recommended 
approach to viability assessments set out in national Planning Practice 
Guidance. In particular, assessments must demonstrate that the values 
assumed for sites and/or buildings fully reflect the planning policy 
requirements set out in the City Plan and the London Plan. The actual price 
paid for land will not be a relevant justification for failing to meet the policies 
in the development plan. 

15.3.2 The City Corporation will review viability assessments against the 
requirements in the City Plan and London Plan and, where necessary, will 
seek independent verification of submitted assessments from suitably 
qualified consultants who have experience of the development market in 
central London. Verification of viability assessments will consider whether 
appropriate costs, values and risk rates have been utilised which reflect the 

Page 556



 

211 

 

ambitions of this Plan. The City Corporation will expect the applicant to meet 
the full cost of this independent verification. 

15.3.3   The City Corporation will make all viability assessments submitted, together 
with any verification reports, available publicly via the Planning Register on 
the City Corporation’s website. If a developer considers that the viability 
assessment should remain confidential in whole or in part, they should 
provide justification to the City Corporation outlining the potential harm that 
could occur from making the relevant information public. The City 
Corporation will consider whether the public interest in maintaining 
confidentiality outweighs the public interest in making the viability 
assessment public. Where the City Corporation considers that an 
assessment should remain confidential in whole, or in part, it will keep the 
justification under review, including taking account of whether information 
should remain confidential with the passage of time from initial submission. 

15.3.4   Where the City Corporation agrees that a development cannot meet the full 
policy requirements for CIL and s106 planning obligations at the date of 
commencement, but that there are other policy considerations which would 
nevertheless justify approval of the scheme despite this non-compliance, the 
Corporation will normally require that a review mechanism be included within 
any s106 planning obligation, with a review of the viability information 
required at a later stage in the development, or upon occupation. In 
determining the appropriate mechanism, the City Corporation will have 
regard to national Planning Practice Guidance, the London Plan and the 
Mayor of London’s Affordable Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning 
Guidance. Where a development is proposed to be undertaken in phases, 
the City Corporation will normally require a review of the viability prior to the 
commencement of each phase of the development. 

15.3.5   Policy S3 Housing requires the use of upwards only review mechanisms in 
circumstances where the affordable housing targets in that policy are not 
met.  
 

  

Page 557



 

212 

 

15.4    Monitoring 

15.4.0  The City Plan was prepared in the context of the most up to date information 
available. A range of projections and potential future scenarios were 
considered for each policy area. However, circumstances may change and 
monitoring of City Plan policies is essential to determine the extent to which 
the policies are delivering the City Plan vision, strategic objectives and spatial 
strategy.  

15.4.1  The City Corporation will prepare and publish at least annually a range of City 
Plan monitoring reports, which measure and evaluate progress towards 
meeting the Plan objectives across a range of policy areas. Policies 
monitored will include offices; housing; hotels; tall buildings; protected views; 
sustainability; waste; open spaces and green infrastructure. The City 
Corporation will also periodically (annually) review progress against the 
programme of infrastructure delivery set out in the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan.  

15.4.2   The City Corporation is required to review the City Plan at least every five 
years from the date of adoption to determine whether it needs to be updated. 
Data and trends identified in the City Plan monitoring reports may indicate 
the need for an earlier partial or full review of the adopted Plan.  

15.4.3   As mentioned in the introduction to this Plan, the Government is pursuing a 
planning reform agenda which includes proposals to radically change the 
format and content of local plans. These reforms, if enacted, will be a key 
factor in determining the timing and scope of the next review of the City of 
London’s City Plan. 

  

Page 558



 

213 

 

Appendices  

Page 559



 

214 

 

City Plan 2040 Appendix 1  
 
 

Development of the City Plan 2040  
 

1. Why is the City Corporation preparing a City Plan?  
The City of London Local Plan was adopted in January 2015 and plans for 
development requirements up to 2026. It is important that the City’s planning 
framework remains responsive and flexible to address changing circumstances, 
whilst providing a clear vision for how a future City should develop.   

 
2. The stages of preparing the City Plan  

• The first stage of the process was the Issues and Options stage in 2016, 
during which consultation took place on the key planning issues facing the City 
and on the potential options that should be considered in a new local plan to 
address them.   

• The second stage, the draft City Plan 2036, was a consultation on a full draft 
local plan during later 2018 and early 2019.  

• Responses from these two consultations, along with evidence, informed a 
proposed submission version of the City Plan 2036, which was consulted on 
between March and May 2021. As a result of comments made during this 
consultation, the City Corporation decided to undertake further technical work 
and evidence to address consultation responses and changing economic, 
social and environmental trends.   

• Informal public engagement on key issues and the Key Areas of Change was 
undertaken during the summer of 2023.   

• The City Corporation has used this technical work, public engagement and 
updated evidence to prepare the City Plan 2040, which is a revised 
submission version. The timeframe for the new City Plan has been amended 
to ensure a 15 year timeframe for the plan.  

 
3. Next Steps  

Following consultation on the City Plan 2040, it will be submitted to the Secretary 
of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. The Secretary of State will 
then appoint an independent Planning Inspector to examine the submitted Plan, 
which is expected to be adopted in 2025.  

 

 
  

Page 560



 

215 

 

Glossary 
Explanation of terms used in the City of London City Plan. 

* Terms explained elsewhere in the glossary are marked with an asterisk. 

Accelerator office space 

An office location which provides mentorship, advice, and resources to help start-ups 
succeed and grow rapidly, normally let on a short-term basis. 

Active frontage 

Fronts of buildings that facilitate visual and physical permeability.  

Active frontage use 

A definition used in this plan for those uses that fall within use classes E(a)-(e), 
where they have an active frontage. These use classes include shops, cafes and 
restaurants, and services for use by the general public such as hairdressers, banks 
and building societies, shoe repair and dry cleaning, gyms, and health centres. Pubs 
and other community and cultural uses may also be active frontage uses, where they 
are frequented by members of the public. 

Affordable housing 

Affordable housing is defined primarily by affordability and not by tenure. It comprises 
‘social rented housing’, ‘affordable rented housing’ and ‘intermediate housing’, 
provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Social 
rented housing is at rents no greater than target rents set by government for local 
authority, Registered Social Landlords* (RSL) and cooperative tenants.  Affordable 
rented housing has the same characteristics as social housing but is offered at up to 
80% of local market rentals (including service charges, where applicable). 
Intermediate housing is housing for sale and rent where costs are above target rents 
for social rented housing but are at least 20% below local market levels and are 
affordable by households on moderate incomes. Intermediate housing can include 
shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), starter homes, discounted market 
sales housing and other sub-market rented and key worker provision. 

Affordable workspace  

Workspace that is provided at rents maintained below the market rate for that space 
for a special social, cultural, or economic development purpose. 

Agent of Change 

The principle that the person or organisation responsible for change is responsible for 
managing the impact of that change. This includes impacts from noise, vibration and 
lighting. For example, a new residential development near an existing cultural use 

Page 561



 

216 

 

would be responsible for ensuring that residents are not disturbed by the activities of 
the cultural use. Similarly, a new cultural use near an existing residential 
development would need to ensure that existing residents are not disturbed. 

Air Quality Impact Assessment 

An assessment of the impact of a development on the levels of certain pollutants in 
the local area, which could include: a description of baseline conditions and how 
these could change; relevant air quality concerns; the assessment methods to be 
adopted and any requirements around verification of modelling air quality; sensitive 
locations; the basis for assessing impact and determining the significance of an 
impact; construction phase impact; and/or acceptable mitigation measures. 

Air Quality Neutral 

Assessment of air quality against benchmarks set by the Mayor of London through 
his Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2014. Developments that do not 
exceed these benchmarks will be considered to avoid any increase in NOx and PM 
emissions across London as a whole and therefore be ‘air quality neutral’.  

Apart-hotel 

Accommodation for short or medium-term stays that generally provide more 
amenities for daily use (such as a small kitchenette) than standard hotel 
accommodation. They have a reception area where customers can access services 
without pre-booking and are available on a nightly basis without a deposit being 
required against damages. 

Assets of Community Value (ACV) 

A building or other land is an asset of community value if its main use has recently 
been or is presently used to further the social wellbeing or social interests of the local 
community and could do so in the future. ACVs must be approved by the local 
authority.  

Biodiverse green roofs  

A biodiverse green roof should include a varied substrate depth, planted and or 
seeded with a wide range of wildflowers (sedums can be added). A biodiverse green 
roof should have a sufficient depth of between 80 - 150mm. 

Biodiversity  

The variety of plants and animals and other living things in a particular area or region. 
It encompasses habitat diversity, species diversity and genetic diversity. Biodiversity 
has value in its own right and has social and economic value for human society.  

Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 

The Biodiversity Action Plan provides a framework to ensure all legislative 
requirements relating to the management of green spaces are taken into 

Page 562



 

217 

 

consideration at all times and both identifies and prioritises actions for biodiversity at 
a local level. 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

Biodiversity net gain is a statutory requirement which applies to new development. It 
is a way of making sure the habitat for wildlife on a site is in a better state after the 
development than it was before development. 

BREEAM assessment   

The Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) is a sustainability assessment method that sets standards for the 
environmental performance of buildings through the design, specification, 
construction and operation phases and can be applied to new developments or 
refurbishment schemes. It focuses on sustainable value across range of categories: 
energy; land use and ecology; water; health and wellbeing; pollution; transport; 
materials; waste; management. 

Build to Rent 

Homes built specifically for private renting rather than for sale which meet criteria set 
out in Policy H11 Build to Rent in the London Plan 2021.  

Business Eco-System 

A network of organisations, including suppliers, distributors, customers, competitors 
and government agencies, involved in the delivery of a specific product or service. 

Business Improvement District  

A defined area in which a levy is charged on all business rate payers in addition to 
the business rates to develop projects that will benefit businesses in the local area. 

Cash in lieu / commuted sums 

Payments of money received from developers instead of the provision of affordable 
residential units on the development site in the City of London. The money is pooled 
and used by the City Corporation when opportunities to develop affordable housing 
arise. 

CAZ - Central Activities Zone 

The area defined in the London Plan* where planning policy promotes financial and 
business services, specialist retailing, tourist and cultural uses and activities.  The 
City is wholly within the CAZ.  

Changing Places toilets 

These meet the needs of people with profound and multiple learning disabilities, as 
well as people with other physical disabilities such as spinal injuries, muscular 

Page 563



 

218 

 

dystrophy and multiple sclerosis. These toilets provide the right equipment including 
a height adjustable adult-sized changing table, a tracking hoist system, adequate 
space for a disabled person and carer, a peninsular WC with room either side and a 
safe and clean environment including tear off paper to cover the bench, a large waste 
bin and a non-slip floor. 

Circular economy 

An economy which keeps resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the 
maximum value from them whilst in use, then recovering and regenerating products 
and materials at the end of each service life. 

City Flood Risk Area 

Area of the City which is susceptible to flooding from the river Thames, surface water 
or the sewer network. 

CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy 

A statutory charge on new development used to contribute towards the funding of 
infrastructure provision. The City Corporation has prepared a CIL charging schedule 
that was implemented in July 2014. 

City Plan 

Document setting out the statutory local plan, including the strategy, vision and 
policies and proposals for planning the City.  

Comparison goods 

Comparison goods are those bought relatively infrequently, so consumers usually 
compare prices, features and quality before making a purchase. They may include 
items such as clothes, electrical items, household and leisure goods. 

CAAC - Conservation Area Advisory Committee 

A consultative group set up to advise on planning applications and other proposals in 
the City’s conservation areas. 

Construction Logistics Plan  

A travel plan that aims to improve the sustainability of construction freight movements 
by establishing site management and procurement processes to reduce the impact of 
construction traffic on the street network.  

Creative enterprises / Creative industries 

Defined by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport* as those industries which 
have their origin in individual creativity, skill and talent and which have a potential for 
wealth and job creation through the generation and exploitation of intellectual 
property. They include architecture; advertising & marketing; crafts, product, graphic 

Page 564



 

219 

 

& fashion design; film, TV, radio and photography; IT, software & computer services; 
museums, galleries & libraries; music, performing & visual arts, and publishing.  

Culturally significant object 

Objects which people identify and value and which reflect their evolving knowledge, 
culture, beliefs and traditions. 

Culture and Vibrancy Plan 

A Culture and Vibrancy Plan is a flexible framework to support the successful 
incorporation of relevant, enriching and inclusive cultural, leisure and recreation 
components within a major development through a step by step process. It is 
prepared through the development process and the final detail, delivery and ongoing 
management secured through conditions and/or legal agreement. 
 
Decentralised energy 

Energy that is generated close to the place where it is used, so that transmission of 
electricity, heat and other energy carriers are minimised. 

Deconstruction 

The act of breaking down a building into components or dismantling - this allows for 
recycling of the resulting materials. Different to demolition which involves wrecking, 
destroying or tearing down completely. 

DSP - Delivery and Servicing Plan  

A plan that shows how a development will proactively manage delivery and servicing 
arrangements. 

DCMS - Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

The government department of state whose responsibilities include recreation, the 
arts and historic buildings. 

DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities  

The government department of state whose responsibilities include town 
planning. 

Design and Access Statement 

A statement that accompanies a planning application to explain the design principles 
and concepts that have informed the development and how access issues have been 
dealt with. 

Design Council  

Advisor to central and local government on good design. 

Page 565



 

220 

 

Development Management 

The process by which the City Corporation (and, where appropriate, the Mayor of 
London and Secretary of State) determine applications for planning permission and 
related consents. Applications are decided in accordance with the development plan* 
unless material considerations (including the NPPF*) indicate otherwise. 

Development Plan 

The statutory documents that together set out the planning policies for an area. In the 
City the development plan comprises the Mayor’s London Plan* together with the 
City’s City Plan*. 

DPD - Development Plan Document 

Statutory planning policy document whose preparation process includes public 
examination.  There is one adopted DPD in the City: the Local Plan DPD*. 

Embodied carbon 

The total life cycle carbon used in the collection, manufacture, transportation, 
assembly, recycling and disposal of a given material or product. 

Freight consolidation  

Combining goods shipments into fewer deliveries to reduce the number of freight 
vehicles required to service a building. This can be achieved through the physical 
consolidation of goods at an off-site location and/or through methods such as 
preferred supplier schemes and common procurement strategies. 

GLA - Greater London Authority 

The GLA comprises the Mayor of London* (who has an executive role and makes 
decisions on behalf of the GLA) and a separately elected Assembly (a body of 25 
elected Members which has a scrutiny role and is responsible for appointing GLA 
staff). 

Green corridors 

Almost continuous areas of open space which are linked. They can act as wildlife 
corridors and serve amenity, landscape and access routes. 

Green infrastructure 

A strategically planned, designed and managed network of green spaces and other 
features vital to the sustainability of any urban area. This includes (although not 
exclusively) trees, green roofs and walls, green corridors*, and blue infrastructure 
such as water spaces and natural drainage features. 

HRA - Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Page 566



 

221 

 

The purpose of the Habitats Regulations Assessment is to identify any aspects of an 
emerging Local Plan that would have the potential to cause a likely significant effect 
on Natura 2000 or European sites (Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar sites), (either in isolation or in combination with 
other plans and projects), and to identify appropriate avoidance and mitigation 
strategies where such effects are identified. 

There is a legal requirement for all Local Plans to be subject to a HRA, set out within 
Article 6 of the EC Habitats Directive 1992, and interpreted into British law by the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. 

HIA - Health Impact Assessment 

A means of assessing the health impacts of policies, plans and projects using 
quantitative, qualitative and participatory techniques. The HIA of the City Plan is 
incorporated into the Integrated Impact Assessment*. 

Heritage asset 

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions because of its heritage 
interest. Designated heritage assets include World Heritage Sites*, Scheduled 
Monuments, Listed Buildings*, Registered Parks and Gardens, Registered 
Battlefields and Conservation Areas that are ‘designated’ under the relevant 
legislation. Non-designated heritage assets are those which have a heritage interest 
but have not been formally designated. 

Historic England 

The body responsible for advising the government, local authorities and others on 
historic buildings and archaeology. It was previously called English Heritage. 

Hostile vehicle mitigation 

Structural measures that prevent access to, or close proximity of, unscreened 
vehicles to a building or space, or measures that reduce the speed of vehicles 
approaching a site or its defences. 

Housing trajectory 

A projection of the number of new homes expected to be added to the City’s housing 
stock over a given time period. 

Inclusive design 

Inclusive design results in an environment which everyone can use, to access and 
benefit from the full range of opportunities available; confidently, independently, with 
choice and dignity, which avoids separation or segregation and is made up of places 
and spaces that acknowledge diversity and difference, meeting the needs of 
everyone in society. 

Page 567



 

222 

 

Incubator office space 

Dedicated office space aimed at start-ups and normally let for a set period of time. 

Infrastructure 

Term used to describe the facilities and services necessary for people to live their 
everyday lives. Infrastructure can take many forms; it can be defined in physical, 
green and social terms, and can range from strategic provision, such as a new public 
transport facility or school, to the creation of a local play space. 

Infrastructure Funding Statement 

Proposed statutory statement reporting on the level of developer contributions 
received through the Community Infrastructure Levy* and s106 planning obligations 
and setting out spending priorities for the next 5 years. 

IIA - Integrated Impact Assessment 

An assessment process which considers the impacts of policies and proposals within 
statutory plans against environmental, equality, health, and community safety 
objectives. The City Plan 2040 IIA comprises: a Sustainability Assessment and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment - required by EU Directive to assess the social, 
economic and environmental impacts of new policies, It is supported by: 

• an Equality Analysis - related to the City Corporation’s duties under the 
Equalities Act 2010; 

• a Health Impact Assessment*. 

The IIA seeks to assess the impact of the City Plan 2040 and its alternatives and 
identify any potential unintended consequences of its implementation.  

Listed building 

A building or structure protected because of its historic or architectural interest. The 
list of such buildings is drawn up by Historic England* and the Department for 
Culture, Media and Sport*. 

LDD - Local Development Document 

Documents containing policies and guidance, comprising Development Plan 
Documents*, Supplementary Planning Documents* and the Statement of Community 
Involvement*. 

LDS - Local Development Scheme 

Timetable and project plan for producing the City Plan*. It is regularly updated. 

  

Page 568



 

223 

 

LIP - Local Implementation Plan 

Statutory transport plan produced by London Boroughs and the City Corporation 
bringing together transport proposals to implement the Mayor’s Transport Strategy at 
the local level. 

London Plan (Spatial Development Strategy) 

Prepared by the Mayor of London*, it provides a London-wide planning strategy and 
the City’s Local Plan* must generally conform to it. 

London Planning Guidance 

Guidance prepared by the Mayor of London* to explain policies of the London Plan*. 

LVMF - London View Management Framework 

Guidance by the Mayor of London* on the protection of important views, including 
those of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Tower of London. 

Major development 

For a full definition see Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Generally, major developments are:   

• Residential development of 10 or more dwellings or on a site of 0.5 hectares 
or more. 

• Development of other uses, where the floorspace to be created by the 
development is 1,000 square metres or more, or the site areas is 1 hectare or 
more. 

Mayor of London 

The Mayor is the executive head of the Greater London Authority* and is also 
responsible for a number of related organisations, including Transport for London*, 
Homes for London Board and the Metropolitan Police Authority. The Mayor prepares 
London-wide strategies, including those for planning (the London Plan*), transport, 
waste, energy, economic development, housing and air quality.  He has powers to 
direct decisions on large planning applications. 

Meanwhile use 

A use which is to last for a limited time, or one which is limited in its operation for a 
particular period of time. Meanwhile is defined as at or during the same time, while 
something else is being done. 

  

Page 569



 

224 

 

Municipal waste 

Waste collected by a local authority, including domestic waste and street cleansing 
waste. It also includes commercial waste collected by the authority, although waste 
producers may also have this privately collected. 

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 

The government’s statement of planning guidance to local planning authorities, 
issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities*. The latest 
version was published in February 2019. The City Corporation must take account of it 
in preparing and implementing its planning policies. 

Noise Assessment 

A technical assessment which identifies whether the overall effect of the noise 
exposure of a building (including the impact during the construction phase wherever 
applicable) is, or would be, above or below the significant observed adverse effect 
level and the lowest observed adverse effect level for the given situation:  

Significant observed adverse effect level: the level of noise exposure above which 
significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur. 

Lowest observed adverse effect level: the level of noise exposure above which 
adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected. 

Offsetting measures 

The measures permitted for dealing with residual emissions remaining after taking 
account of energy efficiency and decentralised and low carbon energy sources e.g. 
retrofitting works undertaken by a developer to improve the energy efficiency of 
existing buildings in the vicinity of the development; export of low carbon heat from 
the development to other developments; or investment in low carbon community heat 
infrastructure. 

Open space 

Land which is not built on and which has some amenity value or potential for amenity 
value.  Amenity value is derived from the visual, recreational or other enjoyment 
which the open space can provide, such as historic and cultural interest and value. 
This includes open spaces in public or private ownership. 

Permitted development rights  

A national grant of planning permission which allows certain building works and 
change of use to be carried out without having to secure planning permission. 

  

Page 570



 

225 

 

Pipe subway 

Tunnels, mainly under streets, that accommodate utilities such as gas and water 
pipes and electricity and telecommunications cables, providing a more efficient 
alternative to burying these in the ground. 

Planning obligations / s106 agreements 

Legal agreements negotiated between the City Corporation and developers (or 
offered unilaterally by developers) setting out financial and non-financial undertakings 
to mitigate the direct impact of development. Also known as section 106 Agreements, 
or s106 planning obligations.  From July 2014 some financial planning obligations in 
the City have been replaced by the Community Infrastructure Levy*. 

PPG - Planning Practice Guidance 

An online resource which brings together national guidance on various topics in one 
place and explains the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)* in 
more detail. 

Policies Map 

A map accompanying the City Plan* showing where its policies apply to specific 
locations. 

PSC - Principal Shopping Centre 

Significant clusters of retail activity within the City of London, which are the local 
expression of the London Plan’s CAZ Retail Clusters. There are 4 PSCs within the 
City of London: Cheapside, Moorgate/Liverpool Street, Leadenhall Market and Fleet 
Street. 

Public Examination 

The City Plan* will be subject to public examination before an independent planning 
inspector. The inspector assesses the “soundness” of the City Plan. 

Public realm 

Publicly accessible space between and around buildings, including streets, squares, 
forecourts, parks and open spaces. 

Registered Provider 

Not for profit providers of affordable* and other social housing, including housing 
associations and regulated by Government. 

Residential amenity 

The elements of a location or neighbourhood that contribute to its overall character 
and the enjoyment of residents. 

Page 571



 

226 

 

Retail Impact Assessment 

An assessment undertaken for an application for retail use on the impact of the 
proposal on the vitality and viability of existing centres within the catchment area of 
the proposed development. The assessment includes the likely cumulative effect of 
recent permissions, developments under construction and completed developments. 

Safeguarded wharves 

Sites that have been safeguarded for cargo handling uses such as intraport or 
transhipment movements and freight-related purposes. On 19 February 2021, the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities issued Directions for 
safeguarded wharves in London, requiring all planning applications for safeguarded 
wharves to be referred to the Mayor of London. There is one safeguarded wharf in 
the City of London at Walbrook Wharf. 

Safer City Partnership 

A partnership, comprising representatives from a range of City interests, whose aim 
is to reduce the level of crime, disorder, antisocial behaviour, terrorism and 
substance misuse in the City. 

Secured by Design 

A crime prevention initiative, to encourage those involved in the development industry 
to adopt crime prevention measures to assist in reducing the opportunity for crime 
and the fear of crime, creating a safer and more secure environment. 

Short term residential letting 

Letting of residential property on a non-permanent basis. Under the Deregulation Act 
2015, short term residential letting of domestic premises which are liable for council 
tax for less than 90 days in a calendar year does not require planning permission. 
Letting for periods of more than 90 days will require permission. 

SINCs - Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 

London's most valuable places for wildlife that provide local people with access to 
nature have been identified as Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). 
The sites are graded as being of Metropolitan, Borough or Local importance. 

  

Page 572



 

227 

 

Smart infrastructure 

Infrastructure which includes sensors that produce, analyse and help to securely 
share data on the performance of the built and natural environment. 

Social and community facilities 

Social and community facilities are defined by the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 and its subsequent amendments, including the Town and 
Country Planning (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020. The majority of social 
and community facilities fall within Class E (Commercial, business and services), 
Class F.1 (Learning and non-residential institutions) and Class F.2 (Local community 
uses) use classes. Community facilities include:  

• Leisure and cultural facilities (including arts, entertainment and sport facilities)  

• Community centres and meeting places (including places of worship)  

• Libraries  

• Facilities for children (from nursery provision to youth clubs)  

• Education (including adult education)  

• Healthcare facilities  

SCI - Statement of Community Involvement 

A plan for public consultation on planning policy documents and planning 
applications. The City Corporation’s SCI was adopted in 2022. 

Strategic Cultural Areas  

Areas identified in the London Plan* with internationally important cultural institutions, 
which are also major tourist attractions, and include the West End, South 
Bank/Bankside/London Bridge, Barbican, Wembley, the South Kensington museum 
complex/Royal Albert Hall, London’s Arcadia, Olympic Park and Lee Valley Regional 
Park. 

Strategic developments (applications referable to the Mayor)  

The planning applications that must be referred to the Mayor of London* under the 
Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008 and any amendments 
hereto. 

SEA - Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The environmental assessment of plans, required by EU Directive 2001/42/EC. It is 
carried out as part of the sustainability appraisal*. 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

A document prepared by the Local Planning Authority to provide information on areas 
that may flood and on all sources of flooding as required by the NPPF*. 

  

Page 573



 

228 

 

SHLAA - Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  

A technical assessment to determine the quantity and suitability of land potentially 
available for housing development. It is a required part of the evidence base needed 
for the preparation of a Local Plan (as specified in the National Planning Policy 
Framework*, paragraph 67). 

In London, the Mayor of London* carries out a London-wide SHLAA to inform the 
London Plan* as it determines housing targets for each borough and the City of 
London. The City of London City Plan relies on the land availability evidence 
provided by the London-wide SHLAA. 

SHMA - Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

An assessment of future housing requirements in an area. The assessment informs 
the development of local and strategic plan strategies and housing targets and 
identifies the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that the local 
population is likely to need over the plan period including addressing the need for all 
types of housing, including affordable housing and the needs of different groups in 
the community (such as, but not limited to, families with children, older people, 
disabled people, service families and people wishing to build their own homes).  

Street hierarchy 

Categorisation of streets in the City of London Transport Strategy* which describes 
the function of every street in terms of motor traffic: 

• London Access Streets (TfL network):  Preferred streets for motor vehicles 
that do not have a destination in, or immediately adjacent to, the Square Mile. 

• City Access Streets:  Preferred streets for motor vehicles that are travelling 
around the Square Mile or to immediately adjacent destinations.  

• Local Access Streets:  Primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, 
providing access for vehicles to properties. 

SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 

A document that explains the policies of the City Plan* in detail.  It is subject to 
consultation, but not public examination*. 

SA - Sustainability Appraisal 

The City Plan* is subject to SA, which ensures that it is soundly based on the 
principles of sustainable development.  SA is carried out as the policies are 
developed or reviewed so that they can take account of its findings. The SA of the 
City Plan 2040 has been combined with other assessment processes in an Integrated 
Impact Assessment (IIA)*. 

  

Page 574



 

229 

 

SuDS - Sustainable Drainage Solutions 

A range of sustainable measures for surface water management which reduce the 
amount, flow or rate of surface water discharge into sewers. 

Traffic and Environmental Zone 

A security and surveillance cordon that surrounds the City of London. It consists of 
road barriers, checkpoints and closed-circuit television cameras with the aim of 
slowing, managing and monitoring vehicular movements entering the City. 

Transport Assessment 

This is prepared and submitted alongside planning applications for developments 
likely to have significant transport implications. For major proposals, assessments 
should illustrate the following: accessibility to the site by all modes; the likely modal 
split of journeys to and from the site; and proposed measures to improve access by 
public transport, walking and cycling.  

TfL - Transport for London 

The body, under the control of the Mayor of London, responsible for strategic 
transport policy and the provision of public transport, including buses, the 
Underground and the DLR. TfL is the Traffic and Highways Authority for the 
Transport for London Road Network (TLRN) or red routes, and controls all traffic 
signals in London". 

Transport Strategy 

A strategy for the future planning of transport in the City of London which provides a 
25-year framework for future investment in and management of the City’s streets, as 
well as measures to reduce the social, economic and environmental impacts of motor 
traffic and congestion. 

Travel Plan/Cycling Promotion Plan 

A long-term management strategy that includes the promotion of active travel for a 
development. It shall seek to deliver sustainable transport objectives and will be 
regularly reviewed in line with planning obligation requirements. 

Tower of London World Heritage Site Consultative Committee 

A committee of experts and policy makers providing guidance for the preparation and 
implementation of the Tower of London Management Plan, and comprising 
representatives from: Historic Royal Palaces, City Corporation, Historic England*, 
GLA*, International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS), Department of 
Culture, Media and Sport* (DCMS) and the London Boroughs of Southwark and 
Tower Hamlets. 

UNESCO - United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation 

Page 575



 

230 

 

Among UNESCO’s responsibilities are the inscription of World Heritage Sites, which 
include the Tower of London. 

Urban greening  

A process for delivering additional green infrastructure in the City of London. Due to 
the morphology and density of the built environment in the City, green roofs, green 
(or living) walls, street trees, and techniques such as soft landscaping, are the most 
appropriate elements of green infrastructure. 

Urban Greening Factor (UGF) 

A model to assist boroughs and developers in determining the appropriate provision 
of urban greening for new developments. 

Urban heat island 

The height of buildings and their arrangement means that while more heat is 
absorbed during the day, it takes longer to escape at night. As a result, central 
London can be up to 10oC warmer than the rural areas around London. The 
temperature difference is usually larger at night than during the day. The Urban Heat 
Island effect is noticeable during both the summer and winter months. 

Use Classes Order 

A statutory instrument made by the Secretary of State under Section 22 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, subsequently amended several times, setting out 
broad classes of use for land and buildings. 

Viability Assessment 

An assessment of the financial viability of a development to determine the maximum 
level of affordable housing and other policy requirements that can be provided. 

Waste management 

The London Plan’s* definition of waste management includes its use for energy 
recovery or composting or recyclate sorting and bulking but does not include waste 
transfer. 

Wheelchair accessible  

Homes built to Building Regulation Requirement M4 (3) (2) (b): Wheelchair user 
dwellings, where the dwelling is constructed to meet the needs of wheelchair users. 

Also includes hotel rooms which are built to be accessible to wheelchair users. 

Wheelchair adaptable 

Page 576



 

231 

 

Homes built to Building Regulation Requirement M4 (3) (2) (a): Wheelchair user 
dwellings, where the dwelling is constructed to allow simple adaptation to the 
dwelling to meet the needs of wheelchair users. 

Windfall development/sites 

Housing development that does not take place on sites identified in the Development 
Plan* or on the Policies Map* but is brought forward by developers.  

World Heritage Site 

A site inscribed by UNESCO* for its Outstanding Universal Value.  The Tower of 
London, located just outside the City’s boundaries, is designated as a World Heritage 
Site. 

Zero carbon 

Activity that causes no net release of carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gas 
emissions into the atmosphere. 

Zero waste 

Making the most efficient use of resources by minimising the City of London’s 
demand on primary resources, and maximising the reuse, recycling and recovery of 
resources instead of treating them as waste. 

 

Page 577



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 578



1 

City Plan 2040 

City of London Local Plan 

Revised Proposed Submission Draft 

February 2024 

Background Paper: Policies Map Changes 

Appendix 4

Page 579



2 
 

Contents 
Policies Map A ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Tall Buildings, Views and Heritage .......................................................................................................... 8 

Conservation Areas ............................................................................................................................. 8 

London View Management Framework – Protected Vista Landmark Viewing Corridors and 

Protected Vista Wider Setting Consultation ....................................................................................... 9 

St Paul’s Heights Policy Area ............................................................................................................. 10 

Monument Views and Setting .......................................................................................................... 11 

Bevis Marks Synagogue Immediate Setting Area ............................................................................. 12 

Airport Safeguarding Area ................................................................................................................ 13 

Tower of London World Heritage Site – Local Setting Area ............................................................. 14 

Tall Buildings Area ............................................................................................................................. 15 

Policies Map B ....................................................................................................................................... 16 

Key City Places ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

Thames Policy Area ........................................................................................................................... 16 

Thames Tideway Tunnel Safeguarding Area ..................................................................................... 17 

Riverside Walk ................................................................................................................................... 18 

Transport and Servicing ........................................................................................................................ 19 

Crossrail Safeguarding Area .............................................................................................................. 19 

Bank Station/Northen Line Upgrade Safeguarding Area .................................................................. 20 

Strategic Road ................................................................................................................................... 21 

London/Borough Distributor Road ................................................................................................... 21 

Local Distributor Road ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure ................................................................................................ 22 

Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation .............................................................. 22 

Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation ...................................................................... 22 

Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation ........................................................................... 22 

Climate Resilience and Flood Risk ......................................................................................................... 23 

City Flood Risk Area .......................................................................................................................... 23 

Circular Economy and Waste ................................................................................................................ 24 

Safeguarded Wharf ........................................................................................................................... 24 

Retail ..................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Principal Shopping Centre ................................................................................................................. 25 

Housing and Communities .................................................................................................................... 26 

Barbican and Golden Lane Neighbourhood Area ............................................................................. 26 

Identified Residential Areas .............................................................................................................. 27 

Page 580



3 
 

The Temples ...................................................................................................................................... 28 

Policies Map C ....................................................................................................................................... 28 

City Cluster Tall Building Area ............................................................................................................... 28 

Policies Map D ....................................................................................................................................... 28 

Fleet Valley Tall Buildings Area ............................................................................................................. 28 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 581



P
age 582



P
age 583



P
age 584



P
age 585



8 
 

The changes listed below include proposed additions, deletions and amendments to the 

existing Policies Maps A and B. 
 

Policies Map A 

Tall Buildings, Views and Heritage  

Conservation Areas  
Since Local Plan 2015, the Barbican and Golden Lane Conservation Area was added. Consultation is 

ongoing for the proposed Creechurch Conservation Area. Following the consultation, the map will be 

updated to reflect the conservation area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 586



9 
 

London View Management Framework – Protected Vista Landmark Viewing Corridors 

and Protected Vista Wider Setting Consultation 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 587



10 
 

St Paul’s Heights Policy Area 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 588



11 
 

Monument Views and Setting 
No change  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 589



12 
 

Bevis Marks Synagogue Immediate Setting Area 
The Bevis Marks Synagogue Immediate Setting Area was added to the Policies Map. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 590



13 
 

Airport Safeguarding Area 
The London Plan 2021 requires tall buildings to have regard for the Airport Safeguarding Areas of 

London City Airport and London Heathrow Airport. The map has been updated to reflect the two 

areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 591



14 
 

Tower of London World Heritage Site – Local Setting Area 
No change  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 592



15 
 

Tall Buildings Area  
The tall building areas are identified on the Policies Map. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 593



16 
 

Policies Map B 

Key City Places 

Thames Policy Area 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 594



17 
 

Thames Tideway Tunnel Safeguarding Area 
No changes  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 595



18 
 

Riverside Walk 
Small adjustment has been made due to completed construction works at Queenhithe.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 596



19 
 

Transport and Servicing  

Crossrail Safeguarding Area 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 597



20 
 

Bank Station/Northen Line Upgrade Safeguarding Area 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 598



21 
 

Strategic Road 
As part of the Transport Strategy review, it has been renamed to London Access.  

London/Borough Distributor Road 
As part of the Transport Strategy review, it has been renamed as City Access.  

Local Distributor Road 
As part of the Transport Strategy review, all other roads are designated as Local Access streets so 

they do not need to be identified on the map.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 599



22 
 

Open Spaces and Green Infrastructure  

Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation 
No change 

Site of Borough Importance for Nature Conservation 
The SBINCs were added to the Policies Map. 

Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation 
The SLINCs were added to the Policies Map. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 600



23 
 

Climate Resilience and Flood Risk 

City Flood Risk Area 
No change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 601



24 
 

Circular Economy and Waste  

Safeguarded Wharf 
No change  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 602



25 
 

Retail 

Principal Shopping Centre  
As part of a Retail Needs Assessment commissioned from Colliers, the Fleet Street PSC was extended 

eastwards up to Ludgate Hill. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 603



26 
 

Housing and Communities  

Barbican and Golden Lane Neighbourhood Area 
On the 18 July 2023 the City of London Corporation designated the Barbican and Golden Lane 

neighbourhood area. 

 

Page 604



27 
 

Identified Residential Areas 
The identified residential areas were identified on the Policies Map.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 605



28 
 

The Temples 
No change 

 

 

Policies Map C 

City Cluster Tall Building Area 
The contours for the City Cluster Tall Buildings Area are identified with areas appropriate for tall 

buildings of the respective height. 

 

Policies Map D 

Fleet Valley Tall Buildings Area 
The contours for the Fleet Valley Area are identified with areas appropriate for tall buildings of the 

respective height. 

 

Page 606



 

 

Committee(s): 
Planning and Transportation Committee 

Dated: 
21/11/2023 

Subject: Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at 
Bank): Traffic mix and Timing review update 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 9, 11, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N  
Funding agreed August 
2023 
(Option C would save 
approx. £400k) 

If so, how much?  

What is the source of Funding? OSPR  

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Y 

Report of: Interim Executive Director Environment For Decision 

Report author:  
Bruce McVean and Gillian Howard, Environment 
Department 

 
Summary 

The All Change at Bank project is currently in construction and due to be completed 
in Spring 2024. Following a Court of Common Council Motion in April 2022, the 
planned review of traffic and timing restrictions at Bank has been brought forward. 

Early data collection from this review shows daytime taxi volumes in 2022 were 35% 
lower in the Bank area and 27% lower for the City than in 2017. This is in line with 
the reduction in taxi volumes in the West End and the congestion charge area as a 
whole. 

This report, therefore, gives Members the opportunity to accelerate any changes – 
including easing restrictions on taxis across Bank junction - still further. 

Members are asked to select one of the following options for continuing the review: 

• Option A: Continue with the approach agreed by the Court of Common 
Council in July 2023 to collect data and evidence the need for any change 
until May 2024. The likely date for implementation of any changes under 
this option is summer 2025. 

• Option B (Recommended): To immediately restart the modelling of the 
traffic impacts, running this work in parallel with the data collection and 
analysis to identify and evidence the need for change. This has the 
potential to compress the timetable to implementation by up to four months 
(spring 2025).  

• Option C: To stop the review at this point and leave the 7am-7pm, bus 
and cycle only restriction in place. This option would allow approximately 
£400,000 of unspent funds to be returned to the On Street Parking 
Reserve, making them available for other projects, street cleansing or 
highways maintenance. 

 

Page 607

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Any changes to the traffic mix and timings of the restrictions at Bank is a decision for 
TfL and require a Traffic Management Application (TMAN) to TfL, supported by 
evidence, including traffic modelling. Members must also be satisfied that the 
evidence for making a change is robust. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

Members of the Planning and Transportation Committee are asked to: 

1. Note the contents of the report. 

2. Select one of the following options for continuing the review: 

• Option A: Continue with the previously agreed approach of pausing 
traffic modelling to focus on identifying and evidencing the need for 
change and how this can be best addressed.  

• Option B: To immediately restart the modelling of the traffic impacts, 
running this work in parallel with the data collection and analysis. 
(Recommended) 

• Option C: To stop the review at this point and leave the 7am-7pm, bus 
and cycle only restriction unchanged. 

3. Agree on the basis of recommendation 2 that this report is referred to the 
Court of Common Council for consideration.  

  

Page 608



 

 

 
Main Report 

 

Background 
 

1. The All Change at Bank project is currently in construction following approval in 
December 2021. Its objectives are to:  

• Continue to reduce casualties by simplifying the junction. 

• Reduce pedestrian crowding levels. 

• Improve air quality.  

• Improve the perceptions of place. 

2. The layout of the junction is being altered, narrowing the carriageway, and 
increasing the space available for people walking. Threadneedle Street and 
Queen Victoria Street on the approaches to the junction have been closed to 
motor vehicles, providing a safer and more pleasant environment for people 
walking and cycling and opportunities for seating and greening. The operation of 
Princes Street is also modified retaining two-way working for buses and cycles 
only and providing a route for vehicles requiring access to Cornhill. Construction 
is due to be completed in spring 2024. 

3. The 7am – 7pm, buses and cycles only restriction remains in place for vehicles 
crossing the junction (except for access to Cornhill from Princes Street). When it 
was decided to proceed with the All Change at Bank design it was acknowledged 
that there was still a need to review the traffic mix and timing of the altered 
junction. The Streets & Walkways Sub Committee and the Projects Sub 
Committee agreed in September 2021 that the review would begin 12 months 
after the completion of construction, i.e. spring 2025.  

4. A motion was subsequently approved at the Court of Common Council in April 
2022 which included the following requirement in relation to Bank junction: 

“That the Planning & Transportation Committee be requested immediately to 
begin a review of the nature and timing of current motor traffic timing restrictions 
at Bank Junction, to include all options. This review will include full engagement 
with Transport for London and other relevant stakeholders, data collection, 
analysis and traffic modelling. The Planning & Transportation Committee should 
then present its recommendation to this Honourable Court as soon as 
practicable.” 

5. Any changes to the traffic mix and timings of the restrictions at Bank, whether in 
the form or a standard traffic order or an experimental one, will require a Traffic 
Management Application (TMAN) to TfL. This is because Poultry and Cornhill 
form part of the Strategic Road Network and because changes are likely to have 
implications for other streets and junctions in the surrounding area, particularly 
regarding traffic signal timings, including streets that form part of the Transport for 
London Road Network (TLRN) for which TfL is the Highway Authority.  

6. The TMAN process requires traffic modelling to establish the likely journey time 
impacts across the area so that these can be assessed holistically.  In order for 
TfL to agree to any proposed changes they would need to be satisfied that the 

Page 609



 

 

evidence submitted in the application, including evidence of the need for change, 
is robust and meets their traffic management duty under the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984.  

7. Members must also be satisfied that the evidence for making a change is robust. 
The statutory regime puts the consideration of any traffic implications (which 
would result from a change to any traffic orders) at the forefront of decision 
making when discharging the City Corporation's duty set out in Section 122 of the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

8. In February 2023 it was agreed that no further work on the option to reintroduce 
general traffic into Bank would be undertaken. This was based on the likely 
impacts to bus journey times. The review is now focussed on the assessing the 
need for changes to the restrictions to allow access for taxis and/or powered two 
wheelers.  

9. Traffic reviews of this type are usually informed by an identification of an issue or 
issues that needs addressing, for example traffic collisions and casualties, 
volumes of people travelling, equality concerns and/or air quality, the 
development of mitigating measures to address the issue(s) and an assessment 
of the benefits and disbenefits of making a change.  

10. To date, analysis of various data sets has found that the most likely potential 
reason for a change to the mix of traffic at Bank is equality impacts around 
accessibility for people who rely on taxis. The potential benefits of this change, if 
required, will need to be balanced against potential disbenefits for protected 
characteristic groups of any changes. Further work is needed before a conclusion 
can be drawn. 

11. In July 2023 the Court of Common Council agreed to pause further work on the 
traffic modelling exercise and focus on identifying and evidencing the need for 
change and how this can be best addressed. Further work is also needed to 
understand how many taxis are likely to travel through the junction if allowed. 
This is needed to inform the next stage of traffic modelling work and this 
approach will need to be agreed with TfL. The report also set out the timetable for 
delivering change on that basis, which would likely b summer 2025. 

 

Current Position 

12. One of the key pieces of analysis to inform the decision on whether to make any 
changes to the traffic restrictions at Bank will be the Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EqIA). This will consider the benefits and disbenefits for different 
protected characteristic groups of the potential changes to allow taxis and/or 
powered two wheelers through the junction during restricted hours.  

13. Data collection and analysis of taxi availability and journey lengths and costs for 
people who rely on taxis for door-to-door transport is ongoing. This is expected to 
be completed in early December. This analysis will help inform the assessment of 
the equalities benefits and disbenefits.  

14. The following studies, surveys and analyses have been commissioned:  

Page 610



 

 

a. On-street taxi availability (light on vs light off) surveys on the approaches 
to and in the vicinity of Bank and at control locations elsewhere in the City, 
including comparison with surveys undertaken in 2006 and 2016.  

b. Taxi availability via ride hailing apps (e.g. Gett, Free Now and Addison 
Lee) on the approaches to and in the vicinity of Bank and at control 
locations elsewhere in the City.  

c. Comparison of pre- (2017) and post- (2022) pandemic taxi volumes in the 
City of London against data for Oxford Street and Regent Street, central 
London trends and the numbers of licensed taxis and taxi drivers.  

d. City-wide taxi rank occupancy and availability survey.  

e. Journey time surveys.  

15. The interim report summarising the methodology and headline results from the 
data collected and analysed so far is provided in Appendix 1. Data for on-street 
availability, journey times and taxi rank occupancy is still being analysed and is 
not included at this time. Findings to date include: 

a. The average wait times for a taxi hailed via a ride hailing app are between 
three and five minutes with little variation between approaches to Bank 
junction and elsewhere in the City. Average wait times for private hire 
vehicles (e.g. Uber) are longer, between four and 14 minutes, with more 
variation through the day. 

b. In 2022, peak hour (8-10, 12-14, 17-19) average taxi volumes on Oxford 
Street and Regent Street were 26% and 46% below 2017 volumes. By 
comparison, for the same times average volumes were 35% lower in the 
Bank area and 27% lower for the rest of the City.  

c. The volume of taxis entering the congestion charge zone during charging 
hours was 43% lower in the first quarter of 2022 compared with quarter 
one of 2017. 

d. Between 2017/18 – 2021/22 time period, the number of taxi drivers holding 
an All London licence has fallen by 16% and licensed taxi vehicles by 
30%. On 22 October 2023 the number of taxi drivers holding an All London 
licence was 23% below 2017/18 numbers.   

16. We have also requested Taxi Card and Oyster Card data from TfL and London 
Councils to help inform the EqIA. This includes looking at the type of Oyster card 
used on bus services that pass through Bank and at local London underground 
stations to help inform the use of public transport by particular groups, e.g 
Freedom Pass Holders, Disabled Oyster users or Young Persons Oyster users. 

17. Other ongoing workstreams to inform the review include: 

a. Meetings with TfL and the traffic modelling consultant to agree an 
approach to the future modelling requirements of any proposed change to 
the restrictions. This includes discussion to agree a methodology for the 
likely increase in taxi numbers that would travel through the junction if 
permitted.   

b. Engagement with the taxi trade. Officers have met with the London Taxi 
Drivers Association (LTDA) and are arranging meetings with the 

Page 611



 

 

Worshipful Company of Hackney Carriage Drivers and TfL Taxi and 
Private Hire. 

c. Offering a briefing for the City branch of the London Chamber of 
Commerce (City branch) to discuss Bank and any business concerns 
related to this. At the time of writing, we are awaiting dates from the 
Chamber of Commerce.   

 

Options  

18. As previously agreed, and noted above, the review is currently focused on 
identifying and evidencing the need for change and how this can be best 
addressed.  

19. This activity, alongside work to inform the modelling by identifying the likely 
number of taxis that would use the junction if permitted, will be completed in time 
to report to the Planning & Transportation Committee in May 2024 and the Court 
of Common Council in June 2024. Members will then be able to decide whether 
to pursue a change to the restrictions at Bank.  

20. If the decision is to pursue a change to the restrictions, then the traffic modelling 
to assess the traffic impacts will resume. The outcome of the modelling will inform 
a final decision on whether to proceed with making a permanent or experimental 
change, followed by public consultation (for a permanent order) and the 
submission of a TMAN application to TfL.   

21. The additional data collection and analysis, including the EqIA, to inform a 
decision on whether to pursue a change to the restrictions at Bank is still 
ongoing. 

22. An alternative option (Option B, recommended) is to immediately restart the 
modelling of the traffic impacts, running this work in parallel with the data 
collection and analysis.  

23. Restarting the modelling now has the potential to reduce the overall programme 
for the review by up to four months. Although this would be dependent on TfL 
being able to resource the modelling audit at this stage and on agreeing taxi 
numbers that would travel through the junction if permitted.   

24. There is a risk of abortive work and costs (approximately £110,000 to £170,000 
depending on additional data required to progress the traffic modelling work) if 
the decision at the next report is to not make any changes to the current 
restrictions. 

25. A final option (Option C) is to stop the review at this point and leave the 7am – 
7pm, bus and cycle only restriction in place. This option would allow unspent 
funds to be returned to the On Street Parking Reserve, making them available for 
other projects or highways maintenance. The current data collection exercise 
would be completed under this option with the results being used to inform other 
transport planning, initiatives and projects. 

26. This option would recognise that the restrictions have now been in place for over 
six years with positive impacts for people walking, wheeling, cycling, and 
travelling by bus through Bank junction and on surrounding streets and with no 
significant general traffic impacts. 

Page 612



 

 

27. All Change at Bank is significantly changing the layout of the junction. There have 
also recently been significant changes to streets in the wider Bank area, 
particularly the 7am – 7pm restrictions on through motor traffic using 
Bishopsgate. These may, in combination with the Bank restrictions, lead to 
further increases in journey times that exacerbate the negative impacts of the 
Bank restrictions on people who rely on a taxi, car or private hire vehicles for their 
transport. This balance of benefits and disbenefits is due to be assessed through 
the EqIA which forms part of the ongoing review.    

 

Improving access to taxis 

28. At July’s Court of Common Council, a Member asked Officers to identify short-
term measures to improve access to taxis.  

29. Engagement with the taxi trade is ongoing but the following short-term measures 
to improve access have been identified: 

a. Working with BIDs, venues and businesses to raise awareness of taxi 
hailing apps as an alternative to hailing a taxi on-street. As noted above 
and in Appendix 1 average wait times for taxis hailed via an app are 
between three and five minutes. 

b. Providing event venues in the City with details of social media accounts, 
etc that inform drivers of events that are likely to have a high demand for 
taxis. This will allow them to alert drivers when there will be higher demand 
for taxis as events finish.  

c. Sharing details of recent traffic management changes with drivers.  

d. Continuing to share details of temporary traffic management, with drivers 
for example for restrictions associated with street works or construction. 

e. Continuing to review taxi rank provision and explore the potential for new 
ranks in areas that may have a higher demand for taxis, particularly at 
night. 

f. Exploring the potential for rank marshalling to improve late night 
availability and safety at taxi ranks. The City of London Crime Prevention 
Association are currently piloting taxi marshalling at the Liverpool Street 
rank with Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) funding. Through the Safer City 
Partnership, Officers will monitor the results and assess the resources 
required for ongoing provision of a marshalling service.  

30. In addition to the above, upcoming changes in the Bank area are expected to 
increase access to taxis. The Cheapside bus gate will open to taxis (on an 
experimental basis) on 6 November and a new taxi rank to serve the Ned hotel is 
expected to be installed in the week beginning 20 November (subject to no 
objections being received).  

 

 

 

 

Page 613



 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications  

Strategic implications 

31. The extent to which any potential changes contribute to the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan, Transport Strategy and Destination City are being considered as 
the review progresses.   

Financial implications 

32. The total cost of the review and taking forward a proposal to approval to 
implement a change is estimated to be in the region of £643,000 excluding 
costed risk (this includes the £143,000 estimated to have been spent on the 
review to reach the July 2023 Court of Common Council decision).   

33. Table 1 details the estimated profile of expenditure under Option A to reach the 
next set of decision reports based on the current agreed programme. This would 
see any proposal for permanent change through the approvals process within the 
City and within TfL.  Depending on the need for further data collection, there 
could be funding left towards the implementation of any recommended changes.  

34. If it is decided to use an experimental traffic order, there will be other costs 
required after approvals to implement the changes including monitoring, reporting 
and consultation on the experimental scheme.   

35. The traffic modelling exercise needed for either a permanent or experimental 
order is expensive and lengthy because the modelling area for changes at Bank 
is large and covers a high number of signalised junctions.   

36. Other aspects of the estimate include some Officer time, TfL costs for reviewing 
the traffic models, further data collection, consultancy support, stakeholder 
engagement, a public consultation exercise and further reviews of the equalities 
assessment as proposals are developed. The estimated costs are based on 
previous experiences of progressing the Bank model through the TfL audit and 
approval process. 

Table 1 

Option A - estimate to Gateway 5  
  

  

Budget 
£ 

July 2023 to June 
2024 decision report 

£ 

To gateway 5 
£ 

Staff     55,000               12,000        43,000  

Fees    445,000             125,000      320,000  

        

Total    500,000             137,000      363,000  

 

37. If Option B is approved and the traffic modelling work is restarted earlier than 
currently programmed, the total amount of money required is not likely to change, 
but the profile of spend would.  The estimate for this is shown in Table 2. 

 

 

Page 614



 

 

Table 2 

Option B - estimate to Gateway 5  
  

  
  

Budget 
£ 

July 2023 to June 2024 
decision report 

£ 

To gateway 5 
£ 

Staff     55,000               18,000        37,000  

Fees    445,000             290,000      155,000  

        

Total    500,000             308,000      192,000  

 

38. Under Option C the only remaining costs would be the completion of the current 
data collection and analysis which are already committed (approximately 
£104,000 including officer time of the £137,000 in Table 1).  

39. An additional £650,000 of On-Street Parking Reserve has been secured to fund 
the review up to the point that a final decision on whether to change the 
restrictions is made. This includes £150,000 of costed risk given the potential for 
legal challenge of the decision.    

Resource implications 

40. Depending upon the chosen option there is the possibility of requiring more 
internal resource than is currently available. Consideration as to how this is 
managed, for example by reprioritising other work or through additional 
consultancy support, will be required following the decision on how to proceed.   

41. It should also be noted that progressing the traffic modelling work with TfL 
requires them to have sufficient staff resource to undertake their assessment and 
audits. This may be a particular issue if we are to immediately restart the 
modelling process. The capacity of the traffic modelling consultant would also be 
required.      

Legal implications 

42. In exercising the City Corporation’s functions as traffic authority and taking a 
decision on the review, the City are required to comply with the duty in Section 
122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act which requires the traffic authority, in 
exercising its traffic authority functions, to secure the expeditious, convenient, 
and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians), so far 
as practicable having regard to:  

(a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to 
premises.  

(b) the effect of amenities of any locality.  

(bb) national air quality strategy.  

(c) public service vehicles.  

(d) any other relevant matters.  

43. Under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 the public sector equality duty 
requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to: 

Page 615



 

 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

• Advance equality of opportunity and 

• Foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic 
(i.e., race, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy 
or maternity, marriage or civil partnership and gender reassignment) and 
those who do not. 

44. As part of the duty to have “due regard” where there is disproportionate impact on 
a group who share a protected characteristic, the City Corporation should 
consider what steps might be taken to mitigate the impact, on the basis that it is a 
proportionate means which has been adopted towards achieving a legitimate 
aim. 

Risk implications 

45. There are several key risks associated with this review including reputational risk 
and the potential for a legal challenge under all three options. £150,000 of costed 
risk has been allocated to cover potential costs associated with a legal challenge.  

Programme risks 

46. The review is currently on programme to meet the time frame set out in the July 
2023 report to the Court of Common Council. The next decision point, on whether 
to pursue a change to the restrictions, will be the May and June 2024 meetings of 
the Planning & Transportation Committee and Court of Common Council. 

47. If it is decided to change the restrictions at this point then, under the current 
approach (Option A), then changes to the restrictions are likely to be 
implemented in Summer 2025 – if successful in gaining TMAN approval and 
depending on whether it is promoted as an experiment or a permanent change. 
This timetable is largely driven by the time required for the traffic model audit 
process which is likely to take at least 12 months, assuming TfL have the 
capacity to undertake the work. 

48. This timetable could potentially be compressed by three to four months under 
alternative option of immediately beginning the traffic modelling and running this 
in parallel with the remaining data and collection and analysis (Option B). This 
time frame would be subject to TfL resourcing and there is a risk of abortive work 
and costs if it is decided to not pursue any change to the restrictions at Bank.  

49. The timeframes above are similar to the original timeframe for the review that 
was agreed in 2021 before the Court of Common Council motion to begin an 
immediate review. They are 8 – 12 months longer than originally anticipated 
when the review was initiated, when implementation was expected in summer 
2024. It is recognised that these extended timeframes carry a degree of both 
political and reputational risk.  

Equalities implications  

50. Further equalities analysis will be undertaken as the review progresses. 

Climate implications 

51. The extent to which any potential changes contribute to the delivery of the 
Climate Action Strategy will be considered as the review progresses.   

Security implications – N/A 

Page 616



 

 

Conclusion 

52. Data collection and analysis for the review of the traffic mix and timing of 
restrictions at Bank junction is ongoing. This is focussed on taxi availability and 
journey lengths and costs for people who rely on taxis for door-to-door transport 
is ongoing. This analysis will help inform the assessment of the equalities 
benefits and disbenefits.  

53. Work is also underway on determining the likely increase in taxi numbers that 
would travel through the junction if permitted. This will inform the traffic modelling 
that is currently due to be restarted after a decision on whether to pursue a 
change to the restrictions is taken at the May and July 2024 meetings of the 
Planning & Transportation Committee and the Court of Common Council.  

54. While the next major decision point is not due until Spring 2024, Members are 
asked to select one of the following options for continuing the review: 

a. Option A: Continue with the previously agreed approach of pausing traffic 
modelling to focus on identifying and evidencing the need for change and 
how this can be best addressed. This avoids the risk of abortive work and 
costs on modelling if the decision at the next report is to not make any 
changes to the current restrictions. The likely date for implementation of 
any changes under this option is summer 2025. 

b. Option B (Recommended): To immediately restart the modelling of the 
traffic impacts, running this work in parallel with the data collection and 
analysis to identify and evidence the need for change and how this can be 
best addressed. This has the potential to compress the timetable to 
implementation by up to four months (spring 2025). Note that a decision 
on whether to pursue a change would still be required in May/June 2024.   

c. Option C: To stop the review at this point and leave the 7am-7pm, bus and 
cycle only restriction in place. This option would allow approximately 
£400,000 of unspent funds to be returned to the On Street Parking 
Reserve, making them available for other projects or highways 
maintenance. 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1: Bank Junction taxi availability analysis - Interim Report 
 
Background Papers 
 

• All Change at Bank: traffic and timings review plan, Planning & Transportation 
Committee, 7 June 2022 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=128066  

 

• Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank): Traffic Mix and Timing 
Review Update, Planning & Transportation Committee, 7 March 2023 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=137966  

 

Page 617

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=128066
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=137966


 

 

• Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank): Traffic Mix and Timing 
Review Update, Planning & Transportation Committee, 21 June 2023 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=141439  

 

• Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank): Traffic mix and timing 
review update, Court of Common Council, 20 July 2023 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=142436  

 
Gillian Howard 
Head of Transport and Public Realm Projects 
 
E: gillian.howard@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
T: 020 7332 3139 
 
Bruce McVean 
Assistant Director – Policy and Projects 
 
E: bruce.mcvean@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
T: 07928 655907 

Page 618

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=141439
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=142436
mailto:gillian.howard@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:bruce.mcvean@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

  
7 NOVEMBER 2023 PUBLIC 

 

City of London 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI 

AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS 

Interim Report 

 

 

Page 619



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

City of London 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY 

ANALYSIS 

Interim Report 

 
 

PUBLIC 

 

 

TYPE OF DOCUMENT (VERSION) PUBLIC 

 

PROJECT NO. 70116126 

   

 

DATE: 7 NOVEMBER 2023 

 

WSP 

WSP House 

70 Chancery Lane 

London 

WC2A 1AF 

Phone: +44 20 7314 5000 

  

WSP.com 
 

Page 620



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
Project No.: 70116126   7 November 2023 
City of London  

QUALITY CONTROL 

Issue/revision First issue Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 

Remarks     

Date 07/10/23    

Prepared by Amelia 
Edmondson 

   

Signature A.Edmondson    

Checked by Leah Coburn    

Signature     

Authorised by Leah Coburn    

Signature     

Project number 70116126    

Report number V2    

File reference     

 

 

Page 621



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
Project No.: 70116126   7 November 2023 
City of London  

CONTENTS 

1 INTRODUCTION 1 

1.1 OVERVIEW 1 

2 METHODOLOGY 3 

2.1 TAXI RANK SURVEY 3 

2.2 RIDE HAILING APPS 5 

2.3 WESTMINSTER DATA 7 

3 ANALYSIS 10 

3.1 TAXI RANK SURVEY (CAMERAS) 10 

3.2 RIDE HAILING APPS 10 

3.3 WESTMINSTER DATA 15 

3.3.1 OXFORD STREET 15 

3.3.2 REGENT STREET 18 

4 NEXT STEPS 21 

4.1 MANUAL TAXI AVAILABILITY SURVEYS 21 

4.2 JOURNEY TIME DATA 22 

 

TABLES 

Table 3-1 – Comparison between 2017 and 2022/23, for peak hours (approx. 08:00-10:00, 

12:00-14:00, 17:00-19:00)* across multiple sites 20 

 

FIGURES 

Figure 1-1 - Data collection locations for data within the Interim Report 2 

Page 622



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
Project No.: 70116126   7 November 2023 
City of London  

Figure 2-1 - Taxi Rank Survey Locations 4 

Figure 2-2 - Ride Hailing Data Collection Locations 6 

Figure 2-3 - Oxford Street Classified Count Locations 8 

Figure 2-4 – Regent Street Classified Count Locations 9 

Figure 3-1 - Number of taxis arriving at all location by hour 10 

Figure 3-2 – Average wait time for taxi’black cabs 11 

Figure 3-3 – Average wait time for PHV 12 

Figure 3-4 - Average wait time for taxis and PHV in Bank compared to the City 13 

Figure 3-5 – Combined average wait time for taxi/black cabs and PHV 14 

Figure 3-6 - Oxford Street Taxi Numbers Pre to Post Covid 15 

Figure 3-7 - Oxford Street Vehicle Numbers Pre to Post Covid 16 

Figure 3-8 - Percentage Change from Pre to Post Covid for Taxi/Black Cabs and Total 

Vehicles 17 

Figure 3-9 – Total Taxi Count Change Pre to Post Covid 18 

Figure 3-10 – Total Vehicle Count Change Pre to Post Covid 19 

Figure 3-11 - Percentage Change from Pre to Post Covid for Taxi/Black Cabs and Total 

Vehicles 20 

 

APPENDICES 

 

TAXI RANK NUMBER, LOCATION AND COMMENTS 

 

DATES OF DATA COLLECTION  

 

CONGESTION CHARGE ZONE DATA 

 

TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING FIGURES BY YEAR 

 

 

 

Page 623



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
Project No.: 70116126   7 November 2023 
City of London Page 1 of 22 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 OVERVIEW 

Since 2017, a bus and cycle only restriction has been in effect at Bank junction from 7 am to 7 pm, 

Monday to Friday. This was implemented as an experimental traffic order to predominately address 

the poor safety record at the junction. This was made permanent in 2018 and complementary 

interim footway widening was implemented shortly after. The City of London is now midway through 

completion on the All Change at Bank scheme. This will restrict traffic on three of the six arms of the 

junction and create a larger area of public realm space at the centre of the junction. The works are 

due for completion in Spring 2024. The current proposals retain the ‘bus and cycle restriction’ as it is 

on the remaining three arms, but there has been an ongoing commitment to review the traffic mix 

and timings.  

A review is now being undertaken and the primary consideration for change is whether altering the 

traffic mix would address concerns about equality and accessibility for people who rely on taxis over 

those disbenefits for those that use public transport or who walk and cycle.  

WSP have been commissioned by the City to undertake a comprehensive analysis around the 

availability of taxis, and to ascertain if Bank and the wider TfL Bishopsgate restrictions are 

negatively impacting the level of taxi provision in the City. Part of this work includes a comparison 

with taxi availability in the West End.  

This interim report includes initial analysis of the availability of taxis in terms of: 

• Ride Hailing Apps – determining wait time for private hire and black cab services over a 14 

hrs period at a number of locations in the City 

• Taxi Rank usage – surveys at nearly 30 sites in the City to assess how frequently these are 

used by taxis, and frequency of rides being hailed from a rank 

• And a comparison with traffic classification count survey from Westminster, assessing trends 

in taxi volumes over the past five years and proportions of taxis in the traffic mix.  

Human behaviour and decision-making play a significant role in taxi operations. Data alone cannot 

fully account for the unpredictability of passenger demand on a particular day, breaks had by taxi 

drivers, or the impact of special events we aren’t aware of on taxi usage. These human-driven 

factors introduce a level of complexity that may not be fully represented in our dataset. 

This report includes analysis of only part of the data set being collected for this commission. The 

report will be updated with more information on taxi rank surveys, manual taxi availability surveys 

and information on journey times comparisons in the full report expected to be completed in 

December.

Page 624



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
Project No.: 70116126   7 November 2023 
City of London Page 2 of 22 

Figure 1-1 - Data collection locations for data within the Interim Report 

 

P
age 625



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 3 of 22 

2 METHODOLOGY 

2.1 TAXI RANK SURVEY 

34 taxi ranks in the City were identified to be surveyed to see how well they are used (Figure 2-1).  

Of the 34 locations, 28 had complete successful surveys, three had no data, three had incomplete 

data. Site by site break down is available in Appendix A 

The survey recorded:  

• The time when each taxi enters the rank  

• Recorded when each taxi leaves the rank  

• The length of time each taxi spends at the rank  

• Whether each taxi picks up a passenger before leaving the rank  

Ranks were surveyed Wednesday 11 October 2023 for 24hrs.  

Early analysis has been included in this Interim Report, with more detailed analysis to be included in 

the Final Report, due in December. 

Page 626



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 4 of 22 

Figure 2-1 - Taxi Rank Survey Locations 

 

P
age 627



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 5 of 22 

2.2 RIDE HAILING APPS 

Waiting time for a taxi and private hire vehicle via ride hailing apps were captured for each survey 

site in Figure 2-2. This was captured once every 15 minutes between 7am and 1am, occurring on 

Tuesday 17th, Wednesday 18th and Thursday 19th of October 2023 for one neutral day using the 

following apps and services:  

• Free Now  

• Gett  

• Uber  

• Bolt  

• Addison Lee  

Surveys took place at the locations as shown on Figure 2-2. The data analysis has been divided into 

the Bank area (King William Street, Cornhill, Threadneedle Street, Princes Street, Poultry, Queen 

Victoria Street) and those ranks located in other locations in the City.  

The dates they took place are included in Appendix B. These locations correspond to the sites for 

the manual taxi availability surveys. 

 

 

Page 628



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 6 of 22 

Figure 2-2 - Ride Hailing Data Collection Locations 

 

P
age 629



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 7 of 22 

2.3 WESTMINSTER DATA 

The evolution of taxi volumes in Westminster before and after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic 

was investigated by considering several metrics including the proportion of taxis within the overall 

traffic, the absolute number of taxis by day, and data segmented by hourly intervals.  

The classified traffic count data from Westminster covered Oxford Street Pre Covid on 04/05/2017, 

Oxford Street Post Covid on 21/09/2022, Regent Street Pre covid on 26/05/2017 and Regent Street 

Post covid on 20/05/2022.  

These locations were selected from numerous available location counts plotted on a map, and those 

with nearby pre and post covid data selected as pairs.  

Oxford Street counts (Figure 2-3)  

1- A40 Oxford Street / Portman Street / Park Street 

2- A40 Oxford Street / Orchard Street 

4- Oxford Street / Duke Street 

5- Oxford Street / Holles Street 

Regent Street counts (Figure 2-4): 

 

Page 630



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 8 of 22 
 

Figure 2-3 - Oxford Street Classified Count Locations  

  

P
age 631



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 9 of 22 
 

Figure 2-4 – Regent Street Classified Count Locations 

P
age 632



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 10 of 22 
 

3 ANALYSIS 

3.1 TAXI RANK SURVEY (CAMERAS) 

Over the survey period 2002 taxis were recorded at the ranks.  

70% (1402) of the taxis picked up passengers at the taxi ranks, compared to 30% (600) taxis leaving 

without a passenger.  

Early analysis shows that the ranks close to Bank appear to have been very lightly used in the 

survey period. 

The number of taxi’s arriving at any rank peaked at 12:00 to 13:00 and was lowest between 02:00 

and 04:00.  

Figure 3-1 - Number of taxis arriving at all location by hour 

 

Further analysis will be included in the final report. 

3.2 RIDE HAILING APPS 

For this data set the analysis has been divided between the Bank area, and the wider City of London 

sites. Overall, there was very little variation in the wait time for a taxi or private hire vehicle at any of 

the locations surveyed within the City.  

The data has been divided into the Bank area (King William Street, Cornhill, Threadneedle Street, 

Princes Street, Poultry, Queen Victoria Street) and those ranks located in other locations in the City.  

The shortest waiting time for a black cab in the Bank area was 2 minutes and 48 seconds, occurring 

between 00:00 and 01:00. During the same time frame, the average wait for a black cab at the 

broader City of London (City of London) locations was 3 minutes and 48 seconds.  

 

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

 
  
  
  
  
  

                        

Page 633



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 11 of 22 
 

The longest average waiting time for a black cab in the Bank area was observed between 18:00 and 

19:00, with a wait time of 4 minutes and 36 seconds. For the wider City of London locations, the 

average wait time during this period was 5 minutes. 

Figure 3-2 – Average wait time for taxi’black cabs 

 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  
  
 
  
  

                                 

        

Page 634



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 12 of 22 
 

For PHVs, the shortest average wait time in the Bank area was 3 minutes and 12 seconds, taking 

place between 20:00 and 21:00. Concurrently, the average wait for a PHV in the broader City of 

London locations was 3 minutes and 18 seconds. 

In contrast, the longest average wait time for a PHV in the Bank area was 12 minutes and 24 

seconds, recorded between 22:00 and 23:00. During this same time frame, the average wait for a 

PHV in the wider City of London locations was 7 minutes. 

Figure 3-3 – Average wait time for PHV 

 

  

   

   

   

   

   

    

    

    

    

  
  
 
  
  

                      

        

Page 635



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 13 of 22 
 

In summary, the average wait time across the surveyed period for taxis in Bank was 3 minutes and 

36 seconds, mirroring the average wait time in the wider City of London locations. However, the 

average wait time for a PHV in Bank was 7 minutes and 6 seconds, slightly exceeding the wait time 

of 6 minutes and 54 seconds in the wider City of London area.  

Figure 3-4 - Average wait time for taxis and PHV in Bank compared to the City 

 

  

Page 636



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 14 of 22 
 

The average time to wait for either a private hire vehicle (PHV) or taxi at any location in the City was 

4 minutes and 54 seconds. Combined taxi/ black cab wait times shows that wait time is longer at 

end of the working day (17:00-18:00) and peaks again around 22:00-23:00 when it is likely there are 

less vehicles in the area compared to demand. 

Figure 3-5 – Combined average wait time for taxi/black cabs and PHV  

 

  

Page 637



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 15 of 22 
 

3.3 WESTMINSTER DATA 

3.3.1 OXFORD STREET 

Oxford Street in Westminster has experienced a substantial decline in the overall number of taxis 

after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The most significant drop in the number of taxis occurred 

between 17:30 and 18:30, resulting in a 37% decrease. In contrast, the period from 08:30 to 09:30 

witnessed the least decline in taxi numbers, with only an 8% reduction (Figure 3-6). On average, 

across all time intervals, there was a 26% decrease in taxi availability. Oxford Street data is 

represented hour by hour in the graph below, for the two hour AM and PM peaks and the lunchtime 

two hour peaks.  

Figure 3-6 - Oxford Street Taxi Numbers Pre to Post Covid 

 

  

Page 638



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 16 of 22 
 

The broader traffic trends in Westminster show an average 36% decrease in traffic volume from pre-

COVID to post-COVID across all time slots. The most significant drop in the number of vehicles 

occurred between 07:30 and 08:30 where a 42% drop was observed. Between 12:30 and 13:00 saw 

the least reduction in vehicles, at a 29% reduction (Figure 3-9) 

Figure 3-7 - Oxford Street Vehicle Numbers Pre to Post Covid 

 

  

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

                                                      

                                            

                                             

Page 639



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 17 of 22 
 

Figure 3-8 shows that taxi/ black cab numbers have fallen less than total vehicle counts across all 

timeframes.  

Figure 3-8 - Percentage Change from Pre to Post Covid for Taxi/Black Cabs and Total 

Vehicles  

 

  

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

   

  

                                                      

                                             

                                   

                            

Page 640



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 18 of 22 
 

3.3.2 REGENT STREET 

Taxi numbers on Regent Street in Westminster has experienced a 46% decrease after the onset of 

the COVID-19 pandemic compared to pre pandemic. The most significant drop in the number of 

taxis occurred between 08:00 and 09:00, resulting in a 61% decrease, there was a 43% decrease in 

taxis between 13:00 and 14:00, and a 42% reduction between 17:15 and 18:15 (Post Covid: 17:00 

and 18:00).  

Figure 3-9 – Total Taxi Count Change Pre to Post Covid 

 

  

 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

                                            

                       

                                         

                                         

Page 641



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 19 of 22 
 

The broader traffic trends on Regent Street show an average 18% decrease in traffic volume from 

pre-COVID to post-COVID across all time slots. There was a 13% decrease in traffic between 08:00 

and 09:00, a 27% decrease in traffic between 13:00 and 14:00, and a 15% decrease between 17:15 

and 18:15 (Post Covid: 17:00-18:00) (Figure 3-10). 

Figure 3-10 – Total Vehicle Count Change Pre to Post Covid 

 

  

 

   

   

   

   

    

    

    

                                            

                       

                                            

                                                 

Page 642



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 20 of 22 
 

Figure 3-11 shows that taxi/ black cab numbers have fallen more than total vehicle counts across all 

timeframes. This is particularly evident between 08:00 and 09:00 where taxi/ black cab availability 

has fallen over 60%, but vehicle counts only 13% 

Figure 3-11 - Percentage Change from Pre to Post Covid for Taxi/Black Cabs and Total 

Vehicles 

 

Table 3-1 – Taxi number comparison between 2017 and 2022/23, for peak hours (approx. 

08:00-10:00, 12:00-14:00, 17:00-19:00)* across multiple sites 

  
Pre-COVID (2017) 
taxi volumes 

Post-COVID (2022/23) 
taxi volumes Absolute change % change 

Oxford Street 6389 4729 -2660 -26% 

Regent Street*  965 525 -440 -46% 

Bank area 4846 2840 -2006 -41% 

Rest of City 5457 3999 -1458 -27% 

*Regent Street sites peak hour counts were for one hour only  

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

  

                                            
                       

                                             
                                   

                            

Page 643



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 21 of 22 
 

4 NEXT STEPS 

4.1 TAXI RANK SURVEY (CAMERAS) 

For the final report, further analysis will be undertaken looking at individual taxi rank sites and those 

in and around Bank.  

4.2 MANUAL TAXI AVAILABILITY SURVEYS 

Surveys were undertaken to record the number of taxis passing the survey location in both 

directions, whether they have their lights on or off and how many passengers they are carrying.  

Data was collected between 7am and 1am in 15 minute slots on Tuesday 17th, Wednesday 18th, 

Thursday 19th of October, and 2nd November 2023.  

Surveys took place at the following locations (see):  

17th October:  

1. Cheapside  

2. Moorgate  

6. Gresham Street  

7. Gracechurch Street/Fenchurch Street  

18th October: On this day, a high security event took place at Mansion House.  

12. King William Street  

13. Cornhill  

14. Threadneedle Street  

15. Princes Street  

16. Poultry  

17. Queen Victoria Street  

19th October:  

4. Holborn viaduct  

5. Aldersgate Street  

8. Fleet Street  

9. Farringdon Street/New Bridge Street  

20. Chancery Lane  

2nd November:  

3. Bishopsgate  

10. Beech Street/Silk Street  

11. London Wall – Wood Street  

Page 644



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS PUBLIC | WSP 
City of London Page 22 of 22 
 

18. Leadenhall (East of St Mary Axe)  

19. Minories 

Analysis is not yet complete for this data collection but will be available in the final report.  

4.3 JOURNEY TIME DATA 

A series of journey time surveys between the four origin-destination pairs listed below will be 

undertaken in November. Journeys will be made three times per pair and route option (explained 

further below) in each direction between 4pm and 7pm for a total of 66 journeys.   

The origin destination pairs are as follows:  

1. London Bridge to Silk Street (Barbican entrance) (routes one, two and three) 

2. Aldgate Underground to Blackfriars Station (routes one and two) 

3. Fenchurch Street Station to Barts Hospital Main Entrance (routes one, two and three) 

4. Liverpool Street to Queen Victoria Street (Bloomberg) (routes one, two and three) 

The routes are as follows:  

Route one - Take the vehicle through Bank junction  

Route two - Take the vehicle along the fastest route that observes all relevant traffic restrictions in 

place between 7am and 7pm  

Route three - To be taken along Bishopsgate 

 

Page 645



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public 

 
 

 
TAXI RANK NUMBER, LOCATION 

AND COMMENTS 

 

 

Page 646



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

Site Number Taxi Rank Number Location  Comments 

1 01-TR Lindsey Street (east of 
Smithfield Market) 

No Issues To Report 

2 02-TR Silk Street (adj 
Linklaters)  

No Issues To Report 

3 03-TR Sun Street  Taxi Rank Not Surveyed Due To 
 Roadworks From Building Site 

4 04-TR Appold Street No Issues To Report 

5 5&6-TR Liverpool Street (East) No Issues To Report 

6 07-TR Devonshire Square No Issues To Report 

7 08-TR St Mary Axe No Issues To Report 

8 09-TR Leadenhall Street Taxi Rank Closed Off From 08:09 
 Until End of Survey 

9 10-TR Philpot Lane No Issues To Report 

10 11-TR Mincing Lane No Issues To Report 

11 14-TR Fenchurch Place No Issues To Report 

12 13-TR Trinity Square No Issues To Report 

13 15-TR    p  ’  R w No Issues To Report 

14 - 16-TR Minories No Issues To Report 

15  17-TR Lower Thames Street No Issues To Report 

16 18-TR Cornhill No Issues To Report 

17 19-TR Queen Victoria Street  Taxi Rank Not Surveyed As 
 Road Was Closed  

18 20-TR Queen Victoria Street 
(Bloomberg) 

No Issues To Report 

19 21-TR Princes Street  No Issues To Report 

20 22-TR Gresham Street (west 
junc with Old Jewry) 

Approximately Half of Taxi Rank  
Closed Off By Cones With Digger Parked 
 In Taxi Rank 

21 23-TR Gresham Street (west 
Milk Street) 

No Issues To Report 

22 24-TR Cheapside ( One New 
Change)  

No Issues To Report 

23 25-TR S       ’             No Issues To Report 

24 26-TR Queen Victoria Street 
(Church of Scientology) 

No Issues To Report 

Page 647



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

25 27-TR Queen Victoria Street 
(Blackfriars Station) 

No Issues To Report 

26 28-TR John Carpenter Street Taxi Rank Surveyed From 00:00 
-10:22 Only Due To Camera Malfunction  

27 29-TR Tudor Street No Issues To Report 

28 30-TR Limeburner Lane No Issues To Report 

29 31-TR Farringdon Street (opp 
Goldman Sachs) 

No Issues To Report 

30 32-TR St Bride Street Taxi Rank Not Surveyed As 
 Road Was Closed  

31 33-TR Little New Street No Issues To Report 

32 34-TR Farringdon Street (Old 
Fleet Lane)  

No Issues To Report 

33 35-TR Wood Street No Issues To Report 

34 36-TR Crosswall No Issues To Report 

 

 

Page 648



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public 

 
 

 
DATES OF DATA COLLECTION  

 

 

Page 649



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

RIDE HAILING APPS  

17th October:  

1. Cheapside  

2. Moorgate  

6. Gresham Street  

7. Gracechurch Street/Fenchurch Street  

18th October: On this day, a high security event took place at Mansion House.  

12. King William Street  

13. Cornhill  

14. Threadneedle Street  

15. Princes Street  

16. Poultry  

17. Queen Victoria Street  

19th October:  

3. Bishopsgate  

4. Holborn viaduct  

5. Aldersgate Street  

8. Fleet Street  

9. Farringdon Street/New Bridge Street  

10. Beech Street/Silk Street  

11. London Wall – Wood Street  

18. Leadenhall (East of St Mary Axe)  

19. Minories  

20. Chancery Lane  

 

 

Page 650



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public 

 
 

 
CONGESTION CHARGE ZONE DATA 

 

 

Page 651



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

Congestion Charge and Low Emissions Zone 
factsheets 

Date from  to 

Average number of 
Licensed Taxis detected 
(during charging hours 
and on charging days) 

  
01-
Apr 

30-
Jun 

  

Q1 2016 11396 

Q1 2017 11409 

Q1 2018 9796 

Q1 2019 9405 

Q1 2021 5310 

Q1 2022 6585 

Q1 2023 6344 

      

Q1 2020 n/a 

 

Source: Congestion Charge - Transport for London (tfl.gov.uk) 

Page 652

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/congestion-charge


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public 

 
 

 
TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 

FIGURES BY YEAR 

 

 

Page 653



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

Taxis     

Year Vehicles 
Drivers: All 
London 

Drivers: 
Suburban 

Drivers: 
Total 

09/10 22,445 21,334 3,580 24,914 

10/11 22,558 21,499 3,571 25,070 

11/12 23,099 21,690 3,646 25,336 

12/13 22,168 21,733 3,727 25,460 

13/14 22,810 21,876 3,662 25,538 

14/15 22,500 21,724 3,508 25,232 

15/16 21,759 21,500 3,370 24,870 

16/17 21,300 21,274 3,213 24,487 

17/18 21,026 20,803 3,023 23,826 

18/19 20,136 20,301 2,858 23,159 

19/20 18,504 19,642 2,695 22,337 

20/21 13,461 18,341 2,445 20,786 

21/22 14,695 17,361 2,184 19,486 

          

* 22 october  
2023 14,611 15,948 1,879 17,827 

 

Private Hire    

Year Operators Drivers Vehicles 

09/10 2,882 59,191 49,355 

10/11 3,111 61,200 50,663 

11/12 3,164 64,063 53,960 

12/13 3,159 66,975 49,854 

13/14 3,038 65,656 52,811 

14/15 3,006 78,690 62,724 

15/16 2,814 101,434 78,139 

16/17 2,430 117,712 87,409 

17/18 2,373 113,645 87,921 

18/19 2,206 106,777 88,113 

19/20 2,113 111,766 94,712 

20/21 1,955 105,329 77,726 

21/22 1,710 99,937 80,857 

        

* 22 October 
2023 1,670 106,355 90,916 

 

    

Page 654



 

BANK JUNCTION TAXI AVAILABILITY ANALYSIS WSP 
Project No.: 70116126 | Our Ref No.:   7 November 2023 
City of London 

Source TfL:    

Licensing information - Transport for London (tfl.gov.uk)  

    

 

 

 

Page 655

https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/taxis-and-private-hire/licensing/licensing-information


 

PUBLIC 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

WSP House 

70 Chancery Lane 

London 

WC2A 1AF 

 

wsp.com 
 

Page 656



v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
 
Streets and Walkways Sub Committee [for 
decision] 
Projects and Procurement Sub Committee 
Planning and Transportation Committee [for 
decision] 

Dates: 

07 November 
2023 

Delegated 

21st 
November 
2023 

Subject:  
Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan  

. 

Unique Project Identifier: 

PV ID 12240 

Gateway 5: 
Light/ 
Authority to 
start work. 
 

Report of: 

Interim Executive Director Environment 

For 
Decision 

Report Author:  
Stephen Oliver 

. 

PUBLIC 

 

 
 

1. Status Update 
Project Description:  

The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan (HSP) will 
provide a framework for improvements to streets and public 
realm in the area. The proposals will reflect the aspirations 
of stakeholders, including the Fleet Street Quarter Business 
Improvement District (BID), and the opportunities arising 
from development.  

RAG Status: Green as at last report to Committee. 

Risk Status: Low as at last report to Committee. 

Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): 
£276,254 

Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding 
risk): No change.  

Spend to Date: £219,026. 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: None   

Slippage: The Healthy Streets Plan was originally 
programmed to be presented to Streets and Walkways 
Sub-Committee in September 2023. In has been held back 
to ensure the proposals align with those of the BID in their 

Page 657

Agenda Item 7



v.April 2019 

Fleet Street Quarter- Placemaking and Public Realm 
Strategy which is programmed for approval in November 
2023. 

2. Requested 
decisions  

Next Steps:  

A Working Group will be established to guide the 
implementation of the plan. Priority projects will be agreed 
and taken forward in accordance with the project 
procedure. 

Requested Decisions:  

 
1. That Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee approve the 

Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan in Appendix 4. 
2. That the budget adjustment in Appendix 2 is approved. 
3. That the establishment of a Fleet Street Area 

Programme Working Group to guide and manage the 
delivery of projects in the Plan area is agreed, including 
staff costs of £ 57,434 to manage this process for the 
next 12 months, funded from the Plan development 
underspend. 

4. Note the allocation of £1,126,145 of S106 funds towards 
the delivery of projects in the Plan (as approved by this 
Committee on 26 September 2023). 

5. That Planning and Transportation Committee approve 
the Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan in Appendix 
4. 
 

3. Budget See Appendix 2 Finance Table  
 
 

Page 658



v.April 2019 

1.1 Design summary 2 Project Update  
 

2.1 The Healthy Streets Plan sets out an integrated approach 
to improving the public realm and managing traffic to 
support delivery of the following Transport Strategy 
outcomes: 

  

• The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk and 
spend time. 

• Street space is used more efficiently and effectively. 

• The Square Mile is accessible to all. 

• People using our streets and public spaces are safe and 
feel safe. 

• More people choose to cycle. 

• The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter. 

• Delivery and servicing are more efficient, and impacts are 
minimised. 

• Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances. 
 

The proposals will support delivery of the City Corporation’s 
Climate Action Strategy and the Destination City initiative. 
The proposals also support the BID’s Area Based Strategy 
and the objectives of the Fleet Street Key Area of Change. 

 

2.2 Since the Gateway 4 Report was presented to Committee 
in January 2023 a consultation exercise on the draft 
Healthy Streets Plan has been completed. Further traffic 
data and feasibility studies have been carried out for Fleet 
Street and the Whitefriars Neighbourhood. The project 
team have continued to work closely with the Fleet Street 
Quarter BID (BID) to ensure that the proposals in the plan 
align with their proposals and aspirations. 

 

3 Consultation  
 

3.1 A public consultation was carried out over a six-week 
period in May and June 2023. The consultation was via 
an on-line portal supplied by a consultancy, 
Commonplace. On street publicity posters and a leaflet 
drop extending beyond the wider project area promoting 
the consultation were undertaken. Five in-person drop-in 
sessions were also held at different times and locations in 
the area. The consultation was publicised on social media 
by Commonplace and the City’s Communication Team. 
The BID also publicised the consultation to its members. 

 

3.2 The consultation was open to anyone (group or 
individual) and whether a resident, business owner, 

Page 659



v.April 2019 

worker or visitor, with an interest in the area. It was 
designed to gain an understanding of public opinion on 
the proposals, capturing valuable feedback on the 
possible measures being considered in the draft Healthy 
Streets Plan. 

 

3.3 The consultation portal received 597 responses. 
Additional emails to the project team brought responses 
to over 600. The adjoining Boroughs of Westminster and 
Camden also responded.  

 

3.4 The consultation portal requested comments on the five 
neighbourhoods. Respondents had the choice to 
comment on an individual or on multiple neighbourhoods. 
For each neighbourhood there were questions on: 

• Pedestrian Priority Improvements: giving more priority to 
people walking and wheeling and improving their safety. 

• Public realm improvements: to make streets and spaces 
more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend 
time in. 

• Cycling improvements: to improve the comfort and 
safety for people cycling. 
 
There were also questions about proposals that were 
particular to a street or the neighbourhood. Consultees 
could add written comments about the proposals or add 
comments on a map of the area. The summary of overall 
support for proposals are attached as Appendix 3.  

 

3.5 The majority of respondents were male (71%) and the 
most common age group was 25-34. Walking was the 
most common mode of moving around the area with 40% 
of respondents choosing this as their usual mode whilst 
people cycling represented 29%. 

 

3.6 The City of Westminster expressed support for the draft 

Healthy Streets Plan. Camden Council advised that they 

intend to carry out an engagement on the Holborn 

Liveable Neighbourhood early next year. These proposals 

have been discussed with the City, and both boroughs 

will continue the liaison as the proposals continue to 

progress. 

 

3.7 The London Cycling Campaign expressed support for the 
Plan, but caveated this with concerns that segregated 
cycle facilities may not be installed on all the City’s 
Access streets in the plan area. 

 

Page 660



v.April 2019 

3.8 The full consultation report is attached in Appendix 5.   
 

4 Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan 
 

4.1 The Healthy Streets plan has been refined since the draft 
plan presented to Committee in January 2023. The plan 
has responded to the consultation findings and 
undertaken further design and feasibility studies for Fleet 
Street and the Whitefriars Neighbourhood. It has also 
included proposals identified in the Fleet Street Quarter 
BID Placemaking and Public Realm Strategy. (The BID is 
programmed to approve their Strategy in November 
2023). Similar to the draft plan, it is structured around five 
neighbourhoods that are separated by City and London 
Access Streets (as defined by the City of London Street 
Hierarchy).  
 

4.2 The proposals in the plan aim to improve the safety and 
comfort for people walking, wheeling and cycling within 
and between these neighbourhoods. The plan provides a 
framework for improvements and individual projects will 
be subject to funding and the usual project processes and 
approvals.  

 

4.3 A timeframe has been assigned to each project. These 
timeframes reflect the level of complexity of projects and 
interdependencies with other projects and developments 
in the area. The draft final Fleet Street Healthy Streets 
Plan is attached in Appendix 4 and this report seeks 
members approval to adopt the plan. (Track changes 
have been included in order to make the post-
consultation changes more legible). 

 

4.4 On going area wide projects 
 

Some of the proposals in the plan are encompassed in 
existing programmes and initiatives. These include: 
 

• Tree planting as part of Streets and Greening 
Programme  

• Seating which the BID has funded, and the City is 
managing the installation of.  

• Raised junction and continuous footway proposals 
funded from the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes.  

• Cycle, Dockless cycle and E-scooter hire parking from 
Cycle parking programme externally funded by TfL and 
revenue created by e-scooter/e-cycle hire. 

 

Page 661



v.April 2019 

• The Plan also identifies a number of Section 278 funded 
public realm improvements in the area, and these have 
been integrated with other proposals.  
 

4.5 In the sections below the main proposals for each 
neighbourhood and the level of support they received at 
consultation are summarised. From the consultation 
responses possible priority projects are identified but 
these will be agreed by the Fleet Street Area Programme 
Working Group before being reported back to this 
Committee. 
 

5 Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Proposals and 
Consultation Responses. 

 

5.1 Pedestrian priority improvements to be explored include 
raised carriageways, crossing points and vehicle cross 
overs, improved crossing facilities on New Fetter Lane 
and timed vehicle closures at the junction of Breams 
Buildings and Fetter Lane (north). 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 82 supportive 
responses (78% of responses) and 18 non supportive 
responses, 2 of which were from business owners 
concerned about local access being restricted.  

 

5.2 Public realm improvements to be explored include new 
public spaces on Tooks Court, the western end of 
Breems Buildings and the northern end of Fetter Lane 
and new planting and seating where possible and 
additional Legible London signage. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 82 supportive 
responses (83% of responses) and 13 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
merits of spending public money on such improvements).  

 

5.3 Cycling improvements to be explored include improving 
the Chancery Lane cycle contraflow and improving the 
comfort and safety for people cycling on Holborn and the 
Fetter Lane New Fetter Lane corridor.  

 
For these proposals the consultation had 88 supportive 
responses (83% of responses) and 20 non supportive 
responses (these predominantly questioned the need for 
additional cycle infrastructure). 

 

Page 662



v.April 2019 

5.4 Changes to Kerbside Parking and Loading to be explored 
include relocating kerbside parking on Tooks Court and 
the northern of Fetter Lane to create new public spaces. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 67 supportive 
responses (66% of responses) and 15 non supportive 
responses, 3 of which were from local businesses. 
Comments were received requesting more motorcycle 
parking.  
 

5.5 Chancery Lane local traffic restriction and permanent 
public realm improvements. If consultation on the existing 
experimental traffic scheme on Chancery Lane has 
support to be made permanent, public realm 
improvements including pavement widening, seating and 
greening will be explored, and kerbside parking will be 
formalised.  

 

For these proposals the consultation had 76 supportive 
responses (82% of responses) and 10 non supportive 
responses (of these 4 were from taxi drivers, but 6 taxi 
drivers did support the proposal). Other concerns were 
about traffic displacement.  

 
 

5.6 Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Priority Projects 
 

It is considered that consultation responses identified the 
following as priorities to be developed: 
 

• Breems Buildings new public space. Tooks Court new 
public space. Fetter Lane (north) new public space.  
 

5.7 From the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes Programme the 

following projects have already commenced: 

 

• Junction of Furnival Street and Holborn, the carriageway 
will be raised to pavement level. 

• Junction improvements at Fetter Lane and New Fetter 
Lane to create a raised table. 

6 Fleet Street and the Lanes Neighbourhood 
 

6.1 Pedestrian priority improvements to be explored comprise 
a timed traffic restriction on Shoe Lane south of Little New 
Street at lunchtimes and weekends to enable on street 
activities.  

 

Page 663



v.April 2019 

For this proposal the consultation had 101 supportive 
responses (76% of responses) and 24 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
merits of spending public money).  

 

6.2 Public realm improvements to be explored include more 
planting, trees, seating and Legible London signage in the 
neighbourhood. In response to the BID’s Placemaking 
and Public Realm Strategy, feature lighting under Holborn 
Viaduct has been added to the proposals and increasing 
lighting levels in the Lanes will be investigated. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 99 supportive 
responses (81% of responses) and 16 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
merits of spending public money). 

 

6.3 Cycling improvements to be explored include dedicated 
space on Holborn Viaduct and Newgate Street, 
maximising the traffic signal priorities for cyclists at the 
junctions with Holborn Circus and Old Bailey and Giltspur 
Street and Warwick Lane. For Fleet Street the Plan 
recognises the ability to provide dedicated space for 
people cycling may be limited by the need to widen 
pavements and accommodate bus stops and loading. 
Reducing traffic levels will be explored as an alternative 
approach to improve the environment for cyclists.  

 
For these proposals the consultation had 100 supportive 
responses (73% of responses) and 31 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
cyclists already having sufficient facilities and impacts on 
taxis). 

 

6.4 Improvements to Fleet Street to be explored include 
widening paving to improve pedestrian comfort levels and 
enable new planting, seating and improved bus stop 
waiting areas. The introduction on inset loading bays and 
a new crossing facility between Salisbury Court and Shoe 
Lane.   

 
For these proposals the consultation had 100 supportive 
responses (83% of responses) and 17 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
increasing congestion and resulting air quality issues). 

 

Page 664



v.April 2019 

6.5 The project team have consulted TFL about the proposals 
for Fleet Street and discussed the results of modelling 
carried out to date. TFL have indicated that they will resist 
any changes that negatively impact on bus performance 
on Fleet Street. The consultants, NRP, have therefore 
developed some initial options to meet the objectives of 
improving Fleet Street whilst meeting TFL criteria. These 
are not included in the plan as they are still at the early 
stages of development. Improvements to Fleet Street 
have been identified as a priority project for the BID.  

 

6.6 Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood Priority Project 
 

• It is considered that the consultation responses and the 
objectives of the BID identify further design, 
optioneering and feasibility investigation to improve the 
comfort and safety for people walking and cycling on 
Fleet Street as a priority for the neighbourhood.  

 
 

 
 

7 Old Bailey Neighbourhood  
 

7.1 Pedestrian priority improvements to be explored include 
restricting motor vehicles on Old Bailey, south of the 
junction with Limeburner Lane. Raising the carriageway 
to pavement level on Limeburner Lane at the junction with 
Fleet Place. Improving where people cross on Ludgate 
Hill between Pageantmaster Court and Old Bailey.  

 
For these proposals the consultation had 68 supportive 
responses (78% of responses) and 14 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
restricting motor vehicle movements). 

 

7.2 Public realm improvements to be explored include 
widened pavements on Old Bailey south of the junction 
with Limeburner Lane and on Ludgate Hill and new trees, 
greening and seating and additional Legible London 
signage.  

 
For these proposals the consultation had 65 supportive 
responses (86% of responses) and 10 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
reducing carriageway space). 

 

Page 665



v.April 2019 

7.3 Cycling improvements to be explored include dedicated 
space on Ludgate Hill and improving facilities on Old 
Bailey and Limeburner Lane. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 59 supportive 
responses (70% of responses) and 20 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
need for additional cycle facilities).   

 
Feasibility and optioneering for changes to traffic priorities 
on Limeburner Lane have already commenced. These will 
partly determine options for Old Bailey and changes to 
Ludgate Hill.   

 

7.4 Old Bailey Neighbourhood Priority Project 
 

• It is considered that consultation responses to the 
proposals indicate that further design, optioneering and 
feasibility for traffic priorities changes on Limeburner 
Lane should be prioritised.   
 

8 Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood 
 

8.1 Pedestrian priority improvements to be explored include 
changes to permitted traffic movements on Addle Hill, St 
Andrew’s Hill and Deans Court, extending the existing 
Carter Lane timed motor vehicle traffic restriction to 
include Ludgate Broadway and raise the carriageway to 
pavement levels on Pilgrim Street and at the side street 
junctions with Carter Lane and at loading bay entrances. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 68 supportive 
responses (78% of responses) and 4 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
restricting vehicular movements). 

 

8.2 Public realm improvements to be explored include 
introducing small public spaces on Ludgate Broadway, St 
Andrew’s Hill and Playhouse Yard with additional Legible 
London signage and more trees, planting, seating.  
Where feasible additional trees, planting and seating will 
be introduced on Queen Victoria Street. In response to 
the BID’s Placemaking and Public Realm Strategy, 
feature lighting under the railway viaduct over Queen 
Victora Street has been added to the proposals. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 62 supportive 
responses (92% of responses) and 3 non supportive 

Page 666



v.April 2019 

responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
restricting vehicular movements). 

 

8.3 Cycling improvements to be explored include dedicated 
space on Queen Victoria Street and maximising the traffic 
signal priorities for cyclists at the junctions with New 
Bridge Street and Puddledock. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 67 supportive 
responses (81% of responses) and 8 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
need for additional cycle facilities).   

 

8.4 Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Priority Projects 
 
It is considered that consultation responses identified the 
following as the priorities to be developed: 

 

• Ludgate Broadway- design has commenced for this 
project.  

• Addle Hill, St Andrew’s Hill and Deans Court, changes 
to permitted traffic movements. Detailed design and 
implementation.  
 
From the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes Programme the 
following projects have already commenced: 
 

• Junction of Furnival Street and Holborn, raising the 

carriageway to pavement levels. 

 

9 Whitefriars Neighbourhood 
 

9.1 Pedestrian priority improvements to be explored include 
raising pavement levels at junctions with side streets and 
at loading bay entrances in the neighbourhood. Improving 
where people cross on Tudor Street and restricting motor 
vehicles travelling north on Dorset Rise and Salisbury 
Rise between the junctions with Hutton Street and Fleet 
Street. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 75 supportive 
responses (81% of responses) and 16 non supportive 
responses (4 of these were concerns about restricting 
vehicular movements and access to the Temples). 

 

Page 667



v.April 2019 

9.2 Public realm improvements to be explored include 
widening the pavements on Tudor Street, the introduction 
of trees, planting, seating and Legible London signage 
where possible; and improving paving. These 
improvements would not restrict access on Tudor Street. 
On Bridewell Place the introduction of a small public 
space. 

 
For these proposals the consultation had 75 supportive 
responses (84% of responses) and 9 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
reducing carriageway space, cellars under Tudor Street 
and if the proposals were ambitious enough). 

 

9.3 Changes to kerbside parking and loading will be explored 
to allow greater pedestrian priority and space for public 
realm improvements. 

 
For this proposal the consultation had 79 supportive 
responses (73% of responses) and 26 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly concerns about 
parking for delivery vehicles and access to the Temples. 
Of the 9 business owners who responded to the 
consultation 3 supported the proposal and 4 did not 
support the proposal).   

 

9.4 Cycling improvements to be explored include a new cycle 
contraflow on Dorset Rise and Salisbury Court and 
improvements to the existing cycle contraflows on 
Bouverie and Whitecross Street.  

 
For these proposals the consultation had 71 supportive 
responses (71% of responses) and 23 non supportive 
responses (these were predominantly questioning the 
need for additional cycle facilities).   

 

9.5 The draft Healthy Street Plan included exploring existing 
access into the neighbourhood and a potential public 
space at the junction of Temple Avenue and The Victoria 
Embankment. Three binary questions were included in 
the consultation on these issues. 

 

9.6 Existing access into the Whitefriars Neighbourhood. The 
consultation asked if existing access into the Whitefriars 
Neighbourhood for motor vehicles was sufficient for 
residents and businesses. 

 
This question had 64 responses stating that existing 
access is sufficient (74% of responses) and 11 responses 

Page 668



v.April 2019 

stating it was not sufficient. Most residents stated that 
existing access was sufficient and some residents who 
responded commented upon the 60 flats on Temple 
Avenue and felt increased traffic on this street would be 
contrary to the overall objectives of Healthy Streets.  Of 
the 9 business owners who responded 5 felt it was 
sufficient and 4 did not.  

 

9.7 Through traffic into the Whitefriars Neighbourhood. The 
consultation asked if through traffic in the Whitefriars 
Neighbourhood was considered a problem and needed 
restricting.  

 
This question had 55 responses stating that through traffic 
was a problem (60% of responses) and 23 stated it was 
not a problem. Most residents stated that through traffic 
was a problem whilst of the 9 business owners who 
responded 2 supported traffic restrictions and 7 did not.  

 

9.8 Potential Small Public Space on Temple Avenue. The 
consultation asked if a small public space should be 
prioritised over direct vehicle access into the 
neighbourhood from the Victoria Embankment. 

 
This question had 71 responses supporting the public 
space (78% of responses) and 20 responses prioritised 
the direct access. Of the 8 business owners who 
responded 5 supported the direct access and 3 the public 
space. 

 

9.9 Whitefriars Traffic Study June 2023 
 

Funding secured under Section 106 for the Salisbury 
Courts development has enabled a detailed traffic study 
for the Whitefriars Neighbourhood. The traffic consultancy 
NRP were appointed to carry out traffic counts in March 
2023 to inform the project team on traffic movements in 
the neighbourhood. The data was also compared to 
vehicle counts in January 2018. 
 
The study identified the following traffic flows in the 
neighbourhood: 

 

• The journey time results for all survey days 
(Wednesday, Thursday and Saturday), show that over 
80% vehicles pass through the area within 2 minutes. 
This suggests most vehicles move through the 
Whitefriars area without having a purpose within the 
area. The movement with the highest motor vehicle flow 
is from Fleet Street to New Bridge Street. The main 

Page 669



v.April 2019 

reason for this is likely to be because the right-turn from 
Fleet Street eastbound to New Bridge Street 
southbound at Ludgate Circus is prohibited.  

• Motor vehicle flows entering the Whitefriars area in 
March 2023 have reduced by 25% in the AM peak hour 
and by 16% in the PM peak hour compared to the 
January 2018 survey data. 

• The highest 2-way flow on Tudor Street is 176 motor 
vehicles in the AM peak hour and 201 in the PM peak 
hour. 

• Bouverie Street has a southbound flow of 141 motor 
vehicles in the AM peak hour and 138 in the PM peak 
hour. 

• No other street has a motor vehicle flow of more than 70 
vehicles an hour. The streets to the south of Tudor 
Street have very low motor vehicles flows, with less than 
30 vehicles in the AM and PM peak hours. 

 
The study identified origin and destination movements 
from The Victoria Embankment into the neighbourhood: 
 

• The survey data suggests there is not significant 
demand to access Whitefriars from the south of the 
area, with 46, 25 and 4 vehicles going from Victoria 
Embankment to the Whitefriars area across the 8-hours 
surveyed for each of the Wednesday, Thursday and 
Saturday survey days, respectively.  

 
The study recorded kerbside parking usage and potential 
new parking locations: 
 

• The survey data suggested the existing marked 
kerbside bays are all well used with little spare capacity. 

• The survey identified new kerbside parking locations on 
Tallis Street and Carmelite Street and Bouverie Street 
and on Bridewell Place and opportunities to rationalise 
disabled bays on Tudor Street. 

 
The NRP report recommends: 

• Maintaining existing access arrangements between 
Temple Avenue, Carmelite Street and John Carpenter 
Street and Victoria Embankment. 

• Monitoring traffic flows on Tudor Street. If they increase 
to greater than 2,000 motor vehicles per day, review 
options to restrict traffic movement on Tudor Street. 

 
The proposals in the Healthy Streets Plan reflect these 
recommendations. New vehicle ingress and egress 
between the Victoria Embankment and the neighbourhood 

Page 670



v.April 2019 

is not included as a proposal. At present the requirements 
for vehicular access from the south for the Salisbury 
Courts development have not been finalised. If access is 
required for particular vehicles, changes may be required 
at the junction of Carmelite Street and the Victoria 
Embankment. Through traffic will be monitored for 
significant changes in volumes. 

 

9.10 Whitefriars Neighbourhood Priority Projects 
 

It is considered that consultation responses identified the 
following as the priorities to be developed: 

• Tudor Street – Design, optioneering and feasibility to 
widen pavements and make public realm improvements. 

• St Brides Place new public space – Design, 
optioneering and feasibility. 

• Temple Avenue new public space – Design, 
optioneering and feasibility. 
 

From the Healthy Streets Minor Schemes Programme the 
following project have already been commenced. 
 

• Junction of Tallis Street with Temple Avenue raising the 
carriageway to pavement levels.  

 

10 Cost Estimate Range and Funding Sources. 

The programme of estimated projects is between £20m - 
£30m. Going forward funding for projects will be from: 

• Section 106 developer contributions 

• CIL 

• Section 278 developer contributions 

• O.S.P.R. 

• The BID 

• Other external funding sources 

• Cool Streets and Greening. 

4. Delivery team The project will have a delivery team comprising the Transport 
and Public Realm Projects Team supported by Highways and 
City Gardens.  

5. Programme and 
key dates 

The Fleet Street Area Programme Working Group will be 
formed by January 2024. The Programme Working Group will 
identify the projects that will be taken forward as priorities.  
Individual projects will then be initiated as required that form 
the overall programme.  

6. Risks 
As this report is for the adoption of the Healthy Streets Plan, 
the identification of Risks and a Risk Register are not required.  

7. Success criteria 
Key measures of success:  

Page 671



v.April 2019 

• A tested and recommended phasing schedule for the 
projects that will comprise the Fleet Street Area Healthy 
Street Plan. 

• The identification of the number of pedestrian priority 
streets that can be delivered (measured by length) in the 
area. 

• An indication of the reduction in traffic volumes that can 
be achieved in the area. 

8. Progress 
reporting 

The Working Group will recommend how progress is reported 
on the programme and the frequency. 

 

 
 

 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 

Appendix 2  Finance Tables 

Appendix 3 Summary of overall consultation responses.  

Appendix 4  Draft Final Healthy Streets Plan with track changes. 
 

Appendix 5 Fleet Street Healthy Streets Plan Consultation Report  
 

Appendix 6 Whitefriars Traffic Study June 2023 –  
Pages 1-55: 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193203/Appendix%206%20-
%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pa
ges%201-55.pdf 
Pages 56-110: 
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193204/Appendix%206%20-
%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pa
ges%2056-110.pdf  
 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Stephen Oliver 

Email Address Stephen.Oliver@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

  

 

Page 672

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193203/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%201-55.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193203/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%201-55.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193203/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%201-55.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193204/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%2056-110.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193204/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%2056-110.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s193204/Appendix%206%20-%20WHITEFRIARS%20ACCESS%20AND%20PARKING%20ANALYSIS%20pages%2056-110.pdf
mailto:Stephen.Oliver@cityof


 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 

UPI: PV ID 12240 
Core Project Name: Fleet Street and Temples Healthy Streets Plan  
Programme Affiliation (if applicable):  
Project Manager: Stephen Oliver  
Definition of need:  
 
The Fleet Street and Temple Healthy Streets Plan is a key deliverable of the City’s 
Transport Strategy and further supports the Climate Action Strategy in developing 
spaces that are climate resilient. The Healthy Streets Plan also aligns with the 
ambitions for the area, as set out in the Draft City Plan 2040 . The Fleet Street and 
Temples area has seen significant change and will continue to experience 
significant increases in the number of people walking and cycling in the area and 
was therefore identified to need a Healthy Streets Plan. 
 
In December 2020, a Gateway 2 report approved the Fleet Street and Temples 
Healthy Streets project area and funding for Project Management and Consultancy 
Fees. However, unlike the City Cluster Healthy Streets Plan, there was not an 
approved Project Vision to establish principles and objectives to form a framework. 
The draft Project Vision attached in Appendix 4 will establish the framework for the 
Healthy Streets Plan.  
 
The Heathy Streets Plan will identify and develop proposals for schemes, outlining 
the required network changes and creating a high-quality public realm for all those 
who live, work, and visit the area.  

 
The Healthy Streets Plan forms the first phase of delivery and will identify 
temporary and interim changes to the function of the highway network. The 
proceeding phases will deliver the required infrastructure changes to achieve the 
medium and long-term objectives of the proposals. These proceeding phases will 
be set-up as individual Healthy Streets Plan projects, following the completion of 
the first phase.  

 
Due to the forthcoming changes within the Fleet Street and Temple area, the 
Healthy Streets Plan provides the opportunity to support the Fleet Street Estate 
programme and engage with local stakeholders.  
 
Key measures of success:  

• A tested and recommended phasing schedule for the projects that will 
comprise the Fleet Street and Temples Healthy Street Plan. 

• The identification of the number of pedestrian priority streets that can be 
delivered (measured by length) in the area 

• An indication of the reduction in traffic volumes that can be achieved in the 
area 

 

Page 673



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

Expected timeframe for the project delivery: 2 years (Jan 2021 to Feb 2023).  

Extended to May 2023 following delay. 
 

• Key Milestones: Revised-  
 

• Gateway 3/4 – March 2022  November 2022 
• Traffic and pedestrian data collection – Feb- March 2021 September 2022 

• Stakeholder Consultation – April- August 2021 February 2023 (6 weeks) 

• Plan preparation April – Sept – November 2022 June 2023 September 2023 

• Gateway 5 report to committee – Feb 2023  July 2023.  November 2023 

 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? No 

 

COVID19 lock down resulted in the collection of traffic and pedestrian data to be 
delayed until movements could be recorded at realistic levels. Stakeholder 
engagement was also difficult to satisfactorily achieve. 

 

Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
 
No 

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 

Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
‘Project Briefing’ G1 report (as approved by Chief Officer 05/11/2020):  

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £255,000 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: None 

• Estimated Programme Dates: January 2021 – February 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
‘Project Proposal’ G2 report (as approved by PSC 17/12/2020): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £255,006.20 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £87,200 

• Spend to date: N/A 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: None requested 

• CRP Requested: None 

• CRP Drawn Down: None 

• Estimated Programme Dates: January 2021 – February 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
‘Outline Options Appraisal’ G3 (as approved by PSC 08/11/2022): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £241,254 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £154,054 

• Spend to date: £94,392 

• Costed Risk Against the Project: None requested 

Page 674



 
This document can only be considered valid when viewed via the CoL Intranet website. If this is printed 
into hard copy or saved to another location, you must check that the effective date on your copy matches 
that of the one on-line. 

 

V14 July 2019 

 

• CRP Requested: None 

• CRP Drawn Down: None 

• Estimated Programme Dates: January 2021 - May 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
‘Outline Options Appraisal’ G4 (as approved by S&W 17/01/2023): 
• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): £276,254 
• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £154,054 

• Spend to date: £112,771 
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None requested 
• CRP Requested: None 
• CRP Drawn Down: None 
• Estimated Programme Dates: January 2021 - November 2023 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
‘Authority to start Work’ G5 report (as approved): 

• Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): 

• Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk 

• Spend to date:  
• Costed Risk Against the Project: None requested 

• CRP Requested: None 

• CRP Drawn Down: None 

• Estimated Programme Dates:. 
 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: 
 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]: Individual projects 
would be initiated following the adoption of the HSP and delivery plan. <Current 

Range> Programme Affiliation [£]:N/A 
 

 
 

Page 675



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 676



Table 1: Spend to date - Fleet Street and Temple Healthy Streets Plan - 16800440 

Description 
Approved Budget (£)* Expenditure (£) Balance (£) 

P&T Staff Costs                  120,218                   130,424  (10,206) 

P&T Fees                  156,036                     88,602                     67,434  

TOTAL                  276,254                   219,026                     57,228  

    

Table 2: Adjustment Required to reach the next Gateway 

Description 
Approved Budget (£) 

Resources Required 
(£) 

Revised Budget (£) 

P&T Staff Costs                  120,218                     57,434                   177,652  

P&T Fees                  156,036  (57,434)                    98,602  

TOTAL                  276,254                              -                     276,254  

 

 

Table 3: Revised Funding Allocation 

Funding Source 

Current Funding 
Allocation (£) 

Funding 
Adjustments (£) 

Revised Funding 
Allocation (£) 

S106 - Fleetway House - 
06/00613/FULL - LCEIW                    30,413                              -                       30,413  

S106 - Fleetway House - 
06/00613/FULL - Air Quality                      1,613                              -                         1,613  

S106 - Fleetway House - 
06/00613/FULL - Transportation                    11,601                              -                       11,601  

S106 - Rolls and Arnold Buildings 
- 06/01060/FULL - 
Transportation*                             -                                -                                -    

S106 - New Fetter Lane 12-14 - 
08/00778/FULMAJ - 
Transportation 

                 
145,606                              -    

                 
145,606  

Contribution from Salisbury 
Square development                    52,021                              -                       52,021  

Fleet Street Quarter BID 
Contribution                    35,000                              -                       35,000  

Total Funding Drawdown 
                 
276,254                              -    

                 
276,254  

*Funding not currently available as agreement has expired  
 

Appendix 2 

Page 677



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 678



 
 

Overall Sentiment Across All 5 Neighbourhoods 

 

52% Positive (411 responses) / 17% Mostly positive (133 responses) / 11% Neutral (84% responses) / 6% Mostly negative 

(49 responses) / 14% Negative (111) 

 

APPENDIX 3 

P
age 679



 
 

Overall Sentiment Across Each of the Neighbourhoods (actual number of responses shown in brackets) 

 

Carter Lane and Ludgate  

65% Positive (70 responses) / 16% Positive (17 responses) / 10% Neutral (11 responses) / 4% Mostly negative (4 responses) 

/ 6% Negative (6 responses) 

Old Bailey 

57% Positive (64 responses) / 15% Positive (17 responses) / 8% Neutral (9 responses) / 4% Mostly negative (4 responses)/ 

17% Negative (19 responses) 

 

P
age 680



Fleet Street & the Lanes  

50% Positive (104 responses) / 21% Positive (44 responses) / 8% Neutral (17responses) / 5% Mostly negative (10 

responses)/ 16% Negative (34 responses) 

Chancery Lane  

52% Positive (93 responses) / 17% Positive (31 responses) / 14% Neutral (25 responses) / 6% Mostly negative (10 

responses)/ 12% Negative (21 responses) 

Whitefriars  

52% Positive (75 responses) / 16% Positive (23 responses) / 10% Neutral (14 responses) / 6% Mostly negative (9 

responses)/ 16% Negative (23 responses) 

Interactive Map Survey 

15% Positive (5 responses) / 3% Positive (1 response) / 24% Neutral (8 responses) / 35% Mostly negative (12 responses)/ 

24% Negative (8 responses) 

 

 

P
age 681



Overall: Area Relationship 

Workers (35%), visitors (28%) and those travelling through the area (24%) were the three main relationship types to the 

area. 

35% Worker / 28% Visitor / 24% Travelling through / 6% Resident / 4% Business owner / 2% Student / 2% Other 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Worker Visitor Travelling
Through

Resident Business
Owner

Student Other

What is your relationship to the Fleet Street Area?

Fleet Street Relationship

P
age 682



 

1 
 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. The Healthy Streets Approach  ....................................................................................................... 4 

3. Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan Area ................................................................................... 5 

4. Proposals ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1. Chancery Lane Neighbourhood .............................................................................................. 8 

4.1.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................... 8 

4.2. Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood ................................................................................ 11 

4.2.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................. 11 

4.3. Old Bailey Neighbourhood .................................................................................................... 14 

4.3.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................. 14 

4.4. Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood ............................................................................ 16 

4.4.1. Proposals to be explored .............................................................................................. 16 

4.5. Whitefriars Neighbourhood .................................................................................................. 19 

4.5.1. Proposals to be explored .............................................................................................. 19 

5. Streets between neighbourhoods ................................................................................................ 22 

5.1. Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill ................................................................................................. 22 

5.1.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................. 22 

5.2. New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane ......................................................................................... 23 

5.2.1. Proposals to be explored .............................................................................................. 23 

5.3. Holborn and Holborn Viaduct ............................................................................................... 24 

5.3.1. Proposals to be explored .............................................................................................. 24 

5.4. Queen Victoria Street ........................................................................................................... 25 

5.4.1. Proposals to be explored .............................................................................................. 25 

6. London Access Streets .................................................................................................................. 25 

 

 

  

Page 683



 

2 
 

1. Introduction 

This Healthy Streets Plan for the Fleet Street area sets out an integrated approach to 

improving the public realm and managing traffic to support delivery of the following 

City of London Transport Strategy outcomes: 

• The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk and spend time. 

• Street space is used more efficiently and effectively. 

• The Square Mile is accessible to all. 

• People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe. 

• More people choose to cycle. 

• The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter. 

• Delivery and servicing are more efficient, and impacts are minimised. 

• Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances. 

The Plan supports delivery of the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy and 

Destination City initiative. The proposals will transform the quality of streets and 

public spaces and, alongside new developments, they will help create a vibrant area 

of the Square Mile that is a great place to work and a thriving leisure destination, 

including at night-time and weekends. 

The area covered by the plan incorporates the Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of 

Change identified in the draft City Plan 2040 and responds to the significant 

development underway and planned in the area. 

Figure 1 The Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area  

 

 

 
Page 684



 

3 
 

The plan sets out a framework of investment and improvement including public realm 
improvements. This includes supporting and facilitating the Fleet Street Quarter 
BID’s aspirations for the enhancement of the area contained in their Placemaking 
and Public Realm Strategy. The BID will be a key partner as we develop and deliver 
the proposals in the plan. This Healthy Streets Plan does not include proposals for 
privately owned spaces but we will explore opportunities to support private land 
owners and the BID in their efforts to improve publicly accessible spaces. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Fleet Street Quarter- Placemaking and Public Realm Strategy The Fleet 

Street Quarter BID’s strategy for the area is based on:  

• Enhancing connections for people walking and cycling. 

• Nurturing the public realm to make it safer, more vibrant  

and inclusive. 

• Enhancing Biodiversity. 

• Driving activity to create a lively environment to attract visitors. 

 

It aims to re-invigorate the area into becoming a memorable, sustainable and 

vibrant part of London that is welcoming, inclusive, supportive of a variety of uses, 

while providing a high-quality public realm for the area’s remarkable history and 

future. 

 

 

Page 685



 

4 
 

2. The Healthy Streets Approach  

The Healthy Streets Approach is a human-centred framework for embedding public 

health in transport, public realm, and planning. The Approach is based on 10 

evidence-based Healthy Streets Indicators that capture the elements that are 

essential for making streets attractive and accessible places to walk, cycle and 

spend time, and for supporting social and economic activity. 

 

 

 
The Healthy Streets Approach will be applied across the street network with the aim 

of making all streets accessible, engaging and safe places for people to walk, cycle 

and spend time. The approach to achieving this may vary depending on the type of 

street and local context. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 686



 

5 
 

3. Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan area 

The plan area has been divided into five neighbourhoods: 
 
1/ Chancery Lane neighbourhood  
2/ Fleet Street and the Lanes neighbourhood  
3/ Old Bailey neighbourhood  
4/ Carter Lane and Ludgate neighbourhood  
5/ Whitefriars neighbourhood 
 
Each of these is bounded by streets that are defined by the street hierarchy set out 
in the Transport Strategy as London access and City access streets. The London 
access streets are New Bridge Street, Farringdon Street and Victoria Embankment. 
These are streets that need to accommodate motor vehicles that do not have a 
destination in or immediately adjacent to the Square Mile. These streets are 
managed by Transport for London (TfL). The City access streets are Fleet Street, 
Fetter Lane/New Fetter Lane, Queen Victoria Street and High Holborn. These are 
streets that are intended to be used by motor vehicles travelling around but not 
through the Square Mile or to destinations that are immediately adjacent.   
 
All streets within the five neighbourhoods are classified as Local access streets. 
These are streets primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, providing 
access for motor vehicles to properties.  
 
In each of the five neighbourhoods there are opportunities to make walking easier, 
more comfortable and safer, and to create pedestrian priority by redesigning streets 
and managing motor vehicle access. The plan also considers the opportunities 
created by new spaces and walking routes proposed as part of developments.  
 
Improvements to existing streets and spaces and the changes to be created as part 
of new developments will encourage people to explore the neighbourhoods and their 
unique characters. This will help people discover existing public spaces and 
businesses and encourage further activation and investment in these 
neighbourhoods.  
 
  

Page 687



 

6 
 

Figure 2 - The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets five neighbourhoods 

and London and City Access: 

 

 

Page 688



 

7 
 

Figure 3 – The Fleet Street Area Proposed Improvements Within the 

Five Neighbourhoods. 

 

  

Page 689



 

8 
 

4. Proposals  

This section sets out the potential improvements that we will seek to deliver, and, 

where necessary, the changes to traffic movement, parking and loading that might 

be required to deliver these improvements. We will work with TfL, the Fleet Street 

Quarter BID, and other stakeholders and partners to develop and deliver these 

changes. Individual projects will be subject to feasibility, detailed design and 

consultation and the City Corporation’s approval processes.  

4.1. Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: The area has a variety of routes available for people 

walking between Holborn and Fleet Street and between Chancery Lane and New 

Fetter Lane. Within the neighbourhood some pavements are narrow, and many 

streets do not perform well against the Healthy Streets indicators due to pavement 

quality and a lack of trees and seating. On the northern part of Fetter Lane in 

particular, there are high numbers of people walking at peak times. 

The neighbourhood has high quality public spaces at Plough Place and at the Rolls 

Buildings fronting New Fetter Lane and the St Dunstan in the West Burial Ground 

also provides a valuable open space. A new pocket park with planting and seating 

has been installed at the western end of Cursitor Street.  

Traffic management: The central area of the Chancery Lane neighbourhood is 

already largely closed to through traffic. Motor vehicles can only enter the area from 

Fetter Lane and exit via Fetter Lane and Furnival Street.  

Cycling: On the Local access streets low traffic levels make the neighbourhood a 

safe and comfortable environment for people cycling.  

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Existing short stay cycle parking appears well 

used. There are two TfL cycle hire docks in the neighbourhood but there are limited 

facilities for dockless cycle parking or e-scooters hire. 

 

4.1.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Chancery Lane neighbourhood, we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve any areas of poor-quality paving, reduce clutter be removing any 

unnecessary street furniture and signage, and install additional Legible 

London maps and signs to make it easier for people to find their way around.  

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.  

• Provide more priority and space for people walking and improve accessibility 

on the northern part of Fetter Lane, Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, 

Furnival Street and Cursitor Street by raising junctions, side streets and 

loading bay entrances and raising carriageway on streets with very narrow 

pavements. 

Page 690



 

9 
 

• On Fetter Lane, Tooks Court and Breams Buildings explore the opportunities 

to create small public spaces that include seating, planting and trees. 

• Refresh the planting and seating in the St Dunstan in the West Burial Ground.  

• On the northern part of Fetter Lane, Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, 

Furnival Street and Cursitor Street we will explore a timed restriction for motor 

vehicles during the busiest times of day when people are walking. 

• Review existing on street parking. 

• Liaise with the City of Westminster and LB Camden on the potential to 

improve the experience of walking, cycling and spending time on Chancery 

Lane by: 

o Introducing a timed restriction for motor vehicles. 

o Improving the existing cycle contraflow on Chancery Lane and. 

exploring extending this to Fleet Street. 

o Widening pavements and installing more seating, planting and trees.  

o Formalising kerbside loading arrangements. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 1 –Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored.  

Page 691



 

10 
 

Figure 4 - Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

 

Page 692



 

11 
 

4.2. Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: Pavements and carriageway have recently been 

substantially upgraded with high quality materials and raised carriageway 

treatments. However, there are few trees and limited seating.  

High-quality public spaces have been created at the western end of St Brides Street, 

and in the New Street Square development. The laneways off Fleet Street provide 

several intimate public spaces.  

Consented major developments at Thavies Inn Court and Stonecutter Lane will 

create new high-quality spaces and improve the walking experience on St Andrews 

Street, the southern section of Shoe Lane and St Brides Street. These improvements 

will also create opportunities for activation such as lunchtime and weekend events.  

During the consultation some respondents noted concerns about low lighting levels 

contributing to negative  perceptions of personnel security in some of the laneways 

north of Fleet Street.  

Cycling: Within the neighbourhood low traffic levels provide a safe and comfortable 

environment for people cycling. 

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Existing short stay cycle parking is mainly 

located on the periphery of the neighbourhood and appears well used. There are two 

TfL cycle hire docks in the neighbourhood but there are few facilities for parking 

dockless cycles or e-scooters. 

Traffic management: Traffic access is limited to streets off New Fetter Lane with 

associated low traffic levels for access and servicing. 

4.2.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the public realm and experience of spending time on Shoe Lane, 

Little New Street, St Andrews Street, Wine Court and Gunpowder Square by 

installing new seating, sustainable drainage (SuD’s), or in ground planting and 

trees. 

• Refresh the planting and seating in the garden of St Andrew Church Holborn. 

• Make the area easier to navigate by installing additional Legible London maps 

and signs on Shoe Lane, Little New Street, St Andrews Street and Wine 

Court. 

• Give more priority to people walking and support activations by introducing 

timed restrictions for motor traffic at lunchtimes and weekends on Shoe Lane. 

• Improve lighting levels in the laneways. 

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays. 

• Restricting motor traffic between Little New Street and Shoe Lane if traffic 

changes on Fleet Street are expected to increase potential for through traffic. 

• Introduce a pay and display parking space in Gough Square. 

Page 693



 

12 
 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 2–Fleet Street and the Lanes 

Neighbourhood proposals to be explored. 

  

Page 694



 

13 
 

Figure 5 - Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

   

Page 695



 

14 
 

4.3. Old Bailey Neighbourhood  

Walking and public spaces: Old Bailey is the route for people walking north-south, 

but in places on its eastern side has a narrow pavement. The western side includes 

new and improved public spaces, but relatively few trees. People can walk east-west 

via the private Fleet Place development which has a publicly accessible lift to 

Farringdon Street near to Old Fleet Lane. The Fleet Place development also 

provides laneways north and south and a valuable public space, although poor 

wayfinding means that its full potential is not obvious to people unfamiliar with the 

area. A consented major development on Farringdon Street and Holborn Viaduct will 

provide a publicly accessible lift which will create an accessible connection between 

these two streets.  

Cycling: Cycle facilities on Old Bailey and a contraflow on Limeburner Lane ensure 

the area is accessible to people cycling. 

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking is limited to locations to the 

periphery of the area. There is no TfL cycle hire docking stations and limited parking 

for dockless cycles and e-scooters. 

Traffic management: Old Bailey at the junction with Limeburner Lane has a point 

closure restricting south bound traffic movements and Limeburner Lane is one-way 

south bound. Despite this, both streets, which are classified as local access streets, 

are currently used by through traffic.  

4.3.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Old Bailey Neighbourhood, we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking on Old Bailey 

south of the junction with Limeburner Lane by:  

o Reducing through traffic or restricting vehicles to local access only. 

o Widening pavements or by raising the carriageway, SuD’s or in ground 

planting and tree planting and additional seating.  

• Improve accessibility on Limeburner Lane at the junction with Fleet Place by 

raising the crossing point. 

• Make the area easier to navigate by installing additional Legible London maps 

and signs.  

• Retain and improve the cycle facilities on the southern part of Old Bailey and 

Limeburner Lane. 

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays in 

the area. 

• Install a feature lighting installation under Holborn Viaduct. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 3 –Old Bailey Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored. 

 

Page 696



 

15 
 

 

Figure 6 - Old Bailey Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

Page 697



 

16 
 

 

 

4.4. Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood  

Walking and public spaces: Blackfriars Lane, Ludgate Broadway and 

Pageantmaster Court provide walking links from Blackfriars Station but crossing 

facilities on Queen Victoria Street and Ludgate Hill are limited and require 

improvement. Carter Lane west of Burgon Street is a pedestrian zone and is closed 

to vehicles between 9am and 6pm. Step free access between the neighbourhood 

and New Bridge Street is possible with a public lift on Pilgrim Street but is not well 

sign posted.. The lack of active frontages on Waithman Street and Pilgrim Street 

may mean that these streets do not always feel safe paces to walk. Blackfriars Lane 

south of Playhouse Yard provides a poor-quality environment for people walking and 

does not encourage the use of this as a route from Queen Victoria Street. 

Ludgate Broadway has temporary seating and planting installed as part of the City 

Corporation’s Covid-19 response. The platform over the Thameslink railway lines 

between the two flights of stairs at Apothecary Street will be improved with seating 

and planting as part of a development in the area. 

Cycling: Existing traffic restrictions make the neighbourhood comfortable for cycling 

although the people walking and cycling may compete for space on narrow lanes.   

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking is limited to locations on the 

periphery of the area. There is one TfL cycle hire docking station, but no dockless 

cycle and e-scooter hire parking. 

Traffic Management: Existing traffic management and permanent traffic restrictions 

restrict all vehicle movements in the neighbourhood to local access only.  

4.4.1. Proposals to be explored 

Within the Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking by raising the 

carriageway on streets with very narrow pavements and low traffic levels, 

including Carter Lane, Pageantmaster Court, Pilgrim Street, Blackfriars Lane 

and Ludgate Broadway. Where raising the carriageway is not possible or 

appropriate junctions and crossing will be raised to pavement level.  

• Improve the public realm and the experience of spending time on streets by 

installing seating, SuD’s or in ground planting and trees where space permits 

on Ludgate Broadway, Blackfriars Lane, St Andrew’s Hill and Playhouse Yard 

and Waithman Street.  

• Install a public realm art intervention on the wall on Blackfriars Lane between 

Queen Victoria Street and Playhouse Yard. 

• Improve signage to make it easier to find the pedestrian lift on Pilgrim Street.  

• Refresh the planting and seating in the churchyard of St Anne Blackfriars and 

St Anne Blackfriars Ireland Yard.  

Page 698



 

17 
 

• Additional cycle parking on Blackfriars Lane and, Ludgate Broadway and 

cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire parking on the eastern 

part of Carter Lane. 

• Extend the timed traffic restrictions for motor vehicles on Carter Lane to cover 

Ludgate Broadway. 

• Introduce additional restricted turns on Addle Hill, St Andrew’s Hill and Dean’s 

Court to reduce through traffic in the area.  

• Review and formalise on-street loading to support proposals to provide more 

space for people walking and public realm improvements. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 4 – Carter Lane and Ludgate 

Neighbourhood proposals to be explored. 

Page 699



 

18 
 

Figure 7 – Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

 

P
age 700



 

19 
 

4.5. Whitefriars Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: The neighbourhood’s grid of streets provides a range 

of options for people walking through the area. There has been very little public 

realm improvement in the area in recent years. However, the Salisbury Court 

development will create new step free laneways between Whitefriars Streets and 

Salisbury Court and improve the quality of the public ream on surrounding streets. 

Generally, streets currently lack raised side-street entrances and junctions and 

Bouverie Street and Whitefriars Street have narrow pavements in some places. 

There is limited planting and few trees. St Brides Churchyard is the main public 

space along with the recently created public space at the southern end of John 

Carpenter Street.  

Cycling: The neighbourhood is bordered by cycleways on Victoria Embankment and 

New Bridge Street, with Tudor Street providing a connection between these routes. 

Both Bouverie and Whitecross Street have cycle contraflows which are also well 

used. There is a generally good environment for cycling due to low vehicle levels and 

speeds.  

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking in the area is well used. There 

are two TfL cycle hire docking stations in the neighbourhood but few bays for 

dockless cycle or e-scooter hire. 

Traffic Management: While access is limited neighbourhood is permeable to 

through traffic and currently need to remain so due to there being no right turn at the 

junction of Fleet Street and New Bridge Street. There is no vehicular access into the 

area from the Embankment but from 2024 vehicles exiting via Carmelite Street will 

be able to head both east and west. 

4.5.1. Proposals to be explored. 

• Improve the quality and accessibility of the walking route between Blackfriars 

Station and Fleet Street and Shoe Lane by raising junctions and crossings to 

pavement level and installing trees, planting seating and additional Legible 

London on Watergate, Kingscote Street, Tudor Street, Dorset Rise and 

Salisbury Court.  . This improved route would link with a potential new 

crossing on Fleet Street to connect with Shoe Lane.  

• Improve the experience of walking and spending time on Tudor Street by 

widening pavements, raising junctions, crossings and loading bay entrances 

to pavement level and installing seating, SuDs or in ground planting and trees. 

This would include reviewing the need for or change to the City of London 

Police check point to support improvements for people walking and cycling.  

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking by raising the 

carriageway on Temples Lane, Lombard Lane and Pleydell Court and Bride 

Lane. 

• Upgrade the paving and raise crossings, junctions and loading bay entrances 

on Bouverie Street.  

• On Bridewell Place explore the opportunities to create a small public space 

that includes seating, planting and trees. 

Page 701



 

20 
 

• Install seating, SuD’s or in ground planting and trees on Temple Avenue, 

Tallis Street, Carmelite Street, John Carpenter Street, and refresh the planting 

and seating in St Brides Churchyard.  

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays, 

including on Tudor Street, Temple Avenue, John Carpenter Street, Carmelite 

Street, Tallis Street and Dorset Rise.  

• Retain and improve existing cycle contraflows on Bouverie and Whitecross 

Street and introduce cycle contraflow on Dorset Rise and Salisbury Court.  

• Review the amount and location of payment, disabled and motorcycle parking 

to ensure appropriate provision and the potential for changes to support the 

provision of more space for people walking and public realm improvements.   

• Continue to monitor and review motor traffic passing through the 

neighbourhood. 

 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 4 – Whitefriars Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored. 

Page 702



 

21 
 

Figure 9 - Whitefriars Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

   

P
age 703



 

22 
 

5. Streets between neighbourhoods 

The streets between the various neighbourhoods are classified as London access 

and City access in the City of London Transport Strategy. The extent of change 

possible on these streets will be dependent on the need to accommodate vehicle 

movement, including for buses. It is accepted that the need to improve the comfort 

and safety of people walking and cycling and enhance the public realm may impact 

on motor traffic.  

5.1. Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill 

Strategic policy: Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill are identified in the Transport 

Strategy for walking improvements (2019-2030), proposed Phase 2 cycle network 

improvements, and a potential bus priority corridor. The corridor forms part of the 

Lord Mayor’s Show processional route and has planning controls protecting views of 

St Pauls Cathedral. The Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change also identifies 

Fleet Street as a Principal Shopping Centre.  

Walking and public spaces: Pedestrian comfort levels in some locations along the 

corridor are below B+ and peak time overcrowding will increase when consented 

developments in the area are completed. There is no planting, few places to sit, and 

the bus stops do not have shelters. Pavement conditions are poor in places. There 

are several formal crossing points at the main junctions. However, a well-used 

crossing point between Salisbury Court and Shoe Lane has no facilities.   

Cycling: There are no dedicated cycling facilities on Fleet Street and on Ludgate Hill 

there are advisory cycle lanes. The junctions have advanced stop lines. In many 

places the carriageway is in poor condition. Pavement widths preclude cycle parking 

along the corridor. 

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. There are no 

inset loading bays. 

Police check points: There are Police check points at both ends of Fleet Street and 

on Ludgate Hill, west of Limeburner Lane.  

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junctions of Fleet 

Street with Bouverie Street and Chancery Lane, with New Bridge Street and the 

junction of Ludgate Hill and Old Bailey. 

5.1.1. Proposals to be explored.  

On Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill, we will explore the potential to: 

• Widen pavements to provide more space for people walking and to 

achieve a minimum pedestrian comfort level of B+, based on current and 

future demand.  

• Install seating, SuD’s or in ground planting and trees (where they do not 

impact on the processional route and views of St Pauls Cathedral) and 

Page 704



 

23 
 

reduce clutter by rationalising signage and removing any redundant 

signage.  

• Install new crossings on Fleet Street to link Salisbury Court and Shoe Lane 

and on Ludgate Hill between Pageantmaster Court and Old Bailey. 

• Improve the existing crossing at the junction of Fetter Lane and Fleet 

Street. 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety, recognising the ability to 

provide dedicated space for people cycling may be limited by the need to 

widen pavements and accommodate bus stops and loading. 

• Retain and improve existing bus stops. Maximise opportunities for bus 

priority and journey time improvements without the bus lane which would 

need to be removed to facilitate pavement widening. 

• Review the City of London Police check point facilities on Fleet Street and 

Ludgate Hill to support improvements for people walking and cycling.   

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision 

Zero Action Plan. 

• Formalise loading arrangements with timed restrictions and loading bays 

set into the pavement to maximise space for people walking when not in 

use. 

• Continue to work with TfL to improve the comfort and safety of people 

crossing at Ludgate Circus. 

5.2. New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane  

Strategic policy: The New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane corridor is identified in the 

Transport Strategy for proposed Phase 2 cycle network improvements by 2035. 

Walking and public spaces: The pavements of New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane 

corridor are generally wide but there are few trees and places to rest. There is only 

one formal crossing point but at peak times popular crossing points are between 

Plough Place and Bartlett Court and between Bartlett Passage and Thavies Inn 

House.  

Cycling: People cycling have no protected space, and there are no bus routes on 

this corridor. There is advanced cycle stop lines at the junctions with Holborn Circus 

and Fleet Street. There is limited dockless cycle parking at Rolls Building.  

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. Businesses at 

the southern end of Fetter Lane have kerbside servicing during the day.  

Police check points: There is a Police check points at the northern end of New 

Fetter Lane. 

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junction of New 

Fetter Lane and Bartlett Court.  

5.2.1. Proposals to be explored 

On New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane we will explore the potential to: 

Page 705



 

24 
 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by installing seating, SuD’s 

or in ground planting and trees where space permits and removing redundant 

signage to reduce clutter. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

• Improve crossing points between Plough Place and Bartlett Court and 

between Bartlett Passage and Thavies Inn House. 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety including reviewing signal priorities 

for cyclists at the junctions with Holborn Circus and Fleet Street.  

• Review of the City of London Police check point facilities to support 

improvements for people walking and cycling. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotspots identified in the Vision 

Zero Action Plan. 

5.3. Holborn, Holborn Viaduct  

Strategic policy: Holborn is a shared boundary street with the LB Camden and 

improvements will be identified and carried out in partnership with them. The Holborn 

and Holborn Viaduct corridor has been identified in the Transport Strategy for Phase 

2 cycle network improvements by 2035.  

Walking and public spaces: At the junction with New Fetter Lane high quality 

public spaces have been created. The pavements on the rest of Holborn and 

Holborn Viaduct lacks this quality with no trees and only bus stop shelters provide 

the opportunity to rest. Not all the side roads have continuous pavement treatments. 

Cycling: There is no dedicated or protected space for people cycling although they 

can use bus lanes. On the south side of Holborn and Holborn Viaduct these 

incorporate with an advisory cycle lane. All arms of Holborn Circus have advanced 

cycle stop lines. Considerable cycle parking is available on the central island of 

Holborn, but none is available for dockless cycles and e-scooter hire parking.  

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. There are no 

inset loading bays. 

Police check points: There is a Police check point on Holborn Viaduct. 

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at Holborn Circus and 

New Gate Street with Warwick Lane.  

 

5.3.1. Proposals to be explored. 

On Holborn and Holborn Viaduct we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by widening pavements, 

installing seating, SuD’s or in ground planting and trees and removing 

redundant signage to reduce clutter. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

Page 706



 

25 
 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety by introducing protected space for 

people cycling. Improve signal priorities for people cycling at the junctions with 

Holborn Circus and Old Bailey and Giltspur Street and Warwick Lane. 

• Provide additional short stay and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire parking. 

• Review of the City of London Police check point facilities to support 

improvements for people walking and cycling. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision Zero 

Action Plan. 

• Formalising loading arrangements with timed restrictions and loading bays set 

into the pavement to maximise space for people walking when not in use 

• Retain and improve existing bus stops. 

5.4. Queen Victoria Street 

Strategic policy: Queen Victoria Street has been identified in the Transport Strategy 

for Phase 1 cycle network improvements by 2028. 

Walking and public spaces: The pavements on both sides of Queen Victoria are 

wide and generally have high quality paving. There are some street trees but no 

places to rest.. Not all the side roads have continuous pavement treatments. 

Cycling: There are only short advisory cycling lanes at the west end of Queen 

Victoria Street. There is a TfL cycle hire docking stations and some cycle parking. 

Kerbside loading: Commercial uses fronting Queen Victoria do not appear to 

require kerbside servicing.  

Collison locations: A collision ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junction of 

Queen Victoria Street and New Bridge Street. 

5.4.1. Proposals to be explored. 

On Queen Victoria Street we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by installing seating, SuD’s 

or in ground planting and trees where space permits and removing redundant 

signage to reduce clutter. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

• Improve the safety and experience of people cycling by providing protected 

space for people cycling. Install additional cycle parking and dockless cycle 

and e-scooter hire parking. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision Zero 

Action Plan. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 6 –City Access Streets - proposals 

to be explored. 

5.5. London Access Streets 

Page 707



 

26 
 

New Bridge Street and Farringdon Street corridor and the Victoria Embankment 

Street are part of the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN) and are managed 

by TfL. On these streets the Corporation will work in partnership with TfL to identify 

opportunities for improvements, including addressing collision hotspots identified in 

the Vision Zero Action Plan. 

Page 708



 

27 
 

 

Table 1 –Chancery Lane Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation  

Dependencies 

CL1 -Chancery 
Lane  

Widened pavement between Carey Street 
and Southampton Buildings.  
New seating, SuDs or in ground planting 
and trees. Removal of redundant street 
clutter. Continuous pavement treatment at 
the junction with Southampton Buildings.  
 
Extend the cycle contraflow between 
Holborn and Fleet Street. Additional short 
stay cycle and dockless parking and 
parking for e-scooters. 

Timed restriction for motor traffic.  
Exemptions: local access, cycles, 
emergency vehicles and taxis. Formalised 
kerbside loading. 
 
Camera enforcement at Carey Street and 
north of Southampton Buildings 
. 

Formalise loading By 2026  Chancery Lane 
Experimental 
Traffic Changes. 
  

CL2 Junction of 
Breem’s 
Building and 
Fetter Lane 
(north).  

 
 
Continuous pavement crossing at the 
junction of Fetter Lane, New Fetter Lane 
and Breams Buildings  

(ii) Introduction of a time restriction for 
motor vehicles at the junction of Fetter Lane 
and Bream’s Buildings. Restrictions could 
apply to:  
Fetter Lane (north of Bream’s Buildings), , 
Norwich Street, Tooks Court, Furnival 
Street and Cursitor Street. Exemptions: 
local access, cycles, emergency vehicles 
and taxis. 

Review on street 
parking. 

(i) By 2024 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

CL3 -Fetter Lane 
(North section) 
 

New small public space including seating, 
and planters at the northern end.  
 
Localised pedestrian priority interventions 
including raised junctions and crossing 
points Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 
and new paving where required. Removal 
of redundant street clutter.  
 

 Relocation of motorcycle 
parking to create public 
space. 
 
 

By 2025  

P
age 709



 

28 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation  

Dependencies 

Additional short stay cycle and dockless 
parking and parking for e-scooters 

CL4 -Norwich 
Street 

Localised pedestrian priority interventions 

including raised junctions and crossing 

points Continuous pavement treatment and 

tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 

and new paving where required Removal of 

redundant street clutter 

  By 2026  

CL5 -Furnival 
Street   

Localised pedestrian priority interventions 
including raised junctions and crossing 
points Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 
and new paving where required Removal of 
redundant street clutter. 

  By 2024  

CL6 -Bream’s 
Buildings 

(i) New small public space including 
seating, and planters at the western end.  
 
(ii) Localised pedestrian priority 
interventions including raised junctions and 
crossing points Continuous pavement 
treatment and tactile paving over loading 
bay entrances. and new paving where 
required Removal of redundant street 
clutter 

 Possible small 
relocation of disabled 
parking . 

 

(i) By 2025 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

CL7 -Took’s 
Court 

New small public space including seating, 
and planters.  

 Explore relocation of 
motorcycle parking. 

By 2025 The new public 
space is 
dependent on 
relocating the 
motorcycle 
parking. 

CL8 -
Southampton 
Buildings 

 
Additional Legible London. 

 Possible additional 
motorcycle parking. 

By 2025  

 

P
age 710



 

29 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2 - Fleet Street and the Lanes Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

FSL1 -Shoe 
Lane  

New seating, SuDs or in ground planting 
and trees. 

(i)Potential for timed restriction for motor 
traffic at lunchtimes and weekends. 
 
 
(ii) Traffic restriction between Shoe Lane 
and Little New Street.. 

None (i) By 2028 
 
 
(ii) By 2026 

CA1 – Changes 
to traffic 
management on 
Fleet Street and 
New Fetter Lane 
may require 
additional 
restrictions on 
Shoe Lane at the 
junction with Little 
New Street. 
Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic. 

P
age 711



 

30 
 

FSL2 -Little New 
Street 

New seating, SuDs or in ground planting 
and trees. 

  By 2028 Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic.  

FSL3 -St Andrew 
Street 

New seating, SuDs or in ground planting 
and trees. 

  By 2028 Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic.  
 

FSL4 -Wine 
Office Court 
 
 

New seating and Legible London   By 2028 Anticipated 
developments in 
the area will 
include improving 
this site. 

FSL5 -Gun 
Powder Square 
 

Additional planting.   By 2028 Anticipated 
developments in 
the area will 
include improving 
this site 

FSL6 -East 
Harding Street 
 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL7 -West 
Harding Street 
 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL8 -Thavies 
Inn 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL9 -Gough 
Square 

Additional pay and display parking   By 2025  

  

P
age 712



 

31 
 

Table 3 - Old Bailey Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

OB1 -Old Bailey 
(south of 
Limeburner Lane) 

(i) Widened pavements or raised 
carriageway and new paving. New seating, 
SuDs, or in planting and trees. In ground 
infrastructure for on street activisation.  
 
(ii) Additional on street short stay and 
dockless cycle and e-scooter parking. 

Measures to reduce traffic south of 
Limeburner Lane including filtering north 
bound traffic to restrict it to local access 
only. Retain and improve the cycle facility 
on the southern part of Old Bailey.  

  (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 
 
(ii) By 2026 

OB2 and OB3 – if 
alternative north 
and south traffic 
movements are 
feasible on 
Limeburner Lane 
and Warwick 
Lane. 

OB2 -Junction of 
Warwick Lane 
and Newgate 
Street 

  Explore changes to permitted traffic turning 
movements and required junction 
improvements. 
 

 (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 

OB1 and OB3 – 
changes to the 
junction only 
required if OB1 
and OB2 are 
implemented.  

OB3 -Limeburner 
Lane 

(i) Raised junction and crossing point. 
Additional on street short stay and dockless 
cycle and e-scooter parking.  
 
(ii) Additional Legible London. 

Explore changes to traffic priorities.Retain 
and improve the cycle contraflow on the 
southern part of and Limeburner Lane or  
possible change to the direction of the cycle 
contraflow subject to traffic management 
options.  

 (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 
 
(ii) By 2026 

OB2 – Warwick 
Lane. 

OB4 -Old Fleet 
Lane 

(i) Additional Legible London. 
 
(ii) Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over entrance. 

  (i) By 2026 
 

(ii) By 2027 

 

OB5 -Old Seacoal 
Lane 

Raised carriageway and new surfacing   By 2027  

OB6 -Fleet Place Additional Legible London. 
 

  By 2026  

OB7-Farringdon 
Street / Holborn 
Viaduct 

Feature lighting under viaduct   By 2026  

P
age 713



 

32 
 

 

Table 4 Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

CL1 -Carter Lane 
(Between 
Burgon Street 
and Godliman 
Street) 

(i) Potential raised carriageway and new 
surfacing in keeping with Carter Lane east 
of Burgon Street or localised pedestrian 
priority intervention including raised 
junctions or crossing points.  
 
(ii) New seating, SuDs or in ground 
planting, and trees. Removal of redundant 
street clutter. New short stay and dockless 
cycle parking and e-scooter parking. 

  
 

(i) By 2026 
 
(ii) By 2025 
 
 
 

 

CL2 -St 
Andrew’s Hill  

. 
New tree planting 

  (i) By 2024  

CL3 -Addle Hill 
and St Andrew’s 
Hill. 

 Left turn ban. Enforced by signage.  (i) By 2024  

CL4 -Dean’s 
Court 

(i) Raised carriageway and new surfacing. (ii) No entry from St Paul’s Churchyard. 
Enforced by signage. 

 (i) By 2026 
 
(ii) By 2024 

 

CL5 -Ludgate 
Broadway 

New public space including raised 
carriageway and new surfacing. New 
seating, SuDs or in ground, planting, and 
trees. Removal of redundant street clutter. 

Potential for the Carter Lane timed 
restriction for motor traffic extended to 
include Ludgate Broadway. Exemptions: 
local access, cycles, emergency vehicles, 
taxis, access for disabled drop-off/pick-up 
and disabled parking. 
Enforced by signage. 

 By 2025  

CL6 -
Pageantmaster 
Court and 
Pilgrim Street 

(i) Raised carriageway and new surfacing 
or a raised junction. 
(ii) Additional signage to the Pilgrim Street 
lift. 

  (i) By 2025 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

P
age 714



 

33 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

CL7 -Blackfriars 
Lane  

(i) Art installation on the wall adjoining the 
railway lines on Blackfriars Lanebetween 
Queen Victoria Street and Playhouse Yard. 
SuDs and in ground planting if feasible. 
Removal of redundant street clutter 
Additional Legible London. 
 
(ii) Continuous pavement treatment at the 
southern end. 

  (i) By 2026 
 
 
(ii) By 2024 

 

CL8 -St Anne 
Blackfriars and 
St Anne 
Blackfriars 

Ireland Yard.  

Refresh planting and seating.   By 2025  

CL9 -Underside 
of railway bridge 
over Queen 
Victoria Street 

Feature lighting to illuminate under the 
bridge. 

  By 2026  

CL10.-
Blackfriars 
Court 
 

Refresh planting and seating. Close 
underpass entrance and find alternative 
use. 

  By 2026  

Table 5 –Whitefriars Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored.  

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

      

W1 -Watergate 
and Kingscote  

Improvements including SuDs or in ground 
planting and trees at the junction of 
Watergate with New Bridge Street. Legible 
London. 

. Explore the possible 
removal of payment 
parking (1-2 spaces). 

By 2026 Public realm 
improvements are 
dependent on 
relocating 
parking. 

P
age 715



 

34 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

W2 -Tudor Street New crossing facility to link between 
Kingscote Street and Dorset Rise. . 
Continuous paving, raised crossing 
treatments over all side street junctions. 
Review of the City of London Police check 
point facilities. 
 
Pavement widening to enable new seating, 
SuDs or in ground planting and street trees. 
New short stay and dockless cycle parking 
and e-scooter parking. 
 

 Explore the possible 
relocation of 6 payment 
parking spaces and 3 
taxi waiting spaces. 

Design, 
optioneering and 
feasibility 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 

Public realm 
improvements are 
dependent on 
relocating 
parking. 

W3 -Dorset Rise 
and Salisbury 
Court 

Between Hutton Street and Tudor Street, a 
raised junction or crossing point or, a raised 
carriageway and new surfacing between 
Tudor Street and the raised carriageway 
treatment for the Salisbury Court 
development.  
 
New seating, SuDs ornew planting and 
street trees. New short stay and dockless 
cycle parking and e-scooter parking. 
Legible London. 
 

North bound traffic restriction north of Hutton 
Street. Cycle contraflow 

Explore the relocation of 
motorcycle parking 
opposite Dorset 
Buildings and near the 
junction with Tudor 
Street.  
 
On Salisbury Court 
removal of doctors 
parking bay and 
reallocation as a loading 
bay. 

By 2026  

W4 -Bouverie 
Street 

Pavement improvements, continuous 
pavement treatments on side roads and 
removal redundant of street clutter. 

Cycle contraflow retained and improvements 
investigated.  

 By 2026  

W5 -Temple 
Avenue  

Potential new open space at the southern 
end with new seating, SuDs or in ground 
planting and trees. New short stay and 
dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking. . Legible London. 

 Explore the possible 
relocation of blue badge 
parking. 

By 2025  

W6 -Bridewell 
Place  

New public space including new seating, 
SuDs or in ground planting and trees. 
 

  By 2025  

P
age 716



 

35 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

W7 -Tallis Street (i) Continuous pavement treatment.  
 
(ii) New seating, planting and trees, SuDs 
or in ground planting. New short stay and 
dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking. 

 Explore the introduction 
of further payment and 
blue badge parking.  

(i) By 2024 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

W8 -Carmelite 
Street 

Continuous pavement treatment. New 
seating, planting and trees, SuDs or in 
ground planting. New short stay and 
dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking.  

 Explore the introduction 
of further payment and 
blue badge parking. 

By 2026  

W9 -John 
Carpenter Street 

Continuous pavement treatment. New 
seating, SuDs or in ground planting, trees, 
new short stay and dockless cycling and e-
scooter parking. 

 Explore the possible 
loss of payment parking. 

By 2026 Relocation of 
payment parking. 

W10 -Temple 
Lane and 
Lombard Lane  

Raised carriageway and new surfacing.   By 2027  

W11 -Bride Lane  Raised carriageway and new surfacing.   Implementation 
by 2026 

 

W12 -St Brides 
Avenue and 
Churchyard 

Improved planting and seating.    Implementation 
by 2025 

 

      

  

P
age 717



 

36 
 

Table 6 –City Access Streets - proposals to be explored.  

Street Potential public realm 
improvements 

Potential changes to traffic 
management and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Programme for 
Improvement 

Programme of 
Improvements 

Dependencies 

CA1 -Fleet 
Street 

Widened and improved 
pavements, new seating, 
SuDs, or in ground planting, 
and trees. Removal of 
redundant street clutter.  
 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking 

Removal of east bound bus 
lane. 
 
Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
Fetter Lane Whitefriars 
Street. 
. 

Formalising loading 
arrangements with timed 
restrictions and loading bays 
set into the pavement to 
maximise space for people 
walking when not in use. 
 
Changes to traffic priorities at 
the junctions with Fetter Lane 
and Ludgate Circus to benefit 
bus performance. 
 
Review of the east and west 
City of London Police check 
point facilities.  

A new pedestrian 
crossing between 
Salisbury Court and 
Shoe Lane.  
 
Safety improvements 
at the junction of Fleet 
Street and Fetter 
Lane. 
 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 
. 
 

Feasibility and 
design 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 

Removal of the 
Police check 
points. 

CA2 -Ludgate 
Hill (Primary 
Resilience 
Network 
Street). 

Widened and improved 
pavements, new seating. 
Removal of redundant street 
clutter. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
 
. 

Formalising loading 
arrangements with timed 
restrictions and loading bays 
set into the pavement to 
maximise space for people 
walking when not in use. 
 
Changes to traffic priorities at 
the junctions with Ludgate 
Circus to benefit bus 
performance. 
 
Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 
 

A new pedestrian 
crossing facility 
between 
Pageantmaster Court 
and Old Bailey. 
 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 
. 

Feasibility and 
design 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 
 

OB1 Old Bailey 
and OB3 
Limehouse 
Lane. The 
crossing 
between 
Pageantmaster 
Court and Old 
Bailey may 
require fewer 
turning 
movements 
into Old Bailey. 

CA3- New 
Fetter Lane  

Improved pavements, new 
seating, Sud’s, or in ground 

Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 

Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 

New pedestrian 
crossing facilities 
between Plough Place 

Feasibility and 
design 2025 
 

 

P
age 718



 

37 
 

Street Potential public realm 
improvements 

Potential changes to traffic 
management and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Programme for 
Improvement 

Programme of 
Improvements 

Dependencies 

planting and trees. Removal 
of redundant street clutter. 

Holborn Circus and Fleet 
Street. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

and Bartlett Court; and 
between Bartlett 
Passage and Thavies 
Inn House. 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Implementation 
by 2030 
 

CA4 -Holborn 
/ Holborn 
Viaduct 

Improved pavements, new 
seating, SuD’s, or in ground 
planting and trees. Removal 
of redundant street clutter. 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
Holborn Circus and Old 
Bailey and Giltspur Street 
and Warwick Lane. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 

A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Implementation 
by 2035 

CA1 -Fleet 
Street. 
Changes to 
east bound 
traffic 
movements 
may increase 
traffic at 
Holborn 
Circus. 

CA5 -Queen 
Victoria Street 

New seating, SuD’s or in 
ground planting and trees. 
Removal of redundant street 
clutter. 
 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
New Bridge Street and 
Puddleduck. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

 A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Feasibility and 
design 2026 
 
Implementation 
by 2028 

 

 

P
age 719



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 720



 

1 
 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. The Healthy Streets Approach  ....................................................................................................... 4 

3. Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan Area ................................................................................... 5 

4. Proposals ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1. Chancery Lane Neighbourhood .............................................................................................. 8 

4.1.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................... 8 

4.2. Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood ................................................................................ 11 

4.2.1. Proposals to be explored. ............................................................................................. 11 

4.3. Old Bailey Neighbourhood ................................................................................................ 1413 

4.3.1. Proposals to be explored. ......................................................................................... 1413 

4.4. Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood .................................................................... 161515 

4.4.1. Proposals to be explored .......................................................................................... 1615 

4.5. Whitefriars Neighbourhood .............................................................................................. 1918 

4.5.1. Proposals to be explored .......................................................................................... 1918 

5. Streets between neighbourhoods ............................................................................................ 2221 

5.1. Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill ............................................................................................. 2221 

5.1.1. Proposals to be explored. ......................................................................................... 2221 

5.2. New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane ..................................................................................... 2322 

5.2.1. Proposals to be explored .......................................................................................... 2322 

5.3. Holborn and Holborn Viaduct ........................................................................................... 2423 

5.3.1. Proposals to be explored .......................................................................................... 2423 

5.4. Queen Victoria Street ....................................................................................................... 2524 

5.4.1. Proposals to be explored .......................................................................................... 2524 

6. London Access Streets .............................................................................................................. 2524 

 

 

  

Page 721



 

2 
 

1. Introduction 

This Healthy Streets Plan for the Fleet Street area sets out an integrated approach to 

improving the public realm and managing traffic to support delivery of the following 

City of London Transport Strategy outcomes: 

• The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk and spend time. 

• Street space is used more efficiently and effectively. 

• The Square Mile is accessible to all. 

• People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe. 

• More people choose to cycle. 

• The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter. 

• Delivery and servicing are more efficient, and impacts are minimised. 

• Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances. 

The Plan supports delivery of the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy and 

Destination City initiative. The proposals will transform the quality of streets and 

public spaces and, alongside new developments, they will help create a vibrant area 

of the Square Mile that is a great place to work and a thriving leisure destination, 

including at night-time and weekends. 

The area covered by the plan incorporates the Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of 

Change identified in the emerging draft City Local Plan 2040 and responds to the 

significant development underway and planned in the area. 

Figure 1 The Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area  

 

 

 

Page 722



 

3 
 

The plan sets out a framework of investment and improvement including public realm 
improvements. This includes supporting and facilitating the Fleet Street Quarter 
BID’s aspirations for the enhancement of the area contained in their Area 
BasedPlacemaking and Public Realm Strategy. The BID will be a key partner as we 
develop and deliver the proposals in the plan. This Healthy Streets Plan does not 
include proposals for privately owned spaces but we will . explore opportunities to 
support private land owners and the BID in their efforts totheir efforts to improve 
publicly accessible spaces. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Fleet Street Quarter- Placemaking and Public Realm Strategy An area based 

strategy for the Fleet Street Quarter 

The Fleet Street Quarter BID’s vision strategy for the area is based on:  

• Enhancing connections for people walking and cycling. 

• Nurturing the public realm to make it safer, more vibrant  

and inclusive. 

• Improving the public realmEnhancing Bbiodiversity. 

• Encouraging activation. Driving activity to create a lively environment to 

attract visitors. 

• Connecting to surrounding neighbourhoods. 

It aims to re-invigorate the area into becoming a memorable, sustainable and 

vibrant part of London that is welcoming, inclusive, supportive of a variety of uses, 

while providing a high-quality public realm for the area’s remarkable history and 

future. 

 

 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Commented [OS1]: Plan image to change 

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or

numbering

Page 723



 

4 
 

2. The Healthy Streets Approach  

The Healthy Streets Approach is a human-centred framework for embedding public 

health in transport, public realm, and planning. The Approach is based on 10 

evidence-based Healthy Streets Indicators that capture the elements that are 

essential for making streets attractive and accessible places to walk, cycle and 

spend time, and for supporting social and economic activity. 

 

 

 
The Healthy Streets Approach will be applied across the street network with the aim 

of making all streets accessible, engaging and safe places for people to walk, cycle 

and spend time. The approach to achieving this may vary depending on the type of 

street and local context. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 724



 

5 
 

3. Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan area 

The plan area has been divided into five neighbourhoods: 
 
1/ Chancery Lane neighbourhood  
2/ Fleet Street and the Lanes neighbourhood  
3/ Old Bailey neighbourhood  
4/ Carter Lane and Ludgate neighbourhood  
5/ Whitefriars neighbourhood 
 
Each of these is bounded by streets that are defined by the street hierarchy set out 
in the Transport Strategy as London access and City access streets. The London 
access streets are New Bridge Street, Farringdon Street and Victoria Embankment. 
These are streets that need to accommodate motor vehicles that do not have a 
destination in or immediately adjacent to the Square Mile. These streets are 
managed by Transport for London (TfL). The City access streets are Fleet Street, 
Fetter Lane/New Fetter Lane, Queen Victoria Street and High Holborn. These are 
streets that are intended to be used by motor vehicles travelling around but not 
through the Square Mile or to destinations that are immediately adjacent.   
 
All streets within the five neighbourhoods are classified as Local access streets. 
These are streets primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, providing 
access for motor vehicles to properties.  
 
In each of the five neighbourhoods there are opportunities to make walking easier, 
more comfortable and safer, and to create pedestrian priority by redesigning streets 
and managing motor vehicle access. The plan also considers the opportunities 
created by new spaces and walking routes proposed as part of developments.  
 
Improvements to existing streets and spaces and the changes to be created as part 
of new developments will encourage people to explore the neighbourhoods and their 
unique characters. This will help people discover existing public spaces and 
businesses and encourage further activation and investment in these 
neighbourhoods.  
 
  

Page 725



 

6 
 

Figure 2 - The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets five neighbourhoods 

and London and City Access: 

 

 

Page 726



 

7 
 

Figure 3 – The Fleet Street Area Proposed Improvements Within the 

Five Neighbourhoods. 

 

  

Page 727



 

8 
 

4. Proposals  

This section sets out the potential improvements that we will seek to deliver, and, 

where necessary, the changes to traffic movement, parking and loading that might 

be required to deliver these improvements. We will work with TfL, the Fleet Street 

Quarter BID, and other stakeholders and partners to develop and deliver these 

changes. Individual projects will be subject to feasibility, detailed design and 

consultation and the City Corporation’s approval processes.  

4.1. Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: The area has a variety of routes available for people 

walking between Holborn and Fleet Street and between Chancery Lane and New 

Fetter Lane. Within the neighbourhood some pavements are narrow, and many 

streets do not perform well against the Healthy Streets indicators due to pavement 

quality and a lack of trees and seating. On the northern part of Fetter Lane in 

particular, there are high numbers of people walking at peak times. 

The neighbourhood has high quality public spaces at Plough Place and at the Rolls 

Buildings fronting New Fetter Lane and the church yard of St Dunstan in the West 

Burial Grounds also provides a valuable open space. A new pocket park with 

planting and seating has been installed at the western end of Cursitor Street. 

Temporary seating and planting have been installed at the eastern end of Cursitor 

Street, initially as part of the City Corporation’s Covid-19 response. 

Traffic management: The central area of the Chancery Lane neighbourhood is 

already largely closed to through traffic. Motor vehicles can only enter the area from 

Fetter Lane and exit via Fetter Lane and Furnival Street.  

Cycling: On the Local access streets low traffic levels make the neighbourhood a 

safe and comfortable environment for people cycling.  

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Existing short stay cycle parking appears well 

used. There are two TfL cycle hire docks in the neighbourhood but there are limited 

facilities for dockless cycle parking or e-scooters hire. 

 

4.1.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Chancery Lane neighbourhood, we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve any areas of poor-quality paving, reduce clutter be removing any 

unnecessary street furniture and signage, and install additional Legible 

London maps and signs to make it easier for people to find their way around.  

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.  

• Provide more priority and space for people walking and improve accessibility 

on the northern part of Fetter Lane, Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, 

Furnival Street and Cursitor Street by raising junctions, side streets and 

Page 728



 

9 
 

loading bay entrances and raising carriageway on streets with very narrow 

pavements. 

• On Cursitor Street, Fetter Lane, Tooks Court and Breams Buildings explore 

the opportunities to create small public spaces that include seating, planting 

and trees. 

• Refresh the planting and seating in the St Dunstan in the West Burial Ground.  

• On the northern part of Fetter Lane, Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, 

Furnival Street and Cursitor Street introduce we will explore a timed restriction 

for motor vehicles during the busiest times of day when people are walking. 

• Review existing on street parking. 

• Liaise with the City of Westminster and LB Camden on the potential to 

improve the experience of walking, cycling and spending time on Chancery 

Lane by: 

o Introducing a timed restriction for motor vehicles. 

o Improving the existing cycle contraflow on Chancery Lane and. 

exploring extending this to Fleet Street. 

o Widening pavements and installing more seating, planting and trees.  

o Formalising kerbside loading arrangements. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 1 –Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored.  

Page 729



 

10 
 

Figure 4 - Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

 

Page 730



 

11 
 

4.2. Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: Pavements and carriageway have recently been 

substantially upgraded with high quality materials and raised carriageway 

treatments. However, there are few trees and limited seating.  

High-quality public spaces have been created at the western end of St Brides Street, 

and in the New Street Square development. The laneways off Fleet Street provide 

several intimate public spaces.  

Consented major developments at Thavies Inn Court and Stonecutter Lane will 

create new high-quality spaces and improve the walking experience on St Andrews 

Street, the southern section of Shoe Lane and St Brides Street. These improvements 

will also create opportunities for activation such as lunchtime and weekend events.  

During the consultation some respondents noted concerns about low lighting levels 

contributing to negative  perceptions of personnel security in some of the laneways 

north of Fleet Street. in some of the laneways north of Fleet Street 

Cycling: Within the neighbourhood low traffic levels provide a safe and comfortable 

environment for people cycling. 

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Existing short stay cycle parking is mainly 

located on the periphery of the neighbourhood and appears well used. There are two 

TfL cycle hire docks in the neighbourhood but there are few facilities for parking 

dockless cycles or e-scooters. 

Traffic management: Traffic access is limited to streets off New Fetter Lane with 

associated low traffic levels for access and servicing. 

4.2.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the public realm and experience of spending time on Shoe Lane, 

Little New Street, St Andrews Street, Wine Court and Gunpowder Square by 

installing new seating, sustainable drainage (SuD’s), greening or in ground 

planting and trees. 

• Refresh the planting and seating in the garden of St Andrew Church Holborn.  

• Make the area easier to navigate by installing additional Legible London maps 

and signs on Shoe Lane, Little New Street, St Andrews Street and Wine 

Court. 

• Give more priority to people walking and support activations by introducing 

timed restrictions for motor traffic at lunchtimes and weekends on Shoe Lane. 

• Improve lighting levels in the laneways. 

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays. 

• Restricting motor traffic between Little New Street and Shoe Lane if traffic 

changes on Fleet Street are expected to increase potential for through traffic. 

• Introduce a pay and display parking space in Gough Square. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri), 11 pt

Page 731



 

12 
 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 2–Fleet Street and the Lanes 

Neighbourhood proposals to be explored. 

  

Page 732



 

13 
 

Figure 5 - Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

   

Page 733



 

14 
 

4.3. Old Bailey Neighbourhood  

Walking and public spaces: Old Bailey is the route for people walking north-south, 

but in places on its eastern side has a narrow pavement. The western side includes 

new and improved public spaces, but relatively few trees. People can walk east-west 

via the private Fleet Place development which has a publicly accessible lift to 

Farringdon Street near to Old Fleet Lane. The Fleet Place development also 

provides laneways north and south and a valuable public space, although poor 

wayfinding means that its full potential is not obvious to people unfamiliar with the 

area. A consented major development on Farringdon Street and Holborn Viaduct will 

provide a publicly accessible lift which will create an accessible connection between 

these two streets.  

Cycling: Cycle facilities on Old Bailey and a contraflow on Limeburner Lane ensure 

the area is accessible to people cycling. 

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking is limited to locations to the 

periphery of the area. There is no TfL cycle hire docking stations and limited parking 

for dockless cycles and e-scooters. 

Traffic management: Old Bailey at the junction with Limeburner Lane has a point 

closure restricting south bound traffic movements and Limeburner Lane is one-way 

south bound. Despite this, both streets, which are classified as local access streets, 

are currently used by through traffic.  

4.3.1. Proposals to be explored. 

Within the Old Bailey Neighbourhood, we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking on Old Bailey 

south of the junction with Limeburner Lane by:  

o Reducing through traffic or restricting vehicles to local access only. 

o Widening pavements or by raising the carriageway,  SuD’s or in ground 

planting and new greening and tree planting including SuDS and 

additional seating.  

• Improve accessibility on Limeburner Lane at the junction with Fleet Place by 

raising the crossing point. 

• Make the area easier to navigate by installing additional Legible London maps 

and signs.  

• Retain and improve the cycle facilities on the southern part of Old Bailey and 

Limeburner Lane. 

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays in 

the area. 

• Install a feature lighting installation under Holborn Viaduct. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 3 –Old Bailey Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored. 

 

Formatted: Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri), 11 pt

Page 734



 

15 
 

 

Figure 6 - Old Bailey Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

Page 735



 

16 
 

 

 

4.4. Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood  

Walking and public spaces: Blackfriars Lane, Ludgate Broadway and 

Pageantmaster Court provide walking links from Blackfriars Station but crossing 

facilities on Queen Victoria Street and Ludgate Hill are limited and require 

improvement. Carter Lane west of Burgon Street is a pedestrian zone and is closed 

to vehicles between 9am and 6pm. Step free access between the neighbourhood 

and New Bridge Street is possible with a public lift on Pilgrim Street but is not well 

sign posted. . The lack of active frontages on Waithman Street and Pilgrim Street 

may mean that these streets do not always feel safe paces to walk. Blackfriars Lane 

south of Playhouse Yard provides a poor-quality environment for people walking and 

does not encourage the use of this as a route from Queen Victoria Street. 

Ludgate Broadway has temporary seating and planting installed as part of the City 

Corporation’s Covid-19 response. The platform over the Thameslink railway lines 

between the two flights of stairs at Apothecary Street is in the sun for most of the 

daylight hours and is used at lunch times by workers in the area to eat lunch despite 

not having any formal seating. will be improved with seating and planting as part of a 

development in the area. 

Cycling: Existing traffic restrictions make the neighbourhood comfortable for cycling 

although the people walking and cycling may compete for space on narrow lanes.   

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking is limited to locations on the 

periphery of the area. There is one TfL cycle hire docking station, but no dockless 

cycle and e-scooter hire parking. 

Traffic Management: Existing traffic management and permanent traffic restrictions 

restrict all vehicle movements in the neighbourhood to local access only.  

4.4.1. Proposals to be explored 

Within the Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking by raising the 

carriageway on streets with very narrow pavements and low traffic levels, 

including Carter Lane, Pageantmaster Court, Pilgrim Street, Blackfriars Lane 

and Ludgate Broadway. Where raising the carriageway is not possible or 

appropriate junctions and crossing will be raised to pavement level.  

• Improve the public realm and the experience of spending time on streets by 

installing seating, SuDSSuD’s or in ground planting , planting and trees where 

space permits and installing feature lighting, for example on Ludgate 

Broadway, Blackfriars Lane, St Andrew’s Hill and Playhouse Yard and 

Waithman Street.  

• Install a public realm art intervention on the wall on Blackfriars Lane between 

Queen Victoria Street and Playhouse Yard. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Page 736



 

17 
 

• Improve signage to make it easier to find the pedestrian lift on Pilgrim Street.  

• Refresh the planting and seating in the churchyard of St Anne Blackfriars and 

St Anne Blackfriars Ireland Yard.  

• Install seating on the platform over the railway at Apothecary Street. 

• Additional cycle parking on Blackfriars Lane and, Ludgate Broadway and 

cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire parking on the eastern 

part of Carter Lane. 

• Extend the timed traffic restrictions for motor vehicles on Carter Lane to cover 

Ludgate Broadway. 

• Introduce additional restricted turns on Addle Hill, St Andrew’s Hill and Dean’s 

Court to reduce through traffic in the area.  

• Review and formalise on-street loading to support proposals to provide more 

space for people walking and public realm improvements. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 4 – Carter Lane and Ludgate 

Neighbourhood proposals to be explored. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Page 737



 

18 
 

Figure 7 – Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

 

P
age 738



 

19 
 

4.5. Whitefriars Neighbourhood 

Walking and public spaces: The neighbourhood’s grid of streets provides a range 

of options for people walking through the area. There has been very little public 

realm improvement in the area in recent years. However, the Salisbury Court 

development will create new step free laneways between Whitefriars Streets and 

Salisbury Court and improve the quality of the public ream on surrounding streets. 

Generally, streets currently lack raised side-street entrances and junctions and 

Bouverie Street and Whitefriars Street have narrow pavements in some places. 

There is limited planting and few trees. St Brides Churchyard is the main public 

space along with the recently created public space at the southern end of John 

Carpenter Street.  

Cycling: The neighbourhood is bordered by cycleways on Victoria Embankment and 

New Bridge Street, with Tudor Street providing a connection between these routes. 

Both Bouverie and Whitecross Street have cycle contraflows which are also well 

used. There is a generally good environment for cycling due to low vehicle levels and 

speeds.  

Cycle and scooter hire and parking: Cycle parking in the area is well used. There 

are two TfL cycle hire docking stations in the neighbourhood but few bays for 

dockless cycle or e-scooter hire. 

Traffic Management: While access is limited neighbourhood is permeable to 

through traffic and currently need to remain so due to there being no right turn at the 

junction of Fleet Street and New Bridge Street. There is no vehicular access into the 

area from the Embankment but from 2024 vehicles exiting via Carmelite Street will 

be able to head both east and west. 

4.5.1. Proposals to be explored. 

4.5.1.  

We are currently reviewing access for vehicles travelling into and through the 

Whitefriars area to assess options against the access needs of local stakeholders 

and the potential to support walking and public realm improvements. This includes 

assessing the potential for direct motor vehicle access and the creation of a new 

public space on Temple Avenue. 

We will also explore the potential to deliver the changes below that are not 

dependent on any changes to access arrangements: 

• Improve the quality and accessibility of the walking route between Blackfriars 

Station and Fleet Street and Shoe Lane by raising junctions and crossings to 

pavement level and installing trees, planting seating and additional Legible 

London on Watergate, Kingscote Street, Tudor Street, Dorset Rise and 

Salisbury Court.  improvements. This improved route would link with a 

potential new crossing on Fleet Street to connect with Shoe Lane.  

• Improve the experience of walking and spending time on Tudor Street by 

widening pavements, raising junctions, crossings and loading bay entrances 

to pavement level and installing seating, SuUDs or in ,ground  new planting 

and trees. This would include reviewing the need for or change to the City of 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted + Level: 1 +

Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27 cm

Page 739



 

20 
 

London Police check point to support improvements for people walking and 

cycling.  

• Improve accessibility and give more priority to people walking by raising the 

carriageway on Temples Lane, Lombard Lane and Pleydell Court and Bride 

Lane. 

• Upgrade the paving and raise crossings, junctions and loading bay entrances 

on Bouverie Street.  

• On Bridewell Place explore the opportunities to create a small public space 

that includes seating, planting and trees. 

• Install seating, SuDsSuD’s or in ground , planting and trees on Temple 

Avenue, Tallis Street, Carmelite Street, John Carpenter Street, and replant 

refresh the planting and seating in St Brides Churchyard.  

• Provide additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays, 

including on Tudor Street, Temple Avenue, John Carpenter Street, Carmelite 

Street, Tallis Street and Dorset Rise.  

• Retain and improve existing cycle contraflows on Bouverie and Whitecross 

Street and introduce cycle contraflow on Dorset Rise and Salisbury Court.  

• Review the amount and location of payment, disabled and motorcycle parking 

to ensure appropriate provision and the potential for changes to support the 

provision of more space for people walking and public realm improvements.   

• Continue to monitor and review motor traffic passing through the 

neighbourhood. 

 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 4 – Whitefriars Neighbourhood 

proposals to be explored. 

Page 740



 

21 
 

Figure 9 - Whitefriars Neighbourhood Proposed Changes 

   

P
age 741



 

22 
 

5. Streets between neighbourhoods 

The streets between the various neighbourhoods are classified as London access 

and City access in the City of London Transport Strategy. The extent of change 

possible on these streets will be dependent on the need to accommodate vehicle 

movement, including for buses. It is accepted that the need to improve the comfort 

and safety of people walking and cycling and enhance the public realm may impact 

on motor traffic.  

5.1. Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill 

Strategic policy: Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill are identified in the Transport 

Strategy for walking improvements (2019-2030), proposed Phase 2 cycle network 

improvements, and a potential bus priority corridor. The corridor forms part of the 

Lord Mayor’s Show processional route and has planning controls protecting views of 

St Pauls Cathedral. The Fleet Street and Ludgate Key Area of Change also identifies 

Fleet Street as a Principal Shopping Centre.  

Walking and public spaces: Pedestrian comfort levels in some locations along the 

corridor are below B+ and peak time overcrowding will increase when consented 

developments in the area are completed. There is no planting, few places to sit, and 

the bus stops do not have shelters. Pavement conditions are poor in places. There 

are several formal crossing points at the main junctions. However, a well-used 

crossing point between Salisbury Court and Shoe Lane has no facilities.   

Cycling: There are no dedicated cycling facilities on Fleet Street and on Ludgate Hill 

there are advisory cycle lanes. The junctions have advanced stop lines. In many 

places the carriageway is in poor condition. Pavement widths preclude cycle parking 

along the corridor. 

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. There are no 

inset loading bays. 

Police check points: There are Police check points at both ends of Fleet Street and 

on Ludgate Hill, west of Limeburner Lane.  

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junctions of Fleet 

Street with Bouverie Street and Chancery Lane, with New Bridge Street and the 

junction of Ludgate Hill and Old Bailey. 

5.1.1. Proposals to be explored.  

On Fleet Street and Ludgate Hill, we will explore the potential to: 

• Widen pavements to provide more space for people walking and to 

achieve a minimum pedestrian comfort level of B+, based on current and 

future demand.  

• Install seating, SuDsSuD’s or in ground , planting and trees (where they do 

not impact on the processional route and views of St Pauls Cathedral) and 

Page 742



 

23 
 

reduce clutter by rationalising signage and removing any redundant 

signage.  

• Install new crossings on Fleet Street to link Salisbury Court and Shoe Lane 

and on Ludgate Hill between Pageantmaster Court and Old Bailey. 

• Improve the existing crossing at the junction of Fetter Lane and Fleet 

Street. 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety, recognising the ability to 

provide dedicated space for people cycling may be limited by the need to 

widen pavements and accommodate bus stops and loading. 

• Retain and improve existing bus stops. Maximise opportunities for bus 

priority and journey time improvements without the bus lanes which would 

need to be removed to facilitate pavement widening. 

• Review the City of London Police check point facilities on Fleet Street and 

Ludgate Hill to support improvements for people walking and cycling.   

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision 

Zero Action Plan. 

• Formalise loading arrangements with timed restrictions and loading bays 

set into the pavement to maximise space for people walking when not in 

use. 

• Continue to work with TfL to improve the comfort and safety of people 

crossing at Ludgate Circus. 

5.2. New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane  

Strategic policy: The New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane corridor is identified in the 

Transport Strategy for proposed Phase 2 cycle network improvements by 2035. 

Walking and public spaces: The pavements of New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane 

corridor are generally wide but there are few trees and places to rest. There is only 

one formal crossing point but at peak times popular crossing points are between 

Plough Place and Bartlett Court and between Bartlett Passage and Thavies Inn 

House.  

Cycling: People cycling have no protected space, and there are no bus routes on 

this corridor.  There is advanced cycle stop lines at the junctions with Holborn Circus 

and Fleet Street. There is limited dockless cycle parking at Rolls Building.  

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. Businesses at 

the southern end of Fetter Lane have kerbside servicing during the day.  

Police check points: There is a Police check points at the northern end of New 

Fetter Lane. 

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junction of New 

Fetter Lane and Bartlett Court.  

5.2.1. Proposals to be explored 

On New Fetter Lane and Fetter Lane we will explore the potential to: 

Page 743



 

24 
 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by installing seating, 

SuDsSuD’s and or in ground planting and trees where space permits and 

removing redundant signage to reduce clutter. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

• Improve crossing points between Plough Place and Bartlett Court and 

between Bartlett Passage and Thavies Inn House. 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety including reviewing signal priorities 

for cyclists at the junctions with Holborn Circus and Fleet Street.  

• Review of the City of London Police check point facilities to support 

improvements for people walking and cycling. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotspots identified in the Vision 

Zero Action Plan. 

5.3. Holborn, Holborn Viaduct  

Strategic policy: Holborn is a shared boundary street with the LB Camden and 

improvements will be identified and carried out in partnership with them. The Holborn 

and Holborn Viaduct corridor has been identified in the Transport Strategy for Phase 

12 cycle network improvements by 20302035.  

Walking and public spaces: At the junction with New Fetter Lane high quality 

public spaces have been created. The pavements on the rest of Holborn and 

Holborn Viaduct lacks this quality with no trees and only bus stop shelters provide 

the opportunity to rest. Not all the side roads have continuous pavement treatments. 

Cycling: There is no dedicated or protected space for people cycling although they 

can use bus lanes. On the south side of Holborn and Holborn Viaduct these 

incorporate with an advisory cycle lane. All arms of Holborn Circus have advanced 

cycle stop lines. Considerable cycle parking is available on the central island of 

Holborn, but none is available for dockless cycles and e-scooter hire parking.  

Kerbside loading: Kerbside loading and servicing is time restricted. There are no 

inset loading bays. 

Police check points: There is a Police check point on Holborn Viaduct. 

Collison locations: Collison ‘hotspots’ have been identified at Holborn Circus and 

New Gate Street with Warwick Lane.  

 

5.3.1. Proposals to be explored. 

On Holborn and Holborn Viaduct we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by widening pavements, 

installing seating, SuDsSuD’s and or in ground planting and trees and 

removing redundant signage to reduce clutter. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

Page 744



 

25 
 

• Improve the cycling experience and safety by introducing protected space for 

people cycling. Improve signal priorities for people cycling at the junctions with 

Holborn Circus and Old Bailey and Giltspur Street and Warwick Lane. 

• Provide additional short stay and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire parking. 

• Review of the City of London Police check point facilities to support 

improvements for people walking and cycling. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision Zero 

Action Plan. 

• Formalising loading arrangements with timed restrictions and loading bays set 

into the pavement to maximise space for people walking when not in use 

• Retain and improve existing bus stops. 

5.4. Queen Victoria Street 

Strategic policy: Queen Victoria Street has been identified in the Transport Strategy 

for Phase 1 cycle network improvements by 20302028. 

Walking and public spaces: The pavements on both sides of Queen Victoria are 

wide and generally have high quality paving. There are some street trees but no 

places to rest. Although there are several formal crossing points there are no formal 

crossing facilities between Blackfriars Lane and the south side of Queen Victoria 

Street. Not all the side roads have continuous pavement treatments. 

Cycling: There are only short advisory cycling lanes at the west end of Queen 

Victoria Street. There is a TfL cycle hire docking stations and some cycle parking. 

Kerbside loading: Commercial uses fronting Queen Victoria do not appear to 

require kerbside servicing.  

Collison locations: A collision ‘hotspots’ have been identified at the junction of 

Queen Victoria Street and New Bridge Street. 

5.4.1. Proposals to be explored. 

On Queen Victoria Street we will explore the potential to: 

• Improve the walking experience and public realm by installing seating, 

SuDsSuD’s and or in ground planting and trees where space permits and 

removing redundant signage to reduce clutter. 

• Install a new crossing facility at the junction with Blackfriars Lane. 

• Raise all side streets and loading bay entrances to give more priority to 

people walking and improve accessibility.  

• Improve the safety and experience of people cycling by providing protected 

space for people cycling. Install additional cycle parking and dockless cycle 

and e-scooter hire parking. 

• Review and address collision clusters and hotpots identified in the Vision Zero 

Action Plan. 

Details of all the proposals can be found in Table 6 –City Access Streets - proposals 

to be explored. 

Page 745



 

26 
 

5.5. London Access Streets 

New Bridge Street and Farringdon Street corridor and the Victoria Embankment 

Street are part of the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN) and are managed 

by TfL. On these streets the Corporation will work in partnership with TfL to identify 

opportunities for improvements, including addressing collision hotspots identified in 

the Vision Zero Action Plan. 

Page 746



 

27 
 

 

Table 1 –Chancery Lane Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation  

Dependencies 

CL1 -Chancery 
Lane  

Widened pavement between Carey Street 
and Southampton Buildings.  
New seating, SuDs or in ground planting 
and trees. Removal of redundant street 
clutter. Continuous pavement treatment at 
the junction with Southampton Buildings.  
 
Extend the cycle contraflow between 
Holborn and Fleet Street. Additional short 
stay cycle and dockless parking and 
parking for e-scooters. 

Timed restriction for motor traffic.  
Exemptions: local access, cycles, 
emergency vehicles and taxis. Formalised 
kerbside loading. 
 
Camera enforcement at Carey Street and 
north of Southampton Buildings 
The existing cycle contraflow will be 
retained and improved. 

Formalise loading By 2026  Chancery Lane 
Experimental 
Traffic Changes. 
  

CL2 Junction of 
Breem’s 
Building and 
Fetter Lane 
(north).  

Introduction of a time restriction for motor 
vehicles at the junction of Fetter Lane and 
Bream’s Buildings. 
 
Continuous pavement crossing at the 
junction of Fetter Lane, New Fetter Lane 
and Breams Buildings  

(ii) Introduction of a time restriction for 
motor vehicles at the junction of Fetter Lane 
and Bream’s Buildings. Restrictions could 
apply to:  
Fetter Lane (north of Bream’s Buildings), 
Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, Tooks 
Court,  Furnival Street and Cursitor Street. 
Exemptions: local access, cycles, 
emergency vehicles and taxis. 

Review on street 
parking. 

(i) By 2024 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

CL3 -Fetter Lane 
(North section) 
 

New small public space including seating, 
and planters at the northern end.  
 
Localised pedestrian priority interventions 
including raised junctions and crossing 
points Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 
and new paving where required. Removal 
of redundant street clutter.  
 

 Relocation of motorcycle 
parking to create public 
space. 
 
 

By 2025  

P
age 747



 

28 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation  

Dependencies 

Additional short stay cycle and dockless 
parking and parking for e-scooters 

CL4 -Norwich 
Street 

Localised pedestrian priority interventions 
including raised junctions and crossing 
points Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 
and new paving where required Removal of 
redundant street clutter. 
 

  By 2026  

CL5 -Furnival 
Street   

Localised pedestrian priority interventions 
including raised junctions and crossing 
points Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over loading bay entrances. 
and new paving where required Removal of 
redundant street clutter. 

  By 2024  

CL6 -Bream’s 
Buildings 

(i) New small public space including 
seating, and planters at the western end.  
 
(ii) Localised pedestrian priority 
interventions including raised junctions and 
crossing points Continuous pavement 
treatment and tactile paving over loading 
bay entrances. and new paving where 
required Removal of redundant street 
clutter 

 Possible small 
relocation of disabled 
parking . 

 

(i) By 2025 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

CL7 -Took’s 
Court 

New small public space including seating, 
and planters. New seating, SuUDs or in 
ground , planting and trees to create a 
pocket park. 

 Explore relocation of 
motorcycle parking. 

By 2025 The new public 
space is 
dependent on 
relocating the 
motorcycle 
parking. 

CL8 -
Southampton 
Buildings 

 
Additional Legible London. 

 Possible additional 
motorcycle parking. 

By 2025  

 

Formatted: Space After:  8 pt, Line spacing:  Multiple

1.08 li

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left

P
age 748



 

29 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2 - Fleet Street and the Lanes Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

FSL1 -Shoe 
Lane  

New seating, SuUDs or in ground , planting 
and trees. 

(i)Potential for timed restriction for motor 
traffic at lunchtimes and weekends. 
Changes to traffic management on Fleet 
Street and 
 
(ii) Traffic restriction between Shoe Lane 
and Little New Street. New Fetter Lane may 
require additional restrictions on Shoe Lane 
between Charterhouse Street and St 
Andrew Street. 

None (i) By 2028 
 
 
(ii) By 2026 

CA1 – Changes 
to traffic 
management on 
Fleet Street and 
New Fetter Lane 
may require 
additional 
restrictions on 
Shoe Lane at the 
junction with Little 
New Street. 
Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic. 

Formatted Table

Formatted: Underline

P
age 749



 

30 
 

FSL2 -Little New 
Street 

New seating, SuUDs or in ground , planting 
and trees. 

  By 2028 Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic.  

FSL3 -St Andrew 
Street 

New seating, SuUDs or in ground , planting 
and trees. 

  By 2028 Completion of 
major 
developments in 
the area and 
reduction in 
construction 
traffic.  
 

FSL4 -Wine 
Office Court 
 
 

New seating and Legible London   By 2028 Anticipated 
developments in 
the area will 
include improving 
this site. 

FSL5 -Gun 
Powder Square 
 

Additional planting.   By 2028 Anticipated 
developments in 
the area will 
include improving 
this site 

FSL6 -East 
Harding Street 
 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL7 -West 
Harding Street 
 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL8 -Thavies 
Inn 

Additional Legible London   By 2025  

FSL9 -Gough 
Square 

Additional pay and display parking   By 2025  

  

Commented [OS2]: Which court was there a request for a 
loading bay? P

age 750



 

31 
 

Table 3 - Old Bailey Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

OB1 -Old Bailey 
(south of 
Limeburner Lane) 

(i) Widened pavements or raised 
carriageway and new paving. New seating, 
SuUDs, or in planting and trees. In ground 
infrastructure for on street activisation.  
 
(ii) Additional on street short stay and 
dockless cycle and e-scooter parking. 

Measures to reduce traffic south of 
Limeburner Lane including filtering north 
bound traffic to restrict it to local access 
onlyrestricting vehicles to local access only. 
Retain and improve the cycle facility on the 
southern part of Old Bailey.  

  (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 
 
(ii) By 2026 

OB2 and OB3 – if 
alternative north 
and south traffic 
movements are 
feasible on 
Limeburner Lane 
and Warwick 
Lane. 

OB2 -Junction of 
Warwick Lane 
and Newgate 
Street 

  Explore changes to permitted traffic turning 
movements and required junction 
improvements. 
 

 (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 

OB1 and OB3 – 
changes to the 
junction only 
required if OB1 
and OB2 are 
implemented.  

OB3 -Limeburner 
Lane 

(i) Raised junction and crossing point. 
Additional on street short stay and dockless 
cycle and e-scooter parking.  
 
(ii) Additional Legible London. 

Explore changes to traffic priorities.Retain 
and improve the cycle contraflow on the 
southern part of and Limeburner Lane or  
possible change to the direction of the cycle 
contraflow subject to traffic management 
options.  

 (i) Feasibility and 
design by 2025 
 
(i) Implementation 
by 2027 
 
(ii) By 2026 

OB2 – Warwick 
Lane. 

OB4 -Old Fleet 
Lane 

(i) Additional Legible London. 
 
(ii) Continuous pavement treatment and 
tactile paving over entrance. 

  (i) By 2026 
 

(ii) By 2027 

 

OB5 -Old Seacoal 
Lane 

Raised carriageway and new surfacing   By 2027  

OB6 -Fleet Place Additional Legible London. 
 

  By 2026  

OB7-Farringdon 
Street / Holborn 
Viaduct 

Feature lighting under viaduct   By 2026  

Formatted Table

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.9 cm

Formatted Table

P
age 751



 

32 
 

 

Table 4 Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored. 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

CL1 -Carter Lane 
(Between 
Burgon Street 
and Godliman 
Street) 

(i) Potential raised carriageway and new 
surfacing in keeping with Carter Lane east 
of Burgon Street or localised pedestrian 
priority intervention including raised 
junctions or crossing points.  
 
(ii) New seating, SuUDs or in ground , 
planting, and trees. Removal of redundant 
street clutter. New short stay and dockless 
cycle parking and e-scooter parking. 

  
 

(i) By 2026 
 
(ii) By 2025 
 
 
 

 

CL2 -St 
Andrew’s Hill 
and Playhouse 
Yard 

New seating, SUDs, planting and trees to 
create a pocket park. 
New tree planting 

  (i) By 2024  

CL3 -Addle Hill 
and St Andrew’s 
Hill. 

 Left turn ban. Enforced by signage.  (i) By 2024  

CL4 -Dean’s 
Court 

(i) Raised carriageway and new surfacing. (ii) No entry from St Paul’s Churchyard. 
Enforced by signage. 

 (i) By 2026 
 
(ii) By 2024 

 

CL5 -Ludgate 
Broadway 

New public space including Raised raised 
carriageway and new surfacing. New 
seating, SuUDs or in ground, planting, and 
trees. Removal of redundant street clutter. 

Potential for the Carter Lane timed 
restriction for motor traffic extended to 
include Ludgate Broadway. Exemptions: 
local access, cycles, emergency vehicles, 
taxis, access for disabled drop-off/pick-up 
and disabled parking. 
Enforced by signage. 

 By 2025  

CL6 -
Pageantmaster 

(i) Raised carriageway and new surfacing 
or a raised junction. 

  (i) By 2025 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

Formatted Table

Commented [OS3]: S278 100 NB Sttake out 

P
age 752



 

33 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

Court and 
Pilgrim Street 

(ii) Additional signage to the Pilgrim Street 
lift. 

Waithman Street New surfacing, and feature lighting. New 
seating and short stay cycle parking.at 
junction with Blackfriars Lane. 

    

Platform over 
the railway at 
Apothecary 
Street. 

New seating and potential for creation of 
mini raised park subject to development 
contribution 

    

CL7 -Blackfriars 
Lane  

(i) Widened paving or raised carriagewayArt 
installation on the wall adjoining the railway 
lines on Blackfriars Lane between Queen 
Victoria Street and Playhouse Yard or from 
Playhouse Yard to the service entrance on 
building on the eastern side of Blackfriars 
Lane. SuUDs and in ground planting if 
feasible. Raised crossing at southern end. 
Removal of redundant street clutter 
Additional Legible London. 
 
(ii) Continuous pavement treatment at the 
southern end. 

 Explore the possible 
relocation of payment 
and blue badge parking. 

(i) By 2026 
 
 
(ii) By 2024 

 

CL8 -St Anne 
Blackfriars and 
St Anne 
Blackfriars 

Ireland Yard.  

Refresh planting and seating.   By 2025  

CL9 -Underside 
of railway bridge 
over Queen 
Victoria Street 

Feature lighting to illuminate under the 
bridge. 

  By 2026  

CL10.-
Blackfriars 
Court 
 

Refresh planting and seating. Close 
underpass entrance and find alternative 
use. 

  By 2026  

Formatted Table

Commented [OS3]: S278 100 NB Sttake out 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt, Bold

P
age 753



 

34 
 

Table 5 –Whitefriars Neighbourhood - proposals to be explored.  

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

The Victoria 
Embankment at 
the junctions 
with Temple 
Avenue and 
Carmelite 
Avenue. 

 Vehicle access into the Whitefriars 
Neighbourhood 

   

W1 -Watergate 
and Kingscote  

Improvements including SuUDs, or in 
ground planting and trees at the junction of 
Watergate with New Bridge Street. Legible 
London. 

. Explore the possible 
removal of payment 
parking (1-2 spaces). 

By 2026 Public realm 
improvements are 
dependent on 
relocating 
parking. 

W2 -Tudor Street New crossing facility to link between 
Kingscote Street and Dorset Rise. . 
Continuous paving, raised crossing 
treatments over all side street junctions. 
Review of the City of London Police check 
point facilities. 
 
Pavement widening to enable new seating, 
SuUDs or in ground, new planting and 
street trees. New short stay and dockless 
cycle parking and e-scooter parking. 
 

 Explore the possible 
relocation of 6 payment 
parking spaces and 3 
taxi waiting spaces. 

Design, 
optioneering and 
feasibility 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 

Public realm 
improvements are 
dependent on 
relocating 
parking. 

W3 -Dorset Rise 
and Salisbury 
Court 

Between Hutton Street and Tudor Street, a 
raised junction or crossing point .oOr, a 
raised carriageway and new surfacing 
between Tudor Street and the raised 
carriageway treatment for the Salisbury 
Court development.  
 
New seating, SuUDs or, new planting and 
street trees. New short stay and dockless 

North bound traffic restriction north of Hutton 
Street. Cycle contraflow 

Explore the relocation of 
motorcycle parking 
opposite Dorset 
Buildings and near the 
junction with Tudor 
Street.  
 
On Salisbury Court 
removal of doctors 
parking bay and 

By 2026  

P
age 754



 

35 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

cycle parking and e-scooter parking. 
Legible London. 
 

reallocation as a loading 
bay. 

W4 -Bouverie 
Street 

Pavement improvements, continuous 
pavement treatments on side roads and 
removal redundant of street clutter. 

Cycle contraflow retained and improvements 
investigated.  

 By 2026  

W5 -Temple 
Avenue  

Potential new open space at the southern 
end with new seating, SuUDs or in ground 
and new planting and trees. New short stay 
and dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking. new short stay cycling and 
dockless parking and e-scooter parking. 
Legible London. 

 Explore the possible 
relocation of blue badge 
parking. 

By 2025  

W6 -Bridewell 
Place  

New public space including nNew seating, 
SuUDs or in ground, planting and trees to 
create a pocket park. 
 

  By 2025  

W7 -Tallis Street (i) Continuous pavement treatment.  
 
(ii) New seating, planting and trees, SuUDs 
or in ground planting. New short stay and 
dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking. 

Changes to traffic direction priorities. Explore the introduction 
of further payment and 
blue badge parking.  

(i) By 2024 
 
(ii) By 2026 

 

W8 -Carmelite 
Street 

Continuous pavement treatment. New 
seating, planting and trees, SuUDs or in 
ground planting. New short stay and 
dockless cycle parking and e-scooter 
parking., new short and dockless cycle 
cycling parking and e-scooter parking. 

Possible changes to traffic direction priorities 
and introduction of a cycle contraflow 
between Tallis Street and Tudor Street 

Explore the introduction 
of further payment and 
blue badge parking. 

By 2026  

W9 -John 
Carpenter Street 

Continuous pavement treatment. New 
seating, planting and trees, SuUDs or in 
ground planting, trees, new short stay and 
dockless cycling parking and e-scooter 
parking. 

 Explore the possible 
loss of payment parking. 

By 2026 Relocation of 
payment parking. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

P
age 755



 

36 
 

Street Potential public realm improvements Potential changes to traffic management 
and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Expected 
Implementation 

Dependencies 

W10 -Temple 
Lane and 
Lombard Lane  

Raised carriageway and new surfacing.   By 2027  

W11 -Bride Lane  Raised carriageway and new surfacing.   Implementation 
by 2026 

 

W12 -St Brides 
Avenue and 
Churchyard 

Improved planting and seating.    Implementation 
by 2025 

 

Bouverie Street / 
Whitefriars 
Street / Tudor 
Street / 
Bridewell Place / 
Carmelite Street 
/ Watergate and 
Salisbury Court 

 Possible timed restricted closure with 
enforcement cameras. 
 
Cycle contraflow retained on Whitefriars 
Street and improvements investigated. 

 
 
On Whitefriars Street 
explore changing police 
parking bays to loading 
bays. 

  

 

  

P
age 756



 

37 
 

Table 6 –City Access Streets - proposals to be explored.  

Street Potential public realm 
improvements 

Potential changes to traffic 
management and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Programme for 
Improvement 

Programme of 
Improvements 

Dependencies 

CA1 -Fleet 
Street 

Widened and improved 
pavements, new seating, 
SuUD’s, or in ground 
planting, planting and trees. 
Removal of redundant street 
clutter.  
 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking 

Removal of east bound bus 
lane. 
 
Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
Fetter Lane Whitefriars 
Street. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

Formalising loading 
arrangements with timed 
restrictions and loading bays 
set into the pavement to 
maximise space for people 
walking when not in use. 
 
Changes to traffic priorities at 
the junctions with Fetter Lane 
and Ludgate Circus to benefit 
bus performance. 
 
Review of the east and west 
City of London Police check 
point facilities.  

A new pedestrian 
crossing between 
Salisbury Court and 
Shoe Lane.  
 
Safety improvements 
at the junction of Fleet 
Street and Fetter 
Lane. 
 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 
. 
 

Feasibility and 
design 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 

Removal of the 
Police check 
points. 

CA2 -Ludgate 
Hill (Primary 
Resilience 
Network 
Street). 

Widened and improved 
pavements, new seating, 
SUD’s, planting and trees. 
Removal of redundant street 
clutter. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

Formalising loading 
arrangements with timed 
restrictions and loading bays 
set into the pavement to 
maximise space for people 
walking when not in use. 
 
Changes to traffic priorities at 
the junctions with Ludgate 
Circus to benefit bus 
performance. 
 
Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 
 

A new pedestrian 
crossing facility 
between 
Pageantmaster Court 
and Old Bailey. 
 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 
. 

Feasibility and 
design 2024 
 
Implementation 
by 2026 
 

OB1 Old Bailey 
and OB3 
Limehouse 
Lane. The 
crossing 
between 
Pageantmaster 
Court and Old 
Bailey may 
require fewer 
turning 
movements 
into Old Bailey. 

CA3- New 
Fetter Lane  

Improved pavements, new 
seating, SUD’sSud’s, or in 
ground planting and trees. 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 

Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 

New pedestrian 
crossing facilities 
between Plough Place 

Feasibility and 
design 2025 
 

 

Formatted Table

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default)

Arial, 10 pt, Font color: Auto, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default)

Arial, 10 pt, Font color: Auto, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default)

Arial, 10 pt, Font color: Auto, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Not Highlight

P
age 757



 

38 
 

Street Potential public realm 
improvements 

Potential changes to traffic 
management and access. 

Potential changes to 
loading and parking 

Programme for 
Improvement 

Programme of 
Improvements 

Dependencies 

Removal of redundant street 
clutter. 

Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
Holborn Circus and Fleet 
Street. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

and Bartlett Court; and 
between Bartlett 
Passage and Thavies 
Inn House. 
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Implementation 
by 2030 
 

CA4 -Holborn 
/ Holborn 
Viaduct 

Improved pavements, new 
seating, SuUD’s, or in ground 
planting and trees. Removal 
of redundant street clutter. 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
Holborn Circus and Old 
Bailey and Giltspur Street 
and Warwick Lane. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

Review of the City of London 
Police check point facilities. 

A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Implementation 
by 2035 

CA1 -Fleet 
Street. 
Changes to 
east bound 
traffic 
movements 
may increase 
traffic at 
Holborn 
Circus. 

CA5 -Queen 
Victoria Street 

New seating, SuD’s or in 
ground and planting and 
trees. Removal of redundant 
street clutter. 
 

Protected space for people 
cycling. 
Improved signal priorities for 
cyclists at the junctions with 
New Bridge Street and 
Puddleduck. 
 
Installation of additional short 
stay cycle and dockless cycle 
parking. 

 New pedestrian 
crossing facilities at 
Blackfriars Lane.  
A review of collision 
locations identified in 
the Vision Zero Action 
Plan. 

Feasibility and 
design 2026 
 
Implementation 
by 2028 

 

 

P
age 758



Fleet Street Area - Healthy Streets Plan:
Consultation Findings

Independently Compiled by Commonplace for the City of London 

August 2023

P
age 759



Contents (and quick hyperlinks)

Introducing the Healthy Streets Plan  

1-3

Consultation Methodology 4

Executive Summary 5

Headline Findings 6-9

Acknowledgements and 

Next Steps 73

Appendix: Consultation 

Participants 74-82

Neighbourhood Findings:

Chancery Lane 10-22

Fleet Street 23-34

Old Bailey 35-44

Carter Lane & Ludgate 45-53

Whitefriars 54-70

Email Responses 71-72

P
age 760



About the Project

The Healthy Streets Approach is a framework for embedding public health in transport, public realm, and planning. It is 

based on indicators that capture the elements that are essential for making streets attractive and accessible places to 

walk, cycle and spend time, and for supporting social and economic activity. 

The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan will apply this approach across the neighbourhoods adjoining Fleet Street and 

Ludgate Hill and make the streets accessible, engaging and safe places for people to walk, cycle and spend time.

The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan

The Healthy Streets Plan for the Fleet Street area sets out an integrated approach to improving the public realm and 

managing traffic to support the delivery of many outcomes identified in:

• The City of London Transport Strategy.

• The City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy and Destination City initiative.

• The Fleet Street & Ludgate Key Area of Change identified in the emerging Local Plan 2040.

• The Fleet Street Quarter BID’s aspirations for the enhancement of the area.

The Healthy Streets Plan

1

P
age 761



Where is the Healthy Streets Plan?

The plan divides the area into five neighbourhoods:

• Chancery Lane

• Fleet Street & Lanes

• Old Bailey

• Carter Lane & Ludgate

• Whitefriars.

Each has individual character and opportunities for improvement 

and each is bounded by streets that accommodate motor vehicles 

that have a destination not in the immediate vicinity. 

Within the five neighbourhoods the streets are primarily used for the 

first or final part of a journey, providing access for motor vehicles to 

properties.

2

P
age 762



What Does the Healthy Streets Plan Comprise?

The plan identifies in these five neighbourhoods’ opportunities to make walking and cycling easier, more comfortable and 

safer, and to create pedestrian priority by redesigning streets and managing motor vehicle access. The plan also considers 

the opportunities created by new spaces and walking routes negotiated by the Corporation as part of developments. These 

changes and improvements will interlink and encourage people to explore the neighbourhoods and help discover existing 

public spaces and businesses and encourage further activation and investment in these neighbourhoods. 

Within the plan there are a series of proposals which include:

• Pedestrian Priority Improvements

• Public Realm Improvements

• Cycle Improvements

• Loading and Servicing

Further details of these proposals can be found in each of the neighbourhood sections of this report. 

3

P
age 763



Consultation Methodology
A six week consultation on the Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan ran from Tuesday 9th May 2023 to Tuesday 20th June 

2023 (inclusive).

The consultation was open to anyone (group or individual) and whether a resident, business owner, worker or visitor, with 

an interest in the area.

This consultation was designed to gain a detailed understanding of public opinion on the proposals, capturing valuable 

feedback on the possible measures currently being considered.  The consultation was not intended to be a referendum or 

'vote' of any kind, but rather a process for exploring perceptions.

Those interested could also use the Commonplace online platform, which invited people to view and comment on the five 

sets of neighbourhood proposals.  Participants could leave feedback and comments on as many neighbourhoods as they 

wished, with the choice of providing feedback by responding to the questions asked, and/or leaving comments as 

necessary. They could alternatively, or additionally, ‘agree’ with comments already submitted and publicly visible.  This 

was done by simply liking a comment by clicking a ‘thumbs up’ icon. 

Participants could also click on a particular neighbourhood within an interactive map, with the ability to drop a pin within 

the project area and leave comments relating to this particular location.

This report presents the findings of the consultation.  

Note: All percentages have been rounded and may therefore not total exactly 100%. 4

P
age 764



Executive Summary

5

The Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets proposals have been designed to make the streets within neighbourhoods adjoining Fleet Street 

and Ludgate Hill more accessible, engaging and safer places for people to walk, cycle and spend time.

A six week consultation was hosted via the online Commonplace engagement platform, across May/June 2023, gathering over 800 

comments and agreements from over 600 participants.  These participants included a wide and diverse variety of workers, 

business owners, visitors, residents and others – all of whom were interested in the area and the proposed improvements.

Overall views on the proposals were notably positive, with support eclipsing criticism by a ratio of more than 3:1.  Across each of 

the five neighbourhoods in focus, a majority of consultation participants gave positive/mostly positive feedback about the 

proposals.  This positive feedback peaked in relation to the Carter Lane & Ludgate neighbourhood proposals (81% positive overall 

feedback). However, high levels of positivity (68%-72%) were also evident in relation to the proposals for each of the other four 

neighbourhoods.  This positivity is underpinned by a number of common themes, including views that the proposals will increase 

pedestrian and cyclist priority, improve safety and the ambience of neighbourhoods, encourage active and sustainable travel 

and improve air quality.

It’s important to note that some concerns were expressed.  Some business owners in the Chancery Lane, Carter Lane & Ludgate, 

and Whitefriars neighbourhoods have issues with proposed pedestrian priority improvements, parking and loading changes, changes to 

kerbside parking, restrictions to through traffic, and public space potentially being prioritised over direct motor access.  Note also, 

that some taxi users disagree with the permanency of experimental/potential changes in the Chancery Lane and Fleet Street & Lanes 

neighbourhoods.  Further concerns question the need for changes, the potential impact on accessibility for businesses, workers 

and those with health/mobility issues, and traffic displacement and congestion.  

However, these are concerns set in the wider context of notable applause for the proposals.

P
age 765



Headline Findings

598

224

597 respondents  

comments      

agreements

52% 17% 11% 6% 14%

Overall Sentiment Across All 5 Neighbourhoods

Positive Mostly positive Neutral Mostly negative Negative

Almost 70% of consultation participants expressed a 

POSITIVE opinion on the proposed improvements and 

changes to the 5 neighbourhoods. 

In contrast, just 20% expressed a NEGATIVE opinion.

On the following page, we see how overall sentiment 

varied across each of the five neighbourhoods.

The consultation received a 

total of more than 820 

Commonplace comments 

and agreements with 

comments.

597

Proposals for the 

Fleet Street & Lanes 

neighbourhood attracted 

the highest number of 

comments. 

• Fleet Street & Lanes: 126 comments

• Chancery Lane: 113 comments

• Whitefriars: 105 comments

• Old Bailey: 86 comments

• Carter Lane & Ludgate: 78 comments

Overall Sentiment Across All 5 Neighbourhoods

6

For a detailed look at the demographic, area relationship and 

travel profile of consultation participants, please click here.
An additional 5 responses were received via email.

No. of responses: (411)                                        (133)            (84)      (49)       (111) 

P
age 766



Sentiment Across Each of the Five Neighbourhoods

15%

52%

52%

50%

57%

65%

3%

16%

17%

21%

15%

16%

24%

10%

14%

8%

8%

10%

35%

6%

6%

5%

4%

4%

24%

16%

12%

16%

17%

6%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Interactive Map Survey

Whitefriars

Chancery Lane

Fleet Street & Lanes

Old Bailey

Carter Lane & Ludgate

Overall Sentiment Across Each of the 5 Neighbourhoods

Positive Mostly positive Neutral Mostly negative Negative

Across each of the five neighbourhoods, a majority of consultation participants expressed a positive/mostly positive sentiment

about the Healthy Streets proposals.  The most positive response was received in relation to the Carter Lane & Ludgate proposals, 

with 81% expressing a positive/mostly positive sentiment, and just 8% expressing a negative/mostly negative sentiment. 

High levels of positivity were also evident in relation to each of the other four proposals – including Old Bailey proposals (72%), the 

Fleet Street & Lanes proposals (71%), the Chancery Lane proposals (69%) and the Whitefriars proposals (68%).

In sharp contrast, the interactive map survey recorded a much lower level of positive opinion (18%).  

7

(70)                                                                               (17)                       (11)       (4)        (6) 

(64)                                                                           (17)  (9)           (4)                       (19) 

(104)                                                                         (44)   (17)          (10)                      (34) 

(93)                                                                        (31)     (25)                  (10)                  (21) 

(75)                                                                       (23)      (14)            (9)                       (23) 

(5)            (1)                              (8)                                  (12)                                                             (8) 

(actual number of responses shown in brackets)

P
age 767



Headline Findings Across Each of the Five Neighbourhoods

Chancery Lane

Fleet Street 

& Lanes

Old Bailey

Strong levels of agreement with the proposed improvements for pedestrian priority (78% agree), public 

realm (83% agree), cycling (78% agree) and permanency of experimental changes (82% agree).  Slightly lower 

levels of agreement (though still a majority) in relation to the parking and loading changes (66% agree).

Some key pockets of disagreement – some business owners disagree with pedestrian priority improvements, 

while half disagree with parking and loading changes.  Disagreement and uncertainty from some taxi users is 

evident in relation to the permanency of experimental changes.

Similarly strong levels of agreement with the proposed improvements for pedestrian priority (76% agree), 

public realm (81% agree), cycling (73% agree) and potential changes (83% agree).  Slightly lower levels of 

agreement (though still a majority) in relation to the parking and loading changes (66% agree).

Just one key pocket of disagreement – some taxi users disagree with potential changes in this 

neighbourhood.

Again, strong levels of agreement with the proposed improvements for pedestrian priority 

(78% agree), public realm (86% agree) and cycling (70% agree).

No key pockets of disagreement.

8

P
age 768



Headline Findings Across Each of the Five Neighbourhoods

Carter Lane & 

Ludgate

Whitefriars

Read on for more detailed views on the proposals for each neighbourhood. 

Notably strong levels of agreement with the proposed improvements for pedestrian priority (86% agree), 

public realm (92% agree) and cycling (81% agree).

Just one key pocket of disagreement – opinion among business owners split in relation to pedestrian 

priority improvements.

Strong levels of agreement with the proposed improvements for pedestrian priority (78% agree), public 

realm (84% agree), changes to kerbside parking (67%-73% agree) and cycling improvements (67% agree).  

70% feel that there is currently sufficient motor vehicle access in the neighbourhood for businesses and 

residents. 60% would like to see restrictions to through traffic, with almost 80% requesting public space 

takes priority over direct motor access. 

Some key pockets of disagreement – some business owners disagree with, or express uncertainty about, 

pedestrian priority improvements, and changes to kerbside parking (including restricting permitted traffic 

movements on Tallis Street/Carmelite Street.

Some business owners also feel that motor vehicle access is definitely or possibly lacking for businesses and 

residents, and have accompanying concerns about a potential restriction of through traffic, with a majority 

preferring direct motor access over public space.  

9

P
age 769



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood

10

P
age 770



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

We will improve the priority, comfort and safety of people walking in the neighbourhood. We will explore opportunities to:

• Raise the carriageway to pavement levels at junctions with side streets and at loading bay entrances.

• Restrict some motor vehicles during the morning, lunchtime and evening peak times to improve the priority of people 

walking.

• Restrictions could be on streets accessed from the junction of Fetter Lane and Breams Buildings. This could include 

Fetter Lane (north of Bream’s Buildings), Breams Buildings, Norwich Street, Tooks Court, Furnival Street and Cursitor 

Street.

• Improve where people cross on New Fetter Lane between Plough Place and Bartlett Court: and between Bartlett Passage 

and Thavies Inn House.

72% 6% 5% 5% 12%

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood
Pedestrian Priority Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Almost 80% of consultation participants AGREED with 

the proposed pedestrian priority improvements for the 

Chancery Lane neighbourhood.

Note: business owners were a little more critical of 

these improvements, with just 40% who AGREED, 

compared to 60% who DISAGREED.

11

No. of responses:                  (76)                                                 (6)   (5)   (5)     (13) 

P
age 771



12

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

• Creating a more accessible, pleasant, safer and 

liveable/usable environment. 

• Creating an improved working environment.

• Enhancing the area’s aesthetics via greenery.

• Optimising the pedestrian experience, minimising 

motor dominance.

• Improving air quality.

• Creating a less safe environment.

• Impeding those with mobility issues reliant on 

transport.

• Displacing traffic to surrounding routes/roads.

• Impeding workers, businesses and deliveries.

• Neglecting the issue of dangerous cyclists.

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 772



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

We will improve the streets and spaces by making them more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend time in. 
We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce more trees, planting, seating and Legible London signs and maps where possible; and improve paving.
• Introduce new or improved small public spaces at Tooks Court, the northern end of Fetter Lane and Breams Buildings.

77% 6% 4%2% 11%

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 
Public Realm Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed public realm improvements for the Chancery 

Lane neighbourhood.

13

No. of responses:                  (76)                                                    (6)   (4) (2)  (11) 

P
age 773



14

The Themes Underpinning Views

• Improving mental health and well-being via increased 

greenery and spaces/seating to pause.

• Improving air quality.

• Improving the area’s aesthetics.

• Increasing foot traffic to local businesses.

• Improving safety.

• Encouraging active travel.

• Improving biodiversity.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Impeding disabled access.

• Restricting courier access.

• Making changes at the expense of drivers – at the core 

of the city’s economy.

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 774



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

We will improve the comfort and safety of people cycling. We will explore opportunities to:

• Extend the existing cycle contraflow on Chancery Lane south to Fleet Street.
• Maximise the traffic signal priorities for cyclists on Fetter Lane and New Fetter Lane at the junctions with Fleet Street and

Holborn Circus.
• Introduce protected space for cyclists on Holborn.
• Introduce additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.

66% 12% 4% 4% 14%

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 
Cycling Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Again, there was a high level of support for these 

proposed improvements, with almost 80% of 

consultation participants who AGREED with the 

proposed cycling improvements for the Chancery Lane 

neighbourhood.

15

No. of responses:            (75)                                                (13)     (4)  (5)       (16) 

P
age 775



16

• Increasing cycling safety and appeal.

• Promoting a people-friendly, liveable city.

• Improving access to local businesses.

• Protecting and segregating cyclist space.

• Promoting sustainable transport.

• Consider more cycling improvements.

• Neglecting the issue of irresponsible/unsafe cyclists.

• Impeding essential motor vehicle business travel.

• Displacing motor traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Prioritising cycling to the detriment of non-cyclists.

• Introducing unnecessary/unjustifiable changes.

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 776



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Parking and Loading Changes

To enable greater pedestrian priority, wider pavements and more trees, planting and seating; the relocation of some kerbside 
parking may be required. We will explore:

• Relocating motorcycle and blue badge parking on Fetter Lane (north of Bream’s Buildings), and Tooks Court.

55% 11% 20% 4% 11%

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood 
Parking & Loading Changes

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Around two-thirds (66%) of consultation participants  

AGREED with these proposed changes.  

Just 15% DISAGREED.

Note: business owners were a little more divided in 

their opinion. 5 business owners responded and 3

DISAGREED with the proposal.

17

No. of responses:   (56)                                       (11)               (20)           (4)     (11) 

P
age 777



18

• Creating people-oriented, pleasant streets.

• Reducing traffic.

• Reducing parking space.

• Promoting/prioritising walking and cycling.

• Retaining Blue Badge provision.

• Increasing pedestrian/cyclist safety.

• Improving air quality.

• Reducing car parking space.

• Impeding local business/trade/deliveries.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Displacing motor traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Parking and Loading Changes

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 778



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Potential Changes

Chancery Lane has had experimental changes introduced. We are exploring opportunities to make permanent changes that 
could include:

• Retaining the timed restriction for motor vehicles.
• Widening the pavement on the eastern side and installing more seating.
• Formalising kerbside loading arrangements.

68% 14% 8% 3% 8%

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood
Potential Changes

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Again, over 80% of consultation participants AGREED

with these proposed permanent changes.  

Note: there was also majority agreement among all 

three business owners who responded.

In contrast, opinion among taxi users was more divided.  

Of the 11 taxi users who responded, 6 AGREED with the 

permanent changes, 4 DISAGREED and 1 was 

UNCERTAIN.

19

No. of responses:              (63)                                                  (13)          (7)    (3)   (7) 

P
age 779



20

• Widening of pavements.

• Increasing area hospitality/trade.

• Providing area seating.

• Enhancing cycling experience.

• Improving pedestrian priority.

• Preventing flood damage.

• Improving air quality.

• Reducing motor traffic and its dominance.

• Making the area more liveable/pleasant.

• Displacing traffic to nearby neighbourhoods/routes.

• Impedes taxis/loading vehicles.

• Increasing taxi journey lengths/fares for passengers.

• Impeding local trade/commerce/deliveries.

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Potential Changes

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 780



Supporting Comments

Opposing Comments

Selected Comments About Chancery Lane Neighbourhood Proposals

“Taking back motor dominance is always a 

good thing”.

“The area will become safer, greener 

and an altogether more liveable 

neighbourhood”.

“As someone who walks through this 

area regularly, I think this is a great 

idea”.

“It’s great to see imaginative 

improvements in the public realm and 

new green spaces”.

“More active transport is a good thing!”.

“Let's reduce car usage to a minimum”.

“The closure of Chancery Lane 

would be seriously damaging to the 

road network”.

“Restricting motor vehicles from 

relatively quiet roads creates more 

congestion on the surrounding roads, 

where people are more likely to walk,  

shop and cycle”.

“There are now fewer cyclists on the 

streets and prioritising traffic lights 

for them will cause more congestion 

for motor vehicles who need to go 

about their working business”.

21

P
age 781



There were 6 comments made about 
the Chancery Lane neighbourhood via 
the interactive map. 

These focused on the areas highlighted 
with orange pins on this map.

Comments related to walking (3), 
cycling (3) and traffic (2). 

They included a mix of positive (1), 
neutral (2) and negative (3) comments.

Chancery Lane Neighbourhood – Interactive Map Comments

22

P
age 782



Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood

23

P
age 783



Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

We will explore introducing motor vehicle restrictions on Shoe Lane south of the junction with Little New Street at lunchtimes 
and weekends to enable on street activities.

58% 18% 5% 5% 14%

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood 
Pedestrian Priority Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Over three-quarters (76%) of consultation participants  

AGREED with the proposed pedestrian priority 

improvements for the Fleet Street & Lanes 

neighbourhood.  

24

No. of responses:      (77)                                               (24)          (7)   (6)     (18) 

P
age 784



25

• Improving pedestrian space, safety and priority.

• Increasing footfall for local businesses.

• Encouraging more street-life.

• Promoting active travel.

• Improving public health and well-being.

• Reducing motor traffic/dominance.

• Improving the visitor and worker experience.

• Improving air quality.

• Consider further improvements.

• Generally impeding access.

• Increasing traffic congestion/air pollution.

• Impeding disabled accessibility.

• Impeding local business/trade.

• Damaging to bus routes.

• Making unnecessary changes.

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 785



Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

We will improve the streets and spaces by making them more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend time in. We will 
explore opportunities to:

• Introduce more trees, planting, seating and Legible London signs and maps where possible; and improve paving.

69% 12% 6% 2% 11%

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood 
Public Realm Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed public realm improvements for the Fleet 

Street & Lanes neighbourhood.  

26

No. of responses:            (84)                                                 (15)         (7) (2)   (14) 

P
age 786



27

• Increasing greenery in the area.

• Enhancing area aesthetics and enjoyment.

• Improving air quality.

• Widening pedestrian space.

• Encouraging footfall to local businesses.

• Addressing climate change issues.

• Creating a people, not car-dominated neighbourhood.

• Consider widening/increasing scope of improvements.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Narrowing space for road users.

• Increasing congestion and air pollution.

• Wasting public monies.

• Providing insufficient information on proposals.

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 787



Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

We will improve the comfort and safety of people cycling. We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce dedicated space on Holborn Viaduct and Newgate Street for people cycling and maximise the traffic signal 
priorities for cyclists at the junctions with Holborn Circus and Old Bailey and Giltspur Street and Warwick Lane.

• Introduce dedicated space, and maximise traffic signal priorities for people cycling on Fleet Street.
• Introduce additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.

56% 17% 5% 4% 18%

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood 
Cycling Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

Almost three-quarters (73%) of consultation 

participants AGREED with the proposed cycling 

improvements for the Fleet Street & Lanes 

neighbourhood.  

28

No. of responses:        (77)                                           (23)          (7)   (6)         (25) 

P
age 788



29

• Prioritising cycling.

• Providing a safer/easier/protected cycling experience.

• Encouraging more sustainable/active travel.

• Addressing climate change issues.

• Consider widening/increasing the scope of 

improvements.

• Prioritising cycling to the detriment of other road 

users.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Congesting traffic.

• Neglecting the issue of dangerous cyclists.

• Making unnecessary changes.

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 789



Fleet Street Neighbourhood Potential Changes

We will make Fleet Street a more comfortable and attractive street for people walking and make changes that support the 
local businesses. We will explore opportunities to:

• Maximise pavement space where possible and introduce new planting and seating.
• Introduce new on street loading facilities for businesses.
• Improve where people cross on Fleet Street between Salisbury Court and Shoe Lane.

67% 16% 3%1% 13%

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood 
Potential Changes

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:          (81)                                                   (19)         (4)(1)   (16) 

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

potential changes for the Fleet Street & Lanes 

neighbourhood.  

Note: pedestrians were in STRONG AGREEMENT with 

these potential changes, with the vast majority indicating 

support.

AGREEMENT was also evident from business owners. 4 of 

the 6 business owners who responded AGREED with the 

potential changes.

In contrast, there was more opposition from taxi users, 

with 9 DISAGREEING with the potential changes, 

compared to 5 who AGREED. 2 were UNCERTAIN.
30

P
age 790



31

• Improving the pedestrian 

experience/accessibility/safety.

• Advantages from pavement widening. 

• Consider widening the scope of changes.

• Increasing air quality.

• Improving area aesthetics.

• Increasing greenery.

• Protecting vulnerable users of the neighbourhood.

• Increasing footfall to local businesses.

• Unnecessary widening of pavements.

• Increasing congestion.

• Increasing air pollution.

• Wasting public monies.

• Neglecting to acknowledge that Fleet Street is a 

thoroughfare not a destination.

• Making unnecessary changes.

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Potential Changes

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 791



Supporting Comments

Opposing Comments

Selected Comments About Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Proposals

“Let's promote active travel and 

discourage the use of ever larger and 

more dangerous private vehicles”.

“There are too many motor vehicles 

in this area and too little 

pedestrian priority”.

“Trees and greenery will make the area 

much nicer to be in”.

“Why on earth would I not want a "more 

attractive,  comfortable and enjoyable" 

public realm? I feel like it's a battleground with 

the motor vehicle at the moment”.

“We have to respond to the climate 

emergency and make our city more liveable at 

the same time”.

“Public realm improvements NARROW 

the space available for pedestrians. 

This is not an improvement! 

Narrow space available to vehicles, 

don’t force pedestrians into conflict 

with cyclists!”.

“I'm not in favour of prioritising cycling 

to the detriment of other road users”.

“All these proposals will do is slow 

traffic to a crawl.  What is the point of 

improving pedestrian space when the 

environment will be so unpleasant 

because of the permanent traffic jam.  

Fleet Street is not a destination – it’s a 

thoroughfare and should be 

treated as such”. 

32

P
age 792



There were 14 comments made about 
the Fleet Street & Lanes neighbourhood 
via the interactive map. 

These focused on the areas highlighted 
with orange pins on this map.

Comments related to walking (7), cycling 
(7), street trees and planting (5) footways 
(4) and other areas (9, each of 2 or less). 

They included a mix of positive (2), 
neutral (4) and negative (8) comments.

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood - Interactive Map Comments

33

P
age 793



34

Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood Experience Improvements

Positive Negative

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent expressed a positive or negative 

opinion.

P
age 794



Old Bailey Neighbourhood

35

P
age 795



Old Bailey Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

We will improve the priority, comfort and safety of people walking in the neighbourhood. We will explore opportunities to:

• Restrict some motor vehicles on Old Bailey, south of the junction with Limeburner Lane during the morning, lunchtime 

and evening peak times.

• Access would be maintained for emergency vehicles, local access to the Central Criminal Court, the City of London 

Coroners Court and local businesses, access for taxis drop-off/pick-up’s and bicycles.

• Raise the carriageway to pavement level on Limeburner Lane at the junction with Fleet Place.

• Improve where people cross on Ludgate Hill between Pageantmaster Court and Old Bailey.

70% 8% 5%2% 14%

Old Bailey Neighbourhood
Pedestrian Priority Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:              (59)                                                 (7)     (4)  (2)     (12) 

Over three-quarters (78%) of consultation participants  

AGREED with the proposed pedestrian priority 

improvements for the Old Bailey neighbourhood.  

36

P
age 796



37

• Improving pedestrian space/safety.

• Giving pedestrians/cyclists priority.

• Making the area more vibrant/interesting.

• Promoting active travel.

• Increasing footfall for local businesses.

• Reducing motor traffic.

• Consider widening the scope of improvements.

• Returning the area to people.

• Impeding local business/trade/collections/deliveries.

• Increasing congestion and air pollution.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Displacing traffic onto neighbouring roads/routes.

• Damaging bus routes.

• Impeding those with mobility issues/disabilities.

Old Bailey Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 797



Old Bailey Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

We will improve the streets and spaces by making them more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend time in. 
We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce more trees, planting, seating and Legible London signs and maps where possible on Old Bailey.
• Reallocating carriageway to widened pavements where possible, on Ludgate Hill and on Old Bailey south of Limeburner 

Lane.

77% 9% 1% 12%

Old Bailey Neighbourhood
Public Realm Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:                  (58)                                                      (7)     (1)     (9) 

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed public realm improvements for the Old Bailey 

neighbourhood.  

38

P
age 798



39

• Increasing area greenery.

• Improving area aesthetics.

• Giving pedestrians priority.

• Widening of pavements.

• Reducing car dominance.

• Increasing area enjoyment.

• Narrowing the roads.

• Limiting road access for cars/taxis.

• Making unnecessary changes.

Old Bailey Neighbourhood Pubic Realm Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 799



Old Bailey Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

We will improve the comfort and safety of people cycling. We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce dedicated space for people cycling on Ludgate Hill.
• Improve the existing cycle facilities on Old Bailey and the cycle contraflow on Limeburner Lane.
• Introduce additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.

57% 13% 6% 2% 21%

Old Bailey Neighbourhood
Cycling Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:     (48)                                            (11)      (5)   (2)         (18) 

70% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed cycling improvements for the Old Bailey 

neighbourhood.  

40

P
age 800



41

• Prioritising/protecting cyclist safety.

• Rebalancing car domination.

• Improving footfall to local businesses.

• Encouraging cycling.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Congesting bus travel.

• Impeding business/trade/commerce.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Encouraging idling cars.

• Insufficient information on proposals.

Old Bailey Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 801



Supporting Comments

Opposing Comments

Selected Comments About Old Bailey Neighbourhood Proposals

“Reducing car dominance will make the 

area safer to travel through and more 

pleasant to visit”.

“The street is fairly drab at the moment.  

More plants would help improve the look 

and feel of the area”.

“Private cars should be kept out of the city 

as much as possible.  Space should be 

dedicated to pedestrians, cyclists, buses 

and finally black cabs, where necessary”.

“Improvements for pedestrian safety are 

welcome”.

“Anything that reduces the weight of cars is 

good.” 

“Roads need to be kept open to cars 

and taxis. There are schools nearby 

and closing the roads will hamper 

pick ups by grandparents who are 

disabled”. 

“When will anyone ever learn that 

not everyone can cycle or walk or is 

willing to. Trips to the airport or 

home to South London are in a taxi, 

not by walking or cycling”.

“Will shift traffic elsewhere, 

pushing pollution onto other people”.

“Less space for traffic means idling 

cars!!!”.

42

P
age 802



There were 7 comments made about the 
Old Bailey neighbourhood via the 
interactive map. 

These focused on the areas highlighted 
with orange pins on this map.

Comments on a range of subjects were 
recorded. These included  walking (3), 
traffic (2), personal safety (2) and cycling 
(2). 

They included a mix of positive (2), 
neutral (1) and negative (4) comments.

Old Bailey Neighbourhood - Interactive Map Comments

43

P
age 803



44

Old Bailey Neighbourhood Experience Improvements

Positive Negative

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent expressed a positive or 

negative opinion.

P
age 804



Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood

45

P
age 805



Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

We will improve the priority, comfort and safety of people walking in the neighbourhood. We will explore opportunities to:

• Change permitted traffic movements on Addle Hill, St Andrew’s Hill and Deans Court.
• Extend the existing Carter Lane timed motor vehicle traffic restriction to include Ludgate Broadway.
• Raise the carriageway to pavement levels on Pilgrim Street and at the side street junctions with Carter Lane with and at 

loading bay entrances.
• Improve where people cross on Victoria Street at the junction with Blackfriars Lane.

78% 8% 9% 3%3%

Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood
Pedestrian Priority Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:                  (62)                                                      (6)       (7)    (2) (2) 

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed pedestrian priority improvements for the 

Carter Lane & Ludgate neighbourhood.  

Note: Opinion among the 3 business owners who 

responded was more evenly divided, with equal 

proportions split between AGREEMENT, 

DISAGREEMENT and UNCERTAINTY.

46

P
age 806



47

• Reducing motor traffic.

• Making the area more welcoming.

• Giving pedestrians/cyclists priority.

• Improving pedestrian safety.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Impeding trade deliveries.

• Impeding driver and taxi accessibility.

Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 807



Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

We will improve the streets and spaces by making them more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend time in. We will 
explore opportunities to:

• Introduce more trees, planting, seating and Legible London signs and maps where possible; and improve paving.
• Introduce small public spaces on Ludgate Broadway, St Andrew’s Hill, Playhouse Yard and the platform over the railway at 

Apothecary Street.

Over 90% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed public realm improvements for the Carter 

Lane & Ludgate neighbourhood.  
85% 7% 4%1%3%

Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood
Public Realm Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:                     (62)                                                         (5)   (3) (1) (2) 

48

P
age 808



49

• Increasing greenery.

• Consider widening scope of proposals.

• Attracting increased area usage - encouraging a 

‘destination’ rather than a ‘thoroughfare’ feel.

• Improving area enjoyment for residents, workers and 

visitors.

• Improving mental well-being.

• Improving air quality.

• Removing parking spaces.

• Impeding business.

• Potentially impeding emergency services access.

• Potentially impeding wheelchair users and those with 

visual impairments.

Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 809



Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

We will improve the comfort and safety of people cycling. We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce dedicated space for people cycling on Queen Victoria Street and maximise the traffic signal priorities for cyclists
at the junctions with New Bridge Street and Puddleduck.

• Introduce additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.   

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed cycling improvements for the Carter Lane & 

Ludgate neighbourhood.  
68% 13% 9% 1% 7%

Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood
Cycling Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:             (56)                                                  (11)          (7)    (2)  (6) 

50

P
age 810



51

• Creating and connecting a cycle super highway.

• Prioritising cyclist safety.

• Creating dedicated, protected spaces for cyclists.

• Encouraging/diversifying cycling.

• Giving cyclists excessive priority to the detriment of 

drivers.

• Unnecessary changes.

• Risking pedestrian safety with the potential 

encouragement of more cyclists.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 811



Supporting Comments

Opposing Comments

Selected Comments About Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood Proposals

“The area has far more pedestrians than 

motorists”.

“I’m sick of nearly being run over!”.

I’m a resident in Carter Lane with 

young children. I strongly agree with 

prioritising the comfort and safety of 

pedestrians - a fantastic proposal!”.

“These improvements will be wonderful 

for the enjoyment not only of residents,

but workers and visitors too. I can only 

hope they are implemented ASAP!”.

“More active transport and less cars are

needed in London!”.

“The proposals follow others 

around the country, so many of 

which have completely 

destroyed the historic 

character of the places in 

which they’ve been imposed”.

“The proposals affect my job. 

There is already less places to 

load and unload as a courier. I 

am also disabled and struggling 

enough with walking long 

distances”. 

“Will just shift traffic 

elsewhere…pushing pollution 

onto other people”. 

52

P
age 812



There was 1 comment made about the 
Carter Lane & Ludgate neighbourhood via 
the interactive map. 

This focused on the area highlighted with 
an  orange pin on this map.

This comment related to local businesses, 
shopping and retail (1), walking (1), street 
trees and planting (1), seating and 
benches (1) and air quality (1).

The sentiment of the comment was 
neutral.

Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood - Interactive Map Comments

53

P
age 813



Whitefriars Neighbourhood

54

P
age 814



Whitefriars Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

We will improve the priority, comfort and safety of people walking in the neighbourhood. We will explore opportunities to:

• Raise the carriageway to pavement levels at junctions with side streets and at loading bay entrances.
• Improve where people cross on Tudor Street.
• Restrict motor vehicles travelling north on Dorset Rise and Salisbury Rise between the junctions with Hutton Street and 

Fleet Street.

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed pedestrian priority improvements for the 

Whitefriars neighbourhood.  

Note: While a majority of residents AGREED with the 

pedestrian priority improvement, opinion expressed by 

the 9 business owners who responded was more 

divided. 3 AGREED, 5 DISAGREED and 1 was 

UNCERTAIN.

68% 13% 2% 5% 12%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Pedestrian Priority Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:            (63)                                                  (12)      (2) (5)     (11) 

55

P
age 815



56

• Rebalancing/reducing car dominance.

• Prioritising pedestrians.

• Improving pedestrian safety.

• Improving area ambience.

• Improving air quality.

• Increasing area footfall and trade.

• Promotes active travel.

• Increasing congestion and standstill traffic.

• Increasing air pollution.

• Impeding those with health/mobility issues.

• Restricting worker access.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Wasting public monies.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Pedestrian Priority Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 816



Whitefriars Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

We will improve the streets and spaces by making them more attractive, comfortable and enjoyable to spend time in. We will 
explore opportunities to:

• Widen the pavements on Tudor Street .
• Introduce more trees, planting, seating and Legible London signs and maps where possible; and improve paving.
• Introduce a small public space on Bridewell Place.

Over 80% of consultation participants AGREED with the 

proposed public realm improvements for the 

Whitefriars neighbourhood.  

Note: A similarly high percentage (over 70%) of 

residents AGREED with the proposed public realm 

improvements.

73% 11% 6% 1% 7%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Public Realm Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:              (65)                                                   (10)       (5)   (3)  (6) 

57

P
age 817



58

• Increasing greenery.

• Enhancing area ambience.

• Improving air quality.

• Providing social areas.

• Improving air quality.

• Promoting active travel.

• Addressing climate change issues.

• Increasing pedestrian safety.

• Wasting public monies.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Displaying a lack of vision.

• Impeding worker access.

• Requiring more detail.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Public Realm Improvements

Agree Disagree Not sure

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 818



Whitefriars Neighbourhood Changes to Kerbside Parking

Changes to kerbside parking and some vehicle movements could allow greater pedestrian priority and public realm 
improvements. We will explore:

• One directional motor traffic on Tallis Street and Carmelite Street between Tallis Street and Tudor Street to enable kerbside
parking to be relocated from other streets.

Two out of every three consultation participants (67%) 

SUPPORTED changes to permitted traffic movements on Tallis 

Street and Carmelite Street.  

Note: Residents were more likely than business owners to 

SUPPORT these changes.  Among the 9 business owners who 

responded, 3 SUPPORTED the changes, 4 OPPOSED the changes 

and 2 were UNCERTAIN.

67%
11%

22%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Changes to Kerbside Parking

Do you support changes to permitted traffic 
movements on Tallis Street and Carmelite Street?

Yes Unsure No

12 responses

59

72 responses

24 responses

P
age 819



60

• Rebalancing car dominance and giving pedestrians 

priority.

• Addressing climate change issues.

• Improving pedestrian/cyclist safety.

• Improving pedestrian/cyclist access/movement.

• Improving air quality.

• Encouraging cycling.

• Reducing car parking space.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Increasing congestion.

• Impeding worker access.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Changes to Kerbside Parking

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 820



Whitefriars Neighbourhood Changes to Kerbside Parking

Changes to kerbside parking and some vehicle movements could allow greater pedestrian priority and public realm 
improvements. We will explore:

• Reducing kerbside parking in the area to enable greater pedestrian priority, wider pavements and more trees, planting and 
seating to be introduced.

Just under three-quarters (73%) of consultation participants 

SUPPORTED the reduction of kerbside parking to enable greater 

pedestrian priority and other improvements.   

Note: A majority of residents were highly supportive of this 

proposed kerbside parking reduction.  Of the 9 business owners 

who responded, 3 expressed SUPPORT for these changes, 5 

OPPOSED the changes and 1 was UNCERTAIN.

73%

3%

24%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Changes to Kerbside Parking

Do you support reducing kerbside parking to 
enable greater pedestrian priority and other 

improvements?

Yes Unsure No

3 responses

61

79 responses

26 responses

P
age 821



Whitefriars Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

We will improve the comfort and safety of people cycling. We will explore opportunities to:

• Introduce a new cycle contraflow on Dorset Rise and Salisbury Court.
• Improve the existing cycle contraflows on Bouverie and Whitecross Street.
• Introduce additional cycle parking and dockless cycle and e-scooter hire bays.

Around two-thirds (67%) of consultation participants 

AGREED with the proposed cycling improvements for 

the Whitefriars neighbourhood.  
56% 11% 10% 5% 17%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Cycling Improvements

How do you feel about this proposal?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

No. of responses:     (59)                                          (12)         (11)    (5)          (18) 

62

P
age 822



63

Reasons Underpinning Views

• Increasing cyclist safety.

• Increasing cycling movement/accessibility/protection.

• Prioritising cyclists.

• Encouraging cycling and active transport.

• Rebalancing car domination.

• Consider widening the scope of proposals.

• Further eroding road space.

• Increasing congestion.

• Displacing traffic to neighbouring roads/routes.

• Wasting public monies.

• Neglecting to address the issue of dangerous cycling.

• Making unnecessary changes.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Cycling Improvements

Agree Disagree

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 823



Whitefriars Neighbourhood – Access

We are currently investigating access into the Whitefriars Neighbourhood for motor vehicles to make sure it is sufficient for
businesses and residents in the neighbourhood. To help inform our investigations do you consider:

• Access into the neighbourhood for motor vehicles is sufficient for businesses and residents in the area?

70% of consultation participants currently felt that there was 

sufficient motor vehicle access into the neighbourhood for both 

businesses and residents.

Note: The vast majority of residents felt that this access was 

sufficient. 

Of the 9 business owners who responded, 5 felt that this access 

was sufficient, and 4 felt that it was not sufficient. 

70%

18%

12%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Access
Is access into the neighbourhood for motor 

vehicles sufficient for businesses and residents in 
the area?

Yes Unsure No

17 responses

64

64 responses

11 responses

P
age 824



Whitefriars Neighbourhood – Access

We are currently investigating access into the Whitefriars Neighbourhood for motor vehicles to make sure it is sufficient for
businesses and residents in the neighbourhood. To help inform our investigations do you consider:

• That through traffic in the area is a problem and think restrictions should be introduced to reduce it?

A majority (60%) of consultation participants felt that through 

traffic in the area was a problem, requiring reduction via 

restrictions. 

Note: A majority of residents SUPPORTED  through traffic 

restrictions.

Of the 9 business owners who responded, 2 SUPPORTED through 

traffic restrictions and 7 OPPOSED them.

60%15%

25%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Access
Is through traffic in the area a problem requiring 

the introduction of restrictions to reduce it?

Yes Unsure No

14 responses

65

55 responses

23 responses

P
age 825



66

• Reducing motor traffic and car dominance.

• Restricting through traffic to main roads.

• Very little traffic currently evident.

• Improving air quality.

• Creating congestion.

• Making unnecessary changes.

• Impeding essential thoroughfare traffic and parking.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood Access

Agree Disagree

The Themes Underpinning Views

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent agreed or disagreed with the topic.

P
age 826



Whitefriars Neighbourhood – Potential Small Public Space

At the southern end of Temple Avenue, a small public space could be created. Temple Avenue, however, may be required to 
enable direct vehicle access into the neighbourhood from the Victoria Embankment.

Almost 80% of consultation participants felt that public 

space should take priority over direct motor access in 

this area.

Note: this feeling was particularly strong among 

residents and workers.

Of the 8 business owners who responded, 3 felt that 

public space should be prioritised, while 5 felt that  

direct motor access should be prioritised. 

78% 22%

Whitefriars Neighbourhood
Based on the above, what should be prioritised?

Public space Direct motor access

67

No. of responses:                  (71)                                                              (20) 

P
age 827



Supporting Comments

Opposing Comments

Selected Comments About Whitefriars Neighbourhood Proposals

“The area is very busy and some roads attract 

more vehicular traffic than others so 

prioritising pedestrians here is important”.

“We have a climate emergency and a 

need to get people out of cars and into 

active travel options whether possible”.

“I support these changes as pedestrians 

should be a priority - especially with the 

need to increase active transport in 

addition to the use of public transport”. 

“More needs done to support safe cycling”. 

“I think that street tree planting should be 

maximised”. 

“Cars and drivers have had it their way far 

too long. Reclaim the streets”. 

“We are losing too much road space.  

London was built for the horse and 

cart”.

“We have lost enough road space as 

it is. Why don't you just ban all 

motor vehicles altogether then see 

all business leave London and people 

losing jobs?”. 

“Not everyone can walk or cycle.  

By taking more road space it will 

mean more standstill traffic –

not very wise for one of the financial 

capitals of the world”. 

68

P
age 828



There were 5 comments made about the 
Whitefriars neighbourhood via the 
interactive map. 

These focused on the areas highlighted 
with orange pins on this map.

Comments related to walking (3), cycling 
(3), traffic (2) and other subjects (3, each 
just 1 comment).

They included 1 positive and 4 negative 
comments.

Whitefriars Neighbourhood - Interactive Map Comments

69

P
age 829



70

Whitefriars Neighbourhood – Experience Improvements

Negative

This chart shows the count of topics in free 

text responses to this question, and if the 

respondent expressed a positive or negative 

opinion.

P
age 830



In addition to the Commonplace survey feedback, a total of 5 emails were received. 

These included: 

2 responses from the London Cycling Campaign. These responses demonstrated general support for the proposals, particularly for dedicated 

space for cycling on City Access Streets:

• The Chancery Lane Neighbourhood - support for proposals but concern about no protected space on Fetter Lane.

• Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood - support for proposals but concern about no protective space on Fleet Street. If space is not available 

a bus gate should be considered as an alternative. 

• Old Bailey Neighbourhood - support for proposals but concern about traffic speeds on Limeburner Lane - require protected space for cyclists 

or changes to the carriageway to restrict vehicle speeds.

• Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood - support for proposals, particularly Queen Victoria Street.

• Whitefriars Neighbourhood - support for proposals.

1 response received from London Living Streets. They support the proposals but recommend: 

• Investigating Old Bailey north of Limeburner Lane having traffic restrictions.

• Fleet Street having a bus gate to restrict through traffic.

Email Responses

71

P
age 831



2 email responses were also received from individuals:

#1

• The project area should be extended to include St Paul’s cathedral, Blackfriars and their child’s school.

• Blackfriars Station needs internal cycle storage. 

• Cycle improvements on Queen Victoria should be prioritised.

• A pedestrian crossing on Upper Thames Street should be installed (outside project area).

#2

• The Healthy Streets Plan should not be produced before the new Transport Strategy is published.

• Increased walking and cycling will not improve people’s health.

• Cyclists are more of a threat to pedestrians than motor vehicles.

• Priorities of the plan should be street maintenance and carriageway and pavement space not be given temporary road closures for building 

work and street clutter.

• Changes should be made at the junction of Temple Avenue and New Bridge Street.

• Bouverie Street should have seating introduced for people queuing at the Polish Consulate. Cyclists should be made to use Temple Avenue.

• Cycle lanes are not required, and cyclists should not have any priority over other forms of traffic. 

• Pavements should not be widened if they are going to accommodate trees, seating and cycle stands. 

Email Responses

72

P
age 832



Grateful acknowledgments are extended to all those who took the time to participate in the consultation. 

How the Consultation Findings Will Be Used

There will be additional engagement and consultation opportunities in the future, as the plan and individual projects are 

developed.

Acknowledgements and Next Steps

73

P
age 833



Appendix: Consultation Participants

74

P
age 834



Overall: Age Group

The age of consultation participants ranged from 
16 to 75+, with a wide spread of ages 
represented – typically aged  25-54.  

5%

23%
20% 22%

16%
11%

3%

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84

Which of the following age groups do you fall within?

Overall: Gender

A majority of consultation participants (71%) described 
themselves as a man.  

71%

18%
5% 6%

Man Woman Non-binary/other Prefer not to say

How would you describe your gender?

75

P
age 835



Overall: Disability

24% of consultation participants indicated that they had 
a long-term health problem or a disability which limited 
their daily activities or travel. 68%

9% 8% 3% 4% 9%

Do you have long-term health problems or a 
disability that limits daily activities or travel?

Overall: Ethnicity

66% of consultation participants described their ethnicity 
as White British, with 35% of another, different ethnicity.  

13 different other ethnicities were specified, giving the 
consultation a rich diversity of participation.  

66%
15% 2% 1% 1% 10% 5%

White
British

Other
White

Mixed:
White &

Asian

Mixed:
White
Black

Caribbean

Asian or
Asian

British:
Indian

Other
ethnicities*

Prefer not
to say

Which of the following best describes your 
ethnicity?

* Other included hearing/vision, learning disabilities and others unspecified. 

* Other included White Irish, Other Asian, Arab, Bangladeshi, Chinese, Pakistani, African, Other 

Black and Other mixed ethnicity. 76

P
age 836



Overall: Usual Travel

Walking (40%) and cycling (29%) were the most 
frequent travel modes in, or through, the area. 40%

29%

17%
8%

3% 3%

Walk Cycle Bus Taxi Private car Other*

How do you usually travel in, or through, this area?

Overall: Area Relationship

Workers (35%), visitors (28%) and those travelling through the area (24%) were the three main relationship types to the 
area.

35%
28% 24%

6% 4% 2% 2%

Worker Visitor Travelling through Resident Business owner Student Other

What is your relationship to the Fleet Street area?

* Other included powered two-wheeler, commercial vehicle, motorcycle, wheelchair, tube and 

train. 77

P
age 837



Chancery Lane Neighbourhood - Consultation Participants

78

P
age 838



Fleet Street and Lanes Neighbourhood - Consultation Participants

79

P
age 839



Old Bailey Consultation Neighbourhood - Participants

80

P
age 840



Carter Lane & Ludgate Neighbourhood - Consultation Participants

81

P
age 841



Whitefriars Neighbourhood - Consultation Participants

82

P
age 842



P
age 843



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 844



Committee(s): 
Planning & Transportation Committee 
Police Authority Board  
 

Dated: 
21 November 2023 
22 November 2023 
 

Subject: Vision Zero Plan 2023 – 2028 Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Outcome 1: People are safe 
and feel safe 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Y 

If so, how much? £300-400k 
What is the source of Funding? CIL, OSPR, TfL 
Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N (see paragraphs 30-35) 

Report of: Bob Roberts, Interim Executive Director 
Environment 

For Decision 

Report author: Simon Bradbury, Strategic Transport 
Officer, Environment Department 

 
 

Summary 
 

The City of London Corporation will seek to do everything it can to make the streets of 
the Square Mile safe for everyone, working with key partners such as the City of 
London Police and Transport for London to keep people safe from harm. 
This is collectively known as Vision Zero and requires the City Corporation and City 
Police to embed a safety culture in every aspect of their operations, from public 
engagement and wider corporate strategies to how we manage our streets and design 
new schemes.  
In accordance with this key objective, the 2019 adopted Transport Strategy 
established the strategic direction for achieving Vision Zero, setting the ambition of 
seeking to eliminate transport related deaths and serious injuries from the streets of 
the Square Mile by 2040.  
A range of ambitious road danger reduction measures have been delivered in the 
period since the adoption of the Transport Strategy but more still needs to be done. 
As a result, the latest Vision Zero Plan includes a number of additional initiatives 
focusing on engineering, behaviour change, data gathering and analysis, and 
enforcement to reduce road risk at source. 
These are structured using the five themes of: 

• Safe Streets – designing streets so they do not contribute to risk 
• Safe Speeds – encouraging speeds appropriate to the street 
• Safe Vehicles – focusing on vehicles that pose the greatest risk 
• Safe Behaviours – improving the behaviour of street users 
• Post Collision Response – learning from serious collisions and improving care 

for victims of road trauma 
 

Page 845

Agenda Item 8



 
If approved, the Vision Zero Plan would be jointly owned by the City Corporation and 
the City of London Police, with TfL expected to become a co-signatory. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are recommended to approve the Vision Zero Plan 2023 – 2028. 
 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 

1. The City Corporation’s Vision Zero Plan supersedes the previous Road 
Danger Reduction and Active Travel Plan covering the period 2018-23, and 
the Vision Zero ambition was included within the Transport Strategy which 
was adopted in 2019. 

2. Alongside the need to embed an enhanced safety culture across all aspects 
of road danger reduction, transport planning and public realm design, the 
Vision Zero goal also established an ambition to seek to eliminate deaths and 
serious injuries from the City’s streets by 2040. 

3. The goal of achieving Vision Zero using a ‘Safe System approach’ is in line 
with the Mayor of London’s ambition and is consistent with national and 
international best practice, with the approach prescribed by the Department 
for Transport. TfL published its own Vision Zero action plan in 2018, which 
was then updated in November 2021 with a Vision Zero progress report.  

4. The City’s Transport Strategy set the strategic direction for achieving Vision 
Zero for the Square Mile, and a range of ambitious road danger reduction 
measures have been delivered in the period since. For example, Bank junction 
has undergone considerable change to reduce risk to those using the street, 
whilst events such as Lunchtime Streets have helped to give greater priority 
to people walking in the City. The City Police has continued to challenge 
dangerous behaviour from those that put others at risk in the Square Mile.   
However, more needs to be done in order for the City to reach its interim target 
for fewer deaths and serious injuries.  
 

Current Position 
5. Between the period 2005-2019, the City’s streets saw a general levelling off 

in the numbers of deaths and serious casualties, with between one and four 
people killed and 50-80 seriously injured each year. Considering the 
significant increase in the numbers of people walking and cycling over this 
period, the absence of a concurrent increase in fatal and serious injuries 
suggests that risk in a broader sense has been reduced, even if the absolute 
number of serious casualties had not fallen. 

6. 2020 and 2021 saw a reduction in the number of people killed and seriously 
injured. This was largely as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the 

Page 846



associated reduction in the number of people using the City’s streets. 
However, 2022 saw a significant increase in the number of people seriously 
injured, with 59 serious casualties. This represented a 48 per cent increase 
on the previous year.  

7. The City Corporation missed its short term 2022 target for a reduction to below 
35 serious injuries and faces a number of challenges to remain on track to its 
current 2030 target of fewer than 16 fatal or serious casualties. The City’s 
Transport Strategy is currently undergoing review, after its publication in May 
2019. The Strategy will review the Vision Zero proposal and the revised 
targets as now recommended are set out in the plan in Appendix 1. 

 
Area of focus for the plan  

8. Collision and casualty data analysis has revealed the following insights and 
areas of focus for reducing road danger and casualties: 
• People walking, cycling and riding motorcycles are the most vulnerable 

users of the City’s streets, and efforts should be prioritised towards 
reducing the risk that they experience.  

• Junctions are the highest-risk locations, with complex turning manoeuvres 
presenting greater potential for conflict. The focus of the City Corporation 
and TfL’s engineering programme should be on these locations. 

• With over half of all deaths and serious injuries occurring on the street 
network that is managed by TfL, a strong and effective partnership with 
TfL will be vital in reducing risk and casualties in the City. 

• Certain vehicles, notably motorcycles, buses/coaches and heavy good 
vehicles pose greater risk to people walking and cycling, and significant 
gains in the reduction of road danger and prevention of injuries can be 
achieved by mitigating the risk they pose. 

• Whilst the above vehicles pose the greatest risk, the casualty data 
confirms that efforts to reduce fatal and serious injuries to zero also need 
to focus on cars, taxis and private hire vehicles as the vehicles involved in 
most serious collisions by number. 

• People riding motorcycles are disproportionately involved in serious injury 
of both themselves and others, and conflict between people cycling and 
walking is an issue that needs to be addressed to reduce danger to both 
parties. 

Changes to the plan following Member engagement 
 

9. Following presentation of the draft Vision Zero Plan to members at the May 
2023 Police Authority Board (PAB) and a subsequent joint briefing of 
Members of both PAB and the Planning & Transportation Committee, the 
document has been revised in the following ways: 

 

• Responding to comments about the importance of engineering 
interventions, the order of the themes of action has been revised, with the 

Page 847



Safe Streets theme brought to the front, with a clearer focus on 
infrastructure investment and improvement.  

• The number of actions has been reduced from 19 in the previous version, 
to eight headline actions, with activity that the City Corporation and City 
Police largely already do in each theme covered through ‘supporting’ 
actions. The plan is now more succinct, through reducing some of the 
background and context. 

• The draft plan removes the commitment that was contained within the 
2019 Transport Strategy to introduce 15mph speed limits across the City. 
The request for a City-wide 15mph speed limit was turned down by the 
Department for Transport and so this action is not included in the revised 
plan. 

• A ‘Delivering the Plan’ section has been added that includes a table with 
detail on the headline actions, including cost/resource required, source of 
funding and timescales for delivery. This section makes clear that there is 
no expectation on the City Police to increase levels of funding or to deliver 
activity in addition to their existing resourcing. 

 
The Vision Zero Programme 
10. The Vision Zero Plan is structured using the Safe System approach. The Safe 

System framework improves upon the traditional approach of categorising 
activity by engineering, education or enforcement, and sees a death or serious 
injury as a failure of a ‘system’. 

11. All elements of the street ‘system’ need to work in combination to prevent the 
tragic events. As such, the framework of this plan is structured around five key 
themes: 

• Safe Streets – to ensure streets are forgiving and do not contribute to risk 
to street users 

• Safe Speeds – action to encourage speeds appropriate to the street 

• Safe Vehicles – concentrating on the vehicles that pose the greatest risk, 
whilst discouraging motor vehicle use where possible, and 

• Safe Behaviours – improving the behaviour of streets users and 
minimising harm posed by the highest risk behaviours 

• Post Collision Response – learning from serious collisions and improving 
care available for victims of road trauma. 

12. Key proposals under each of these themes are as set out below, but it is also 
intended to ensure the Vision Zero culture is made central to the design and 
delivery of all our initiatives across the City Corporation, City Police and other 
partners. This is the first and overarching action that sits above the other Safe 
System themes.  

13. Each Safe System theme of action includes one or more headline actions that 
contain new initiatives or feature an expansion of the existing programme. 
These headline actions are in turn complemented by further supporting 

Page 848



actions that represent continuation or more minor expansion of existing 
programmes. 

14. Working in partnership with the City Police is an essential element for 
successful delivery of the Vision Zero Plan, and integral to the delivery of all 
five themes of the Safe System Approach. This draft plan has therefore been 
prepared with the City Police and Transport for London and is to be seen as 
a joint document with these key partners1. 

Safe Streets 

15. Under the theme of Safe Streets, the headline action is for:  

• A programme of junction improvement schemes to be scoped, designed 
and delivered to reduce danger and the fear of danger at priority 
locations. A ranked list of ten junction improvement schemes is included 
but the number of junction location schemes that will be progressed to 
delivery within the lifetime of this plan is yet to be determined. This will 
be dependent on the availability of City Corporation and / or TfL funding 
but will be subject to the usual public consultation and Committee 
approval processes, including traffic modelling for larger schemes. 

Safe Speeds 

16. The Safe Speeds theme includes a headline action to: 

• Promote and encourage speed compliance through designing the street 
to be self-enforcing, harnessing on-street technology and messaging 
and in-vehicle intelligent speed assistance, whilst amplifying national and 
London speed education and awareness campaigns. 

Safe Vehicles 

17. The Safe Vehicles theme includes the following headline action: 

• The City Corporation and partners will take a risk-based approach to 
improving the design, maintenance and operation of vehicles that 
continue to travel on the City’s streets. Including through: 
a. encouraging TfL to identify all opportunities to improve safety, both 

in the design specification for future London black cabs and in its 
influence over private hire vehicle operators 

b. making design recommendations, where powered two wheelers 
continue to be used, to ensure the vehicles used by restaurant and 
grocery delivery companies and professional courier services pose 
the least risk to others 

c. seeking to influence future legislation on e-scooters, and other 
micro-mobility and emerging transport technologies, to ensure that 
measures to encourage safe use are incorporated. 

Safe Behaviours 

18. The headline actions within the Safe Behaviours theme, is to: 

 
1 Subject to review and approval of the final plan by TfL 

Page 849



• Deliver behaviour change and training interventions, with a focus on 
improving the riding and driving behaviour of those that pose the greatest 
risk. This action includes initiatives to: 
a. work with TfL’s Taxi & Private Hire team to encourage them to 

strengthen safety requirements where possible, e.g., driver safety 
training, police incident reporting etc 

b. support TfL with insight, data and expertise to advise on bus safety 
programme initiatives relevant to the City 

c. work with the City Police to support and amplify the campaigns, 
communications and behaviour change activity of TfL, the DfT and 
other agencies, e.g., campaigns to promote awareness of the 
Highway Code.  
 

Post Collision Response and Monitoring & Evaluation 

19. Lastly, the Post Collision Response and Monitoring & Evaluation theme covers 
headline actions to support the victims of road trauma and learn from collisions 
when they happen, including action: 

• the City of London Corporation and City Police to continue to deliver a 
high level of collision investigation to help inform and develop the 
approach to reducing road danger and preventing fatal and serious 
injuries 

• injury outcomes from collisions in the City to be minimised through 
access to emergency care, and support to be improved for those that 
suffer the most from the effects of fatal and serious collisions 

• further monitoring, evaluation and data improvements, along with greater 
reporting, to foster a proactive forward-thinking safety culture in the 
Square Mile. 

 
Engagement to Develop the Vision Zero Plan 

20. The Vision Zero Plan and the actions contained within it were developed 
through extensive engagement and collaboration, both within and external to 
the City Corporation. 

21. Data and insight from the refreshed collision data analysis, along with a 
junction prioritisation tool led to the drafting of actions oriented towards the 
key themes. 

22. Safe System thematic workshops were then held with colleagues across the 
City Corporation, City Police and TfL, as well as separate engagement 
workshops for transport stakeholders and business / resident groups. 
Engagement sessions included workshops and one-to-ones with transport 
representative groups and campaign organisations, including Motorcycle 
Action Group, Logistics UK, the Brewery Logistics Group, London Cycling 
Campaign and the Licenced Taxi Drivers Association. 

23. Finally, actions have been circulated across the City Corporation, City Police 
TfL and emergency service partners to gather final input and clarification. 

Page 850



 
Proposal 

24. It is therefore proposed to adopt the Vision Zero Plan for 2023-28 on the basis 
of adopting the approach set out in the paragraphs above, including a revised 
target for the medium term.  

25. In particular, the focus on promoting the culture of Vision Zero embedded in 
all aspects of our policies, procedures, highway design and public 
engagement will sit alongside the specific initiatives and interventions that 
form part of the Safer Systems framework. 

26. Vision Zero will also form a crucial role in supporting the business case to seek 
funding for individual schemes/projects and initiatives through the new 
prioritisation process for funding from the Community Infrastructure Levy and 
/ or On-Street Parking Reserve (see below).  

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
Strategic implications 

27. The Vision Zero Plan supports the delivery of Corporate Plan outcomes 1, 2, 
3, and 12.  

28. The City Corporation’s Transport Strategy includes the ambition to deliver 
Vision Zero, and the Vision Zero Plan will help in delivering the casualty 
reduction targets set within the Strategy. 

29. Delivery of the Vision Zero Plan will mitigate departmental risk ENV-CO-TR 
001 – Road Safety. 

 
Financial / resource implications 

30. Most transport projects already include measures to reduce road danger, and 
so some of the actions set out in the plan can be delivered through existing 
workstreams. From the annual TfL LIP funding, it is recommended that an 
initial £300-400k of revenue funding over the 5 year plan period will be 
required to deliver these outcomes and therefore will be allocated from 
anticipated funding.  

31. However, given the much-reduced funding now available from TfL to the City 
Corporation, and the scale of work required to deliver the Safe Streets 
element, a further £2-3m of additional funding will be required to scope 
feasibility and initial design work on the priority junctions. This will be the 
subject of a future capital bid. This initial funding will allow us to develop 
accurate cost estimates for these projects and prioritise delivery to inform 
future specific project capital bids.  

32. The additional funding required has not yet been agreed with the Chamberlain 
as this relates to the wider review of CIL and OSPR funding that has recently 
finished. Capital funding proposals for the delivery of the Vision Zero Plan will 
be included as part of future submissions for consideration by the Corporate 
Priorities Board and Resource Allocation Sub Committee. 

Page 851



33. We are proposing adopting the Vision Zero Plan in advance of this additional 
capital funding being agreed so that any funding bids are informed by policy 
proposals and to avoid delaying the delivery of other elements of the Plan. 

34. Smaller scale interventions, strategic measures and behaviour change 
campaigns will be funded through local risk, officer time and annual Local 
Implementation Plan (LIP) funding, an assumed amount based on indicative 
allocations from TfL is allocated in the delivery section of the plan.  

35. The actions contained in this plan that relate to the City Police will not require 
any additional funding. Police officer time for engagement and enforcement 
activity will be met through existing available resources. 

 
Legal implications  

36. The City Corporation has a statutory duty to deliver improvements that prevent 
road traffic collisions. The 1988 Road Traffic Act, Section 39, puts a duty on 
the local authority to undertake studies into road traffic collisions, and to take 
steps both to reduce and prevent them. 

37. The pertinent wording from the Act is: 
39.2  Each local authority must prepare and carry out a programme of 
measures designed to promote road safety and may make contributions 
towards the cost of measures for promoting road safety taken by other 
authorities or bodies. 

38. The City Corporation also has a statutory duty under s16 of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 to manage the road network (as far as reasonably 
practicable) to ensure the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority’s 
road network, as well as the road networks of other authorities. 

39. In meeting these and other statutory obligations, every authority must seek to 
balance these requirements alongside their other policies, objectives & 
priorities.  

 
Equalities Implications 

40. A Test of Relevance for an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been 
completed for the Vision Zero Plan. It concluded that there were no negative 
impacts on people with protected characteristics, and that the impacts of the 
Vision Zero Plan and its actions were only positive. 

 
Climate implications 

41. Delivery of some of the actions in the Vision Zero Plan support the objectives 
of the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy to reduce the use of motor 
vehicles and enable more walking and cycling. 

 
Security implications 

42. None 

Page 852



 
Conclusion 

43. Road danger reduction measures delivered over the last five to ten years have 
been successful in preventing an increase in fatal and serious injuries in the 
City despite increasing numbers of people walking and cycling. 

44. 2020 and 2021 saw significant reductions in numbers of fatal and serious 
injuries as a result of reductions in the numbers of people travelling in the City 
due to Covid-19 related public health measures and increased home-working. 

45. However, 2022 saw a significant increase in the number of people seriously 
injured, with 59 serious casualties. This represented a 48 per cent increase on 
the previous year. The achievement of the 2030 target of fewer than 20 people 
killed or seriously injured each year already looks to be challenging. 

46. The Vision Zero Plan 2023-2028 seeks to reassert the City Corporation and 
City Police’s ambition to work towards the eradication of deaths and serious 
injuries, with a programme of action oriented towards the areas of focus seen 
in the latest collision data. 

47. Progress towards the achievement of actions in the Vision Zero Plan will be 
monitored and reported to the Planning and Transportation Committee through 
the Transport Strategy Annual Report, and through updates on departmental 
risk ENV-CO-TR 001 – Road Safety. 

 
Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Draft Vision Zero Plan 2023-2028. 
 
 
Background Papers 

• City of London Transport Strategy 
• City of London Road Danger Reduction and Active Travel Plan 2018-2023 

 
Simon Bradbury  
Strategic Transport Officer  
Environment Department 
Simon.Bradbury@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 853

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s92190/RDR%20Strategy%20Appendix%201.pdf
mailto:Simon.Bradbury@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 854



 

1 
 

Planning & Transportation Committee – 21 November 2023  
Police Authority Board – 22 November 2023 
 
 

Appendix 1: Draft Vision Zero plan 

 
 
 
 
 
City of London Vision Zero Plan  
2023 -2028  

Page 855



 

2 
 

Forewords 

Shravan Joshi, Chair of Planning and Transportation Committee, City of London 
Corporation 

 

TBC  

Page 856



 

3 
 

City of London Police Commissioner, City of London Police 

 

  

Page 857



 

4 
 

Transport for London (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer) 

 

Reviewed by TfL and will send for approval by TfL Chief Safety Health and 
Environment Officer  

Page 858



 

5 
 

Contents 
Forewords ............................................................................................................... 2 

Table of Figures ...................................................................................................... 6 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................ 7 

Section A: Context, Approach and Framework for Delivery .................................... 8 

Introduction .......................................................................................................... 8 

Challenges learnt from the casualty data ........................................................... 11 

Safe System and a focus on the sources of harm ............................................. 18 

Road Danger Reduction and a risk management approach .............................. 21 

Targets to monitor progress towards Vision Zero .............................................. 22 

Delivering in partnership .................................................................................... 23 

Section B: Safe System Programme of Action ...................................................... 24 

Safe Streets ....................................................................................................... 25 

Safe Speeds ...................................................................................................... 31 

Safe Vehicles ..................................................................................................... 35 

Safe Behaviours ................................................................................................ 40 

Post Collision Learning, Analysis and Support .................................................. 46 

Delivering the Vision Zero Plan.......................................................................... 49 

 

  

Page 859



 

6 
 

Table of Figures 

Figure 1: Chart to show relationship between Vision Zero and other transport goals 9 
Figure 2: Chart showing progress in reducing fatal and serious casualties in the City 
of London from 2005-2021 ....................................................................................... 10 
Figure 3: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by mode of travel (1/1/2017-
09/11/2022) .............................................................................................................. 12 
Figure 4: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by age (1/1/2017-09/11/2022) .... 12 
Figure 5: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by gender and risk by 100,000 
workforce population (1/1/2017-27/07/2022) ............................................................ 13 
Figure 6: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by highways authority (1/1/2017-
31/12/2019 and 1/1/2020 – 09/11/2022) .................................................................. 13 
Figure 7: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by time of day (1/1/2017-9/11/2022)
 ................................................................................................................................. 14 
Figure 8: Chart to show relative risk of being fatally or seriously injured by mode of 
travel (1/1/2017-31/09/2021) .................................................................................... 14 
Figure 9: Chart to show relative risk of being involved in a fatal or serious collision, 
whilst not being the injured party, by mode of travel (1/1/2017-31/09/2021) ............ 15 
Figure 10: Key themes of the Safe System Approach .............................................. 19 
Figure 11: Healthy Streets indicators and contribution of safety .............................. 20 
Figure 12: Targeted reductions in numbers of fatal and serious injuries in the City . 22 
Figure 13: Map to show collisions cluster locations in the City of London ................ 26 
Figure 14: Hierarchy of impact and vulnerability from street users ........................... 40 

Page 860



 

7 
 

Executive Summary 

 

To follow 

 

 

 

Page 861



 

8 
 

Section A: Context, Approach and Framework for Delivery 

Introduction 

Context 

The City of London is unique in its position as a global business and financial district 
at the heart of the Capital. It is also unique in its environment and transport mix, with 
a large number and proportion of people walking and cycling on streets that are narrow 
and centuries old. This combination creates the potential for conflict between users of 
the City’s streets, and challenges relating to road danger unlike anywhere else in 
London or the UK. 

Despite these challenges, and in line with the Mayor of London’s ambition and 
international best practice, the City of London Corporation share the ambition to 
eliminate all transport related deaths and serious injuries from the streets of the 
Square Mile. This ambition is known as Vision Zero, and the City of London 
Corporation hopes to achieve it by 2040. The City Corporation, City of London Police, 
Transport for London and emergency service partners remain convinced that death or 
serious injury should never be a price to pay for travelling around the Square Mile. 

In 2018, the City Corporation published a five-year Road Danger Reduction and Active 
Travel Plan. The following year, in 2019, the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy 
provided further detail on the measures and programmes that would help achieve the 
ambitious goal to prevent fatal and serious casualties on the City’s streets. 

The Transport Strategy sets the strategic direction for achieving Vision Zero, and a 
range of ambitious road danger reduction measures have been delivered in the period 
since. However, the City Corporation is currently not on track to achieve the targets it 
has set for casualty reduction.  

2020 and 2021 saw a reduction in the number of people killed and seriously injured. 
This was largely as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the associated reduction in 
the number of people using the City’s streets. 2022 saw a significant increase in the 
number of people seriously injured, with 59 serious casualties. This represented a 48 
per cent increase on the previous year.  

The City Corporation missed its short term 2022 target for a reduction to below 35 
serious injuries and faces real challenges in remaining on track to its current 2030 
target of fewer than 16 fatal or serious casualties. The City’s Transport Strategy is 
currently undergoing review, after its publication in May 2019.  

This Vision Zero Plan for the Square Mile reaffirms that the City Corporation, City 
Police and partners will seek to eradicate deaths and serious injuries and details an 
evidence-led and ambitious programme of action. 

Vision Zero at the centre of transport and societal goals 

The City Corporation has a statutory duty to deliver improvements that prevent road 
traffic collisions. The 1988 Road Traffic Act, Section 39, puts a duty on the local 
authority to undertake studies into road traffic collisions, and to take steps both to 

Page 862



 

9 
 

reduce and prevent them. However, beyond this duty, the reduction of road danger 
and improved perception of safety are all essential to achieving our broader transport 
and societal goals.  

 

 

 
Figure 1: Chart to show relationship between Vision Zero and other transport goals 

Vision Zero sits at the heart of the Healthy Streets approach, and other transport policy 
objectives are dependent on its success. Reducing road danger not only helps to 
prevent casualties. It also unlocks the potential for more walking and cycling trips, 
contributes to a zero carbon transport system, improves local air quality and reduces 
congestion through improving the efficiency of the street network.  

Progress made and areas of focus for the plan 

The make-up of traffic in the City has changed considerably over the last two decades. 
The Square Mile has seen very significant increases in the numbers of people walking 
and cycling, whilst the numbers of people driving motor vehicles has reduced. In the 
23 years between 1999, when the first traffic counts took place, and 2022, cycling 
numbers have more than tripled, whilst cars, taxis, private hire vehicles, motorcycles 
and lorries reduced by over 50 per cent. 

In 2022, people cycling represented the single largest vehicular mode counted during 
peak times on City streets. Similarly, people walking represent more than half of all 
street users during peak times.  

Page 863



 

10 
 

Walking and cycling, despite being active, healthy and zero-emission, also represent 
(along with riding a motorcycle) the most high-risk ways of travelling around the City. 
The numbers of people travelling by foot and cycle have increased significantly over 
the last 20 years, and so the general plateauing in the numbers of people killed and 
seriously injured (between 50-80 serious injuries and one to four fatal injuries a year) 
during this period, represents a general reduction in the risk of travelling on the City’s 
streets (see figure 2 below).  

2021 saw the lowest number of fatal and serious injuries on the City’s streets since 
records began, with a total of 40 (one person killed, and 39 seriously injured). 
However, in 2022 the number of fatal and serious injuries increased to 59, a figure 
higher than 2015, 2016 and 2017 prior to the pandemic. The City is not on track to 
achieve the ambitious targets set to achieve Vision Zero by 2040. More needs to be 
done, and this action plan presents the opportunity for the City Corporation and its 
partners to redouble their efforts to reduce road danger. 

 
Figure 2: Chart showing progress in reducing fatal and serious casualties in the City of London from 
2005-2021 

  

Page 864



 

11 
 

Challenges learnt from the casualty data 

In the development of this Vision Zero plan, to ensure actions are as evidence led as 
possible, the City Corporation has developed a Vision Zero Collision Data Dashboard. 
This dashboard contains collision and casualty data for the City, from the start of 2017, 
and has been used to derive insight into collision and casualty trends. This is essential 
in ensuring that the actions contained within this plan, and the strategic focus of the 
City Corporation and partners’ investment, is oriented towards addressing the key 
issues identified from the data.  

The dashboard shows that in 2022, there were 203 casualties in the Square Mile, of 
which 59 were serious and 144 slight. In August 2021, the last time that a person has 
been killed on the City’s streets, a person was tragically hit by a car whilst walking 
near Minories late at night. 

The casualty data dashboard will act as an ongoing reference tool, as new and 
updated data is incorporated, ensuring that the City Corporation and partners remain 
live to new and emerging trends so that they can be addressed with the shortest 
possible delay. 

Despite the general reduction in risk in the City, seen through the broad plateauing of 
fatal and serious injuries whilst walking and cycling numbers significantly increased, 
the collision data dashboard indicates the following key challenges that remain: 

The data shows that many of the road danger challenges faced in the City are unique 

People walking, cycling and riding a motorcycle make up 91 per cent1 of all fatal and 
serious injuries in the City (see figure 3 below). This is compared to a London wide 
figure of 81 per cent. This reflects the unique nature of the traffic make up in the Square 
Mile and underscores the importance of creating a low-speed, forgiving environment 
that minimises risk to the most vulnerable users of the City’s streets. 

 

 

 

1 (339 fatal and serious casualties between 1/1/2017-09/11/2022) 
 

Page 865



 

12 
 

 
Figure 3: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by mode of travel (1/1/2017-09/11/2022) 

The majority of people killed and seriously injured are in their 20s and 30s, and over 
twice as many men are fatally or seriously injured than women, reflecting the age and 
gender profiles of the City’s daytime workforce. However, men still experience more 
than 34 per cent higher risk (per 100,000 population). 

 
Figure 4: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by age (1/1/2017-09/11/2022) 

 

Page 866



 

13 
 

 
 

Figure 5: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by gender and risk by 100,000 workforce population 
(1/1/2017-27/07/2022) 

Many of the problem locations are well known to the City Corporation and partners 

Figure 7 shows that a shift has taken place towards more fatal and serious injuries 
occurring on the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN). TfL’s streets are the 
fastest, most heavily trafficked routes through the City. These streets experience the 
most acute conflict between large heavy vehicles and people walking, cycling and 
riding motorcycles. This underlines the importance of ongoing close engagement and 
collaborative working with TfL, to deliver solutions to reduce risk on the TLRN. 

 

 
1 January 2017 – 31 December 2019    1 January 2020 – 9 November 2022 

Figure 6: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by highways authority (1/1/2017-31/12/2019 and 
1/1/2020 – 09/11/2022) 

Over 75 per cent of fatal and serious casualties take place at or near a junction, with 
over half taking place at a T-junction. This highlights the potential conflict that can arise 
from turning manoeuvres, and the importance of the focus in this plan on improving 
safety at junctions. 

As might be expected, with the highest numbers of people walking and cycling during 
the morning and late afternoon peaks, there are spikes in the number of fatal and 
serious injuries at these times. However, there are also smaller peaks in serious injury 

CoLC 

Page 867



 

14 
 

seen at lunchtime and late at night, reflecting the food, retail and night-time economies 
in the City. 

 
Figure 7: Chart to show fatal and serious injuries by time of day (1/1/2017-9/11/2022) 

Different road users on the City’s streets experience different level of risk 

Through combining collision and casualty data with vehicle km travelled data2, it is 
possible to derive a measure of vehicle risk, both the risk of being fatally or seriously 
injured, or of being involved in a fatal or serious collision while not being injured. 

Figure 9 below shows that people riding cycles and powered two wheelers experience 
significantly higher risk than any other road user. Bus and coach passengers face 
higher risk than car and taxi and private hire passengers3, most likely due to the stop-
start nature of bus travel in the City, with passengers standing or unrestrained by seat 
belts, and with the added hazard of stairs on double decker buses. 

 
Figure 8: Chart to show relative risk of being fatally or seriously injured by mode of travel (1/1/2017-
31/09/2021) 

 
2 Normalised to 1,000,000 vehicle km using data sourced from DfT  
3 It is suspected there is a significant misclassification of taxis, cars, and private hire vehicles in the 
Stats 19 data. Therefore, for this analysis the three categories have been combined. 

Page 868



 

15 
 

Different vehicles on the City’s streets pose different levels of risk to others. When 
looking at the risk of each vehicle type being involved in a collision resulting in a fatal 
or serious injury of another street user, but not to the driver /rider of that vehicle, the 
data shows that people riding motorcycles pose the highest risk to others relative to 
their share of traffic, followed by bus/coach, heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) and 
car/taxi/private hire drivers.  

 

 
Figure 9: Chart to show relative risk of being involved in a fatal or serious collision, whilst not being the 
injured party, by mode of travel (1/1/2017-31/09/2021) 

People riding cycles and driving light goods vehicles pose the least risk to others on 
the City’s streets. 

Conflict between particular road users results in the majority of fatal and serious 
injuries 

The casualty data can be used to provide insight into who is injuring who on the City’s 
streets. The following section provides more detail on which vehicle types are involved 
in collisions that result in serious injury to people walking, cycling and riding 
motorcycles, i.e. 91 per cent of all serious injuries in the Square Mile. 

People cycling 

Almost half (48 per cent) of all serious injuries to people cycling involve drivers of cars, 
taxi and private hire vehicles. Only 13 per cent involve no other vehicle (assumed to 
be people walking, although some will involve no other street user) and 12 per cent 
involve conflict with other people cycling.  

People walking 

39 per cent of all fatal and serious injuries experienced by people walking, involve 
drivers of cars, taxi and private hire vehicles. 22 per cent of serious injuries involve 
people cycling, while 19 per cent involve people riding a powered two wheeler. This is 

Page 869



 

16 
 

despite there being over five times the number of people cycling in the City compared 
to people riding powered two wheelers (7am-7pm, 2022 data).4 

People riding motorcycles 

Riders of powered two wheelers experience particularly high risk from drivers of goods 
vehicles, with 24 per cent of all serious injuries involving this vehicle type. Drivers of 
cars, taxi and private hire vehicles are involved in 45 per cent of all serious injuries to 
riders of powered two wheelers. 

Conflict between people walking and cycling makes up more than 14 per cent of all 
fatal and serious injuries5, showing it to be an issue requiring further investigation and 
action to address. However, with only 22 per cent of serious injuries to people walking 
involving someone cycling, and the remaining 78 per cent involving motor vehicles, 
the focus of attention remains on these higher risk modes. 

There are inequalities in the way in which the impacts of road trauma are felt. As 
described above, vulnerable users of the City’s streets are seriously injured more 
often, as are men compared to women. At a pan-London scale, people from more 
deprived backgrounds and ethnic minorities have also disproportionately felt the 
impacts of road danger. The way in which data is collected by the Police may hide 
other inequalities relating to protected characteristics, for example the danger and fear 
of danger experienced by disabled people. The City Corporation and partners will 
consider and incorporate efforts to ensure a more inclusive and just approach to 
remove inequalities in the system. 

Summary of the areas of focus for this plan 

The insight from the collision and casualty data identifies the following key issues to 
prioritise and address through the actions contained within the latter half of this plan: 

1. People walking, cycling and riding motorcycles are the most vulnerable users 
of the City’s streets, and efforts should be prioritised towards reducing the risk 
that they experience.  
 

2. Junctions are the highest-risk locations, with complex turning manoeuvres 
presenting greater potential for conflict. The focus of the City Corporation and 
TfL’s engineering programme should be on these locations. 
 

3. With over half of all deaths and serious injuries occurring on the street network 
that is managed by TfL, a strong and effective partnership with TfL will be vital 
in reducing risk and casualties in the City. 
 

4. Certain vehicles, notably motorcycles, buses/coaches and heavy good vehicles 
pose greater risk to people walking and cycling, and significant gains in the 

 
4 Transport in the City Data Summary  
5 Eight per cent from pedestrians injured through conflict with cyclists, plus six per cent of cyclists 
injured with no other vehicle (presumed to be pedestrians) 

Page 870

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s191266/Appendix%204%20Transport%20in%20the%20City%20-%20Data%20summary.pdf


 

17 
 

reduction of road danger and prevention of injuries can be achieved by 
mitigating the risk they pose. 
 

5. Whilst the above vehicles pose the greatest risk, the casualty data confirms that 
efforts to reduce fatal and serious injuries to zero also need to focus on cars, 
taxis and private hire vehicles as the vehicles involved in most serious collisions 
by number. 
 

6. People riding motorcycles are disproportionately involved in serious injury of 
both themselves and others, and conflict between people cycling and walking 
is an issue that needs to be addressed to reduce danger to both parties.  

Page 871



 

18 
 

Safe System and a focus on the sources of harm 

This plan follows a proactive road danger reduction approach, in place of the more 
simplistic casualty reduction and road safety approach traditionally favoured across 
the UK. The shift in emphasis to tackling the origins of road danger at source is 
essential to achieving the end goal of prevention of fatal and serious injuries.  

In doing so, the opportunity exists to see transport’s contribution to public health in the 
broader context. Through tackling the key sources of harm (travelling too fast, driver 
and rider distraction, drink and drug use and unlawful and risky behaviour) it is possible 
to prevent serious harm to users of the City’s streets, whilst also improving perceptions 
of safety, and breaking down the barriers to even greater levels of walking and cycling.  

For these reasons, successful delivery of this Plan is a critical success factor to 
delivery of the broader strategic transport and climate action goals for the City 
Corporation. In turn, the plan’s success can be measured in increased walking and 
cycling, a less traffic dominated, more inclusive and forgiving street environment, as 
well as fewer people killed and seriously injured. 

Safe System approach – a framework for delivery and principles of the approach  

The Safe System approach that this action plan follows is an internationally recognised 
and proven framework for tackling road risk and preventing fatal and serious injury. It 
is the approach that the Department for Transport has adopted and prescribed to local 
authorities. It is also incorporated into the Mayor and TfL’s Vision Zero Action Plan 
and Progress Report, as well as the City Corporation’s own Transport Strategy. The 
Safe System approach improves upon the obsolete approach of categorising activity 
by engineering, education or enforcement, and sees a death or serious injury as a 
failure of a ‘system’.  

That system is made up of the street environment, the vehicles that travel within it, the 
behaviours of people that use the streets, and the speeds at which they travel. This 
more holistic approach recognises that all parts of the system can fail and lead to a 
fatal or serious collision, and they need to work in combination to prevent these tragic 
events. As such, the framework of this plan is structured around five key themes: 

• Safe Streets 

• Safe Speeds 

• Safe Vehicles 

• Safe Behaviours, and 

• Post Collision Response.  
 

Page 872

https://tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/vision-zero-action-plan.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/vision-zero-action-plan-progress-report-2021.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf


 

19 
 

 
Figure 10: Key themes of the Safe System Approach  

Whilst the final theme of Post Collision Response is not one that includes directly 
preventative action, it is crucially important in supporting bereaved families and those 
that have suffered serious injuries. It is also imperative to learn from collisions to 
feedback into the approach and analyse collision and casualty data to further refine 
and improve the programme of interventions. 

The Safe System approach also introduces a set of core principles which help guide 
the approach and provide a focus for the delivery of initiatives to reduce road danger. 
The core values of the City’s Vision Zero approach are that: 

1. People make mistakes, so the transport system in the Square Mile needs to 
accommodate human error and unpredictability  

2. There are physical limits to what the human body can tolerate. The City’s streets 
need to be forgiving, so that the impact of a collision will not cause fatal or 
serious injury  

3. All those with a role in designing, building, operating, managing and using the 
streets have a responsibility to reduce danger  

4. All parts of the system must be strengthened in combination to multiply their 
effects. As a result, people are still protected if one part fails and it does not 
lead to death or serious injury.  

Lastly, and what rests behind the City Corporation’s long-term ambition for Vision 
Zero, is the fundamental conviction that deaths and serious injuries on the City’s street 
network are neither inevitable, nor should they be tolerated. They are predictable, 

POST 
COLLISION 
RESPONSE 

Page 873



 

20 
 

preventable yet tragic events, which the City Corporation and its partners will continue 
to challenge and collaborate on solutions to address. 

 

 
Figure 11: Healthy Streets indicators and contribution of safety 

Vision Zero and Healthy Streets 

The Healthy Streets Approach provides a framework for putting human health and 
experience at the heart of planning transport in the City. It uses ten evidence based 
indicators, shown in Figure 13, to assess the experience of being on our streets. Good 
performance against each of the indicators means that individual streets are appealing 
places to walk, cycle and spend time. 

The Vision Zero and the Healthy Streets approach are intrinsically related to one 
another, with safety and the feeling of safety being fundamental to creating 
environments where people wish to walk, cycle and spend time. Safer streets are 
healthier, more active streets. As Figure 13 above shows ’People feel safe’ is one of 
the ten Healthy Streets indicators but all the indicators contribute to making streets 
safe environments, and vice versa.  

 

  

Page 874



 

21 
 

Road Danger Reduction and a risk management approach 

The Safe System programme that follows in this plan is based upon the hierarchy of 
controls that is the best practice approach to health and safety risk management. This 
approach follows an order of interventions from most effective to least effective: 

• Elimination (physically removing the hazard) – the City’s proactive approach to 
the reduction of motor traffic in the Square Mile will mitigate the risk posed by 
motor vehicles. 

• Substitution (replacing the hazard) – encouraging the adoption of more active, 
sustainable forms of transport will replace the risk from motor vehicles (e.g. 
goods vehicles) with lower risk transport modes (e.g. cargo cycles) 

• Engineering (isolating people from the hazard) – junction improvement 
schemes and the expansion and enhancement of the City’s cycle network are 
examples of engineering initiatives that assist in protecting street users from 
risk.  

• Administrative controls (changing the way people behave) – behaviour change 
initiatives can have more limited effect but are still an effective tool in reducing 
the level of risk in the system through encouraging safer travel behaviours. 

• PPE (protecting people with Personal Protective Equipment) – PPE has the 
potential to reduce the injury outcome should a street user be involved in a 
collision. However, this should be seen as the last resort, after efforts to 
eliminate and mitigate the risk. 

As set out in its Transport Strategy, the City Corporation will continue to take a 
proactive approach to reducing the amount and dominance of motor traffic in the 
Square Mile. Where trips continue to be made, the City Corporation and partners will 
encourage them, where possible, to be switched to alternative safer forms of travel. 
Engineering measures alongside vehicle safety improvements will further reduce risk, 
before relying on behaviour change initiatives and finally personal protective 
equipment as the last resort to reduce road danger.  

  

Page 875



 

22 
 

Targets to monitor progress towards Vision Zero  

To monitor progress and underline the ambition to Vision Zero, the City Corporation 
has set targets for reducing deaths and serious injuries.  

The Transport Strategy set the target of zero by 2040, along with the target set of a 70 
per cent reduction against 2010-14 levels by 2030. The target to achieve a reduction 
of fatal and serious injuries to below 35 in 2022 was missed.  

Due to the costs and time required for the actions in this plan to bed in and take effect, 
progress to achieve the 2030 target is weighted towards the latter part of the 8-year 
period following the publication of this plan. 

The City Corporation has worked with TfL to further understand the impact of the 
improved reporting of injury severity by the City Police. Following the change in 
reporting, more injuries are being classified as serious rather than slight. TfL and the 
City Corporation have applied an updated ‘back-estimation factor’ to historic fatal and 
serious casualty numbers prior to the change in 2017. This results in a slightly higher 
figure of 20 for the 2030 target than the 16 previously proposed, due to the higher 
2010-14 baseline period.  

Targets to reduce deaths and serious injuries in the City are now as follows: 

• By 2030, fewer than 20 deaths and serious injuries 

• 2040, zero fatal and serious injuries 

 

 
Figure 12: Targeted reductions in numbers of fatal and serious injuries in the City  

Page 876



 

23 
 

Delivering in partnership 

The Vision Zero ambition and the intermediate target set out above cannot be 
achieved by any one agency acting alone.  

The City Corporation already has an effective forum for collaboration with key partners, 
called the Road Danger Reduction Partnership. The City Corporation, City Police, 
London Ambulance Service, London Fire Brigade and TfL meet to discuss and agree 
the strategic approach and initiatives to achieve Vision Zero. This forum will continue 
to be essential in managing delivery of this plan and will report on progress to the Safer 
City Partnership Strategy Board. 

As a business district the City has far more daily employees that visit the Square Mile, 
compared to the c.9,000 residents, and for this reason the plan cannot be developed 
or delivered without the essential input of the business community. The Active City 
Network (ACN), a forum made up of Business Improvement Districts and other major 
businesses in the City will continue to steer, communicate, challenge and support the 
road danger reduction activity delivered in the Square Mile through its steering group. 
The ACN will be used as a sounding board and forum for feedback on delivery of the 
many actions in this plan. 

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) will continue to act as key allies and delivery 
partners in communicating with and influencing the business community, to help 
deliver the City Corporation’s objectives.  

We will also engage and cooperate with surrounding central London boroughs. 
Collaboration, knowledge sharing, economies of scale and collective influence will be 
the hallmarks of the Central London Vision Zero Forum, which will help to coordinate 
activity to achieve the shared Vision Zero goal.  

Throughout this plan, there are a number of actions that will require wider partnership 
and collaboration in order to be delivered effectively. These partnerships will be forged 
with schools, businesses, developers, couriers, construction companies and 
residential communities amongst others, and are in addition to the partnership forums 
mentioned above.  

Through this approach, partners will work hand in hand with each other to deliver the 
ambition and realise the goal of the eradication of death and serious injury from the 
City’s streets. 

 

 

Page 877



 

24 
 

Section B: Safe System Programme of Action 

This section of the action plan details the actions that the City Corporation, City Police 
and other partners will take, structured around the key themes of the Safe System 
approach. The actions build on the City Corporation’s Transport Strategy, particularly 
Proposal 20: Apply the safe system approach and the principles of road danger 
reduction to deliver Vision Zero. The Transport Strategy sets the strategic framework 
for transport in the City to 2044. Achieving Vision Zero will require the delivery of other 
proposals in the Transport Strategy, such as traffic reduction and enabling more 
walking and cycling. 

Each Safe System theme of action includes one or more headline actions that contain 
new initiatives or feature an expansion of the existing programme. These headline 
actions are in turn complemented by further supporting actions that represent 
continuation or more minor expansion of existing programmes. 

 

6 

 
6Project EDWARD (Every Day Without A Road Death) is a platform for highlighting good practice in 
road safety in the UK, through a week of action in October each year. 

OVERARCHING VISION ZERO ACTION – ACTION 1: 

Road danger reduction will be made central to the design and delivery of all 
initiatives, through strengthening and building the Vision Zero safety 
culture in the City Corporation, City Police and their partners.  

Through the City Corporation, City Police and their partners Vision Zero will be a 
central facet of activity, with the reduction of road risk considered a core element 
of success for all street infrastructure schemes and initiatives. 

Key elements of the process of strengthening the safety culture will include: 

• applying language guidelines for road collisions, e.g. “crash” or “collision” not 
“accident”, and referring to the driver or rider, not the vehicle, 

• participating in London Vision Zero week, Project EDWARD, national road 
safety week and other similar campaigns, 

• recognising success in delivering initiatives that support Vision Zero, as well as 
inviting ideas for innovation and creativity,  

• raising and maintaining ongoing awareness of individual fatal and serious 
collisions when they occur, along with trends in fatal and serious injury numbers 
in the City of London. 

Page 878

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/transport-strategy


 

25 
 

Safe Streets 

The City Corporation and TfL as the highway authorities for the City’s street network 
have the opportunity to re-design and re-engineer streets to reduce risk and prevent 
harm. 

The focus of action will be at those locations that present the greatest risk and where 
people walking, cycling and riding powered two wheelers are most vulnerable, namely 
junctions. Almost four in five of all casualties in the City take place at a junction, where 
turning movements and street users crossing each other’s paths leads to greater road 
risk. 

T-junctions present particular risk, with over half of all fatal and serious injuries 
occurring at these locations. In terms of the contributory factors to fatal and serious 
collisions as recorded by the City Police; ‘Failed to Look Properly’, 
‘Careless/Reckless/In a Hurry’ and ‘Failed to Judge Other Person’s Path or Speed’ 
are the most common. However, it should be noted that these are recorded after the 
collision, either by a police officer at the scene or by a member of the public online or 
over the counter at a police station, often without detailed knowledge of the 
circumstances of the collision. 

The City Corporation has recently developed and applied a new, more sophisticated 
approach to the identification and prioritisation of junctions identified for remedial 
action. The approach is based upon analysis of serious injury clusters in the City, with 
individual road user ‘conflicting pairs’ ranked and prioritised by potential for treatment 
and risk reduction and so value for money. The process will continue to also be applied 
to the TLRN, in order that the City Corporation can work with TfL to highlight the 
problem locations on their network of streets, including Monument junction.  

The following map shows the locations on the City street network ranked by fatal and 
serious casualty numbers over the last five years.  

Page 879



 

26 
 

 
Figure 13: Map to show collisions cluster locations in the City of London 

Three of the top four locations are on the TLRN (Bishopsgate outside Liverpool Street 
Station, Bishopsgate / Wormwood Street, King William Street / Cannon Street), plus 
Bank Junction on the City Corporation’s street network.  

Removing TLRN junctions from the analysis, along with locations with recently 

completed schemes or committed future ones, produces a list of remaining junctions 
ranked by fatal and serious casualty numbers7.  

The locations above are in addition to already planned and committed schemes, as 
part of the City Corporation’s major and minor schemes programmes, including: 

• Bank Junction and surrounding streets   
• St Paul's gyratory transformation project 
• St Mary Axe and Leadenhall Street traffic access restrictions, and 
• Pedestrian Priority Programme locations  

The City Corporation commits to developing proposals for these prioritised junction 
locations within the lifetime of this plan to 2028. 
Communications and marketing following scheme completion will aim to improve 
perceptions of safety and encourage more people to walk and cycle. 

 
7 Schemes delivered since 2017 were discounted from the analysis, along with ones that have funding 
committed for delivery within the next 5 years 

Page 880



 

27 
 

 

HEADLINE SAFE STREETS ACTION - ACTION 2: 

A programme of junction improvement schemes will be scoped, designed 
and delivered to reduce danger and the fear of danger at priority locations.  

Vision Zero will only be achieved in the City through delivering a prioritised 
programme to re-design and de-risk the junction locations where the risk of serious 
collisions is the greatest.  

This ranked list of junction improvements is as follows: 

1. London Wall / Moorgate 
2. Holborn Circus 
3. Aldgate High Street (Outside Aldgate Station) 
4. Newgate Street / Warwick Lane 
5. Aldersgate Street / Long Lane (Outside Barbican Station) 
6. Fleet Street / Bouverie Street 
7. London Wall / Old Broad Street 
8. Fenchurch Street / Lime Street 
9. Fetter Lane / New Fetter Lane 
10. Fenchurch Street / Mincing Lane 

 
The number of junction location schemes that will be progressed to delivery within 
the lifetime if this plan is yet to be determined and will be dependent on the 
availability of City Corporation or TfL funding.  

The process of priority junction identification will be refreshed on an annual basis 
to ensure problem locations and the profile of risk has not significantly changed. 

Page 881



 

28 
 

Safe Streets Supporting Actions 

In addition to the key Safe Streets action above, the City Corporation will continue to 
deliver a comprehensive programme of engineering work to reduce risk on the City’s 
streets. Supporting actions are as follows: 

 
The hierarchy of measures shown on page 22 helps provide a framework for the 
approach to be taken throughout the delivery of this plan. Consistent with this, a 
framework of design principles will help support a common approach and ideology for 
the delivery of street improvement schemes.  

SUPPORTING SAFE STREETS ACTION 2A: 

Develop and apply safe streets design principles and best practice, including a City 
of London Vision Zero design audit. 

• The City of London Corporation will work with TfL to apply design principles 
and practices that minimise the risk to the most vulnerable users of the City’s 
streets. The prioritisation process for future schemes will incorporate 
casualty prevention.  

• This approach of reducing exposure to risk through reducing the presence 
of motor vehicles (on accordance with the City of London Street Hierarchy), 
minimising the potential for conflict in time and space and prioritising the 
movement of people walking and cycling will be the hallmarks of the City of 
London Vision Zero design audit. This will be applied to all schemes, to 
ensure that guidance and best practice have been applied.  

• The City Corporation will ensure that the successes of casualty reduction 
schemes are shared in future, and also that the anticipated reduction in 
casualties and road danger, leading to other ancillary benefits, are 
incorporated into the prioritisation process. 

• Alongside these design principles and audit, existing and planned best 
practice guidance such as the Cycle Route Quality Criteria, Motorcycle 
Design Guide and Planning for Walking Toolkit will all be used and applied 
where appropriate in future scheme development. 

• The City Corporation will ensure that safety and the reduction of road risk is 
made central to all infrastructure delivery, including major schemes, minor 
schemes, Healthy Streets programmes and Section 278 agreements. 

• The planning process will be used to ensure that, where appropriate, new 
developments contribute to providing safer streets by securing highway 
works to mitigate the impact of the development and to reduce road risk. 

Page 882



 

29 
 

 
Alongside the initiatives outlined above, the dominance of people walking, riding 
cycles and powered two wheelers in the casualty numbers requires that the street 
network be upgraded to reduce the risk to these modes of transport. For each of these 
modes, there are specific interventions that will help to reduce danger, and the fear of 
danger. 

To help reduce risk to people on foot, the City Corporation will: 

• Work with TfL to identify potential locations for the introduction of green 
person authority signalised crossings to prioritise movement of people 
walking  

• Raising the carriageway to pavement level at side streets to prioritise people 
walking, improve accessibility and reduce speeds 

• Work with TfL to minimise waiting times and maximise crossing times at 
signalised pedestrian crossings 

• Review pavement and pedestrian island widths at locations with high footfall 

• Commission research to better understand conflict between people walking 
and cycling, to help identify design engineering and behavioural solutions 
that reduce injury 

• Further enhance pedestrian priority on 'Local Access' streets. 

To reduce road danger for people riding cycles, the City Corporation and partners will: 

• Use the City’s Vision Zero Collision Data dashboard to help inform the 
network of future cycle infrastructure improvements 

• Review collision conflicts in the context of parking and loading bays to 
ascertain whether risk for people riding cycles or powered two wheelers is 
higher where parking and loading is present 

• Work with TfL to identify signal timing improvements that will reduce risk at 
junction locations and improve convenience for people walking and cycling 

• Use third party data (e.g. Strava) to identify high cyclist flow routes and 
consider further segregation / improvements for these routes, particularly 
where collision clusters exist 

To reduce road danger for people riding motorcycles, the City Corporation and 
partners will: 

SUPPORTING SAFE STREETS ACTION 2B: 

Deliver smaller scale targeted improvements to reduce risk to people walking, 
cycling and riding motorcycles in line with the insight derived from casualty data 

Deliver a range of engineering initiatives that reduce risk to the most vulnerable 
users of the City’s streets –those walking, cycling and riding motorcycles – 
through enhanced engagement with the groups that represent them. 

Page 883



 

30 
 

• Use the City’s Vision Zero Collision Data dashboard to identify and prioritise 
powered two wheeler collision clusters 

• Infrastructure schemes in the City will take into account best practice design 
and engineering principles to reduce risk to powered two wheelers, through 
road safety audits and TfL’s Motorcycle Safety Review Tool, which the City 
Corporation will help develop and subsequently apply.  

The City Corporation will continue to engage with groups representing different street 
users when designing new schemes to understand their particular concerns and 
ensure that they are addressed. 

 

 
 

 

  

SUPPORTING SAFE STREETS ACTION 2C: 

Enhance the delivery of road danger reduction engineering initiatives through 
effective monitoring and reporting, whilst seeking additional funding opportunities 
and future proofing the network. 

• The City Corporation will seek new funding sources and opportunities for 
road safety research and/or schemes, e.g. for research from the Road 
Safety Trust or other grant making trusts.  

• The City Corporation will investigate ways to enhance and advertise the 
process of reporting road defects or locations of concern e.g. working with 
partners such as fixmystreet.com and/or TfL's ReportIt tool. 

• In future, the City Corporation will make better use of TfL's Traffic Accident 
Diary System (TADS) collision monitoring system to monitor new schemes 
for collisions to identify and fix any teething problems quickly and build a 
best practice portfolio of successful scheme design. 

• Lastly, the City Corporation will work with TfL and relevant industry partners 
to identify advancements in infrastructure technology and consider how they 
should be integrated into the network in future, e.g. interactive signage or 
‘connected infrastructure' with the ability to interact with vehicle movements. 

Page 884



 

31 
 

Safe Speeds 

The speed at which vehicles travel in a busy urban environment such as the Square 
Mile, is key to creating places where people are safe and feel safe. Not only is the 
speed at which a vehicle is travelling the most important factor in whether or not a 
collision will occur, it is also the fundamental factor dictating whether the resulting 
injury will be fatal, serious or slight. Vehicles travelling at higher speeds create greater 
risk, worsen perceptions of safety, deter people from walking and cycling and can lead 
to a hostile, traffic dominated street environment. 

The City Corporation has already led the way in the Capital in setting lower, 20mph 
speed limits to help create forgiving streets. Safe Speeds draws in action from across 
Safe Streets, Vehicles and Behaviours that contribute to a reduction in speed. 

8 

Setting the appropriate speed limits to promote a calm, welcoming street environment 
is not sufficient to achieve the necessary reduction in speeds. Speed limits need to be 

 
8 Intelligent speed assistance (ISA) is a system that alerts the driver and then limits the vehicle’s engine 
power when necessary to help prevent the driver from exceeding the stipulated speed limit.  

 

HEADLINE SAFE SPEEDS ACTION – ACTION 3: 

Promote and encourage compliance through designing the street to be self-
enforcing, harnessing on-street technology and messaging and in-vehicle 
intelligent speed assistance, whilst amplifying national and London speed 
education and awareness campaigns.  

The City Corporation will: 

• ensure all its projects that deliver changes to the City’s streets create low 
speed environments that are self-enforcing. 

• identify locations across the Square Mile where trials of innovative signage 
will help create lower speed environments and reduce road danger. This 
may include cautionary or advisory signage and messaging to help 
encourage people to drive and ride at speeds appropriate to the context to 
improve perceptions of safety and ensure that people do not feel 
vulnerable or unsafe. 

• introduce speed indicator devices at locations with the lowest levels of speed 
limit compliance and highest risk to prevent serious collisions. 

• align with TfL’s approach and set the standard for driving behaviour by 
introducing intelligent speed assistance (ISA) in its own vehicle fleet and 
promote its use by other fleets that operate in the City, including the fleets 
of City Corporation partners, suppliers and service providers. 

• use its own channels, including to the business community, to amplify 
national and London speed awareness campaigns at a local level. 

Page 885



 

32 
 

reinforced by street design that reflects the desired maximum speed. It is also 
important to point out that at certain times and locations, a safe, appropriate speed will 
be some margin below the limit. Safe speeds will be achieved in the Square Mile 
through effective street design, sophisticated vehicle and on-street technology 
measures and marketing and awareness campaigns. 

Whilst designing streets to prompt safe speeds is the primary action, technology also 
has a role to play in assisting with speed compliance. Research suggests that on street 
speed indicator devices can be effective in prompting a reduction in mean speeds9. 

Trials of innovative signage will focus on streets where people often need to walk in 
the carriageway and where there is the greatest risk of interaction between people 
walking and people cycling and driving. 

The City Corporation will engage with key stakeholders including the City Police, 
London Ambulance Service, London Fire Brigade, neighbouring London boroughs and 
the business community in the development and delivery of this programme. Following 
implementation, the trial schemes will be monitored and evaluated to understand 
whether expansion of the programme to further streets is warranted. Innovative 
signage will highlight to people driving and cycling that the area is a low speed 
environment where additional caution should be taken. 

Rather than developing its own behaviour change and marketing campaigns, the City 
Corporation will seek to maximise return on investment through delivering DfT and TfL 
campaigns in the Square Mile. These will be tailored to reflect the unique context in 
the City where appropriate.  

 
9 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/effectiveness-of-sids.pdf 

Page 886

https://content.tfl.gov.uk/effectiveness-of-sids.pdf


 

33 
 

Safe Speeds Supporting Actions 

In addition to the key Safe Speeds action above to promote compliance with existing 
speed limits, the City Corporation and City Police will continue to deliver a 
comprehensive programme of work to reduce risk on the City’s streets. Supporting 
actions are as follows: 

 
For most people using the City’s streets, the combination of speed limit signs and 
markings supported by street design and a sense of responsibility will be sufficient for 
them to travel at a safe speed. However, there will remain a small but hard to engage 
few that continue to break the law and put other users of the City’s streets in danger. 
It is these road users that will be targeted by the roads policing practices of the City 
police.  

This will include engagement with people cycling, to encourage them to travel at safe 
speeds to reduce risk to themselves and other people.  

The benefit of high profile roads policing will expand beyond the operations 
themselves, as dangerous road user behaviour is deterred. Through communicating 
and raising the profile of the City Police’s on street speed enforcement activity, users 
of the City’s streets will know to adhere to the speed limit and reduce risk to others. 

The City Corporation and City Police remain of the view that speed cameras have a 
valid role in assisting with speed compliance on the City’s streets.  

SUPPORTING SAFE SPEEDS ACTION 3A: 

The City of London Police will maintain its on-street engagement and speed 
enforcement activity to focus on locations and times where poor compliance 
presents the greatest risk.  

Using high profile, high visibility speed enforcement methods targeted at the 
locations identified as being highest risk, the City Police will crack down on drivers 
and riders travelling at unsafe speeds. 

Roads policing operations will not lead to punitive measures by default. Instead, 
the City Police will engage and advise users of the City’s streets on how to travel 
at safe speeds, avoiding risk to others.  

Existing cameras are located only on the TLRN and so the City Corporation will 
engage with TfL’s process of reviewing the prioritisation process for installing new 
cameras to advance the importance of camera enforcement in the City. 

Page 887



 

34 
 

. 

SUPPORTING SAFE SPEEDS ACTION 3B: 

The City of London Corporation and Police will investigate the use of 
additional data sources to improve their understanding of the impact of 
speed and the identification of locations for speed enforcement, 
communications or engineering solutions.  

Recognising the significance of speed and its contribution to road danger and 
poor perception of safety on the City’s streets, it is imperative that the City 
Corporation, City Police and partners fully understand where, when and how 
inappropriate speed impacts most acutely 

Page 888



 

35 
 

Safe Vehicles 

Delivering Vision Zero in the Square Mile means the City Corporation and its partners 
must use all avenues available to them to reduce risk in the ‘system’, and this includes 
the vehicles that travel on the streets. 

As the hierarchy of measures on page 22 shows, the most effective control to reduce 
vehicle risk, is through reducing the number of motor vehicles. This reduction in vehicle 
movements is consistent with Proposal 11 in the Transport Strategy, which commits 
to taking a ‘proactive approach to reducing motor traffic’. It helps to reduce the 
dominance of vehicular traffic in the City, supports the Climate Action Strategy and 
efforts to improve air quality and improves perceptions of safety, encouraging people 
to walk and cycle more.  

Each day on the City’s streets, there are thousands of trips made by vehicles that are 
either not essential or could be made by other more active, healthy, zero carbon and 
lower risk modes. The City Corporation will continue its efforts to reduce the number 
of motorised goods vehicles that make delivery or servicing trips in the City.  

The Transport Strategy aims to reduce general motor traffic by 25 per cent and 
motorised freight trips by 15 per cent by 2030, and this Vision Zero plan underlines the 
importance of that activity. The City Corporation remains ready to work with the Mayor 
and TfL to explore a proactive approach to reducing all forms of motor traffic on 
London’s streets (including through next generation road user charging).  

The chart on page 16 shows the vehicles that pose the greatest risk relative to their 
share of traffic on the City’s streets, and it is these that should be the focus of the City 
Corporation’s effort to reduce danger. However, the City Corporation’s influence on 
vehicle design, standards and operation varies, and it is imperative that the City 
Corporation collaborates effectively with its partners to seek influence over those 
vehicles that they own, procure or operate. In some cases, and consistent with 
principle 4 of the Safe System approach (see page 20), where the degree of influence 
on the vehicle itself is limited, then a greater focus will be applied to improving driving 
and riding standards, or street design that reduces the risk they pose. 

 

Page 889



 

36 
 

 

HEADLINE SAFE VEHICLES ACTION – ACTION 4: 

The City Corporation and partners will take a risk-based approach to 
improving the design, maintenance and operation of vehicles that continue 
to travel on the City’s streets. The City Corporation will: 

Buses and coaches 

• continue to engage with TfL to provide insight, data and advice on the 
approach to reduce the risk posed by London buses on the City’s streets.  

• seek opportunities to engage with coach operators to encourage them to 
incorporate retrofit advanced safety technologies such as intelligent speed 
assistance (ISA), driver monitoring and alcohol locks. 

Taxi and private hire 

• Encourage TfL to identify all opportunities to improve safety, both in the 
design specification for future London black cabs and in its influence over 
private hire vehicle operators 

Freight vehicles 

• seek the highest standards through the use of the innovative CityMark 
initiative, which encourages construction sites to take a more holistic view 
of safety beyond the hoardings and to prioritise the reduction of risk to 
other road users. 

Professional couriers and delivery riders and drivers 

• collaborate with TfL and neighbouring boroughs through TfL’s Motorcycle 
Road Safety Charter to engage and raise standards of restaurant and 
grocery delivery companies and professional courier services. These 
companies represent a significant proportion of powered two wheeler trips, 
so through the charter we will encourage the use of non-motorised forms of 
transport, including foot and cycle where possible. 

• make design recommendations, where powered two wheelers continue to 
be used, to ensure the vehicles used by restaurant and grocery delivery 
companies and professional courier services pose the least risk to others.  

• collaborate with partners to improve vehicle standards and maintenance 
and seek to support the development of a motorcycle fleet accreditation 
standard. 

Cycles 

• work with the City Police to prompt and encourage good cycle 
maintenance and standards through on-street engagement, awareness 
raising events and engagement with the business community. 

Page 890



 

37 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 Future technology 

• work with partners to investigate and potentially trial new safety 
technologies, such as driver distraction monitoring and retrofit Advanced 
Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS). Collaboration with other partners 
including TfL will be vital in future-proofing the street network. 

• ensure that the City Corporation has a voice in steering thought-leadership 
and research on the topics of connected and autonomous vehicles (CAVs) 
adaptation (including ensuring access to post-crash vehicle data), data 
collection through CCTV, and technology and mapping company 
engagement and data sharing. 

• seek to influence future legislation on e-scooters, and other micro-mobility 
and emerging transport technologies, to ensure that measures to encourage 
safe use are incorporated. 

SPOTLIGHT ON: City Mark 

City Mark aims to influence the level of work-related road safety (WRRS) 
compliance on construction sites in the City of London, helping reduce risks for 
people walking, and those riding cycles and motorcycles. 

City Mark is an initiative that builds on existing schemes and best practices, namely 
the Fleet Operator Recognition Scheme (FORS) and Construction Logistics and 
Community Safety (CLoCS) scheme and acknowledges developments that operate 
at the highest WRRS compliance levels. In the City of London, one of the biggest 
road risks comes from construction and supply chain vehicles that support over 60 
active developments. City Mark aims to work with clients, developers, and haulage 
and transport companies involved in these developments to understand and 
recognise the WRRS initiatives they have implemented. City Mark has been added 
to the existing Considerate Constructors Scheme (CCS) to recognise 
developments and sites that operate to the CLOCS and FORS work related road 
safety (WRRS) standards and accreditations. 

CCS and City Mark organise awards events to reward and recognise sites that are 
exemplars at implementing CLOCS and FORS throughout their supply chains and 
can demonstrate best practices in compliance assurance. Previous winners include 
Citygrove and Skanska at 60 London Wall (Client/Principal Contractor Award) and 
Knight Harwood at 60 Moorgate (Contractor Logistics Award).  

Page 891



 

38 
 

Safe Vehicles Supporting Actions 

In addition to the key Safe Vehicles action above to reduce the risk that vehicles on 
the City’s streets pose, the City Corporation will continue to influence and reduce 
vehicle risk through a range of supporting actions, as follows: 

 

 

SUPPORTING SAFE VEHICLES ACTION 4A: 

The City Police will continue to educate, engage and enforce against users 
of the City streets that drive or ride vehicles that put themselves and others 
at risk. 

• The City Police will continue to inspect hundreds of vehicles each year, 
with the City Police Commercial Vehicles Unit continuing to support the 
London Freight Enforcement Partnership (LFEP), alongside Transport for 
London, the Metropolitan Police Service and the Driver and Vehicle 
Standards Agency 

• E-scooters that are not part of the London trial, and other devices e.g. 
hoverboards and e-unicycles remain illegal on streets and footways across 
the City, and the City Police will engage, educate and potentially seize the 
devices belonging to individuals that break this law.  

• The same rule will apply for people that have adapted their cycles or ride 
ones that fail to comply with legal requirements and put themselves and 
other users of the City’s streets at risk. 

• The City Police will adapt their enforcement approach with further 
developments in micro-mobility, ensuring future legislation on their use is 
consistently applied, with users of illegal models apprehended and the 
vehicle potentially seized. 

Page 892



 

39 
 

 

  

SUPPORTING SAFE VEHICLES ACTION 4B: 

Raise vehicle safety standards through the City Corporation setting the 
benchmark through its own fleet, whilst using procurement processes, 
supply chain and influence on other businesses to further extend the 
benefits. The Corporation will: 

• introduce retrofit intelligent speed assistance (ISA) where appropriate into 
its own fleet, and will share the cost, environment and safety benefits with 
other partners (e.g. suppliers, contractors, and business community) 

• use telematics to monitor and address any instances of driving behaviour, 
such as speeding, harsh acceleration and braking, that falls below the 
standard expected of its employees and workers1 

• investigate options for gamification / incentivisation of safe behaviours 
(rewards) and dependent on the results, potentially expand to other partners 

• continue to use its power and influence across its broader supply chain to 
raise standards in more and more vehicles, including the potential to match 
our own fleet standards, such as with a minimum star rating in the Euro 
NCAP Commercial Van ratings 

• encourage longer term and larger contract suppliers to incorporate 
telematics, and demonstrate that they monitor, investigate and act upon 
instances of poor driving behaviour by their workers.  

Page 893



 

40 
 

Safe Behaviours 

The behaviour of those that use the City’s streets is too often the failure point that can 
lead to a fatal or serious collision. The system needs to accommodate human errors 
to ensure a death or serious injury does not result, but nonetheless dangerous, 
inconsiderate, and illegal behaviour will be tackled through training, enforcement, 
communications and other behavioural interventions. The engagement and 
enforcement activity set out in this chapter are additional to the actions included in 
other sections, including Safe Speeds. 

The City Corporation will apply a hierarchy of road users and interventions, with a 
focus on improving the behaviour of those that present the greatest harm. 

The City of London has long adopted a road danger reduction approach, which 
translates into a hierarchy, akin to that incorporated in the revised Highway Code 
2022. Those users of the City’s streets that drive or ride larger, heavier, motorised 
vehicles, have the potential to cause greater harm to those that are walking, riding 
cycles or driving motor vehicles that are less large than their own.  

However, as set out in the principles of the Safe System approach on page 19, all 
those with a role in designing, building, operating, managing and using the streets 
have a responsibility to reduce danger. 

  
 

 

Figure 14: Hierarchy of impact and vulnerability from street users 

The City’s casualty data shows that the majority of fatal and serious collisions result 
from the involvement of vehicles ridden or driven by professional drivers e.g. drivers 
and riders of courier / delivery motorcycles, light or heavy goods vehicles, buses and 
taxis and private hire vehicles. The focus of action will be on using the channels and 

People walking 

People cycling

People riding powered 
two wheelers

People driving cars, 
taxis and PHVs

People driving 
vans and buses

People driving 
HGVs

Greater 
impact 

Most 
vulnerable 

Page 894



 

41 
 

levers under the control of the City Corporation and partners to influence and improve 
the driving and riding behaviour of these street users. 

 

 

HEADLINE SAFE BEHAVIOURS ACTION – ACTION 5: 

Deliver behaviour change and training interventions, with a focus on 
improving the riding and driving behaviour of those that pose the greatest 
risk. The City Corporation will: 

Professional drivers and delivery riders of powered two wheelers and cycles  

• investigate the potential to strengthen its existing Fleet Operator 
Recognition Scheme (FORS) requirements for suppliers, including a 
condition that drivers have Safer Urban Driving training or on-cycle / 
immersive training. 

• collaborate with TfL and other authorities to help inform national standards, 
including the design (and database) of Compulsory Basic Training for new 
and novice powered two-wheeler riders, compulsory requirement for Safer 
Urban Driving in Driver Certificate of Professional Competence (CPC) etc. 

• engage with TfL to inform and apply their courier and professional powered 
two-wheeler engagement in the City and help develop an industry standard 
for rider training and safe riding practices. 

Taxi and private hire vehicles 

• work with TfL’s Taxi & Private Hire team to encourage them to strengthen 
safety requirements where possible, e.g. driver safety training, police 
incident reporting, Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) frequency etc. 

• encourage TfL to investigate options to reduce distraction of taxi and 
private-hire drivers, particularly through app-based operation, which is a 
particular risk to themselves, their passengers and all other road users. 

Buses 

• support TfL with insight, data and expertise to advise on bus safety 
programme initiatives relevant to the City. 

Other drivers and riders 

• work with the City Police to support and amplify the campaigns, 
communications and behaviour change activity of TfL, the DfT and other 
agencies, e.g. campaigns to promote awareness of the Highway Code  

• enhance engagement through the Active City Network (ACN), business 
improvement districts (BIDs) and other business channels to support and 
amplify messaging to commuter powered two wheeler riders, to promote 
safe, considerate and risk aware riding. 

Page 895



 

42 
 

 
Safe Behaviours Supporting Actions 

In addition to the key Safe Behaviours action above to improve the riding and driving 
behaviour of those that pose the greatest risk, the City Corporation and City Police will 
continue to influence and enhance behaviour through a variety of other measures: 

E-scooters and cycles 

• pursue the adoption of Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) 
powers to address issues of anti-social behaviour by those cycling in the 
City 

• develop a new campaign to highlight the risks of conflict between people 
walking and cycling in the City, with a call to action for cyclists to reduce 
the risk they pose 

• promote training opportunities to e-scooter users to ensure that they ride in 
a way that minimises risk to people using the City’s streets. 

• promote cyclist training through business and resident channels so that 
people cycling know to ride calmly and in a way that anticipates others. 

• undertake research on the patterns and origins of conflict between people 
walking and cycling to help understand and inform initiatives to help 
prevent further injuries from occurring. 

Page 896



 

43 
 

 
Communication and awareness raising of road policing campaigns, along with high-
visibility operations will further increase the deterrent in the City. 

Roads policing will take a proportionate approach to target particular high risk 
individuals and behaviours that pose a higher risk to others. However, a proportionate 
approach will be adopted to align the risk and degree of danger caused with the 
severity of the engagement or enforcement response, in turn building trust and 
confidence in the City Police. 

The City Corporation’s road danger reduction approach focusses on reducing the 
potential harm caused by users of the streets that pose the greatest risk. However, all 
users of the City’s streets have a responsibility for their own safety, as well as that of 

SUPPORTING SAFE BEHAVIOURS ACTION 5A: 

The City Police Roads Policing Unit will continue to take an intelligence led 
and highly visible approach to tackling unsafe and illegal behaviour on the 
City’s streets.  Actions include: 

• Using intelligence and evidence from casualty data and other sources, the 
City Police will deliver targeted enforcement of dangerous and reckless 
driving and riding, including using unmarked police vehicles. 

• Adopting a proportionate approach to offences in the City, the City Police 
will continue their enforcement and engagement activity, to include anti-
social and road danger offences e.g. cyclist close pass, careless and 
dangerous driving, riding cycles on the pavement and not obeying traffic 
signals, to tackle instances of riding and driving that present danger and 
negatively impact perceived safety.  

• Amplifying the deterrent effect and discouraging users of the City’s streets 
from behaving recklessly or illegally the City Corporation and Police will raise 
awareness of driving offences and criminal justice outcomes.  

• The Police will target high-risk riders of powered two wheelers, including 
those that are uninsured, with enforcement measures, and the criminal 
justice outcomes will be regularly reported. 

• Unsafe, reckless and irresponsible cycling in the City, such as red-light 
jumping will be addressed through officers stopping, engaging and enforcing 
against those responsible.  

• The City Police currently engage with people using illegal private e-scooters 
and other forms of micro-mobility, and occasionally seize vehicles. If e-
scooters become legalised, the City Police will continue to identify and target 
dangerous and illegal behaviours, including riding on the pavement. 

• Vision Zero ambassadors in the business community will help to act as 
exemplars of road danger reduction e.g. raise awareness of the imperative 
to achieve Vision Zero, promote driver training in the supply chain.  

• The City Corporation and Police will work together, and with the BIDs to 
develop and implement Business Community Roadwatch events.  

Page 897



 

44 
 

others, and so the programme includes a focus on education and filling knowledge 
gaps of those cycling and riding powered two wheelers.  

Figures 3 and 8 on pages 12 and 14 show that not only do people riding cycles 
represent the greatest number of fatal and serious injuries in the City, but they also 
experience the highest risk. As such, it is imperative that the City Corporation supports 
new and novice, but also more experienced cyclists with the skills and expertise to 
cycle safely in the City.  

 

Page 898



 

45 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING SAFE BEHAVIOURS ACTION 5B: 

A range of training, marketing and communications campaigns will help 
empower and educate people walking, riding cycles and motorcycles, to 
help prevent them from being injured on the City’s streets.  

To ensure a consistent message, and to avoid additional development costs, the 
City Corporation and Police will support and amplify TfL’s campaigns and 
marketing activity, along with the DfT’s Think! campaigns through its own 
channels.  

People riding cycles and motorcycles  

• The City Corporation will provide and promote free cycle training for people 
who live, work and study in the City, working closely with City businesses to 
offer this training in a convenient and easily accessible way. 

• Due to the unique challenge of levels of cyclist / pedestrian conflict, the City 
Corporation will develop a cycling code of practice that will be shared with 
the business community through the Active City Network, to distribute 
through cycle user groups - promoting good standard of cycling behaviour. 

• The City Corporation will raise awareness of 1-2-1 Motorcycle Skills training 
through its communication channels with City businesses. 

• The Beyond CBT: Skills for Delivery Riders course is aimed specifically at 
delivery riders and again the City Corporation will investigate ways in which 
to promote the course to professional riders, including through supply chain 
and procurement practices. 

• The City Corporation and partners will support TfL in its efforts to lobby for 
an improvement and update to the CBT syllabus and ensure it instils the 
necessary skills and safety awareness for modern urban riders.  

• Since FORS expanded its remit to motorcycle fleets in 2018, the City 
Corporation and partners will continue to explore opportunities to promote 
the uptake of this accreditation as part of procurement contracts. 

• The City Corporation and partners will engage with people walking, cycling 
or riding motorcycles in the City to understand their concerns and 
perceptions and then use the findings to tailor the existing training and 
campaign offer. 

• Lastly, virtual reality (VR) Exchanging Places events that allow people to 
experience the blind spot from the driver’s seat of an HGV will continue to 
be run in the City to ensure people walking and cycling take care near these 
large vehicles. 

Children and schools 

• The City Corporation will continue to promote and encourage schools to 
work towards STARS accreditation.  

Page 899



 

46 
 

Post Collision Learning, Analysis and Support 

Fatal and serious injury collisions on the City’s streets are tragic but largely 
preventable events, and through treating them as such, the City Corporation and 
Police will learn from them to help prevent their reoccurrence whilst supporting the 
victims that suffer the consequences. The City of London Police apply an industry 
leading approach to fatal and serious collision investigation to determine culpability 
and potential criminality in the event of a crash. However, there is more that the City 
Corporation and Police can do to draw further learnings and ensure that they are 
applied in the design and operation of the street environment to prevent the 
reoccurrence of serious collisions.  

Investigating and learning from serious collisions 

  
 

 

 

HEADLINE COLLISION INVESTIGATION ACTION - ACTION 6: 

The City of London Corporation and City Police will continue to deliver a 
high level of collision investigation to help inform and develop the approach 
to reducing road danger and preventing fatal and serious injuries.  

• The City Corporation and City Police will expand the Go Look See protocol 
to other serious collisions in the City to extract learnings from the most 
serious and life-changing events. 

• In addition to post-collision investigations the City Police will undertake a 
process of exploratory Environmental and Visual Audits (EVAs).  

EVAs are officer-led reviews of the street environment to gather intelligence that 
helps to tailor the approach to roads policing and other road danger reduction 
interventions.  

In June 2022, the government announced the formation of a Road Safety 
Investigation Branch (RSIB) to make independent safety recommendations and 
shape future road safety policy. The RSIB will investigate incidents on the country’s 
roads and provide insight into what needs to change to help save lives. 

• The City Corporation and City Police will work together to apply new 
processes as a result of national and London pilots and schemes to improve 
collision investigation. 

In addition: 

• The City Corporation will identify opportunities to complete further data 
analysis to better understand risk on the City of London's streets, and 

• The City Corporation will seek to develop and apply innovative approaches 
to develop a measure of risk in the City. 

Page 900



 

47 
 

Supporting the victims of serious road traffic collisions and reducing injury outcomes 

 
Monitoring, evaluation and data improvements 

In order to understand the City Vision Zero partners’ progress towards the goal of zero 
death and serious injury, a robust and proactive monitoring and evaluation framework 
is required.  

HEADLINE VICTIM CARE ACTION – ACTION 7: 

Injury outcomes from collisions in the City will be minimised through 
access to emergency care 

• The City Corporation will help to ensure that injury outcomes are reduced as 
much as possible through working with the London Ambulance Service 
(LAS) and the City Police to ensure that potentially life-saving medical 
equipment is readily available and accessible when or where it is needed 
within the City e.g. defibrillators and trauma bags. This equipment will assist 
in reducing all injury outcomes in the City, not just as a result of road traffic 
collisions.  

• Through participating in the TfL, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 
Brake and Roadpeace victim support trial, the City Police will ensure that it 
signposts and refers individuals to the specialist services that exist, to aid 
and support those bereaved or seriously injured at the most difficult of times.  

Support will be improved for those that suffer the most from the effects of 
fatal and serious collisions. 

• The City Corporation will also engage with LAS teams to explore how the 
City Corporation could improve access for their paramedics i.e. dispatch 
cars, cycles and motorcycles, HEMS vehicles etc. The City Corporation will 
work closely with emergency services when developing traffic restrictions to 
reduce potential impacts on emergency response times. 

 

Page 901



 

48 
 

 
  

HEADLINE EVALUATION AND DATA ACTION – ACTION 8: 

Develop further monitoring, evaluation and data improvements, along with 
greater reporting, to foster a proactive forward-thinking safety culture in the 
Square Mile.  

Investigating and learning from serious collisions 

• To gather even more insight from the Stats 19 collision data, the City Police 
will further improve the accuracy of collision reporting, through additional 
training for officers and awareness raising of the importance of 
understanding causation factors in preventing future collisions. 

• The City Corporation and City Police will also work with TfL, and in turn the 
DfT, to improve vehicle and casualty categorisation in Stats 19 collision data 
recording (e.g. taxi separate to private hire vehicles, bus separate to coach, 
micro-mobility modes etc, as well as individual characteristics including 
disability and race). 

The relationship between reducing road danger and promoting more walking and 
cycling trips is well understood. However, it is often individuals’ perception of 
danger that prevents them from travelling actively, and this perception can often 
differ from the reality of where, when and how road danger materialises.  

• The Corporation will explore ways to identify how individuals’ perception of 
safety needs to be improved, along with ways to improve it through danger 
reduction interventions, marketing and communications. 

Developing a proactive approach to road danger reduction  

• Move beyond just fatal and serious injury numbers and establish a suite of 
outcome-oriented 'lead' performance indicators, in support of the 
overarching fatal and serious injury reduction target.  

• In line with this, the City’s Vision Zero partners will promote the reporting of 
dangerous and illegal road user behaviour, as well as self-reporting of 
personal injury collisions where the police did not attend.  

• In turn, the City Police will publish and report more statistics relating to 
enforcement activity, along with criminal justice outcomes for those that have 
been found guilty of illegal road user behaviour. 

Page 902



 

49 
 

Delivering the Vision Zero Plan  

The table set out below provides further information on the delivery of the eight 
headline actions contained in the Vision Zero plan, including cost and resource 
required for delivery, along with the funding source and delivery period. 

The eight actions are the headline actions under the five Safe System themes (plus 
one additional overarching action), that represent new or signficantly expanded 
activity for the City Corporation, City Police and partners. The supporting 
continuation actions under the Safe System themes will be resourced through 
existing project and programme budgets.  

For the actions and proposals that relate to the City Corporation, they will be funded 
by a combination of capital and revenue funding. The On-Street Parking Reserve 
(OSPR) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be the key sources for capital 
funding, while TfL’s Local Implementation Plan (LIP) funding will be the main source 
for revenue funding, along with the City Corporation officer time.   

The actions contained in this plan that relate to the City Police will not require any 
additional funding. Police officer time for engagement and enforcement activity will 
be met through existing available resources. 

 

Page 903



 

50 
 

ACTION 
NUMBER ACTION ACTION 

THEME 
ADDITIONAL COST 
AND RESOURCE FUNDING SOURCE DELIVERY PERIOD 

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029+ 

1. 
Make road danger reduction central 
to the design and delivery of all 
initiatives 

Overarching Action will not require 
additional budget n/a 

      

2. 
Deliver a programme of junction 
improvement schemes at priority 
locations 

Safe Streets 

£2-3m for feasibility 
design 

 

On-Street Parking Reserve 
(OSPR) and TfL Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP) 
Funding 

      

£20-50m for design and 
delivery 

Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL), S278 developer 

funding and OSPR 

      

3. 
Promote and encourage 
compliance with speed limits in the 
City 

Safe Speeds 

c.£100k, plus delivered 
through existing project 

budgets, and officer 
time 

TfL LIP Funding 
CIL and OSPR 

City Corporation  

      

4. 
Take a risk-based approach to 
improving the design, maintenance 
and operation of vehicles that travel 
on the City’s streets 

Safe Vehicles Officer time City Corporation  

      

5. 

Deliver behaviour change and 
training interventions, with a focus 
on improving the riding and driving 
behaviour of those that pose the 
greatest risk 

Safe 
Behaviours 

c£35k per annum, plus 
officer time 

TfL LIP Funding  
City Corporation  

 

      

6. Improve the investigation of 
collisions Post Collision c.£40k plus officer time TfL LIP Funding 

City Corporation  

      

7. 
Improve support for those that 
suffer the most from the effects of 
fatal and serious collisions 

Post Collision Officer time City Corporation  

      

8. Develop further monitoring, 
evaluation, and data improvements Post Collision Officer time City Corporation  

      

 

P
age 904


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions*
	5 City Plan 2040
	Appendix 1 - Changes to City Plan Policies
	Appendix 2 - City Plan 2040 - policy text changes
	Appendix 3 - City Plan 2040 Chapter1 Strategic Priorities Chapter 2 Spatial Strategy
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 3 - Health, Inclusivity and Safety)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 4 - Housing; Chapter 5 - Offices)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 6 - Retail; Chapter 7 - Culture and Visitors)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 8 - Infrastructure)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 9 - Design; Chapter 10 - Transport)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 11 - Heritage and Tall buildings)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 12 - Open spaces and Green infrastructure; Chapter 13 -Climate resilience)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 14 - The Temples, the Thames Policy Area and the Key Areas of Change)
	City Plan 2040 (Chapter 15 - Implementation)
	City Plan 2040 (Appendices and Glossary)
	Appendix 4 - Draft City Plan Policies Map Changes

	6 Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank): Traffic Mix and Timing Review Update
	Appendix 1 CoL Bank Junction Taxi Availability Interim Report 08112023

	7 Fleet Street Area Healthy Streets Plan
	Appendix 1 Project Coversheet v3
	Appendix 2 Financial Tables
	Appendix 3 Overall consultation response summary
	Appendix 4 Revised Final Fleet Track Changes
	Appendix 4 Revised Final Fleet Track Changes
	Appendix 5 FS HSP Consultation Report
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Contents (and quick hyperlinks)
	Slide 3: The Healthy Streets Plan
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6: Consultation Methodology
	Slide 7: Executive Summary
	Slide 8: Headline Findings
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: Chancery Lane Neighbourhood
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25: Fleet Street & Lanes Neighbourhood
	Slide 26
	Slide 27
	Slide 28
	Slide 29
	Slide 30
	Slide 31
	Slide 32
	Slide 33
	Slide 34
	Slide 35
	Slide 36
	Slide 37: Old Bailey Neighbourhood
	Slide 38
	Slide 39
	Slide 40
	Slide 41
	Slide 42
	Slide 43
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47: Carter Lane and Ludgate Neighbourhood
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52
	Slide 53
	Slide 54
	Slide 55
	Slide 56: Whitefriars Neighbourhood
	Slide 57
	Slide 58
	Slide 59
	Slide 60
	Slide 61
	Slide 62
	Slide 63
	Slide 64
	Slide 65
	Slide 66
	Slide 67
	Slide 68
	Slide 69
	Slide 70
	Slide 71
	Slide 72
	Slide 73
	Slide 74
	Slide 75
	Slide 76: Appendix: Consultation Participants
	Slide 77: Overall: Age Group
	Slide 78
	Slide 79: Overall: Usual Travel
	Slide 80
	Slide 81
	Slide 82
	Slide 83
	Slide 84
	Slide 85


	8 Vision Zero Plan 2023-2028
	Recommendation(s)
	Main Report
	Appendix 1 Vision Zero Plan Nov P&T final
	Forewords
	Shravan Joshi, Chair of Planning and Transportation Committee, City of London Corporation
	City of London Police Commissioner, City of London Police
	Transport for London (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer)

	Table of Figures
	Executive Summary
	Section A: Context, Approach and Framework for Delivery
	Introduction
	Context
	Vision Zero at the centre of transport and societal goals
	Progress made and areas of focus for the plan

	Challenges learnt from the casualty data
	The data shows that many of the road danger challenges faced in the City are unique
	Many of the problem locations are well known to the City Corporation and partners
	Different road users on the City’s streets experience different level of risk
	Conflict between particular road users results in the majority of fatal and serious injuries
	People cycling
	People walking
	People riding motorcycles


	Safe System and a focus on the sources of harm
	Road Danger Reduction and a risk management approach
	Targets to monitor progress towards Vision Zero
	Delivering in partnership

	Section B: Safe System Programme of Action
	Safe Streets
	Safe Streets Supporting Actions

	Safe Speeds
	Safe Speeds Supporting Actions

	Safe Vehicles
	Safe Behaviours
	Post Collision Learning, Analysis and Support
	Investigating and learning from serious collisions
	Supporting the victims of serious road traffic collisions and reducing injury outcomes
	Monitoring, evaluation and data improvements

	Delivering the Vision Zero Plan

	Develop and apply safe streets design principles and best practice, including a City of London Vision Zero design audit.
	Deliver smaller scale targeted improvements to reduce risk to people walking, cycling and riding motorcycles in line with the insight derived from casualty data
	To ensure a consistent message, and to avoid additional development costs, the City Corporation and Police will support and amplify TfL’s campaigns and marketing activity, along with the DfT’s Think! campaigns through its own channels.
	Children and schools
	Investigating and learning from serious collisions
	Developing a proactive approach to road danger reduction





